Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases

Nayoung Kim *Editor*



Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases

Nayoung Kim Editor

Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases



Editor Nayoung Kim Department of Internal Medicine Seoul National University College of Medicine Seoul National University Bundang Hospital Seongnam, Korea (Republic of)

ISBN 978-981-19-0119-5 ISBN 978-981-19-0120-1 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1

O The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

Preface

Now it is the 4th pandemic era of COVID 19. Over 50% of the world population are vaccinated while there is some variation depending on each country. However, I wonder whether the effect of COVID vaccination is equally effective for a man with 185 cm height/110 kg weight and a woman with 145 cm/40 kg. Maybe it will be different in terms of pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics which are affected by sex. In addition, the side effects seem to be different depending on sex/gender. While physicians tend to agree that children are not miniature adults, few recognize that women are not simply smaller men. For many, women and men were considered the same except for reproductive organs. In the 1980s and 1990s, the realization that medicine as a whole-including the diagnosis and treatment of diseases-is malecentered led to a focus on women's health such as endocrine and reproductive systems. With new studies of sex/gender differences in diabetes and cardiovascular diseases, sex became recognized as an important biological variable. Although many researchers and clinicians believe that sex differences are already well understood, experts point out that even where females and males are included in a study in equal numbers, data are frequently not analyzed according to sex. As a result, medical studies tend to present an "average" for each disease—an average that may not accurately describe either females or males. This issue is very important because studies that fail to disaggregate and analyze data by sex miss specific disease mechanisms and treatments for women, men, and non-binary people. For example, estrogen receptors (ERs) have widespread effects in numerous cells throughout the body, not just in reproductive organs. This means that differences between females and males in estrogen levels impact cells well beyond the reproductive system. In light of these findings, researchers have been actively investigating conditions where the disease incidence is higher in one sex, or where clinical manifestation is different between women and men even in cases where the disease incidence is similar.

While I have been a gastroenterologist for 30 years, I first encountered the concept of "Gendered Innovation" or "Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine" in 2014 when I joined the GI Workshop cosponsored by Stanford University, National Science Foundation, Korea Foundation of Women's Science & Technology Associations (KOFWST). The workshop was held at Stanford University and colorectal cancer (CRC) was one of the topics in this workshop. In particular, the sex/gender-specific aspect of colon cancer was very

impressive and attractive as a research topic. The incidences of gastrointestinal (GI) cancers such as esophageal, gastric, colorectal, and hepatocellular carcinoma are higher in men compared to women, suggesting the protective role of estrogen in the GI cancers. Sex difference of GI cancers has two aspects between sexual dimorphism (biological differences in hormones and genes) and gender differences (non-biological differences in societal attitudes and behavior). It is opposite in the case of functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGID). FGIDs, such as functional dyspepsia and irritable bowel syndrome, are more common in women than in men and are related to sociocultural factors such as stress, which tend to differ by gender. Various mechanisms of FGID have been proposed, such as disturbed gastroduodenal motility and visceral hypersensitivity. Women with FGID more commonly have visceral hypersensitivity and are more strongly influenced by the brain-gut axis. Physiological mediators such as ghrelin and transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 (TRPV1) play a significant role in the pathophysiological mechanism of functional dyspepsia in men, but factors related to the brain-gut axis, such as depression and anxiety, play a larger role in women. Women and men frequently are presented with different symptoms of FGID and respond differently to treatment. These differences can be caused by the effects of sex hormones or genetic predispositions on disease mechanisms (i.e., pathophysiology) and by sociocultural factors related to gender. This book highlights the sex/gender differences in the diseases of entire GI organ. Especially regarding the gut and oral microbiota, which affect various parts of a person's body from brain to gut, neurologists, psychiatrists, and dentists as well as gastroenterologists collaborated to uncover the sex/gender difference of depression, anxiety, cognitive disorders and Parkinson's disease. These chapters clearly show that studies must integrate both sex and gender analysis into the research design and analyze how sex and gender interact with each other.

I would like to thank the co-authors of this book, Prof. Hee Young Paik and Prof. Heisook Lee for their encouragement on publishing this book, and Prof. Londa Schiebinger for her help with kind and accurate comments regarding the "Why Is Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine Needed?" The quality of this book was upgraded by Ji Hyun Park who played the role of manuscript editor very well. Finally, I hope this book stimulates the interests of researchers and clinicians worldwide in terms of "Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine."

Seongnam, Korea (Republic of)

Nayoung Kim

Introduction

Sex/gender-specific medicine (SGM) is defined as the practice of medicine based on the understanding that biology and social roles are important in men and women for prevention, screening, diagnosis, and treatment. Current research demonstrates differences in disease incidence, symptomatology, morbidity, and mortality based on sex and gender. Sex/gender-specific medicine is a fundamental aspect of tailored therapy and precision medicine. Therefore, the variables must be considered in medical education and practice as well as in research models ranging from human participants, animals, and cells. Gastroenterology is very big and important division of Internal Medicine, which include esophagus, stomach, small and large intestine, pancreatobiliary tract, and liver. Nowadays, estrogen is known to play a key role in the prevention of colon cancer and progression of liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma, especially in women. In this book, I tried to cover the sex/gender-specific medicine in the area of GI tract in the adults as well as in the pediatrics and in the gut microbiota.

Nayoung Kim

Contents

Part I Why Is Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine Needed?
Why Is Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine Needed? 3 Nayoung Kim and Londa Schiebinger 3
Part II Sex/Gender Differences in the Gastrointestinal Diseases
2 Sex/Gender Differences in the Gastrointestinal Diseases 13 Nayoung Kim
Part III Metabolism of Sex Hormones
3 Metabolism of Estrogen and Testosterone and Their Role in the Context of Metabolic Diseases
Part IV Esophagus
4 Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease
5 Esophageal Motility Disorders. 55 Ju Yup Lee
 6 Sex Difference of Esophageal Cancer: Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma vs. Esophageal Adenocarcinoma
Part V Stomach
7 Functional Dyspepsia
8 <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> Infection and Gastritis 115 Nayoung Kim
9 Peptic Ulcer Disease

10	Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine for Intestinal-Type and Diffuse Type Castric Cancer 153					
	Nayoung Kim					
11	Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine for Impact of Overweight, Obese, and Underweight on Gastric Cancer 169 Jieun Jang and Nayoung Kim					
Par	t VI Pancreas and Biliary Diseases					
12	Pancreas and Biliary Diseases					
Par	t VII Liver					
13	Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease					
14	Chronic Liver Disease. 209 Won Kim					
15	Hepatocellular Carcinoma					
Par	t VIII Colon					
16	Irritable Bowel Syndrome					
17	Functional Constipation					
18	Functional Diarrhea					
19	Inflammatory Bowel Diseases					
20	Sex Difference of Colorectal Cancer					
Par	t IX Gut-Microbiome-Brain Axis					
21	Gut-Microbiome-Brain Axis					
Par	t X Sex Difference of Gut or Oral Microbiota					
22	Sex Difference of Gut Microbiota					

23	Gut Microbiota and Depression, Anxiety, and Cognitive Disorders.37Hyun Jung Hur and Hye Youn Park				
24	Sex Differences and Gut Microbiota Changes in Parkinson's Disease				
25	The Impact of Oral Microbiome on Systemic Disease 405 Hyo-Jung Lee				
Par	t XI Overlap Syndrome of Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders				
26	Overlap Syndrome of Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders				
Par	t XII Sex/Gender Differences in Pediatric Gastrointestinal Diseases				
27	Sex/Gender Differences in Pediatric GastrointestinalDiseasesHye Ran Yang				
Par	t XIII Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Gastrointestinal Drugs				
28 Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Gastrointestinal Drugs					
Par	t XIV Importance of Education in the Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine and Work-Life Balance of Korean Gastroenterologists				
29	Importance of Education in the Sex/Gender-SpecificMedicine.451Nayoung Kim				
30	Work-Life Balance of Korean Gastroenterologists Depending on Sex and Age				

Part I

Why Is Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine Needed?

Why Is Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine Needed?

Nayoung Kim and Londa Schiebinger

1.1 Introduction

Medical researchers and clinicians recognize that it is important to understand differences related to age, for example, between young and old people. Similarly, it is important to understand the physiological/physical differences among women, men, and non-binary people. The differences among women, men, and non-binary people can be divided into sex differences, which respond to hormones and genetic factors, and gender differences, which are related to differences in women's and men's distinct social and cultural roles. Importantly, these two aspectssex and gender-interact and together influence health outcomes [1, 2]. Thus sex and gender are modifiers of health, disease, and medicine [3]. For instance, emerging research reveals that lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer or questioning (LGBTQ+) individuals experience

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Korea (Republic of) e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr

L. Schiebinger

John L. Hinds Professor of History of Science, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, USA

Gendered Innovations in Science, Health & Medicine, Engineering, and Environment, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, USA e-mail: schiebinger@stanford.edu higher rates of health disparities [4–6]. These disparities may be driven, in part, by medical providers' biases and lack of knowledge in health-care settings [4–7]. There has been a tectonic shift in the field of transgender health care since the 2007 [8], but little is known about how medical, nursing, or dental students are trained to identify and reduce the effects of their own biases toward LGBTQ+ individuals. New strategies are needed to assess and mitigate implicit bias toward LGBTQ+ patients [7].

Sex/gender-specific medicine refers to the health-related differences between women and men. Although many researchers and clinicians believe that sex differences are already well understood, experts point out that even where females and males are included in a study in equal numbers, data are often not disaggregated and analyzed by sex. As a result, medical studies tend to present an "average" for each disease—an average that may not accurately describe either females or males. This issue is very important because studies that fail to disaggregate and analyze data by sex miss specific disease mechanisms and treatments for women, men, and non-binary people [9]. For example, estrogen receptors (ERs) have widespread effects in numerous cells throughout the body, not just in reproductive organs. This means that differences between females and males in estrogen levels impact cells well beyond the reproductive system. In light of these findings, researchers have





[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_1

N. Kim (🖂)

been actively investigating conditions where the disease incidence is higher in one sex or where clinical manifestation are different between women and men even where the disease incidence is similar. Prominent examples include brain development, cardiovascular disease in women, osteoporosis in men, and stem cell research [10].

It is important to understand that sex/genderspecific medicine is part of the move toward precision medicine. This review presents the history of sex/gender-specific medicine along with a discussion of the definition, development, and importance of sex/gender-specific medicine in gastrointestinal (GI) diseases.

1.2 History of Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine

Physicians tend to agree that children are not miniature adults. However, few recognize that women are not simply smaller men. For many, women and men were considered the same except

for reproductive organs. In the 1980s and 1990s, the realization that medicine as a whole-including the diagnosis and treatment of diseases-is male-centered led to a focus on women's health [11]. Initial interest focused on the endocrine and reproductive systems, but with new studies of sex/gender differences in diabetes and cardiovascular diseases, sex became recognized as an important biological variable. Further studies emphasized the role gender plays as a sociocultural variable in disease [12] (Fig. 1.1), and the term "gender medicine" was coined [13]. In the 2000s, the term "sex/gender-specific medicine" was established as a concept that includes the interaction of both biological and sociocultural aspects in health outcomes.

1.3 What Is Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine?

Sex/gender-specific medicine refers to the study of medicine that integrates both biological and sociocultural roles of females and males into the





Fig. 1.1 Risk factor analysis of non-communicable diseases by life stages with a focus on sex/gender elements (adapted from Danton-Hill et al. [12])

screening, diagnosis, treatment of disease, and clinical practice. Recent studies have documented significant differences between women and men in the incidence, symptoms, morbidity, and mortality of various diseases [14], highlighting the importance of sex/gender-specific medicine to precision medicine [8, 15]. It is important to understand that sex/gender-specific medicine is not women's health, which focuses primarily on women's reproductive health. Rather sex/genderspecific medicine analyzes differences between men and women throughout the entire body and recognizes that understanding these differences will improve the precision and quality of health care for both women and men.

The next step is to integrate sex/genderspecific medicine into the medical curriculum. In recent years, Western societies, such as the United States, Germany, and Sweden, have incorporated sex/gender-specific medicine into clinical training programs for medical students, graduate students, and medical personnel [16]. There have been release of three online training modules for integrating sex and gender in biomedical research; primary data collection with humans; and the analysis of data from human participants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR). In addition, release of sex as a biologic variable (SABV) primer consists of four interactive courses with title of SABV and health of women and men, SABV and experimental design, SABV and analysis, and SABV and research reporting from US National Institutes of Health. These courses have been evaluated positively [17]. From these experiences, the experts found that sex/gender-specific findings must be incorporated across the curriculum-wherever relevant-at all levels education for medical students, graduate students, residents, and fellows [18–20]. To achieve this goal, more educational materials, case studies, and clinical reports and studies are needed [16, 18].

From 2017 to 2019, South Korea experimented with two courses. One was offered as an elective for second-year medical students at the Seoul National University College of Medicine and received positive reviews. A second course was offered to graduate students in translational medicine in 2017 and 2019. This course employed the text, Sex and Gender Aspects in Clinical Medicine [15]. This foundational text reported finding for sex and gender in circulatory, respiratory, digestive, kidney, and autoimmune diseases, as well as endocrinology, hematology, neurology, clinical pharmacology, and pharmacokinetics [15, 21]. Faculty and students who took the course were unfamiliar with sex/gender-specific medicine before attending the classes, but by the end of the semester, they were motivated to apply sex/gender-specific analysis to their clinical research [22] (Table 1.1). This experience was published as an article entitled "Experiences with a graduate course on sex/gender medicine in Korea," [22] which received considerable attention.

1.4 The Need for Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine

Why is sex/gender-specific medicine necessary? Ultimately, the reason is that sex/gender-specific medicine improves health outcomes [15]. Women and men may suffer from different diseases; they may also present with different symptoms in the same disease. Biologically, these differences may be caused by the effects of sex hormones or genetic predispositions on disease mechanism (i.e., pathophysiology). Culturally, these differences may be traced to gender differences in social roles, attitudes, and behaviors, which may impact the incidence or expression of disease. Some prominent examples of sex and/or gender differences in disease include myocardial infarction, the clinical symptoms of heart failure, rheumatic disease, and autoimmune diseases. For instance, myocardial infarction and sudden ischemic death is more common in men, meaning that treatment is often delayed in women who may present with atypical symptoms, such as epigastric soreness or heaviness instead of pain in the chest. Since coronary syndrome related to stress is more common among women, exercise stress testing is less effective for women than for men.

Items	Pre class $(n = 22)$	Post class $(n = 20)$	<i>p</i> -value
I am familiar with sex/gender different	<0.0001		
Strongly disagree	1 (4.5)	1 (4.5)	
Disagree	12 (54.5)	0	
Neutral	8 (36.4)	8 (36.4)	
Agree	1 (4.5)	9 (40.9)	
Strongly agree	0	2 (9.1)	
I am familiar with the term "gendere	<0.0001		
Strongly disagree	6 (27.3)	1 (4.5)	
Disagree	10 (45.5)	4 (18.2)	
Neutral	6 (27.3)	7 (31.8)	
Agree	0	7 (31.8)	
Strongly agree	0	1 (4.5)	
Sex/gender-based medicine is a fund	0.287		
Strongly disagree	0	0	
Disagree	1 (4.5)	1 (4.5)	
Neutral	3 (13.6)	0	
Agree	8 (36.4)	7 (31.8)	
Strongly agree	10 (45.5)	12 (54.5)	
Sex/gender-based medicine is a fund	0.724		
Strongly disagree	0	0	
Disagree	1 (4.5)	1 (4.5)	
Neutral	5 (22.7)	0	
Agree	11 (50.0)	9 (40.9)	
Strongly agree	5 (22.7)	10 (45.5)	

Table 1.1 Survey of participants in a graduate course on sex/gender-specific medicine in the graduate school of translational medicine in a Seoul-based medical school (adapted from Park et al. [22])

Differences are common in other diseases. The ratio of women to men among patients with rheumatoid arthritis is 2 to 3:1. Although there are no specific clinical differences, women tend to evaluate their pain as more severe than do men, meaning that disease activity is greater in women. In addition, women suffer comorbidities, such as depression, thyroid disorders, and fibromyalgia, while men suffer more cardiovascular diseases. Experts in these fields may be familiar with these differences but students, interns, and residents rarely are. Another example is sex/gender difference in prediabetes. Glucose intolerance occurs quickly in women, but in men, fasting blood sugar rises only gradually in these early stages. The cardiovascular comorbidities of diabetes are also different for women and men. Thorough familiarity with these differences can assist in diagnosis and treatment, underscoring the need for sex/gender-specific medicine [15].

1.5 Need for Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in Gastrointestinal Diseases

Functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGIDs), such as gastroesophageal reflux disease, functional dyspepsia (FD), and irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), are more common among women. Stress is an important factor in these diseases, and women are more susceptible to stress; therefore, considering gender differences in treatment is important. Visceral hypersensitivity and mobility, important elements in the mechanism of these diseases, are regulated by the brain-gut axis, which is also influenced by gender. It is often difficult, however, to define gender and analyze it in research. GI cancers (e.g., esophageal cancer, gastric cancer, and colon cancer) are known to be twice as prevalent in men as in women, but it is not clear whether there are reasons for this

beyond gender-specific discrepancies in smoking, which is more common among men, and differences in alcohol and food consumption. Finally, liver fibrosis that progresses after hepatitis B or C infection is common in men, but rare in women.

Estrogen plays a role in these and other diseases. Interestingly, disease patterns and incidence in men and women differ more before menopause and become more similar after menopause. Estrogen is a steroid hormone first discovered as a substance that controls the development and growth of human reproductive organs. Estrogen and estrogen receptors, however, have been shown to be involved in physiological and pathological processes extending well beyond the reproductive organs to the cardiovascular, skeletal, and neuroendocrine systems [23]. Research on estrogen entered a new phase when two different types of receptors (ER α and ER β) were discovered in 1996, which has prompted wider-ranging research. Similarly, androgen receptors (ARs) are a new target of research. ARs have been found to be involved in cancer mechanisms in tissues other than reproductive organs. AR overexpression promotes carcinogenesis and is related to lymph node metastasis and poor prognoses [24, 25]. A study of neoplastic tissue of the stomach showed that AR positivity was independently associated with lower survival rates; connections to other clinical and pathological factors were not found [26, 27].

Colon cancer also displays both sex/gender differences. Color cancer is more prevalent among men. The low incidence of colon cancer in women may relate to ER β which inhibits colon cancer [28, 29], especially since, after menopause, the incidence in women rises. Gastric cancer is also more common in men than in women, with a 2:1 ratio [30]—a pattern that is consistent across the world. Its incidence, however, may be age dependent since gastric cancer in men differs across age groups [31, 32]. Approaches from various perspectives are necessary to understand the factors that might explain a higher prevalence of gastric cancer in men. Environmental factors related to tumors should be comprehensively analyzed along with genetic factors related to the X and Y chromosomes, differences in sex hormones, lifestyle factors including smoking and drinking, *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*) infection [33], and the gut microbiome. Among the known risk factors of gastric cancer are *H. pylori* infection, alcohol consumption, and smoking. These all contribute to a higher incidence in men, but these factors do not fully explain the difference.

Rates of AR positivity in gastric cancers are not significantly different for women and for men [34, 35], but studies have reported that the occurrence of undifferentiated adenocarcinoma are significantly more frequent than that of differentiated adenocarcinoma in AR-positive patients [35]. More recent studies have demonstrated associations between AR status and cancer stage in gastric cancer [36, 37]. One study also reported that AR expression was related to diffuse gastric cancer and a lower disease-free survival rate [38]. However, these studies fail to fully explain sex/gender differences in gastric cancer. In many clinical studies, sex was not considered as a biological variable; therefore, data regarding various factors related to sex hormone exposure were not even collected. Thus, analyses using big data or prospective data are essential to demonstrate the theoretically likely evidence of sex/gender differences in gastric cancer. In vitro studies remain inconclusive because the sex of experimental cells, tissues, or animals is often not registered. For instance, Taylor et al. [39] reviewed articles published in 2010 to determine the extent to which the sex of cells was reported in cardiovascular studies. They found that, among 191 articles published in top cardiovascular journals, only 45 articles (23.6%) reported cell sex [39]. Among these studies, most (68.9%) used only male cells, and none exclusively used female cells [39]. This situation is not limited to any one research field. Shah et al. [40] reported that only 25% of 100 articles randomly selected from the American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology published in 2013 described the sex of cells used in experiments [40]. An analysis of major cell banks—e.g., American Type Culture Collection, European Collection of Cell Cultures, and Japanese Collection of Research Bioresources revealed that, of the human cell lines supplied worldwide in 2013, 20% lacked any sex description. This failure to identify sex was worse among non-human cell lines, with 92% of mouse and 83% of rat cell lines being sold without sex identification [41].

Many approaches to cancer research will materialize in the coming years. From the perspective of homeostasis of cancer stroma and organs, the regulation of angiogenesis or inflammation by sex hormones is expected to be an important foundation for understanding sex/gender differences in cancer progression. As anticancer therapy based on immune checkpoint inhibitors increases, understanding how the immune system differs by sex/gender will become an essential area of research. Based on successes reported for lung cancer and melanoma, clinicians may extend the survival period of gastric cancer patients using programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) and programmed cell death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) inhibitor agents. Much research is now focused on target groups that can benefit from these drugs. However, studies have failed to investigate potential interactions between the immune response to cancer and sex hormones. Estrogen and androgen may impact the mechanism, treatment, and prognosis of GI cancers, but research in this area is scarce, underscoring the need for sex/gender-specific analysis in GI diseases. In spite of the promise of nanomedicine to transform conventional medicine, significant numbers of therapeutic nanomedicine products have failed in clinical trials mainly because most studies have overlooked several important factors, including the significance of sex differences at various physiological levels [42]. Hajipour et al. suggested that more thorough consideration of sex physiology, among other critical variations (e.g., health status of individuals), may enable researchers to design and develop safer and more efficient sex-specific diagnostic and therapeutic nanomedicine products [42].

1.6 Conclusions

Health differences between women and men can be divided into sex differences, grounded in hormones and genetics, and gender differences, related to social and cultural roles. These two aspects are interconnected and impact the incidence of various diseases. Sex/gender-specific medicine refers to the medical study of these differences between women and men. On the side of sex, estrogen and estrogen receptors $ER\alpha$ and ER β are involved in physiological and pathological processes in the cardiovascular, skeletal, and neuroendocrine systems-beyond the reproductive system [24, 25]. Similarly, ARs influence various pathways related to carcinogenesis in tissues other than reproductive organs. On the side of gender, numerous functional GI disorders, such as FD and IBS, are exacerbated by stress. It is therefore imperative that researchers better understand the mechanisms by which sex interacts with gender, especially in non-communicable diseases. To ensure the health of all of women, men, and non-binary people, it will be important to strengthen research into the sex/gender-specific aspects of GI diseases.

References

- 1. Clayton JA. Studying both sexes: a guiding principle for biomedicine. FASEB J. 2016;30:519–24.
- Stefanick ML, Schiebinger L. Analysing how sex and gender interact. Lancet. 2020;396:1553–4.
- Mauvais-Jarvis F, Merz NB, Barnes PJ, Brinton RD, Carrero JJ, DeMeo DL, et al. Sex and gender: modifiers of health, disease, and medicine. Lancet. 2020;396:565–82.
- Macapagal K, Bhatia R, Greene GJ. Differences in healthcare access, use, and experiences within a community sample of racially diverse lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning emerging adults. LGBT Health. 2016;3:434–42.
- Casey LS, Reisner SL, Findling MG, Blendon RJ, Benson JM, Justin M, et al. Discrimination in the United States: experiences of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer Americans. Health Serv Res. 2019;54:1454–66.
- Kamen CS, Alpert A, Margolies L, Griggs JJ, Darbes L, Smith-Stoner M, et al. "Treat us with dignity": a qualitative study of the experiences and recommendations of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer

(LGBTQ) patients with cancer. Support Care Cancer. 2019;27:2525–32.

- Morris M, Cooper RL, Ramesh A, Tabatabai M, Arcury TA, Shinn M, et al. Training to reduce LGBTQ-related bias among medical, nursing, and dental students and providers: a systematic review. BMC Med Educ. 2019;19:325.
- Ettner R, Monstrey S, Coleman E. Principles of transgender medicine and surgery. 2nd ed. New York: Routledge; 2016.
- Tannenbaum C, Ellis RP, Eyssel F, Zou J, Schiebinger L. Sex and gender analysis improves science and engineering. Nature. 2019;575:137–46.
- Schiebinger L, Klinge I, Sánchez de Madariaga I, Paik HY, Schraudner M, Stefanick M. Gendered Innovations in Science, Health & Medicine, Engineering, and Environment. 2011–2021. http:// genderedinnovations.stanford.edu/index.html. Accessed 1 July 2021.
- Mazure CM, Jones DP. Twenty years and still counting: including women as participants and studying sex and gender in biomedical research. BMC Womens Health. 2015;15:94.
- Darnton-Hill I, Nishida C, James WPT. A life course approach to diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Public Health Nutr. 2004;7:101–21.
- Schenck-Kustafsson K, DeCola P, Pfaff DW, Pisetsky DS. Handbook of clinical gender medicine. Basel: Karger; 2012.
- McGregor AJ, Templeton K, Kleinman MR, Jenkins MR. Advancing sex and gender competency in medicine: sex & gender women's health collaborative. Biol Sex Differ. 2013;4:11.
- Oertelt-Prigione S, Regitz-Zagrosek V. Sex and gender aspect in clinical medicine. London: Springer, 2012.
- Miller VM, Rice M, Schiebinger L, Jenkins MR, Werbinski J, Núñez A, et al. Embedding concepts of sex and gender health differences into medical curricula. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2013;22:194–202.
- Miller VM, Kararigas G, Seeland U, Regitz-Zagrosek V, Kublickiene K, Einstein G, et al. Integrating topics of sex and gender into medical curricula-lessons from the international community. Biol Sex Differ. 2016;7(Suppl 1):44.
- Jenkins MR, Herrmann A, Tashjian A, Ramineni T, Ramakrishnan R, Raef D, et al. Sex and gender in medical education: a national student survey. Biol Sex Differ. 2016;7(Suppl 1):45.
- Kling JM, Rose SH, Kransdorf LN, Viggiano TR, Miller VM. Evaluation of sex- and gender-based medicine training in post-graduate medical education: a cross-sectional survey study. Biol Sex Differ. 2016;7(Suppl 1):38.
- 20. Dhawan S, Bakir M, Jones E, Kilpatrick S, Bairey Merz CN. Sex and gender medicine in physician clinical training: results of a large, single-center survey. Biol Sex Differ. 2016;7(Suppl 1):37.
- 21. Regitz-Zagrosek V. Sex and gender differences in pharmacology. Berlin: Springer; 2012.

- Park SM, Kim N, Paik HY. Experiences with a graduate course on sex and gender medicine in Korea. J Educ Eval Health Prof. 2018;15:13.
- 23. Song CH, Kim N, Lee SM, Nam RH, Choi SI, Kang SR, et al. Effects of 17β-estradiol on colorectal cancer development after azoxymethane/dextran sulfate sodium treatment of ovariectomized mice. Biochem Pharmacol. 2019;164:139–51.
- 24. Kominea A, Konstantinopoulos PA, Kapranos N, Vandoros G, Gkermpesi M, Andricopoulos P, et al. Androgen receptor (AR) expression is an independent unfavourable prognostic factor in gastric cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2004;130:253–8.
- Tian Y, Wan H, Lin Y, Xie X, Li Z, Tan G. Androgen receptor may be responsible for gender disparity in gastric cancer. Med Hypotheses. 2013;80:672–4.
- Wu CW, Chi CW, Chang TJ, Lui WY, P'eng FK. Sex hormone receptors in gastric cancer. Cancer. 1990;65:1396–400.
- Nakamura Y, Shimada N, Suzuki T, Imatani A, Sekine H, Ohara S, et al. In situ androgen production in human gastric carcinoma--androgen synthesizing and metabolizing enzymes. Anticancer Res. 2006;26:1935–9.
- 28. Son HJ, Sohn SH, Kim N, Lee HN, Lee SM, Nam RH, et al. Effect of estradiol in an azoxymethane/ dextran sulfate sodium-treated mouse model of colorectal cancer: implication for sex difference in colorectal cancer development. Cancer Res Treat. 2019;51:632–48.
- 29. Lee SM, Kim N, Son HJ, Park JH, Nam RH, Ham MH, et al. The effect of sex on the azoxymethane/ dextran sulfate sodium-treated mice model of colon cancer. J Cancer Prev. 2016;21:271–8.
- 30. Forman D, Bray F, Brewster DH, Gombe Mbalawa C, Kohler B, Piñeros M, et al. Cancer incidence in five continents, CI5plus, Vol. X. IARC Scientific Publication No. 164. International Agency for Research on Cancer: Lyon; 2014.
- Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61:69–90.
- Sipponen P, Correa P. Delayed rise in incidence of gastric cancer in females results in unique sex ratio (M/F) pattern: etiologic hypothesis. Gastric Cancer. 2002;5:213–9.
- 33. Lim SH, Kim N, Kwon JW, Kim SE, Baik GH, Lee JY, et al. Trends in the seroprevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and its putative eradication rate over 18 years in Korea: a cross-sectional nationwide multi-center study. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0204762.
- 34. Sica V, Nola E, Contieri E, Bova R, Masucci MT, Medici N, et al. Estradiol and progesterone receptors in malignant gastro-intestinal tumors. Cancer Res. 1984;44:4670–4.
- Yokozaki H, Takekura N, Takanashi A, Tabuchi J, Haruta R, Tahara E. Estrogen receptors in gastric adenocarcinoma: a retrospective immunohistochemical analysis. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol. 1988;413:297–302.

- Matsui M, Kojima O, Uehara Y, Takahashi T. Characterization of estrogen receptor in human gastric cancer. Cancer. 1991;68:305–8.
- Singh S, Poulsom R, Wright NA, Sheppard MC, Langman MJ. Differential expression of oestrogen receptor and oestrogen inducible genes in gastric mucosa and cancer. Gut. 1997;40:516–20.
- Yi JH, Do IG, Jang J, Kim ST, Kim KM, Park SH, et al. Anti-tumor efficacy of fulvestrant in estrogen receptor positive gastric cancer. Sci Rep. 2014;4:7592.
- Taylor KE, Vallejo-Giraldo C, Schaible NS, Zakeri R, Miller VM. Reporting of sex as a variable in cardio-

vascular studies using cultured cells. Biol Sex Differ. 2011;2:11.

- Shah K, McCormack CE, Bradbury NA. Do you know the sex of your cells? Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2014;306:C3–18.
- Park MN, Park JH, Paik HY, Lee SK. Insufficient sex description of cells supplied by commercial vendors. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2015;308:C578–80.
- Hajipour MJ, Aghaverdi H, Serpooshan V, Vali H, Sheibani S, Mahmoudi M. Sex as an important factor in nanomedicine. Nat Commun. 2021;12:2984.

Part II

Sex/Gender Differences in the Gastrointestinal Diseases



2

Sex/Gender Differences in the Gastrointestinal Diseases

Nayoung Kim

2.1 Introduction

Men and women are alike in many ways, but the biological and behavioral differences between the two sexes/genders are of considerable importance. These differences impact the prevalence, epidemiology, and pathophysiology of major diseases, as well as access to healthcare. Despite knowledge about these important differences, it is not common for clinicians to provide tailored medicine based on gender or to consider risk factors based on gender in the prevention, management, and examination of diseases. Overlooking these important factors interferes with effective treatment, and standardizing all aspects of medical practice to focus on 170-cm-tall men weighing 65 kg constitutes a major obstacle to the development of public health. To rectify this problem, wide-ranging initiatives are necessary, among which the most important is sex/genderspecific medicine, which researches differences between women and men from a medical standpoint and applies the concept of gender in clinical practice and pharmaceutical development. Sex refers to biological differences, such as reproductive functions, sex hormone levels, genetic differences expressed by the X and Y sex chromosomes and their effects, and higher body fat composition in females. In contrast, gender is related to behavior, lifestyle, and experiences [1]. Gender shapes healthcare access, healthcare usage, and behavioral attitudes toward medical professionals. Some examples of gender differences include the use of preventive methods, prescriptions of medicines, health insurance reimbursements, and receptive attitudes toward artificial pacemakers or heart transplant surgery. Sex/gender are closely related, which makes it difficult to differentiate the effects of sex/gender in reality. On the one hand, sex influences behavior, as exemplified by the fact that testosterone causes more aggressive behavior and leads to a neglect of personal safety when exposed to danger. On the other hand, gender-based behaviors can also change biological factors. For example, stress, environmental toxicity, and poor nutrition and lifestyle cause genetic or epigenetic changes in adults, children, and even fetuses [1]. Sex hormones influence gene repair and epigenetic mechanisms; therefore, epigenetic variations and their physiological effects are also different in men and women [1] (Fig. 2.1). For this reason, the effects of sex/gender should be considered in medicine. Sex/gender-specific medicine or gender medicine refers to an approach to medicine that considers the effects of biological and sociocultural factors on women and men. This chapter examines functional gastrointestinal disorders

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Korea (Republic of) e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_2



Fig. 2.1 Role of sex hormones. Since sex hormones influence gene repair and epigenetic mechanisms, epigenetic changes and their physiological effects also appear differently in men and women (adapted from Regitz-Zagrosek [1])

(FGIDs) and alcohol-related gastrointestinal (GI) diseases, for which the distinction between sex/gender is clear, and presents considerations necessary for effective treatment from the public health perspective.

2.2 Effects of Sex/Gender on Disease

Sex, which is determined by biological characteristics, is generally categorized into female and male. This categorization is based on the composition of the chromosomes that influence the expression of phenotypic features, the reproductive organs, secretion of certain hormones, and the biological functions caused by environmental factors [2–4]. In contrast, gender is determined by socially and culturally shaped attitudes and behaviors and is generally categorized into feminine/femininity and masculine/masculinity [2– 4]. Some females can have a more masculine gender identity, and some males can have a more feminine gender identity. Aspects of gender identity and presentation can change even in one person throughout the stages of life due to changes in the environment or the effects of hormones. In recent years, diversity has been embraced, and the absolute influence of parents has become relatively weaker, making this tendency more evident. In the past, based on the idea that males should be masculine and females should be feminine, parents reinforced behaviors that fit this idea and discouraged behaviors that did not. However, in the modern era, when extended families have been replaced by nuclear families, the phenomenon of discrepancies between sex/gender has become more common as the influence of parents has grown weaker. Gender-related terminology varies across countries and cultures; although the system used in one country [5] may not be applicable to others, women are generally referred to as females and men as males in articles. Sex is a fundamental factor in all life sciences research, including medical research, and plays an important role in the determination of research priorities, the establishment of hypotheses, and research design [1].

In contrast, gender analysis is applied in research on topics for which sociocultural aspects

play an important role, and it is an important framework for diseases such as FGIDs in which sociocultural aspects have a large impact. However, inconsistencies in the definition of gender have led to difficulties, such as the interchangeable use of the terms sex/gender in the same paper or the use of different definitions by different authors. Biological and social factors related to sex/gender interact to influence the risk of noncommunicable diseases until adolescence, but as individuals enter adulthood and approach old age, the importance of gender, which is related to social factors, becomes greater than that of the biological factor of sex [6].

2.3 Effects of Sex/Gender on FGIDs

The gender-related (i.e., social) factors related to FGIDs can be summarized as follows [7]. First, psychological stress is associated with the symptoms and severity of FGIDs such as IBS [8]. Second, a history of sexual, physical, and emotional abuse is more common in women with IBS [9–13]. Third, women feel more embarrassment related to losing control of their bodily functions than men [4] because women consider their body functions to be private and tend to think that body functions should be kept a secret, according to how they were educated [14]. For example, men tend to experience abdominal bloating as simply a form of physical discomfort. However, for women, due to the social perception that women should be pretty and thin, abdominal bloating also becomes a cause of psychological stress because it appears that they have a protruding abdomen [15]. Beyond prejudices around appearance, women usually have to take on caregiving roles in social relationships and are raised with the norm of pleasing others by sacrificing themselves [4]. Unlike men, women are perceived to be hysterical when they express anger, make demands, or question authority. Women's opinions are ignored, and their femininity is questioned. Due to these social expectations, women might suppress certain thoughts, emotions, and behaviors rather than express them and jeopardize their relationships. For example, research has found that women with IBS had a higher selfsilencing score than women with inflammatory bowel disease [16]. In contrast, men were found to struggle with losing control at work due to the symptoms of IBS [15]. Fourth, many studies have reported gender differences in the health-related quality of life of patients with FGIDs [17, 18]. In a European study, the quality of life was lower in women with IBS than in men with IBS [19]. A similar finding was also reported in a Chinese study [20]. A study that compared the quality of life of patients with FGIDs to that of healthy individuals reported that the quality of life among FGID patients was lower than that among healthy individuals, while the quality of life of women with FGID was significantly lower than that of men with FGID [18, 21].

2.4 Effects of Sex/Gender on Alcohol-Related Gastrointestinal Diseases

Alcohol consumption is an important health risk factor in South Korea. A large proportion of the South Korean population has a lower ability to metabolize alcohol than Caucasians, which makes South Koreans more vulnerable to alcohol. Specifically, in 30% of the population, the capacity to secrete the enzyme that breaks down acetaldehyde is less than half that of Caucasians. Some individuals have only about a tenth of the capacity to metabolize alcohol, to the point they cannot break down even a single drink of alcohol. Even in individuals who have a higher capability to metabolize alcohol, toxicity occurs when an amount greater than half a bottle of soju (traditional Korean alcohol) is consumed due to a delay in breaking down alcohol. Females are known to be more vulnerable to alcohol than males. Diseases related to drinking alcohol include GI diseases, such as liver and pancreatic disease, as well as head and neck cancers, depression, and dementia. Alcohol-related diseases manifest differently according to sex/gender; therefore, to treat these diseases well, it is important to understand how they are influenced by sex/gender.

2.4.1 Difference of Alcohol Metabolism by Sex

Once ethanol, the psychoactive component of alcoholic drinks, is absorbed into the body, it is converted to acetaldehyde by alcohol dehydrogenase in the first stage and to acetate (the conjugate base of acetic acid, also known as vinegar) by aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (ALDH2) in the second stage. While nearly all Caucasians and Southeast Asians carry the active ALDH2 *1/*1 genotype, the inactive ALDH2 *2 allele is frequently observed in East Asian populations, which have 30% ALDH2 *1/*2 heterozygosity and 5-10% ALDH2 *2/*2 homozygosity [22, 23]. It is known that there are considerable differences in alcohol metabolism according to the ALDH2 genotype [24]. For individuals who cannot break down alcohol such as ALDH2 *2/*2 homozygosity, even one shot of soju can make their face and body turn red, break out with hives,

and feel itchy. In severe cases, death can be caused by respiratory failure or heart problems, so caution is needed. If a low amount of ALDH2 is secreted or the level of enzyme activity is low such as in people with the *ALDH2* *1/*2 genotype, acetaldehyde, a toxic intermediate decomposition product, accumulates in the body and causes physical symptoms such as redness of the face, headaches, and palpitations [25] (Fig. 2.2). Individuals whose face turns red after drinking a small amount of alcohol secrete lower levels of ALDH2 or have less active ALDH2 as a result of genetic factors, and their blood acetaldehyde level increases dramatically even after consuming a little bit of alcohol.

There are sex differences in alcohol metabolism. In general, 20–25% of the consumed alcohol is absorbed in the stomach, while 75–80% is absorbed in the small intestines to be detoxified in the liver [26] (Fig. 2.3a). Females weigh less than males, have a higher proportion of body fat



Fig. 2.2 The mechanism of alcohol metabolism. When an inadequate amount of aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 (ALDH2) enzyme is secreted or its activity is low, acetaldehyde (an intermediate product of alcohol decomposi-

tion) accumulates and causes toxicity. *ADH* alcohol dehydrogenase, *CYP2E1* cytochrome P450 2E1 (adapted from Lee [25])



Fig. 2.3 Alcohol metabolism in men and women. In general, 20-25% of the consumed alcohol is absorbed in the stomach, while 75–80% is absorbed in the small intestines to be detoxified in the liver (**a**). Women weigh less than in men, have a higher proportion of body fat, and have a

and a lower body water percentage (around 60% in females, 65% in males) (Fig. 2.3b), and secrete less alcohol dehydrogenase enzymes; therefore, the blood alcohol level is higher in females than in males after drinking the same amount of alcohol (Fig. 2.3c), and more acetaldehyde (a toxic byproduct) accumulates in females. As a result, females have a shorter time period than males from starting drinking to the onset of conditions requiring treatment due to problems such as heavy drinking or addiction.

2.4.2 Differences in Alcohol Consumption Patterns by Gender

Throughout the world—including South Korea alcohol consumption was traditionally considered permissible for men. In the feudal era, due to discrimination against women's consumption of alcohol, women usually drank alcohol in private spaces where they would not be seen by others.

lower body water percentage (around 60% in women, 65% in men) (b). Since women also secrete less alcohol dehydrogenase, women have a higher blood alcohol level than men after drinking the same amount of alcohol (c) (adapted from van de Waterbeemd and Gifford [26])

In this situation, when drinking problems occurred due to chronic alcoholism, there was generally no opportunity to make appropriate interventions. This historical trend relates to how men drink in social situations, while women drink to relieve stress. This trend is becoming clearer as women become more stressed from having to balance work and family. According to 2017 statistics, 79% of Korean men and 52.3% of Korean women consume alcohol [27] (Fig. 2.4a). When the prevalence of high-risk alcohol consumption is estimated with the World Health Organization standard of consuming more than seven drinks for men and five drinks for women once a week or consuming any amount more than twice a week, 55.8% of men and 27.6% of women have high-risk consumption [27] (Fig. 2.4b).

In recent years, alcohol consumption (both in general and high-risk consumption) has steadily become more common among women. The increase in high-risk alcohol consumption among women in their 20s and 30s has been particularly rapid (2017 Health and Welfare Statistical Year



Fig. 2.4 Trends in alcohol consumption from the 2017 Health and Welfare Statistical Year Book In total, 79% of Korean men and 52.3% of Korean women consume alcohol (**a**). According to the World Health Organization standard of high-risk alcohol consumption (consuming more

than seven drinks for men and five drinks for women once a week or consuming any amount more than twice a week), 55.8% of men and 27.6% of women have high-risk consumption (b) (adapted from 2017 Health and Welfare Statistical Year Book [27])



Fig. 2.5 Survey of alcohol consumption by age among South Koreans above the age of 19. Alcohol consumption is most often seen in men aged 30–59, but in women, alco-

hol consumption is highest among those aged 19–29 (arrow) and declines afterward (adapted from 2017 Health and Welfare Statistical Year Book [27])

Book). In a survey of the prevalence of alcohol consumption by age among South Koreans above the age of 19, drinking was found to be most common in the 30–59 age group among men, but in the 19–29 age group among women, after which the prevalence declines [27] (Fig. 2.5).

The increase in alcohol consumption among women is caused by greater exposure to drinking due to the increased participation of women aged 19–29 in the workforce, the introduction of lowproof and fruity soju targeting women, marketing efforts by the alcohol industry, and the effects of media. Delays in marriage and pregnancy are another reason. Unlike in men, alcohol consumption behavior and outcomes in women differ by occupation, income level, and education level. Younger women with lower occupational and income status have been found to engage more frequently in high-risk alcohol consumption behaviors.

2.4.3 Differences in Healthcare Utilization by Gender Among Patients with Alcoholism

Men and women are also different in their healthcare utilization behaviors when physical diseases due to alcohol consumption occur. For several reasons, men with alcoholism are often accompanied by their spouses or other family members when visiting the emergency room or outpatient appointments. Women with alcoholism usually visit alone. As a gender difference, men tend to be more confident in front of medical staff, while women are more ashamed. Barriers to treatment exist for women, such as differences in mindset, problems with children, postpartum care, comorbid psychiatric problems, and alienation from social facilities [28, 29]. According to a report from California in the United States, when alcoholism was surveyed in a non-alcoholic clinical sample after considering gender in the general population, a greater proportion of women were

found to have issues with alcohol [30]. For example, the relative risk of alcohol issues among patients in mental health treatment compared to the general population was 2.1 in men and 5.6 in women [30]. Moreover, men were more likely to have received related medical services in the past compared to women. Even when women had more severe symptoms, they were less likely to ask for help [30], which demonstrates the need for medical professionals and social workers to consider gender when they approach issues with alcohol.

2.4.4 Alcohol-Related Physical Diseases

When alcohol is not broken down due to the lack of ALDH2 secretion or reduced enzymatic activity, acetaldehyde accumulates in the body, causing various physical diseases. As described above, females are more vulnerable to alcohol and develop these diseases more quickly [31] (Fig. 2.6).

2.4.4.1 Alcohol and Esophageal Cancer

Esophageal cancer is more common in males than in females around the world, with 70% of



cases in males. In a study that analyzed data from 51,000,000 individuals in South Korea, people who consumed even a small amount of alcohol had a higher risk of GI cancer than people who did not drink at all [29]. The risk for gastric and colorectal cancer increased until the daily amount of alcohol consumption reached 20 g [29]. However, after 20 g per day, a dose-dependent increase was not observed while the risk for esophageal cancer continuously increased [29]. Among the three GI cancers, esophageal cancer was the most associated with alcohol consumption as well as with the amount of alcohol consumption [29]. In addition, consumption of both tobacco and alcohol increased the risk of esophageal cancer even further [29] (Fig. 2.7). The consumption of both alcohol and tobacco is more common among men than women. An interpretation of these findings is that due to unconfirmed causes (perhaps related to hormones), the incidence of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma or esophageal adenocarcinoma is much higher in men than women [29]. Further gender-stratified analyses of the total duration of alcohol exposure and the amount of alcohol consumed will shed further light on the effects of alcohol on esophageal cancer.

2.4.4.2 Alcohol and Gastric Cancer

Some studies reported no relationship between alcohol and gastric cancer, but the lack of an association in those studies may have been because they did not consider poor ALDH2 metabolizers. Our team investigated the association between alcohol consumption and the risk for gastric cancer in the Korean population with the ALDH2 genotype [33]. Subjects with inactive ALDH2 *2 allele(s) showed a lower level of alcohol consumption than ALDH2 *1/*1 homozygotes (p < 0.001) [33]. Among the ALDH2 *1/*2 carriers (n = 243), current/ex-drinkers had a significantly increased risk for gastric cancer compared with never/rare drinkers (odds ratio [OR] 2.80; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.51-5.19) [33]. Among heavy drinkers (n = 115), ALDH2 *1/*2 heterozygotes had a fourfold increased risk for gastric cancer compared with *1/*1 homozygotes (OR 4.26; 95% CI, 1.10-16.47); however, no risk increase was seen among never/rare drinkers. Furthermore, there was a



Fig. 2.7 Effects of alcohol on esophageal cancer. The combination of alcohol consumption and smoking further increased the risk of esophageal cancer (adapted from Choi et al. [32])

gender difference in the effect of alcohol. That is, no significant differences were found in males, but females showed large differences in the risk of gastric cancer, with risk increasing from nondrinkers, quitters, and light drinkers to heavy drinkers [33] (Table 2.1). Recently we performed the meta-analysis in a total of seven case-control studies on ALDH2 rs671 polymorphism consisting of 3251 gastric cancer cases and 4943 controls [34]. Inactive ALDH2 genotypes (G/A or A/A) were associated with an increased risk of gastric cancer (OR 1.26; 95% CI, 1.04-1.52; $p = 0.02; I^2 = 64\%$), compared with active ALDH2 (G/G genotype) [34]. Subgroup analysis by alcohol consumption showed that inactive ALDH2 increased risk for gastric cancer in moderate to heavy drinkers (OR 1.85; 95% CI, 1.52-2.25; $p < 0.01; I^2 = 6\%$) more than in non-drinkers or mild drinkers (OR 1.19; 95% CI, 1.05-1.36; $p < 0.01; I^2 = 6\%$ [34]. Moderate/heavy alcohol consumption increased gastric cancer risk in individuals with inactive ALDH2 (OR 2.23; 95% CI, 1.63–3.05; p < 0.01; $I^2 = 30\%$) more than those with active ALDH2 (OR 1.40; 95% CI, 0.98-2.01; p = 0.07; $I^2 = 85\%$) [34]. These results suggest that the ALDH2 polymorphism modifies the risk of gastric cancer. However, most of studies did not analyze the effect of gender difference on the alcohol-induced gastric carcinogenesis. There was a survey about alcohol flushing could be used to measure ALDH2 activity levels [35]. Gender differences in alcohol flushing and disease need to be evaluated in the future.

2.4.4.3 Alcohol and Colorectal Cancer

In "Ten Ways to Eat and Manage Health to Beat Colorectal Cancer" published by the Korean Society of Cancer Prevention for the 2016 Cancer Prevention Day, excessive drinking was identified as a risk factor of colorectal cancer. The risk of colorectal cancer was 1.3 times [32] and 1.87 times [36] higher in heavy drinkers than in nondrinkers in studies based in South Korea, and the risk was 1.42 times higher in a Japanese cohort study [37]. In a community-based study that observed 6291 residents (aged 55 and older) of Ganghwa-do for 20.8 years from 1985 to 2005, mortality associated with soju was significantly higher than that associated with makgeolli (Korean traditional alcohol) among men, but this difference was not significant among women. The reason for this finding may be that the

	Cases (%)	Controls (%)	Adjusted OR ^a (95% CI)	p value ^a				
All subjects $(n = 815)$								
Never/rare drinker	213 (47.9)	240 (64.9)	1.00 (reference)					
Ex-drinker	94 (21.1)	43 (11.6)	1.68 (1.07-2.64)	0.024				
Light drinker	70 (15.7)	40 (10.8)	1.60 (0.99–2.58)	0.054				
Heavy drinker	68 (15.3)	47 (12.7)	1.12 (0.70–1.81)	0.636				
p trend				0.335				
Males (<i>n</i> = 495)								
Never/rare drinker	102 (33.2)	69 (36.7)	1.00 (reference)					
Ex-drinker	80 (26.1)	36 (19.1)	1.29 (0.77–2.17)	0.337				
Light drinker	60 (19.5)	36 (19.1)	1.14 (0.67–1.93)	0.622				
Heavy drinker	65 (21.2)	47 (25.0)	0.88 (0.54–1.46)	0.629				
p trend				0.965				
Females $(n = 320)$								
Never/rare drinker	111 (80.4)	171 (94.0)	1.00 (reference)					
Ex-drinker	14 (10.1)	7 (3.8)	3.07 (1.14-8.28)	0.027				
Light/heavy drinker ^b	13 (9.5)	4 (2.2)	7.24 (2.12–24.70)	0.002				
p trend				< 0.001				

Table 2.1 The effects of alcohol on gastric cancer by gender (adapted from Shin et al. [33])

^aLogistic model adjusted for gender, age, *H. pylori* infection, smoking, and school education

^bLight and heavy drinkers were combined among females because there were only three heavy drinkers in gastric cancer cases and no heavy drinkers in controls. Never/rare drinker refers to a non-drinker or one who drinks <2 U/week; light drinker <12 U/week; heavy drinker \geq 12 U/week (1 U = 12 g of ethanol)

amount of consumption was larger and the duration of consumption was longer in men [36].

2.4.4.4 Alcohol and Chronic Liver Disease

Alcohol consumption is one of the main risk factors for liver disease and causes various liver diseases such as alcoholic fatty liver, alcoholic hepatitis, cirrhosis, and liver cancer. Alcohol can ultimately cause death by liver failure. According to the 2017 Health and Welfare Statistical Year Book, the number of patients with chronic alcoholic liver disease was declining, but the total health expenditures associated with alcoholic liver disease continued to increase. For adult men, the risk of alcoholic liver disease increased when 40-80 g of alcohol (240-480 mL of soju) was consumed every day, but in women, the risk increased with the daily consumption of more than 20 g of alcohol, demonstrating that women are more likely to develop alcoholic liver disease with less alcohol consumption than men [38]. Even when the same amount of alcohol is consumed, the risk of cirrhosis is higher in women than in men, and cirrhosis can occur in women who consume only one to two drinks per day [38].

2.4.4.5 Alcohol and Pancreatitis

The pancreas is an important organ that secretes insulin and digestive enzymes. Excessive drinking increases the viscosity of blood and deteriorates blood circulation. In response to increased levels of cholecystokinin, which stimulates the secretion of pancreatic fluid, digestive enzymes that break down proteins do not flow into the GI tract. Instead, these enzymes break down pancreatic tissue, causing pancreatitis. Females are at a higher risk of acute pancreatitis, wherein the pancreas swells and form blisters that narrow or block the pancreatic duct, through which pancreatic fluid flows. As alcohol consumption among women in their 20s is increasing, the incidence of pancreatitis is also increasing. Chronic pancreatitis becomes less common among men as they age, but it becomes more common among women. According to a Japanese study result, the mean age of onset of acute pancreatitis was

50 years but was lower among women than among men. There was also a small difference in the mean age of onset of chronic pancreatitis, with the mean age among women being 53.3 years, which was lower than that among men [37]. Another Japanese study examined the length of alcohol consumption until the incidence of pancreatitis by gender. The time period from exposure to excessive alcohol consumption to the diagnosis of pancreatitis was shorter in women, with 6.8 years for acute pancreatitis and 9.7 years for chronic pancreatitis. The length from first drink to the incidence of acute pancreatitis was 29.8 years for men and 22.2 years for women, and the length from first drink to the incidence of chronic pancreatitis was 34.3 years for men and 23.0 years for women [39].

2.5 Conclusions

From the perspective of the influence of sex/gender on disease, biological and social factors interact to influence disease. For noncommunicable diseases, as individuals enter adulthood and approach old age, the influence of gender, which is connected to social factors, becomes greater than that of sex, which is connected to biological factors. In other words, factors related to gender, which is shaped by the sociocultural environment, have a large impact. FGID serves as an excellent example of conditions for the role of gender is evident in patients' responses to clinical symptoms and from the perspective of quality of life. When individuals have the same symptoms of IBS, the deterioration in quality of life is more severe for women than for men due to differences in social norms and sexual identity. Other diseases on which sex/gender have an important impact are alcoholic liver disease, pancreatitis, and esophageal cancer. The metabolic process of alcohol is influenced by sex, but the consumption of alcohol and patterns of healthcare usage are influenced by gender. Due to physical characteristics such as lower levels of ALDH2 and body water percentage, females' capacity to break down alcohol is weaker than that of males. The risk of toxicity due to the accumulation of acetaldehyde is higher in females than in males, so females are more likely to experience various alcohol-related diseases such as gastric cancer, liver cirrhosis, and acute and chronic pancreatitis. From the gender aspect, men with alcoholism more actively use healthcare and other social welfare facilities, whereas women tend to only visit the hospital with alcohol-related diseases after their symptoms deteriorate. Therefore, medical professionals should consider sex/gender when treating alcohol-related disorders.

References

- 1. Regitz-Zagrosek V. Sex and gender differences in health. EMBO Rep. 2012;13:596–603.
- Pardue ML, Wizemann TM. Exploring the biological contributions to human health: does sex matter? Washington D.C.: National Academies Press; 2001.
- Chang L, Toner BB, Fukudo S, Guthrie E, Locke GR, Norton NJ, et al. Gender, age, society, culture, and the patient's perspective in the functional gastrointestinal disorders. Gastroenterology. 2006;130:1435–46.
- Houghton LA, Heitkemper M, Crowell M, Emmanuel A, Halpert A, McRobertset JA, et al. Age, gender and women's health and the patient. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:1332–43.e4.
- Pelletier R, Ditto B, Pilote L. A composite measure of gender and its association with risk factors in patients with premature acute coronary syndrome. Psychosom Med. 2015;77:517–26.
- Darnton-Hill I, Nishida C, James WPT. A life course approach to diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. Public Health Nutr. 2004;7:101–21.
- Lee JY, Park KS. Gender difference in functional gastrointestinal disorders. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2018;72:163–9.
- Kim YS, Kim N. Sex-gender differences in irritable bowel syndrome. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2018;24:544–58.
- Bradford K, Shih W, Videlock EJ, Presson AP, Naliboff BD, Mayer EA, et al. Association between early adverse life events and irritable bowel syndrome. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;10:385–90. e1–3.
- Longstreth GF, Wolde-Tsadik G. Irritable boweltype symptoms in HMO examinees. Prevalence, demographics, and clinical correlates. Dig Dis Sci. 1993;38:1581–9.
- Walker EA, Katon WJ, Roy-Byrne PP, Jemelka RP, Russo J. Histories of sexual victimization in patients with irritable bowel syndrome or inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Psychiatry. 1993;150:1502–6.
- Goodwin L, White PD, Hotopf M, Stansfeldv SA, Clark C. Life course study of the etiology of self-

reported irritable bowel syndrome in the 1958 British birth cohort. Psychosom Med. 2013;75:202–10.

- Jones MP, Oudenhove LV, Koloski N, Tack J, Talley NJ. Early life factors initiate a 'vicious circle' of affective and gastrointestinal symptoms: a longitudinal study. United European Gastroenterol J. 2013;1:394–402.
- Cheney AM. "Most girls want to be skinny": body (dis)satisfaction among ethnically diverse women. Qual Health Res. 2011;21:1347–59.
- Björkman I, Dellenborg L, Ringström G, Simrén M, Jakobsson Ung E. The gendered impact of Irritable Bowel Syndrome: a qualitative study of patients' experiences. J Adv Nurs. 2014;70:1334–43.
- Ali A, Toner BB, Stuckless N, Gallop R, Diamant NE, Gould MI, et al. Emotional abuse, self-blame, and self-silencing in women with irritable bowel syndrome. Psychosom Med. 2000;62:76–82.
- Kim JJ, Kim N, Park JH, Kim YS, Lee SM, Lee DH, et al. Comparison of tight junction protein-related gene mRNA expression levels between male and female gastroesophageal reflux disease patients. Gut Liver. 2018;12:411–9.
- Choi YJ, Park YS, Kim N, Kim YS, Lee SM, Lee DH, et al. Gender differences in ghrelin, nociception genes, psychological factors and quality of life in functional dyspepsia. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23:8053–61.
- Simrén M, Abrahamsson H, Svedlund J, Björnsson ES. Quality of life in patients with irritable bowel syndrome seen in referral centers versus primary care: the impact of gender and predominant bowel pattern. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2001;36:545–52.
- Tang YR, Yang WW, Wang YL, Lin L. Sex differences in the symptoms and psychological factors that influence quality of life in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;24:702–7.
- Welén K, Faresjö A, Faresjö T. Functional dyspepsia affects women more than men in daily life: a case-control study in primary care. Gend Med. 2008;5:62–73.
- 22. Brennan P, Lewis S, Hashibe M, Bell DA, Boffetta P, Bouchardy C, et al. Pooled analysis of alcohol dehydrogenase genotypes and head and neck cancer: a HuGE review. Am J Epidemiol. 2004;159:1–16.
- Takagi S, Iwai N, Yamauchi R, Kojima S, Yasuno S, Baba T, et al. Aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 gene is a risk factor for myocardial infarction in Japanese men. Hypertens Res. 2002;25:677–81.
- Ebrahim S, Davey Smith G. Mendelian randomization: can genetic epidemiology help redress the failures of observational epidemiology? Hum Genet. 2008;123:15–33.
- Lee TH. PG2. Fatty liver disease (ASH & NASH): diagnosis of alcoholic liver disease: invasive or noninvasive? Postgraduate Courses 2015;57–62.
- van de Waterbeemd H, Gifford E. ADMET in silico modelling: towards prediction paradise? Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2003;2:192–204.
- 27. Survey of alcohol consumption by age among South Koreans above the age of 19. 2017 Health and

Welfare Statistical Year Book. https://www.mohw. go.kr/react/gm/sgm0704vw.jsp?PAR_MENU_ ID=13&MENU_ID=13040801&page=1&CONT_ SEQ=356595&PAR_CONT_SEQ=355597. Accessed 14 Oct 2020.

- McCrady BS, Epstein EE, Fokas KF. Treatment interventions for women with alcohol use disorder. Alcohol Res. 2020;40:08.
- Verissimo ADO, Grella CE. Influence of gender and race/ethnicity on perceived barriers to help-seeking for alcohol or drug problems. J Subst Abus Treat. 2017;75:54-61.
- Weisner C, Schmidt L. Gender disparities in treatment for alcohol problems. JAMA. 1992;268:1872–6.
- Piazza NJ, Vrbka JL, Yeager RD. Telescoping of alcoholism in women alcoholics. Int J Addict. 1989;24:19–28.
- 32. Choi YJ, Lee DH, Han KD, Kim HS, Yoon H, Shin CM, et al. The relationship between drinking alcohol and esophageal, gastric or colorectal cancer: a nation-wide population-based cohort study of South Korea. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0185778.
- 33. Shin CM, Kim N, Cho SI, Kim JS, Jung HC, Song IS. Association between alcohol intake and risk for gastric cancer with regard to ALDH2 genotype in the Korean population. Int J Epidemiol. 2011;40:1047–55.

- 34. Kang SJ, Shin CM, Kim JS, Kim N. Association between ALDH2 polymorphism and gastric cancer risk in terms of alcohol consumption: a meta-analysis. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2021;45:6–14.
- 35. Shin CM, Kim N, Cho SI, Lee HJ. Validation of alcohol flushing questionnaires in determining inactive aldehyde dehydrogenase-2 and its clinical implication in alcohol-related diseases. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2018;42:387–96.
- Yi SW, Sull JW, Linton JA, Nam CM, Ohrr H. Alcohol consumption and digestive cancer mortality in Koreans: the Kangwha cohort study. J Epidemiol. 2010;20:204–11.
- 37. Mizoue T, Inoue M, Wakai K, Nagata C, Shimazu T, Tsuji I, et al. Alcohol drinking and colorectal cancer in Japanese: a pooled analysis of results from five cohort studies. Am J Epidemiol. 2008;167:1397–406.
- Becker U, Deis A, Sørensen TI, Grønbaek M, Borch-Johnsen K, Müller CF, et al. Prediction of risk of liver disease by alcohol intake, sex, and age: a prospective population study. Hepatology. 1996;23:1025–9.
- Masamune A, Kume K, Shimosegawa T. Sex and age differences in alcoholic pancreatitis in Japan: a multicenter nationwide survey. Pancreas. 2013;42:578–83.

Part III

Metabolism of Sex Hormones



3

Metabolism of Estrogen and Testosterone and Their Role in the Context of Metabolic Diseases

Chang Ho Ahn and Sung Hee Choi

3.1 Introduction

Sex hormones define the fundamental sexual differences between men and women and form secondary sexual characteristics through puberty. They are the most important hormones in the pathogenesis of infertility, and sexual dysfunction, and also involved in glucose metabolism, muscle function, bone metabolism, and obesity. The production of sex hormones is regulated by feedback system of the hypothalamus-pituitarygonad axis. Pulsatile release of gonadotrophin-(GnRH) from releasing hormone the hypothalamus leads to the secretion of the follicular-stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) in the pituitary gland. LH and FSH stimulate the production and secretion of testosterone in the testis and estrogen in the ovary. Testosterone or estrogen is, then, delivered to hypothalamus and pituitary gland for feedback control (Fig. 3.1).

However, testosterone, a leading male sex hormone, is also produced in women's ovaries and adrenal glands [1]. Although the production of testosterone in women is only 1/7–1/10 of men, women are more sensitivity to the small amounts

C. H. Ahn \cdot S. H. Choi (\boxtimes)

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Republic of Korea e-mail: ahncho03@snu.ac.kr; drshchoi@snu.ac.kr of testosterone [2]. The role of testosterone in insulin resistance in polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS), which causes infertility in women, and increased fat amount in obesity, has been reported.

In this chapter, we would like to explore the metabolism of estrogen and testosterone, their role in each organ, and the difference between women and men in the clinical aspect of metabolic diseases. This basic understanding of sex hormones metabolism could broaden the knowledge for sex/gender-specific medicine.

3.2 Metabolism of Estrogen

Compounds with stereo nuclei, such as bile acid and sex hormones, are called steroid hormones. There are three types of natural estrogen produced by women: estradiol, estriol, and estrone. They are mostly produced in the ovaries but can also be produced by metabolism of adrenal androgen. The main female hormone before menopause is estradiol. After menopause, the percentage of estrone increases. Estrone is a weak estrogen, which is commonly used in postmenopausal female hormone replacement therapy. Female hormones play an important role in women's normal sexual maturation and growth of women's genital organs including vagina and uterus and also affect other organs that express estrogen receptors. Estrogen receptors are mostly

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_3



Fig. 3.1 Regulation of sex hormones. The production and secretion of sex hormones are regulated by feedback mechanism of hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis (adapted from https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hypothalami

nuclear receptors, but G protein-coupled estrogen receptor also exists. The main action of estrogen exerts through nuclear receptors [3–6] (Fig. 3.2).

3.3 Effects of Estrogen in the Context of Metabolic Diseases

It is well known that estrogen hormones affect bone metabolism. Estrogen contributes to the accelerated bone growth and the closure of growth plate in adolescence. In adults, the major effect of estrogen on bone metabolism is the inhibition of bone absorption. Osteoporosis, the representative of postmenopausal diseases, is

c%E2%80%93pituitary%E2%80%93gonadal_axis#/ media/File:Hypothalamic%E2%80%93pituitary%E2%80 %93gonadal_axis.svg)

6-10 times higher in women than in men, which is related to the significant reduction of estrogen level after menopause [7, 8]. Estrogen reduces inflammatory signals such as apoptosis, oxidative stress, and NF-κB in osteoblast, while enhances apoptosis of osteoclast. Thus, without estrogen activity, bone absorption is enhanced and rapid bone loss can occur in postmenopausal women [9] (Fig. 3.3).

The effect of estrogen on bones is well demonstrated. Treatment of female hormones reduces spinal and non-spinal fractures in postmenopausal osteoporosis [10]. Estrogen has proven to reduce fractures even in women without osteoporosis. However, large cohort studies including women's health initiative (WHI) study reported



Fig. 3.2 Androgen metabolism. *DHEA* dehydroepiandrosterone, *DHEAS* dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate, *DHEA-ST* dehydroepiandrosterone sulfotransferase, *HSD*

hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, *STS* steryl-sulfatase, *SULTs* sulfotransferases, *UGT* UDP-glucuronyltransferase (adapted from Shohat-Tal et al. [6])


the possibility of serious side effects such as breast cancer, endometrial cancer, cardiovascular diseases, and increased death when hormone replacement therapy was continued for a long period of time [10, 11]. As a result, female hormones are now rarely used as the primary treatment for postmenopausal osteoporosis. Selective estrogen receptor modulator (SERM) plays a dual role in inhibiting the action of female hormones in the breast or uterus and enhancing the action in the bones. Based on these characteristics, SERM is used as a treatment for osteoporosis instead of estrogen.

There is still controversy over the effects of female hormones on cardiovascular disease. The prevalence of cardiovascular disease generally increases with age, and in women, the age at which cardiovascular disease occurs is about 10 years later than in men. In particular, the prevalence of cardiovascular disease (CVD) in women increases significantly after menopause, and 95% of women's cardiovascular diseases occur after menopause. It has been suggested that the decrease of female hormones after menopause contributes to the increase of CVD [12, 13]. The effects of hormone replacement therapy in menopausal women was investigated to ensure that exposure of female hormones over a long period of time had a preventive effect on cardiovascular disease and safety of the treatment in large randomized controlled trials, but the results showed no significant reduction in cardiovascular disease after hormone replacement therapy compared to placebo [11]. Female hormones increase plasminogen, which reduces platelet adhesion, and increase high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and triglycerides. On the other hand, female hormones are known to reduce low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, the most important cholesterol for atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease [14]. In studies of blood coagulation, female hormones increase the coagulation factor II, VII, IX, and X in the liver, while reducing antithrombin III, thereby enhances blood coagulability [14]. Studies have shown that female hormone therapy in menopausal women increases deep vein thrombosis. It has been reported that the risk of thrombosis more than tripled in obese women with body mass index greater than 30 kg/m² [11]. Despite female hormones in premenopausal women have positive effects in lipid metabolism, maintaining vascular structure, and reducing platelet adhesion, long-term hormone replacement therapy in postmenopausal women is thought to have no significant benefits in cardiovascular disease.

Large clinical studies have reported that female hormone treatment may decrease the incidence of type 2 diabetes [15]. However, female hormone therapy has not been used to prevent T2DM by far. The WHI study also showed a 21% reduction in the incidence of T2DM in the estrogen-progesterone combined treatment group. The risk of T2DM has also decreased by 12% in estrogen-only treatment groups. These results supported the hypothesis that female hormones play a positive role in insulin secretion and sensitivity. Recent studies have also shown that estrogen regulates FOXO1 signal to promote insulin sensitivity, inhibits gluconeogenesis, and eventually contributes to blood glucose homeostasis [16]. Estrogen contributes to diabetes prevention by directly affecting the insulin resistance and secretion [17]. Previous studies showed that increased hepatic gluconeogenesis leads to impaired fasting glucose in male, while altered glucose metabolism and absorption in the intestine leads to postprandial hyperglycemia and impaired glucose tolerance in female. This may come from the differences in estrogen and androgen between the sexes [18]. Polycystic ovary syndrome, which is associated with the relative increase of androgen in female, is a well-known risk factor for T2DM. The relative increase of androgen to estrogen may adversely affect blood glucose control in women [19, 20].

Thyroid diseases are much more common in women than in men. Many studies investigated how estrogen affects thyroid function. Estrogen increases the amount of thyroid hormone binding protein, increasing the total amount of thyroid hormone. However, the amount of active hormones (free T4 and free T3) usually remains constant [21]. Recent studies have reported that estrogen directly affects the growth of follicular cells in the thyroid. The differentiation and prognosis of thyroid cancer varies depending on the distribution of estrogen receptor subtype alpha and beta [22, 23]. Further research is expected on the role of female hormones on thyroid disease in the future.

Aforementioned differences between men and women in metabolic disease is summarized in Table 3.1 [24].

Disease	Women	Men
Diabetes	• Higher rate of impaired glucose tolerance (IGT)	• Higher rate of impaired fasting glucose (IFG)
	Worse lipid profiles	• Increased insulin resistance and fatty liver disease
	• More pronounced endothelial dysfunction and dysfibrinolysis	• Special risk groups: men with erectile dysfunction, low testosterone
	• Higher concentrations of inflammatory markers (CRP, fibrinogen, PAI-1) and adipokines (adiponectin, leptin)	• T1DM preponderance at younger age
	• Uric acid levels and physical inactivity better predictors of T2DM	
	• Special risk groups: history of gestational DM; PCOS; high testosterone, low SHBG	
	• More comorbidities and more physical and cognitive limitations	
	More often associated with hypothyroidism	
Obesity	• For a given BMI higher adiposity	• For a given BMI higher lean mass
	More peripheral or subcutaneous fat mass	• More visceral and hepatic adipose tissue
	Lower energy expenditure	Metabolic syndrome more common
	• Higher age-adjusted increase of Metabolic syndrome (MS)	• Associated with increased lifetime risk for alcohol abuse
	• Associated with increased lifetime risk for nicotine dependence	
	• More frequently associated with asthma	
	• Stigmatization more intense and more common in childhood and adolescence	
	• More depression in bariatric surgery candidates	
Thyroid disease	Three to four times more common	
	Antithyroid antibodies more prevalent	
	• Increased prevalence of hypothyroidism in particular in old women	
Osteoporosis	• 51% remaining lifetime probability for osteoporotic fractures at the age of 50 years	• 20% remaining lifetime probability for osteoporotic fractures at the age of 50 years
	• Much more common in postmenopausal women	• Higher mortality rate after hip fractures
	• Lower bone mass density and bone size	• Secondary osteoporosis more frequently (alcohol abuse, glucocorticoid therapy, or hypogonadism)
Cushing/adrenal insufficiency	Cushing's disease preponderance	Prepubertal Cushing's disease more common
	• More often unspecific symptoms of adrenal insufficiency	• More severe symptoms at clinical presentation and earlier onset

Table 3.1 Gender-specific differences of metabolic and endocrinologic diseases (adapted from Kautzky-Willer [24])

CRP C-reactive protein, *PAI-1* plasminogen activator inhibitor-1, *DM* diabetes mellitus, *PCOS* polycystic ovarian syndrome, *SHBG* sex hormone binding globulin

3.4 Metabolism of Testosterone

Testosterone is the main androgen in men. More than 95% of testosterone is produced by Leydig cells in the testis. The rest of testosterone is produced in the adrenal gland. Androgen is also produced in women's ovaries and adrenal glands. As with female hormones, testosterone secretion is regulated by the hypothalamus-pituitarygonadal axis. Basically, the secretion and production of testosterone is controlled by a negative feedback (Fig. 3.1).

Most of the testosterone in the blood is bound to proteins such as sex hormone binding globulin and albumin, while only 1–4% of testosterone is free testosterone. Only free testosterone, as most hormones do, has been known to be biologically active, but protein bound testosterone is also capable of transmitting signal into cells and biologically active [23, 25].

3.5 Physiologic Effects of Testosterone

Testosterone is important for the development of male genital organs and reproductive function. Testosterone promotes sperm production in testicular Sertoli cells. The promotion of bone formation and maintaining muscle mass is the main metabolic effects of testosterone. Testosterone enhances differentiation of osteoblasts to mature osteocytes and inhibits apoptosis of these cells to increase bone formation [26]. In large cohort studies, serum testosterone level is significantly correlated with bone mineral density. Testosterone replacement for old men with hypogonadism increased bone mineral density. Another study reported that testosterone treatment increased muscle mass and reduced fat mass [27, 28].

Testosterone plays an important role in hair growth. Interestingly, testosterone makes beards grow, but there is no significant effect on eyebrows, and inhibits the growth of scalp hair. This is called as "androgen paradox." This is because dermal papillae of each body part react differently to testosterone. The dermal papillae of the chin secretes the growth factor (IGF-1), while the dermal papillae of the scalp secretes the growth inhibitor interleukin-6 in response to testosterone [29]. In women with androgen excess, such as congenital adrenal hyperplasia and polycystic ovarian syndrome, hypertrichosis occurs in androgen-responsive areas. Not all the hair on the skin grows in response to androgen, but only the hair on androgen-dependent area grows in response to androgen. Hair loss due to excessive testosterone is characterized by hair loss on the forehead or the top of the head. Interestingly, even the scalp hair reacts differently to testosterone.

Testosterone is known to affect emotions, alleviating the degree of anxiety and depression, and being linked to violence. The tendency that women are less violent and depression is more often in women may be associated with lack of testosterone in women. Testosterone is, sometimes, referred to as a causative agent that creates personality differences between men and women. The relationship between psycho-behavioral traits and testosterone is still controversial [30, 31].

3.6 Effects of Testosterone in the Context of Metabolic Diseases

As mentioned in the previous paragraphs, low testosterone levels increase the risk of type 2 DM and are associated with insulin resistance and dyslipidemia [32]. In large-scale cohort studies, low testosterone was associated with increased overall mortality rate, mainly due to cardiovascular disease [33]. It is not clear how testosterone increases cardiovascular mortality and the prevalence of diabetes. Testosterone treatment for male patients with diabetes has shown improvements in insulin resistance indices. Previous studies showed that obesity rates were high in patients with low testosterone levels, and testosterone treatment for these patients reduced obesity, especially visceral fat [34, 35]. The most notable difference in obesity characteristics between men and women is that visceral obesity is more severe in men, which is linked to chronic inflammation, insulin resistance, and cardiovascular disease. The increase of muscle mass,

which plays an important role in reducing visceral fat and insulin resistance, by testosterone treatment could contribute to improved glucose metabolism and cardiovascular mortality [36] (Fig. 3.4).

Testosterone is converted to dihydrotestosterone by 5α -reductase in hair follicles and prostate, which causes hair loss and prostatic hypertrophy. This leads to the use of 5α -reductase inhibitors in patients with prostate hypertrophy, prostate cancer, and alopecia. When androgen deprivation therapy was used to treat prostate cancer, incidence of diabetes and cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular mortality increased. Testosterone treatment reduced LDL cholesterol in male patients with hypogonadism and showed additional improvements in lipid metabolism even in patients who were already taking statins. These are the evidence for the metabolic benefits of testosterone [37, 38].

Obesity leads to a decrease in androgen level, and patients with hypogonadism are prone to obesity. The rationale for this is that as adipocyte increases, the activity of aromatase increases, and testosterone is converted to estradiol. This is the basis for a decrease in testosterone levels in obese patients, and it is also known that degradation of testosterone increases the number of fat cells and affect their distribution.

In women, androgen is also produced in adipose tissues and adrenal glands. Although it is a relatively rare disease, congenital adrenal hyperplasia has a defect in the production of steroid hormones in the adrenal gland, which results in the deficiency of cortisol and aldosterone, major adrenal hormones, and increase of androgen production. In women, the increased androgen leads to virilization. However, it is not known whether the increase of androgen in women increases muscle mass and reduces obesity. Rather, considering the higher risk of diabetes and cardiovascular diseases in women with polycystic ovary syndrome, in which androgen is increased, the effect of androgen in women is not expected to be the same as in men. The insulin resistance of polycyclic ovaries promotes the production of



Fig. 3.4 Role of chronic inflammation in adipose tissue for the development of cardiovascular diseases (adapted from Nakamura et al. [36])

androgen, which increases the secretion of LH in the pituitary gland, resulting in a further increase in androgen production. Oral contraceptives are used as a treatment for PCOS to restore the balance of estrogen and testosterone, and metformin, a antidiabetic medication, is used to reduce insulin resistance in PCOS [39].

3.7 Conclusions

Estrogen and testosterone are the main sex hormones that determine the difference between women and men. Majority of estrogen and testosterone are produced and secreted in the ovaries and testis, which is controlled by the hypothalamus-pituitary-gonad axis but can also be partially produced in adipose tissues and adrenal glands. The decrease of estrogen inhibits bone formation and enhances bone resorptions which leads to the progression of osteoporosis. Testosterone is known to contribute to improving insulin resistance and preventing diabetes by reducing visceral fat and increasing muscle mass in men. Conversely, testosterone deprivation therapy and hypogonadism increase obesity, diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases. However, in women with androgen excess, diabetes and insulin resistance paradoxically increased. Further studies are needed on the role of sex hormones in metabolic diseases.

References

- Burger HG. Androgen production in women. Fertil Steril. 2002;77(Suppl 4):S3–5.
- Torjesen PA, Sandnes L. Serum testosterone in women as measured by an automated immunoassay and a RIA. Clin Chem. 2004;50:678; author reply -9.
- Deroo BJ, Korach KS. Estrogen receptors and human disease. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:561–70.
- Mauvais-Jarvis F, Clegg DJ, Hevener AL. The role of estrogens in control of energy balance and glucose homeostasis. Endocr Rev. 2013;34:309–38.
- Nelson ER, Wardell SE, McDonnell DP. The molecular mechanisms underlying the pharmacological actions of estrogens, SERMs and oxysterols: implications for the treatment and prevention of osteoporosis. Bone. 2013;53:42–50.

- Shohat-Tal A, Sen A, Barad D, Kushnir V, Gleicher N. Genetics of androgen metabolism in women with infertility and hypoandrogenism. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2015;11:429–41.
- Smith EP, Specker B, Bachrach BE, Kimbro KS, Li XJ, Young MF, et al. Impact on bone of an estrogen receptor-alpha gene loss of function mutation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93:3088–96.
- Riggs BL, Khosla S, Melton LJ 3rd. A unitary model for involutional osteoporosis: estrogen deficiency causes both type I and type II osteoporosis in postmenopausal women and contributes to bone loss in aging men. J Bone Miner Res. 1998;13:763–73.
- Okman-Klis T. Estrogen deficiency and osteoporosis. In: Dionyssiatis Y, editor. Advances in osteoporosis. London: IntechOpen; 2015.
- Cauley JA, Robbins J, Chen Z, Cummings SR, Jackson RD, LaCroix AZ, et al. Effects of estrogen plus progestin on risk of fracture and bone mineral density: the Women's Health Initiative randomized trial. JAMA. 2003;290:1729–38.
- Rossouw JE, Anderson GL, Prentice RL, LaCroix AZ, Kooperberg C, Stefanick ML, et al. Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: principal results from the Women's Health Initiative randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2002;288:321–33.
- Carpiuc KT, Wingard DL, Kritz-Silverstein D, Barrett-Connor E. The association of angina pectoris with heart disease mortality among men and women by diabetes status: the Rancho Bernardo Study. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2010;19:1433–9.
- Kanaya AM, Grady D, Barrett-Connor E. Explaining the sex difference in coronary heart disease mortality among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a metaanalysis. Arch Intern Med. 2002;162:1737–45.
- Mendelsohn ME. Protective effects of estrogen on the cardiovascular system. Am J Cardiol. 2002;89:12E-7E; discussion 7E-8E.
- 15. Margolis KL, Bonds DE, Rodabough RJ, Tinker L, Phillips LS, Allen C, et al. Effect of oestrogen plus progestin on the incidence of diabetes in postmenopausal women: results from the Women's Health Initiative Hormone Trial. Diabetologia. 2004;47:1175–87.
- Yan H, Yang W, Zhou F, Li X, Pan Q, Shen Z, et al. Estrogen improves insulin sensitivity and suppresses gluconeogenesis via the transcription factor Foxo1. Diabetes. 2019;68:291–304.
- Mauvais-Jarvis F. Estrogen and androgen receptors: regulators of fuel homeostasis and emerging targets for diabetes and obesity. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2011;22:24–33.
- Anderwald C, Gastaldelli A, Tura A, Krebs M, Promintzer-Schifferl M, Kautzky-Willer A, et al. Mechanism and effects of glucose absorption during an oral glucose tolerance test among females and males. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96:515–24.
- 19. Apridonidze T, Essah PA, Iuorno MJ, Nestler JE. Prevalence and characteristics of the metabolic

syndrome in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90:1929–35.

- Ding EL, Song Y, Malik VS, Liu S. Sex differences of endogenous sex hormones and risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2006;295:1288–99.
- Furlanetto TW, Nguyen LQ, Jameson JL. Estradiol increases proliferation and down-regulates the sodium/iodide symporter gene in FRTL-5 cells. Endocrinology. 1999;140:5705–11.
- 22. Kavanagh DO, McIlroy M, Myers E, Bane F, Crotty TB, McDermott E, et al. The role of oestrogen receptor {alpha} in human thyroid cancer: contributions from coregulatory proteins and the tyrosine kinase receptor HER2. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2010;17:255–64.
- Dunn JF, Nisula BC, Rodbard D. Transport of steroid hormones: binding of 21 endogenous steroids to both testosterone-binding globulin and corticosteroidbinding globulin in human plasma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1981;53:58–68.
- Kautzky-Willer A. Sex difference in endocrinology. In: Oertelt-Prigione S, editor. Sex and gender aspects in clinical medicine. London: Springer; 2012. p. 125–42.
- Rosner W, Hryb DJ, Khan MS, Nakhla AM, Romas NA. Sex hormone-binding globulin mediates steroid hormone signal transduction at the plasma membrane. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 1999;69:481–5.
- Komori T, Yagi H, Nomura S, Yamaguchi A, Sasaki K, Deguchi K, et al. Targeted disruption of Cbfa1 results in a complete lack of bone formation owing to maturational arrest of osteoblasts. Cell. 1997;89:755–64.
- 27. Snyder PJ, Kopperdahl DL, Stephens-Shields AJ, Ellenberg SS, Cauley JA, Ensrud KE, et al. Effect of testosterone treatment on volumetric bone density and strength in older men with low testosterone: a controlled clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med. 2017;177:471–9.
- Finkelstein JS, Lee H, Burnett-Bowie SA, Pallais JC, Yu EW, Borges LF, et al. Gonadal steroids and body composition, strength, and sexual function in men. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:1011–22.
- Inui S, Itami S. Androgen actions on the human hair follicle: perspectives. Exp Dermatol. 2013;22:168–71.

- Batrinos ML. Testosterone and aggressive behavior in man. Int J Endocrinol Metab. 2012;10:563–8.
- Dreher JC, Dunne S, Pazderska A, Frodl T, Nolan JJ, O'Doherty JP. Testosterone causes both prosocial and antisocial status-enhancing behaviors in human males. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113:11633–8.
- 32. Wang C, Jackson G, Jones TH, Matsumoto AM, Nehra A, Perelman MA, et al. Low testosterone associated with obesity and the metabolic syndrome contributes to sexual dysfunction and cardiovascular disease risk in men with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2011;34:1669–75.
- 33. Araujo AB, Dixon JM, Suarez EA, Murad MH, Guey LT, Wittert GA. Clinical review: endogenous testosterone and mortality in men: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96:3007–19.
- Agledahl I, Hansen JB, Svartberg J. Impact of testosterone treatment on postprandial triglyceride metabolism in elderly men with subnormal testosterone levels. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 2008;68:641–8.
- 35. Kapoor D, Clarke S, Stanworth R, Channer KS, Jones TH. The effect of testosterone replacement therapy on adipocytokines and C-reactive protein in hypogonadal men with type 2 diabetes. Eur J Endocrinol. 2007;156:595–602.
- Nakamura K, Fuster J, Walsh K. Adipokines: a link between obesity and cardiovascular disease. J Cardiol. 2014;63:250–9.
- 37. Levine GN, D'Amico AV, Berger P, Clark PE, Eckel RH, Keating NL, et al. Androgen-deprivation therapy in prostate cancer and cardiovascular risk: a science advisory from the American Heart Association, American Cancer Society, and American Urological Association: endorsed by the American Society for Radiation Oncology. Circulation. 2010;121:833–40.
- Jones TH, Saad F. The effects of testosterone on risk factors for, and the mediators of, the atherosclerotic process. Atherosclerosis. 2009;207:318–27.
- Rosenfield RL, Ehrmann DA. The pathogenesis of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): the hypothesis of PCOS as functional ovarian hyperandrogenism revisited. Endocr Rev. 2016;37:467–520.

Part IV

Esophagus

Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease

Nayoung Kim

4.1 Introduction

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

Gastric acid has positive functions such as digestion of proteins, absorption of minerals such as calcium and iron, and sterilization of harmful microorganisms in ingested food. However, gastric acid is very acidic, with a pH of 1-2; therefore, excessive secretion or acid reflux can cause gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) and gastric ulcers; as described below, GERD is a spectrum that encompasses reflux esophagitis (RE) and non-erosive reflux disease (NERD). GERD, which is becoming more prevalent, refers to gastric or duodenal content entering the esophagus and causing reflux symptoms or tissue damage in the esophagus, pharynx, larynx, or bronchi. Thick mucus exists in the gastric mucosal surface as a defense mechanism to prevent tissue damage from highly acidic gastric juice (Fig. 4.1a), but this defense mechanism in the esophagus is weak. Therefore, when refluxed gastric acid remains in the esophagus, tissue damage occurs. In countries where obesity is relatively prevalent and the diet is centered on meat rather than vegetables, GERD is highly common-to the point that one out of four peo-

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National

University College of Medicine, Seoul National

University Bundang Hospital,

e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr

Seongnam, Korea (Republic of)

ple over 60 years old experience GERD-and the incidence of complications such as esophageal adenocarcinoma is high, leading to societal attention on GERD as an important health issue. However, in Asian countries, GERD has not traditionally received much attention since the prevalence was low and the symptoms were mild. However, rapid social changes led to increased stress and lifestyle changes resulting widespread consumption of a in more Westernized diet, obesity, tobacco use, and alcohol drinking. As a result, increasingly many individuals are experiencing epigastric burning sensation, heartburn, epigastric pain, nausea, vomiting, acid reflux, chest pain, sore throat, and digestive problems. These symptoms can be due to ulcers in the stomach or the duodenum, but in light of recent trends, it is more likely that they are due to GERD. The general category of GERD includes structural changes such as RE (Fig. 4.1b), esophageal stenosis, which is a complication of RE (Fig. 4.1c), and Barrett's esophagus (Fig. 4.1d). However, NERD (Fig. 4.2), which does not involve damage to the esophagus, is much more prevalent among females [1]. Functional heartburn is diagnosed in patients with similar symptoms to those of GERD, but without acid reflux, in whom esophageal motility disorder should be ruled out. Functional heartburn does not respond to proton pump inhibitors and is more common among females than among males. However, unless an



39

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_4



Normal

Reflux esophagitis

Esphageal stenosis

Barrett's esophagus

Fig. 4.1 Endoscopic findings of reflux esophagitis, esophageal stenosis, and Barrett's esophagus. (a) Normal esophagus, (b) reflux esophagitis, (c) esophageal stenosis, (d) Barrett's esophagus



Fig. 4.2 Endoscopic findings of non-erosive reflux disease (NERD) (**a**) and findings from 24-hour ambulatory esophageal pH monitoring (**b**)

esophageal acidity test is conducted, it is difficult to differentiate NERD and functional heartburn. Between these two diagnoses, there are ambiguous cases that are simultaneously acid related and non-acid related. Recently, in Rome IV Criteria, acid hypersensitive esophagus and non-acid hypersensitive esophagus were combined into the concept of reflux hypersensitivity, which is positioned between NERD and functional heartburn [2]. RE, where the esophageal mucosal tissue damaged by acid reflux can be observed endoscopically (Fig. 4.1b), has been reported to be 3.61 times [1] or 2.28 times [3] more common in males than in females, and sex/ gender differences have been found in the disease mechanism, symptoms, and response to medication [4, 5]. In the Western literature, it has been reported that GERD progresses into esophageal stenosis (Fig. 4.1c), Barrett's esophagus (Fig. 4.1d), or—rarely—esophageal adenocarcinoma, but the prognosis is not bad in Asian countries including South Korea. In addition, in the United States, it has been reported that GERD is the most prevalent gastrointestinal disease and is associated with the highest direct spending, as GERD-related expenditures exceed those for peptic ulcers, chronic inflammatory bowel disease, and colon cancer [6]. In this review, the sex/gender differences in the epidemiology, mechanism, symptoms, and response to treatment of GERD are approached from the perspective of sex/gender-specific medicine [7].

4.2 Epidemiology of Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease

Traditionally, functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGIDs) including functional heartburn, functional dyspepsia (FD), and irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) are known to be more common among women. One might assume that GERD is also more common among women, but the epidemiology of RE due to acid corrosion and NERD is different. Therefore, when evaluating the prevalence of GERD, it is reasonable to distinguish GERD studies that only observed symptoms from studies that suggested the presence of RE by conducting endoscopy [7].

4.2.1 Population-Based Studies

According to a study that analyzed GE reflux symptoms (heartburn or acid reflux symptoms at least once a week) without conducting endoscopy, there were no sex/gender differences in the prevalence of GERD. For example, the prevalence in studies on the PubMed database from 1997 to 2011 was $19.4\% \pm 2.3\%$ in men and $18.9\% \pm 2.4\%$ in women (p = 0.87) [8]. In a study that was conducted in Asan, South Korea, no differences were observed with a prevalence of 3.5% in both genders [9]. The prevalence of GERD was 2.6% in men and 2.4% in women in a 2005 study conducted in the southern region of China, corresponding to no significance difference [10]. No meaningful difference was found

(15% in men and 14% in women) in a study conducted in Olmsted County, United States, where obesity is common and GERD is more prevalent [11]. The prevalence was higher among women (14.1%) than among men (9.5%) in a study conducted in Argentina, but the difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.21) [12].

4.2.2 Endoscopy-Based Studies

In contrast, studies that measured the prevalence of RE using endoscopy consistently reported a significantly higher prevalence among males than among females [7]. In a 2005 South Korean multicenter study that included 25,536 individuals from 40 medical check-up centers, the prevalence of RE was much higher among men (11.2%) than among women (3.1%) (p < 0.001) [1] (Fig. 4.3). In a 2011 multicenter study that included 4023 individuals from 8 medical check-up centers, the prevalence was 2.28 times higher among men (11.4%) compared to that among women (5.0%)[2]. A study with 67,056 individuals included in studies in the PubMed database from 1997 to 2011 also indicated that the prevalence was 2.61 times higher among men $(15.9\% \pm 2.5\%)$ than among women $(6.1\% \pm 1.6\%)$ (p < 0.01) [8]. The severity of RE was also significantly greater in men than in women [13]. Conversely, most studies on NERD found a significantly higher prevalence among women [1, 14]. The frequency and severity of symptoms were also higher among women than in men [14–16], indicating a trend opposite of that of RE (Fig. 4.3).

4.3 Pathophysiology of Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease

The mechanism of GERD is as follows. An elastic muscle, known as the lower esophageal sphincter (LES), between the esophagus and the stomach acts as a latch. It relaxes to open when food is ingested and closes after the food passes to prevent acid reflux. RE occurs when the pressure of the LES decreases, transient LES pressure is frequent, and the refluxed gastric content is not



Fig. 4.3 Comparison of reflux esophagitis and non-erosive reflux disease by gender (a) and age (b). * p < 0.01. (adapted from Kim et al. [1])

properly cleaned and remains in the esophagus for a long time. Symptoms are more important for NERD than for RE; therefore, while the LES is important as a structural factor, the antiinflammatory effect of estrogen, which is involved in the protection of esophageal mucosa cells, the increased expression of tight junction proteins, and symptom sensitivity are more important. When the gaps at intercellular junctions widen and tissue resistance is reduced, gastric acid (H⁺) enters through the gaps and stimulates neuroreceptors. The brain then perceives the symptoms due to visceral hypersensitivity, and the symptoms become stronger when the muscles are contracted through the reflex arc [17] (Fig. 4.4). Until recently, factors related to direct erosion of the mucous membrane, such as gastric acid secretion and LES pressure, were emphasized in explaining GERD. However, with increasing recognition that NERD is distinct from RE, is more common, and has a different disease mechanism, aspects of sex/genderspecific medicine such as estrogen factor are being emphasized.

4.3.1 Anti-inflammatory Effect of Estrogen on the Esophagus

As RE is more prevalent among men than women, but the prevalence and severity among women after menopause with increasing severity, estrogen has been identified as a protective factor of the esophagus [18, 19] (Fig. 4.5). This finding is supported by a study on the association between menopause and RE with around 10,000 individuals who received health check-ups. As time passes after menopause, body mass index (BMI), symptomatic GERD, and RE were found to increase. At 20-29 years after menopause, RE increased dramatically [20] (Fig. 4.6). The anti-inflammatory role of estrogen has been suggested in animal studies [7, 21]. In mouse models of chronic RE, estrogen protected esophageal mucosa and externally introduced nitric oxide (NO) caused neutrophil and lymphocyte infiltration and damaged the esophageal mucosa in male mice; however, the damage was reported to be minimal in female mice [22]. Esophageal inflammation was more severe among female mice that underwent



Fig. 4.4 Pathophysiology of non-erosive reflux disease (adapted from Barlow and Orlando [17])



Fig. 4.5 Factors that influence esophageal damage and recovery such as gender, age, and hormones (adapted from Grishina et al. [19])

ovariectomy, but when they and male mice were injected with 17β -estradiol, esophageal damage was reduced as cell toxicity from mast cells, and

the secretion of cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha decreased [22]. When 17α -estradiol was injected, a protective effect was not observed,



Fig. 4.6 Association between menopause and reflux esophagitis. The finding that body mass index (BMI), symptomatic GERD, and reflux esophagitis (RE) increase with time after menopause and that RE increases dramati-

cally 20–29 years after menopause in around 10,000 individuals who received regular health check-up supports the hypothesis that estrogen is a protective factor against RE (adapted from Kim et al. [20])

indicating the importance of specifically 17β -estradiol [22]. In addition, estrogen was also found to suppress esophageal macrophage migrating inhibitory factor (MIF) [23]. The low prevalence of RE among females is explained by this finding as estrogen downregulates MIF when wounds are healed [7, 24].

4.3.2 Protective Function of the Esophageal Epithelium

If the protective function of the esophageal epithelium is strong, esophageal tissue will not be damaged even when subjected to noxious stimuli such as gastric acid and bile reflux. RE is prevalent in men, who have low estrogen levels, and menopausal women because estrogen promotes the expression of tight junction proteins that close gaps between cells and prevents esophageal mucosa permeability and bacterial migration [19, 25] (Fig. 4.5). When 17β -estradiol was injected into rabbits for 2 weeks and an Ussing chamber experiment was performed after removing the esophagus, those treated with 17β -estradiol demonstrated decrease of cell permeability from stimulants such as gastric acid through enhanced occluding expression [25]. In an analysis of the endoscopy data of 45 patients with RE, 14 patients with NERD, and 16 healthy volunteers conducted by our team, the level of occludin mRNA was lower in male RE patients than in healthy male participants, but there were no changes in the expression of tight junction proteins in female RE patients [16].

4.3.3 Nociception

An important mechanism when sensing symptoms such as heartburn from acid reflux is visceral hypersensitivity due to the transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 (TRPV1), which is distributed in the esophageal mucosa [26-28]. When gaps in the intercellular junction of the esophageal mucosa widen and tissue resistance is reduced, gastric acid (H⁺) enters through the gaps and stimulates TRPV1. The brain then perceives symptoms due to visceral hypersensitivity [17, 29]. It was reported that esophageal mucosa TRPV1 was expressed more in individuals who experienced GERD symptoms than in those who did not have GERD symptoms and that TRPV1 expression was higher among NERD patients than among RE patients [30, 31]. Some studies have connected TRPV1 directly to inflammation. In a study by our team, TRPV1 and proteinase-activated receptor 2 (PAR2) were more activated in RE patients than in NERD patients [26], and TRPV1 and PAR2 were directly related to inflammation and esophageal reflux symptoms but were not related to extraesophageal symptoms [26]. These findings demonstrate that TRPV1 activation is closely related to the main symptoms of GERD, since it causes inflammation in the cells and nerves by increasing the secretion of substance P in primary afferent neurons and calcitonin generelated peptide (CGRP) [32] and causes heartburn [30]. In contrast, in patients who had 24-hour ambulatory esophageal pH monitoring after experiencing heartburn, the number of reflux with a pH less than 4 and the duration of reflux were smaller and shorter among female patients than among male patients [33]. This result indicates that a potential reason why NERD is more common among women may relate to the visceral hypersensitivity mechanism after being exposed to weak acid.

4.3.4 Psychological and Emotional Factors

The fact that psychological and emotional factors are very important in the experience of GERD symptoms such as heartburn is well-known [34, 35]. In both RE and NERD, acute stress significantly increases the hypersensitivity toward gastric acid. It was found that emotional responses to the cause of stress and symptom experiences were related [36]. In the general population, depression and anxiety are more common among women than among men [37] and NERD is more common in women who have depression or anxiety. It is clear that depression and anxiety influence NERD [38]. It has been hypothesized that in women who show higher depression and anxiety than men and experience severe GERD symptoms without endoscopic findings, their condition is related to afferent signals, hormones, and the severity of GERD [39, 40]. In addition, the quality of life (QoL) of GERD patients was found to be highly associated with psychological and emotional factors [41], and compared to male GERD patients, QoL dropped significantly more among female GERD patients, who experienced sleep disorders and eating problems [16]. The risk of sleep disorders and anxiety was higher and QoL was lower among patients with NERD, which is more prevalent among women, than among patients with RE, and the GERD impact scale score was also significantly higher in the NERD group (9.2 ± 0.4) compared to the score in the RE group (6.5 ± 0.3) (p < 0.001) [41]. Moreover, NERD patients experienced difficulty in their daily routines and had high anxiety measured by the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) [41].

The experience of NERD symptoms is crucially linked to visceral hypersensitivity, for which peripheral sensitization, central sensitization, and psychoneuroimmune interactions are important [28, 42–44] and the brain-gut axis plays an important role, which is crucial in the symptom experience of NERD. When the central (through brain-gut interactions) and peripheral sensitization mechanisms cause stimulation in the esophagus, perception becomes more sensitive, which causes the symptoms of NERD [37]. In summary, sensitivity to gastric acid is more important than physical damage due to gastric acid for NERD, which is more common among women.

4.3.5 Comparison of Risk Factors by Type of Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease

The risk factors of RE and NERD can be understood in relation to their pathophysiology. In a South Korean study with 25,536 participants (15,180 males and 10,356 females), the risk factors of RE and NERD were very different [1]. A multivariate analysis of risk factors of RE showed that male sex, alcohol consumption, hiatal hernia, treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*), and BMI greater than 25 kg/m² were risk factors, while *H. pylori* positivity was a protective factor (Table 4.1 and Fig. 4.7a). In contrast, female sex, tobacco use, age under 40 or over 60, BMI lower than 23 kg/m², antibiotics use, slouched work posture, and average monthly income below 1000 dollars were significant risk factors for NERD [1] (Table 4.2 and Fig. 4.7b). In a Japanese study with 10,837 individuals who received health check-ups (6332 males and 4505 females), the risk factors of RE were male sex, old age, alcohol use, tobacco use, no H. pylori infection, a high pepsinogen I/II ratio, and high BMI [14]. The risk factors of NERD were female sex, young age, tobacco use, alcohol use, H. pylori infection, a high pepsinogen I/II ratio, and high BMI [14]. In a 2011 study with 4023 individuals who received health check-ups in South Korea (2087 males and 1082 females), risk factors of RE were no H. pylori infection (odds ratio [OR] 1.91; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.48 - 2.46),BMI $\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$ (OR 1.49; 95% CI, 1.08–2.06),

Table 4.1 Multivariate analysis of risk factors of reflux esophagitis in a 2006 national epidemiological survey (samplesize = 25,536) (adapted from Kim et al. [1])

Variable	Normal (<i>n</i> = 20,154)	Reflux esophagitis ($n = 1810$)	Odds ratio	95% CI
Male (%)	11,401 (56.6)	1633 (84.2)	3.00	2.26-3.98
Alcohol consumption (%)	7681 (38.1)	1050 (58.0)	1.48	1.21-1.81
Body mass index $\geq 25 \ (\%)$	6523 (29.8)	757 (41.8)	1.28	1.05-1.55
Hiatal hernia $\geq 1 \text{ cm}(\%)$	383 (1.9)	212 (11.7)	5.40	3.73-7.70
H. pylori eradication history (%)	1572 (7.8)	223 (12.3)	2.20	1.60-2.75
H. pylori-positive (%)	12,173 (60.4)	832 (46.0)	0.47	0.39-0.58
Glucose \geq 126 mg/dl (%)	987 (4.9)	119 (6.6)	1.06	0.78-1.45
Triglyceride 150 mg/dl (%)	4655 (23.1)	653 (36.1)	1.15	0.94-1.41
Smoking (%)	4655 (23.1)	795 (41.0)	1.19	0.98-1.45
Medication for liver disease (%)	504 (2.5)	65 (3.6)	1.07	0.75-1.47
Medication for heart disease (%)	2096 (10.4)	250 (13.8)	1.09	0.79-1.50

CI confidence interval



Fig. 4.7 Multivariate analysis of risk factors of reflux esophagitis (**a**) and non-erosive reflux disease (**b**) (adapted from Kim et al. [1])

Variable	Normal $(n = 20, 154)$	NERD (<i>n</i> = 996)	Odds ratio	95% CI
Female (%)	8753 (43.4)	480 (48.2)	1.29	1.10-1.50
Age below 40 than 40–59 years	5502 (27.3)	299 (30.0)	1.24	1.06-1.45
Age \geq 60 than 40–59 years (%)	3003 (13.7)	170 (17.1)	1.25	1.02-1.54
Body mass index < 23 (%)	8384 (41.6)	498 (50.0)	1.22	1.06-1.41
Monthly income < \$1000 (%)	1632 (8.1)	120 (12.0)	1.37	1.06-1.69
Glucose ≥126 mg/dl	987 (4.9)	82 (8.2)	1.34	1.04-1.73
Antibiotic medication history (%)	198 (1.0)	23 (2.3)	2.07	1.28-3.34
Smoking (%)	4655 (23.1)	270 (27.1)	1.21	1.03-1.43
Stooping posture at work (%)	3396 (16.9)	230 (23.0)	1.19	1.06-1.69
H. pylori eradication history (%)	1572 (7.8)	103 (10.2)	1.25	0.99–1.57
Hiatal hernia $\geq 1 \text{ cm}(\%)$	383 (1.9)	30 (3.0)	1.14	0.76-1.70
Medication of NSAIDs (%)	1380 (6.8)	86 (8.6)	1.25	0.97-1.62

Table 4.2 Multivariate analysis of risk factors of non-erosive reflux disease (NERD) in the 2006 national epidemiological survey (sample size = 25,536) (adapted from Kim et al. [1])

NERD non-erosive reflux disease, CI confidence interval

triglycerides $\geq 150 \text{ mg/dL}$ (OR 1.65; 95% CI, 1.08–1.06), fasting blood glucose $\geq 126 \text{ mg/dL}$ (OR 1.72; 95% CI, 1.06–2.81), and esophagus hiatal hernia (OR 3.10; 95% CI, 1.86–5.16). Residence in a large city was a protective factor (OR 0.59; 95% CI, 0.39–0.90) [2].

4.4 Symptoms of Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease

The following symptoms are characteristic of GERD. The first and second symptoms are classified as esophageal symptoms, and the third through fifth symptoms are classified as non-esophageal symptoms.

- (a) Heartburn that is felt in the back of the sternum or substernal burning.
- (b) Reflux symptoms where gastric juices or stomach context refluxes into the pharynx. Patients generally describe a sour and bitter taste. This symptom tends to occur after eating large quantities of food or lying down immediately after eating.
- (c) Excessive salivation, dysphagia, and swallowing pain due to stimulation from gastric acid.
- (d) Chronic laryngeal symptoms, throat discomfort (expressed as something stuck in the throat or uneasiness), coughing, and hoarseness.

(e) Stinging sensation in the chest or chest pain similar to pain experienced due to coronary artery disease.

It was assumed that these symptoms are experienced when there is RE, but as endoscopy became more widespread as part of health checkups, it was found that 50% of patients with RE do not feel any symptoms [1]. In addition, there were sex/gender differences in reflux symptoms. Among patients who visited gastroenterologists and received an RE diagnosis after gastroscopy, the proportion of patients with GERD symptoms was much higher among female patients, with 86.4% among female patients and 56.5% among male patients [16]. Heartburn, gastric acid reflux, and chest pain were found to be more common among females; while 100% of females reported throat discomfort, only 28.6% of males reported this symptom [16]. A probable explanation for this difference is that females have a lower pain tolerance, but pain tolerance did not differ by body size or the diameter of the esophagus in both sexes [45]. When there is a burning sensation in the back of the sternum, burning or heating sensation, and pain (similar to GERD symptoms), without evidence of reflux and with the exclusion of esophageal motility disorder, the symptoms are labeled as functional heartburn. If GERD is viewed as a spectrum, on one extreme, there is Barrett's esophagus that entails severe tissue damage, followed by RE, NERD where

tissue damage is not observed, and functional heartburn. Exposure to noxious gastric content is greatest in Barrett's esophagus, but esophageal sensitivity is greatest in functional heartburn [46] (Fig. 4.8). Functional heartburn is more prevalent among females and they do not improve after using proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) since the symptoms are not caused by gastric acid reflux. Taken together, sex/gender should be accounted for in the approach to treatment for symptoms that indicate GERD.

4.4.1 Differences in Esophageal and Extraesophageal Symptoms by Sex/Gender

Esophageal symptoms such as heartburn and gastric acid reflux are related to inflammatory markers such as TRPV1, PAR2, and IL-8, but extraesophageal symptoms are not related to these inflammatory markers [16]. This indicates that esophageal symptoms occur as a result of inflammation in response to gastric acid exposure in the distal esophagus, but extraesophageal symptoms are related to vasovagal reflex due to gastric acid exposure in the distal esophagus [16]. An interesting study found that 87.5% and 12.5% of RE patients reported esophageal symptoms and extraesophageal symptoms, respectively, as their main symptom, while 61.3% and 38.7% of NERD patients reported esophageal symptoms and extraesophageal symptoms, respectively, as their main symptom. NERD patients, unlike RE patients, have a high proportion of extraesophageal symptoms [3].

In a study where endoscopy, esophageal manometry, and 24-hour ambulatory esophageal pH monitoring were analyzed comprehensively, heartburn, gastric acid reflux, and nighttime symptoms were significantly more frequent in females than in males [15]. Among females, diarrhea, epigastric pain, and constipation symptoms were also more common (p < 0.01) beyond GERD symptoms, indicating a sex/gender difference in how patients experience and report symptoms [15]. According to a phone survey conducted in Brazil, females reported the symptom of acid reflux more than twice a week 1.5 times more frequently than males. Heartburn (p = 0.047), burning in the substernal area (p = 0.012), acid reflux (p < 0.001), dysphagia (p = 0.012), and swallowing pain (p = 0.009) were all more common in females than in males [47]. This finding showed



Fig. 4.8 Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) spectrum and the relationship between tissue damage and esophageal sensitivity. GERD can be classified into Barrett's esophagus, which entails severe tissue damage, reflux esophagitis (RE), non-erosive reflux disease

(NERD) (where tissue damage is not observed), and functional heartburn. Exposure to noxious gastric content is greatest in Barrett's esophagus, and esophageal sensitivity is greatest in functional heartburn (adapted from Weijenborg and Bredenoord [46]) that sex/gender differences in GERD symptoms are a universal phenomenon. A report that extraesophageal symptoms were more frequent in females than in males (OR 1.15; 95% CI, 1.03– 1.30; p < 0.0178) [48] can be interpreted in a similar context. In addition, depression and anxiety symptoms were also more common among females than among males [38].

4.4.2 Differences in Frequency of Healthcare Usage by Sex/ Gender

Differences by country or culture can exist, but it has been reported that when it comes to GERD, females take the symptoms more seriously and visit medical institutions faster [49, 50]. A similar finding was reported in a community-based study in China [51]. Factors associated with frequent healthcare visits were female sex (p < 0.001), frequency of heartburn (p = 0.032), depression (p = 0.004), and social morbidity (p < 0.001) [51]. Some hypothesize that as females receive more tests to find the cause of the symptoms and actively seek out endoscopic treatment or surgery, Barrett's esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma are less common among females [15].

4.5 Treatment of Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease

GERD is a chronic disease, and the established consensus is that patients' pain should be reduced as much as possible through drug treatments along with changes in dietary habits including limiting tobacco, alcohol, coffee, and tea, which promote reflux, as well as lifestyle changes [52, 53]. The main focus of drug treatment is to reduce secretion of gastric acid and minimize damage in the esophageal mucosa due to gastric acid. Common drugs for this purpose are PPIs and histamine H₂ receptor antagonists (H₂RAs). Proton pump inhibitors are more effective than H₂RAs and are therefore selected

Table 4.3 Factors associated with poor symptom improvement response to proton pump inhibitors in GERD (adapted from Heading et al. [54])

Factor	Logistic regression p-value
ERD/NERD	< 0.0001
HADS total score	< 0.0001
Anxiety sub-score	< 0.0001
Depression sub-score	< 0.0001
IBS	< 0.0001
BMI	< 0.0001
Gender	0.0011
Geography	0.0052
H. pylori	Not significant
Age	Not significant
Esophagitis grade (A-D)	Not significant

as the first-line drug for GERD. However, 36.4% of GERD patients were not satisfied with the treatment result after 8 weeks of PPI use. Satisfaction was especially low among Koreans at 42.9% [54], and factors associated with low satisfaction were female sex, NERD, depression/anxiety, low BMI, irritable bowel syndrome, and geography (Asia and Australia) [54] (Table 4.3). Most factors were related to sensitivity toward gastric acid such as visceral hypersensitivity. Recently, potassium-competitive acid blockers (P-CABs), such as tegoprazan and vonoprazan, which address the disadvantages of PPIs such as acid night breakthrough, have been developed and are expected to improve treatment satisfaction among female patients, NERD patients, and patients with extraesophageal symptoms. This review briefly discusses the reasons for sex/gender differences in drug treatment responses.

4.5.1 Drug Response and Sex/Gender

PPIs are the most important drug for GERD [55], but 17–32% of GERD patients report heartburn and acid reflux symptoms that continue to reduce their QoL despite treatment with PPIs at the standard dose. They also report GERD symptoms that do not respond to higher doses of PPIs [56]. Sex/gender has been reported to be a very important factor associated with nonresponse to PPIs [38, 54, 56–58]. In a study of GERD patients newly diagnosed in primary care facilities, incomplete response to PPIs was more common among females (OR 1.20; 95% CI, 1.05-1.37) [57], which was confirmed by a systematic review. Females more frequently reported continuing symptoms despite treatment with PPIs than males (risk ratio [RR] 3.66; p < 0.001) [58]. In contrast, a study limited to RE with frequent heartburn found that symptom improvement from PPI use was better in males than in females (OR 1.35; 95% CI, 1.14–1.59; *p* < 0.001) [59]. In a study by the author with 100 NERD patients and 71 RE patients, factors associated with poor response to PPIs were BMI < 23 kg/m^2 (OR 2.20; 95% CI, 1.12-4.34), having received psychiatric treatment or taking psychiatric medication (OR 2.44; 95% CI, 1.23-4.85), a high Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index score (assessment of sleep quality) (OR 1.20; 95% CI, 1.05-1.35), and NERD (OR 3.30; 95% CI, 1.54-7.11). There significant sex/gender difference was no (p = 0.91) [4]. This finding may be due to the small sample size or the possibility that GERD symptoms were severe in both males and females who visited a tertiary hospital. In a larger study with 5796 patients with either RE or NERD, female sex was associated with an increased dose of PPIs [60]. In a 5-year post hoc test of the LOTUS trial, factors associated with an increase of the esomeprazole dose from 20 mg to 40 mg per day were female sex, tobacco use, no H. pylori infection, a long history of GERD, and high gastric acid reflux into the esophagus when lying down (p < 0.05 for all) [61]. In 683 GERD patients excluding functional heartburn patients using 24-hour ambulatory esophageal pH monitoring, the conditions associated with good response to PPIs were male sex, obesity, typical esophageal symptoms such as heartburn and reflux, and alcohol use [62]. In summary, patients who respond well to PPIs are those whose symptoms are directly caused by gastric acid reflux, and patients who do not respond well to PPIs are those with NERD, those who are sensitive to gastric acid due to visceral hypersensitivity (as is common among female patients), and those with functional heartburn [2].

N. Kim

4.5.2 Effects of Hormone Therapy for Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease

Estrogen has anti-inflammatory properties and is known to regulate aspects of immune system activation, such as cytokines and wound healing [19], indicating the possibility that estrogen may be protective against GERD [63]. In postmenopausal women, taking estrogen can prevent mucosa damage due to gastric acid reflux and suppress the progression to Barrett's esophagus or esophageal adenocarcinoma [63]. In a casecontrol cohort study, consistent hormone therapy over 5-10 years reduced esophageal adenocarcinoma (hazard ratio [HR] 0.25; 95% CI, 0.07-0.95), and the risk reduction was proportional to time (HR 0.06; 95% CI, 0.01–0.43) [63]. However, it has also been reported that female sex hormones increase gastric acid reflux by relaxing the lower esophageal sphincter through nitric oxide [64, 65]. A community-based study found that hormone therapy was associated with reflux symptoms, which were worse when patients' BMI was >35 kg/m² than when it was <25 kg/m² in both males (OR 3.3; 95% CI, 2.4– 4.7) and females (OR 6.3; 95% CI, 4.9–8.0) [66]. These conflicting results indicate that more studies are needed.

4.6 Conclusions

GERD can be categorized into RE, where the esophagus is damaged, and NERD, in which GERD symptoms occur without damage in the esophagus. RE is 3.51 times more common in males than in females, while NERD is 1.35 times more common in females than in males. RE is more common in males due to structural factors such as the lower esophageal sphincter, the antiinflammatory effect of estrogen that is involved in the protection of esophageal mucosa cells, and under-expression of tight junction proteins. Visceral hypersensitivity to gastric acid, rather than physical damage from gastric acid, is more important for NERD, which is more common in females. Heartburn, gastric acid reflux, and chest pain are more common among females, and there was a significant difference in throat discomfort, as 100% of females reported this symptom, versus only 28.6% in males. The most plausible explanation for this difference is that females have a lower pain tolerance. Females respond more poorly to PPIs than males; the reason for this is most likely that females' esophageal mucosa is more sensitive due to visceral hypersensitivity rather than gastric acid itself, meaning that their response to PPIs is relatively weak. Therefore, in order to deliver tailored therapy, an approach that considers sex/gender differences in the pathophysiology of GERD and its response to PPIs is necessary.

References

- Kim N, Lee SW, Cho SI, Park CG, Yang CH, Kim HS, et al. The prevalence and risk factors of erosive esophagitis and non-erosive reflux disease: a nationwide multi-centre prospective study in Korea. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2008;27:173–85.
- Hungin APS, Molloy-Bland M, Scarpignato C. Revisiting Montreal: new insights into symptoms and their causes, and implications for the future of GERD. Am J Gastroenterol. 2019;114:414–21.
- Seo GS, Jeon BJ, Chung JS, Joo YE, Kim GH, Baik GH, et al. The prevalence of erosive esophagitis is not significantly increased in a healthy Korean population - could it be explained? A multi-center prospective study. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2013;19:70–7.
- Lee ES, Kim N, Lee SH, Park YS, Kim JW, Jeong SH, et al. Comparison of risk factors and clinical responses to proton pump inhibitors in patients with erosive esophagitis and non-erosive reflux disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2009;30:154–64.
- Kim SE, Kim N, Oh S, Kim HM, Park MI, Lee DH, et al. Predictive factors of response to proton pump inhibitors in Korean patients with gastroesophageal reflux disease. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2015;21:69–77.
- Sandler RL, Everhart JE, Donowitz M, Adams E, Cronin K, Goodman C, et al. The burden of selected digestive diseases in the United States. Gastroenterology. 2002;122:1500–11.
- Kim YS, Kim N, Kim GH. Sex and gender differences in gastroesophageal reflux disease. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;22:575–88.
- Nusrat S, Nusrat S, Bielefeldt K. Reflux and sex: what drives testing, what drives treatment? Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;24:233–47.
- Cho YS, Choi MG, Jeong JJ, Chung WC, Lee IS, Kim SW, et al. Prevalence and clinical spectrum of gastro-

esophageal reflux: a population-based study in Asan-si, Korea. Am J Gastroenterol. 2005;100:747–53.

- Jung HK, Halder S, McNally M, Locke GR 3rd, Schleck CD, Zinsmeister AR, et al. Overlap of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease and irritable bowel syndrome: prevalence and risk factors in the general population. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2007;26:453–61.
- Chen M, Xiong L, Chen H, Xu A, He L, Hu P. Prevalence, risk factors and impact of gastroesophageal reflux disease symptoms: a populationbased study in South China. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2005;40:759–67.
- Chiocca JC, Olmos JA, Salis GB. Prevalence, clinical spectrum and atypical symptoms of gastrooesophageal reflux in Argentina: a nationwide population-based study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2005;22:331–42.
- 13. Shim KN, Hong SJ, Sung JK, Park KS, Kim SE, Park HS, et al. Clinical spectrum of reflux esophagitis among 25,536 Koreans who underwent a health check-up: a nationwide multicenter prospective, endoscopy-based study. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2009;43:632–8.
- Minatsuki C, Yamamichi N, Shimamoto T, Kakimoto H, Takahashi Y, Fujishiro M, et al. Background factors of reflux esophagitis and non-erosive reflux disease: a cross-sectional study of 10,837 subjects in Japan. PLoS One. 2013;8:e69891.
- Lin M, Gerson LB, Lascar R, Davila M, Triadafilopoulos G. Features of gastroesophageal reflux disease in women. Am J Gastroenterol. 2004;99:1442–7.
- 16. Kim JJ, Kim N, Park JH, Kim YW, Lee SM, Lee DH, et al. Comparison of tight junction protein-related gene mRNA expression levels between male and female gastroesophageal reflux disease patients. Gut Liver. 2018;12:411–9.
- Barlow WJ, Orlando RC. The pathogenesis of heartburn in non-erosive reflux disease: a underlying mechanism. Gastroenterology. 2005;128:771–8.
- Boeckxstaens G, El-Serag HB, Smout AJ, Kahrilas PJ. Symptomatic reflux disease: the present, the past and the future. Gut. 2014;63:1185–93.
- Grishina I, Fenton A, Sankaran-Walters S. Gender differences, aging and hormonal status in mucosal injury and repair. Aging Dis. 2014;52:160–9.
- Kim SY, Jung HK, Lim J, Kim TO, Choe AR, Tae JH, et al. Gender specific differences in prevalence and risk factors for gastro-esophageal reflux disease. J Korean Med Sci. 2019;34:e158.
- Velders M, Schleipen B, Fritzemeier KH, Zierau O, Diel P. Selective estrogen receptor -beta activation stimulates skeletal muscle growth and regeneration. FASEB J. 2012;26:1909–20.
- 22. Masaka T, Iijima K, Endo H, Asanuma K, Ara N, Ishiyama F, et al. Gender differences in oesophageal mucosal injury in a reflux oesophagitis model of rats. Gut. 2013;62:6–14.

- 23. de Bortoli N, Martinucci I, Bellini M, Savarino E, Savarino V, Blandizzi C, et al. Overlap of functional heartburn and gastroesophageal reflux disease with irritable bowel syndrome. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19:5787–97.
- 24. Ashcroft GS, Mills SJ, Lei K, Gibbons L, Jeong MJ, Taniguchi M, et al. Estrogen modulates cutaneous wound healing by downregulating macrophage migration inhibitory factor. J Clin Invest. 2003;111:1309–18.
- Honda J, Iijima K, Asanuma K, Ara N, Shiroki T, Kondo Y, et al. Estrogen enhances esophageal barrier function by potentiating occludin expression. Dig Dis Sci. 2016;61:1028–38.
- 26. Kim JJ, Kim N, Choi YJ, Kim JS, Jung HC. Increased TRPV1 and PAR2 mRNA expression levels are associated only with the esophageal reflux symptoms, but not with the extra-esophageal reflux symptoms. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016;95:e4387.
- Bhat YM, Bielefeldt K. Capsaicin receptor (TRPV1) and non-erosive reflux disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2006;18:263–70.
- Chen CL. Visceral hypersensitivity in non-erosive reflux disease: neurogenic overwhelming in esophagus? Dig Dis Sci. 2013;58:2131–2.
- Knowles CH, Aziz Q. Visceral hypersensitivity in non-erosive reflux disease. Gut. 2008;57:674–83.
- 30. Guarino MP, Cheng L, Ma J, Harnett K, Biancani P, Altomare A, et al. Increased TRPV1 gene expression in esophageal mucosa of patients with non-erosive and erosive reflux disease. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2010;22:746–51.
- 31. Yoshida N, Kuroda M, Suzuki T, Kamada K, Uchiyama K, Handa O, et al. Role of nociceptors/ neuropeptides in the pathogenesis of visceral hypersensitivity of non-erosive reflux disease. Dig Dis Sci. 2013;58:2237–43.
- Yiangou Y, Facer P, Dyer NH, Chan CL, Knowles C, Williams NS, et al. Vanilloid receptor 1 immunoreactivity in inflamed human bowel. Lancet. 2001;357:1338–9.
- 33. Vega KJ, Langford-Legg T, Palacio C, Watts J, Jamal MM. Females without reflux symptoms or gastroesophageal reflux disease have less distal esophageal acid exposure than males without reflux symptoms or gastroesophageal reflux disease. Dis Esophagus. 2013;26:246–9.
- Hartono JL, Mahadeva S, Goh KL. Anxiety and depression in various functional gastrointestinal disorders: do differences exist? J Dig Dis. 2012;13:252–7.
- 35. Lee SP, Sung IK, Kim JH, Lee SY, Park HS, Shim CS. The effect of emotional stress and depression on the prevalence of digestive diseases. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2015;21:273–82.
- 36. Fass R, Naliboff BD, Fass SS, Peleg N, Wendel C, Malagon IB, et al. The effect of auditory stress on perception of intraesophageal acid in patients with GERD. Gastroenterology. 2008;134:696–705.

- Hershcovici T, Fass R. Nonerosive reflux disease (NERD) - an update. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2010;16:8–21.
- Vakil N, Niklasson A, Denison H, Rydén A. Gender differences in symptoms in partial responders to proton pump inhibitors for gastro-oesophageal reflux disease. United European Gastroenterol J. 2015;3:443–52.
- Castell DO. Esophageal disorders in the elderly. Gastroenterol Clin N Am. 1990;19:235–54.
- Castell DO. How is esophageal sensitivity impaired with age? In: Giuli R, editor. The esophageal mucosa. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science BV; 1994. p. 267–9.
- 41. Kim JY, Kim N, Seo PJ, Lee JW, Kim MS, Kim SE, et al. Association of sleep dysfunction and emotional status with gastroesophageal reflux disease in Korea. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2013;19:344–54.
- Kannampalli P, Sengupta JN. Role of principal ionotropic and metabotropic receptors in visceral pain. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2015;21:147–58.
- Nan J, Liu J, Mu J, Dun W, Zhang M, Gong O, et al. Brain-based correlations between psychological factors and functional dyspepsia. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2015;21:103–10.
- Zhang J, Banerjee B. Role of microRNA in visceral pain. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2015;21:159–71.
- Nguyen P, Lee SD, Castell DO. Evidence of gender differences in esophageal pain threshold. Am J Gastroenterol. 1995;90:901–5.
- Weijenborg PW, Bredenoord AJ. How reflux causes symptoms: reflux perception in gastroesophageal reflux disease. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2013;27:353–64.
- 47. do Rosário Dias de Oliveira Latorre M, Medeiros da Silva A, Chinzon D, Eisig JN, Dias-Bastos TR. Epidemiology of upper gastrointestinal symptoms in Brazil (EpiGastro): A population-based study according to sex and age group. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:17388–98.
- 48. Jaspersen D, Kulig M, Labenz J, Leodolter A, Lind T, Meyer-Sabellek W, et al. Prevalence of extraoesophageal manifestations in gastro-oesophageal reflux disease: an analysis based on the ProGERD study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2003;17:1515–20.
- Kapur N, Hunt I, Lunt M, McBeth J, Creed F, Macfarlane G. Primary care consultation predictors in men and women: a cohort study. Br J Gen Pract. 2005;55:108–13.
- Bruley Des Varannes S, Marek L, Humeau B, Lecasble M, Colin R. Gastroesophageal reflux disease in primary care. Prevalence, epidemiology and quality of life of patients. Gastroenterol Clin Biol. 2006;30:364–70.
- 51. Wong WM, Lai KC, Lam KF, Hui WM, Hu WHC, Lam CLK, et al. Prevalence, clinical spectrum and health care utilization of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease in a Chinese population: a population-based study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2003;18:595–604.

- Katz PO, Gerson LB, Vela MF. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of gastroesophageal reflux disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 2013;108:308–28.
- Park CH, Kim HS, Lee SK. Effects of the new prokinetic agent DA-9701 formulated with corydalis tuber and pharbitis seed in patients with minimal change esophagitis: a bicenter, randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled study. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2014;20:338–46.
- 54. Heading RC, Mönnikes H, Tholen A, Schmitt H. Prediction of response to PPI therapy and factors influencing treatment outcome in patients with GORD: a prospective pragmatic trial using pantoprazole. BMC Gastroenterol. 2011;11:52.
- Dickman R, Maradey-Romero C, Gingold-Belfer R, Fass R. Unmet needs in the treatment of gastroesophageal reflux disease. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2015;21:309–19.
- Niu XP, Yu BP, Wang YD, Han Z, Liu SF, He CY, et al. Risk factors for proton pump inhibitor refractoriness in Chinese patients with non-erosive reflux disease. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19:3124–9.
- 57. Ruigómez A, Johansson S, Wernersson B, Fernández Cantero O, García Rodríguez LA. Gastroesophageal reflux disease in primary care: using changes in proton pump inhibitor therapy as an indicator of partial response. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2012;47:751–61.
- El-Serag H, Becher A, Jones R. Systematic review: persistent reflux symptoms on proton pump inhibitor therapy in primary care and community studies. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2010;32:720–37.
- Labenz J, Armstrong D, Zetterstrand S, Eklund S, Leodolter A. Clinical trial: factors associated with resolution of heartburn in patients with reflux oesophagi-

tis-results from the EXPO study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2009;29:959–66.

- 60. Bytzer P, van Zanten SV, Mattsson H, Wernersson B. Partial symptom-response to proton pump inhibitors in patients with non-erosive reflux disease or reflux oesophagitis a post hoc analysis of 5,796 patients. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2012;36:635–43.
- 61. Lundell L, Hatlebakk J, Galmiche JP, Attwood SE, Ell C, Fiocca R, et al. Long-term effect on symptoms and quality of life of maintenance therapy with esomeprazole 20 mg daily: a post hoc analysis of the LOTUS trial. Curr Med Res Opin. 2015;31:65–73.
- 62. Becker V, Grotz S, Schlag C, Nennstiel S, Beitz A, Haller B, et al. Positive predictors for gastroesophageal reflux disease and the therapeutic response to proton-pump inhibitors. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:4017–24.
- 63. Menon S, Nightingale P, Trudgill N. Is hormone replacement therapy in post-menopausal women associated with a reduced risk of oesophageal cancer? United European Gastroenterol J. 2014;2:374–82.
- 64. Nordenstedt H, Zheng Z, Cameron AJ, Ye W, Pedersen NL, Lagergren J. Postmenopausal hormone therapy as a risk factor for gastroesophageal reflux symptoms among female twins. Gastroenterology. 2008;134:921–8.
- 65. Hirsch DP, Holloway RH, Tytgat GN, Boeckxstaens GE. Involvement of nitric oxide in human transient lower esophageal sphincter relaxations and esophageal primary peristalsis. Gastroenterology. 1998;115:1374–80.
- Nilsson M, Johnsen R, Ye W, Hveem K, Lagergren J. Obesity and estrogen as risk factors for gastroesophageal reflux symptoms. JAMA. 2003;290:66–72.

Esophageal Motility Disorders

Ju Yup Lee

5.1 Introduction

The esophagus consists of three functional parts: the upper esophageal sphincter (UES), the esophageal body, and the lower esophageal sphincter (LES). Esophagus muscles include striated muscles and smooth muscles. The proximal esophagus, including the UES, comprises striated muscles, which are voluntary muscles. In the distal esophagus including the LES, smooth muscles, which are involuntary muscles, are present. Both smooth and striated muscles are distributed between the proximal esophagus and the distal esophagus. The outer layer of the esophagus consists of longitudinal muscles, with orbicular muscles observed in the inner layer. Motility of these esophageal muscles is controlled by intrinsic innervation of the esophagus and extrinsic innervation by the central nervous system, which results in peristalsis from the proximal to distal esophagus. The harmony between contraction and relaxation of esophageal muscles is important in the motility physiology of the esophagus. Esophageal motility disorders are caused by alterations in normal physiological movements of the esophagus or

by disorders in incongruity of esophageal motility [1–3] (Fig. 5.1).

Diseases of the UES and cervical esophagus are caused by abnormal sequential excitation by extrinsic nerves or by diseases involving striated muscles. Movements of these esophageal parts are completely dependent on extrinsic nerves. The pathophysiology of disorders of the lower esophagus and LES can be largely divided into two categories: hypomotility and hypermotility. Both motility disorders are often accompanied by changes in propagation speed or disharmony in esophageal motility.

Hypomotility of the esophagus is caused by abnormalities in smooth muscles that result in no response to neurological excitation, decreased neurogenic excitability, or excessive activity of inhibitory nerves such as non-adrenergic and noncholinergic neurons. In contrast, hypermotility of the esophagus is caused by abnormalities in smooth muscles, hypersensitivity to neurotransmitters or hormones, or a decrease in the function of inhibitory nerves. Additionally, esophageal disharmony is caused by disorders in non-adrenergic and non-cholinergic nerves. These nerves can gradually delay the contraction of the esophagus toward the lower esophagus to induce peristalsis. Disruption of their functions can result in impaired peristalsis of the esophagus [4, 5].

In the recent version 4.0 [6] of the Chicago Classification based on high resolution manometry

Department of Internal Medicine, Keimyung



5

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_5

J. Y. Lee (🖂)

University School of Medicine, Keimyung University Dongsan Hospital, Daegu, Republic of Korea



Fig. 5.1 (a) Esophageal motor innervation by the vagus nerve, Auerbach's plexus, and Meissner's plexus. (b) The striated muscle of the proximal esophagus is directly innervated by somatic efferent cholinergic fibers of the vagus nerve originating from the nucleus ambiguus. In contrast, smooth muscles of the distal esophagus are innervated by preganglionic vagus nerve fibers from the

(HRM) is a revision of version 3.0 [7], "disorders of esophagogastric junction (EGJ) outflow" are classified as achalasia and EGJ outflow obstruction (EGJOO), while "disorders of peristalsis" are classified as absent contractility, distal esophageal spasm (DES), hypercontractile esophagus, and ineffective esophageal motility [8] (Fig. 5.2).

This chapter will discuss the pathophysiology and diagnosis of esophageal motility disorders and review achalasia and lower esophageal hypermotility disorders as representative esophageal motility disorders. Sex/gender differences of these diseases are also discussed.

5.2 Main Point

5.2.1 Achalasia

Achalasia is a representative primary esophageal motility disorder characterized by incomplete relaxation of the LES and a loss of peristalsis in the esophageal body during swallowing.

dorsal motor nucleus. Preganglionic vagal fibers can release acetylcholine, a neurotransmitter that affects two types of postganglionic neurons in the myenteric plexus: excitatory cholinergic neurons and inhibitory nitrinergic neurons. *NO* nitric oxide, *VIP* vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (adapted from Ates et al. [3])

Achalasia has been named by adding the prefix "a," which means "no" to the Greek word "khalasis" meaning "relaxation" [9].

5.2.1.1 Epidemiology

There are limited population-based epidemiologic data on achalasia. Most of previous studies were retrospective studies [10]. According to studies conducted in the 2000s, the incidence of achalasia was increasing and does not differ according to ethnicity. The incidence of achalasia was 0.03-0.27 per 100,000 individuals per year in developing countries [11, 12]. In a recent large cohort study using health insurance data in the Netherlands, the incidence of achalasia was 2.2 per 100,000 persons per year [10]. In another study that used tertiary hospital data, the incidence of achalasia was 2.9 per 100,000 persons per year [13]. The prevalence of achalasia is also marginally increasing. A study in the Netherlands reported a prevalence of 15.3 per 100,000 persons per year [10], while in other studies, the prevalence of achalasia was 2.5-32.6 per 100,000



Fig. 5.2 Classification schemes for Chicago Classification version 3.0 and Chicago Classification version 4.0. Key differences in Chicago Classification version 4.0 include the inclusion of supine and upright position and provocative manometric maneuvers (double dagger, yen), the more stringent and refined criteria for esophagogastric junction outflow obstruction (EGJOO) and ineffective esophageal motility (IEM), and as the indication that EGJOO, distal esophageal spasm (DES), and hypercontractile esophagus are manometric patterns of

persons per year [13, 14]. This increase in the prevalence of achalasia might be attributed to increased use of newer precise medical instruments such as HRM, which has resulted in a decreased rate of misdiagnosis of achalasia as gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD). However, in a population-based study using a Korean national health database, Kim et al. [15] have reported that the incidence and prevalence of achalasia are 0.4 and 6.3 per 100,000 persons per year, respectively.

5.2.1.2 Cause and Pathophysiology

The pathophysiology of achalasia begins with selective loss of inhibitory ganglion cells in the myenteric plexus of the esophagus, which results in an imbalance of excitatory and inhibitory nerves. This causes an increase in the resting pressure of the LES, insufficient relaxation during swallowing, and loss of normal peristalsis [16]. The cause of the initial decrease in inhibitory neurons in achalasia remains unknown. The initiation of neurodegeneration might be an autoimmune process induced by viral infections (herpes or measles, etc.) in a genetically sensitive

unclear clinical relevance (asterisk). Patients with EGJ obstruction and presence of peristaltic swallows fulfill strict criteria for EGJOO and may have features suggestive of achalasia or other patterns of peristalsis defined by criteria for disorders of peristalsis: EGJOO with spastic features, EGJOO with hypercontractile esophagus, EGJOO with ineffective motility, or EGJOO with no evidence of disordered peristalsis (dagger) (adapted from Yadlapati et al. [8])

host [17]. An inflammatory response is associated with infiltration by T-cell lymphocytes, which results in slow destruction of ganglion cells [9]. The distribution and final outcomes of this plexitis vary. They can be modified by host responses and etiological stimuli **[9**]. Inflammation of the myenteric plexus can lead to degeneration or dysfunction of inhibitory postganglionic neurons of the distal esophagus, including the LES [18, 19]. These neurons use nitric oxide (NO) and vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) as neurotransmitters. Their dysfunction can result in an imbalance between excitatory and inhibitory regulation of the sphincter and adjacent esophagus [20] (Fig. 5.3). Such unopposed cholinergic stimulation can lead to impaired relaxation of the LES, hypercontractility of the lower esophagus, and rapid contraction of the lower esophagus [9].

Most cases of achalasia are of primary or idiopathic causes. In rare cases, achalasia might be secondary to diseases. Such achalasia is called secondary achalasia. One of the main secondary causes is Chagas disease, a parasitic infection caused by *Trypanosoma cruzi*. This disease is



Fig. 5.3 Present hypothesis proposing virus-induced autoimmune-mediated ganglionitis in achalasia. Insert shows infiltration of myenteric ganglion with T-cells.

Arrow shows myenteric nerves and ganglion cells (adapted from Boeckxstaens et al. [20])

commonly observed in South American countries such as Brazil. This parasite can invade various organs and induce immune responses over several years. Consequently, the esophageal plexus is damaged, resulting in clinical manifestations similar to those of achalasia [21, 22].

5.2.1.3 Symptoms

Primary symptoms of achalasia include dysphagia, regurgitation, weight loss, chest pain, and heartburn [23–25]. These symptoms are mostly observed in patients aged between 20 and 50 years. The key symptom of achalasia is dysphagia. Cycles of worsening and improvement of dysphagia for solid and liquid foods have been observed, leading to an overall worsening of the condition. Food regurgitation is another common symptom.

Regurgitation of undigested food or saliva may be observed at several hours after meals. Symptoms of regurgitation are mainly observed at night. The regurgitated food is characterized by the lack of gastric acid or bile. Additionally, heartburn and chest symptoms have also been commonly reported. These are often mistaken for GERD. The cause of heartburn or chest pain in achalasia is unknown. Some hypotheses for the presence of these symptoms include the following: (1) fermentation of the undigested food retained in the esophagus, which lowers the acidity; (2) ischemia, which temporarily reduces the blood flow to the esophageal mucosa while the circular and longitudinal muscles of the esophagus continue to contract; and (3) pain induced by retention of food in the esophagus. In the past, weight loss was

reported as a common symptom. However, in recent studies, weight loss has not been commonly observed because of increased frequency of intake of high-calorie food.

The Eckardt symptom score is the most commonly used tool to evaluate symptoms of achalasia and the effectiveness of treatment [26, 27]. A score of 0–3 points is given according to the frequency and severity of dysphagia, regurgitation, chest pain, and weight loss. Scores for each symptom are summed to calculate a total score of 0–12 points. In the evaluation of response to treatment, an Eckardt score of less than 3 points indicates a successful treatment [26] (Table 5.1).

5.2.1.4 Diagnosis

5.2.1.4.1 Barium Esophagography

Fluoroscopy can detect barium not passing through the esophagus and repeatedly moving up and down within the esophagus due to nonpropulsive tertiary contractions or not moving in the esophagus at all. When a sufficient amount of barium is swallowed by patients, dilation of the esophageal body and impaired relaxation of the LES are observed, showing characteristic findings like a bird's beak. These findings may show different patterns according to three subtypes of achalasia [28] (Fig. 5.4).

 Table 5.1
 Eckardt symptom score for achalasia (adapted from Eckardt et al. [26])

Dysphagia	Regurgitation	Retrosternal pain	Weight loss (kg)
None	None	None	None
Occasional	Occasional	Occasional	<5
Daily	Daily	Daily	5-10
Each meal	Each meal	Each meal	>10
	Dysphagia None Occasional Daily Each meal	DysphagiaRegurgitationNoneNoneOccasionalOccasionalDailyDailyEach mealEach meal	DysphagiaRegurgitationRetrosternal painNoneNoneNoneOccasionalOccasionalOccasionalDailyDailyDailyEach mealEach mealEach meal



Fig. 5.4 Marked dilatation of the esophagus and bird's beak appearance are noted on the esophagogram (**a**). Moderately dilated esophagus is noted and the proximal esophagus is filled with air on esophagogram (**b**). The associated esophagogram for type III achalasia is often interpreted as esophageal spasm as this has an extreme corkscrew with distal contraction (**c**). Food stasis and flac-

cid esophagus are noted on the upper gastrointestinal endoscopy (**d**). Narrow gastroesophageal junction is noted on the upper gastrointestinal endoscopy and the scope can pass through with resistance (**e**). Upper gastrointestinal endoscopy findings are nearly normal in type III achalasia (**f**). (adapted from Lee et al. [28])

5.2.1.4.2 Endoscopy

Upper gastrointestinal endoscopy is essential in the evaluation of esophageal mucosa before treatment and to exclude other diseases despite typical findings of achalasia on esophagography, such as relaxed esophageal body, lack of peristalsis, and contracted LES that opens with a slight push with an endoscope. Differences in symptoms might be observed according to the subtype. Typical endoscopic findings include markedly dilated esophageal lumen, lack of effective contractions, and retention of food [28] (Fig. 5.4). In severe cases, a "sigmoid" type of esophagus might be seen with heavy dilation of the esophageal body and rightward curve of the esophagus above the cardiac region.

5.2.1.4.3 Esophageal Manometry

Esophageal manometry is also essential in diagnosing achalasia. Main findings of manometry include a loss of peristalsis of the esophageal body and insufficient relaxation of the LES. These two characteristic findings can confirm the diagnosis of achalasia. Using esophageal pressure topography with HRM, achalasia has been recently classified into three subtypes according to the Chicago Classification [29]: (1) type I with abnormally high integrated relaxation pressure (IRP), which indicates relaxation of the LES without esophageal body motility; (2) type II with a loss of motility of the circular muscle layer and partial motility of the longitudinal muscle layer, which results in panesophageal pressurization in more than 20% of swallowing; and (3) type III with contraction of the lower esophagus in more than 20% of swallowing [6] (Fig. 5.5). In particular, it is known that in type II achalasia, symptom improvement after treatment is significantly higher than that in type II or III achalasia [30, 31]. Additionally, cases with IRP > the upper normal limit with normal esophageal peristalsis are classified as EGJOO or are considered a variant or precursor of achalasia [6].

5.2.1.5 Treatment

Currently, there is no pathophysiology-based treatment for achalasia that can fundamentally restore the loss of esophageal nerve cells and



Courtesy of University of California San Diego Center for Esophageal Diseases

Fig. 5.5 Achalasia subtypes. Type I achalasia: integrated relaxation pressure (IRP) is elevated with failed peristalsis (distal contractile integral, DCI < 100 mmHg-s-cm) without panesophageal pressurization. Type II achalasia: IRP

is elevated with failed peristalsis and panesophageal pressurization. Type III achalasia: IRP is elevated with a normal DCI and a reduced distal latency. *NA* not applicable (Adapted from Yadlapati et al. [6]) abnormalities in muscle peristalsis. Prior to the introduction of peroral endoscopic myotomy (POEM), pneumatic balloon dilatation (PD) and laparoscopic Heller myotomy (LHM) were main treatments. These modalities can lower the pressure of the LES, thus inducing the esophageal excretory function and improving symptoms. PD is the most widely used endoscopic therapy with therapeutic effects of 80–90% at 1 year. However, recurrence of symptoms is common, which requires additional treatment in approximately 40-50% of cases within 5 years after the initial treatment. Effects are less sustainable with repetitions of the treatment [32]. LHM can lead to satisfactory outcomes in approximately 64-90% of cases. Partial fundoplication is often performed simultaneously to prevent complications such as gastroesophageal reflux. Although several current treatments are effective with longterm improvements for symptoms, these are more invasive than others. They also require a relatively longer hospital stay. In addition, they are expensive. Moreover, these treatments do not lead to satisfactory outcomes for patients with spastic esophageal diseases that accompany spastic contractions [32].

POEM was first introduced by Inoue et al. [33] in 2010. This endoscopic myotomy involves the natural orifice transluminal endosurgery

(NOTES) technique, in which the LES is incised by making a tunnel in the submucosal layer of the esophageal wall through an oral endoscopic approach without a skin incision. Previous studies have demonstrated therapeutic effects and safety of POEM, and in a recent meta-analysis of 36 studies, improvement in symptoms was analyzed for 2373 patients. In approximately 98% of (95% confidence interval [CI], patients 97–100%), Eckardt score improved to ≤ 3 points with sustained improvements in symptoms for >12 months [34]. Several studies have also long-term clinical reported outcomes of POEM. Improvements in symptoms were sustained for up to 3-5 years in approximately 83-95% of patients, suggesting that POEM could have highly satisfactory mid- to long-term treatment effects [35-38]. Strengths and weaknesses of POEM, LHM, and PD are summarized in Table 5.2 [32].

5.2.2 Distal Esophagus Hypermotility Disorders

Esophageal hypermotility, which leads to increased motility of the esophagus, includes DES, type III achalasia, and hypercontractile (Jackhammer) esophagus [39]. Although these

	POEM	LHM	PD
Scarring	No	Yes	No
Selective circular myotomy	Possible	No	No
Concurrent anti-reflux procedure	No	Fundoplication	No
Dissection and disruption of the	No	Yes	No
diaphragmatic hiatus			
Postoperative incidence of	(+++)	(++)	(+)
gastroesophageal reflux disease	30–40%	15-20%	10-20%
Myotomy extension to the proximal	Possible	Difficult	Impossible
esophageal body			
Hospital stay	Intermediate	Relatively long	Very short
	3–5 days	5–7 days	1–2 days
Cost	Intermediate (variable	High	Low
	according to region)		
Clinical response for achalasia	Excellent	Good	Fair
	95–98%	90–93%	80–90%
Clinical response for spastic esophageal	Good	Fair	Poor
disorders			

Table 5.2 Strengths and weaknesses of treatments in achalasia (adapted from Youn et al. [32])

POEM peroral endoscopic myotomy, LHM laparoscopic Heller's myotomy, PD pneumatic dilatation

diseases can be differentiated according to findings on HRM, there are no differences in their clinical symptoms or treatment [39].

5.2.2.1 Definition and Pathophysiology

Esophageal motility diseases were collectively termed "diffuse esophageal spasm" in the past. They mainly begin in smooth muscles of the lower esophagus rather than skeletal muscles of the upper esophagus. Therefore, the term "distal esophageal spasm" has been used instead. The pathophysiology of DES and type III achalasia is functional loss of inhibitory ganglionic neurons in the distal esophagus [40, 41]. Disruptions in inhibitory regulation can lead to premature contractions, rapid propagated contractions, and simultaneous contractions of the distal esophagus, which can result in an incomplete relaxation of the distal esophageal sphincter during swallowing. The pathophysiology of hypercontractile (Jackhammer) esophagus is presumed to be cholinergic dominance [42, 43].

5.2.2.2 Clinical Symptoms

Esophageal hypermotility can be observed in all age groups. However, it is most commonly observed in patients between ages of 30 and 40 years and in women. Approximately 30–60% of patients have dysphagia with varying severity day-to-day. Regurgitation symptoms may also be present, however, less common than in achalasia. Chest pain is reported in approximately 80–90% of patients and it is not directly related to dysphagia. The pattern of chest pain is similar to that of angina. Therefore, it must be carefully evaluated. Chest pain is mainly related to diet rather than exercise. It lasts for several hours. It can be relieved by antacids. If symptoms such as heart-

burn, dysphagia, and regurgitation are also present, then chest pain is highly likely to be caused by esophageal motility disorders. However, ischemic heart disease cannot be rolled out. Additionally, in approximately 20% of patients who complain of chest pain, it is mainly due to hypersensitivity of the esophageal mucosa rather than acid regurgitation. In other cases, various functional gastrointestinal disorders, anxiety disorders, and depression are observed.

5.2.2.3 Diagnosis

HRM allows for easier diagnosis of esophageal hypermotility using indicators such as distal latency (DL) and distal contractile integral (DCI). The diagnostic criteria in HRM are summarized in Table 5.3 [39, 44] (Fig. 5.6). DES can be diagnosed when at least more than 20% of premature contractions are observed with normal relaxation of the EGJ. DL is used as an indicator of premature contractions. It measures the time between the point of relaxation of the UES and the contractile deceleration point (CDP) at which the contraction slope of the distal esophagus changes. DL < 4.5 s indicates a premature contraction. The only difference between DES and type III achalasia is the relaxation of the EGJ. In type III achalasia, the LES does not relax during swallowing. Jackhammer esophagus can be newly identified using HRM as it can measure DCI, an indicator of continuous contraction pressure of the distal esophagus. Jackhammer esophagus is diagnosed when DCI is >8000 mmHg-cm-s in more than 20% of swallowing. Jackhammer esophagus may be associated with blockage due to EGJOO. It often shows findings of multipeaked contractions. However, this is not an essential criterion for a diagnosis of Jackhammer esophagus [39].

Table 5.3 High-resolution manometry patterns in spastic disorders (adapted from Roman and Kahrilas [39])

Spastic disorder	EGJ relaxation	Esophageal contractions
Distal esophageal spasm	Normal (mean IRP < 15 mmHg)	\geq 20% premature contractions (DL < 4.5 s)
Type III achalasia	Impaired (mean IRP \geq 15 mmHg)	\geq 20% premature contractions (DL < 4.5 s)
Jackhammer esophagus	Normal or impaired	≥20% DCI > 8000 mmHg-s-cm

EGJ esophagogastric junction, IRP integrated relaxation pressure, DL distal latency, DCI distal contractile integral



Courtesy of University of California San Diego Center for Esophageal Diseases; Northwestern Esophageal Center; and Mayo Clinic Arizona Motility Lab

Fig. 5.6 Disorders of peristalsis with esophageal spasticity or hypercontractility. These include distal esophageal spasm (DES) and hypercontractile esophagus. In this example of DES, the DCI is normal with a reduced DL and normal IRP. Hypercontractile esophagus includes sub-groups of single peak hypercontractile swallow, hypercontractile with jackhammer esophagus, and hypercontractile with LES after-contraction. *IRP* integrated relaxation pressure, *DCI* distal contractile integral, *LES* lower esophageal sphincter, *DL* distal latency (adapted from Yadlapati et al. [6])

5.2.3 Differences in Esophageal Motility Disorders Between Sexes

5.2.3.1 Epidemiology of Esophageal Motility Disorders and Differences Between Sexes

In several large-scale epidemiological studies, proportions of male and female patients with achalasia were similar [10, 12, 15, 45]. Achalasia can be observed in all age groups. However, it is most common in patients between ages of 40 and 60 years [10, 12, 46]. DES is a rare disease. Only a limited number of epidemiology studies have assessed it. According to previous studies, the prevalence of symptomatic DES ranges between 3% and 9%. The mean age of prevalence is approximately 60 years. Its prevalence is slightly higher in women at 55% [40, 47, 48]. Jackhammer esophagus is a newer esophageal motility disorder with limited data. In a recent meta-analysis of 38 studies, the prevalence of Jackhammer esophagus was 1.97% [95% CI, 1.39-2.78%] in patients referred to HRM [49]. The mean age at diagnosis was 60.8 years [95% CI, 57.1–64.4] and 65% [95% CI, 58–72%] of patients were women [49].

5.2.3.2 Symptoms of Esophageal Motility Disorders and Differences Between Sexes

A prospective study conducted in Japan included 474 patients with achalasia (248 men and 226 women) who underwent LHM. In that study, female patients with achalasia had a lower body mass index (BMI) (p < 0.0001) and less dilation of the esophagus (p = 0.0061). The frequency and severity of chest pain before LHM were significantly higher in females than in males (p = 0.0117)and p = 0.0103, respectively). Improvement in chest pain was also higher in females (p = 0.0005and p = 0.003, respectively) [50]. Other prospective studies have reported similar results. In a prospective study that included 213 patients with achalasia (110 men and 103 women) in Iran, chest pain was more common in women than in men (70.9% vs. 54.4%, p = 0.03). Furthermore, chest pain decreased in both men and women

after PD or botulinum toxin administration. The decrease was greater in women than that in men (32% vs. 20.9%, p = 0.04). In both men and women, chest pain was not related to the symptom duration, LES pressure (LESP), or type of treatment [51]. However, in another study, chest pain was reported to be independent of age and sex [52]. The mechanism of chest pain in achalasia and the reason for its higher frequency in women are not clearly established yet. However, as in GERD, women have more sensitive esophagus, which may lead to higher frequency and intensity of chest pain.

A recent study has analyzed differences in symptoms of achalasia between male and female before POEM and HRM. Dysphagia was more severe in females with achalasia while regurgitation was more severe in males. Heartburn was more frequently observed in males than in female [53]. According to HRM findings, female patients with achalasia had higher LESP and shorter esophageal length than male patients with achalasia. Therefore, the authors believe that this sex differences might be related to the female hormone estrogen. Further analysis was performed by dividing females into pre-menopausal and post-menopausal groups. Results revealed that pre-menopausal females had higher LESP than male and post-menopausal women [53] (Fig. 5.7). Further studies are necessary to assess effects of estrogen on LESP.

5.2.3.3 Response to Treatment Between Sexes

Patients who have demonstrated the greatest benefit with PD are women, those over the age of 40 years, and those with type II achalasia [30, 54–65]. Additionally, patients with type III achalasia, Jackhammer esophagus, and spastic esophageal motility disorders do not show good responses to PD. Among different symptoms of achalasia, only around 50% of patients experience improved chest pain after treatment [26, 44, 66, 67].

Farhoomand et al. [59] have reported that 88% of patients with recurrence of achalasia within 3 months after PD using 3.0-cm balloons are under the age of 45 years and most of them are men. In a study comprising 126 patients, Ghoshal et al. [66] have shown that the male sex, not age, is independently associated with poor outcomes after PD. A large-scale study by the Cleveland Clinic (106 patients with 51 women) has reported that age and sex are equally important variables [63] (Fig. 5.8). It revealed that men under the age of 50 years did not demonstrate good treatment



Fig. 5.7 Baseline lower esophageal sphincter pressure (LESP) in patients with achalasia before peroral endoscopic myotomy (POEM). (a) Comparison of resting LESP between male and female patients; (b) comparison

of LESP among non-menopausal female patients, menopausal female patients, and male patients (adapted from Xu et al. [53])



Fig. 5.8 Effect of age and sex on early phase (within 6 months) outcome of single pneumatic balloon dilation (PD), with 95% confidence intervals shown for each curve. Younger patients, especially men, have a higher

likelihood of early failure after a single (30 mm) PD. dashed line, women; straight line, men (adapted from Vela et al. [63])

response to a single 3.0-cm PD. However, only young women under the age of 35 years responded poorly to PD, with most women demonstrating satisfactory clinical outcomes for at least 5 years after undergoing a single PD. There might be differences in properties of muscles and tensile strength of the lower esophagus sphincter. However, reasons for such age-related and sexrelated differences are unknown [68].

Young patient groups, men, and patients with high LESP have demonstrated good treatment outcomes after primary LHM [63, 69]. A key point is that patients who have no response to PD and Botox can be successfully treated with LHM [63, 70]. However, another study has shown no difference in outcomes of LHM or satisfaction of treatment between sexes [50].

Based on these findings, a suggested treatment algorithm includes LHD for young men and PD for older women [68]. Additionally, Ghoshal et al. [71] have suggested that men should be treated using 3.5-cm balloons as they have poor treatment response to PD. In contrast, they have suggested that women should be treated with 3.0cm balloons as women demonstrate good treatment response to PD.

There is a lack of studies assessing differences in POEM treatment outcomes between sexes. A recent study has followed up patients who have undergone POEM for more than 6 months and found no differences between sexes in effects of POEM, regurgitation symptoms, HRM findings, or complications of POEM [53].

5.3 Conclusions

Esophageal motility disorders are relatively rare diseases with various symptoms caused by imbalances between excitatory and inhibitory nerves of the esophagus. Representative diseases include achalasia and lower esophageal hypermotility disorders such as DES and Jackhammer esophagus. There is no difference in the prevalence of achalasia between sexes, although the prevalence of lower esophageal hypermotility disorders is slightly higher in women. The higher frequency of chest pain in female patients with achalasia might be related to esophageal sensitivity. Higher LESP in female patients with achalasia might be attributed to hormones. However, further studies are necessary for detailed assessments and confirmation.

Differences in the response to treatment of esophageal motility disorders between sexes have been reported. Women patients with achalasia responded better to PD than men patients in the past. However, in recent studies, POEM has resulted in better effects and long-term follow-up outcomes, particularly for treatment of distal esophageal hypermotility disorders. Therefore, POEM is increasingly used as the initial treatment of esophageal motility disorders. Future studies must assess differences between sexes in terms of outcomes, complications, and long-term effects of POEM for optimal treatment of men and women with esophageal motility disorders. Based on these studies, treatment of esophageal motility disorders is expected to be tailored for men and women.

References

- Feldman M, Friedman LS, Brandt LJ. Sleisenger and Fordtran's gastrointestinal and liver disease: pathophysiology, diagnosis, management. Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2020.
- Mittal R, Vaezi MF. Esophageal motility disorders and gastroesophageal reflux disease. N Engl J Med. 2020;383:1961–72.
- Ates F, Vaezi MF. The pathogenesis and management of achalasia: current status and future directions. Gut Liver. 2015;9:449–63.
- Goyal RK, Chaudhury A. Physiology of normal esophageal motility. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2008;42:610–9.
- Conklin J. Esophageal anatomy and physiology. In: Rao S, Lee Y, Ghoshal U, editors. Clinical and basic neurogastroenterology and motility. London: Academic Press; 2020. p. 79–88.
- Yadlapati R, Kahrilas PJ, Fox MR, Bredenoord AJ, Gyawali CP, Roman S, et al. Esophageal motility disorders on high-resolution manometry: Chicago classification version 4.0[©]. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2021;33:e14058.

- Kahrilas PJ, Bredenoord AJ, Fox M, Gyawali CP, Roman S, Smout AJ, et al. The Chicago Classification of esophageal motility disorders, v3.0. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2015;27:160–74.
- Yadlapati R, Pandolfino JE, Fox MR, Bredenoord AJ, Kahrilas PJ. What is new in Chicago Classification version 4.0? Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2021;33:e14053.
- Pandolfino JE, Gawron AJ. Achalasia: a systematic review. JAMA. 2015;313:1841–52.
- van Hoeij FB, Ponds FA, Smout AJ, Bredenoord AJ. Incidence and costs of achalasia in The Netherlands. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2018;30:e13195.
- 11. Stein CM, Gelfand M, Taylor HG. Achalasia in Zimbabwean blacks. S Afr Med J. 1985;67:261–2.
- Tebaibia A, Boudjella MA, Boutarene D, Benmediouni F, Brahimi H, Oumnia N. Incidence, clinical features and para-clinical findings of achalasia in Algeria: experience of 25 years. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22:8615–23.
- Samo S, Carlson DA, Gregory DL, Gawel SH, Pandolfino JE, Kahrilas PJ. Incidence and prevalence of achalasia in central Chicago, 2004–2014, since the widespread use of high-resolution manometry. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;15:366–73.
- Sadowski DC, Ackah F, Jiang B, Svenson LW. Achalasia: incidence, prevalence and survival. A population-based study. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2010;22:e256–61.
- Kim E, Lee H, Jung HK, Lee KJ. Achalasia in Korea: an epidemiologic study using a national healthcare database. J Korean Med Sci. 2014;29:576–80.
- Goldblum JR, Whyte RI, Orringer MB, Appelman HD. Achalasia. A morphologic study of 42 resected specimens. Am J Surg Pathol. 1994;18:327–37.
- Boeckxstaens GE. Achalasia: virus-induced euthanasia of neurons? Am J Gastroenterol. 2008;103:1610–2.
- Gockel I, Bohl JR, Eckardt VF, Junginger T. Reduction of interstitial cells of Cajal (ICC) associated with neuronal nitric oxide synthase (n-NOS) in patients with achalasia. Am J Gastroenterol. 2008;103:856–64.
- Gockel I, Bohl JR, Doostkam S, Eckardt VF, Junginger T. Spectrum of histopathologic findings in patients with achalasia reflects different etiologies. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2006;21:727–33.
- Boeckxstaens GE, Zaninotto G, Richter JE. Achalasia. Lancet. 2014;383:83–93.
- de Oliveira RB, Rezende Filho J, Dantas RO, Iazigi N. The spectrum of esophageal motor disorders in Chagas' disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 1995;90:1119–24.
- 22. Pérez-Molina JA, Molina I. Chagas disease. Lancet. 2018;391:82–94.
- 23. Tsuboi K, Hoshino M, Srinivasan A, Yano F, Hinder RA, Demeester TR, et al. Insights gained from symptom evaluation of esophageal motility disorders: a review of 4,215 patients. Digestion. 2012;85:236–42.
- 24. Sinan H, Tatum RP, Soares RV, Martin AV, Pellegrini CA, Oelschlager BK. Prevalence of respiratory

symptoms in patients with achalasia. Dis Esophagus. 2011;24:224–8.

- 25. Ng KY, Li KF, Lok KH, Lai L, Ng CH, Li KK, et al. Ten-year review of epidemiology, clinical features, and treatment outcome of achalasia in a regional hospital in Hong Kong. Hong Kong Med J. 2010;16:362–6.
- Eckardt VF, Aignherr C, Bernhard G. Predictors of outcome in patients with achalasia treated by pneumatic dilation. Gastroenterology. 1992;103:1732–8.
- 27. Taft TH, Carlson DA, Triggs J, Craft J, Starkey K, Yadlapati R, et al. Evaluating the reliability and construct validity of the Eckardt symptom score as a measure of achalasia severity. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2018;30:e13287.
- 28. Lee JY, Kim N, Kim SE, Choi YJ, Kang KK, Oh DH, et al. Clinical characteristics and treatment outcomes of 3 subtypes of achalasia according to the Chicago classification in a tertiary institute in Korea. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2013;19:485–94.
- Kahrilas PJ, Ghosh SK, Pandolfino JE. Esophageal motility disorders in terms of pressure topography: the Chicago Classification. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2008;42:627–35.
- Pandolfino JE, Kwiatek MA, Nealis T, Bulsiewicz W, Post J, Kahrilas PJ. Achalasia: a new clinically relevant classification by high-resolution manometry. Gastroenterology. 2008;135:1526–33.
- Jung HK, Hong SJ, Lee OY, Pandolfino J, Park H, Miwa H, et al. 2019 Seoul consensus on esophageal achalasia guidelines. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2020;26:180–203.
- Youn YH, Minami H, Chiu PW, Park H. Peroral endoscopic myotomy for treating achalasia and esophageal motility disorders. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;22:14–24.
- Inoue H, Minami H, Kobayashi Y, Sato Y, Kaga M, Suzuki M, et al. Peroral endoscopic myotomy (POEM) for esophageal achalasia. Endoscopy. 2010;42:265–71.
- Akintoye E, Kumar N, Obaitan I, Alayo QA, Thompson CC. Peroral endoscopic myotomy: a metaanalysis. Endoscopy. 2016;48:1059–68.
- 35. Li QL, Wu QN, Zhang XC, Xu MD, Zhang W, Chen SY, et al. Outcomes of per-oral endoscopic myotomy for treatment of esophageal achalasia with a median follow-up of 49 months. Gastrointest Endosc. 2018;87:1405–12.e3.
- 36. de Pascale S, Repici A, Puccetti F, Carlani E, Rosati R, Fumagalli U. Peroral endoscopic myotomy versus surgical myotomy for primary achalasia: single-center, retrospective analysis of 74 patients. Dis Esophagus. 2017;30:1–7.
- 37. Campagna RAJ, Cirera A, Holmstrom AL, Triggs JR, Teitelbaum EN, Carlson DA, et al. Outcomes of 100 patients more than 4 years after POEM for achalasia. Ann Surg. 2021;273:1135–40.
- McKay SC, Dunst CM, Sharata AM, Fletcher R, Reavis KM, Bradley DD, et al. POEM: clinical out-

comes beyond 5 years. Surg Endosc. 2021. doi:https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00464-020-08031-3.

- Roman S, Kahrilas PJ. Management of spastic disorders of the esophagus. Gastroenterol Clin N Am. 2013;42:27–43.
- Khalaf M, Chowdhary S, Elias PS, Castell D. Distal esophageal spasm: a review. Am J Med. 2018;131:1034–40.
- Roman S, Kahrilas PJ. Distal esophageal spasm. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2015;31:328–33.
- Clément M, Zhu WJ, Neshkova E, Bouin M. Jackhammer esophagus: from manometric diagnosis to clinical presentation. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;2019:5036160.
- 43. Philonenko S, Roman S, Zerbib F, Gourcerol G, Gault N, Ropert A, et al. Jackhammer esophagus: clinical presentation, manometric diagnosis, and therapeutic results results from a multicenter French cohort. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2020;32:e13918.
- 44. Csendes A, Braghetto I, Henríquez A, Cortés C. Late results of a prospective randomised study comparing forceful dilatation and oesophagomyotomy in patients with achalasia. Gut. 1989;30:299–304.
- Enestvedt BK, Williams JL, Sonnenberg A. Epidemiology and practice patterns of achalasia in a large multi-centre database. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;33:1209–14.
- 46. O'Neill OM, Johnston BT, Coleman HG. Achalasia: a review of clinical diagnosis, epidemiology, treatment and outcomes. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19:5806–12.
- Tutuian R, Mainie I, Agrawal A, Gideon RM, Katz PO, Castell DO. Symptom and function heterogenicity among patients with distal esophageal spasm: studies using combined impedance-manometry. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101:464–9.
- Almansa C, Heckman MG, DeVault KR, Bouras E, Achem SR. Esophageal spasm: demographic, clinical, radiographic, and manometric features in 108 patients. Dis Esophagus. 2012;25:214–21.
- 49. Wahba G, Bouin M. Jackhammer esophagus: a metaanalysis of patient demographics, disease presentation, high-resolution manometry data, and treatment outcomes. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2020;32:e13870.
- Tsuboi K, Omura N, Yano F, Hoshino M, Yamamoto SR, Akimoto S, et al. Gender differences in both the pathology and surgical outcome of patients with esophageal achalasia. Surg Endosc. 2016;30:5465–71.
- Mikaeli J, Farrokhi F, Bishehsari F, Mahdavinia M, Malekzadeh R. Gender effect on clinical features of achalasia: a prospective study. BMC Gastroenterol. 2006;6:12.
- Wuller C, Bessell JR, Watson DI. Chest pain before and after laparoscopic cardiomyotomy for achalasia. ANZ J Surg. 2011;81:590–4.
- 53. Xu Y, Ye BX, Wang Y, Bao Y, Chen XS, Tang YR, et al. Sex differences in symptoms, high-resolution manometry values and efficacy of peroral endoscopic myotomy in Chinese patients with achalasia. J Dig Dis. 2020;21:490–7.

- Fellows IW, Ogilvie AL, Atkinson M. Pneumatic dilatation in achalasia. Gut. 1983;24:1020–3.
- Chawla YK, Dilawari JB, Reddy DN, Kataria S. Pneumatic dilatation in achalasia cardia. Indian J Gastroenterol. 1987;6:101–2.
- Barnett JL, Eisenman R, Nostrant TT, Elta GH. Witzel pneumatic dilation for achalasia: safety and long-term efficacy. Gastrointest Endosc. 1990;36:482–5.
- Parkman HP, Reynolds JC, Ouyang A, Rosato EF, Eisenberg JM, Cohen S. Pneumatic dilatation or esophagomyotomy treatment for idiopathic achalasia: clinical outcomes and cost analysis. Dig Dis Sci. 1993;38:75–85.
- Katz PO, Gilbert J, Castell DO. Pneumatic dilatation is effective long-term treatment for achalasia. Dig Dis Sci. 1998;43:1973–7.
- Farhoomand K, Connor JT, Richter JE, Achkar E, Vaezi MF. Predictors of outcome of pneumatic dilation in achalasia. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2004;2:389–94.
- Vantrappen G, Hellemans J, Deloof W, Valembois P, Vandenbroucke J. Treatment of achalasia with pneumatic dilatations. Gut. 1971;12:268–75.
- Rohof WO, Salvador R, Annese V, Bruley des Varannes S, Chaussade S, Costantini M, et al. Outcomes of treatment for achalasia depend on manometric subtype. Gastroenterology. 2013;144:718–25; quiz e13–4.
- Vaezi MF, Baker ME, Achkar E, Richter JE. Timed barium oesophagram: better predictor of long term success after pneumatic dilation in achalasia than symptom assessment. Gut. 2002;50:765–70.
- 63. Vela MF, Richter JE, Khandwala F, Blackstone EH, Wachsberger D, Baker ME, et al. The long-term efficacy of pneumatic dilatation and Heller myotomy for the treatment of achalasia. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2006;4:580–7.

- 64. Boeckxstaens GE, Annese V, des Varannes SB, Chaussade S, Costantini M, Cuttitta A, et al. Pneumatic dilation versus laparoscopic Heller's myotomy for idiopathic achalasia. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:1807–16.
- 65. Moonen A, Annese V, Belmans A, Bredenoord AJ, Bruley des Varannes S, Costantini M, et al. Long-term results of the European achalasia trial: a multicentre randomised controlled trial comparing pneumatic dilation versus laparoscopic Heller myotomy. Gut. 2016;65:732–9.
- 66. Ghoshal UC, Kumar S, Saraswat VA, Aggarwal R, Misra A, Choudhuri G. Long-term follow-up after pneumatic dilation for achalasia cardia: factors associated with treatment failure and recurrence. Am J Gastroenterol. 2004;99:2304–10.
- Eckardt VF, Gockel I, Bernhard G. Pneumatic dilation for achalasia: late results of a prospective follow up investigation. Gut. 2004;53:629–33.
- Richter JE. Update on the management of achalasia: balloons, surgery and drugs. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008;2:435–45.
- 69. Gockel I, Junginger T, Bernhard G, Eckardt VF. Heller myotomy for failed pneumatic dilation in achalasia: how effective is it? Ann Surg. 2004;239:371–7.
- Portale G, Costantini M, Rizzetto C, Guirroli E, Ceolin M, Salvador R, et al. Long-term outcome of laparoscopic Heller-Dor surgery for esophageal achalasia: possible detrimental role of previous endoscopic treatment. J Gastrointest Surg. 2005;9:1332–9.
- Ghoshal UC, Rangan M, Misra A. Pneumatic dilation for achalasia cardia: reduction in lower esophageal sphincter pressure in assessing response and factors associated with recurrence during long-term follow up. Dig Endosc. 2012;24:7–15.


6

Sex Difference of Esophageal Cancer: Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma vs. Esophageal Adenocarcinoma

Nayoung Kim

6.1 Introduction

The effect of sexual disparity on cancer incidence, etiology, and treatment has been relatively overlooked until recently but may be a key component of a precision medicine approach [1]. Large epidemiological studies have demonstrated that sexual differences exist in cancer susceptibility and outcome with males having a higher incidence and poorer outcomes of several tumor types including esophageal cancer (EC) [2, 3]. While some of the differences in cancer incidence may be due to behavioral factors such as smoking and/or hormonal influences [4], it has also been suggested that differential sexbased gene expression signatures [5] and differing immune responses [6] may be important [1]. In addition, the effect of treatment could be different. That is, sexual disparity also affects the pharmacokinetic handling of cytotoxic chemotherapy drugs through differences in body composition [7]. drug metabolizing enzyme expression [8], and drug erythrocyte binding [9] with the data suggesting that higher dose intensities may be achieved in females compared to

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Korea (Republic of) e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr

males. This disease ranks seventh in terms of incidence (572,000 new cases) and sixth in mortality overall (509,000 deaths) [2]. Because EC is characterized by rapid growth and early metastasis, most of cases reported have been advanced at diagnosis thus the prognosis is poor [10]. For instance, the 5-year overall survival rate of EC is only 20% in China [10]. Two most common histopathological cell types are esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (ESCC) (Fig. 6.1e and its endoscopic finding Fig. 6.1b) and esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC) (Fig. 6.1f and its endoscopic finding Fig. 6.1c) in comparison to normal (Fig. 6.1d and its endoscopic finding Fig. 6.1a), and they vary significantly in geographical distribution [11]. Both types of EC are frequent, for instance, 70% in male [10]. In addition, the incidence and mortality are three times higher in male than in female [12] (Figs. 6.2, 6.3). EAC is the more common in Western countries such as the United States (Fig. 6.4a) and Sweden [13] (Fig. 6.4b), and ESCC remains to be the dominant type of EC worldwide, particular in East Asia including China [14], Japan [15], and Taiwan [16] and Korea [17]. The ratio of EAC among esophageal malignancies was as low as 1–4% in Japan [15] and Taiwan [16] and Korea [17]. Furthermore, different histological types of EC have shown different risk factors. An established risk factor for EAC is body fat and that for ESCC is alcohol consumption according

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_6



Fig. 6.1 Endoscopic and histological findings of normal (**a**, **d**), esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (**b**, **e**), and esophageal adenocarcinoma (**c**, **f**), respectively

to a systematic review by the World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research [18]. That is, alcohol intake above 170 g/week significantly increases the risk of ESCC, but not EAC [19]. In case of smoking, it increases risk for both EAC and ESCC [20, 21]. EAC is considered to be an obesity-related disease [21], but the relationship between body mass index (BMI) is mostly limited in Western societies, where overweight or obese population is much higher than in Asian countries [22–24] and where EAC is more common [25, 26]. However, this relationship with BMI in the ESCC is controversial. The striking sex difference (EAC with a male-to-female (M:F) ratio in incidence of up to 9:1 and ESCC 2-3:1) does not seem to be explained by established risk factors, given that the prevalence of the etiological factors and the strengths of associations between these factors and ESCC or EAC risk are similar between the sexes [27]. Sex hormonal factors may play a role in the development of EC, especially EAC; estrogenic exposures may prevent such development, whereas androgens might increase the risk of EAC [27, 28]. In this chapter, epidemiology, pathophysiological characteristics arising from differences in hormonal or other biological parameters, screening, and treatment of EC were reviewed depending on ESCC and EAC.

6.2 Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma

In 2012, EC was the eighth most common form of cancer in incidence and the sixth common cause of death from cancer worldwide, with 456,000 new cases and 400,100 deaths according to the GLOBOCAN 2012 [29]. In 2016, EC became the tenth most common cancer and the sixth leading cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide [30]. In 2018, EC ranks seventh in terms of incidence and sixth in mortality overall, the latter signifying that EC will be responsible for an estimated 1 in every 20 cancer deaths. Its



Fig. 6.2 Bar charts of incidence and mortality age-standardized incidence rates in high/very-high human development index (HDI) regions versus low/medium HDI regions among (**a**) male and (**b**) female in 2018. The 15 most common cancers in the world (W) in 2018 are shown in descending order of the overall age-standardized rate for both sexes combined (Source: GLOBOCAN 2018. Adapted from Bray et al. [2])



Fig. 6.3 Bar chart of region-specific incidence agestandardized rates by sex for cancers of the esophagus in 2018. Rates are shown in descending order of the world

(W) age-standardized rate among men, and the highest national rates among male and female are superimposed (Source: GLOBOCAN 2018. Adapted from Bray et al. [2])

worldwide incidence is believed to be increasing [2]. Age-standardized incidence and mortality rates of EC are the highest in Eastern Asia as well as Southern and Eastern Africa, and around 80% of the cases worldwide occur in less developed regions [29]. Significant disparities exist between sex/genders for the development, progression, and mortality of ESCC, but there is very difference between ESCC and EAC; thus first we introduce the ESCC.

6.2.1 Incidence and Mortality Rate of Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma in the World

The incidence rate of ESCC is highest in Central and South-East Asia, where approximately 80% of all ESCC cases were estimated to have occurred in 2012 [31]. Over half of all new cases of ESCC in the world occur each year in China alone [31, 32]. The incidence of ESCC in male



Fig. 6.4 Incidence trends of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and esophageal adenocarcinoma in the United States (a) and in Sweden (b). Data sources: the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER),

has decreased during the past few decades globally [13]. In female, the incidence has decreased only slightly or stabilized in most regions, but there also appears to be a rise in some countries, including Japan, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, and Switzerland [33]. The incidence of ESCC is substantially higher in rural areas than in urban areas in China and some other Asian populations [34, 35]. In 2011, the incidence of ESCC as well as EAC has shown a male predilection, occurring 3-4 times more commonly in male than female globally [36]. In 2018, approximately 70% of EC cases occur in male, and there was a twofold to threefold difference in incidence and mortality rates between the sexes worldwide (Fig. 6.2) and between regions [2] (Fig. 6.3). Among male, rates are also twofold greater in higher human development index (HDI) countries, with mortality rates ranking fifth in these countries [2] (Fig. 6.2). EC is common in several Eastern and Southern African countries; it was the leading cause of cancer mortality in Kenyan male (Fig. 6.2a), whereas Malawi exhibited the highest incidence rates globally in both male and female [2], suggesting of the difference of environmental factors.



-- Female, esophageal squamous cell carcinoma

SEER 9 registries research data, November 2017 submission; and the Swedish Cancer Registry (adapted from Xie et al. [13])

6.2.1.1 Incidence Rate of Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma in Africa

To gain epidemiological insights into ESCC patterns across the African continent, Middletona et al. conducted a systematic review and metaanalysis of male-to-female of EC agestandardized incidence rates (ASR, world) in Africa according to geography, time, and age at diagnosis [37]. These data showed a consistent male excess in incidence rates overall (1.7; 95%) CI, 1.4–2.0), and in the high-risk Eastern (1.6; 95% CI, 1.4-1.8) and Southern (1.8; 95% CI, 1.5–2.0) African regions [37]. Within the latter two low risk regions, a male excess was not observed [37]. The high degree of heterogeneity in ESCC incidence implies a large fraction of the disease is preventable and directs research enquiries to elucidate early-age exposures among young male in Africa [37]. Interestingly, in the East African ESCC burden is the unusually high number of young (aged <40 years old) patients [38]. Investigating whether a sex difference is evident in these young age groups, and at what age it manifests, will be valuable in pointing to potential contributions of early life exposures and inherited susceptibility [37]. The risk factors have not been under active intervention so far and incidence rates of ESCC is increasing consistently in many Eastern and Southern African countries [37]. A male excess of EC was observed for the majority of countries investigated, including the high incidence regions of Eastern and Southern Africa, where a significant male excess predominated [37]. Estimated regional ratios were 1.6 (95% CI, 1.4–1.8) and 1.8 (95% CI, 1.5–2.0) for Eastern and Southern Africa, respectively [37].

6.2.1.2 Incidence Rate of Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma in South Korea

In contrast to Africa, a decrease in incidence of ESCC has been observed in both developing and developed countries [39, 40]. Similarly, the incidence of ESCC has decreased in Korea for the past 15 years [39] (Fig. 6.5), where histological type of EC is ESCC type (90.2%) in 2013 which is very similar to Africa [39]. This EC incidence data during 1999 to 2013 came from the Korea Central Cancer Registry, covering the entire population reported [39]. The ASR decreased from 8.8 per 100,000 populations in 1999 to 5.9 in 2013 with an annual percent change of 2.6% in male and 2.2% in female [39] (Fig. 6.5). The

same decreasing trends were observed for both male and female with annual percent changes (APCs) in the incidence rates of EC 2.6% and 2.2%, respectively [39] (Fig. 6.5b, c). More than 90% of all EC cases were male and the most frequent was ESCC, constituting 75.5% of all cases in 1999, gradually increasing to 90.2% in 2013 but after excluding unspecified histology cases, the proportion of ESCC was 92.5% in 1999 and 96% in 2013 [39]. In male, the ASRs of all histological types significantly decreased, whereas in female, the ASR of unspecified EC decreased, but that of EC did not change between 1999 and 2013 [39].

6.2.1.3 Mortality Rate of Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma in South Korea

A decrease in mortality of ESCC has been observed in both developing and developed countries [39, 40]. In Korea 5-year relative survival of ESCC improved from 12.1% (1993–1995) to 34.6% (2009–2013) [39]. This significant improvement of 5-year survival rates may be attributable to more effective detection of earlystage disease with the increased proportion of localized and regional cancer compared with that of distant cancer [39]. This is originated from the strategy of the Korean government. Endoscopy



Fig. 6.5 Age-standardized incidence rates of esophageal cancer in (a) total (b) male and (c) female in South Korea (adapted from Shin et al. [39])

or upper gastrointestinal series has been covered from the age from 40 years old biannually for the early detection of gastric cancer by the Korean government, which has been implemented in 2002 as a part of the National Cancer Screening Program (NCSP). Trends of EC according to Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) staging shows that the proportion of patients diagnosed as localized stage increased from 30.1% in 2006–2009 to 33% in 2010–2013 and that of regional stage increased to 37.8% from 32.7%, respectively [39]. Consequently, overall relative survival rate (RSR) markedly improved during the observation period. Overall 5-year RSRs were 12.8% between 1993 and 1995 but increased to 33.4% between 2009 and 2013 [39] (Fig. 6.6). In terms of the tissue type of EC, there was a slight difference. That is, between 1993 and 1995, the 5-RSRs for ESCC and EAC were 12.1% and 15.7%, respectively, but between 2009 and 2013, the former was 34.6% and the latter was 29.6% [39]. When comparing the RSRs by sex, there was a remarkable improvement in RSR of male with ESCC [39] (Fig. 6.6). Improvements in RSR were observed in localized and regional cancer patients diagnosed in 2009–2013 compared with patients diagnosed in 2006–2008 [39] (Fig. 6.6). Particularly, the 5-year survival rate of localized cancer was 49.5% during 2006–2008, and it improved significantly to 58.5% between 2009 and 2013 [39] (Fig. 6.6). Relative excess rates (RER) was 0.72 (95% CI, 0.65–0.80) in localized cancer and 0.88 (95% CI, 0.82–0.95) in regional cancer among patients diagnosed in 2009–2013, compared with those in 2006–2008 [39] (Fig. 6.6). Taken together sex RER was most reduced in male with localized stage [39].

6.2.2 Pathophysiology of Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma

Lower socioeconomic status, as indicated by lower income or education, has consistently been associated with an increased risk of ESCC in studies from both developing and developed



Fig. 6.6 Relative survival rates (%) of 1, 3, and 5 years of patients with esophageal cancer by period of diagnosis according to Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results stage (adapted from Shin et al. [39])

countries [32, 35]. A nationwide case-control study in Sweden also found an approximately fourfold increased risk of ESCC in skilled manual workers compared with professionals, after adjustment for tobacco smoking and alcohol use [41]. Differences in socioeconomic status may contribute to the rural-urban disparity in the incidence of ESCC. Heavy drinking and smoking and their synergistic effects are the major risk factors for ESCC [42]. However, in lower-income countries, such as in parts of Asia and sub-Saharan Africa, the major risk factors for ESCC (which usually comprises over 90% of all EC cases) have yet to be elucidated [2]. In addition, the high-incidence countries in Eastern and Southern Africa have yet to be elucidated, and research is needed to address the role of these factors and other dietary components (e.g., nutritional deficiencies, nitrosamines) [43]. However, it is evident that several potential contributors, e.g., tobacco and alcohol use, are more prevalent among males [44] and fundamentally there is sex hormone difference.

6.2.2.1 Sex Hormone

As ESCC prevalence is higher in male than in female, androgen received more attention than estrogen. In 1985, Kobayashi [45] investigated the effects of sex hormones on the development of ESCC in a rat model. The highest incidence of ESCC was in male rats, followed by female rats treated with testosterone. This fell to 0% in castrated rats treated with estradiol [45]. Female rats with no hormonal manipulation also had low rates (8%) [45]. The authors concluded that ESCC growth is inhibited by estrogen and stimulated by androgens. However, the expression of ARs was not addressed in this study. Matsuoka et al. [46] were the first to detect ARs in a cell line (KSE-1) derived from a male ESCC. The KSE-1 cell line had a binding content of 4.2 fmol/mg protein for the ER and 2.2 fmol/mg of protein for the AR in the cytoplasm [46]. Proliferation of this cell line was suppressed by estrogen and accelerated by testosterone. Ueo et al. [47] characterized ARs and conducted treatment experiments in two ESCC cell lines, KSE-1 and KSE-2. Similar to Matsuoka et al. [46], the proliferation of KSE-1

was increased by dihydrotestosterone (DHT) and decreased by estradiol, although sex hormones had no impact on the growth of KSE-2. Receptor analysis found KSE-1 to be positive for both AR and ER, but KSE-2 was negative for both. In a mouse xenograft model, KSE-1 tumor growth was suppressed by estradiol, whereas no effect was seen in KSE-2. Interestingly, no growthpromoting effect was seen with DHT in either cell line in vivo, which is consistent with the concept of testosterone saturation in the context of prostate cancer [48]. Tanaka et al. [49] further investigated KSE-1 and found that the tumor growth stimulation that occurs with AR activation is mediated by fibroblast growth factor 8 (FGF-8) signaling known as androgen-induced growth factor. Furthermore, Yamashita et al. [50] identified ARs in ESCC specimens from 21 patients. Two tumors were successfully xenografted into male nude mice and cultured as cell lines, and the growth of the cell lines in the presence of sex hormones was assessed. Similar to the other studies, testosterone stimulated growth, whereas estrogen had no impact [50]. Tihan et al. [51] used immunohistochemistry to determine AR expression in ESCC resection specimens. Positive staining for AR was found in 3 of 14 (21%) specimens [51]. No differences in survival were found with respect to AR status, but the study size was small [51]. Yang et al. [52] detected ARs and ERs in ESCC specimens from 31 patients (26 male, 5 female) using a radio-ligand binding assay method. Compared with the normal esophageal tissues, more ARs were detected in the ESCC tissues $(40.56 \pm 18.19 \text{ vs.})$ 7.84 ± 3.21 fmol/mg) [52]. The expression of AR correlated with sex, tumor differentiation, invasion, and the lymph node metastasis status, but not age of the patient or tumor location [52]. The authors concluded that the expression of AR impacts on the biological behavior and prognosis of ESCC [51, 52]. Dietzsch et al. [53] investigated androgen pathways in ESCC arising in South African males by targeting AR mutations which were known to occur in prostate cancer. As in prostate cancer, known AR mutations were associated with increased susceptibility to the disease [53]. It suggested that the mutation in question (a short (GGC)n allele) increases AR activity, which would explain the increased incidence of this cancer in male with this mutation, and also suggested the implication of AR signaling in the pathogenesis of the disease, at least in some patient populations [53].

6.2.2.2 Alcohol

Alcohol consumption is one of the most important known risk factors for human cancers, and there is convincing evidence that alcohol consumption increases the risk of cancer in the colorectum, female breast, larynx, liver, esophagus, oral cavity, and pharynx [10]. Ethanol from alcoholic beverages is metabolized to acetaldehyde, which was classified as a human carcinogen by the IAARC. Ethanol itself can cause local irritation of the upper GI tract and could stimulate carcinogenesis by DNA methylation. Excess use of alcoholic beverages has been consistently associated with an increased risk of ESCC [13]. The association seems to be stronger in lowerincidence Western countries than in higherincidence Asian countries [32]. Studies from the United States have shown that overconsumption of alcohol is associated with an as high as ninefold increased risk of ESCC and may explain over 70% of all ESCC cases [54, 55]. Studies from Asian populations have reported relative risks of ESCC ranging from 1.6 to 5.3 associated with alcohol consumption [32]. This wide variation in relative risk estimates may be explained by differences in exposure patterns, vulnerability of the study populations, study design, and ability to adjust for confounders [34, 35]. In terms of joint effects of low BMI and alcohol consumption on developing ESCC, our team performed a Korean nationwide population-based cohort study from a total of 264,084 individuals aged 40 years or older, who received healthcare checkups arranged by the national insurance program, between 2003 and 2008 [10]. There were newly diagnosed 278 EC during a median follow-up duration of 7.9 years [10]. Alcohol consumption increased risk for EC in a dose-dependent manner and those who consumed alcohol daily showed a 2.8-fold increase in the risk of EC compared with never drinkers [10]. Heavy alcohol consumption in individuals with underweight increased the risk of developing EC dramatically, suggesting underweight was a risk factor for ESCC. Thus achieving normal range of BMI is important to reduce the risk of ESCC, especially in case of alcoholics [10].

6.2.2.3 Smoking

Tobacco smoking is a major risk factor for ESCC in both developed and developing countries, although the association seems to be stronger in developed populations. A recent meta-analysis of 52 studies revealed an approximately fivefold increased risk of ESCC in current smokers compared with non-smokers in Western countries and a corresponding threefold increased risk in Asia and South America [56]. Over half of all ESCC cases have been estimated to be attributable to tobacco smoking in the United States [54, 57]. The use of tobacco products other than cigarettes may increase the risk of ESCC with a seemingly similar magnitude of association as cigarette use, but more accurate population-specific estimates are warranted before these findings can be established [32]. Compared to individuals who continue tobacco smoking, those who stop smoking have a gradually decreased risk of ESCC over time, and this effect is more pronounced in Western than in Eastern populations [56]. A recent meta-analysis of 41 studies reported a 66% decreased risk of ESCC in individuals who had quit smoking over 20 years ago (odds ratio [OR] 0.34; 95% CI, 0.25-0.47), compared with current smokers [56].

6.2.2.4 Dietary Factors

A large number of studies from all over the world have investigated associations between various dietary factors and ESCC risk. However, existing evidence remains limited to associate ESCC risk with any specific nutrients or food items [13]. This is due to the complexity of dietary assessment, particularly inter-correlations between individual items, and confounding from other risk factors, e.g., tobacco smoking, alcohol use, and socioeconomic status [13]. Numerous studies have reported increased risk of ESCC associated with high intake of pickled vegetables and low intake of fresh fruit and vegetables [32, 58, 59], but evidence from high-quality prospective studies remains largely lacking. The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has concluded that the evidence from humans is "limited" regarding the carcinogenicity of pickled vegetables and the evidence from experimental animals was "inadequate" [60]. The World Cancer Research Fund Continuous Update Project for the esophagus recently concluded that evidence regarding intake of fruit and vegetables and a decreased risk of ESCC is also "limited" [18]. A large randomized intervention trial with 26 years of follow-up in a nutrient-deficient population in China found no benefit of multivitamins supplementation in reducing EC-specific mortality [61]. Consumption of hot food and beverages has been investigated in relation to ESCC risk in over 60 studies [62]. The most recent meta-analysis showed a twofold increased risk of ESCC associated with consumption of hot food or drinks, and the pooled odds ratios were stronger in developing countries (2.80; 95% CI, 2.05-4.02) than in developed countries (1.65; 95% CI, 1.17-2.33) [63]. However, most available studies on this topic have had methodological limitations, i.e., inaccurate exposure assessment, insufficient adjustment for confounders, or recall bias. IARC recently concluded that evidence in humans for carcinogenicity of drinking very hot beverages was "limited" [64]. A recent population-based cohort study of over 450,000 participants in China suggested an increased ESCC risk associated with hot tea consumption, particularly when combined with excess alcohol use and tobacco smoking [65]. Yet, the causality of consumption of hot foods and beverages in relation to the risk of ESCC remains to be confirmed in more large and well-designed prospective studies.

6.2.2.5 Lower Body Mass Index

While most studies have evaluated the association between overweight or obesity and cancer, the impact of underweight on cancer susceptibility has been relatively ignored. In terms with EC, researchers have evaluated mostly smoking tobacco, alcohol drinking, and poor diet (low fresh fruit and vegetable intake) as risk factors for EC rather than BMI. One report showed the evidence for low BMI or leanness as a factor associated with an increased risk of ESCC in Western and Asian populations [66]. In addition, our analysis showed that individuals with a BMI of less than 18.5 kg/m² had a 73% increase in the risk of developing ESCC compared with normal-weight subjects (BMI 18.5-22.9 kg/m²), while individuals with a BMI of greater than 25 kg/m² had a 30% decrease in the risk of developing EC [10]. Poor diet leading to micronutrient deficiencies or malnutrition reflected in low BMI has been implicated as one of the underlying mechanisms explaining higher risk of ESCC [67, 68]. Low BMI can be a good indicator of long-term malnutrition, but specific micronutrients, which may affect the development of EC, need to be discovered. While other studies on the inverse association between BMI and ESCC risk have paid attention to the possible confounding effects of smoking [66, 69–71], our team stratified the amount of alcohol consumption to assess its possible impact on increased risk of ESCC and found the synergistic effect of heavy drinking and underweight on the vulnerability of EC [10]. The carcinogenicity of alcoholic beverages in relation to ESCC may most likely be due to both ethanol itself and acetaldehyde, which is a carcinogen derived from ethanol metabolism [72]. The effects of this may further be amplified by undernutrition, which is usually associated with insufficiency of micronutrients from improper maintenance of antioxidants and immune functions [73–75]. There is evidence of protective effects from diets that are rich in fruits, vegetables, and whole-grain cereals on both ESCC and EAC [59, 76, 77]. When the preventive effect of weight gain on development of EC was evaluated by categorizing subjects according to change of BMI between baseline and at 2- and 4-year health check-up, weight loss was associated with developing of ESCC and weight gain was associated with reduced risk of ESCC [10]. This finding that BMI is inversely associated with the risk of ECmostly ESCC-when restricted to non-smokers is in accordance with the results from two large studies [66-68, 70]. Although current smoking status did not significantly contribute to the inverse relationship between underweight and EC development, there was a higher prevalence of EC among those with lower BMI among smokers [10].

6.2.2.6 Genetics

There are conditions with a genetic basis, such as Tylosis, an autosomal dominant disease, that are clearly related to development the of ESCC. Familial aggregation in population of high incidence of EC, such as northern regions of China, has also been reported [78]. Four genomewide association studies (GWAS), three of them conducted in Chinese population and one in Japanese population, have shown genetic susceptibility factors in the development of ESCC, especially in heavy alcohol and tobacco users. Two nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs, singlenucleotide polymorphisms) deserve special attention because they encode enzymes metabolizing alcohol: alcohol dehydrogenase 1B (rs1229984, OR 1.79) and aldehyde dehydrogenase 2 family (rs671, OR 1.67) [79]. Other GWAS found association at two loci, one located in the enzyme phospholipase C and another in a particular region of chromosome 20 (C20orf54) [80]. Regarding association with ESCC, a GWAS dataset that included 453,852 SNPs from 1898 ESCC patients and 2100 control subjects of Chinese population was reviewed [81]. The authors identified candidate causal SNPs, and pathway (ICSNPathway) analysis identified seven candidate SNPs, five genes, and seven pathways, which together revealed seven hypothetical biological mechanisms [81]. The three strongest hypothetical biological mechanisms were rs4135113, rs1800450, and rs3769823 [81].

6.3 Esophageal Adenocarcinoma

The incidence of EAC has increased rapidly during the past four decades in many Western populations, including North America and Europe [27]. The established etiological factors for EAC include gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) with Barrett's esophagus (BE) and obesity, *H. pylori* infection, tobacco smoking, and consumption of fruit and vegetables. Strangely there is a marked male predominance of EAC with a male (M):female (F) incidence ratio in incidence of up to 9:1. The striking sex difference does not seem to be explained by established risk factors, given that the prevalence of the etiological factors and the strengths of associations between these factors and EAC risk are similar between the sexes [27]. Instead sex hormonal factors may play a role in the development of EAC; estrogenic exposures may prevent such development, whereas androgens might increase the risk of EAC [28]. However, continuing research efforts are still needed to fully understand the reasons for the male predominance of EAC.

6.3.1 Incidence and Mortality Rate of Esophageal Adenocarcinoma in the World

The past four decades have witnessed a markedly increasing incidence of EAC in Western regions, including Europe, Northern America, and Australia, and the incidence of EAC has surpassed that of ESCC in many Western countries [82–84]. The incidence of EAC is substantially higher in whites than in other races in the United States [85]. EAC has a striking male predominance in incidence, with a M:F incidence ratio of 6-to-1 in general and as high as 8-to-1 in some populations, e.g., in the Unites States [27, 83] (Fig. 6.4a). In addition, M:F ratios are ranging from 5:1 in France, 6:1 in Australia and Sweden, and 10:1 in the United Kingdom [86-88]. The geographic distribution of EAC shows that among 52,000 new cases of EAC (41,000 in male and 11,000 in female) worldwide in 2012, a total of 12,000 (22.8%) occurred in Europe and 11,100 (21.2%) in North America [31]. In addition, an analysis of the SEER Registry in the United States confirmed a significant rise in EAC among males and a slower rise in females from 1973 to 2008, with an overall M:F ratio of 7.66 [88].

Mathieu et al. [88] analyzed the EC incidence trends by histology and sex from 1973 to 2008 in nine population-based cancer registries of SEER 9 Registry Database in the United States. When they used age as a proxy for estrogen exposure in females, the collective age groups annual percentage change in EAC for females was positive (0.03%, 95% CI, 0.02–0.03%) during the study period [88] (Fig. 6.7a). Interestingly, the EAC annual percentage change in incidence rates for females during the same time period was significantly negative from ages 50-54 to ages 60-64 [88] (Fig. 6.7b). Even though the incidence of EAC rises in both males and females, the maleto-female ratio across age peaks in the 50-54 years then decreased [88] (Fig. 6.7c). Furthermore, the EAC age-adjusted incidence rate in post-menopausal females age 80 and above increased with age unlike their male counterparts [88] (Fig. 6.7c). Taken together, these data support the hypothesis that the endocrine milieu in pre- and peri-menopausal females serves as a protective factor against EAC, and with loss of estrogen or due to the increasing time period away from estrogen exposure, the rate of EAC incidence increases in the older postmenopausal female.

The prognosis in patients with EAC is worse than that for most other types of tumors, with the overall 5-year survival lower than 15% [27]. A noteworthy sex difference in prognosis among patients with EC has been consistently shown. Female patients have longer survival than male patents, which might be explained by the differences in extrinsic risk factors for mortality or possibly sex itself [89–91]. However, the sex difference in survival was apparent only in ESCC instead of EAC in a large register-based study in the United States [89]. A large pooled analysis using prospective randomized trial data showed sex difference in the treatment and prognosis [1]; 3265 patients were included for survival analysis (2668 [82%] male, 597 [18%] female; 2627 (80%) < 70 years, 638 (20%) > 70 years) [1]. A significant improvement in overall survival (OS) (HR 0.78; p < 0.001) and disease-specific survival (DSS) (HR 0.78; p < 0.001) was observed in females compared with males. However, no significant differences in OS (HR 1.11; p < 0.045) or DSS (HR 1.01; p < 0.821) were observed in older patients compared with younger patients [1]. For patients who underwent resection, older patients (15% vs. 10%; p < 0.03) and female patients (14% vs. 10%, p < 0.10) were more likely to achieve favorable Mandard TRG scores [1]. The role of sex itself in the prognosis of EAC still needs to be verified in further independent studies, considering the lack of information on important possible confounders in previous studies.

6.3.2 Pathophysiology of Esophageal Adenocarcinoma

EAC represents the majority of EC cases in highincome countries, with excess body weight and GERD among the key risk factors [42]. The established etiological factors for EAC include gastroesophageal reflux-related BE and obesity, decrease of H. pylori infection, tobacco smoking, and consumption of fruit and vegetables. A marked male predominance of EAC with a M:F ratio in incidence of up to 9:1 may be partly explained by both extrinsic and intrinsic exposures that are differentially distributed between the sexes or more harmful in male than in female. However, this sex difference does not seem to be explained by established risk factors alone, given that the prevalence of the etiological factors and the strengths of associations between these factors and EAC risk are similar between the sexes. Recent molecular evidence suggests hormonal factors. That is, the preventive effect of estrogen and provoking mechanism of androgens are helpful to explain this sex difference of EAC.

6.3.2.1 Sex Hormone

The male predominance in EAC may be caused by a delayed development of, on average, 16 years in female compared with male [92], suggesting a protective role of sex hormones and reproductive factors in the development of EAC. The hypothesis of sex hormonal influence in the etiology of EAC has been tested in patients diagnosed with sex hormone-related cancers, namely, breast and prostate cancers. If sex hormones play a role in the development of EAC, an altered risk of EAC might be evident among



Fig. 6.7 The different incidence of esophageal adenocarcinoma depending on sex. (a) Esophageal adenocarcinoma annual percentage change (APC) versus year by sex. (b) Incidence rates (per 100,000) of esophageal adenocarcinoma listed across age groups by sex. Mean and 95% CI were generated from Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) 9 database and indicated via

points with error bar spread. (c) Black solid line (all races) and blue solid line (white only) indicates the predicted value of male-to-female incidence ratio by age after fitting regression models with joint point approach on all races of esophageal adenocarcinoma patients. Fitted slopes with 95% CI were indicated next to the lines (adapted from Mathieu et al. [88])

patients who receive long-term sex hormonal therapy. No significantly increased risk of EAC has been observed in patients with breast cancer using adjuvant antiestrogen tamoxifen therapy [93–96]. Interestingly, however, two registerbased studies have found a decreased risk of EAC in patients with prostate cancer who might have received anti-androgenic treatment [97, 98] although an earlier study did not [99]. Sex hormones exert their biologic effects through the ligation to nuclear receptors (i.e., the estrogen receptors alpha [ER α] and beta [ER β] and the androgen receptors [ARs]). These sex steroid hormones, predominantly estrogens in female and androgens in male, demonstrate sex/genderspecific concentration profiles [28]. These hormones regulate cell growth and behavior via a variety of estrogen and androgen receptor subtypes which are distributed widely throughout normal and abnormal human tissues, including cancers. The role of sex hormones in the development of prostate and breast cancers is well known [100, 101]. ARs are also widely expressed in human tissues and have been identified in EC [50, 51, 102–104]. Furthermore, circulating testosterone and DHT were higher in patients who develop BE, the precursor lesion for EAC, even after controlling age, BMI, and GERD symptoms. Regarding estrogens ERa is predominantly expressed in female sex organs, such as the breast, uterus, and ovaries, and is responsible for estrogen-reduced mitogenic signaling in epithelial cells in these organs [105]. In contrast, $ER\beta$ exists not only in sex organs but also in a wide range of organs in both sexes [106] and has been found to be expressed in EAC tissues and adjacent normal esophageal mucosa [107, 108]. Previous studies have shown decreased $ER\beta$ expression in various cancer tissues as compared with benign tumors or normal tissues [109]. Possible mechanisms of the inhibition of ER β on EAC include induction of cell cycle and growth arrest and initiating apoptosis in cancer cells through ER ligands [110]. The expression of ARs has also been confirmed in EAC tissue [51, 103], and possible mechanisms for androgens/AR involvement in the regulation of esophageal cancer growth are considered. In addition androgen may induce overexpression of fibroblast growth factors or members of their receptors, which have an important role in hormone-dependent malignancies [103]. Biological actions of androgens and testosterone-activated extra-nuclear signaling pathways [28] are similar to the ER β pathway. That is, testosterone molecules translocate via the plasma membrane and are transformed into DHT by 5α -reductase [28]. Then DHT binds to the AR and heat shock protein (HSP) is then released. Ligand-AR complexes can be phosphorylated (and/or are modified by other posttranslational mechanisms) and these ligand-AR complexes form homodimers and move into the nucleus [28]. In the cell nucleus ligand-AR complexes bind to specific DNA elements-androgenresponsive elements (ARE), which are in target gene promoters. A large variety of co-factors and regulators can orchestrate AR-induced gene transcription. Testosterone binds to undefined membrane-associated androgen receptor(s) (mAR) that might transduce signaling downstream to phospholipase C (PLC) [28]. Activation of PLC produces several second messengers including Ins(1,4,5)P3 (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG). Ca²⁺ influx then leads to an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺. In addition, testosterone binds to the membrane-associated receptor, which associates with and activates Src kinase [28].

The levels of all androgens increase at puberty and peak during adolescence and then gradually decrease with age [111]. Androgen deficiency in aging males associated hormonal changes are gradual, with bioavailable testosterone levels declining 2-3% annually from approximately 30 years of age [112, 113]. There is at least a tenfold difference in testosterone levels between males and females of reproductive age [28]. The plasma concentration of the hormone in males is between 10 and 35 nmol/L and in females is 0.7-2 nmol/L [114]. The SEER dataset has shown a peak sex ratio of 11:1 in favor of males in the 50-54 years age bracket, but falling to 4:1 in the 75-79 year age group [88]. Furthermore, in vitro evidence from cell culture work and subsequent testing in murine models suggests a significant influence of sex hormones upon cancer growth and that this effect is consistent with expression patterns of the receptors. However, the identification of ARs in human tissue specimens has been less straightforward, with expression reported by some authors, but not by others [28]. While androgens and their receptors probably do play a role in the carcinogenesis of EC, more work is required to evaluate this role and to understand their contribution to the genesis of EC [28]. Although therapeutic implications and novel therapies are desirable, there is currently insufficient evidence to support a clinical trial of androgen deprivation therapy in this cancer [28].

6.3.2.2 Reflux Esophagitis and Barrett's Esophagus

The prevalence of GERD in the Western population is about 10-20% and about 30-60 million people in the United States. This entity is capable of producing EAC directly or, more commonly, through an intermediate pre-neoplastic lesion, BE. The increased incidence of BE in the last 30 years is correlated with an increased incidence of EAC in the same period. BE is a pre-malignant lesion that develops in 6-14% of patients with GERD and of which, around 0.5-1% will develop adenocarcinoma [78]. In a study performed in Spain, the incidence of adenocarcinoma during follow-up of patients with BE was 0.48% per year (95% CI, 0.006–2.62%), for an incidence of 1 per 210 patient-years [115]. The largest study is a nationwide, population-based, cohort study conducted in Denmark, involving all patients with BE during the period from 1992 through 2009, using data from the Danish Pathology Registry and the Danish Cancer Registry [116]. The study included 11,028 patients with BE for a median of 5.2 years [116]. The incidence rate for EAC was 1.2 cases per 1000 person-years (95% CI, 0.9-1.5) [116]. As compared with the risk in the general population, the RR of EAC among patients with BE was 11.3 (95% CI, 8.8-14.4) and the annual risk of EAC was 0.12% (95% CI, 0.09–0.15) [116]. Current surveillance guidelines assume a risk for EAC of 0.5–1%, far from the results obtained in

this study. Detection of low-grade dysplasia was associated with an incidence rate for EAC of 5.1 cases per 1000 person-years compared to 1.0 case per 1000 person-years among patients without dysplasia. These data question the rationale for ongoing surveillance in patients who have BE without dysplasia [116]. A male-predominant sex bias including reflux esophagitis (RE), BE, and EAC allude to sex/gender differences in the vulnerability or resistance of the esophageal epithelium to caustic compounds of gastroduodenal contents [88, 117]. Decreased estrogen after menopause might be related with the raise in the incidence and severity of RE [117]. The esophageal barrier function is important for the protection against reflux substance in RE [118–120]. Chronic exposure to gastric acid and other intraesophageal materials such as bile and alcohol can disrupt the esophageal barrier function [120, 121]. Reduced levels of 17β-estradiol due to aging, especially during women's menopause, can potentially increase epithelial permeability and microbial translocation [119]. Recent studies suggested that estrogen can increase esophageal mucosal resistance by upregulating the expression of esophageal tight junction protein such as occludin. Such mechanism of estrogen might explain the male predominance of RE [120–122]. Honda et al. [120] have conducted an animal study to identify the role of estrogen treatment on esophageal epithelial barrier function and found that 17β-estradiol administration reduced the dilation of the intercellular space caused by luminal irritants. Moreover, 17β -estradiol administration increased the expression of occludin [120]. Adhesion between esophageal neighboring cells could be enhanced by estrogen which can potentiate the expression of the integral tight junction protein [122]. Lack of these protective effects of estrogen in male could possibly explain the higher prevalence of RE in male than female [120]. Close relation between female's reproductive hormone and the severity and prevalence of RE have been reported [123]. During postmenopausal period, the prevalence of GERD spectrum has raised rapidly. However, it is lower than that in male during the reproductive age [124].

6.3.2.3 Obesity

Obesity is a major and consistent risk factor for the development of EAC. It has become a serious public-related disease in developed countries. By 2015, an estimated 75% of the American people will be overweight (BMI > 25) and 41% obese (BMI > 30). The OR of developing adenocarcinoma is 1.52 (95% CI, 1.33–1.74; *p* < 0.0001) for those with BMI in the 25-30 rank compared with those who have normal weight. A high BMI (>25) was associated with an increased risk of EAC (males, OR 2.2; 95% CI, 1.7-2.7; females, OR 2.0; 95% CI, 1.4–2.9) [125]. Higher levels of BMI were associated with increased risk of EAC (overweight males, OR 1.8; 95% CI, 1.5-2.2; obese males, OR 2.4; 95% CI, 1.9-3.2) [126]. Two main mechanisms have been proposed for the development of EAC in obese patients. First, obesity is a risk factor for increasing the incidence of RE, and second obesity provokes a hormonal dependent mechanism which is mainly mediated by inflammatory markers secreted from adipocytes [78]. In several high-income countries (e.g., the United States, Australia, France, and the United Kingdom), incidence rates of EAC are rising rapidly in part because of increased obesity and waist circumference [127].

6.3.2.4 Smoking and Alcohol

Alcohol is not related to the presence of EAC, but smoking tobacco is a known risk factor, with an OR of 2.7 (95% CI, 1.64-4.45) relative to nonsmokers [128]. Tobacco smoking is associated with an increased risk of EAC in both sexes, but these associations are weaker than the associations with ESCC [13, 79] (Table 6.1). A pooled analysis of 12 population-based studies found an approximately twofold increased OAC risk in ever smokers compared with non-smokers with an exposure-response pattern in terms of increasing pack-years [129]. Smoking cessation has been associated with a slight reduction of EAC risk. A recent meta-analysis of 23 studies revealed that compared to never-smokers, the risk estimates of EAC were only slightly weaker in former smokers (relative risk [RR] 1.60; 95% CI, 1.48–1.85) than in current smokers (RR 2.34; 95% CI, 2.04-2.69), and a risk reduction was seen only in participants who had stopped smoking over 20 years ago (RR 0.72; 95% CI, 0.52-1.01) [56].

6.3.2.5 Nutritional Factor

In a Swedish population study, an inverse relationship was found between intake of total dietary fiber and the presence of adenocarcinoma of the gastroesophageal junction [79]. Similarly, in a US case-control study, it was found that a diet rich in vitamins, fruits, and vegetables protect against the development of this disease [78]. However, in general evidence regarding dietary factors influencing EAC risk remains inconclu-

Table 6.1 Risk factors of squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma of esophagus (adapted from Arnal et al. [79])

	*	
Risk factor	Squamous cell carcinoma	Adenocarcinoma
Geography	Southeastern Africa, Asia, Iran, South	Western Europe, North America (United
	America	States), Australia
Race	Black > white	White > black
Gender	Male > female	Male > female
Alcohol	++++	-
Tobacco	++++	++
Obesity	-	+++
GERD	-	++++
Diet: low fruits and	++	+
vegetables		
Socioeconomic	++	-
conditions		
Genetic aspects	++	+

GERD gastroesophageal reflux disease, + associated risk, - no risk associated

sive. Studies have revealed a decreased risk of EAC associated with higher intake of fruit and vegetables, dietary fibers, and some dietary supplements, i.e., β -carotene and vitamins C and E [130]. However, the World Cancer Research Fund Continuous Update Project for EC, which was based on findings from cohort studies only, recently concluded that no dietary aspect had strong evidence for an association with EAC risk, except for limited evidence of a reduced EAC risk associated with vegetable intake [18].

6.3.2.6 Drugs

Observational studies with a large number of patients showed that the use of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), proton pump inhibitors (PPIs), and statins in patients with BE reduced the progression to adenocarcinoma [78]. The most studied agents have been acid suppressants. Our team also reported frequent regression of BE by PPI treatment which was supported by the immunohistochemical detection of mucin phenotype, grade of specialized intestinal metaplasia (SIM), Ki67, and CDX2 expression in Barrett's mucosa [131]. A systematic review with meta-analysis of studies evaluating the association between PPIs and histamine receptor antagonists (H2RAs) and risk of EAC or high-grade dysplasia (HGD) in patients with BE has been recently published [78]. The authors identified seven observational studies (2813 patients with BE, 317 cases of EAC or HGD, 84.4% PPI users). On meta-analysis, PPI use was associated with a 71% reduction in risk of EAC and/or HGD in patients with BE (adjusted OR 0.29; 95% CI, 0.12-0.79) [78]. There was a trend toward a doseresponse relationship with PPI use for >2-3 years protective against EAC or HGD (three studies; PPI use >2-3 years vs. <2-3 years: OR 0.45; 95% CI, 0.19-1.06 vs. OR 1.09; 95% CI, 0.47-2.56), but considerable heterogeneity was observed [78]. Two studies reported the association between H2RA use and risk of EAC and/or HGD (1352 patients with BE, 156 cases of EAC, 25.4% on H2RAs), but they did not show a significant effect [132]. The largest study was published short after and challenged these results. In

such nationwide case-control study carried out in Denmark, no cancer-protective effects from PPIs were seen [133]. In fact, among 9883 patients with a new diagnosis of BE, the authors identified 140 cases with incident EAC and/or HGD, with a median follow-up time of 10.2 years [133]. The relative risk of EAC or HGD was 2.2 (95% CI, 0.7–6.7) and 3.4 (95% CI, 1.1–10.5) in long-term low and high adherence PPI users, respectively [133]. Such results could partly be due to confounding by indication or a true negative effect from PPIs. Based on these results, continuous PPI therapy might not be necessary in all patients with BE to prevent the progression to EAC and could be directed at symptom control [133].

6.3.2.7 Genetics

Although the rapidly increasing incidence of EAC in Western populations does not indicate a prominent role of genetic factors in the etiology of EAC, it has been estimated that up to one third of EAC cases may be attributable to a combination of germline mutations [134]. GWAS have identified a number of genetic variants associated with an altered risk of EAC or BE, including those which may be associated with embryonic development of the esophagus, oncogenic activity, and body fat regulation [135-140]. However, the associations with individual SNPs have been modest with no more than a 20% increase in EAC risk [13]. The most significant results were not only for cancer but also for pre-cancer BE, suggesting that much of the genetic basis for EAC lies in the development of BE, rather than its to EAC [79]. They found three novel genome-wide significant loci for EAC and BE combined and extended existing findings at the FOXF1 and HLA loci. One of the novel regions is chromosome 3p13, near FOXP1, a gene encoding a transcription factor, which regulates esophageal development [80]. Interestingly, two of the other regions (BARX1/9q22.32 and FOXF1/16q24.1) contain risk-associated SNPs which disrupt binding of FOXP1 [79]. Further dissection of these loci is likely to lead to insights into the etiology of this rapidly fatal cancer [79, 136] (Table 6.1).

6.3.3 The Effect of Hormone Replacement Therapy on the Esophageal Adenocarcinoma and Its Prognosis Defending on Age and Sex

Several studies observed moderately reduced risk estimates associated with the use of hormone replacement therapy in postmenopausal women, and a recent meta-analysis based on five observational studies found a 25% decreased risk of EAC in postmenopausal women compared with nonusers (RR 0.75; 95% CI, 0.58-0.98) [141]. However, none of the previous studies supported a reduced risk of EAC associated with use of oral contraceptives [142–144]. Recent studies also suggest a decreased risk of EAC associated with higher intake of dietary phytoestrogens, including lignans, quercetin, resveratrol, and flavonoids [145-147]. These findings indicate a potential useful role of chemoprevention of EAC if the sex hormone hypothesis could be further confirmed [27].

A large pooled analysis using prospective randomized trial data showed sex difference in the treatment and prognosis [1]; 3265 patients were included for survival analysis (2668 [82%] male, 597 [18%] female; 2627 (80%) < 70 years, 638 (20%) > 70 years) [1]. A significant improvement in overall survival (OS) (HR 0.78; p < 0.001) and disease-specific survival (DSS) (HR 0.78; p < 0.001) was observed in females compared with males [1]. No significant differences in OS (HR 1.11; p < 0.045) or DSS (HR 1.01; p < 0.821)were observed in older patients compared with younger patients [1]. For patients who underwent resection, older patients (15% vs. 10%; p < 0.03) and female patients (14% vs. 10%, p < 0.10) were more likely to achieve favorable Mandard TRG scores [1]. Actually EAC are predominantly a disease of older age with more than half of new cancers each year being diagnosed in people aged older than 75 years in the United Kingdom [148, 149]. However, there is usually discrepancy in the use of treatment options compared with younger patients, and outcomes are generally poorer for older patients [150, 151]. The attribution of effects is complicated however by the increased impact of comorbidities in the elderly population, making it difficult to ascertain the reason for poorer outcomes in this patient group outside of clinical trials [1]. Similar to the differences in drug handling observed between males and females, pharmacokinetic factors such as changes in body composition, reduced hepatic capacity, and reduced renal perfusion [152] can also vary with increasing age, regardless of comorbidities, and may influence drug distribution, metabolism, and clearance. During chemotherapy, females experienced significantly more grade III nausea (10% vs. 5%; p < 0.001), vomiting (10% vs. 4%; p < 0.001), and diarrhea (9%) vs. 4%; p < 0.001) than males, suggesting that females had significantly improved survival while experiencing more gastrointestinal toxicities [1].

6.4 Conclusions

EC shows striking sex difference with males having a higher incidence and poorer outcomes, while some of the differences in cancer incidence may be due to behavioral factors such as smoking and/ or hormonal influences. ESCC is still the most common histological type in the world and the highest incidence are found in Africa and the Middle East. There has been a shift from ESCC to EAC in fundamental areas of Europe such as Norway and the United Kingdom, in the United States, and in Australia. The reasons for the strong male predominance in EAC remain to be explained, but recent molecular evidence suggests the role of sex hormones. That is, estrogen has preventive effect and androgens provoke EAC, explaining this sex difference of EAC. Furthermore, the risk factors for ESCC and EAC are different. That is, tobacco smoking and excessive alcohol use are the main established risk factors for ESCC, particularly in Western populations, while tobacco smoking only moderately increases the risk of EAC and alcohol does not influence this risk of EAC. Smoking cessation substantially reduces the risk of ESCC but has only a limited effect in the prevention of EAC. GERD and obesity are the main risk factors for EAC, and anti-reflux therapy seems to prevent EAC in the long term. Dietary factors may influence the risk of EC, particularly fruit and vegetables, but existing evidence remains limited. Genetic factors may have limited influence on the risk of developing EC. More research efforts should be made for a better understanding of the etiology of EC in terms of sex/gender difference to support evidence-based prevention of this deadly cancer in both the developed and developing parts of the world.

References

- Athauda A, Nankivell M, Langley RE, Alderson D, Allum W, Grabsch HI, et al. Impact of sex and age on chemotherapy efficacy, toxicity and survival in localised oesophagogastric cancer: a pooled analysis of 3265 individual patient data from four large randomised trials (OE02, OE05, MAGIC and ST03). Euro J Cancer. 2020;137:45–56.
- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68:394–424.
- Radkiewicz C, Johansson ALV, Dickman PW, Lambe M, Edgren G. Sex differences in cancer risk and survival: a Swedish cohort study. Eur J Cancer. 2017;84:130–40.
- Camargo M, Goto Y, Zabaleta J, Morgan D, Correa P, Rabkin C. Sex hormones, hormonal interventions, and gastric cancer risk: a meta-analysis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2012;21:20–38.
- 5. Yuan Y, Liu L, Chen H, Wang Y, Xu Y, Mao H, et al. Comprehensive characterization of molecular differences in cancer between male and female patients. Cancer Cell. 2016;29:711–22.
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL. Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2016;16:626–38.
- Prado CMM, Baracos V, McCargar LJ, Mourtzakis M, Mulder KE, Reiman T, et al. Body composition as an independent determinant of 5-fluorouracilbased chemotherapy toxicity. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13:3264–8.
- Hunt CM, Westerkam WR, Stave GM. Effect of age and gender on the activity of human hepatic CYP3A. Biochem Pharmacol. 1992;44:275–83.
- Schrijvers D. Role of red blood cells in pharmacokinetics of chemotherapeutic agents. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2003;42:779–91.
- Choi YJ, Lee DH, Han K, Yoon H, Shin CM, Park YS, et al. Joint effects of low body mass index and alcohol consumption on developing esopha-

geal squamous cell cancer: a Korean nationwide population-based cohort study. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2017;18:1881–7.

- Hongo M, Nagasaki Y, Shoji T. Epidemiology of esophageal cancer: orient to occident. Effects of chronology, geography and ethnicity. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2009;24:729–35.
- al-Sarraf M, Martz K, Herskovic A, Leichman L, Brindle JS, Vaitkevicius VK, et al. Progress report of combined chemoradiotherapy versus radiotherapy alone in patients with esophageal cancer: an intergroup study. J Clin Oncol. 1997;15:277–84.
- Xie SH, Lagergren J. Risk factors for oesophageal cancer. Beat Prac Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2018;36–37:3–8.
- Corley DA, Buffler PA. Esophageal and gastric cardia adenocarcinomas: analysis of regional variation using the cancer incidence in five continents database. Int J Epidemiol. 2001;30:1415–25.
- Shibata A, Matsuda T, Ajiki W, Sobue T. Trend in incidence of adenocarcinoma of the esophagus in Japan, 1993–2001. Jap J Clin Oncol. 2008;38:464–8.
- Chang S-S, Lu C-L, Chao J-Y, Chao Y, Yen S-H, Wang S-S, et al. Unchanging trend of adenocarcinoma of the esophagus and gastric cardia in Taiwan: a 15-year experience in a single center. Dig Dis Sci. 2002;47:735–40.
- Son JI, Park HJ, Song KS, Kim KJ, Lee CY, Lee SI, et al. A single center's 30 years' experience of esophageal adenocarcinoma. Korean J Int Med. 2001;16:250–3.
- World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research. Diet, nutrition, physical activity and oesophageal cancer. In: Continuous Update Project Expert Report 2018. 2018. dietandcancerreport.org. Accessed 18 Aug 2021.
- Pandeya N, Williams G, Green AC, Webb PM, Whiteman DC, Australian Cancer Study. Alcohol consumption and the risks of adenocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma of the esophagus. Gastroenterology. 2009;136:1215–24.
- Stoner GD, Gupta A. Etiology and chemoprevention of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Carcinogenesis. 2001;22:1737–46.
- Enzinger PC, Mayer RJ. Esophageal cancer. New Engl J Med. 2003;349:2241–52.
- 22. World Health Organization. Regional Office for the Western Pacific. The Asia-Pacific perspective : redefining obesity and its treatment. Sydney: Health Communications Australia. 2000. https://apps.who. int/iris/handle/10665/206936. Accessed 18 Aug 2021.
- 23. Kim NH, Lee J, Kim TJ, Kim NH, Choi KM, Baik SH, et al. Body mass index and mortality in the general population and in subjects with chronic disease in Korea: a nationwide cohort study (2002–2010). PLoS One. 2015;10:e0139924.
- 24. Yang HK, Han K, Kwon H-S, Park Y-M, Cho J-H, Yoon K-H, et al. Obesity, metabolic health, and mortality in adults: a nationwide population-based study in Korea. Sci Rep. 2016;6:30329.

- Bollschweiler E, Wolfgarten E, Gutschow C, Hölscher AH. Demographic variations in the rising incidence of esophageal adenocarcinoma in white males. Cancer. 2001;92:549–55.
- Shiwaku K, Anuurad E, Enkhmaa B, Kitajima K, Yamane Y. Appropriate BMI for Asian populations. Lancet. 2004;363:1077.
- Xie SH, Lagergren J. The male predominance in esophageal adenocarcinoma. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;14:338–47.
- Sukocheva OA, Li B, Due SL, Hussey DJ, Watson DI. Androgens and esophageal cancer: what do we know? World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21:6146–56.
- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:E359–86.
- International Agency for Research on Cancer. GLOBOCAN. 2016. http://globocan.iarc.fr/Pages/ fact_sheets_population.aspx. Accessed 24 Jul 2021.
- Arnold M, Soerjomataram I, Ferlay J, Forman D. Global incidence of oesophageal cancer by histological subtype in 2012. Gut. 2015;64:381–7.
- Abnet CC, Arnold M, Wei WQ. Epidemiology of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2018;154:360–73.
- Wang QL, Xie SH, Wahlin K, Lagergren J. Global time trends in the incidence of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Epidemiol. 2018;10:717–28.
- 34. Pan R, Zhu M, Yu C, Lv J, Guo Y, Bian Z, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality: a cohort study in China, 2008–2013. Int J Cancer. 2017;141:1315–23.
- Xie SH, Lagergren J. Social group disparities in the incidence and prognosis of oesophageal cancer. United Eur Gastroenterol J. 2018;6:343–8.
- Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61:69–90.
- 37. Middletona DRS, Bouaouna L, Hanischa R, Brayb F, Dzamalalac C, Chasimphac S, et al. Esophageal cancer male to female incidence ratios in Africa: a systematic review and meta-analysis of geographic, time and age trends. Cancer Epidemiol. 2018;53:119–28.
- 38. Dawsey SP, Tonui S, Parker RK, Fitzwater JW, Dawsey SM, White RE, et al. Esophageal cancer in young people: a case series of 109 cases and review of the literature. PLoS One. 2010;5:e14080.
- 39. Shin A, Won YJ, Jung HK, Kong HJ, Jung KW, Oh CM, et al. Trends in incidence and survival of esophageal cancer in Korea: analysis of the Korea Central Cancer Registry Database. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;33:1961–8.
- Collaboration GBoDC. The global burden of cancer 2013. JAMA Oncologia. 2015;1:505.
- Jansson C, Johansson AL, Nyren O, Lagergren J. Socioeconomic factors and risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma: a nationwide Swedish case-

control study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2005;14:1754-61.

- 42. Blot WJ, Tarone RE. Esophageal cancer. In: Thun MJ, Linet MS, Cerhan JR, Haiman CA, Schottenfeld D, editors. Cancer epidemiology and prevention. 4th ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2017–2018. p. 579–92.
- 43. McCormack VA, Menya D, Munishi MO, Dzamalala C, Gasmelseed N, Leon Roux M, et al. Informing etiologic research priorities for squamous cell esophageal cancer in Africa: a review of setting-specific exposures to known and putative risk factors. Int J Cancer. 2017;140:259–71.
- Pampel F. Tobacco use in sub-Sahara Africa: estimates from the demographic health surveys. Soc Sci Med. 2008;66:1772–83.
- Kobayashi K. Effect of sex hormone on the experimental induction of esophageal cancer. Nihon Geka Gakkai Zasshi. 1985;86:280–9.
- 46. Matsuoka H, Sugimachi K, Ueo H, Kuwano H, Nakano S, Nakayama M. Sex hormone response of a newly established squamous cell line derived from clinical esophageal carcinoma. Cancer Res. 1987;47:4134–40.
- Ueo H, Matsuoka H, Sugimachi K, Kuwano H, Mori M, Akiyoshi T. Inhibitory effects of estrogen on the growth of a human esophageal carcinoma cell line. Cancer Res. 1990;50:7212–5.
- 48. Khera M, Crawford D, Morales A, Salonia A, Morgentaler A. A new era of testosterone and prostate cancer: from physiology to clinical implications. Eur Urol. 2014;65:115–23.
- 49. Tanaka S, Ueo H, Mafune K, Mori M, Wands JR, Sugimachi K. A novel isoform of human fibroblast growth factor 8 is induced by androgens and associated with progression of esophageal carcinoma. Dig Dis Sci. 2001;46:1016–21.
- Yamashita Y, Hirai T, Mukaida H, Kawano K, Toge T, Niimoto M, et al. Detection of androgen receptors in human esophageal cancer. Jpn J Surg. 1989;19:195–202.
- 51. Tihan T, Harmon JW, Wan X, Younes Z, Nass P, Duncan KL, et al. Evidence of androgen receptor expression in squamous and adenocarcinoma of the esophagus. Anticancer Res. 2001;21:3107–14.
- 52. Yang LF, Ji XG, Xing MD, Sun M, Zhao HY. The relationship between esophageal cancer and androgenestrogen receptors. Zhongguo Xiongxinxieguan Waike Linchuang Zazhi. 2001;8:154–6.
- Dietzsch E, Laubscher R, Parker MI. Esophageal cancer risk in relation to GGC and CAG trinucleotide repeat lengths in the androgen receptor gene. Int J Cancer. 2003;107:38–45.
- Engel LS, Chow WH, Vaughan TL, Gammon MD, Risch HA, Stanford JL, et al. Population attributable risks of esophageal and gastric cancers. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2003;95:1404–13.
- 55. Brown LM, Hoover R, Silverman D, Baris D, Hayes R, Swanson GM, et al. Excess incidence of squamous cell esophageal cancer among US Black

men: role of social class and other risk factors. Am J Epidemiol. 2001;153:114–22.

- Wang QL, Xie SH, Li WT, Lagergren J. Smoking Cessation and Risk of Esophageal Cancer by Histological Type: Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2017;109:djx115.
- Freedman ND, Abnet CC, Leitzmann MF, Mouw T, Subar AF, Hollenbeck AR, et al. A prospective study of tobacco, alcohol, and the risk of esophageal and gastric cancer subtypes. Am J Epidemiol. 2007;165:1424–33.
- Islami F, Ren JS, Taylor PR, Kamangar F. Pickled vegetables and the risk of oesophageal cancer: a meta-analysis. Br J Cancer. 2009;101:1641–7.
- Liu J, Wang J, Leng Y, Lv C. Intake of fruit and vegetables and risk of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Int J Cancer. 2013;133:473–85.
- 60. International Agency for Research on Cancer. IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risk to humans, vol 56. Some naturally occurring substances: food items and constituents, heterocyclic aromatic amines and mytotoxins. Lyon: World Health Organization; 1993.
- 61. Wang JB, Abnet CC, Fan JH, Qiao YL, Taylor PR. The randomized Linxian Dysplasia Nutrition Intervention Trial after 26 years of follow-up: no effect of multivitamin supplementation on mortality. JAMA Intern Med. 2013;173:1259–61.
- 62. Kamangar F, Freedman ND. Hot tea and esophageal cancer. Ann Intern Med. 2018;168:519–20.
- Andrici J, Eslick GD. Hot food and beverage consumption and the risk of esophageal cancer: a metaanalysis. Am J Prev Med. 2015;49:952–60.
- 64. Loomis D, Guyton KZ, Grosse Y, Lauby-Secretan B, El Ghissassi F, Bouvard V, et al. Carcinogenicity of drinking coffee, mate, and very hot beverages. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17:877–8.
- 65. Yu C, Tang H, Guo Y, Bian Z, Yang L, Chen Y, et al. Hot tea consumption and its interactions with alcohol and tobacco use on the risk for esophageal cancer: a population-based cohort study. Ann Intern Med. 2018;168:489–97.
- 66. Smith M, Zhou M, Whitlock G, Yang G, Offer A, Hui G, et al. Esophageal cancer and body mass index: results from a prospective study of 220,000 men in China and a metaanalysis of published studies. Int J Cancer. 2008;122:1604–10.
- 67. Tran GD, Sun XD, Abnet CC, Fan JH, Dawsey SM, Dong ZW, et al. Prospective study of risk factors for esophageal and gastric cancers in the Linxian general population trial cohort in China. Int J Cancer. 2005;113:456–63.
- Umar SB, Fleischer DE. Esophageal cancer: epidemiology, pathogenesis and prevention. Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008;5:517–26.
- Gallus S, La Vecchia C, Levi F, Simonato L, Dal Maso L, Franceschi S. Leanness and squamous cell oesophageal cancer. Ann Oncol. 2001;12:975–9.

- Reeves GK, Pirie K, Beral V, Green J, Spencer E, Bull D, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality in relation to body mass index in the million women study: cohort study. BMJ. 2007;335:1134.
- 71. Steffen A, Schulze MB, Pischon T, Dietrich T, Molina E, Chirlaque MD, et al. Anthropometry and esophageal cancer risk in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2009;18:2079–89.
- Johnson IT. Understanding the association between diet and nutrition in upper gastrointestinal cancer. Exp Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015;9:1347–9.
- Venesky MD, Wilcoxen TE, Rensel MA, Rollins-Smith L, Kerby JL, Parris MJ. Dietary protein restriction impairs growth, immunity, and disease resistance in southern leopard frog tadpoles. Oecologia. 2012;169:23–31.
- Szuroczki D, Koprivnikar J, Baker RL. Dietary antioxidants enhance immunocompetence in larval amphibians. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol. 2016;201:182–8.
- Lelijveld N, Seal A, Wells JC, Kirkby J, Opondo C, Chimwezi E, et al. Chronic disease outcomes after severe acute malnutrition in Malawian children (ChroSAM): a cohort study. Lancet Glob Health. 2016;4:654–62.
- Thompson OM, Beresford SA, Kirk EA, Vaughan TL. Vegetable and fruit intakes and risk of Barrett's esophagus in men and women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2009;89:890–6.
- 77. Li B, Jiang G, Zhang G, Xue Q, Zhang H, Wang C, et al. Intake of vegetables and fruit and risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Euro J Nutr. 2014;53:1511–21.
- Wheeler JB, Reed CE. Epidemiology of esophageal cancer. Surg Clin North Am. 2012;92:1077–87.
- Arnal MJD, Arenas AF, Arbeloa AL. Esophageal cancer: risk factors, screening and endoscopic treatment in Western and Eastern countries. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21:7933–43.
- Zhang HZ, Jin GF, Shen HB. Epidemiologic differences in esophageal cancer between Asian and Western populations. Chin J Cancer. 2012;31: 281–6.
- Yang X, Zhu H, Qin Q, Yang Y, Yang Y, Cheng H, et al. Genetic variants and risk of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma: a GWAS-based pathway analysis. Gene. 2015;556:149–52.
- Edgren G, Adami HO, Weiderpass E, Nyren O. A global assessment of the oesophageal adenocarcinoma epidemic. Gut. 2013;62:1406–14.
- Coleman HG, Xie SH, Lagergren J. The Epidemiology of esophageal adenocarcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2018;154:390–405.
- 84. Xie SH, Mattsson F, Lagergren J. Incidence trends in oesophageal cancer by histological type: an updated analysis in Sweden. Cancer Epidemiol. 2017;47:114–7.
- Xie SH, Rabbani S, Petrick JL, Cook MB, Lagergren J. Racial and ethnic disparities in the incidence of

esophageal cancer in the United States, 1992–2013. Am J Epidemiol. 2017;186:1341–51.

- Lepage C, Drouillard A, Jouve JL, Faivre J. Epidemiology and risk factors for oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Dig Liver Dis. 2013;45:625–9.
- Thrift AP, Whiteman DC. The incidence of esophageal adenocarcinoma continues to rise: analysis of period and birth cohort effects on recent trends. Ann Oncol. 2012;23:3155–62.
- Mathieu LN, Kanarek NF, Tsai HL, Rudin CM, Brock MV. Age and sex differences in the incidence of esophageal adenocarcinoma: results from the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Registry (1973–2008). Dis Esophagus. 2014;27:757–63.
- Bohanes P, Yang D, Chhibar RS, Labonte MJ, Winder T, Ning Y, et al. Influence of sex on the survival of patients with esophageal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30:2265–72.
- Micheli A, Ciampichini R, Oberaigner W, Ciccolallo L, de Vries E, Izarzugaza I, et al. The advantage of women in cancer survival: an analysis of EUROCARE-4 data. Eur J Cancer. 2009;45:1017–27.
- Hidaka H, Hotokezaka M, Nakashima S, Uchiyama S, Maehara N, Chijiiwa K. Sex difference in survival of patients treated by surgical resection for esophageal cancer. World J Surg. 2007;31:1982–7.
- 92. Derakhshan MH, Liptrot S, Paul J, Brown IL, Morrison D, McColl KEL. Oesophageal and gastric intestinal-type adenocarcinomas show the same male predominance due to a 17 year delayed development in females. Gut. 2009;58:16–23.
- Curtis RE, Boice JD Jr, Shriner DA, Hankey BF, Fraumeni JF Jr. Second cancers after adjuvant tamoxifen therapy for breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1996;88:832–4.
- Andersson M, Storm HH, Mouridsen HT. Incidence of new primary cancers after adjuvant tamoxifen therapy and radiotherapy for early breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1991;83:1013–7.
- Cooper SC, Croft S, Day R, Thomson CS, Trudgill NJ. The risk of oesophageal cancer is not affected by a diagnosis of breast cancer. Eur J Cancer Prev. 2010;19:182–5.
- 96. Chandanos E, Lindblad M, Jia C, Rubio CA, Ye W, Lagergren J. Tamoxifen exposure and risk of oesophageal and gastric adenocarcinoma: a populationbased cohort study of breast cancer patients in Sweden. Br J Cancer. 2006;95:118–22.
- 97. Cooper SC, Croft S, Day R, Thomson CS, Trudgill NJ. Patients with prostate cancer are less likely to develop oesophageal adenocarcinoma: could androgens have a role in the aetiology of oesophageal adenocarcinoma? Cancer Causes Control. 2009;20:1363–8.
- Cooper SC, Trudgill NJ. Subjects with prostate cancer are less likely to develop esophageal cancer: analysis of SEER 9 registries database. Cancer Causes Control. 2012;23:819–25.

- 99. Lagergren J, Nyren O. Do sex hormones play a role in the etiology of esophageal adenocarcinoma? A new hypothesis tested in a population-based cohort of prostate cancer patients. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 1998;7:913–5.
- Flüchter SH, Weiser R, Gamper C. The role of hormonal treatment in prostate cancer. Recent Results Cancer Res. 2007;175:211–37.
- Levin ER, Pietras RJ. Estrogen receptors outside the nucleus in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2008;108:351–61.
- 102. Mooradian AD, Morley JE, Korenman SG. Biological actions of androgens. Endocr Rev. 1987;8:1–28.
- 103. Awan AK, Iftikhar SY, Morris TM, Clarke PA, Grabowska AM, Waraich N, et al. Androgen receptors may act in a paracrine manner to regulate oesophageal adenocarcinoma growth. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2007;33:561–8.
- Nordenstedt H, Younes M, El-Serag HB. Expression of androgen receptors in Barrett esophagus. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2012;46:251–2.
- 105. Ali S, Coombes RC. Estrogen receptor alpha in human breast cancer: occurrence and significance. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. 2000;5:271–81.
- 106. Sharpe RM. The roles of oestrogen in the male. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 1998;9:371–7.
- 107. Kalayarasan R, Ananthakrishnan N, Kate V, Basu D. Estrogen and progesterone receptors in esophageal carcinoma. Dis Esophagus. 2008;21:298–303.
- Liu L, Chirala M, Younes M. Expression of estrogen receptor beta isoforms in Barrett's metaplasia, dysplasia and esophageal adenocarcinoma. Anticancer Res. 2004;24:2919–24.
- 109. Bardin A, Boulle N, Lazennec G, Vignon F, Pujol P. Loss of ER beta expression as a common step in estrogen-dependent tumor progression. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2004;11:537–51.
- 110. Sukocheva OA, Wee C, Ansar A, Hussey DJ, Watson DI. Effect of estrogen on growth and apoptosis in esophageal adenocarcinoma cells. Dis Esophagus. 2013;26:628–35.
- 111. Giusti G, Gonnelli P, Borrelli D, Fiorelli G, Forti G, Pazzagli M, et al. Age-related secretion of androstenedione, testosterone and dihydrotestosterone by the human testis. Exp Gerontol. 1975;10:241–5.
- 112. Morley JE. Androgens and aging. Maturitas. 2001;38:61–71. Discussion 71–3
- 113. Muller M, den Tonkelaar I, Thijssen JH, Grobbee DE, van der Schouw YT. Endogenous sex hormones in men aged 40-80 years. Eur J Endocrinol. 2003;149:583–9.
- Pardridge WM. Serum bioavailability of sex steroid hormones. Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1986;15:259–78.
- 115. Alcedo J, Ferrández A, Arenas J, Sopeña F, Ortego J, Sainz R, et al. Trends in Barrett's esophagus diagnosis in Southern Europe: implications for surveillance. Dis Esophagus. 2009;22:239–48.
- 116. Hvid-Jensen F, Pedersen L, Drewes AM, Sørensen HT, Funch-Jensen P. Incidence of adenocarcinoma

among patients with Barrett's esophagus. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:1375–83.

- 117. Boeckxstaens G, El-Serag HB, Smout AJ, Kahrilas PJ. Symptomatic reflux disease: the present, the past and the future. Gut. 2014;63:1185–93.
- 118. Annandale E, Hammarström A. Constructing the 'gender-specific body': a critical discourse analysis of publications in the field of gender-specific medicine. Health (London). 2011;15:571–87.
- Grishina I, Fenton A, Sankaran-Walters S. Gender differences, aging and hormonal status in mucosal injury and repair. Aging Dis. 2014;5:160–9.
- 120. Honda J, Iijima K, Asanuma K, Ara N, Shiroki T, Kondo Y, et al. Estrogen enhances esophageal barrier function by potentiating occludin expression. Dig Dis Sci. 2016;61:1028–38.
- 121. Orlando RC, Bryson JC, Powell DW. Mechanisms of H+ injury in rabbit esophageal epithelium. Am J Phys. 1984;246(6 Pt 1):G718–24.
- Bhat YM, Bielefeldt K. Capsaicin receptor (TRPV1) and non-erosive reflux disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2006;18:263–70.
- 123. Kim YS, Kim N, Kim GH. Sex and gender differences in gastroesophageal reflux disease. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;22:575–88.
- Asanuma K, Iijima K, Shimosegawa T. Gender difference in gastroesophageal reflux diseases. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22:1800–10.
- 125. Renehan AG, Tyson M, Egger M, Heller RF, Zwahlen M. Body-mass index and incidence of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. Lancet. 2008;371:569–78.
- 126. Kubo A, Corley DA. Body mass index and adenocarcinomas of the esophagus or gastric cardia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2006;15:872–8.
- 127. Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Mathers C, Parkin DM, Piñeros M, et al. Global and regional estimates of the incidence and mortality for 38 cancers: GLOBOCAN 2018. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer/World Health Organization; 2018.
- 128. Oze I, Matsuo K, Ito H, Wakai K, Nagata C, Mizoue T, et al. Cigarette smoking and esophageal cancer risk: an evaluation based on a systematic review of epidemiologic evidence among the Japanese population. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2012;42:63–73.
- 129. Cook MB, Kamangar F, Whiteman DC, Freedman ND, Gammon MD, Bernstein L, et al. Cigarette smoking and adenocarcinomas of the esophagus and esophagogastric junction: a pooled analysis from the international BEACON consortium. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102:1344–53.
- 130. Petrick JL, Li N, McClain KM, Steck SE, Gammon MD. Dietary risk reduction factors for the Barrett's esophagus-esophageal adenocarcinoma continuum: a review of the recent literature. Curr Nutr Rep. 2015;4:47–65.
- 131. Jo HJ, Lee HS, Kim N, Nam RH, Chang H, Kim MS, et al. Predictable marker of regression for Barrett's

esophagus by proton pump inhibitor in Korea. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2013;19:210–8.

- 132. Singh S, Garg SK, Singh PP, Iyer PG, El-Serag HB. Acid suppressive medications and risk of oesophageal adenocarcinoma in patients with Barrett's oesophagus: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Gut. 2014;63:1229–37.
- 133. Hvid-Jensen F, Pedersen L, Funch-Jensen P, Drewes AM. Proton pump inhibitor use may not prevent high-grade dysplasia and oesophageal adenocarcinoma in Barrett's oesophagus: a nationwide study of 9,883 patients. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2014;39:984–91.
- 134. Ek WE, Levine DM, D'Amato M, Pedersen NL, Magnusson PK, Bresso F, et al. Germline genetic contributions to risk for esophageal adenocarcinoma, Barrett's esophagus, and gastroesophageal reflux. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2013;105:1711–8.
- 135. Su Z, Gay LJ, Strange A, Palles C, Band G, Whiteman DC, et al. Common variants at the MHC locus and at chromosome 16q24.1 predispose to Barrett's esophagus. Nat Genet. 2012;44:1131–6.
- 136. Levine DM, Ek WE, Zhang R, Liu X, Onstad L, Sather C, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies new susceptibility loci for esophageal adenocarcinoma and Barrett's esophagus. Nat Genet. 2013;45:1487–93.
- 137. Palles C, Chegwidden L, Li X, Findlay JM, Farnham G, Giner FC, et al. Polymorphisms near TBX5 and GDF7 are associated with increased risk for Barrett's esophagus. Gastroenterology. 2015;148:367–78.
- 138. van Nistelrooij AM, van der Korput HA, Broer L, van Marion R, van Berge Henegouwen MI, van Noesel CJ, et al. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in CRTC1 and BARX1 are associated with esophageal adenocarcinoma. J Carcinog. 2015;14:5.
- 139. Becker J, May A, Gerges C, Anders M, Schmidt C, Veits L, et al. The Barrett-associated variants at GDF7 and TBX5 also increase esophageal adenocarcinoma risk. Cancer Med. 2016;5:888–91.
- 140. Gharahkhani P, Fitzgerald RC, Vaughan TL, Palles C, Gockel I, Tomlinson I, et al. Genome-wide association studies in oesophageal adenocarcinoma and Barrett's oesophagus: a large scale meta-analysis. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17:1363–73.
- 141. Lagergren K, Lagergren J, Brusselaers N. Hormone replacement therapy and oral contraceptives and risk of oesophageal adenocarcinoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cancer. 2014;135:2183–90.
- 142. Bodelon C, Anderson GL, Rossing MA, Chlebowski RT, Ochs-Balcom HM, Vaughan TL. Hormonal factors and risks of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma in postmenopausal women. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2011;4:840–50.
- 143. Freedman ND, Lacey JV Jr, Hollenbeck AR, Leitzmann MF, Schatzkin A, Abnet CC. The association of menstrual and reproductive factors with upper gastrointestinal tract cancers in the NIH-AARP cohort. Cancer. 2010;116:1572–81.

- 144. Cronin-Fenton DP, Murray LJ, Whiteman DC, Cardwell C, Webb PM, Jordan SJ, et al. Reproductive and sex hormonal factors and oesophageal and gastric junction adenocarcinoma: a pooled analysis. Eur J Cancer. 2010;46:2067–76.
- 145. Petrick JL, Steck SE, Bradshaw PT, Trivers KF, Abrahamson PE, Engel LS, et al. Dietary intake of flavonoids and oesophageal and gastric cancer: incidence and survival in the United States of America (USA). Br J Cancer. 2015;112:1291–300.
- 146. Lin Y, Wolk A, Håkansson N, Lagergren J, Lu Y. Dietary intake of lignans and risk of esophageal and gastric adenocarcinoma: a cohort study in Sweden. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2013;22:308–12.
- 147. Lin Y, Yngve A, Lagergren J, Lu Y. Dietary intake of lignans and risk of adenocarcinoma of the esophagus and gastroesophageal junction. Cancer Causes Control. 2012;23:837–44.
- Cancer Research UK. Oesophageal cancer statistics.
 2016. https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-

professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancertype/oesophageal-cancer. Accessed 18 Aug 2021.

- 149. Cancer Research UK. Oesophageal cancer incidence statistics. 2016. https://www.cancerresearchuk.org/ health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-bycancer-type/oesophageal-cancer#heading-Zero. Accessed 18 Aug 2021.
- 150. Natori A, Chan BA, Sim HW, Ma L, Yokom DW, Chen E, et al. Outcomes by treatment modality in elderly patients with localized gastric and esophageal cancer. Curr Oncol. 2018;25:366–70.
- 151. Koppert LB, Lemmens VEPP, Coebergh JWW, Steyerberg EW, Wijnhoven BPL, Tilanus HW, et al. Impact of age and comorbidity on surgical resection rate and survival in patients with oesophageal and gastric cancer. Br J Surg. 2012;99:1693–700.
- Delafuente JC. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic alterations in the geriatric patient. Consult Pharm. 2008;23:324–34.

Part V

Stomach

Functional Dyspepsia

Nayoung Kim

7.1 Introduction

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

Dyspepsia is one of the most common gastrointestinal (GI) diseases, accounting for 5% of patients diagnosed at primary care centers. Patients with dyspepsia report various symptoms such as epigastric heartburn, epigastric pain, postprandial discomfort, and bloating. These symptoms are usually chronic, lowering patients' quality of life (QoL) and increasing their social burden. Most patients with dyspepsia are diagnosed with functional dyspepsia (FD), which refers to a cluster of chronic and reoccurring GI symptoms, mainly in the upper GI tract, in the absence of an organic disease with a clear causal link, such as peptic ulcer, GI malignancy, gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD), and pancreatic and biliary tract diseases. In South Korea, organic diseases were identified in 8-20% of patients with dyspepsia who were referred to tertiary hospitals from primary care centers, while 70-92% of the patients have FD [1]. FD is one of the most common functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGIDs), along with irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) [2]

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National

University College of Medicine, Seoul National

University Bundang Hospital,

Seongnam, Korea (Republic of) e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr to stress. Many studies have dealt with gender differences in IBS, but in light of recent reports of similar trends in FD, it is important to understand the epidemiology of FD in relation to gender, clinical trends, and QoL; such research will shed light on the distribution of FD subtypes, economic costs, treatment, drug development, and medical resource allocation [3]. With this background, this chapter explores gender differences in the epidemiology, pathophysiology, and clinical trends of FD.

(Table 7.1). FD is often caused by interpersonal stress, which results in gender differences and a

higher prevalence in women who are sensitive

7.2 Definition of Functional Dyspepsia

With the expanding understanding of FD in the 1990s and later, a classification system of FD became necessary for research and clinical treatment, and the Rome Foundation was established. Given the absence of researchbased standards or evidence, diagnostic criteria were established by reaching a consensus through the Delphi approach. As new data were gathered with time, more evidence-based approaches were included as suggestions. The Rome I diagnostic criteria (1994), Rome II diagnostic criteria (2000), and Rome III diagnostic criteria (2006) were published sequen-





[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_7

A. Esophageal disorders			
A1. Functional chest pain	A4. Globus		
A2. Functional heartburn	A5. Functional dysphagia		
A3. Reflux hypersensitivity			
B. Gastroduodenal disorders			
B1. Functional dyspepsia	B3. Nausea and vomiting disorders		
B1a. Postprandial distress syndrome (PDS)	B3a. Chronic nausea vomiting syndrome (CNVS)		
B1b. Epigastric pain syndrome (EPS)	B3b. Cyclic vomiting syndrome (CVS)		
B2. Belching disorders	B3c. Cannabinoid hyperemesis syndrome (CHS)		
B2a. Excessive supragastric belching	B4. Rumination syndrome		
B2b. Excessive gastric belching			
C. Bowel disorders			
C1. Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS)	C2. Functional constipation		
IBS with predominant constipation (IBS-C)	C3. Functional diarrhea		
IBS with predominant diarrhea (IBS-D)	C4. Functional abdominal bloating/distension		
IBS with mixed bowel habits (IBS-M)	C5. Unspecified functional bowel disorder		
IBS unclassified (IBS-U)	C6. Opioid-induced constipation		
D. Centrally mediated disorders of gastrointestinal pain			
D1. Centrally mediated abdominal pain syndrome (CAPS)			
D2. Narcotic bowel syndrome (NBS)/opioid-induced GI hyperalgesia			
E. Gallbladder and sphincter of Oddi (SO) disorders			
E1. Biliary pain	E2. Functional pancreatic SO disorder		
E1a. Functional gallbladder disorder			
E1b. Functional biliary SO disorder			
F. Anorectal disorder			
F1. Fecal incontinence	F3. Functional defecation disorders		
F2. Functional anorectal pain	F3a. Inadequate defecatory propulsion		
F2a. Levator ani syndrome	F3b. Dyssynergic defecation		
F2b. Unspecified functional anorectal pain			
F2c. Proctalgia fugax			
G. Childhood functional GI disorders: neonate/toddler			
G1. Infant regurgitation	G5. Functional diarrhea		
G2. Rumination syndrome	G6. Infant dyschezia		
G3. Cyclic vomiting syndrome (CVS)	G7. Functional constipation		
G4. Infant colic			
H. Childhood functional GI disorders: child/adolescent			
H1. Functional nausea and vomiting	H2a2. Epigastric pain syndrome		
H1a. Cyclic vomiting syndrome (CVS)	H2b. Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS)		
H1b. Functional nausea and functional vomiting	H2c. Abdominal migraine		
H1b1. Functional nausea	H2d. Functional abdominal pain-NOS		
H1b2. Functional vomiting	H3. Functional defecation disorders		
H1c. Rumination syndrome	H3a. Functional constipation		
H1d. Aerophagia	H3b. Nonretentive fecal incontinence		
H2. Functional abdominal pain disorders			
H2a. Functional dyspepsia			
H2a1. Postprandial distress syndrome			

Table 7.1 Rome IV functional gastrointestinal disorders published in 2016 (adapted from Drossman and Hasler [2])

tially, and the Rome IV diagnostic criteria were published in 2016. Research on the concepts and pathophysiology of FD is continuing, so further updates regarding the conceptual definition and diagnostic criteria of this disease are expected.



symptoms present for the past 3 months with onset at least 6months before diagnosis

The definition of FD [4] in the Rome IV diagnostic criteria published in 2016 added the term "bothersome," referring to the disease's impact on everyday life, and symptom frequency per week from the definition of FD [5] in the Rome III diagnostic criteria published in 2006 [4] (Fig. 7.1). FD is diagnosed if patients experience symptoms including epigastric pain from the stomach or duodenum, epigastric burning, postprandial fullness, and early satiation that started at least 6 months ago and continued for the past 3 months without clear organic, systemic, or metabolic cause identified on upper GI endoscopy, imaging tests (e.g., epigastric ultrasound), and various clinical pathology tests [4, 5]. More specifically, epigastric pain refers to pain or substantial discomfort felt in the epigastrium, which is the area below the breastbone and above the navel; epigastric burning refers to a burning sensation in the epigastrium; postprandial fullness refers to discomfort from feeling like food is lingering in the stomach after a meal; and early satiation refers to the status of not being able to finish a meal due to feeling like the stomach is full shortly after starting a meal despite not having consumed a full meal. The Rome III diagnostic criteria named the ulcerative subtype as epigastric pain syndrome (EPS) and the functional disorder subtype as postprandial distress syndrome (PDS) based on the results of various studies, and it was hypothesized that these two clusters of symptoms have slightly different disease mechanisms and treatment directions. PDS is diagnosed when patients feel bloated after consuming a regular meal portion more than three times a week or when patients are not able to finish a regular meal due to the aforementioned early satiation. Additional diagnostic criteria that indicate PDS are discomfort in the epigastrium, nausea after a meal, or excessive burping, which can also be present in EPS patients. In contrast, EPS refers to intermittent pain at a modest to severe level or soreness limited to the epigastrium. The pain should not be limited to other parts of the stomach or chest and should not spread, ameliorate with defecation or passage of gas, or meet the diagnostic criteria for gallbladder and sphincter of Oddi disorders. An additional diagnostic criterion that indicates EPS is pain that ameliorates or deteriorates with food consumption or that can occur when the stomach is empty, which can also be present in PDS patients [4].

7.3 Epidemiology and Prevalence of Functional Dyspepsia

The prevalence of FD, based on large cohorts around the world, is 10–30% [6]. The prevalence varies by diagnostic criteria, region, sex, and age [4]. Population-based studies [7–10] that excluded structural diseases using endoscopic findings reported that FD was 1.36–2.71 times more prevalent among women than among men. Similarly, women had higher prevalence rates in all large studies of participants in health check-ups [11–13]. Based on a 2016 meta-analysis that reported a prevalence of 25.3% in women,

which was higher than the prevalence of 21.9% in men, it can be understood that FD is more common among women [14]. The prevalence of FD was found to be higher among women in the United States, Western Europe, Southeast Asia, and the Middle East, but this trend was not found in South America, Australia, and Africa [14]. A possible reason for this discrepancy might be that the analysis was based on hospital patients. In a study based on online surveys using the Rome IV diagnostic criteria in the United States, the United Kingdom, and Canada, the prevalence was higher among women than among men for all ages under 65, but this trend was not seen in ages over 65, which indicates the potential relevance of decreasing levels of female hormones or changes in sociocultural roles in old age [15]. The results of multivariate analyses of risk factors of FD vary by study [16]. The risk factors of FD reported in some studies are female gender, low body mass index, old age, Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) infection, smoking, history of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug (NSAID) use, and low education level [14, 17–19]. In a multicenter study with participants of health check-ups, female gender and an education level lower than a university degree were identified as risk factors for FD [13]. When the data were analyzed by age and gender, an education level lower than a university degree was a risk factor for males, while female gender was a significant risk factor among those younger than 60 [14]. Therefore, it is necessary to analyze the risk factors for FD according to age and gender. Abuse history is especially common among female patients [20-22], and when such abuse occurs in childhood (i.e., when the brain areas that control stress and nociception develop), the risk of FD and the severity of symptoms increase [20]. In such patients, delayed gastric emptying is especially relevant [23].

7.4 Symptoms of Functional Dyspepsia

When the symptoms of FD of men and women are compared, men generally report soreness, while women report discomfort [24–29]. When women with FD experienced epigastric pain, it was closely associated with anxiety [3], and women with a history of gynecological surgery had more severe epigastric pain than women without a history of gynecological surgery [3]. Women experienced epigastric pain for a longer duration than men [30], with greater severity, and many women had relevant psychological factors [31, 32]. However, some studies did not find such differences, indicating that the results depend on the circumstances of each study [3, 30, 33-35]. It is common for GERD to exist together, which is referred to as the overlap syndrome of FGID [12, 36–38]. The mechanism is not clearly known, but it has been hypothesized that the overlap syndrome of FGID occurs due to common pathophysiology including visceral hypersensitivity or mobility disorder, issues in the brain-gut axis, and psychological issues [39]. Among patients with the overlap syndrome of FGID, young female patients more often had GERD and FD together [40]. According to a report from China, patients with IBS and FD were more likely to be women, be divorced or widowed, and have IBS symptoms such as bloating, having difficulty defecating, and experiencing diarrhea and constipation at the same time [41]. QoL was especially low in patients with the overlap syndrome of FGID [39, 40, 42], and when the overlap syndrome of FGID involved the esophagus, stomach, and colon, QoL was low regardless of age and gender [43]. The social and environmental aspects of the QoL of FD patients are particularly impaired, suggesting the need for early treatment [3, 44], but related studies are scarce. One certain fact is that depression and anxiety symptoms are more severe and QoL is lower among women with FD than among men with FD [3, 44, 45]. In a community-based case-control study conducted in Sweden, women with FD had significantly lower QoL, including physical domain, physical role limitation, physical pain, and overall health awareness, than men with FD [45]. In an Asian study with FD patients reporting poor QoL, the risk factors were identified as female gender, depression and anxiety symptoms, old age, severe symptoms, and low education level [44]. Patients with somatization disorder or psychological risk factors such as a history of physical sexual abuse visited hospitals more frequently [46]. However,

no gender differences were found in a Taiwanese study that used the Rome I or II diagnostic criteria [12], suggesting that differences may exist across countries and cultures.

7.5 Pathophysiology of Functional Dyspepsia

The disease mechanism of FD includes altered gastric motility, visceral hypersensitivity, braingut axis, low-grade gastritis, *H. pylori* infection, and genetic, social, and psychological factors, but no single factor explains FD in a satisfactory manner. Gender differences have also not been studied sufficiently [31, 47]. This section explains the main pathophysiology of FD, focusing on gender differences in the disease mechanism.

7.5.1 Sex Hormones

Estrogen is directly and indirectly involved in motor and sensory control via GI immunity, endocrine and nervous pathways, and the intestinal microbiota [48]. A well-known example of the role of estrogen is slower digestive activity during the luteal phase than during the follicular phase and in pre-menopausal women than in men [23, 49, 50]. Estrogen or the combination of estrogen and progesterone is known to interfere with the gastric emptying rate [51-53]. Estrogen acts on neurotransmitters to affect pain reaction in pain recognition pathways [54]. Estrogen also influences women's emotions and moods, causing premenstrual, postpartum, and menopausal depression through extreme mood changes after menopause, ovariectomy, or delivery [55, 56]. Taken together, female sex hormones seem to play a causal role in FD by influencing visceral pain and gastric motility [16].

7.5.2 Visceral Hypersensitivity

Visceral hypersensitivity is an important pathological mechanism of FD. The causes of hypersensitivity related to EPS are sensitization after inflammation or infection and amplification dur-

central ing nervous system processing. Upregulation or sensitization of transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 (TRPV1), which is a capsaicin receptor, is hypothesized to play an important role in GERD, FD, and IBS. When capsaicin, which is the spicy component of hot chili peppers, combines with TRPV1, it activates afferent C-fiber nerves, causing a burning sensation and pain. In a clinical trial where capsaicin capsules were randomized, patients with FD reported moderate to severe symptoms with smaller amounts of capsaicin and had more symptoms than healthy controls, demonstrating that for a significant proportion of patients, FD is related to visceral sensory hypersensitivity via the TRPV1 pathway [57]. TRPV1 is controlled by neurotropic factors such as nerve growth factor (NGF) and glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) that are increased by inflammation, and TRPV1 can also be activated in acidic environments [58]. Therefore, research has explored the relationships between FD and the TRPV1 pathway, inflammation due to H. pylori infection, and acidity. It was hypothesized that expression of TRPV1, NGF, and GDNF would be high in women with FD who have high visceral hypersensitivity; however, visceral pain-related mRNA gene expression was found to be higher in men with FD than in those without FD, but no such difference was found in women, among whom depression and anxiety symptoms were more important factors instead [3]. In women, visceral hypersensitivity can increase and cause FD without visceral pain-related gene expression when depression and anxiety are present, but among men, the mechanism involves increased expression of visceral pain-related genes.

7.5.3 Psychological Distress

Data suggest an association between emotions and visceral function, and common psychiatric disorders among FD patients are anxiety disorder, depression, and somatization disorder. Compared to healthy controls, FD patients have higher scores for anxiety, depression, neurosis, tension, hatred, and health anxiety, but it remains unclear whether these psychoneurotic disorders cause FD. The fact that no specific characteristic of FD can be found suggests that no single characteristic plays a significant role in the pathogenesis of FD. Stress is defined as the state of threatened homeostasis or disharmony, and its causes are classified as interoceptive stressors (e.g., intestinal infection, mucosal inflammation, and visceral bleeding) and exteroceptive stressors (e.g., psychological stress). The brain reacts to stimuli from the abdominal viscera. In healthy individuals, interoceptive input is generally not consciously recognized, but the control of input can change due to stress and activity of the excitatory circuit, which affects the abdominal viscera organ interactions of the brain and the abdominal viscera can occur and sensitize the pain threshold to cause FD due to severe psychic trauma, especially, in the early childhood. However, this disruption caused by psychic trauma can be healed through central and peripheral neuroplastic changes [59] (Fig. 7.2). Neuroplastic changes refer to neurogenesis or regrowth of neurons when the scars heal after psychological shock severe enough to cause post-traumatic stress disorder, such as sexual abuse or experience of war, damage the hippocampus, or destroy cortical cells [59]. This concept indicates that emotional changes caused by internal or external stimuli can result in physiological changes and affect



Fig. 7.2 Bidirectional brain-visceral interactions. Disruption of the inter-organ interaction of the brain and the abdominal viscera can cause central and peripheral neuroplastic changes (adapted from Mayer and Tillisch [59])

health. There is a general consensus that important life events or emotional conflicts can cause GI pain or other GI symptoms, and research on gender differences in this process is being actively conducted.

7.5.4 Brain-Gut-Microbiome Axis and Gender Differences

The terms "brain-gut axis" or "gut-brain axis" were used frequently in the past, but more recently, as the role of the gut microbiome has been emphasized, the concept of brain-gut-microbiome axis is being established. Since disturbances in the brain-gut-microbiome axis can cause FD, gender differences in the brain-gut-microbiome axis have been examined in this section.

7.5.4.1 Brain Response to Stress

Responses to stress hormones are slightly different by gender. Women are more vulnerable to the corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) and the locus coeruleus (LC)-norepinephrine system,

which increases sensitivity to stress [60]. Among men, even when CRF is oversecreted, the response to CRF is weakened through the cellular internalization of CRF receptors, but this internalization does not occur in women; as a result, stress is transmitted to the whole body instantly [60]. Estrogen also acts on estrogen receptor alpha (ER α) in the hypothalamus to prevent the negative feedback of cortisol, which influences women's vulnerability to stress [60]. Thus, when women are exposed to severe and constant stress, they are vulnerable to stress, as the CRF-related component of the endocrine system and the arousal system are not controlled [60]. As a result, women report somatization disorders that often co-occur with severe FD [16, 61] (Fig. 7.3). These differences in CRF function affected drug development. For example, CRF antagonists can be expected to have an intense impact on women [60]. Other than CRF connectivity, gender differences have been reported in altered functional connectivity of the amygdala, which controls postprandial satiety, food intake, emotion regulation, and endogenous pain suppression. There have been many reports of functional or structural



Fig. 7.3 Sex/gender differences in the disease mechanism of functional dyspepsia. Sex/gender differences in sex hormones, brain signal transmission through corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF), altered functional connectivity of the amygdala, ghrelin, genetics, gut microbiome, diet that affects the enteric nervous system, duodenal immune system, mucosal barrier function, low-

grade duodenal inflammation, and intestinal motility and sensitivity are determinants of sex/gender differences in functional dyspepsia. Such differences influence the epidemiology of functional dyspepsia, symptoms, quality of life, socioeconomic impact, and treatment (adapted from Kim and Kim [16]) differences in the default mode network and salience network in brain areas of FD patients by gender [61–64]. Particularly in women with FD, severe disruptions in cognitive-affective processing in the amygdala were reported [61]. When brain imaging of the basolateral area of the amygdala (BLA) among women with FD was compared to those of women controls and men with FD, the insular resting-state functional connectivity (rsFC) was higher, while the medial prefrontal cortex and lateral and dorsal lateral prefrontal cortex rsFC were lower [61]. These results indicate that visceral afferent circuits are more strongly activated and negative emotions are increased in women patients with FD [61]; as a result, women are more sensitive to pain than men and report digestive pain/discomfort more frequently.

7.5.4.2 Gut Microbiota

The gut microbiota, immune cells, enteroendocrine cells, and the enteric nervous system have a complex interrelationship; regardless of the cause, disorders of the gut microbiota are known to contribute to FD [65]. The term "microgenderome," which emphasizes the interrelationship between the gut microbiota and sex hormones, has recently been proposed [66]. There are no gender differences in the gut microbiome until puberty, when differences in the gut microbiome start to develop [67]. The discovery that the composition of the gut microbiota among women becomes similar to that among men after menopause [68] has drawn attention to the effects of sex hormones on the gut microbiota. Differences in the gut microbiota by gender have been reported in studies investigating gender, age, and region in cohorts in the United States, the United Kingdom, Columbia [69], and Japan [70], developing the evidence base for age and gender differences in the gut microbiota. I also reported a review regarding the factors which affect the gut microbiota and the interplay of microbiota and GI diseases in terms of sex and gender differences [71]. Evidence for an association between gut microbiota and sex hormones was strengthened by the discovery that the gut microbiota influence the concentration of estrogen by deconjugating conjugated estrogen excreted in bile and reabsorbing it through the enterohepatic circulation [72]. What, then, is the effect of the gut microbiome on FD? Given that mice pups separated with their mother after birth demonstrate symptoms of depression and anxiety and their symptoms improve when they are fed microbes beneficial for these symptoms, there seems to be a close association between the gut microbiome and the brain. Studies on FD and the gut microbiota have been published [73–75], and in a clinical study where rifaximin, an antibiotic that is not absorbed by patients with FD, was administered in a randomized manner, symptoms of FD improved. The improvement was especially noticeable in women, demonstrating a gender difference in the treatment effect of rifaximin for FD [73]. It was hypothesized that the symptoms improved due to the influence of rifaximin on the microbes distributed in the duodenal mucosa, but more studies are needed to investigate the mechanism through which the gut microbiome affects FD in men and women.

7.5.5 Gastroduodenal Dysfunction and Ghrelin

GI distension and gastric emptying disorders are commonly observed in patients with FD [76, 77]. A gastric emptying study using the ¹³C-acetate exhalation test showed that gastric emptying took longer among women than among men, and women with FD reported gastric reflux symptoms more frequently, indicating that gastric emptying disorders contribute to GERD [78]. The mechanism of decreased gastric emptying function is not understood in detail beyond its association with sex hormones, but based on the fact that women rate pain as more intense than men given the same pressure and volume of GI distension, it can be inferred that women's stomachs are more sensitive and responsive to smaller gastric content [79]. In addition, studies using barostats found that the gastric accommodation reflex time was longer in women than in men [80], indicating an association with vagal tone [79]. Ghrelin is a digestive hormone that promotes appetite and stomach movement [81–83].

When acylated ghrelin levels decrease, gastric emptying function is reduced [84], which causes vomiting or FD [25, 85]. No difference was found in fasting plasma acylated ghrelin levels between healthy participants and FD patients, but ghrelin levels were associated with self-reported digestive symptom scores among women with FD [86]. However, in a comparative study of patients with the PDS subtype and healthy controls conducted by the author's research team, plasma acylated ghrelin levels were lower in male patients than in healthy controls, but this difference was not found among women [3]. Similarly, mRNA expression for TRPV1 and GDNF, which are visceral pain-related genes, was found to be higher in men with FD, while depression and anxiety symptoms were more important factors in women with FD [3]. Taken together, these results indicate that there are gender differences in both the symptoms and pathophysiological mechanisms of FD.

7.5.6 Genetic Factors

Since there are familial trends in FGIDs, it has been hypothesized that there are genetic factors beyond the environmental factors to which all family members are exposed, and genetic research about FD has explored this possibility [31, 87]. It has also been hypothesized that the frequent occurrence of the overlapping syndrome, in which multiple FGIDs co-occur, suggests a high probability of sharing similar genetic polymorphisms. Genes with genetic polymorphisms that govern GI functions can be classified into three broad categories, as follows:

- A. Neurotransmitters
 - 1. Serotonin
 - 2. Cholecystokinin (CCK)
 - 3. VIP
 - 4. Substance P
 - 5. α 2 adrenergic receptors
- B. Cytokine
 - 1. Pro-inflammatory: TNF- α , interferon
 - 2. Anti-inflammatory: TGF- β 1, IL-10
- C. Corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF)

Many studies have investigated associations between single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of genes related to neurotransmitters and FD, but due to the nature of such studies, contrasting findings have been reported [88]. The author also published SNP-related results about FD in 2014, in a study finding that the S/S genotype of serotonin promoter gene SLC6A4 5-HTTLPR had a negative correlation with H. pylori-positive EPS [89]. The C/C genotype of TRPV1 945G>C had a negative correlation with both EPS and PDS, and the correlation was stronger when patients were *H. pylori*-positive [89]. That study suggested the importance of genetic factors in the pathogenesis of FD through SNPs, underscoring the necessity of future studies investigating the mechanism underlying the relationship between this SNP and H. pylori infection. No associations were found between the GNB3 825C>T, ADRA2A -1291C>G, and CCK-1R intron 779T>C SNPs and FD [89]. There were gender differences in this genetic tendency. According to a Japanese report, the association between the COX-1-1676T allele and EPS was found only in women but not in men [87]. However, more studies are required to draw conclusions about gender differences in genetic polymorphisms and FD.

7.5.7 Low-Grade Duodenal Inflammation and Tight Junction Proteins

Duodenal mucosa permeability is increased in FD patients [90], and this increase in permeability has been hypothesized to cause symptoms of FD by inducing hypersensitivity toward fat, capsaicin, and acid [91]. Tight junction proteins (zona occludens, occludin, claudin 1, claudin 2, claudin 4, etc.) play an important role in protecting the intestinal mucosa; therefore, issues in tight junction protein expression cause disturbances in the protection of the duodenal mucosa. Studies have reported that sex hormones can influence this process [92, 93]. A study conducted by the author's research team also found that expression of *CLDN2* mRNA, which encodes a tight function protein, was significantly lower in men with FD than in healthy male controls regardless of *H. pylori* infection. This difference was not found among women with FD, indicating that issues in claudin 2 are related to the pathophysiology of FD among men [94].

7.5.8 Food

It is standard to recommend that FD patients avoid smoking cigarettes, drinking alcohol, taking NSAID medication, drinking coffee, and consuming spicy food. However, there is no evidence suggesting that tobacco or alcohol consumption causes chronic FD. Coffee, as a non-specific stimulant, can directly or through gastric reflux cause heartburn, but there is no evidence of direct associations between coffee or tea and FD. These studies may not have stratified participants by gender. A recent study on FD and food reported that symptoms were caused by consuming wheat and gluten regardless of the subtype of FD, while fat caused PDS [95]. An examination of gender differences in the symptoms of FD and food indicated that women reported postprandial satiety more frequently than men, and it is also well-known that women crave food more [96]. It has also been reported that vasovagal reflex occurs more easily in women, who respond differently to lipoprotein than men [96]. Gender differences in physiological reactions to food consumption may furnish explanatory evidence for gender differences in FD. According to a study on the association between symptoms of chronic dyspepsia and glycemic index (GI) or glycemic load (GL) by gender, symptoms were caused by high GI or GL in men and participants in the normal weight group, but not in women and participants in the overweight group [97]. Gender differences were found in a randomized, parallel design study on the postprandial response to consuming delicious and comforting food [96]. As ongoing research is adding details to our understanding of this issue, it is expected that additional studies in the future will shed further light on gender differences in the impact of food on FD.

7.6 Treatment of Functional Dyspepsia

Since most patients with FD have non-severe and sporadic symptoms, their symptoms tend to improve when they are told that they do not have a severe disease, which provides some degree of psychological comfort. However, some patients are difficult to treat as they do not respond to various treatments. Especially for female patients who have underlying anxiety or depression or who have severe anxiety about the symptoms themselves, it is very effective for the doctor to listen attentively to their descriptions of their symptoms and to help patients identify stressors. A tailored treatment approach based on understanding gender differences in the pathogenesis of FD is necessary.

7.6.1 Rapport Between Patients and Doctors

The placebo effect of medication is very high (20–70%) for FD, and this placebo effect is usually derived from the rapport that patients have in doctors. Therefore, patients' trust in doctors is vitally important. Trust can be built through the following process, which is especially important for female patients.

- A. Understand the reason why the patient visited the doctor and look for what the patient is concerned about and fears specifically.
- B. Do not demonstrate a critical attitude toward the symptoms that the patient reports; instead, listen carefully and perform an examination.
- C. Explain the necessary diagnostic process to investigate patients' concerns. Excessive testing should be avoided unless there are changes in symptoms or it is absolutely necessary.
- D. Provide an explanation emphasizing that FD is not "neurotic" and that patients are not experiencing symptoms in the absence of a disease. In other words, FD is not a fictional disease—it really exists.

- E. Explain the pathophysiology of FD, including digestive tract motility, visceral hypersensitivity, and the brain-gastrointestinal interrelationship.
- F. Help establish realistic goals and allow patients to find their own disease management behaviors, including adjustments in lifestyle and symptom tolerance, since the symptoms of FD are repetitive and chronic.
- G. Explain that the medication used does not cure the disease, but rather helps in symptom improvement.

7.6.2 Adjustments to Lifestyle and Diet

The extant evidence on lifestyle and diet adjustments is insufficient, but it is generally recommended that patients avoid coffee, spicy food, fat, excessive drinking, and smoking and maintain a regular schedule and adequate amount of exercise. Food, emotional events, and environmental factors that cause or exacerbate symptoms should be identified and avoided. The principle of diet adjustments is to avoid foods that cause or exacerbate symptoms.

7.6.3 Medication

Medications for FD overall have a slight advantage over placebo, and since there are various disease mechanisms of FD, it is difficult for one medication to be effective for all patients [98]. There are also gender differences in pharmacokinetics [99]. Women have reduced drug metabolism as they generally have longer gastric emptying time, lower gastric pH levels, and smaller body mass but a larger plasma volume, higher body-fat ratio, and lower cytochrome P450 enzyme activity level. Due to these differences, women more frequently report medication side effects, especially in pregnancy, menopause, and old age [99]. This section summarizes the gender differences in treatment effects for patients with FD.

7.6.3.1 H. pylori Eradication

It was recently reported that extensive infiltration of CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells or macrophages accompanies H. pylori infection and that symptoms continue even after H. pylori eradiation among patients with H. pylori-positive FD, in whom mucosal infiltration of inflammatory cells was still observed; these findings indicate that H. pylori infection plays a role in FD. There were no differences in H. pylori prevalence between the FD group and healthy control group [100], posing difficulties for this explanation. However, as reports found that symptoms of FD ameliorated after eradicating H. pylori [17, 100], chronic gastritis due to H. pylori infection has been highlighted as the mechanism of FD. In other words, it is difficult to explain FD in all patients in terms of H. pylori infection, but chronic gastritis due to H. pylori infection is the cause of FD in some patients, who should be identified. The 2014 Kyoto consensus suggested that patients should be classified as having FD due to H. pylori infection when their symptoms ameliorate after H. pylori eradication and remain resolved for 6-12 months [101]. The reason why H. pylori eradication is suggested first for FD in various guidelines, including guidelines from the Asia Pacific, the United States, Canada, and Japan, is that several randomized controlled trials have reported positive results regarding the effects of *H. pylori* eradication [102–108] (Table 7.2).

A 2019 meta-analysis of 18 randomized controlled trials on H. pylori eradiation treatment among patients with FD reported a risk ratio (RR) of 1.18 (95% confidence interval [CI], 1.07–1.30; p < 0.01) in the eradication group compared to the control group [109]. There was moderate heterogeneity ($I^2 = 34\%$) in the studies, and the number needed to treat (NNT) was 15.0 [109]. Symptom improvement was related to whether the *H. pylori* prevalence was below 50% or above 50%. No significance was found in studies conducted in Asia, where the H. pylori prevalence is above 50% (RR 1.14; 95% CI, 0.99–1.33; $p = 0.08; I^2 = 37\%$). In studies conducted by the author's research team, symptoms of FD improved after H. pylori eradication, but the
Authors	Year	Enrolled studies	Follow up	Number	Symptom improvement	OR (95% CI)	NNT
Gisbert et al. [102]	2002	9 RCT	At least 6 months	Patients; 953 Control; 958	Eradication group; 43% (95% CI, 40–46%) Control group; 39% (95% CI, 36–42%)	1.20 (0.91–1.58)	25
Moayyedi et al. [103]	2006	17 RCT	At least 3 months	Patients; 1934 Control; 1632	Eradication group; 36% (range 15–75%) Control group; 29% (range 7–51%)	0.90 (0.86–0.94), 10% relative risk reduction (95% CI, 6–15%) in eradication group	14
Jin et al. [104]	2007	7 RCT	At least 1 month	Patients; 395 Control; 366	Eradication group; 74.4% (294/395) Control group; 47.3% (173/366)	3.61 (2.62–4.98)	MN
Zhao et al. [105]	2014	14 RCT	At least 12 months	Patients; 1490 Control; 1503	Eradication group; 40.6% (605/1490) Control group; 34.0% (511/1503)	1.38 (1.18–1.62)	15
OR odds ratio, CI con	nfidence interva	ıl, NNT number nee	ded to treat, RCT ran-	domized controlled	trials, NM not mentioned		

Table 7.2 Randomized controlled trials on the effects of *H. pylori* eradication in functional dyspepsia patients (since 2000)

response was not favorable in female patients [17, 110]. Possible explanations include a longer gastric emptying time [111], accompanying psychological symptoms [56, 112], and more frequent symptoms of FD [113], rather than inflammation due to *H. pylori* infection, among women. An interesting fact is that the mean values from the ¹³C-urea breath test, which is related to the concentration of *H. pylori* bacteria, were higher in women than in men [114]; this trend, which has been observed in patients with FD [115], may suggest gender differences in *H. pylori*-host interactions.

7.6.3.2 Proton Pump Inhibitors

Most studies have found that gastric acid secretion is normal in patients with FD, but it was observed that when acid contacts the duodenal mucosa, the proximal stomach is relaxed and becomes sensitive to stomach expansion, indicating that gastric acid may be the cause of gastritis and duodenitis in some patients. It has also been reported that proton pump inhibitors lead to significant symptomatic improvement in patients with FD, especially epigastric pain syndrome. According to a community-based cohort observational study investigating the effects of proton pump inhibitors, men responded better than women, and psychiatric medication was more effective in women [116]. This finding is in line with the mechanism of FD, through which men are affected more strongly by TRPV1 or ghrelin and women by anxiety and depression.

7.6.3.3 Prokinetics

A systematic meta-analysis of the randomized controlled studies that support the guidelines for FD in the 2017 joint guidelines issued by the American College of Gastroenterology and the Canadian Association of Gastroenterology (ACG/CAG) reported that prokinetics were effective regardless of subtype (EPS or PDS) (RR 0.81; 95% CI, 0.74–0.89; $I^2 = 91\%$; NNT, 7) [108]. In terms of gender and sex difference, there were gender differences in prokinetics that demonstrated effectiveness for IBS, such as the 5-HT₃ antagonist alosetron and the 5-HT₄ agonist tegaserod [56], but there have been no studies on

gender differences in the effect of prokinetics on FD. Since the gender differences in the mechanisms of FD can be explained by men being more affected by TRPV1 or ghrelin and women by anxiety and depression, it is expected that the effect of prokinetics on FD will be greater in men.

7.6.3.4 Antidepressants

Several studies have investigated tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) [31, 117]. In a meta-analysis of 1241 patients in 13 randomized controlled studies, antidepressants were effective in treating FD [118]. Another multicenter randomized controlled study reported that amitriptyline, but not escitalopram, appears to benefit some patients with FD, particularly those with ulcer-like (painful) FD [119]. However, patients with delayed gastric emptying did not respond to these drugs [119]. In these two studies, there were no analysis regarding the sex/gender differences of treatments. Augmentation therapy, in which a drug with a different mechanism is added to enhance the effect, has recently received attention as another treatment strategy for depression for patients with severe symptoms. The idea is to maximize effectiveness and minimize side effects [120]. Many studies have suggested gender differences in the effectiveness of TCAs and SSRIs on depression [121–125]. For example, fluvoxamine, which is an SSRI, was more effective among young women than among men or women over the age of 44. It is hypothesized that estrogen affects serotonin synthesis and activity by binding with serotonin receptors [125]. Multiple other studies found that women responded better to SSRI antidepressants than men [126–129], which may reflect the fact that FD is more closely related to depression and anxiety among women. However, further studies are needed due to inconsistent results; for instance, a recent study found no gender differences in the effect of low-dose antidepressants on intractable FD [123].

7.6.3.5 Targeting the Gut Microbiota

A recent study found that the concentration of microbiota in the duodenal mucosa was correlated

with the symptom severity of FD, suggesting that antibiotics may be helpful for patients with FD [130, 131]. Rifaximin, an antibiotic that is not absorbed, has been reported to improve the gut microbiome and thereby improve inflammation in the intestine and reduce visceral hypersensitivity [130, 132]. A randomized study in China found that overall symptoms of FD, postprandial discomfort, and burping improved in a rifaximin group compared to a placebo group among patients with FD excluding those with IBS [73]. It is interesting that postprandial discomfort and overall symptoms of FD improved in a lasting manner among women compared to among men [73]. The exact mechanism needs additional research. In a study of yogurt containing Lactobacillus gasseri OLL2716 and FD, symptoms improved in patients with postprandial distress syndrome, but no gender-stratified analysis was conducted, possibly due to the small sample size [133].

7.6.3.6 Psychotherapy

Psychotherapy can be an effective treatment for FD. Therefore, for patients who do not respond to medication at all, have psychiatric diagnoses or experience difficulty in conducting everyday routines, or have somatization disorder, it is advisable to seek a psychiatric consultation. Augmentation therapy is used frequently in psychiatry [106] (Table 7.3), because various factors cause FD and the effects of psychiatric medication can differ by brain area [106, 120]. Since the brain structure is different in men and women and symptoms of FD are influenced by depression and anxiety more among women than among men, it is expected that psychotherapy will be more effective among women.

7.7 Conclusions

FD affects up to 16% of otherwise healthy individuals in the general population [134]. Researchers have recently begun to understand that men and women have different symptoms and responses to treatment for each disease, and tailored medicine is entering the spotlight,

Table 7.3 Medications used in augmentation therapy (adapted from Sperber and Drossman [106])

Central drug with	SSRI with TCA
central drug	SNRI with SSRI
Central drug with	SSRI with anticholinergic
peripheral drug	TCA with pregabalin or
	gabapentin
Non-pharmacological	Hypnosis with TCA
treatment with central	CBT with SSRI
drug	
Non-pharmacological	Hypnosis with
treatment with	anticholinergic
peripheral drug	CBT with pregabalin or
	gabapentin
Central drug with	Hypnosis with SSRI and
non-pharmacological	anticholinergic agent
treatment and peripheral	CBT with SNRI and
drug	pregabalin

SSRI selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, *SNRI* selective noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, *CBT* cognitive-behavioral therapy

increasing the interest in sex-/gender-specific medicine. In most studies of FD, an important FGID, it has been consistently reported that the prevalence is higher in women than in men, patterns of symptoms are different, and FD has a particular impact on women's QoL. Risk factors of FD include psychological comorbidity, acute gastroenteritis, female sex, smoking, use of NSAIDs, and *H. pylori* infection [134]. The pathophysiology remains incompletely understood, but it is probably related to disordered communication between the gut and the brain, leading to motility disturbances, visceral hypersensitivity, and alterations in GI microbiota, mucosal and immune function, and central nervous system processing [134]. There are gender differences in the mechanism of FD [16], as brain-gut axis related factors such as depression and anxiety play a larger role in women, whereas ghrelin and TPRV1 are more strongly implicated in men. The therapy of FD includes multimodality approach. That is, eradication therapy should be offered to patients with FD who test positive for H. pylori. Other therapies with evidence of effectiveness include proton pump inhibitors, histamine-2 receptor antagonists, prokinetics, and central neuromodulators [134]. Since the gender differences in the mechanisms of FD can be explained by men being more affected by TRPV1 or ghrelin and women by anxiety and depression, it is expected that the effect of prokinetics on FD will be greater in men, similar to proton pump inhibitors. To develop effective medications, it is necessary to analyze the effect of each drug on FD by gender.

References

- Kim JS, Lee KJ, Kim JH, Hahm KB, Cho SW. Functional gastrointestinal disorders in patients referred to specialist gastroenterologists in a tertiary hospital. Korean J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2004;10:111–7.
- Drossman DA, Hasler WL. Rome IV—Functional GI disorders: disorders of gut-brain interaction. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:1257–61.
- Choi YJ, Park YS, Kim N, Kim YS, Lee SM, Lee DH, et al. Gender differences in ghrelin, nociception genes, psychological factors and quality of life in functional dyspepsia. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23:8053–61.
- Stanghellini V, Chan FK, Hasler WL, Malagelada JR, Suzuki H, Tack J, et al. Gastroduodenal disorders. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:1380–92.
- Tack J, Talley NJ, Camilleri M, et al. Functional gastroduodenal disorders. Gastroenterology. 2006;130:1466–79.
- Mahadeva S, Goh KL. Epidemiology of functional dyspepsia: a global perspective. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12:2661–6.
- Aro P, Talley NJ, Ronkainen J, Storskrubb T, Vieth M, Johansson SE, et al. Anxiety is associated with uninvestigated and functional dyspepsia (Rome III criteria) in a Swedish population-based study. Gastroenterology. 2009;137:94–100.
- Zagari RM, Law GR, Fuccio L, Cennamo V, Gilthorpe MS, Forman D, et al. Epidemiology of functional dyspepsia and subgroups in the Italian general population: an endoscopic study. Gastroenterology. 2010;138:1302–11.
- Zhao Y, Zou D, Wang R, Ma X, Yan X, Man X, et al. Dyspepsia and irritable bowel syndrome in China: a population-based endoscopy study of prevalence and impact. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2010;32:562–72.
- Matsuzaki J, Suzuki H, Asakura K, Fukushima Y, Inadomi JM, Takebayashi T, et al. Classification of functional dyspepsia based on concomitant bowel symptoms. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2012;24:325–e164.
- Kim SE, Park HK, Kim N, Joo YE, Baik GH, Shin JE, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of functional dyspepsia: a nationwide multicenter prospective study in Korea. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2014;48:e12–8.

- 12. Lu CL, Lang HC, Chang FY, Chen CY, Luo JC, Wang SS, et al. Prevalence and health/social impacts of functional dyspepsia in Taiwan: a study based on the Rome Criteria questionnaire Survey assisted by endoscopic exclusion among a physical check-up population. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2005;40:402–11.
- Kim SE, Kim N, Lee JY, Park KS, Shin JE, Nam K, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of functional dyspepsia in health check-up population: a nationwide multicenter prospective study. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2018;24:603–13.
- Ford AC, Marwaha A, Sood R, Moayyedi P. Global prevalence of, and risk factors for, uninvestigated dyspepsia: a meta-analysis. Gut. 2015;64:1049–57.
- 15. Aziz I, Palsson OS, Törnblom H, Sperber AD, Whitehead WE, Simrén M. Epidemiology, clinical characteristics, and associations for symptom-based Rome IV functional dyspepsia in adults in the USA, Canada, and the UK: a cross-sectional populationbased study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;3:252–62.
- Kim YS, Kim N. Functional dyspepsia: a narrative review with a focus on sex-gender differences. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2020;26:322–34.
- Kim SE, Park YS, Kim N, Kim MS, Jo HJ, Shin CM, et al. Effect of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication on functional dyspepsia. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2013;19:233–43.
- Shaib Y, El-Serag HB. The prevalence and risk factors of functional dyspepsia in a multiethnic population in the United States. Am J Gastroenterol. 2004;99:2210–6.
- Campesi I, Romani A, Franconi F. The Sex–gender effects in the road to tailored botanicals. Nutrients. 2019;11:1637.
- Geeraerts B, Van Oudenhove L, Fischler B, Vandenberghe J, Caenepeel P, Janssens J, et al. Influence of abuse history on gastric sensorimotor function in functional dyspepsia. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2009;21:33–41.
- Oshima T, Fukui H, Watari J, Miwa H. Childhood abuse history is associated with the development of dyspepsia: a population-based survey in Japan. J Gastroenterol. 2015;50:744–50.
- Van Oudenhove L, Vandenberghe J, Vos R, Fischler B, Demyttenaere K, Tack J. Abuse history, depression, and somatization are associated with gastric sensitivity and gastric emptying in functional dyspepsia. Psychosom Med. 2011;73:648–55.
- Hutson WR, Roehrkasse RL, Wald A. Influence of gender and menopause on gastric emptying and motility. Gastroenterology. 1989;96:11–7.
- 24. Drossman DA, Li Z, Andruzzi E, Temple RD, Talley NJ, Thompson WG, et al. U.S. householder survey of functional gastrointestinal disorders. Prevalence, sociodemography, and health impact. Dig Dis Sci. 1993;38:1569–80.
- 25. Talley NJ, Zinsmeister AR, Schleck CD, Melton LJ 3rd. Dyspepsia and dyspepsia subgroups:

a population-based study. Gastroenterology. 1992;102:1259–68.

- Stanghellini V, Tosetti C, Paternicò A, De Giorgio R, Barbara G, Salvioli B, et al. Predominant symptoms identify different subgroups in functional dyspepsia. Am J Gastroenterol. 1999;94:2080–5.
- Stanghellini V. Three-month prevalence rates of gastrointestinal symptoms and the influence of demographic factors: results from the Domestic/ International Gastroenterology Surveillance Study (DIGEST). Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl. 1999;231:20–8.
- Chang CS, Poon SK, Lien HC, Chen GH. The incidence of reflux esophagitis among the Chinese. Am J Gastroenterol. 1997;92:668–71.
- Johnsen R, Bernersen B, Straume B, Førde OH, Bostad L, Burhol PG. Prevalences of endoscopic and histological findings in subjects with and without dyspepsia. BMJ. 1991;302:749–52.
- Olafsdottir LB, Gudjonsson H, Jonsdottir HH, Thjodleifsson B. Natural history of functional dyspepsia: a 10-year population-based study. Digestion. 2010;81:53–61.
- Talley NJ. Functional dyspepsia: advances in diagnosis and therapy. Gut Liver. 2017;113:349–57.
- Welén K, Faresjö A, Faresjö T. Functional dyspepsia affects women more than men in daily life: a case-control study in primary care. Gend Med. 2008;5:62–73.
- 33. Agréus L, Svärdsudd K, Nyrén O, Tibblin G. The epidemiology of abdominal symptoms: prevalence and demographic characteristics in a Swedish adult population. A report from the Abdominal Symptom Study. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1994;29:102–9.
- Ruth M, Månsson I, Sandberg N. The prevalence of symptoms suggestive of esophageal disorders. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1991;26:73–81.
- Isolauri J, Laippala P. Prevalence of symptoms suggestive of gastro-oesophageal reflux disease in an adult population. Ann Med. 1995;27:67–70.
- 36. de Bortoli N, Tolone S, Frazzoni M, Martinucci I, Sgherri G, Albano E, et al. Gastroesophageal reflux disease, functional dyspepsia and irritable bowel syndrome: common overlapping gastrointestinal disorders. Ann Gastroenterol. 2018;31:639–48.
- Quigley EM, Lacy BE. Overlap of functional dyspepsia and GERD – diagnostic and treatment implications. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;10:175–86.
- 38. von Wulffen M, Talley NJ, Hammer J, McMaster J, Rich G, Shah A, et al. Overlap of irritable bowel syndrome and functional dyspepsia in the clinical setting: prevalence and risk factors. Dig Dis Sci. 2019;64:480–6.
- 39. Lei WY, Chang WC, Wen SH, Wong MW, Hung JS, Yi CH, et al. Impact of concomitant dyspepsia and irritable bowel syndrome on symptom burden in patients with gastroesophageal reflux disease. J Formos Med Assoc. 2019;118:797–806.

- 40. Lee SW, Lee TY, Lien HC, Yeh HZ, Chang CS, Ko CW. The risk factors and quality of life in patients with overlapping functional dyspepsia or peptic ulcer disease with gastroesophageal reflux disease. Gut Liver. 2014;8:160–4.
- 41. Yao X, Yang YS, Cui LH, Sun G, Peng LH, Wang WF, et al. The overlap of upper functional gastrointestinal disorders with irritable bowel syndrome in Chinese outpatients: a multicenter study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;31:1584–93.
- 42. Kaji M, Fujiwara Y, Shiba M, Kohata Y, Yamagami H, Tanigawa T, et al. Prevalence of overlaps between GERD, FD and IBS and impact on health-related quality of life. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2010;25:1151–6.
- 43. Jarbøl DE, Rasmussen S, Balasubramaniam K, Elnegaard S, Haastrup PF. Self-rated health and functional capacity in individuals reporting overlapping symptoms of gastroesophageal reflux disease, functional dyspepsia and irritable bowel syndrome – a population based study. BMC Gastroenterol. 2017;17:65.
- 44. Hantoro IF, Syam AF, Mudjaddid E, Setiati S, Abdullah M. Factors associated with health-related quality of life in patients with functional dyspepsia. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2018;16:83.
- Lacy BE, Weiser KT, Kennedy AT, Crowell MD, Talley NJ. Functional dyspepsia: the economic impact to patients. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2013;38:170–7.
- 46. Koloski NA, Talley NJ, Boyce PM. Predictors of health care seeking for irritable bowel syndrome and nonulcer dyspepsia: a critical review of the literature on symptom and psychosocial factors. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:1340–9.
- Napthali K, Koloski N, Walker MM, Talley NJ. Women and functional dyspepsia. Womens Health (Lond). 2016;12:241–50.
- Mulak A, Taché Y, Larauche M. Sex hormones in the modulation of irritable bowel syndrome. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:2433–48.
- Gill RC, Murphy PD, Hooper HR, Bowes KL, Kingma YJ. Effect of the menstrual cycle on gastric emptying. Digestion. 1987;36:168–74.
- Datz FL, Christian PE, Moore J. Gender-related differences in gastric emptying. J Nucl Med. 1987;28:1204–7.
- Chen TS, Doong ML, Chang FY, Lee SD, Wang PS. Effects of sex steroid hormones on gastric emptying and gastrointestinal transit in rats. Am J Phys. 1995;268:G171–6.
- Meerveld BG, Johnson AC. Mechanisms of stressinduced visceral pain. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2018;24:7–18.
- Hellström B, Anderberg UM. Pain perception across the menstrual cycle phases in women with chronic pain. Percept Mot Skills. 2003;96:201–11.
- Chaban V. Estrogen modulation of visceral nociceptors. Curr Trends Neurol. 2013;7:51–5.

- 55. Houghton LA, Heitkemper M, Crowell M, Emmanuel A, Halpert A, McRoberts JA, et al. Age, gender and women's health and the patient. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:1332–43.
- 56. Flier SN, Rose S. Is functional dyspepsia of particular concern in women? A review of gender differences in epidemiology, pathophysiologic mechanisms, clinical presentation, and management. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101:644–53.
- Li X, Cao Y, Wong RK, Ho KY, Wilder-Smith CH. Visceral and somatic sensory function in functional dyspepsia. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2013;25:246–53.e165.
- Dhaka A, Uzzell V, Dubin AE, Mathur J, Petrus M, Bandell M, et al. TRPV1 is activated by both acidic and basic pH. J Neurosci. 2009;29:153–8.
- Mayer EA, Tillisch K. The brain-gut axis in abdominal pain syndromes. Ann Rev Med. 2011;62:381–96.
- Bangasser DA, Valentino RJ. Sex differences in molecular and cellular substrates of stress. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2012;32:709–23.
- Zeng F, Sun R, He Z, Chen Y, Lei D, Yin T, et al. Altered functional connectivity of the amygdala and sex differences in functional dyspepsia. Clin Transl Gastroenterol. 2019;10:e00046.
- Lee IS, Wang H, Chae Y, Preissl H, Enck P. Functional neuroimaging studies in functional dyspepsia patients: a systematic review. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;28:793–805.
- 63. Zeng F, Qin W, Liang F, Liu J, Tang Y, Liu X, et al. Abnormal resting brain activity in patients with functional dyspepsia is related to symptom severity. Gastroenterology. 2011;141:499–506.
- 64. Zhou G, Qin W, Zeng F, Liu P, Yang X, von Deneen KM, et al. White-matter microstructural changes in functional dyspepsia: a diffusion tensor imaging study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2013;108:260–9.
- Fukui H, Xu X, Miwa H. Role of gut microbiota-gut hormone axis in the pathophysiology of functional gastrointestinal disorders. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2018;24:367–86.
- Flak MB, Neves JF, Blumberg RS. Immunology. Welcome to the microgenderome. Science. 2013;339:1044–5.
- 67. Markle JG, Frank DN, Mortin-Toth S, Robertson CE, Feazel LM, Rolle-Kampczyk U, et al. Sex differences in the gut microbiome drive hormone-dependent regulation of autoimmunity. Science. 2013;339:1084–8.
- Santos-Marcos JA, Rangel-Zuñiga OA, Jimenez-Lucena R, Quintana-Navarro GM, Garcia-Carpintero S, Malagon MM, et al. Influence of gender and menopausal status on gut microbiota. Maturitas. 2018;116:43–53.
- 69. de la Cuesta-Zuluaga J, Kelley ST, Chen Y, Escobar JS, Mueller NT, Ley RE, et al. Age- and sex-dependent patterns of gut microbial diversity in human adults. mSystems. 2019;4:e00261–19.

- Takagi T, Naito Y, Inoue R, Kashiwagi S, Uchiyama K, Mizushima K, et al. Differences in gut microbiota associated with age, sex, and stool consistency in healthy Japanese subjects. J Gastroenterol. 2019;54:53–63.
- Kim N. Sex- and gender-related issues of gut microbiota in gastrointestinal tract diseases. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2021;78:9–23.
- Yoon K, Kim N. The effect of microbiota on colon carcinogenesis. J Cancer Prev. 2018;23:117–25.
- 73. Tan VP, Liu KS, Lam FY, Hung IF, Yuen MF, Leung WK. Randomised clinical trial: rifaximin versus placebo for the treatment of functional dyspepsia. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2017;45:767–76.
- 74. Shin A, Preidis GA, Shulman R, Kashyap PC. The gut microbiome in adult and pediatric functional gastrointestinal disorders. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;17:256–74.
- 75. Igarashi M, Nakae H, Matsuoka T, Takahashi S, Hisada T, Tomita J, et al. Alteration in the gastric microbiota and its restoration by probiotics in patients with functional dyspepsia. BMJ Open Gastroenterol. 2017;4:e000144.
- Vanheel H, Farré R. Changes in gastrointestinal tract function and structure in functional dyspepsia. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;10:142–9.
- 77. Vanheel H, Carbone F, Valvekens L, Simren M, Tornblom H, Vanuytsel T, et al. Pathophysiological abnormalities in functional dyspepsia subgroups according to the Rome III Criteria. Am J Gastroenterol. 2017;112:132–40.
- Mori H, Suzuki H, Matsuzaki J, Taniguchi K, Shimizu T, Yamane T, et al. Gender difference of gastric emptying in healthy volunteers and patients with functional dyspepsia. Digestion. 2017;95: 72–8.
- Abid S, Anis MK, Azam Z, Jafri W, Lindberg G. Satiety drinking tests: effects of caloric content, drinking rate, gender, age, and body mass index. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2009;44:551–6.
- Mearadji B, Penning C, Vu MK, van der Schaar PJ, van Petersen AS, Kamerling IM, et al. Influence of gender on proximal gastric motor and sensory function. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:2066–73.
- Kojima M, Hosoda H, Date Y, Nakazato M, Matsuo H, Kangawa K. Ghrelin is a growth-hormonereleasing acylated peptide from stomach. Nature. 1999;402:656–60.
- van der Lely AJ, Tschöp M, Heiman ML, Ghigo E. Biological, physiological, pathophysiological, and pharmacological aspects of ghrelin. Endocr Rev. 2004;25:426–57.
- Ogiso K, Asakawa A, Amitani H, Inui A. Ghrelin: a gut hormonal basis of motility regulation and functional dyspepsia. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011;26:67–72.
- 84. Shindo T, Futagami S, Hiratsuka T, Horie A, Hamamoto T, Ueki N, et al. Comparison of gastric emptying and plasma ghrelin levels in patients with

functional dyspepsia and non-erosive reflux disease. Digestion. 2009;79:65–72.

- Choi YJ, Kim N, Yoon H, Shin CM, Park YS, Park JH, et al. Increase in plasma acyl ghrelin levels is associated with abatement of dyspepsia following *Helicobacter pylori* eradication. J Gastroenterol. 2016;51:548–59.
- 86. Shinomiya T, Fukunaga M, Akamizu T, Irako T, Yokode M, Kangawa K, et al. Plasma acylated ghrelin levels correlate with subjective symptoms of functional dyspepsia in female patients. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2005;40:648–53.
- 87. Arisawa T, Tahara T, Shibata T, Nagasaka M, Nakamura M, Kamiya Y, et al. Genetic polymorphisms of cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1) are associated with functional dyspepsia in Japanese women. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2008;17:1039–43.
- Kourikou A, Karamanolis GP, Dimitriadis GD, Triantafyllou K. Gene polymorphisms associated with functional dyspepsia. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21:7672–82.
- Hwang SW, Kim N, Jung HK, Park JH, Choi YJ, Kim H, et al. The association of SLC6A4 5-HTTLPR and TRPV1 945G> C with functional dyspepsia in Korea. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;29:1770–7.
- Vanheel H, Vicario M, Vanuytsel T, Van Oudenhove L, Martinez C, Keita ÅV, et al. Impaired duodenal mucosal integrity and low-grade inflammation in functional dyspepsia. Gut. 2014;63:262–71.
- 91. Komori K, Ihara E, Minoda Y, Ogino H, Sasaki T, Fujiwara M, et al. The altered mucosal barrier function in the duodenum plays a role in the pathogenesis of functional dyspepsia. Dig Dis Sci. 2019;64:3228–39.
- Zhou Z, Zhang L, Ding M, Luo Z, Yuan S, Bansal MB, et al. Estrogen decreases tight junction protein ZO-1 expression in human primary gut tissues. Clin Immunol. 2017;183:174–80.
- 93. Zhou Z, Bian C, Luo Z, Guille C, Ogunrinde E, Wu J, et al. Progesterone decreases gut permeability through upregulating occludin expression in primary human gut tissues and Caco-2 cells. Sci Rep. 2019;9:8367.
- 94. Lee JY, Kim N, Choi YJ, Park JH, Ashktorab H, Smoot DT, et al. Expression of tight junction proteins according to functional dyspepsia subtype and sex. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2020;26:248–58.
- Duncanson KR, Talley NJ, Walker MM, Burrows TL. Food and functional dyspepsia: a systematic review. J Hum Nutr Diet. 2018;31:390–407.
- Monrroy H, Borghi G, Pribic T, Galan C, Nieto A, Amigo N, et al. Biological response to meal ingestion: gender differences. Nutrients. 2019;11:702.
- 97. Keshteli AH, Haghighatdoost F, Azadbakht L, Daghaghzadeh H, Feinle-Bisset C, Afshar H, et al. Dietary glycaemic index and glycaemic load and upper gastrointestinal disorders: results from the SEPAHAN study. J Hum Nutr Diet. 2017;30:714–23.
- Wang YP, Herndon CC, Lu CL. Nonpharmacological approach in the management of

functional dyspepsia. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2019;26:6–15.

- Islam MM, Iqbal U, Walther BA, Nguyen PA, Li YJ, Dubey NK, et al. Gender-based personalized pharmacotherapy: a systematic review. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2017;295:1305–17.
- 100. Gwee KA, Teng L, Wong RK, Ho KY, Sutedja DS, Yeoh KG. The response of Asian patients with functional dyspepsia to eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2009;21:327–34.
- Sugano K, Tack J, Kuipers EJ, Graham DY, El-Omar EM, Miura S, et al. Kyoto global consensus report on *Helicobacter pylori* gastritis. Gut. 2015;64:1353–67.
- 102. Gisbert JP, Calvet X, Gabriel R, Pajares JM. *Helicobacter pylori* infection and functional dyspepsia. Meta-analysis of efficacy of eradication therapy. Med Clin (Barc). 2002;118:405–9.
- 103. Moayyedi P, Soo S, Deeks J, Delaney B, Harris A, Innes M, et al. Eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* for non-ulcer dyspepsia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2006;19:CD002096.
- 104. Jin X, Li YM. Systematic review and meta-analysis from Chinese literature: the association between *Helicobacter pylori* eradication and improvement of functional dyspepsia. Helicobacter. 2007;12: 541–6.
- 105. Zhao B, Zhao J, Cheng WF, Shi WJ, Liu W, Pan XL, et al. Efficacy of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy on functional dyspepsia: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies with 12-month follow-up. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2014;48:241–7.
- 106. Sperber A, Drossman D. Review article: the functional abdominal pain syndrome. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;33:514–24.
- 107. Miwa H, Ghoshal UC, Gonlachanvit S, Gwee KA, Ang TL, Chang FY, et al. Asian consensus report on functional dyspepsia. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;27:626–41.
- 108. Moayyedi P, Lacy BE, Andrews CN, Enns RA, Howden CW, Vakil N. ACG and CAG Clinical guideline: management of dyspepsia. Am J Gastroenterol. 2017;112:988–1013.
- 109. Kang SJ, Park B, Shin CM. *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy for functional dyspepsia: a metaanalysis by region and *H. pylori* prevalence. J Clin Med. 2019;8:1324.
- 110. Kim SE, Kim N, Park SM, Kim WH, Baik GH, Jo Y, et al. Female gender is a poor predictive factor of functional dyspepsia resolution after *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: a prospective, multi-center Korean trial. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2018;72:286–94.
- 111. Lorena SL, Tinois E, Brunetto SQ, Camargo EE, Mesquita MA. Gastric emptying and intragastric distribution of a solid meal in functional dyspepsia: influence of gender and anxiety. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2004;38:230–6.
- 112. Winthorst WH, Post WJ, Meesters Y, Penninx BW, Nolen WA. Seasonality in depressive and anxiety symptoms among primary care patients and

in patients with depressive and anxiety disorders; results from the Netherlands Study of Depression and Anxiety. BMC Psychiatry. 2011;11:198.

- 113. Kawakubo H, Tanaka Y, Tsuruoka N, Hara M, Yamamoto K, Hidaka H, et al. Upper gastrointestinal symptoms are more frequent in female than male young healthy Japanese volunteers as evaluated by questionnaire. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;22:248–53.
- 114. Shmuely H, Yahav J, Samra Z, Chodick G, Ofek I. Elevated 13C urea breath test values females infected with *Helicobacter pylori*. Dig Dis Sci. 2007;52:402–4.
- 115. Moshkowitz M, Horowitz N, Beit-Or A, Halpern Z, Santo E. Gender-associated differences in urea breath test for *Helicobacter pylori* infection referrals and results among dyspeptic patients. World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol. 2012;3:80–4.
- 116. Ahlawat SK, Richard Locke G, Weaver AL, Farmer SA, Yawn BP, Talley NJ. Dyspepsia consulters and patterns of management: a population-based study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2005;22:251–9.
- 117. Talley NJ. Functional dyspepsia: new insights into pathogenesis and therapy. Korean J Intern Med. 2016;31:444–56.
- 118. Ford AC, Luthra P, Tack J, Boeckxstaens GE, Moayyedi P, Talley NJ. Efficacy of psychotropic drugs in functional dyspepsia: systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut. 2017;66:411–20.
- 119. Talley NJ, Locke GR, Saito YA, Almazar AE, Bouras EP, Howden CW, et al. Effect of amitriptyline and escitalopram on functional dyspepsia: a multicenter, randomized controlled study. Gastroenterology. 2015;149:340–9.
- 120. Drossman DA, Li Z, Toner BB, Diamant NE, Creed FH, Thompson D, et al. Functional bowel disorders. Dig Dis Sci. 1995;40:986–95.
- Keers R, Aitchison KJ. Gender differences in antidepressant drug response. Int Rev Psychiatry. 2010;22:485–500.
- 122. Dibaise JK, Islam RS, Dueck AC, Roarke MC, Crowell MD. Psychological distress in Rome III functional dyspepsia patients presenting for testing of gastric emptying. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;28:196–205.
- 123. Parker G, Parker K, Austin MP, Mitchell P, Brotchie H. Gender differences in response to differing antidepressant drug classes: two negative studies. Psychol Med. 2003;33:1473–7.

- 124. Luo L, Du L, Shen J, Cen M, Dai N. Benefit of small dose antidepressants for functional dyspepsia: experience from a tertiary center in eastern China. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019;98:e17501.
- 125. Naito S, Sato K, Yoshida K, Higuchi H, Takahashi H, Kamata M, et al. Gender differences in the clinical effects of fluvoxamine and milnacipran in Japanese major depressive patients. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2007;61:421–7.
- 126. Kornstein SG, Schatzberg AF, Thase ME, Yonkers KA, McCullough JP, Keitner GI, et al. Gender differences in treatment response to sertraline versus imipramine in chronic depression. Am J Psychiatry. 2000;157:1445–52.
- 127. Khan A, Brodhead AE, Schwartz KA, Kolts RL, Brown WA. Sex differences in antidepressant response in recent antidepressant clinical trials. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2005;25:318–24.
- 128. Berlanga C, Flores-Ramos M. Different gender response to serotonergic and noradrenergic antidepressants. A comparative study of the efficacy of citalopram and reboxetine. J Affect Disord. 2006;95:119–23.
- 129. Young EA, Kornstein SG, Marcus SM, Harvey AT, Warden D, Wisniewski SR, et al. Sex differences in response to citalopram: a STAR*D report. J Psychiatr Res. 2009;43:503–11.
- 130. Zhong L, Shanahan ER, Raj A, Koloski NA, Fletcher L, Morrison M, et al. Dyspepsia and the microbiome: time to focus on the small intestine. Gut. 2017;66:1168–9.
- 131. Mirbagheri SS, Mirbagheri SA, Nabavizadeh B, Entezari P, Ostovaneh MR, Hosseini SM, et al. Impact of microscopic duodenitis on symptomatic response to *Helicobacter pylori* eradication in functional dyspepsia. Dig Dis Sci. 2015;60:163–7.
- 132. Xu D, Gao J, Gillilland M 3rd, Wu X, Song I, Kao JY, et al. Rifaximin alters intestinal bacteria and prevents stress-induced gut inflammation and visceral hyperalgesia in rats. Gastroenterology. 2014;146:484–96.
- 133. Ohtsu T, Takagi A, Uemura N, Inoue K, Sekino H, Kawashima A, et al. The ameliorating effect of *Lactobacillus gasseri* OLL2716 on functional dyspepsia in *Helicobacter pylori*-uninfected individuals: a randomized controlled study. Digestion. 2017;96:92–102.
- 134. Ford AC, Mahadeva S, Carbone MF, Brian E, Lacy BE, Talley NJ. Functional dyspepsia. Lancet. 2020;396:1689–702.

Helicobacter pylori Infection and Gastritis

Nayoung Kim

8.1 Introduction

Since Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) was first cultured from gastric mucosa in 1983, it has been found to cause not only peptic ulcers and chronic gastritis but also malignant gastric mucosal lymphoma and gastric cancer. Thus, peptic ulcers, which had been classified as an intractable disease due to complications such as frequent recurrence and bleeding, have become a treatable infectious disease. H. pylori is a gram-negative, spiral bacterium that infects more than 50% of the world population. The innate and adaptive immune response proceeds vigorously after exposure to H. pylori, but in most cases, the infection lasts for a lifetime unless artificial eradication is performed [1]. A 1998 study on the prevalence of serum H. pylori among all ages in South Korea reported that the prevalence increased steadily until the age of 49 (Fig. 8.1a), but when the prevalence according to sex was compared, there was no difference in H. pylori infection by sex until the age of 15, whereas H. pylori infection became significantly more common among males than among females after the age of 16 [2] (Fig. 8.1b). This phenomenon was

also found in a 2016-2017 epidemiological study [3]. Males also had a higher rate of H. pylori eradication than females [3], but the rate of reinfection after H. pylori eradication was also higher among males than females [4], suggesting that the disproportionately higher H. pylori infection rate among males will most likely remain stable. Eighty percent of individuals infected with H. pylori do not experience any issues for their lifetime, but 1-3% develop gastric cancer, which is twice more prevalent among males than females worldwide. Environmental factors such as consumption of tobacco or alcohol may be responsible for this sex/gender difference, but it has been hypothesized that a partial cause is the sex/gender difference in gastritis due to H. pylori infection. The higher prevalence of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia among males supports this hypothesis [5]. In the past 15 years, atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia decreased among females but remained steady among males [6], indicating that environmental factors such as tobacco and alcohol together with *H. pylori* infection contribute to atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia. An interesting fact is that H. pylori infection increases the risk of metabolic syndrome [7]. Total cholesterol was significantly higher among males, while a reduction in high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol was clearly observed in females [8], indicating that the systemic effects of H. pylori infection are different by sex/gender. This section examines the

Check for updates

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Korea (Republic of) e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_8



Fig. 8.1 (a) Prevalence of *H. pylori* by age and sex in the 1998 national epidemiological study. The prevalence of *H. pylori* increased with age and peaked in the 40–49 age group. (b) The serum prevalence of *H. pylori* among chil-

dren younger than 16 of age and those older than 16. The prevalence among males was significantly higher than that among females in the 16 and above age group. *p < 0.05; *M* month, *yr* years (adapted from Kim et al. [2])

epidemiology of *H. pylori* infection, re-infection after eradication, and atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia from *H. pylori* infection, as well as sex/gender differences in lipid metabolism.

8.2 Sex/Gender Differences in the Epidemiology of *H. pylori*

A research society dedicated to *H. pylori* (currently the Korean College of Helicobacter and Upper Gastrointestinal Research) conducted a study with 102 nationally gathered researchers and a total of 5732 participants (2336 individuals in the 0-15 age group and 3396 individuals in the 16–79 age group) who were asymptomatic to obtain insights into the prevalence of H. pylori infection in South Korea in 1998 [2, 9]. The most prominent strength of this study is that the study sample included all ages from infants according to the national demographic distribution. A high percentage (24.4%) of infants showed H. pylori immunoglobulin G (IgG) obtained from the mother's placenta until 6 months after birth. H. pylori IgG disappeared from 7 to 12 months, with a prevalence of 7.4% in this age group, and the prevalence was lowest at 6.5% from age 1 to 3 [2] (Fig. 8.1a). The prevalence increased again until it peaked at 78.5% among individuals in their 40s and decreased to 67.0% among those in their 70s [2] (Fig. 8.1a). The prevalence of H. pylori increased gradually from 7 months after birth to the age of 9 years (12.7%), dramatically to the 10-12 age group (27.3%), and by around 1.7% each year until the 31-40 age group (74.0%). This trend was predominantly interpreted as reflecting a cohort effect (i.e., an effect pertaining to a defined population group tracked after estimation at a certain time point) by which the infection occurs before the age of 5 and lingers for a lifetime, rather than as indicating that new infections steadily occurred [10, 11]. The prevalence did not show a significant sex/gender difference in individuals younger than 15 (18.0% among males and 16.1% among females) but was significantly higher among males than females (69.4% and 64.2%) in individuals older than 16 (p = 0.003) [2] (Fig. 8.1b). This finding was confirmed repeatedly in epidemiological studies conducted in 2005 [12], 2011 [13], and 2016–2017 [3], indicating that H. pylori infection continues to occur after the age of 15 [3] (Fig. 8.2). A multivariate analysis of risk factors related to H. pylori infection found that among adults (older than 16), the number of people sharing a room while growing up (during elementary or middle school age) and economic status while growing up were associated with significant differences in the prevalence of





Fig. 8.2 (a) Changes in the serum prevalence of *H. pylori* among individuals older than 16 without a history of *H. pylori* eradication in South Korea in 1998, 2005, 2011, and 2016–2017. A sex/gender analysis shows that the

prevalence was significantly higher in males than females at all four time points. (b) Changes by age demonstrate that the serum prevalence of *H. pylori* steadily decreased (**p* for trend <0.05) (adapted from Lim et al. [3])

H. pylori infection, while among children (younger than 15), the maternal education level, household income, and drinking water showed significant associations [9]. In both children and adults, socioeconomic status and the living environment in adolescence were found to be important factors in H. pylori infection. This result is similar to the findings from a study conducted in Turkey among preschool-age and school-age children that reported low income, density of children per household, and use of a heater as important risk factors [14]. In other words, it can be inferred that *H. pylori* infection occurs directly from person to person due to contacts in a dense living environment and poor socioeconomic status during adolescence. Higher H. pylori prevalence among men older than 16 years of age than among women of the same age indicates that close contacts are more common or that hygiene is poorer among school-age boys compared to girls. Another interesting finding is that the reinfection rate after H. pylori eradication through the standard triple therapy including a proton

pump inhibitor (PPI) was also higher among males [4]. In that study, the re-infection rate was calculated for 331 individuals who received the standard triple therapy from 2003 to 2010 and tested negative 1 year after eradication with 18-95 months of follow-up (average of 37.1 months). Risk factors for re-infection, including sex/gender, age, tobacco consumption, alcohol consumption, income, education level, digestive symptoms, atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia, and resistance to clarithromycin, were analyzed. Thirty-six of the 331 participants were re-infected, reflecting a 3.51% re-infection rate per year [4]. The risk factors identified in multivariate analysis were male sex (hazard ratio [HR] 2.28; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.05-5.00; p = 0.037) and low income (≤\$5000 vs. >\$5000) (HR 3.54; 95% CI, 1.08-11.67; p = 0.038 [4]. As such, the risk factors for H. pylori re-infection were identical to the risk factors for H. pylori infection, suggesting that infection and re-infection are both more active among males above the age of 16.

8.3 Sex/Gender Differences in Chronic Gastritis

Gastritis refers to inflammation found through upper gastrointestinal (GI) endoscopy or in the GI mucosa and is categorized into acute gastritis and chronic gastritis. Gastritis presenting with acute inflammation or special types of gastritis are not difficult to diagnose as they demonstrate characteristic findings on endoscopy. However, there are some controversies regarding the endoscopic diagnosis and categorization of chronic gastritis, which is the most common type. In 1936, Schindler [15] categorized types of chronic gastritis based on gastroscopy findings into superficial gastritis, atrophic gastritis, hypertrophic gastritis, and post-gastric surgery gastritis and stated that there are major differences in the disease course and prognosis according to the type [15]. As endoscopy developed after the 1980s, researchers suggested various categorizations, most of which were based on histopathological characteristics rather than gross findings. The Sydney categorization [16], which was revised in 1996, has relatively detailed descriptions of the endoscopic diagnostic criteria of gastritis, but it has not been widely used due to its limits in expressing endoscopic findings and its complexity. After H. pylori was first cultured in 1983, H. pylori infection was found to be an important cause of peptic ulcers and a cause of gastritis. The finding that chronic active inflammation of the gastric mucosa is observed in most patients with H. pylori infection increased interest in chronic gastritis.

8.3.1 Sex/Gender Differences in the Distribution of Chronic Gastritis

The largest study about the distribution of gastritis was based on endoscopic findings among 25,536 individuals who received upper GI endoscopy at 40 hospital health check-up centers around South Korea from January to June 2006, conducted by the Korean College of Helicobacter and Upper Gastrointestinal Research [17] (Table 8.1). Among the 25,535 patients who remained after excluding those who had a history of surgery due to diseases related to the digestive system or who received treatment for chronic diseases other than hypertension and diabetes, 3593 (14.1%) had normal findings while 21,942 (85.9%) had at least one finding of gastritis finding. Gastritis was diagnosed based on mucosal erythema, exudate, edema, erosion, color change, increased vascular fluoroscopy, and nodular change. Superficial gastritis was most common (7983, 31.3%), followed by atrophic gastritis (6918, 27.1%), erosive gastritis (6054, 23.7%),

Table 8.1 Characteristics of 25,536 participants who received upper gastrointestinal endoscopy at 40 hospital health check-up centers around South Korea in 2006 (adapted from Park et al. [17])

Variable category	n	%
Sex		
Male	15,180	59.5
Female	10,356	40.5
Age (y)		
≤39	6976	27.3
40–59	15,001	58.8
≥60	3549	13.9
Area (province)		
Seoul	9525	37.3
Gyeonggi	3085	12.1
Kangwon	1965	7.7
Chungcheong	3094	12.1
Kyungsang	3646	14.3
Cholla	3759	14.7
Jeju	462	1.8
Social habitus		
Current smoking ^a	6529	26.0
Alcohol (≥once per week) ^a	10,479	41.0
Medical history		
NSAID medication for ≥ 1 month ^a	1616	6.0
Antibiotics history within 1 month ^a	253	1.0
Epigastric pain or discomfort during las	st 1 year ^a	
Yes	12,921	51.6
No	12,143	48.4
Endoscopic findings		
Normal	3593	14.1
Superficial gastritis	7983	31.3
Erosive gastritis	6054	23.7
Atrophic gastritis	6918	27.1
Intestinal metaplasia	1811	7.1
1 0 11		

n number of subjects

^aSome data were missing due to incomplete record

and intestinal metaplasia (1181, 7.1%) [17] (Table 8.2). There were no sex/gender differences in superficial gastritis, which was the most common type. Superficial gastritis decreased significantly with increasing age, with a prevalence of 36.8% (2556) in the age group of 40 and below, 31.3% (4704) in the 40–60 age group, and 20.4% (723) in the above 60 age group (p < 0.001). Unlike superficial gastritis (Table 8.2a), erosive gastritis (Table 8.2c), and intestinal metaplasia were more

Table 8.2 Distribution of gastritis among 25,536 participants who received upper gastrointestinal endoscopy at hospital health check-up centers in 2006 by sex and age (adapted from Park et al. [17])

Variable categories	n	%	<i>p</i> -value ^a
a. Superficial gastritis			
Sex			
Male (<i>n</i> = 15,180)	4720	31.1	
Female (<i>n</i> = 10,356)	3263	31.5	0.483
Age (y)			
≤39 (<i>n</i> = 6976)	2556	36.8	
40–59 (<i>n</i> = 15,011)	4704	31.3	
≥60 (<i>n</i> = 3549)	723	20.4	< 0.001
b. Erosive gastritis			
Sex			
Male (<i>n</i> = 15,180)	3983	26.2	
Female (<i>n</i> = 10,356)	2071	20.0	< 0.001
Age (y)			
$\leq 39 \ (n = 6976)$	1396	20.0	
40–59 (<i>n</i> = 15,011)	3744	24.9	
$\geq 60 \ (n = 3549)$	914	25.8	< 0.001
c. Atrophic gastritis			
Sex			
Male (<i>n</i> = 15,180)	4215	27.8	
Female (<i>n</i> = 10,356)	2703	26.1	0.003
Age (y)			
$\leq 39 \ (n = 6976)$	1039	14.9	
40–59 (<i>n</i> = 15,011)	4335	28.9	
$\geq 60 (n = 3549)$	1544	43.5	< 0.001
d. Intestinal metaplasia			
Sex			
Male (<i>n</i> = 15,180)	1262	8.3	
Female (<i>n</i> = 10,356)	549	5.3	< 0.001
Age (y)			
$\leq 39 \ (n = 6976)$	187	2.7	
40–59 (<i>n</i> = 15,011)	1187	7.9	
$\geq 60 (n = 3549)$	437	12.3	< 0.001

^a*p*-values for χ^2 test

8.3.2 Sex/Gender Differences in Atrophic Gastritis and Intestinal Metaplasia

Chronic inflammation damages cells and transforms them into various stages. Precancerous tissues associated with chronic inflammation are characterized by neutrophils, macrophages, monocytes, mast cells, eosinophils, dendritic cells, and lymphocytes, which form the tumor microenvironment [18]. The inflammationrelated cells that compose the tumor microenvironment produce cytokines, reactive oxygen, and reactive nitrogen and become involved in the initiation, promotion, and metastasis of cancerous mutations [18]. These factors contribute to carcinogenesis by promoting cellular mutations and modifying the functions of enzymes and proteins in tissues by damaging cellular DNA, RNA, and proteins through chemical reactions such as oxidation, nitrogenation, and halogenation. Many factors are known to cause gastric cancer, but the most important factor is H. pylori infection. Other factors include old age, male sex, family history of gastric cancer, salty food, smoked food, tobacco consumption, alcohol consumption, atrophic gastritis, and intestinal metaplasia [19]. Many studies have been published on the gastric cancer risk posed by atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia. For example, gastric cancer incidence was 4.9 times higher among H. pyloripositive atrophic gastritis patients than among H. *pylori*-positive patients without atrophic gastritis and 14.5 times higher than among H. pylorinegative patients without atrophic gastritis [20, 21]. The risk was even higher among patients with intestinal metaplasia. The incidence of gastric cancer among H. pylori-positive intestinal metaplasia patients was 6.4 times or 10.9 times higher than that among H. pylori-positive patients without intestinal metaplasia [21, 22], suggesting that atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia are important precancerous lesions of gastric cancer. A 2011 national multicenter study with 4023 participants who received health check-ups at 8 medical centers in South Korea confirmed the 2005 results that atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia in endoscopic findings were more prevalent among males than females [5] (Tables 8.3 and 8.4). In this national multicenter study, the prevalence of atrophic gastritis confirmed by endoscopy was 40.7%, and the prevalence of intestinal metaplasia was 12.5%. The most important risk factor was age, followed by sex. The prevalence of atrophic gastritis (odds ratio [OR] 1.38; Table 8.3) and intestinal metaplasia (OR 1.88; Table 8.4) was significantly higher among males than among females [5]. Another interesting finding was that in participants with a family history of gastric cancer, intestinal metaplasia (a risk factor of gastric cancer) was significantly more common (OR 1.48; Table 8.3) [5]. A Japanese study that conducted follow-up endoscopy for 17 years also found that intestinal metaplasia was more common among males than among females [23]. The gastric antral intestinal metaplasia grade from the biopsy before H. *pylori* eradication according to the Sydney system was higher among males (0.67 ± 0.94) than among females (0.44 ± 0.77) (p = 0.003). The gastric body intestinal metaplasia grade was also higher among males (0.20 ± 0.62) than among females (0.047 ± 0.21) (p = 0.0027), a difference that was consistently observed during the study duration [23].

Table 8.3 Multivariate analysis of risk factors of atrophic gastritis diagnosed in 4032 individuals who received an upper gastrointestinal endoscopy at health check-up centers in 2011 (adapted from Joo et al. [5])

					95% confidence	ce interval
Variables	В	S.E.	<i>p</i> -value	Exp(β)	Lower limit	Upper limit
Age (y)						
<40				1.00		
40–59	1.039	0.165	< 0.001	2.55	2.05	3.18
≥60	1.980	0.203	< 0.001	5.00	3.71	6.74
Male	0.603	0.155	< 0.001	1.38	1.17	1.64
H. pylori IgG positivity	0.377	0.112	< 0.001	1.41	1.19	1.66
Intestinal metaplasia	1.309	0.147	< 0.001	4.29	3.35	5.50
Education below college	-0.131	0.216	0.046	1.35	1.01	1.79

B estimate, *SE* standard error, $Exp(\beta)$ odds ratio, *H. pylori Helicobacter pylori*

Table 8.4 Multivariate analysis of risk factors of intestinal metaplasia diagnosed in 4023 individuals who received upper gastrointestinal endoscopy at health check-up centers in 2011 (adapted from Joo et al. [5])

					95% confidence	e interval
Variables	В	S.E.	<i>p</i> -value	Exp(β)	Lower limit	Upper limit
Age (y)						
<40				1.00		
40–59	1.150	0.205	< 0.001	3.16	2.11	4.72
≥60	1.178	0.236	< 0.001	3.25	2.05	5.15
Male	0.631	0.154	< 0.001	1.88	1.39	2.54
H. pylori IgG positivity	0.775	0.119	< 0.001	2.17	1.72	2.74
Atrophic gastritis	1.303	0.113	< 0.001	3.68	2.95	4.60
Relatives of gastric cancer	0.395	0.143	0.006	1.48	1.12	1.96
Smoking	0.170	0.138	NS	1.19	0.91	1.55
Alcohol	0.112	0.131	NS	1.20	0.87	1.45
Education below college	-0.384	0.162	0.018	1.47	1.06	2.00
Consumption of dairy product	0.338	0.116	0.004	1.40	1.12	1.76

B estimate, *SE* standard error, $Exp(\beta)$ odds ratio, *H. pylori Helicobacter pylori*

8.3.3 Sex/Gender Differences in 15-Year Changes in Atrophic Gastritis and Intestinal Metaplasia

With improvements in the socioeconomic conditions of South Korea, H. pylori infections have rapidly declined. When the sex/gender differences in atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia diagnosed in biopsy were examined, the decline was significant among women, but no decline was found among men. This result can be interpreted as reflecting the importance of tobacco consumption, alcohol consumption, and diet beyond H. pylori for the incidence of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia [6]. That study was conducted among 2002 individuals from 2003 to 2018, examined atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia through biopsies, and analyzed risk factors such as sex, family history of gastritis, alcohol consumption, tobacco consumption, diet, and socioeconomic status in 3 different phases (2003-2007, 2008-2012, and 2013–2018). The prevalence of H. pylori infection declined over the 15-year period, from 49.2% to 40.2% and 36.0% [6]. However, no significant changes were found in the prevalence of various atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia grades from the histological examination of the gastric antrum and gastric body (Fig. 8.3a). Nonetheless, the grades of gastric body atrophic gastritis (p = 0.048) and intestinal metaplasia (p = 0.010) declined significantly among H. pylori-negative women, and the grade of gastric body intestinal metaplasia also declined significantly among H. *pylori*-positive women (p = 0.002) [6] (Fig. 8.3b). The changes in the prevalence of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia were similar to the changes in the grades of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia. When only the prevalence, rather than the grades, of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia was examined, there were no changes in the prevalence of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia among men (Fig. 8.3c), but the prevalence of atrophic gastritis (p = 0.024) and intestinal metaplasia (p < 0.001) declined significantly over the 15-year period in H. pylori-positive

women [6] (Fig. 8.3d). These differences in the prevalence of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia are caused by differences in tobacco consumption, alcohol consumption, and diet, indicating that lifestyle habits have a major influence on gastric cancer risk factors beyond H. pylori infection. According to the Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey conducted by the Ministry of Health and Welfare, the percentage of smokers was 38.1% among males and 6.0% among females in 2017 (http://www. index.go.kr/unify/idx-info.do?idxCd=4237), and the percentage of monthly binge drinkers was 52.7% among men and 25.0% among women (http://www.index.go.kr/unify/idx-info. do?idxCd=4238). According to national and international literature, women tend to consume more vegetables and fruit than men [24, 25]. According to a multivariate analysis of risk factors for atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia, the risk of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia increased with age and H. pylori infection. Smokers had a particularly high risk of intestinal metaplasia in the gastric antrum [6]. In summary, H. pylori infection and tobacco consumption are important risk factors for chronic gastritis, and their effects accumulate over time and with age. Recent South Korean public health policy is shifting toward active interventions to prevent gastric cancer through H. pylori eradication therapy. The results suggest that attention should also be given to smoking cessation, moderation in alcohol consumption, and diet.

8.3.4 Sex/Gender Differences in Atrophic Gastritis and the Reversibility of Intestinal Metaplasia After *H. pylori* Eradication

The exact mechanism of intestinal metaplasia is not completely understood, but in recent studies, expression of the *CDX* gene, which codes for a specific transcriptional factor in the intestinal tract from the duodenum to the rectum, has been hypothesized as an important factor for both intestinal metaplasia itself and its progression to



Fig. 8.3 Changes in the grade and prevalence of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia from histological examinations of the gastric antrum and gastric body in three phases over 15 years (2003–2007, 2008–2012, 2013–2018). (a) There were no changes in the grades of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia among men over 15 years. (b) Among *H. pylori*-negative women, the grades of atrophic gastritis (p = 0.048) and intestinal metaplasia (p = 0.010) in the gastric body declined signifi-

dysplasia or gastric cancer [26]. The author investigated *CDX1* and *CDX2* gene expression using real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) after categorizing 270 participants by *H. pylori* infection status, intestinal metaplasia, dysplasia, and gastric cancer. *CDX1* and *CDX2* were not expressed in the normal gastric mucosa of the control group but were expressed when there was

cantly. The grade of gastric body intestinal metaplasia also declined significantly among *H. pylori*-positive women (p = 0.002). (c) There were no changes in the prevalence of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia among men. (d) The prevalence of atrophic gastritis (p = 0.024) and intestinal metaplasia (p < 0.001) declined significantly over 15 years in *H. pylori*-positive women (adapted from Kwon et al. [6])

intestinal metaplasia. *CDX2* expression was also significantly higher in the gastric tissue of the *H. pylori* infection group than in the non-infected group [27]. *CDX1* and *CDX2* expression increased when the degree of intestinal metaplasia was more severe, and *CDX2* expression was significantly higher in incomplete intestinal metaplasia [27]. *CDX1* was expressed more in

the dysplasia group than in the control group, and CDX1 and CDX2 were both more strongly expressed in the gastric cancer group compared to the control group, supporting the hypothesis that CDX1 and CDX2, which are transcriptional factors, cause intestinal metaplasia and become involved in the mechanism of gastric cancer [27]. A study with an average follow-up of 33.7 months after H. pylori eradication reported that improvement in gastric body intestinal metaplasia was associated with reduced CDX2 mRNA expression [28], providing evidence for an association between intestinal metaplasia and CDX2 and the reversibility of intestinal metaplasia through H. pylori eradication. In addition to endoscopic atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia, histological atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia were also found to be more severe among males than among females, suggesting that reversibility after eradication might be greater in females than in males.

A study analyzed a total of 24 factors that can impact the improvement of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia including environmental factors, single-nucleotide polymorphisms in host factors that regulate inflammatory responses, and genetic polymorphisms in H. pylori virulence factors by following up 778 participants for 10 years [29]. Since environmental factors, host factors, and genetic polymorphisms-as factors other than H. pylori eradication therapy or the follow-up period after therapy-contribute to improvements in atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia, 11 environmental factors (sex, age, H. pylori infection and eradication status, tobacco consumption, history of alcohol consumption, blood type, salty food, spicy food, history of gastric cancer, education level, and economic status), 10 host genetic polymorphisms, and 3 H. pylori virulence factor polymorphisms were examined [29]. H. pylori eradication was statistically significantly associated with improvement in atrophic gastritis in the gastric antrum and gastric body, and gastric antrum intestinal metaplasia improved significantly in cytotoxin-associated gene A (cagA)-positive patients and patients who received H. pylori eradication [29]. H. pylori eradication was significantly associated with

improvement of gastric body intestinal metaplasia [18]. When these findings were examined according to H. pylori infection status, cagA positivity and age younger than 65 were significant factors associated with improvements in atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia among H. pylori-positive patients. In the H. pylori eradication therapy group, young age and economic status were significant factors associated with the improvement of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia [29]. H. pylori infection usually occurs at age 5 or below [30]; therefore, since the total time of exposure to H. pylori is shorter for younger individuals, it is suspected that atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia improve more readily [29]. In order to confirm the significance of other factors excluding H. pylori eradication, which is the most important factor, further analyses were conducted after grouping H. pyloripositive patients, H. pylori-negative patients, and patients in whom H. pylori eradication was successful (Tables 8.5 and 8.6). In the H. pyloripositive group, age and cagA were significantly associated with the improvement of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia [29] (Table 8.5). Patients who were cagA antibody-positive had a significantly higher prevalence of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia [31]. Interestingly, in that study, atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia showed meaningful improvement in cagA PCR-positive patients [29]. In the H. pylori eradication group, economic status had a significant influence on the improvement of atrophic gastritis, and age below 65 was a significant factor associated with the improvement of intestinal metaplasia [29]. Environmental factors such as age and economic status impact not only the incidence of *H. pylori* infection, atrophic gastritis, and intestinal metaplasia but also their improvement after eradication treatment [18]. H. pylori eradication was found to be a common factor that influenced the improvement of both atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia, but there were factors not common to both. An explanation for this finding is that the risk factors of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia are different [18]. The risk factors of atrophic gastritis are H. pylori infection, old age, H. pylori virulence factors,

•		•	2			
		Improvement	No improvement	Uni-variable <i>p</i> -value	Multivariable <i>p</i> -value	OR (95% CI)
AG in antrum						
cagA	Negative (ref)	58 (50.9)	75 (68.8)			
	Positive	56 (49.1)	34 (31.2)	0.006	0.01	0.48 (0.28–0.84)
AG in body						
cagA	Negative (ref)	54 (58.1)	37 (80.4)			
	Positive	39 (41.9)	9 (19.6)	0.009	0.023	0.37 (0.16-0.87)
IM in antrum						
Age	≥ 65 years (ref)	54 (28.1)	89 (41.8)			
	< 65 years	138 (71.9)	124 (58.2)	0.004	0.017	0.55 (0.34-0.90)
cagA	Negative (ref)	88 (59.5)	108 (71.1)			
	Positive	60 (40.5)	44 (28.9)	0.035	0.072	0.64 (0.39-1.04)
IM in body						
cagA	Negative (ref)	71 (59.7)	66 (78.6)			
	Positive	48 (40.3)	18 (21.4)	0.005	0.055	0.62 (0.38-1.01)
Data are presented	as number (%)	, , , , ,				

Table 8.5 Analysis of factors associated with the improvement of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia among *H. pylori*-positive patients (adapted from Hwang et al. [29])

AG atrophic gastritis, IM intestinal metaplasia, OR odds ratio, CI confidence interval

([6]	
2	
t al	
ıg e	
war	
Ηu	
ron	
ed 1	
lapt	
(ac	
tion	
lica	
erad	
ori e	ļ
pyld	
H.	
fter	
la al	
lasi	
etap	
1 B	
tina	
tes	
id ir	
s ar	
triti	
gas	
hic	
trop	
of a	
ent e	
eme	
rov	
imp	
the	l
ith	
w b	
iate	
soc	
s as	
ctor	
of fa	
sis c	
aly£	
An	
.6	
le 8	
Tab	

		Improvement	No improvement	Uni-variable <i>p</i> -value	Multivariable <i>p</i> -value	OR (95% CI)
AG in body						
Monthly income	<25,000 (ref)	20 (27.4)	9 (52.9)			
(dollar)	≥25,000	53 (72.6)	8 (47.1)	0.042	0.048	0.34 (0.11-0.99)
IM in antrum						
Age	≥65 years (ref)	45 (26.5)	54 (38.6)			
	<65 years	125 (73.5)	86 (61.4)	0.023	0.024	0.57 (0.35–0.93)
Doto one anonomical or	(U)					

Data are presented as number (%) AG atrophic gastritis, IM intestinal metaplasia, OR odds ratio, CI confidence interval

male sex, and education level, while the risk factors of intestinal metaplasia are H. pylori infection, old age, male sex, history of tobacco consumption, spicy food consumption, and family history of gastric cancer [5, 32]. It was hypothesized that improvements in atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia after H. pylori eradication will be more likely among males than among females whose atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia grades were lower, but sex was not a statistically significant factor. This finding might be related to fact that males more actively received eradication treatment and that among females, atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia improved regardless of *H. pylori* infection [6]. A more definitive conclusion can be reached after further research from multiple perspectives.

8.4 Sex/Gender Differences in the *H. pylori*-Eradicated Population

Comparing the eradication trends in 2005, 2011, and 2016-2017 based on a national study that reported the H. pylori-positive rate and the eradication rate for 18 years, it was found that a history of eradication became more common in the older population, reflecting the trend for an increasing number of patients to receive eradication therapy in the 40-49, 50-59, 60-69, and above 70 age groups [3] (Fig. 8.4a). This trend could be explained by a greater interest in health with increasing age, which might be accelerated by health policies that actively promoted eradication by publicizing research results that found H. pylori infection promotes gastric cancer. Eradication in younger populations is desirable to prevent gastric cancer. It is not recommended to place an age limit on eradication therapy for the following reasons: (1) H. pylori eradication improves various indicators of the tumor microenvironment (e.g., H. pylori eradication reduced the proportion of patients with a pepsinogen I/II ratio of 3 or less, a biomarker of atrophic gastritis, in a group of patients with gastric cancer and dysplasia [conditions that are more common in the elderly] to the point that no significant difference was observed from a control group) [33]; (2) the survival rate of gastric cancer surgery patients after H. pylori eradication has recently increased [34]; and the average life expectancy in South Korea continues to increase. The eradication rates were 15.4%, 21.3%, and 26.7% among men in 2005, 2011, and 2016–2017, respectively, which were significantly higher than the corresponding rates of 12.2%, 16.8%, and 19.7% among women, suggesting more active eradication among men [3] (Fig. 8.4b). This finding can be interpreted as a result of more frequent health check-ups, more H. pylori tests conducted, and more exposure to information about the necessity of *H. pylori* eradication among men. Insurance coverage for *H. pylori* eradication in South Korea expanded in January 2018, and atrophic gastritis became a condition that prompts recommendation for eradication; therefore, eradication has recently become active in the private sector. In Japan, 600,000 individuals were treated with H. pylori eradication drugs annually, and after H. pylori-positive gastritis was covered by insurance in March 2014, the population that received eradication increased 2.3-fold to 1,400,000 [35]. Similarly, the proportion of the population receiving H. pylori eradication in South Korea is expected to increase further from the proportion of 23.5% in 2016–2017 [3].

8.5 Sex/Gender Differences in the Changes of Lipid Metabolism After *H. pylori* Infection

In 1969, Gallin et al. [36] found that the bacteriainduced systemic inflammatory response causes changes in lipid metabolism. Studies based on epidemiological research, such as various studies that examined the relationship between *H. pylori* infection and lipid metabolism, have been reported since. A study reported that among patients with coronary artery disease diagnosed by angiography, there were no changes in total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, but significantly lower HDL cholesterol levels, in *H. pylori* antibody-positive



Fig. 8.4 Increase in the number of *H. pylori*-eradicated population in South Korea in 2005, 2011, and 2016–2017. (a) The rate of eradication increased rapidly with age. (b) When the *H. pylori*-eradicated population was compared

patients [37]. Another study reported that *H. pylori* infection was associated with higher triglyceride levels and lower HDL cholesterol levels [38], while a different study did not find such association [39]. A study of healthy adult males rather than patients found higher LDL cholesterol levels and lower HDL cholesterol levels in the *H. pylori* antibody-positive group than in the negative group [40]. A recent study in South

by sex, the number was significantly higher among males than among females. *p value for trend (adapted from Lim et al. [3])

Korea analyzing 15,195 participants in health check-ups reported that body mass index, waist circumference, total cholesterol, and LDL cholesterol levels were higher and HDL cholesterol levels were lower in the *H. pylori*-positive group than in the negative group [41]. Studies of the association between *H. pylori* infection status and lipid metabolism indicators are diverse in terms of their designs, samples, and results.

Summarizing studies that reported significant associations between H. pylori infection status and changes in lipid metabolism indicators, H. pylori infection is associated with higher levels of total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, triglycerides, and apolipoprotein B, and lower concentrations of HDL cholesterol and apolipoprotein A1 [37, 38, 40, 41]. These results are explained by the increase in the activity of lipoprotein lipase in adipose tissue and fatty acid synthesis and lipolysis in the liver caused by the increased release of cytokines related to H. pylori infection such as IL-1 or IL-6, IFN- α , and TNF- α [42, 43]. A study reported sex/gender differences in such changes [8]. A recent South Korean study of 1065 individuals reported that in the *H. pylori*-positive group (663, 62.3%), total cholesterol (p = 0.003), LDL (p = 0.046), and triglyceride (p = 0.029) levels were significantly higher, and HDL cholesterol levels were significantly lower (p = 0.032) [8]. In the multivariate analysis, males in the *H*. pylori-positive group had higher total cholesterol levels (OR 1.007; 95% CI, 1.002-1.011), while females had lower HDL cholesterol levels (OR 0.983; 95% CI, 0.968–0.998) [8]. This result is related to the reports that metabolic syndrome is more common in *H. pylori*-positive individuals, males, and older individuals [44] and that diabetes was more common only among males in the H. pylori-positive group, suggesting a relationship with sex hormones [45]. H. pylori infection affects lipid metabolism and diabetes incidence differently by sex/gender, and further studies are needed in this area.

8.6 Conclusions

H. pylori is transmitted at a young age when the immune system is not fully mature, and unless artificial eradication is attempted, the infection lasts for a lifetime. Sex/gender differences have been found in the epidemiology of *H. pylori*, chronic gastritis, the eradication rate, and lipid metabolism. There were no sex/gender differences in *H. pylori* infection until the age of 15

according to a 1998 study of the serum prevalence of *H. pylori* in all age groups conducted in South Korea, but the H. pylori infection rate among males become significantly higher than that among females after the age of 16. This phenomenon was observed in the 2016-2017 epidemiological survey as well. This finding cannot be explained completely by a cohort effect and indicates that H. pylori infections occur among males, who have higher exposure after the age of 15. Moreover, in a 2006 national multicenter study with 25,513 individuals, erosive gastritis, atrophic gastritis, and intestinal metaplasia were significantly more common among males than among females. The same result was found for atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia in a 2011 national, multicenter study with 4023 participants of health check-ups. The prevalence of H. pylori infections is rapidly decreasing in South Korea. The histological findings of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia decreased among females from 2003 to 2018, but they did not decrease among males, indicating that tobacco consumption, alcohol consumption, and diet are important factors other than H. pylori infection contributing to the incidence of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia. The eradication rate of H. pylori is higher in older age groups, as older adults are more interested in maintaining health. The eradication rates were 15.4%, 21.3%, and 26.7% in 2005, 2011, and 2016–2017 among males, which were significantly higher than the corresponding rates of 12.2%, 16.8%, and 19.7% among females, suggesting active H. pylori eradication among males. A systemic inflammatory response to bacteria causes changes in lipid metabolism. Total cholesterol levels were higher in H. pylori-positive males, and HDL cholesterol levels were lower in *H. pylori*-positive females, indicating sex/gender differences in lipid metabolism post-H. pylori infection. Considering the differences in epidemiology, chronic gastritis, and lipid metabolism by sex/gender after H. pylori infection, tailored therapy including decisions about the timing of eradication therapy is recommended.

References

- Sherman PM. Appropriate strategies for testing and treating *Helicobacter pylori* in children: when and how? Am J Med. 2004;117(Suppl 5A):30s–5s.
- Kim JH, Kim HY, Kim NY, Kim SW, Kim JG, Kim JJ, et al. Seroepidemiological study of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in asymptomatic people in South Korea. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2001;16:969–75.
- Lim SH, Kim N, Kwon JW, Kim SE, Baik GH, Lee JY, et al. Trends in the seroprevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and its putative eradication rate over 18 years in Korea: a cross-sectional nationwide multicenter study. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0204762.
- Kim MS, Kim N, Kim SE, Jo HJ, Shin CM, Lee SH, et al. Long-term follow up *Helicobacter pylori* reinfection rate and its associated factors in Korea. Helicobacter. 2013;18:135–42.
- Joo YE, Park HK, Myung DS, Baik GH, Shin JE, Seo GS, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia: a nationwide multicenter prospective study in Korea. Gut Liver. 2013;7:303–10.
- Kwon YJ, Kim N, Baek SM, Lee HS, Lee J, Hwang YJ, et al. Prevalence of histologic atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia in the corpus has decreased over 15 years in females in the Korean population. Helicobacter. 2019;24:e12579.
- Lim SH, Kim N, Kwon JW, Lee HS, Lee J, Hwang YJ, et al. Positive association between *Helicobacter pylori* infection and metabolic syndrome in a Korean population: a multicenter nationwide study. Dig Dis Sci. 2019;64:2219–30.
- Seo KI, Heo JJ, Kim SE, Park SJ, Park MI, Moon W, et al. Sex differences between *Helicobacter pylori* infection and cholesterol levels in an adult health checkup program. Helicobacter. 2020;25:e12704.
- Kim N, Kim JG, Kim JH, Kim HY, Kim SW, Kim JJ, et al. Risk factors of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in asymptomatic Korean population. Korean J Med. 2000;59:376–87.
- Cullen DJ, Collins BJ, Christiansen KJ, Epis J, Warren JR, Surveyor I, et al. When is *Helicobacter pylori* infection acquired? Gut. 1993;34:1681–2.
- Banatvala N, Mayo K, Megraud F, Jennings R, Deeks JJ, Feldman RA. The cohort effect and *Helicobacter pylori*. J Infect Dis. 1993;168:219–21.
- Yim JY, Kim N, Choi SH, Kim YS, Cho KR, Kim SS, et al. Seroprevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* in South Korea. Helicobacter. 2007;12:333–40.
- 13. Lim SH, Kwon JW, Kim N, Kim GH, Kang JM, Park MJ, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in Korea: nationwide multicenter study over 13 years. BMC Gastroenterol. 2013;13:104.
- Fiedorek SC, Malaty HM, Evans DL, Pumphrey CL, Casteel HB, Evans DJ Jr, et al. Factors influencing the epidemiology of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children. Pediatrics. 1991;88:578–82.

- Schindler R. Gastritis. New York: Grune and Stratton; 1947.
- Dixon MF, Genta RM, Yardley JH, Correa P. Classification and grading of gastritis: The Updated Sydney System. Am J Surg Pathol. 1996;20:1161–81.
- Park HK, Kim N, Lee SW, Park JJ, Kim JI, Lee SY, et al. The distribution of endoscopic gastritis in 25,536 health check-up subjects in Korea. Korean J Helicobacter Upper Gastroint Res. 2012;12:237–43.
- Yoon K, Kim N. Significance of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication on atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia. Korean J Helicobacter Up Gastrointest Res. 2020;20:107–16.
- de Vries AC, van Grieken NCT, Looman CWN, Casparie MK, de Vries E, Meijer GA, et al. Gastric cancer risk in patients with premalignant gastric lesions: a nationwide cohort study in the Netherlands. Gastroenterology. 2008;134:945–52.
- Ohata H, Kitauchi S, Yoshimura N, Mugitani K, Iwane M, Nakamura H, et al. Progression of chronic atrophic gastritis associated with *Helicobacter pylori* infection increases risk of gastric cancer. Int J Cancer. 2004;109:138–43.
- Uemura N, Okamoto S, Yamamoto S, Matsumura N, Yamaguchi S, Yamakido M, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection and the development of gastric cancer. New Engl J Med. 2001;345:784–9.
- Kim N, Park RY, Cho S-I, Lim SH, Lee KH, Lee WS, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection and development of gastric cancer in Korea: long-term follow-up. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2008;42:448–54.
- Correa P. Human gastric carcinogenesis: a multistep and multifactorial process—first American Cancer Society award lecture on cancer epidemiology and prevention. Cancer Res. 1992;52:6735–40.
- Lee HS, Cho YH, Park J, Shin HR, Sung MK. Dietary intake of phytonutrients in relation to fruit and vegetable consumption in Korea. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2013;113:1194–9.
- 25. Regu GM, Kim H, Kim YJ, Paek JE, Lee G, Chang N, et al. Association between dietary carotenoid intake and bone mineral density in Korean adults aged 30-75 years using data from the fourth and fifth Korean national health and nutrition examination surveys (2008-2011). Nutrients. 2017;9:1025.
- 26. Almeida R, Silva E, Santos-Silva F, Silberg DG, Wang J, De Bolós C, et al. Expression of intestinespecific transcription factors, CDX1 and CDX2, in intestinal metaplasia and gastric carcinomas. J Pathol. 2003;199:36–40.
- Kang JM, Lee BH, Kim N, Lee HS, Lee HE, Park JH, et al. CDX1 and CDX2 expression in intestinal metaplasia, dysplasia and gastric cancer. J Korean Med Sci. 2011;26:647–53.
- Shin CM, Kim N, Chang H, Kim JS, Lee DH, Jung HC. Follow-up study on CDX1 and CDX2 mRNA expression in noncancerous gastric mucosae after *Helicobacter pylori* eradication. Dig Dis Sci. 2016;61:1051–9.

- 29. Hwang YJ, Kim N, Yun CY, Kwon MG, Baek SM, Kwon YJ, et al. Predictive factors for improvement of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia: a long-term prospective clinical study. Korean J Helicobacter Up Gastrointest Res. 2018;18:186–97.
- Wong BC-Y, Lam SK, Wong WM, Chen JS, Zheng TT, Feng RE, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* eradication to prevent gastric cancer in a high-risk region of China: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2004;291:187–94.
- 31. Fukase K, Kato M, Kikuchi S, Inoue K, Uemura N, Okamoto S, et al. Effect of eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* on incidence of metachronous gastric carcinoma after endoscopic resection of early gastric cancer: an open-label, randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2008;372:392–7.
- 32. Kim N, Park YS, Cho SI, Lee HS, Choe G, Kim IW, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia in a Korean population without significant gastroduodenal disease. Helicobacter. 2008;13:245–55.
- 33. Noh G, Kim N, Choi Y, Lee HS, Hwang YJ, Kim HJ, et al. Long-term follow-up of serum pepsinogens in patients with gastric cancer or dysplasia after *Helicobacter pylori* eradication. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;35:1540–8.
- 34. Choi Y, Kim N, Yun CY, Choi YJ, Yoon H, Shin CM, et al. Effect of *Helicobacter pylori* eradication after subtotal gastrectomy on the survival rate of patients with gastric cancer - follow-up for up to 15 years. Gastric Cancer. 2020;23:1051–63.
- 35. Hiroi S, Sugano K, Tanaka S, Kawakami K. Impact of health insurance coverage for *Helicobacter pylori* gastritis on the trends in eradication therapy in Japan: retrospective observational study and simulation study based on real-world data. BMJ Open. 2017;7:e015855.
- Gallin JI, Kaye D, O'Leary WM. Serum lipids in infection. N Engl J Med. 1969;281:1081–6.

- 37. Jia EZ, Zhao FJ, Hao B, Zhu TB, Wang LS, Chen B, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection is associated with decreased serum levels of high density lipoprotein, but not with the severity of coronary atherosclerosis. Lipids Health Dis. 2009;8:59.
- 38. Niemelä S, Karttunen T, Korhonen T, Läärä E, Karttunen R, Ikäheimo M, et al. Could *Helicobacter pylori* infection increase the risk of coronary heart disease by modifying serum lipid concentrations? Heart. 1996;75:573–5.
- Danesh J, Youngman L, Clark S, Parish S, Peto R, Collins R. *Helicobacter pylori* infection and early onset myocardial infarction: case-control and sibling pairs study. BMJ. 1999;319:1157–62.
- Satoh H, Saijo Y, Yoshioka E, Tsutsui H. *Helicobacter* pylori infection is a significant risk for modified lipid profile in Japanese male subjects. J Atheroscler Thromb. 2010;17:1041–8.
- 41. Lim SH, Kim N, Kwon JW, Kim SE, Baik GH, Lee JY, et al. Positive association between *Helicobacter pylori* infection and metabolic syndrome in a Korean population: a multicenter nationwide study. Dig Dis Sci. 2019;64:2219–30.
- 42. Chimienti G, Russo F, Lamanuzzi BL, Nardulli M, Messa C, Di Leo A, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* is associated with modified lipid profile: impact on Lipoprotein(a). Clin Biochem. 2003;36:359–65.
- Feingold KR, Grunfeld C. Role of cytokines in inducing hyperlipidemia. Diabetes. 1992;41(suppl 2):97–101.
- 44. Gunji T, Matsuhashi N, Sato H, Fujibayashi K, Okumura M, Sasabe N, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* Infection is significantly associated with metabolic syndrome in the Japanese population. Am J Gastroenterol. 2008;103:3005–10.
- 45. Chen YY, Fang WH, Wang CC, Kao TW, Chang YW, Wu CJ, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection increases insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome in residents younger than 50 years old: a community-based study. PLoS One. 2019;14:e0208913.

Peptic Ulcer Disease

Nayoung Kim

9.1 Introduction

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

Peptic ulcers are caused by attacks on the stomach and duodenum by gastric acid and pepsin. Histologically, an ulcer occurs when a defect of the necrotic mucosa has progressed to below the muscularis mucosal layer, whereas erosion is defined as a defect limited to the mucosal layer. In the past, it was hypothesized that peptic ulcers occur when the aggressive factors of gastric acid and pepsin outweigh the defensive factors. Many studies have since clarified that Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) infection and nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug (NSAID) use are important causal factors of peptic ulcers. The incidence of peptic ulcers peaked in 1910 according to Western data and gradually decreased from 1950 to 1980. Peptic ulcers were traditionally recognized twice as common among males than females, and duodenal ulcer (DU) was more common than gastric ulcer (GU). Due to the decreased prevalence of H. pylori and increased uptake of H. pylori eradication treatment, it was expected that the prevalence of peptic ulcers would decrease along with the decreased prevalence of H. pylori [1] (Fig. 9.1a). However, it was not. That is, accord-

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National

University College of Medicine, Seoul National

University Bundang Hospital,

e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr

Seongnam, Korea (Republic of)

ing to 1995, 2000, and 2005 data, there were no changes in the prevalence of DU, but the prevalence of GU increased significantly [2] (Fig. 9.1b). This finding is interpreted as resulting from the increased number of patients with chronic diseases such as musculoskeletal or cardiovascular diseases as the population ages, resulting in the increased use of aspirin and other NSAIDs. Therefore, the incidence of peptic ulcers could differ by sex/gender if there is a disproportionate pattern in NSAID use according to gender. Summarizing studies on peptic ulcers published in South Korea from 1990 to 2007 [4], patients' age increased, the proportion of male patients and those with H. pylori decreased, and the proportion of bleeding increased from 17.8% in 1996–1997 [5] to 35.5% in 2007 [6] (Table 9.1) [4, 7, 8]. Reports from Western countries and Hong Kong have described a rising incidence of peptic ulcers among patients without identifiable causes of peptic ulcers such as H. pylori infection and NSAID use and have stated that mortality is high in this patient group [9]. When patients with peptic ulcers were followed up for 1 year after being classified according to H. pylori infection and NSAID use in South Korea, the rate of recurrence and direct fees associated with treatment were higher in peptic ulcer patients without known causes than patients with H. pylori infection or a history of NSAID use (p = 0.002) [10]. This result suggests that when peptic ulcers are discovered, H. pylori infection status and NSAID



[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_9



Fig. 9.1 Changes in the seroprevalence of *H. pylori* and the prevalence of peptic ulcers in 1995, 2000, and 2005. (a) The seroprevalence of *H. pylori* among individuals older than 16 and with no history of eradication therapy steadily decreased from 1998, 2005, and 2011 to 2016–2017 (**p* for trend <0.05) (adapted from Lim et al. [1]). (b) According to the prevalence of peptic ulcers in 1995, 2000, and 2005, there were no changes in the prevalence

of duodenal ulcers, but the prevalence of gastric ulcers increased (adapted from Kim et al. [2]). (c) The prevalence of gastric ulcers and duodenal ulcers was 4.1% and 2.2%, and the prevalence of gastric ulcers was higher than that of duodenal ulcers. In 2016–2017, the prevalence rates were 1.6% (p < 0.001) and 1.2% (p = 0.005), respectively, demonstrating significant reductions from 2011 (adapted from Nam et al. [3])

	1000	1005	1006	1006 1007	2000		2005	2006	
	1990	1995	1990	1990-1997	2000		2005	2006	
Year	[7]	[2]	[7]	[5]	[2]	2003-2008 [8]	[2]	[7]	2007 [6]
Number (n)	60	1518	80	180	1980	475	2042	61	310
Age (yr,	47.8	-	50.8	53.8 ± 13.7	-	58.2 ± 14.9	-	58.1	61.5 ± 15.0
mean ± SD)									
Aged patients (%)	-	-	-	32.2	-	29.6 (>70 yr)	-	-	48.1
				(≥60 yr)					(>65 yr)
NSAID and	-	-	-	26.1	_	23.6 (NSAID),	28.0	-	21.0
ulcerogenic drugs ^a						22.5 (aspirin)			
(%)						-			
H. pylori infection	-	-	68.1	82.8	59.7	72.6	57.2	-	48.0
(%)									
Male (%)	82.6	-	75.4	77.2	-	70.3	-	66.7	66.7
Location of ulcer		·		·		·			
Gastric ulcer	52.4	53.3	57.3	-	59.1	56.0	56.0	52.0	61.2
(%)									
Duodenal ulcer	40.4	46.7	44.4	-	40.9	44.0	44.0	40.7	38.8
(%)									
Smoking (%)	-	-	-	58.9	-	34.3	-	-	_
Alcohol (%)	-	-	-	43.9	-	35.8	-	-	-
Bleeding (%)	-	-	-	17.8	-	-	-	-	35.5

Table 9.1 Changes in the clinical characteristics of patients with duodenal ulcers in South Korea (adapted from Shim and Kim [4])

NSAID nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug, H. pylori Helicobacter pylori

^aUlcerogenic drugs include aspirin, clopidogrel, warfarin



Fig. 9.2 Prevalence and mortality of peptic ulcer bleeding by age. (a) From 2006 to 2007 in South Korea, peptic ulcer bleeding among 21,107 individuals increased proportionately with age and was more than three times more

use history should be elucidated first, and when the patient is negative for both, particular caution is needed. Bleeding [11] or perforation [12] due to peptic ulcers is more prevalent in older populations (Figs. 9.2a and 9.3a), and the associated mortality also increases dramatically in those older than 80 (Figs. 9.2b and 9.3b). The reason is that the defense mechanism of the gastric mucosa is damaged in the older population, making them vulnerable to damage by aspirin and other NSAIDs [13, 14]. Sex/gender differences in bleeding [11] and perforation [12] (Fig. 9.3a), which are complications of peptic ulcers, have been observed, with incidence rates higher in males than females for both. This sex/gender difference may be related to the female sex hormone estrogen, which increases the expression of tight junction proteins that close the gap between cells and reduce the mucosal permeability and bacterial movement [15]. This chapter describes the increasing incidence of peptic ulcers due to the aging population, even though the H. pylori infection rate has continued to decrease [1], and

prevalent among males. (b) Mortality within 30 days after peptic ulcer bleeding increased with age, especially dramatically in those aged 80 and older (adapted from Bae et al. [11])

explores the disease mechanism of peptic ulcers involving NSAIDs, including aspirin, and sex/ gender differences in the treatment and prevention of peptic ulcers.

9.2 Epidemiology and Sex/ Gender Differences of Peptic Ulcers

Peptic ulcers display various symptoms ranging from asymptomatic cases to death from serious complications such as bleeding and perforation. Typical symptoms include epigastric discomfort, epigastric pain, heartburn, bloating, and loss of appetite, and other symptoms such as upper gastrointestinal (GI) bleeding and severe stomach pain and fever due to perforation can occur. However, the symptoms are not specific to the disease and not proportional to disease severity, so it is difficult to diagnose the condition based on symptoms alone. The final diagnosis is determined through endoscopy. DU decreased by 50%



Fig. 9.3 Prevalence and mortality of perforated peptic ulcers by age. (a) From 2006 to 2007 in South Korea, perforation due to peptic ulcers among 4258 individuals increased proportionately with age and was around six

from 1970 to 1985, and in the same time period, peptic ulcers decreased by 25%. Due to the increase of the older population, the decreasing trend has been less noticeable in recent years. According to a report on the incidence of peptic ulcers and their complications in South Korean tertiary hospitals in 1990, 1996, and 2006, the incidence of DU decreased, while the incidence of GU did not change or slightly increased [7]. The decreases in surgical treatment of ulcer bleeding (a complication of peptic ulcers) and in perforation suggest diminishing severity of peptic ulcers, which might be due to the prevention of disease progression through effective medical treatment [7]. Similarly, a study on the prevalence of peptic ulcers among 28,893 patients who visited gastroenterologists at 17 institutions in South Korea reported that the incidence of GU increased and the incidence of DU did not change from 1995 to 2000 and 2005, indicating that the overall incidence of peptic ulcers was gradually increasing [2] (Fig. 9.1b). NSAIDs are widely used to treat various acute and chronic musculoskeletal diseases, and the use of aspirin, which has anti-platelet properties, has recently become

times more prevalent among males. (**b**) Mortality within 30 days after a perforated peptic ulcer increased with age, especially dramatically in those aged 80 and older (adapted from Bae et al. [12])

more frequent. Therefore, study results on epidemiological trends in peptic ulcers can depend on the proportion of the older population, who use NSAIDs more frequently in the sample, and the location of the study. In particular, it is important to assess whether a study is based on the diagnosis of peptic ulcers in hospital gastroenterology departments or in health check-up centers, which are similar to community-based studies. Thus, these results should be examined and interpreted separately.

9.2.1 Studies of Data from Health Check-Up Centers

Since an endoscopic diagnosis is necessary for peptic ulcers, it is difficult to conduct communitybased studies. Studies of data obtained from health check-up centers are regarded as the closest to community-based studies. The largest study of the distribution of peptic ulcers included 25,536 individuals who received upper endoscopy examinations at 40 hospitals in South Korea from January to June 2006 and was conducted by the Korean College of Helicobacter and Upper Gastrointestinal Research. The study reported the distribution of peptic ulcers [16] (Table 9.2). After excluding individuals who had a history of surgery related to disease in the digestive system or treatment for chronic diseases other than hypertension and diabetes, 59.5% of the 25,536 individuals were males (n = 15,180), and 40.5% were females (n = 10,356), making the sex ratio 1.5:1. The average age was 46.7 years, and the number of individuals in each age group was

1292 (5.0%) from age 16 to 29, 5684 (22.3%) in their 30s, 8885 (34.8%) in their 40s, 6126 (24.0%) in their 50s, 2936 (11.5%) in their 60s, and 613 (2.4%) over the age of 70 [16] (Table 9.2). In this sample population, 6.0% had used NSAIDs for more than one month. Subsequently, South Korea became an aging society, with more than 14% of the population aged 65 and above in 2018. Considering the increase in cardiovascular diseases, the proportion of the population that uses NSAIDs is expected to be higher. Among

Table 9.2 Prevalence of gastric ulcers and duodenal ulcers in 25,533 participants of national, multicenter health checkups by sex, age, and area (adapted from Kim et al. [16])

-F	···· · ···· (· ·)	
Variable category	Number (%)	<i>p</i> -value
Benign gastric ulcer	Active stage:healing stage:scar stage:total	
Total (<i>n</i> = 25,533)	409 (1.7):423 (1.7):323 (1.3):1155 (4.5)	
Sex		< 0.001
Male (<i>n</i> = 15,178)	318 (2.1):314 (2.1):243 (1.6):875 (5.8)	
Female $(n = 10,355)$	91 (0.9):109 (1.1):80 (0.8):280 (2.7)	
Age (years)		< 0.001
16-39 (n = 6976)	70 (1.0):86 (1.2):31 (0.4):187 (2.7)	
40–59 (<i>n</i> = 14,328)	240 (1.7):243 (1.7):198 (1.4):681 (4.8)	
$\geq 60 \ (n = 3548)$	99 (2.8):94 (2.6):94 (2.6):287 (8.1)	
Area (province)		< 0.001
Seoul $(n = 9525)$	98 (1.0):126 (1.3):111 (1.7):335 (3.5)	
Gyeonggi $(n = 3085)$	42 (1.4):45 (1.5):34 (1.1):121 (3.9)	
Kangwon $(n = 1963)$	13 (0.7):54 (2.8):27 (1.4):94 (4.8)	
Chungcheong $(n = 3093)$	26 (0.8):30 (1.0):32 (1.0):88 (2.8)	
Kyungsang ($n = 3646$)	133 (3.6):57 (1.6):66 (1.8):256 (7.0)	
Cholla ($n = 3759$)	96 (2.6):101 (2.7):47 (1.3):244 (6.5)	
Jeju (<i>n</i> = 462)	1 (0.2):10 (2.2):6 (1.3):17 (3.7)	
Duodenal ulcer	Active stage:healing stage:scar stage:total	
Total $(n = 25,535)$	243 (1.0):291 (1.1):1008 (3.9):1542 (6.0)	
Sex		<0.001
Male (<i>n</i> = 15,179)	196 (1.3):225 (1.5):757 (5.0):1178 (7.8)	
Female $(n = 10,356)$	47 (0.5):66 (0.6):251 (2.4):364 (3.5)	
Age (years)		0.075
16–39 (<i>n</i> = 6976)	77 (1.1):79 (1.1):259 (3.7):415 (5.9)	
40–59 (<i>n</i> = 15,011)	138 (0.9):185 (1.2):592 (3.9):915 (6.1)	
$\geq 60 \ (n = 3548)$	28 (0.8):27 (0.8):157 (4.4):212 (6.0)	
Area (province)		< 0.001
Seoul $(n = 9525)$	71 (0.8):105 (1.1):487 (5.1):663 (7.0)	
Gyeonggi $(n = 3085)$	17 (0.6):42 (1.4):180 (5.8):239 (7.7)	
Kangwon (<i>n</i> = 1965)	11 (0.6):26 (1.3):40 (2.0):77 (5.9)	
Chungcheong $(n = 3093)$	21 (0.7):32 (1.0):113 (3.7):166 (5.4)	
Kyungsang ($n = 3646$)	59 (1.6):30 (0.8):110 (3.0):199 (5.4)	
Cholla (<i>n</i> = 3759)	62 (1.6):50 (1.3):49 (1.3):161 (4.3)	
Jeju ($n = 462$)	2 (0.4):6 (1.3):29 (6.3):37 (8.0)	

n number

the 25,533 participants in the 2006 study, 409 (1.7%), 423 (1.7%), and 323 (1.3%) were in the active phase, healing phase, and scarring phase of gastric ulcers, respectively, making up 1155 (4.5%) of the total sample. The proportions by sex were 5.8% and 2.7%, with a significantly higher prevalence in males (p < 0.001) [16] (Table 9.2). When stratified by age group, the prevalence was 2.7% in those from age 16 to 39, 4.8% in those from age 40 to 59, and 8.1% in those above the age of 60; the highest proportion was found in the 60 and above age group (p < 0.001), which may be related to the widespread use of NSAIDs [16]. Furthermore, 243 (1.0%), 291 (1.1%), and 1008 (3.9%) were in the active phase, healing phase, and scarring phase of DU, respectively, making up 1542 (6.0%). The prevalence was lower than that of GU for the active phase and the healing phase, but when the scarring phase was included, the total prevalence was higher than that of GU [16] (Table 9.2). The prevalence of DU in males and females was 7.8% and 3.5%, respectively, reflecting a significant difference (p < 0.001, Table 9.2). When stratified by age group, 5.9% were from age 16 to 39, 6.1% were from age 40 to 59, and 6.0% were over the age of 60. Unlike in GU, there were no significant differences by age in DU prevalence (p < 0.075) [16]. A subsequent study based on health check-up centers was a comparative study of peptic ulcers that included 4023 individuals from 2011 and 2504 individuals from 2016-2017 [3] (Fig. 9.1c). This study only analyzed the active and healing phases of peptic ulcers, excluding the scarring phase. The prevalence of GU and DU in 2011 was 4.1% and 2.2%, respectively, with a higher prevalence of GU [3] (Fig. 9.1c). In 2016–2017, the prevalence of GU and DU was $1.6\% \ (p < 0.001) \text{ and } 1.2\% \ (p = 0.005), \text{ respec-}$ tively, reflecting a significant decrease from 2011 [3] (Fig. 9.1c). The seroprevalence of *H. pylori* was an important risk factor for DU identified in a multivariate analysis of the risk factors of peptic ulcers (p < 0.001). The seroprevalence of H. pylori was 79.8% [17] in 2011, which significantly decreased to 51.3% in 2016-2017 (p < 0.001) [3]. The proportion of individuals who had undergone H. pylori eradication was

13.0% in 2011 [17], which increased to 17.5% in 2016–2017 (p < 0.001) [3], suggesting that the rapid reduction of *H. pylori* infection was the cause of the decrease in the prevalence of DU. The decrease in the prevalence of GU was not related to the decrease in the prevalence of *H. pylori*. Rather, it was suggested that the decrease in the prevalence of GU was due to reduced tobacco consumption, alcohol consumption, and history of NSAID use (more than once a week), as the prevalence of those risk factors was 21.9%, 61.8%, and 11.1% in 2011 [17] and 18.0%, 51.6%, and 9.7% in 2016–2017 [3].

9.2.2 Multicenter Studies of Data from Gastroenterology Departments at Tertiary Hospitals in 1995, 2000, and 2005

Large-scale studies (8441 participants in 1995, 10,350 participants in 2000, and 10,102 participants in 2005, 28,893 total) including individuals who received an endoscopy in tertiary hospitals in South Korea were conducted. During this period, the prevalence of peptic ulcers was 19.2% [2]. The prevalence of peptic ulcers increased from 18.0% in 1995 to 19.1% in 2000 and 20.2% in 2005 (p < 0.001). Patients with GU and patients with DU were different in terms of the impact of H. pylori and NSAID use [2]. In the past 10 years, the prevalence of H. pylori infection decreased significantly in South Korea (p < 0.001), but the H. pylori infection rate in the DU group was 65.4%, which was higher than the rate of 59.6% in the GU group [2]. Despite this decrease in the prevalence of H. pylori, the prevalence of DU did not change, with values of 8.4%, 8.7%, and 8.2% (p = 0.449) (Fig. 9.1b). Furthermore, GU increased, with prevalence rates of 9.6%, 10.5%, and 12.0% (*p* < 0.001) (Fig. 9.1b), indicating that the increase in NSAID use influenced the incidence of peptic ulcers more than changes in H. *pylori* infection [2]. Specifically, the prevalence of GU in the NSAID use group was 23.6%, which was markedly higher than that of 10.4% in the group without a history of NSAID use [2]. The prevalence of DU in the NSAID use group was 12.3%, which was higher than 8.3% in the group without NSAID use history, but it was lower than that in the GU group [2]. The GU prevalence of 23.6% in the NSAID use group is similar to the findings of international reports that 15-30% of those who use NSAIDs experience peptic ulcers [18, 19]. In a report by Kim et al. that examined trends by year, GU increased in the NSAID use group from 17.6% to 19.4% and 28.0%, which are significantly higher rates (p < 0.001) than those of 7.5%, 9.2%, and 13.1% in the group that did not use NSAIDs [2]. The prevalence of duodenal ulcers was 11.2%, 9.8%, and 13.4% in the NSAID use group, which did not significantly differ from the prevalence of 7.9%, 7.6%, and 9.5% in the non-use group [2]. To summarize these findings, GU are highly influenced by the use of aspirin and other NSAIDs, while DU are strongly influenced by *H. pylori*. When these results are analyzed by age and sex, the prevalence of GU increased from 1995 to 2000 and 2005 proportionately to age, but the prevalence of DU instead decreased with age. Both types of ulcers were more prevalent in males-specifically, GUs were 2.25 times and DUs were 2.21 times more common among males than females [2].

9.2.3 Analysis of Peptic Ulcer Studies of Data from Gastroenterology Departments from 1990 to 2007

To summarize studies of peptic ulcers published in South Korea from 1990 to 2007 [2, 4–6, 8, 20] (Table 9.1), patients' age steadily increased, the proportions of male patients and those with *H. pylori* decreased, and the proportion of bleeding increased from 17.8% [7] in 1996–1997 to 35.5% [6] in 2007 [4] (Table 9.1). As the population ages, the prevalence of chronic musculoskeletal diseases, such as osteoarthritis, and cardiovascular diseases increases along with the use of NSAIDs, including aspirin. Damage of the GI mucosa increases in the older population, who are vulnerable to these analgesics, leading to predicted changes in the characteristics of patients with peptic ulcers. In fact, the average age of patients with peptic ulcers who were hospitalized at tertiary hospitals was 47.8 years [7] in 1990. The average age of 180 patients with peptic ulcers between 1996 and 1997 was 53.8 years [20], that of 475 patients with peptic ulcers from 2003 to 2008 was 58.2 years [21], and that of 310 patients with peptic ulcers in 2007 was 61.5 years [6], demonstrating an increasing trend [4] (Table 9.1). As H. pylori and NSAID use are the most important factors contributing to the development of these peptic ulcers, we evaluated their changes over time. The prevalence of H. pylori was 82.8% [20] in the peptic ulcer patient group from 1996 to 1997, 72.6% [21] in the patient group from 2003 to 2008, and 48.0% in the patient group in 2007 [6], displaying a rapid decrease (Table 9.1). In contrast, the proportion of patients who used ulcerogenic drugs, including NSAIDs, was 26.1% in 1996–1997, and the prevalence of NSAID use and aspirin use was 23.6% and 22.5%, respectively, marking a steep increase [4] (Table 9.1). An interesting fact is that the sex/gender ratio in peptic ulcer patients is changing remarkably. In 1990, 82.6% were males [7], but this proportion decreased to 66.7% in 2006 [7] and 2007 [6], indicating that peptic ulcers increased among female patients who started using NSAIDs more often [4] (Table 9.1). Theoretically, it may be expected that peptic ulcers due to NSAIDs can be ameliorated by the suspension of drugs, but it is difficult to discontinue NSAIDs due to their use for chronic diseases and chronic pain. In many cases, intractable peptic ulcers develop, leading to complications. Peptic ulcers in the older population are recognized as the most important side effect of aspirin and other NSAIDs [19, 22, 23].

9.3 Sex/Gender Differences in the Causes of Peptic Ulcers

In recent years, there is a higher proportion of the older population and people with underlying diseases such as diabetes, hypertension, stroke, and cancer, and in this population, peptic ulcers without known causes such as H. pylori or aspirin/ NSAID use are increasing [12, 24]. As such, peptic ulcers are classified into (1) peptic ulcers due to H. pylori infection, (2) peptic ulcers due to aspirin or other NSAID use, and (3) idiopathic peptic ulcers without either of the other two causes. Among these three categories, peptic ulcers due to aspirin or other NSAID use are more frequent in females and in the older population. This type of peptic ulcer is frequently accompanied by complications such as bleeding and perforation, and in patients with underlying diseases, it is associated with more than twofold higher mortality rate, although patients are often asymptomatic [7, 9, 25]. Asymptomatic cases of peptic ulcers due to NSAID use are relatively common because NSAIDs have an analgesic effect and exacerbate painless ulcers. Ultimately, the risk of complications such as bleeding and perforation increases. The elderly, who are less sensitive to pain and have weaker defense mechanisms, are more vulnerable to such complications. Bleeding is often observed in cases of peptic ulcers due to NSAID use because NSAIDs not only damage the gastric mucosal cells, but also suppress the synthesis of thromboxane A2 (TXA2) in platelets, thereby exerting an antiplatelet effect [4] (Fig. 9.4). Interest in patients with idiopathic peptic ulcers without H. pylori infections or a history of aspirin or other NSAID use is increasing, because the ulcer recurrence



Fig. 9.4 Path changes of cyclooxygenase (COX) and lipoxygenase (LOX) due to NSAID. When an NSAID, including aspirin, is ingested, COX-1 decreases, thereby weakening the defense mechanism of the gastric mucosa, and thromboxane A1 (TXA2) decreases, reducing the hemostatic effect of platelets. COX-2, which increases during inflammation, also decreases. COX-2 selective NSAIDs have little effect on COX-1 and have the benefit

of blocking only the COX-2 pathway. Non-selective NSAIDs block both COX-1 and COX-2, which activates the 5-LOX enzyme and increases the production of LTB4, C4, and D4, which are inflammatory factors. *COX* cyclo-oxygenase, *PG* prostaglandin, *TX* thromboxane, *LOX* lipoxygenase, *LT* leukotriene (adapted from Shim and Kim [4])

rates in these patients are high—at 35% in 2 years and 42% in 7 years—and the rates of complications and mortality are also high [3, 15, 16]. During a 5-year follow-up, the ulcer recurrence rates were 3.8% in patients with *H. pylori* infections, 10.9% in those with a history of NSAID and other medication use, and 24.3% in patients with idiopathic peptic ulcers, reflecting a significantly higher rate than those observed in the other two groups [26]. The prevalence of *H. pylori* infection was higher among males than among females, while a history of NSAID use was more common among females than males. Therefore, the sex/gender differences in these three types of peptic ulcers are briefly reviewed below.

9.3.1 Peptic Ulcers Due to H. pylori

The mechanism by which H. pylori infection causes DU is hypothesized to be either bacterial colonization in an area of gastric metaplasia that occurs in the duodenal mucosa, causing mucosal damage, or antral-predominant gastritis, increasing blood gastrin and stimulating gastric acid secretion to increase duodenal acidity and cause mucosal damage [27]. H. pylori-induced reductions in the secretion of bicarbonate in the duodenum are also known to be related to the incidence of ulcers. The suggested causes for GU are H. pylori bacterial colonization in both the gastric body and gastric antrum, normal or reduced secretion of gastric acid (unlike what occurs in DU), and reflux of duodenal digestive juice due to disorders in the gastric mucosal defense mechanism or pyloric sphincter [28]. As peptic ulcers occur in 5-10% of patients with H. pylori infection, factors related to the bacteria and the host and other factors beyond H. pylori infection are hypothesized to be relevant [28]. In the 1990s, the H. pylori infection rate among patients with DU was 94.2% [29], and that among patients with GU was 82.8% [20]. Both duodenal and gastric ulcers were twice as more common among males than females, suggesting the presence of sex/gender differences in host factors of peptic ulcers, such as tobacco and alcohol use, and in duodenal mucosa resistance.

9.3.2 Peptic Ulcers Due to NSAIDs

The main mechanisms through which NSAIDs damage the GI tract are the inhibition of prostaglandin (PG) synthesis due to systemic effects through the blood and direct effects on the GI mucosa. Overall, 10-60% of patients taking NSAIDs experience GI symptoms such as stomachache, heartburn, bloating, and indigestion [19, 22]. In fact, 10–20% of patients with rheumatoid arthritis who took NSAIDs for 6 months stopped medication due to GI symptoms [19, 23, 30]. According to a study that conducted upper GI endoscopy among patients who took NSAIDs, 10-40% of patients experienced GU within the first 3 months of NSAID use, and 4-15% experienced DU [18, 31–33]. The relative risk of upper GI bleeding among patients using NSAIDs is 3.8 [34], and the relative risk of death due to GI complications is around 4.2 [23]. Recently, daily intake of low-dose aspirin below 325 mg in order to prevent cardiovascular disease is increasing, and aspirin is being recognized as an important cause of peptic ulcers. Risk factors for GI complications in NSAID users are well-established through various case-control studies and cohort studies [19, 23], and the risk becomes clearer above the age of 50 when complications of ulcers are around 2–5 times more likely [35]. Other than old age, which is a factor that increases the risk of peptic ulcers due to NSAIDs, a history of peptic ulcers and combination of anticoagulants dramatically increase the risk of both peptic ulcers and GI bleeding [36]. The use of steroids on their own was not directly related to peptic ulcers, but when combined with NSAIDs, steroid use drastically increased the risk of peptic ulcers or complications of peptic ulcers. When a high NSAID dose is used, redundant use of NSAIDs, including aspirin, increases the risk of ulcers as well. A meta-analysis reported that the incidence of peptic ulcers was 3.5 times higher in patients who used NSAIDs and H. pylori infection [36]. The risk of ulcer bleeding was 1.79 times higher in patients with H. pylori infection, 4.85 times higher in those with NSAID use, and 6.13 times higher when both factors existed [37]. When NSAID use is required, patients should be tested for H. pylori infection first and undergo eradication if positive. Gastric mucosal damage due to NSAIDs, including aspirin, can occur in various ways depending on the path through which the medication is absorbed (locally or through the bloodstream after being metabolized in the liver) [38–42]. Three important mechanisms include (1) increased membrane permeabilization, (2) suppression of cyclooxygenase (COX)-1 and PG formation, and (3) increased production of proinflammatory mediators [39]. Among these, the main pathophysiology of peptic ulcers due to repeated exposure to NSAIDs is the systemic effect of NSAIDs, which inhibit COX activity in the GI mucosa. Explanations of the three mechanisms follow.

9.3.2.1 Membrane Permeabilization

NSAIDs damage the GI mucosa through direct cytotoxic effects on gastric mucosal cells [43, 44], which are not related to COX inhibition [45]. When an NSAID is administered orally, it binds to hydrogen ions in the gastric juice, and the ionized NSAID penetrates the gastric cell membrane and enters gastric mucosal epithelial cells, causing intracellular acidification, inhibiting mitochondrial function, damaging the epithelial barrier [46], and causing necrosis and apoptosis of gastric mucosal cells [47]. This direct damage to the GI mucosa caused by aspirin or other NSAIDs is not believed to cause clinically important peptic ulcers. The evidence for this belief is that when enteric-coated aspirin is ingested, it is not dissolved in the stomach, which was expected to reduce gastric mucosal damage. However, compared to uncoated aspirin, enteric-coated aspirin did not reduce GI bleeding caused by peptic ulcers [48]. The fact that parenteral NSAIDs also cause GU and DU also supports this belief [49, 50].

9.3.2.2 COX-1 Inhibition and Decrease of Prostaglandins

NSAIDs cause clinically important GI mucosal damage through their systemic effects. The COX enzymes that play an important role in related mechanisms have two subtypes, COX-1 and COX-2, which have different functions [51].

COX-1 dissolves arachidonic acid to synthesize PG in the GI mucosa and produces TXA2 in platelets to help with bleeding [4] (Fig. 9.4). COX-1 synthesizes PG to protect the gastric mucosa from gastric acid, maintains the blood flow in the gastric mucosa, and produces bicarbonate [52, 53]. The absorbed NSAID suppresses activation of COX-1 to reduce endogenous PG synthesis. When PG synthesis is reduced, the gastric mucosa is damaged due to decreased secretion of mucus and bicarbonate from epithelial cells, reduced mucosal blood flow, decreased proliferation of epithelial cells, and reduced resistance to damage. Peptic ulcers due to NSAIDs are thus mainly caused by suppression of COX-1 production [54-56]. In contrast, COX-2 is activated by cell damage, endotoxins in conditions of disease, tumor necrosis factoralpha (TNF- α), inflammatory mediators such as interleukin (IL)-1 β , and tumor-derived factors [57, 58]. Considering that there are large differences in the production and function of COX-1 and COX-2, NSAIDs developed to suppress COX-2 only are known as selective COX-2 inhibitors. Unlike non-specific NSAIDs (ns-NSAIDs, such as indomethacin, naproxen, diclofenac, piroxicam, and ibuprofen), which can combine with both COX-1 receptors with small and sharp structures and COX-2 receptors with large and blunt structures, selective COX-2 inhibitors (celecoxib, etodolac, etc.) that can only combine with COX-2 receptors have been developed. Aspirin is categorized as an ns-NSAID and suppresses some COX-2-mediated reactions. Theoretically, selective COX-2 inhibitors can preserve the protective function of PG, mediated by COX-1, on the GI mucosa, but the dose of COX-2 inhibitors recommended for use in clinical practice can also suppress COX-1. As the possibility of damage in GI mucosa exists when only selective COX-2 inhibitors are used, caution is still needed [59, 60]. However, reports on celecoxib, a selective COX-2 inhibitor, have suggested that its risk of bleeding is lower than that of ns-NSAIDs [61, 62]. The Asia-Pacific guidelines on non-esophageal variceal bleeding categorize celecoxib separately from other NSAIDs as an NSAID with a lower possibility of bleeding [63].

9.3.2.3 Activation of Inflammatory Mediators

When the synthesis of PG is interrupted by an NSAID, the activation of lipoxygenase increases, producing leukotriene (LT), a product of the lipoxygenase pathway [64–66] (Fig. 9.4). Increased LT can cause inflammation, damage to the GI mucosa resulting tissue ischemia due to vascular endothelium spasm, and reperfusion stress, thereby increasing the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) [64–66]. It also produces inflammatory mediators such as TNF- α , reducing the blood flow in the gastric mucosa, and damaging the GI mucosa by increasing the production of ROS [67].

9.3.3 Non-*H. pylori*, Non-NSAID Peptic Ulcers

Depending on the region, a wide range of prevalence of non-*H. pylori*, non-NSAID peptic ulcers has been reported. In South Korea, the prevalence is reported to be around 16.2–25.7% [10, 26, 68]. The inferred causes of ulcers in this patient group are excessive secretion of gastric acid, tobacco consumption, malignant tumors, other antiplatelet drugs (clopidogrel, ticlopidine, prasugrel, etc.), potassium chloride, bisphosphonate drugs, cytomegalovirus, herpes simplex virus infection, tuberculosis, syphilis, portal hypertension, Behçet disease, psychological stress, and other chronic comorbidities, but the exact causes are yet unknown [69–74].

The characteristics of idiopathic peptic ulcers without any certain causes are different from those of peptic ulcers that occur with *H. pylori* or a history of aspirin or other NSAID use. Among 173 peptic ulcer patients who were diagnosed through endoscopy at the Department of Gastroenterology at Seoul National University Bundang Hospital for 2 years from September 2006 to August 2008 and followed up for more than 1 year, when the idiopathic peptic ulcer group (n = 28, 16.2%) and the *H. pylori* or NSAID/aspirin peptic ulcer group (n = 145, 83.8%) were compared, no differences were found in age, sex, tobacco use, location of the ulcer, and bleeding [10]. The proportion of patients with a history of chronic diseases (hypertension, diabetes, heart disease, chronic kidney disease, etc.) in the idiopathic peptic ulcer group was 42.9%, which was higher than the 25.5% in the group with peptic ulcers due to H. pylori or aspirin or other NSAID use. However, the difference did not reach statistical significance (p = 0.062), which may have been due to the small number of study participants. An important difference is that the 1-year ulcer recurrence rate was 25.0%, which was significantly higher than the rate of 6.2% in the group with peptic ulcers due to H. pylori or aspirin or other NSAID use (p = 0.002) [10]. This finding demonstrates that treatment is easier in cases where the cause is definite such as *H. pylori* or NSAID/aspirin use. A report from Hong Kong also suggested the need to examine the cause of peptic ulcers since the mortality associated with bleeding due to idiopathic ulcers was higher [9].

9.4 Sex/Gender Differences in the Mechanism of Peptic Ulcers

The gastric epithelium is constantly attacked by endogenous harmful factors such as hydrochloric acid, pepsinogen/pepsin, and bile. Exogenous substances such as drugs, alcohol, and bacteria also constantly pass through the gastric epithelium. However, a very sophisticated biological system prevents damage in the mucosa and enables the repair of mucosal damage that occurs from time to time. Mucus, mucosal epithelial cells, blood circulation, and bicarbonate secretion are defensive factors. Even when offensive factors such as gastric acid and pepsin exert strong effects, adequate defensive function of the gastric and duodenal epithelium can prevent peptic ulcers caused by gastric and duodenal tissue damage. The mucosal defense system is composed of three levels: pre-epithelial, epithelial, and subepithelial factors. The first level of mucosal defense mucus-bicarbonateis the phospholipid which layer, acts as physicochemical barrier from various substances including hydrogen ion. Mucus secretion is controlled by the gastroduodenal epithelial cells. Mucus is mostly composed of water (95%) and a mixture of phospholipids and glycoproteins (mucin). Mucous gel creates a non-stirred water layer that prevents the diffusion of molecules such as ions and pepsins. The secretion of bicarbonate is controlled by the gastroduodenal epithelial cells, and bicarbonate is secreted into the mucous gel to maintain the pH of the epithelial cell surface at 6 or 7 despite the pH inside stomach being strongly acidic, at a pH 1 or 2. The epithelial cells in the surface become the second defense barrier through factors such as the epithelial cell ionic transporter that produces mucus and maintains the intracellular pH, bicarbonate production, and intracellular tight junctionrelated proteins. The epithelial cells in the surface prevent protein denaturation and produce heat shock protein, which protects cells from factors such as increased temperature, cytotoxic substances, or oxidative stress. When the preepithelial defensive barrier is damaged, epithelial cells in the area migrate to repair the damaged area (restitution), and this process is not related to cell division. For effective restitution, the blood flow must be smooth, and the pH in the area must be alkaline. Restitution is controlled by growth factors such as epidermal growth factor (EGF), transforming growth factor (TGF)- α , and fibroblast growth factor (FGF). For large areas of damage that cannot be healed effectively through restitution, cell division must occur. Regeneration of epithelial cells is controlled by growth factors such as PG, EGF, and TGF- α . Along with the regeneration of epithelial cells, angiogenesis occurs in the damaged microvascular layer. FGF and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) play important roles in the regeneration of blood vessels in the gastric mucosa. While peptic ulcers occur twice more frequently and bleeding and perforation are more common among males, the prevalence of peptic ulcers and complications is low among females. The reason for this was hypothesized to be related to estrogen, a female sex hormone. It was recently revealed that estrogen increased the expression of tight junction proteins, which close the gaps between cells and prevent mucosa permeability and bacterial migration [15]. In an animal study with rabbits, when an Ussing chamber experiment was conducted after injecting 17β-estradiol for 2 weeks and separating the esophagus, it was found that in the 17β -estradiol treatment group, there was a shorter distance between cells due to stimulants such as gastric acid through the augmentation of occludin [75]. Another mechanism is that estrogen promotes duodenal bicarbonate secretion, which was substantiated in both human [76] and mice [77] and thus has greater validity. As a brief introduction to these two studies, Tuo et al. analyzed epidemiological data to examine the incidence of duodenal ulcers by sex/gender and age, measured bicarbonate secretion in healthy individuals, and conducted immunoblot and immunohistochemical analysis to examine the expression of estrogen receptors (ER) [76]. The incidence of DU was significantly lower among females than among males. The incidence was 3.91-5.09 times lower among females before menopause (age 20-49) than among males of the same age, but in the 60 and above age group, the difference decreased, as the incidence among females was 1.32 times lower than that among males [76]. Basal and acid-stimulated bicarbonate secretion was higher among females aged 20-29 than among males, but this phenomenon was not observed in the 60–69 age group [76]. Moreover, females aged 20-29 had higher bicarbonate secretion than females aged 60-69, but this difference was not observed among males [76]. Serum estradiol levels were proportional to bicarbonate secretion according to the menstrual cycle before menopause, and it was explained that ER expressed in the duodenal plasma membrane and cytoplasm combined with estrogen to promote bicarbonate secretion and reduce the risk of DU among females [76]. A study based on experiments with mice aged 70-90 days reported that basal and acid-stimulated bicarbonate secretion was 1.5 times and 2.4 times higher, respectively, in female mice than in male mice [77]. This secretion disappeared immediately after administration of the ER antagonist ICI 182,780 or tamoxifen, increased rapidly after 17β-estradiol agonist and an ERα (1,3,5-Tris(4hydroxyphenyl)-4-propyl-1H-pyrazole), but was not related to progesterone [77]. In mice of both
17β-estradiol stimulated bicarbonate sexes. secretion, but the secretion was 4.3 times higher in female mice than in male mice [77]. However, ER, ER mRNA, and ER proteins were expressed in the duodenal epithelial cells in mice of both sexes, and there were no sex differences in the [77]. degree of expression Furthermore, 17β-estradiol moved calcium into cells in the SCBN cell line; this cell line expresses $ER\alpha$ or ER β , which was found to be related to cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator and Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻ anion exchanger, suggesting a sex difference in the mechanism of DU [77]. An experiment was conducted on sex/gender differences in GU. The study compared the incidence of stress-related ulcers 2 weeks after distressing mice by tying their legs and putting them in a refrigerator for three hours. Stress-related ulcers occurred in 100% of male mice that were stressed, while ulcers occurred in 80% of female mice, indicating that males are more vulnerable to stress-related ulcers than females [78].

9.5 Changes in Peptic Ulcers in the Aging Population

According to a report by Statistics Korea about the population distribution by age in South Korea, the proportion of the population aged above 65 has been steadily increasing from 3.1% in 1970 to 12.2% in 2013. It is expected that the proportion will increase further to 24.3% in 2030 and 37.4% in 2050 (data from Statistics Korea). Kang et al. [14] found that as aging progresses, the lower third of the gastric mucosal layer is replaced with connective tissue along with the accumulation of various oxides; the production of mucus, bicarbonate, and PG is reduced; and vascularization is suppressed, reducing the resilience to mucosal damage in a study with mice of various ages [14]. As a mechanism of GI cellular aging, DNA damage was found in mucosal epithelial cells located close to the crypt and some neurons of the muscular layer plexus, and ROS increased in the muscular layer nerves [79, 80]. It is hypothesized that as aging progresses, neurons become more vulnerable to damage due to ROS

[45]. Regarding the secretion of gastric acid, Majumdar et al. [81] explained that as aging progresses, secretion of gastrin in the gastric antrum decreases, resulting in reduced secretion of gastric acid, and the gastrin reactivity of gastric mucosa also decreases, limiting gastric acid secretion and growth promotion in the mucosa. Jo et al. [82] supported this finding by reporting a decreasing trend in gastric acid as aging progressed in an experiment with F344 mice. Meanwhile, a decrease in gastric acid secretion was not observed in healthy elderly individuals without atrophic gastritis [83], leading to some speculation that the decrease in gastric acid secretion in the older population is due to atrophic gastritis following H. pylori infection rather than aging itself [8].

9.6 Differences by Age and Sex/ Gender in the Complications of Peptic Ulcers

Complications occur in around 25% of patients with peptic ulcers. The main complications are bleeding and perforation, and other complications include fistulas through penetration and obstruction of the gastric pylorus [84]. As hygiene improved and H. pylori infections decreased, the prevalence of peptic ulcers somewhat decreased, but the rate of hospitalization due to complications of peptic ulcers did not change much or even increased as NSAID use increased concomitantly with population aging [85, 86]. Peptic ulcer bleeding is the most common complication of peptic ulcers, occurring in 15–20% of patients with peptic ulcers [84, 87]. Although complications such as perforations or obstruction of the gastric pylorus are decreasing, peptic ulcer bleeding is increasing. The causes are hypothesized to be the increase in the use of NSAIDs, including aspirin, in the aging population and the lowered hemostatic effect of platelets as COX-1 and TXA2 in platelets are reduced as a result [4, 87] (Fig. 9.4). When the clinical features of patients with peptic ulcers diagnosed in the Seoul National University Bundang Hospital in 2007 were examined, peptic ulcer bleeding was significantly more common in the older age group (60 and above) than in the younger age group (43.6% and 14.3%, p = 0.035), and the proportion of cases that required hemostasis therapy was 22.1% in the older age group, which was higher than the 13.7% in the younger age group (p = 0.047) [6]. The incidence of peptic ulcer bleeding among 48,400,000 individuals from 2006 to 2007 in

Health Insurance Review and Assessment Service data was 22.1 per 100,000, and the 30-day mortality rate was 2.15% [11]. When analyzed by age, the 30-day mortality rate was 0.83% in the under 60 age group, which increased with age to 7.65% in the 80 and above age group [11] (Fig. 9.2a). The 30-day mortality rate was higher among women than among males [4, 11] (Table 9.3 and Fig. 9.2b). Gastroduodenal

Table 9.3 Comparison of the characteristics of 21,107 patients with peptic ulcer bleeding and 4258 patients with perforation in 2006–2007 National Health Insurance Service data (adapted from Shim and Kim [4])

	Peptic ulcer b	bleeding $(N = 21)$,107) [11]	Perforated pe	ptic perforation ((<i>N</i> = 4258) [12]
		30-day			30-day	
		mortality			mortality	
		No. of deaths	Crude MRR		No. of deaths	Crude MRR (95%
Variables	n (%)	(%)	(95% CI)	n (%)	(%)	CI)
Total	21,107	454 (2.15)		4258	135 (3.17)	
Age (years)						
<60	11,099 (52.6)	92 (0.83)	1.00	3143 (73.8)	33 (1.05)	1.00
60–79	8453 (40.0)	243 (2.87)	3.50 (2.75-4.45)	892 (20.9)	59 (6.61)	2.76 (1.69-4.49)
≥80	1555 (7.4)	119 (7.65)	9.55 (7.28–12.5)	223 (5.2)	43 (19.28)	8.39 (4.81–14.1)
Sex						
Male	16,177 (76.6)	296 (1.83)	1.00	3650 (85.7)	74 (2.03)	1.00
Female	4930 (23.4)	158 (3.2)	1.78 (1.46-2.16)	608 (14.3)	61 (10.03)	1.71 (1.14–2.56)
Charlson como	orbidity index					
Low (0)	19,779 (93.7)	366 (1.85)	1.00	3291 (77.3)	38 (1.15)	1.00
Medium (1–2)	1158 (5.5)	64 (5.49)	3.53 (2.75–4.53)	747 (17.5)	60 (8.03)	3.85 (2.46-6.03)
High (≥3)	170 (0.8)	14 (8.24)	4.62 (2.71–7.88)	220 (5.2)	37 (16.82)	8.52 (5.1–14.31)
PU-related hos	pitalization					-
No	20,230 (95.8)	427 (2.11)	1.00	4053 (95.2)	118 (2.91)	Excluded ^c
Yes	877 (4.2)	27 (3.08)	1.47 (0.99–2.19)	205 (4.8)	17 (8.29)	
Ulcer-related d	lrug ^a users					
No	15,605 (73.9)	301 (1.93)	1.00	2710 (63.6)	43 (1.58)	Excluded ^c
Yes	5502 (26.1)	153 (2.79)	1.45 (1.19–1.77)	1548 (36.4)	92 (5.94)	
Antiulcer drug	^b users			·	·	
No	8294 (39.3)	1.93 ^d	1.00	3602 (84.6)	134 (3.72)	Excluded ^c
Yes	12,813 (60.7)	2.78 ^d	1.45 (1.19–1.77)	656 (15.4)	1 (0.15)	

CI confidence interval, *MRR* mortality rate ratio, *PU* peptic ulcer, *PUB* peptic ulcer bleeding, *PPU* perforated peptic ulcer

30-day mortality has been calculated as the ratio of PUB and PPU-related deaths per 100,000 persons

^aUlcer-related drug has been defined as NSAIDs (including aspirin and COX-2 inhibitors), oral glucocorticoids, and anticoagulant (warfarin and clopidogrel)

^bAntiulcer drug has been defined as proton pump inhibitors and H₂ receptor antagonist

^eExcluded due to statistical insignificance on stepwise logistic regression, as indicated by p > 0.05

^dOriginal paper showed 30-day mortality (%) instead No. of deaths. The sum did not match with 454

perforation due to peptic ulcers occur in 2-10% of patients with peptic ulcers and was the most common cause of surgery due to peptic ulcers [88]. Perforation is a severe complication of peptic ulcers with a high mortality rate (25%). Peptic ulcer perforation is increasing in the older population due to the increased use of NSAIDs [67, 89, 90]. In South Korea, a study with 4258 patients with gastroduodenal perforation due to peptic ulcers that occurred from 2006 to 2007 reported that the incidence of perforation due to peptic ulcers was 4.4 per 100,000, the incidence among males (7.53) was 6 times that among females (1.24) (Fig. 9.3a), and the 30-day mortality increased with age [4, 12] (Table 9.3 and Fig. 9.3b). The mortality rate is so high in the older population due to delayed diagnoses because the symptoms of perforation might not be clear in older patients, patients who use steroids, immunosuppressants, or opioids, and patients with diabetes [91, 92]. An interesting fact is that bleeding and perforation, as complications of peptic ulcers, occur more frequently in males, but the mortality rate of such complications is higher among females. Estrogen acts as a defense mechanism, but in old age-around 20 years after menopause-the overall physical reserve mechanism that sustains life might be stronger in males than in females. A sex/gender difference in peptic ulcers could also be observed in the study of Kim et al., which was based on National Health Insurance claims data from 2006 to 2015 [93]. A total of 151,507 cases were hospitalized due to peptic ulcer bleeding, which was 34.98 per 100,000 person-years [93]. There were no changes from 2006 to 2008, but the incidence decreased 2.7% every year from 2008 to 2015 (p < 0.05) [93]. However, this decrease was only significant among males and not among females, which might have been due to the fact that NSAID use is more prevalent among women. The incidence of peptic ulcer bleeding was higher among males than females from age 40 to 70, but it was higher among females than males above the age of 80, suggesting that estrogen functions as a defensive mechanism before menopause [93].

9.7 Sex/Gender Differences in the Pharmacological Treatment of Peptic Ulcers

The aims of peptic ulcer treatment are alleviation of symptoms, improvement of the ulcers, and the prevention of ulcer-related complications and recurrence. When complications occur, endoscopic treatments or surgery might be required, but the foundation is pharmacological treatment. Little research has explored sex/gender differences in the treatment of peptic ulcers, but there is an interesting report that peptic ulcers occur more readily in stressed female mice than male mice and that the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor fluoxetine did not improve female mice [78]. The authors caused ulcers by distressing 2-3-month-old, Sprague-Dawley strain mice by tying their feet and putting them in a refrigerator for 3 hours. Some mice were injected with 10 mg/ kg of fluoxetine once in the stomach [78]. The stressed mice had reduced secretion of gastric acid and low gastric pH levels. Malonaldehyde (MDA) in the gastric tissue increased, but nitric oxide (NO)-an important factor related to catalase, which removes ROS, and mucosal defensive factors-decreased (especially in male mice) and gamma aminobutyric acid (GABA) in the brain cortex also decreased more in stressed male mice than female mice [78]. The antidepressant medication fluoxetine had an antiulcer effect in male mice, but no effect in female mice, suggesting that depression treatment may be effective in treating peptic ulcers in males [78].

For peptic ulcers caused by aspirin or other NSAIDs, whether the NSAID/aspirin can be stopped is an important question. Rheumatoid diseases are more common among females, and since females are more susceptible to pain, when they are taking multiple types of NSAIDs, it is not possible to discontinue the administration of those drugs. When individuals are hospitalized in long-term care hospitals for treatment, efforts to stop the administration of NSAID can be particularly difficult, so it is common for peptic ulcers due to NSAIDs not to be treated adequately. These intractable ulcers progress to bleeding or perforation, but due to the pain-relieving properties of NSAIDs, symptoms do not occur, and the mortality among females is high. Therefore, when it is difficult to discontinue NSAIDs, a proton pump inhibitor (PPI) is suggested as the first-line treatment for peptic ulcers. When patients who have peptic ulcer bleeding require ongoing NSAID treatment, it is recommended for them to take a PPI with a selective COX-2-inhibiting NSAID [63].

H. pylori infection treatment is important for patients with peptic ulcers due to NSAIDs, since in such cases, peptic ulcer complications increase when *H. pylori* infection is present; in a multivariate analysis of the causes of peptic ulcer recurrence, H. pylori infection was found to be the only significant factor [21]. Therefore, H. pylori eradication is very important. However, some reports have stated that H. pylori infection is helpful for the treatment of ulcers since it increases the expression of COX-2 in the gastric mucosa and induces increased PG production, which is suppressed by NSAIDs [94, 95]. Thus, it is recommended to proceed with H. pylori eradication treatment after the treatment for GU is completed in case of GU due to NSAID/aspirin use [96].

9.8 Sex/Gender Differences That Should Be Considered for Peptic Ulcer Prevention Strategies

As the population ages and degenerative arthritis becomes more prevalent, NSAID use is increasing. In the United Kingdom, the number of prescriptions for anti-inflammation and pain relief is 17,000,000 every year [97], and the number is expected to double from 2000 to 2030 [98]. In order to prevent side effects in the upper digestive tract mucosa and peptic ulcers and their complications, which accompany the use of NSAIDs, NSAIDs that minimize the damage in GI mucosa should be selected and used at the minimum dose for a short period of time, PPI or PG analogues should be used in combination, COX-2 selective inhibitors should be used, and diagnosis and

treatment of *H. pylori* infection should be considered [38, 99, 100]. According to many studies, using clopidogrel instead of aspirin for primary prevention of cardiovascular diseases, combining histamine H_2 receptor antagonists (H_2RAs) or sucralfate when NSAIDs continue to be used, and using enteric-coated aspirin or buffered aspirin were not effective in preventing peptic ulcers or the complications [38].

When aspirin or other NSAIDs are used, the foundation of peptic ulcer prevention strategy is that special caution should be taken for those aged above 65. In South Korean studies, examples of combining ulcer prevention drugs, including PPIs, with NSAID prescriptions are increasing. One European study reported that the proportion of prescriptions combining NSAID and ulcer prevention drugs increased from 5.1% in 1997 to 15.9% in 2002 [101]. In another study, the proportion of combined prescriptions increased from 10.4% in 1997 to 21.0% in 2005, and the yearly incidence rate of peptic ulcers decreased from 1.1 per 1000 in 1997 to 0.52 per 1000 in 2005, indicating the effectiveness of combined prescriptions [32].

PPIs are slightly less effective than misoprostol in preventing peptic ulcers due to NSAIDs, but it has fewer side effects such as diarrhea or stomach pain than misoprostol, making it easier to use on an ongoing basis [102, 103]. PPIs are also effective in both preventing new ulcers and reducing ulcer recurrence in patients continuing to use NSAIDs [21, 104]. A study in the United States reported that combined prescriptions of NSAIDs and PPIs increased from 6.7% in 1998 to 8.2% in 2002 [105]. A study with patients who were using NSAIDs for a long time showed that when a high dose of famotidine (40 mg, twice a day) was taken in combination, the incidence of GU and DU reduced, suggesting that H₂RAs may prevent peptic ulcers [87]. A South Korean study on peptic ulcers and ulcer prevention drugs showed that a history of NSAID use and the incidence of peptic ulcers were not statistically significantly associated when PPIs were used within 4 weeks (p = 0.334). When PPIs were not used within 4 weeks, the incidence of peptic ulcers was higher in the NSAID use group (63.4%) than in the non-use group (41.4%) (p < 0.001) [21]. This trend was similar in patients with history of H_2RA use. When H_2RAs were used within 4 weeks, the difference in the incidence of peptic ulcers according to NSAID use was not clear (p = 0.097), but when H₂RAs were not used within 4 weeks, the incidence of peptic ulcers was higher in the NSAID use group (73.3%) than in the non-use group (52.2%) (p < 0.001) [78], demonstrating the preventive effect of PPIs and H₂RAs. However, sex/gender differences were not analyzed in these studies, so there were no tailored strategies according to sex/gender differences in establishing preventive strategies. However, in light of reports that estrogen has a large effect on the incidence of peptic ulcers, planning to conduct sex/gender-specific analyses in future studies will help in preparing clinical guidelines.

9.9 Conclusions

Peptic ulcers are twice as common in males than in females. The incidence and prevalence of this condition are expected to decrease due to the use of PPIs, reduction in H. pylori infection, and increase in eradication. A study including participants of health check-ups reported such decreases, but a study of individuals who visited outpatient clinic of gastroenterology found that the prevalence of GU was increasing, as well as the proportion of female patients. Changes in GI mucosa, cardiovascular diseases, cerebrovascular diseases, and the increased use of aspirin and other NSAIDs for the treatment of chronic diseases including musculoskeletal diseases due to the aging population around the world are believed to be the causes for these trends. Symptoms can be non-specific in older patients, so complications such as bleeding and perforations commonly occur because peptic ulcers progress without being recognized. The incidence of bleeding and perforation is higher in males than in females, which is interpreted as resulting from the mechanism of estrogen, a female sex hormone, increasing the expression of tight junction proteins that seal the gaps between cells and reducing mucosal permeability, as well as the role of estrogen in promoting the secretion of a large amount of bicarbonate ions in the duodenal mucosa. However, the mortality of peptic ulcer bleeding and perforation is higher among females than in males, suggesting that older females who experienced menopause a long time ago are more vulnerable to the progression to severe illness, leading to death. Considering that the life expectancy of females is generally longer than that of males, this finding is very meaningful. Active research into sex/ gender differences is necessary for tailored treatment in the future.

References

- Lim SH, Kim N, Kwon JW, Kim SE, Baik GH, Lee JY, et al. Trends in the seroprevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* infection and its putative eradication rate over 18 years in Korea: a cross-sectional nationwide multicenter study. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0204762.
- Kim JI, Kim SG, Kim N, Kim JG, Shin SJ, Kim SW, et al. Changing prevalence of upper gastrointestinal disease in 28,893 Koreans from 1995 to 2005. Euro J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2009;21:787–93.
- Nam K, Shin JE, Kim SE, Baik GH, Choi SH, Lee JY, et al. Prevalence and risk factors for upper gastrointestinal diseases in health check-up subjects: a nationwide multicenter study in Korea. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2018;53:910–6.
- Shim YK, Kim N. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug and aspirin-induced peptic ulcer disease. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2016;67:300–12.
- Kim HG, Lee CK, Cho SM, Whang K, Cha BH, Shin JH, et al. Neuregulin 1 up-regulates the expression of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors through the ErbB2/ErbB3-PI3K-MAPK signaling cascade in adult autonomic ganglion neurons. J Neurochem. 2013;124:502–13.
- Kim JJ, Kim N, Park HK, Jo HJ, Shin CM, Lee SH, et al. Clinical characteristics of patients diagnosed as peptic ulcer disease in the third referral center in 2007. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2012;59:338–46.
- Kwon JH, Choi M-G, Lee SW, Shu XX, Bae SH, Choi JY, et al. Trends of gastrointestinal diseases at a single institution in Korea over the past two decades. Gut Liver. 2009;3:252–8.
- Park KS. Aging and digestive diseases: at the view of the functional change of gastrointestinal tract. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2011;58:3–8.
- Wong GL, Wong VW, Chan Y, Ching JY, Au K, Hui AJ, et al. High incidence of mortality and recurrent bleeding in patients with *H. pylori*-negative

idiopathic bleeding ulcers. Gastroenterology. 2009;137:525–31.

- Kang JM, Seo PJ, Kim N, Lee BH, Kwon JW, Lee DH, et al. Analysis of direct medical care costs of peptic ulcer disease in a Korean tertiary medical center. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2012;47:36–42.
- Bae S, Kim N, Kang JM, Kim DS, Kim KM, Cho YK, et al. Incidence and 30-day mortality of peptic ulcer bleeding in Korea. Euro J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;24:675–82.
- Bae S, Shim K-N, Kim N, Kang JM, Kim DS, Kim KM, et al. Incidence and short-term mortality from perforated peptic ulcer in Korea: a population-based study. J Epidemiol. 2012;22:508–16.
- Newton J. Changes in upper gastrointestinal physiology with age. Mech Ageing Dev. 2004;125:867–70.
- Kang JM, Kim N, Kim JH, Oh E, Lee BY, Lee BH, et al. Effect of aging on gastric mucosal defense mechanisms: ROS, apoptosis, angiogenesis, and sensory neurons. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2010;299:G1147–53.
- Grishina I, Fenton A, Sankaran-Walters S. Gender differences, aging and hormonal status in mucosal injury and repair. Aging Dis. 2014;52:160–9.
- Kim N, Kim JW, Kim HJ, Chung MG, Park SM, Baik GH, et al. Distribution of upper gastroduodenal diseases in health check-up subjects in 2006. Korean J Helicobacter Upper Gastroint Res. 2008;8:1–8.
- Joo YE, Park HK, Myung DS, Baik GH, Shin JE, Seo GS, et al. Prevalence and risk factors of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia: a nationwide multicenter prospective study in Korea. Gut Liver. 2013;7:303–10.
- Hawkey CJ. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug gastropathy. Gastroenterology. 2000;119:521–35.
- Aalykke C, Lauritsen K. Epidemiology of NSAIDrelated gastroduodenal mucosal injury. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2001;15:705–22.
- Kim N, Park YJ, Ahn KJ, Lee GH, Lim BC, Koh YH, et al. The role of *Helicobacter pylori* and NSAID in patients with gastric ulcer. Korean J Intern Med. 1998;54:502–13.
- Kim JJ, Kim N, Lee BH, Kang JM, Seo PJ, Lim MK, et al. Risk factors for development and recurrence of peptic ulcer disease. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2010;56:220–8.
- Kim JW. NSAID-induced gastroenteropathy. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2008;52:134–41.
- Wolfe MM, Lichtenstein DR, Singh G. Gastrointestinal toxicity of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs. N Engl J Med. 1999;340:1888–99.
- 24. Singh G, Ramey DR, Morfeld D, Shi H, Hatoum HT, Fries JF. Gastrointestinal tract complications of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug treatment in rheumatoid arthritis. A prospective observational cohort study. Arch Intern Med. 1996;156:1530–6.
- Armstrong CP, Blower AL. Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs and life threatening complications of peptic ulceration. Gut. 1987;28:527–32.

- Yoon H, Kim SG, Jung HC, Song IS. High recurrence rate of idiopathic peptic ulcers in long-term follow-up. Gut Liver. 2013;7:175–81.
- Bang CS, Baik GH. Peptic ulcer. In: Kim N, editor. Helicobacter pylori. Singapore: Springer; 2016. p. 219–28.
- Malfertheiner P, Chan FK, McColl KE. Peptic ulcer disease. Lancet. 2009;374:1449–61.
- Kim NY, Oh HS, Jung HM, Wee SH, Choi JH, Lee KH, et al. The effect of eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* on the patients with duodenal ulcer. - 24 month follow-up. Korean J Intern Med. 1994;9:72–9.
- Singh G, Triadafilopoulos G. Epidemiology of NSAID induced gastrointestinal complications. J Rheumatol Suppl. 1999;56:18–24.
- Graham DY, Agrawal NM, Roth SH. Prevention of NSAID-induced gastric ulcer with misoprostol: multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 1988;2:1277–80.
- 32. Graham DY, White RH, Moreland LW, Schubert TT, Katz R, Jaszewski R, et al. Duodenal and gastric ulcer prevention with misoprostol in arthritis patients taking NSAIDs. Misoprostol Study Group. Ann Intern Med. 1993;119:257–62.
- Langman MJ, Weil J, Wainwright P, Lawson DH, Rawlins MD, Logan RF, et al. Risks of bleeding peptic ulcer associated with individual non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Lancet. 1994;343:1075–8.
- Hernandez-Diaz S, Rodriguez LA. Association between nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and upper gastrointestinal tract bleeding/perforation: an overview of epidemiologic studies published in the 1990s. Arch Intern Med. 2000;160:2093–9.
- 35. Lanza LL, Walker AM, Bortnichak EA, Dreyer NA. Peptic ulcer and gastrointestinal hemorrhage associated with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use in patients younger than 65 years. A large health maintenance organization cohort study. Arch Intern Med. 1995;155:1371–7.
- 36. Shorr RI, Ray WA, Daugherty JR, Griffin MR. Concurrent use of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and oral anticoagulants places elderly persons at high risk for hemorrhagic peptic ulcer disease. Arch Intern Med. 1993;153:1665–70.
- Huang JQ, Sridhar S, Hunt RH. Role of *Helicobacter* pylori infection and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in peptic-ulcer disease: a meta-analysis. Lancet. 2002;359:14–22.
- Schlansky B, Hwang JH. Prevention of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug-induced gastropathy. J Gastroenterol. 2009;44:44–52.
- Sinha M, Gautam L, Shukla PK, Kaur P, Sharma S, Singh TP. Current perspectives in NSAID-induced gastropathy. Mediat Inflamm. 2013;2013:258209.
- Wallace JL. NSAID gastropathy and enteropathy: distinct pathogenesis likely necessitates distinct prevention strategies. Br J Pharmacol. 2012;165:67–74.
- 41. Cryer B, Feldman M. Effects of very low dose daily, long-term aspirin therapy on gastric, duodenal, and

rectal prostaglandin levels and on mucosal injury in healthy humans. Gastroenterology. 1999;117:17–25.

- 42. Iwamoto J, Saito Y, Honda A, Matsuzaki Y. Clinical features of gastroduodenal injury associated with long-term low-dose aspirin therapy. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19:1673–82.
- 43. Tomisato W, Tanaka K, Katsu T, Kakuta H, Sasaki K, Tsutsumi S, et al. Membrane permeabilization by non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2004;323:1032–9.
- 44. Somasundaram S, Rafi S, Hayllar J, Sigthorsson G, Jacob M, Price AB, et al. Mitochondrial damage: a possible mechanism of the "topical" phase of NSAID induced injury to the rat intestine. Gut. 1997;41:344–53.
- 45. Lichtenberger LM. Where is the evidence that cyclooxygenase inhibition is the primary cause of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID)-induced gastrointestinal injury? Topical injury revisited. Biochem Pharmacol. 2001;61:631–7.
- Camilleri M, Cowen T, Koch TR. Enteric neurodegeneration in ageing. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2008;20:185–96.
- 47. Tomisato W, Tsutsumi S, Rokutan K, Tsuchiya T, Mizushima T. NSAIDs induce both necrosis and apoptosis in guinea pig gastric mucosal cells in primary culture. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2001;281:G1092–100.
- Kelly JP, Kaufman DW, Jurgelon JM, Sheehan J, Koff RS, Shapiro S. Risk of aspirin-associated major upper-gastrointestinal bleeding with enteric-coated or buffered product. Lancet. 1996;348:1413–6.
- Estes LL, Fuhs DW, Heaton AH, Butwinick CS. Gastric ulcer perforation associated with the use of injectable ketorolac. Ann Pharmacother. 1993;27:42–3.
- Wolfe PA, Polhamus CD, Kubik C, Robinson AB, Clement DJ. Giant duodenal ulcers associated with the postoperative use of ketorolac: report of three cases. Am J Gastroenterol. 1994;89:1110–1.
- Zidar N, Odar K, Glavac D, Jerse M, Zupanc T, Stajer D. Cyclooxygenase in normal human tissues--is COX-1 really a constitutive isoform, and COX-2 an inducible isoform? J Cell Mol Med. 2009;13:3753–63.
- Gudis K, Sakamoto C. The role of cyclooxygenase in gastric mucosal protection. Dig Dis Sci. 2005;50(Suppl 1):S16–23.
- Konturek SJ, Konturek PC, Pawlik T, Sliwowski Z, Ochmański W, Hahn EG. Duodenal mucosal protection by bicarbonate secretion and its mechanisms. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2004;55(Suppl 2):5–17.
- 54. Mitchell JA, Akarasereenont P, Thiemermann C, Flower RJ, Vane JR. Selectivity of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs as inhibitors of constitutive and inducible cyclooxygenase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993;90:11693–7.
- Laine L. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug gastropathy. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 1996;6:489–504.

- 56. Miller TA. Protective effects of prostaglandins against gastric mucosal damage: current knowledge and proposed mechanisms. Am J Phys. 1983;245:G601–23.
- 57. Seibert K, Zhang Y, Leahy K, Hauser S, Masferrer J, Perkins W, et al. Pharmacological and biochemical demonstration of the role of cyclooxygenase 2 in inflammation and pain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994;91:12013–7.
- Seibert K, Masferrer JL. Role of inducible cyclooxygenase (COX-2) in inflammation. Receptor. 1994;4:17–23.
- 59. Silverstein FE, Faich G, Goldstein JL, Simon LS, Pincus T, Whelton A, et al. Gastrointestinal toxicity with celecoxib vs nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis: the CLASS study: a randomized controlled trial. Celecoxib Long-term Arthritis Safety Study. JAMA. 2000;284:1247–55.
- Wallace JL. Pathogenesis of NSAID-induced gastroduodenal mucosal injury. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2001;15:691–703.
- MacDonald TM, Morant SV, Goldstein JL, Burke TA, Pettitt D. Channelling bias and the incidence of gastrointestinal haemorrhage in users of meloxicam, coxibs, and older, non-specific non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs. Gut. 2003;52:1265–71.
- Targownik LE, Metge CJ, Leung S, Chateau DG. The relative efficacies of gastroprotective strategies in chronic users of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Gastroenterology. 2008;134:937–44.
- AP Consensus, Sung JJ, Chan FK, Chen M, Ching JY, Ho KY, et al. Asia-Pacific Working Group. Asia-Pacific Working Group consensus on nonvariceal upper gastrointestinal bleeding. Gut. 2011;60:1170–7.
- 64. Vaananen PM, Keenan CM, Grisham MB, Wallace JL. Pharmacological investigation of the role of leukotrienes in the pathogenesis of experimental NSAID gastropathy. Inflammation. 1992;16:227–40.
- Hudson N, Balsitis M, Everitt S, Hawkey CJ. Enhanced gastric mucosal leukotriene B4 synthesis in patients taking non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs. Gut. 1993;34:742–7.
- 66. Peskar BM. Role of leukotriene C4 in mucosal damage caused by necrotizing agents and indomethacin in the rat stomach. Gastroenterology. 1991;100:619–26.
- Wallace JL. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and gastroenteropathy: the second hundred years. Gastroenterology. 1997;112:1000–16.
- 68. Jang HJ, Choi MH, Shin WG, Kim KH, Chung YW, Kim KO, et al. Has peptic ulcer disease changed during the past ten years in Korea? A prospective multicenter study. Dig Dis Sci. 2008;53:1527–31.
- Graham DY, Malaty HM. Alendronate gastric ulcers. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 1999;13:515–9.
- Sinar DR, Bozymski EM, Blackshear JL. Effects of oral potassium supplements on upper gastrointestinal

mucosa multicenter clinical comparison of three formulations and placebo. Clin Ther. 1986;8:157–63.

- 71. Kim DJ, Kim HY, Kim SJ, Han TH, Jang MK, Baik GH, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection and peptic ulcer disease in patients with liver cirrhosis. Korean J Intern Med. 2008;23:16–21.
- 72. Jo YW, Choi JY, Ha CY, Min HJ, Lee OJ. The clinical features and prognostic factors of nonvariceal upper gastrointestinal bleeding in the patients with liver cirrhosis. Korean J Helicobacter Up Gastrointest Res. 2013;13:235–42.
- Bang CS, Lee YS, Lee YH, Sung H, Park HJ, Kim HS, et al. Characteristics of nonvariceal upper gastrointestinal hemorrhage in patients with chronic kidney disease. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19:7719–25.
- Löhr JM, Nelson JA, Oldstone MB. Is herpes simplex virus associated with peptic ulcer disease? J Virol. 1990;64:2168–74.
- Honda J, Iijima K, Asanuma K, Ara N, Shiroki T, Kondo Y, et al. Estrogen enhances esophageal barrier function by potentiating occludin expression. Dig Dis Sci. 2016;61:1028–38.
- Tuo B, Wen G, Wei J, Liu X, Wang X, Zhang Y, et al. Estrogen regulation of duodenal bicarbonate secretion and sex-specific protection of human duodenum. Gastroenterology. 2011;141:854–63.
- 77. Smith A, Contreras C, Ko KH, Chow J, Dong X, Tuo B, et al. Gender specific protection of estrogen against gastric acid-induced duodenal injury: Stimulation of duodenal mucosal bicarbonate secretion. Endocrinology. 2008;149:4554–66.
- Abdel-Sater KA, Abdel-Daiem WM, Bakheet MS. The gender difference of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, fluoxetine in adult rats with stress-induced gastric ulcer. Euro J Pharmacol. 2012;688:42–8.
- 79. Jurk D, Wang C, Miwa S, Maddick M, Korolchuk V, Tsolou A, et al. Postmitotic neurons develop a p21-dependent senescence-like phenotype driven by a DNA damage response. Aging Cell. 2012;11:996–1004.
- Wang C, Jurk D, Maddick M, Nelson G, Martin-Ruiz C, et al. DNA damage response and cellular senescence in tissues of aging mice. Aging Cell. 2009;8:311–23.
- Majumdar AP. Regulation of gastrointestinal mucosal growth during aging. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2003;54(Suppl 4):143–54.
- 82. Jo HJ, Kim N, Nam RH, Chang H, Kim JH, Park JH, et al. The Effect of *Cochinchina momordica* seed extract on gastric acid secretion and morphologic change in aged rat Stomach. Gut Liver. 2013;7:560–8.
- Salles N. Is stomach spontaneously ageing? Pathophysiology of the ageing stomach. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2009;23:805–19.
- Ramakrishnan K, Salinas RC. Peptic ulcer disease. Am Fam Physician. 2007;76:1005–12.
- 85. Manuel D, Cutler A, Goldstein J, Fennerty MB, Brown K. Decreasing prevalence combined with

increasing eradication of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in the United States has not resulted in fewer hospital admissions for peptic ulcer disease-related complications. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2007;25:1423–7.

- Post P, Kuipers E, Meijer G. Declining incidence of peptic ulcer but not of its complications: a nationwide study in the Netherlands. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2006;23:1587–93.
- Milosavljevic T, Kostić-Milosavljević M, Jovanović I, Krstić M. Complications of peptic ulcer disease. Dig Dis. 2011;29:491–3.
- Musumba C, Pritchard D, Pirmohamed M. Review article: cellular and molecular mechanisms of NSAID-induced peptic ulcers. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2009;30:517–31.
- Christensen S, Riis A, Nørgaard M, Sørensen HT, Thomsen RW. Short-term mortality after perforated or bleeding peptic ulcer among elderly patients: a population-based cohort study. BMC Geriatr. 2007;7:1.
- Kocer B, Surmeli S, Solak C, Unal B, Bozkurt B, Yildirim O, et al. Factors affecting mortality and morbidity in patients with peptic ulcer perforation. J Gastroenterol Hpatol. 2007;22:565–70.
- 91. Peterson WL, Ciociola AA, Sykes DL, McSorley DJ, Webb DD. Ranitidine bismuth citrate plus clarithromycin is effective for healing duodenal ulcers, eradicating *H. pylori* and reducing ulcer recurrence. RBC *H. pylori* Study Group [see comments]. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 1996;10:251–61.
- Lee JH, Lee YC, Jeon SW, Kim JW, Lee SW, Korean College of Helicobacter and Upper Gastrointestinal Research, et al. Guidelines of prevention and treatment for NSAID-related peptic ulcers. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2009;54:309–17.
- 93. Kim YS, Lee J, Shin A, Lee JM, Park JH, Jung HY. A nationwide cohort study shows a sexdependent change in the trend of peptic ulcer bleeding incidence in Korea between 2006 and 2015. Gut Liver. 2021;15:537–45.
- 94. Walan A, Bader JP, Classen M, Lamers CB, Piper DW, Rutgersson K, et al. Effect of omeprazole and ranitidine on ulcer healing and relapse rates in patients with benign gastric ulcer. N Engl J Med. 1989;320:69–75.
- 95. Cheung DY, Jung HY, Song HJ, Jung SW, Jung HC, Korean College of Helicobacter and Upper Gastrointestinal Research; Korean Association of Gastroenterology. Guidelines of treatment for non-bleeding peptic ulcer disease. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2009;54:285–97.
- 96. Health and Social Care Information Centre. Prescription cost analysis. England 2006. http:// www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB01307. 2007. Accessed 24 Nov 2020.
- Federal Interagency Forum on Aging Related Statistics. Older Americans 2012: key indicators of well-being. Washington, DC: US Government Printing Office; 2012. http://www.agingstats.gov/

agingstatsdotnet/Main_Site/Data/Data_2012.aspx. Accessed 24 Nov 2020.

- 98. Chan FK, Wong VW, Suen BY, Wu JC, Ching JY, Hung LC, et al. Combination of a cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitor and a proton-pump inhibitor for prevention of recurrent ulcer bleeding in patients at very high risk: a double-blind, randomised trial. Lancet. 2007;369:1621–6.
- 99. Lanza FL, Chan FK, Quigley EM, Practice Parameters Committee of the American College of Gastroenterology. Guidelines for prevention of NSAID-related ulcer complications. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104:728–38.
- 100. Lanas A, García-Rodríguez LA, Polo-Tomás M, Ponce M, Alonso-Abreu I, Perez-Aisa MA, et al. Time trends and impact of upper and lower gastrointestinal bleeding and perforation in clinical practice. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104:1633–41.
- Cai S, García Rodríguez LA, Massó-González EL, Hernández-Díaz S. Uncomplicated peptic ulcer

in the UK: trends from 1997 to 2005. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2009;30:1039–48.

- 102. Hooper L, Brown TJ, Elliott R, Payne K, Roberts C, Symmons D. The effectiveness of five strategies for the prevention of gastrointestinal toxicity induced by non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: systematic review. BMJ. 2004;329:948.
- 103. Scheiman JM, Yeomans ND, Talley NJ, Vakil N, Chan FK, Tulassay Z, et al. Prevention of ulcers by esomeprazole in at-risk patients using non-selective NSAIDs and COX-2 inhibitors. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101:701–10.
- Steinman MA, McQuaid KR, Covinsky KE. Age and rising rates of cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor use. J Gen Intern Med. 2006;21:245–50.
- 105. Koch M, Dezi A, Ferrario F, Capurso I. Prevention of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug-induced gastrointestinal mucosal injury. A meta-analysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. Arch Intern Med. 1996;156:2321–32.



10

Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine for Intestinal-Type and Diffuse-Type Gastric Cancer

Nayoung Kim

10.1 Introduction

Based on 2018 data, gastric cancer (GC) is the fifth most common cancer around the world, comprising 5.7% of all cancer incidence, and is the third deadliest cancer, accounting for 8.2% of total cancer mortality [1]. The incidence of GC is high in lower- and middle-income countries, and regionally in East Europe, East Asia, and Central and South America [2, 3]. The incidence of GC is particularly high in Asia, and approximately 75% of patients with GC are from Asia. In South Korea in particular, the incidence of GC is the highest in the world for both males and females [1, 4].

GC in South Korea is more common in males, with a male-to-female ratio of around 2:1 [5]. Clinically and pathologically, GC commonly occurs in older males. GC in males has a strong epidemiological association with *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*) infection and is more commonly the intestinal type. The Lauren classification, which has historically been the most widely used system of categorizing GC, divides GC into two types: the intestinal and diffuse types. These two types of GC demon-

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Korea (Republic of) e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr strate major differences in endoscopic presentation (Fig. 10.1a, b), histological findings (Fig. 10.1c, d), epidemiology, cause, and prognosis [6]. Intestinal-type cancer cells gather and grow into a mass, while diffuse-type cancer cells spread widely and grow into the gastric wall (Fig. 10.1e). Diffuse-type GC is more commonly found in females and in younger patients. *H. pylori* is more relevant for the diffuse type than for the intestinal type, but genetic factors have a stronger influence than environmental factors [2, 4, 7, 8]. In this chapter, cancer and estrogen/estrogen receptor (ER) and the sex/gender differences in GC are briefly reviewed.

10.2 Cancer and Estrogen

Estrogen is a steroid hormone that was first discovered as substance that controls the development and growth of human reproductive organs. It is now known that estrogen and ER take part in the physiological and pathological processes of cardiovascular, skeletal, and neuroendocrine systems beyond the reproductive system [7]. Estrogen exerts genomic and nongenomic effects through its receptors [9–11] (Fig. 10.2), which can be categorized into ER α and ER β . With the discovery in 1996 of ER β as a distinct receptor from ER α , which was discovered in 1958, new aspects of the effects of

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_10





Fig. 10.1 Endoscopic findings (a, b), histological findings (c, d), and models of gastric cancer by histology (intestinal type and diffuse type) (e)

estrogen were revealed, enabling a wider range of related research [8]. ER belongs to the nuclear receptor superfamily [12], and variants other than ER α /ER β continue to be discovered [13–15]. ER α is mostly distributed in the female reproductive organs such as the breasts, uterus, and ovaries, whereas ER β is more widely distributed throughout various organs [16]. First, the role of estrogen/ER in the incidence of breast, endometrial, and ovarian cancers became known [17–19], and the fact that estrogen can have various effects on different organs is being revealed, as it was found that estrogen increases the risk of breast cancer [20] and endometrial cancer [21] while decreasing the risk of colon cancer [22]. As a result of continuing research on prostate cancer and colon cancer, targeted therapy drugs using estrogen increased the survival rates of these cancers and improved prognoses, but studies on the association between estrogen and GC are in their beginning stages.

а



Molecular mechanism of estrogen receptor action

Protein products respossible for apoptosis, proliferation, adhesion, cell growth, signalling transduction, etc.

Fig. 10.2 Molecular mechanism of intracellular signaling of estrogen through estrogen receptors (ER). After estrogen combines with ER, it combines with the ligandbinding site of ER that exists in the nucleus to undergo morphological changes. It then becomes a ligand-ER complex, which combines with estrogen-responsive elements (EREs) in gene promoters. The receptors work with

10.2.1 Mechanism of Estrogen/ Estrogen Receptor Related to Cancer

ER is found in the nucleus, cytoplasm, and cell membrane and is stimulated and activated by its ligands, thereby influencing gene transcription [11] (Fig. 10.2). The most typical mechanism is estrogen combining with the ligand-binding site of ER in the nucleus to undergo morphological changes and become a ligand-ER complex, which combines with estrogen-responsive elements

various co-activators or co-repressor multiprotein complexes that promote or suppress gene transcription. *ERE* estrogen-responsive elements, *RE* response element, *TF* transcription factor, *GF* growth factor, *CoA* co-activator, *CoR* co-repressor, *AP-1* activating protein-1, *Sp-1* stimulating protein-1 (adapted from Nie et al. [11])

(EREs) in gene promoters [11] (Fig. 10.2). The receptor then works with various co-activators or co-repressor multiprotein complexes that promote or suppress gene transcription [23]. To give a more detailed example of the mechanism of estrogen's effects on colon cancer, ER β combined with estradiol (E2) interacts with EREs or transcription factors to directly control gene transcription [24]. Regarding non-genetic mechanisms, it has also been hypothesized that ER β in colon cancer tissue plays an important role in suppressing the growth of colon cancer or the

progression of tumors through various intracellular actions such as induction of p53-mediated apoptosis, inhibition of the protein kinase C (PKC) signaling system to block cell cycle progression, or activation of intracellular calcium and cAMP pathways [24]. The ratio of ER β and ER α determines the sub-pathways of estrogen, and they have transcription inhibition effects on each other. Therefore, the incidence of colon cancer among females is about half of that among males, the age of onset is 5-7 years later in females than in males, and colon cancer in females more commonly occurs in the right large intestine (ascending colon) [25]. For females, flat polyps (serrated adenomas) are commonly found on the right side and progress into cancer. The incidence of interval cancer (colon cancer that occurs in patients who received colonoscopy in the past 3–5 years) is higher in females, and the causes are hypothesized to be late detection of serrated adenomas in colonoscopies and the microsatellite instability (MSI) or CpG island methylator phenotype (CIMP) mechanisms, which progress faster than the chromosomal instability pathway (CIN pathway) [25]. In Europe, hormone replacement therapy was speculated to be a reason why colon cancer mortality was lower in females than in males and the survival rate was higher in females than in males from 1950 to 1990. The Women's Health Initiative showed that hormone replacement therapy in women after menopause decreased the risk of colon cancer by 56% (p = 0.003). According to a study conducted by the author's research team, in male azoxymethane/dextran sulfate sodium (AOM/DSS) inflammatory colon cancer mouse models, the incidence of colon cancer was high, and the incidence of colon cancer was significantly lower in male mice treated with estrogen [26]. It was also found that mice who underwent ovariectomy had a higher risk of right colon cancer than controls, displaying similar characteristics to those of colon cancer in human females [27]. However, studies with relevance to these issues have just started to be published regarding GC, and indepth studies like those that can be found on colon cancer are still lacking. If the sex/gender differences observed in colon cancer are applied to GC, sex/gender is expected to be related to the histology and age of onset of GC, although more in-depth studies will be necessary moving forward.

10.2.2 Evidence That Sex/Gender Differences Should Be Reflected in Future Cancer Research

Sex differences in cancer may arise due to a combination of environmental, genetic, and epigenetic factors, as well as differences in gene regulation and expression. Extensive sex differences occur genome-wide and ultimately influence cancer biology and outcomes [28]. Despite their known importance in clinical medicine, differences based on sex/gender are among the least studied factors affecting cancer susceptibility, progression, survival, and therapeutic response. In particular, the molecular mechanisms driving sex differences are poorly understood and so most approaches to precision medicine use mutational or other genomic data to assign therapy without considering how the sex of the individual might influence therapeutic efficacy [28]. Thus, sex/gender-specific medicine is a promising area of cancer research. From the perspective of homeostasis between cancer stroma and organs, angiogenesis induced by sex hormones and the regulation of inflammation form an important foundation for understanding cancer progression in the two sexes/genders. Furthermore, as a systemic approach, cancer treatments based on immune checkpoint inhibitors are gaining prominence. For these treatments to become the core treatments for cancer types with a high frequency of genetic mutations, it would be helpful to understand how the immune system differs between the two sexes/genders. As it has been reported that the use of programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) and programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) inhibitors extend the survival of GC patients, studies on target groups that can benefit from immune checkpoint inhibitors are gaining attention. To increase the effectiveness of immune checkpoint inhibitors, comprehensive studies of the cancer tissue immune system and sex hormones should be conducted.

Recently, the long non-coding **RNAs** (lncRNAs) have attracted increased attention of researchers in recent years. These lncRNAs measuring 10 kb or less in length which regulates transcription or post-transcriptional events provide very useful information that allows prediction of the degree of malignancy and a survival rate in cancer patients as clinically relevant biomarkers. Because symptoms and progression of cancer differ from onset to death between males and females, it is important to consider the gender of the patient when diagnosing cancer and predicting the progression [29]. The association between lncRNAs and sex hormones has been reported in common organs such as the lung, renal, and colon [29]. Although lncRNAs have not yet been widely used as definitive cancer indicators, recent studies have demonstrated the potential role of lncRNAs as biomarkers and therapeutic targets reflecting sex specificity in a number of different cancers including GC [29].

10.3 Incidence and Morality of Gastric Cancer

GC (cardia and non-cardia GC combined) remains an important cancer worldwide and is responsible for over 1,000,000 new cases in 2018 and an estimated 783,000 deaths (equating to 1 in every 12 deaths globally), making it the fifth most frequently diagnosed cancer and the third leading cause of cancer death [30]. Rates are twofold higher in males than in females. Incidence rates are markedly elevated in Eastern Asia (e.g., in Mongolia, Japan, and the South Korea [the country with the highest rates worldwide in both sexes]), whereas the rates in Northern America and Northern Europe are generally low and are equivalent to those seen across the African regions (Fig. 10.3). Several migrant studies have documented a strong environmental component in explaining the regional variation in GC incidence rates. GC incidence rates among firstgeneration Japanese migrants to Hawaii were observed to be lower than the rates among Japanese living in Japan, and the secondgeneration, Hawaiian-born Japanese experienced a further diminution in rates, although they still were higher than the rates among whites in the host population [31]. H. pylori is the main risk factor for stomach cancer, with almost 90% of new cases of non-cardia GC attributed to this bacterium [32, 33]. Although international variation in *H. pylori* prevalence correlates reasonably with that of GC incidence, factors other than H. pylori also are likely of major importance. There is a dietary component, with foods preserved by salting and low fruit intake increasing risk, and both alcohol consumption and active tobacco smoking are also established risk factors [34, 35]. Although they often are reported as a single entity, GC can generally be classified into two topographical categories. Rates of non-cardia GC (arising from more distal regions) have been steadily declining over the last one-half century in most populations [30]. The trends are attributed to the unplanned triumph of prevention [36] including a decreased prevalence of H. pylori and improvements in the preservation and storage of foods [30]. Cancers of the gastric cardia (arising in the area adjoining the esophageal-gastric junction) have epidemiological characteristics more similar to those of esophageal adenocarcinoma (EAC), and important risk factors include obesity and gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD), with Barrett's esophagus (a condition resulting from GERD) also thought to increase risk; the incidence of these cancers has been increasing particularly in high-income countries [37].

10.4 Sex/Gender Differences in Gastric Cancer

To understand factors that explain the male predominance in GC, approaches from various perspectives are needed, and genetic factors related to the X/Y chromosomes, effects of differences in sex hormones, differences in health behaviors such as alcohol/tobacco consumption, *H. pylori* infection [38], and environmental factors in the tumor's surroundings (e.g., the gut microbiota) should be understood comprehensively. Among



Fig. 10.3 Bar chart of region-specific incidence agestandardized rates by sex for cancers of the stomach in 2018. Rates are shown in descending order of the world (W) age-standardized rate among men, and the

highest national rates among men and women are superimposed. Source: GLOBOCAN 2018 (adapted from Bray et al. [30])

the known risk factors of GC, *H. pylori* infection, alcohol consumption, and tobacco consumption are presumed to contribute to the male predominance, but these factors do not provide a conclusive explanation. Studies on the association between the incidence of GC and estrogen exposure [39, 40] are being published, but these findings still have yet to fully elucidate the sex/gender differences in GC incidence.

10.4.1 Differences in the Histology of Gastric Cancer by Sex/ Gender and Age

A higher incidence of GC in males is observed consistently around the world, but not in all age groups [41–43]. Previous studies that examined the clinical pathology of GC by age group reported that younger patients with GC are more likely to be female, have the diffuse or undifferentiated types histologically, and present with AGC. Older patients with GC are more likely to be male, have the intestinal type, and present with simultaneous tumors [44–46]. However, it is understood that even as overall environmental influences improve and the total number of GC patients decreases, a consistent proportion of diffuse-type GC will be maintained [47].

In a study that examined the age, menopausal status (pre-menopause or post-menopause measured at 5-year intervals), and histology among 758 patients with GC (531 males and 227 females) in Seoul Samsung Hospital from November 2014 to May 2021, female sex hormones were found to be a factor that inhibits the incidence of intestinal-type GC based on the finding that the diffuse type accounted for the majority of cases in females before menopause, while the proportion of the intestinal type becomes similar to that in males 10 years after menopause [48]. In addition, the ratio of intestinal- and diffuse-type GC in females became similar to that of male patients age of 70 or older, about 20 years after menopause [49] (Fig. 10.4). Another study reported the proportion of diffusetype GC by age in three time periods (2003–2008, 2009-2012, and 2013-2018) among 1227 patients with GC who were diagnosed at Seoul National University Bundang Hospital in 16 years from 2003 to 2018 [50]. Throughout the entire study period, 62.7% of cases were earlystage GC, but this number increased in a statistically significant manner from 54.0% in 2003-2008 to 63.5% in 2009-2012 and 81.0% in $2013-2018 \ (p < 0.001) \ [50]$. During the entire study period, the proportion of males was 66.7%, and the proportion of GC among female patients trended down from 33.8% to 29.7%, but the decreasing trend was not statistically significant [50]. The diffuse type according to the Lauren classification in females increased from 54.3% in 2003-2008 to 64.7% in 2013-2018, but the difference was not statistically significant [50] (Fig. 10.5a). The proportion of diffuse-type GC in the entire study period was 39.5%, and this proportion was especially high in younger patients, exceeding 90% in patients younger than 40. This finding was statistically significant in all three time periods (p < 0.001) [50] (Fig. 10.5b). According to a multivariate analysis of the risk factors for diffuse-type GC, female sex, age



Fig. 10.4 Proportion of histological types of gastric cancer according to sex and age. The trend of increasing proportion of intestinal-type gastric cancers with age was observed in both males and females. In male patients, the proportion of intestinal-type gastric cancer increased

steeply from age of 50 but in females, the proportion of diffuse-type gastric cancer remained high until 60 years of age. The ratio of intestinal- and diffuse-type gastric cancer in females became similar to that of male patients age of 70 or older, about 20 years after menopause



Fig. 10.5 Proportions of gastric cancer in females, of females with diffuse-type gastric cancer, and of diffusetype gastric cancer by age in three time periods: 2003–2008, 2009–2012, and 2013–2018. The proportion of females among the total number of gastric cancer cases

younger than 50, and AGC were independent risk factors, and a positive family history of GC and tobacco consumption was added in 2013-2018 [50] (Table 10.1). In another study, 88% of patients younger than 40 years old with GC had the diffuse type, among whom 35 (67.3%) were females and 17 (32.7%) were males. This finding was the opposite of the trend in patients older than 50, where the proportion of males was 65–70% [43]. The changes in the proportion of intestinal-type and diffuse-type cancers suggest that estrogen might have a protective effect on the intestinal-type GC [48, 51]. Thus, in young females, intestinal-type GC is much less than in males, and the percentage of intestinal-type GC increases over time after menopause, which is likely to be similar to males about 20 years after menopause, approximately at age of 70 [49].

10.4.2 Sex Hormones Such as Estrogen and Androgen and Their Receptors in Gastric Cancer

Four sex hormone receptors, estrogen receptor alpha (ER α), ER β , progesterone receptor (PR), and androgen receptor (AR), were expressed



changed from 33.8% to 29.7%, and the proportion of females with diffuse-type gastric cancer increased significantly from 54.3% to 64.7% (**a**). In all three time periods, the diffuse type accounted for more than 90% of cases in patients younger than 40 (**b**) (adapted from Lee et al. [50])

independently and showed a decreased expression pattern in gastric tumors compared to adjacent normal tissues, suggesting that the sex hormone receptors may be partly involved in gastric carcinogenesis [52]. Several studies tried to explain sex difference of GC by investigating the role of ERs in GC. However, inconsistent results have been reported regarding ER expression in GC [7, 8, 38, 41, 53-56]; these inconsistencies may be due to differences in various experimental conditions, such as in vitro cancer cell line models, reagents, and protocols. Another reason could be the difference of ER such as ER α and ERß depending on the histology of GC. In patients with ER-positive GC, the frequency of undifferentiated GC is significantly higher than that of differentiated GC [38], and ensuing studies have also demonstrated an association between ER status and cancer stages in GC [39, 40]. Yi et al. showed that ER α expression was found to be associated with diffuse-type GC and shorter disease-free survival [41]. According to the previous studies, diffuse-type GC may be initiated by downregulation of E-cadherin by 17B-estradiol (E2), the most potent isoform of estrogen, through ERα [57–59]. In contrast, welldifferentiated gastric adenocarcinoma has a higher expression rate of ERB, and that poorly

	and min and	mong adda annun i	andanna (anaba		([<mark>^</mark>]				
	2003-2007	7		2008-201	2		2013-201	~	
	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	OR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Sex									
Male	1			1			1		
Female	1.580	0.808-3.093	0.181	4.043	2.230-7.330	<0.001	4.072	1.253-13.226	0.020
Age									
<50	1			1			1		
50~69	0.214	0.117-0.391	<0.001	0.163	0.096-0.279	<0.001	0.354	0.153-0.818	0.015
≥70	0.092	0.044-0.195	<0.001	0.112	0.060-0.208	<0.001	0.125	0.042-0.376	<0.001
Cancer type									
EGC	1			1			1		
AGC	4.577	2.946-7.110	<0.001	4.325	2.778-6.735	<0.001	4.340	1.813-10.392	<0.001
H. pylori status									
Negative	1			-			1		
Positive	0.664	0.290-1.523	0.334	1.240	0.632-2.433	0.531	1.231	0.489–3.096	0.659
Family history of GC	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Negative	1			1			1		
Positive	0.742	0.433-1.271	0.277	1.266	0.782-2.050	0.338	0.420	0.179-0.989	0.047
Smoking status									
Never-drinker	1			1			1		
Ever-drinker	0.848	0.437-1.645	0.626	1.005	0.562-1.800	0.985	4.032	1.291-12.598	0.016
Alcohol consumption									
Never-drinker	1			1			1		
Ever-drinker	0.767	0.452-1.302	0.326	0.903	0.566-1.443	0.671	0.582	0.233-1.453	0.582
	- 001					-	-		

 Table 10.1
 Multivariate analysis of diffuse-type gastric cancer (adapted from Lee et al. [50])

EGC early gastric cancer, AGC advanced gastric cancer, GC gastric cancer Bold style means statistical significance

differentiated gastric adenocarcinoma is associated with a reduction or loss of ERB [60]. Recently there was an interesting study that suggested of the nuclear receptor estrogen-related receptor gamma (ESRRG) as a candidate factor influencing *H. pylori* infection-driven GC [61]. ESRRG suppressed H. pylori infection and cell growth induced by H. pylori infection in GC cells and organoid models [61]. In addition, H. pylori infection downregulates ESRRG expression [61]. Gene expression profiling revealed that trefoil factor 1 (TFF1), a well-known tumor suppressor in GC, is a downstream target of ESRRG [61]. Mechanistically, ESRRG directly binds to the TFF1 promoter and induces TFF1 gene expression [61]. Furthermore, TFF1 activation by ESRRG was inhibited by nuclear factor kappalight-chain enhancer of activated B cells (NFkB)/p65, which is induced by inflammation, such as by *H. pylori* infection [61]. The author concluded that modulation of ESRRG-suppressing H. pylori infection could be a therapeutic target for the treatment of GC patients [61]. There is a possibility that ESRRG, a novel tumor suppressor, could be related with expression of ERB.

Several recent studies reported that the AR takes part in various pathways related to carcinogenesis in tissues other than the reproductive organs. Overexpression of AR appears to promote carcinogenesis and is related to lymph node metastasis and an adverse prognosis [43, 44]. Among patients whose neoplastic tissue of the stomach was positive for AR, AR did not show associations with other clinical and pathological factors but was independently associated with a low survival rate [42, 45, 46]. In recent studies, the stroma of intestinal-type GC in male patients was found to have a significantly higher positivity rate for AR than that in female patients, which might contribute to the higher permeability in male patients. This could be the reason of the greater invasiveness of this cancer type in males and presented the possibility of AR-targeted agents in GC treatment [62]. For instance, the males were more likely to develop tumor recurrence and liver metastasis than the females, especially in stage III GC, and the authors suggested that the cause was higher PD-L1 expression in

males and GC patients aged 65 or older [63]. In addition, there are supporting data suggesting that sex hormones are the basis of these differences [64, 65].

Many studies are being conducted to explain the male dominance in GC, but significant biases still exist as the sex of animals is not differentiated in in vitro experiments and only 25% of GC cell lines are marked with sex. Because many clinical studies have not identified sex as a significant factor, data on factors related to the level of sex hormone exposure have not been collected. Some studies have examined the prognosis of GC based on the observed differences in clinical and pathological characteristics and histology by age and sex [66, 67], but even these studies introduced selection bias by limiting the type of treatment and most likely do not represent the entire population of patients with GC. Therefore, analyses using big data or prospective data will be appropriate to provide evidence for the hypothesis that there are sex/gender differences in the incidence of GC. For example, as a result of exploring the sex/gender differences in the large cohort of the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) database, which is a cancer patient registration program operated by the NCI through the US NIH, overall survival and cancerspecific survival among female patients with GC were found to be good [68].

10.4.3 Serum Pepsinogen II ≥ 20 µg/L and *H. pylori* Positivity Are Biomarkers for Early-Stage Diffuse-Type Gastric Cancer in Females Younger Than 40

Due to the non-specific symptoms of GC, many patients are diagnosed at advanced stages. A screening strategy is needed to identify GC in the early stages when the treatment possibility is high. In South Korea, the Korean National Cancer Screening Program for GC based on endoscopy and upper gastroenterography every 2 years for individuals older than 40 started in 2001 and greatly reduced cancer-related mortality [69]. However, the incidence of GC is 60 per 100,000 for males and 30 per 100,000 for females, so there are some issues in the effectiveness of conducting testing for everyone every 2 years. Gastroscopy is an invasive test that is avoided for individuals with an average level of risk. In Japan, gastroenterography has been used widely since it was difficult to meet the demand for endoscopy, but as individuals started to avoid exposure to radiation after the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear disaster, noninvasive mass screening using serum pepsinogen (sPG) has become more popular. Serum pepsinogen I (sPGI) and serum pepsinogen II (sPGII) are produced in different parts of the gastric mucosa [70]. sPGI is only secreted in the chief cells of the fundic glands, while sPGII is secreted not only in the fundic glands but also in the pyloric glands of the gastric antrum and duodenal mucosa. According to previous studies, low sPGI ($<70 \mu g/L$) and a low sPGI/sPGII ratio (<3) are markers of advanced atrophic gastritis, which is related to a high risk of GC [70, 71]. When H. pylori infection causes inflammation in the gastric mucosa, the production of sPGI initially increases and then decreases as the inflammation progresses to atrophic gastritis, while sPGII changes with a higher degree than sPGI [72], causing the sPGI/sPGII ratio to be reduced even further in advanced atrophic gastritis [73]. This standard can be applied to intestinal-type GC, which follows the Correa cascade, but it remains unclear whether it can be applied to diffuse-type GC, which has a different carcinogenic mechanism [74]. As the sPGI/sPGII ratio is low in atrophic gastritis, it is used as an effective biomarker of GC testing in Japan, but there are issues in using the standard cutoff used in Japan in GC testing in South Korea or other countries [75]. The low specificity of sPGI has also been pointed out as an issue [75]. The reason there are large differences in terms of the utility of pepsinogen biomarkers in Japan and in South Korea is that the predominant age of GC incidence is the late 60s in Japan, while it is the late 50s in South Korea. On average, patients with GC are 10 years younger in South Korea, and the proportion of diffuse-type GC is high (40%) in South Korea, whereas around 75% of cases of GC in Japan are intestinal-type GC [50, 75]. It has been reported that high-risk OLGA (operative link on gastric atrophy) and OLGIM (operative link on gastric intestinal metaplasia) stages are important predictive markers of both intestinal-type GC and some cases of diffuse-type GC [76], but a biomarker specific to diffuse-type GC would be very useful in South Korea. Some studies have reported an association between high titers of sPGII and diffuse-type GC [77–79], and the level of sPGII is known to be associated with the histological changes that reflect the level of inflammation in the gastric mucosa due to H. pylori infection. The level of sPGII was higher in patients with non-atrophic gastritis related to H. *pylori* and lower in those with atrophic gastritis, and the eradication of H. pylori reduced the level of sPGII to the level of the H. pylori-negative group [75, 80–83].

With this background, since sPGII is related to inflammation and elevated sPGII levels in the gastric mucosa and GC can be caused by estrogen or androgen depending on sex/gender differences and age, a study conducted a sex- and age-stratified analysis of these two variables (sPGII and *H. pylori* infection) [43]. The results showed that the presence of *H. pylori* infection and an sPGII level ≥20 µg/L were associated with diffuse-type GC, especially the incidence of early-stage diffuse-type GC [43] (Fig. 10.6 and Table 10.2). When the area under the curve (AUC) was calculated to confirm the utility of H. *pylori* infection and an sPGII level $\geq 20 \ \mu g/L$ as biomarkers for the prediction or diagnosis of early-stage diffuse-type GC, sensitivity and specificity were not significant for all GC (Fig. 10.6a) and all diffuse-type GC [43] (Fig. 10.6b). However, when patients with early-stage diffusetype GC were stratified at age 40, H. pylori infection and an sPGII level $\geq 20 \ \mu g/L$ showed significantly more favorable diagnostic performance in the younger (age < 40) early-stage diffuse-type GC group (AUC 0.766, sensitivity 75.0%, specificity 74.2%, Fig. 10.6d) [43] than in the older (age \geq 40) early-stage diffuse-type GC group (Fig. 10.6c). Moreover, among female patients younger than 40, early-stage diffuse-type GC could be diagnosed with very high sensitivity



Fig. 10.6 Area under the curve (AUC) of *H. pylori* infection and serum pepsinogen II (sPGII) level of $\geq 20 \ \mu g/L$. The sensitivity and specificity for all gastric cancer (**a**) and all DGC (**b**) were not significant, but when early-stage DGC patients were stratified at age 40, *H*.

pylori infection and an sPGII level $\geq 20 \ \mu g/L$ showed significantly higher sensitivity and specificity in the younger (age < 40) early-stage DGC group (**d**) than in the older (age ≥ 40) early-stage DGC group (**c**). *DGC* diffuse-type gastric cancer (adapted from Baek et al. [43])

Table 10.2 Risk of early-stage diffuse-type gastric cancer by serum pepsinogen II levels and *H. pylori* infection status (adapted from Baek et al. [43])

Variable		Risk of early DGC (p-value)
Age < 40 years	sPGII <20 µg/L, H. pylori (–)	1
	sPGII \geq 20 µg/L, <i>H. pylori</i> (+)	12.76 (0.001)
Female <40 years	sPGII <20 µg/L, <i>H. pylori</i> (–)	1
	sPGII \geq 20 µg/L, <i>H. pylori</i> (+)	21.00 (0.006)

sPGII serum pepsinogen II, DGC diffuse-type gastric cancer



Fig. 10.7 Area under the curve (AUC) of *H. pylori* infection and serum pepsinogen II (sPGII) level of $\geq 20 \ \mu g/L$ among females under the age of 40 with early-stage DGC. *H. pylori* infection and an sPGII level $\geq 20 \ \mu g/L$ demonstrated high sensitivity and specificity for early-stage DGC in patients younger than 40. *DGC* diffuse-type gastric cancer (Modified from Baek et al. [43])

and specificity, with an odds ratio of 21 (AUC 0.824, sensitivity 81.3%, specificity 78.1%) [43] (Fig. 10.7). Additional studies are being conducted to examine whether these encouraging results support the use of these biomarkers in the national cancer management program.

10.5 Conclusions

GC is known to be more common in males than in females, at a 2:1 ratio, but 67.3% of patients with GC younger than 40 were found to be females [43]. This trend is the opposite of that found in GC patients over the age of 50, among whom males comprise 65–70%. Among females, the diffuse type accounts for most cases before menopause, but the proportion of the intestinal type becomes similar to that of males 10 years after menopause [48]. In summary, female sex hormones are related to the incidence of diffusetype GC and inhibit the incidence of intestinaltype GC. Estrogen combines with the ER distributed in the nucleus, cytoplasm, and cell membrane and actively participates in various signaling systems to cause breast cancer, endometrial cancer, and ovarian cancer, while inhibiting colon cancer and liver cancer. Since gastroscopy is not actively recommended in individuals younger than 40, among whom GC is uncommon, and because the symptoms of GC are non-specific, the diagnosis of GC can be delayed. Among female patients younger than 40, the odds ratio of early-stage diffuse-type GC was 21 when they were *H. pylori*-positive and had an sPGII level $\geq 20 \ \mu g/L$, indicating that these are important biomarkers for the diagnosis of earlystage diffuse-type GC, and additional studies are being conducted.

References

- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:E359–86.
- Ferlay J, Bray F, Steliarova-Foucher E, Forman D. Cancer incidence in five continents, CI5plus. IARC CancerBase No. 9. International Agency for Research on Cancer: Lyon; 2014.
- Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D, et al. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin. 2011;61:69–90.
- Sipponen P, Correa P. Delayed rise in incidence of gastric cancer in females results in unique sex ratio (M/F) pattern: etiologic hypothesis. Gastric Cancer. 2002;5:213–9.
- Enmark E, Pelto-Huikko M, Grandien K, Lagercrantz S, Lagercrantz J, Fried G, et al. Human estrogen receptor beta-gene structure, chromosomal localization, and expression pattern. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82:4258–565.
- Lauren P. The two histological main types of gastric carcinoma:diffuse and so-called intestinal-type carcinoma. An attempt at a histo-clinical classification. Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand. 1965;64:31–49.
- Ur Rahman MS, Cao J. Estrogen receptors in gastric cancer: advances and perspectives. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22:2475–82.
- Sica V, Nola E, Contieri E, Bova R, Masucci MT, Medici N, et al. Estradiol and progesterone receptors in malignant gastrointestinal tumors. Cancer Res. 1984;44:4670–4.
- Bjornstrom L, Sjoberg M. Mechanisms of estrogen receptor signaling: convergence of genomic and nongenomic actions on target genes. Mol Endocrinol. 2005;19:833–42.

- Hogan AM, Kennelly R, Collins D, Baird AW, Winter DC. Oestrogen inhibits human colonic motility by a non-genomic cell membrane receptor-dependent mechanism. Br J Surg. 2009;96:817–22.
- Nie X, Xie R, Tuo B. Effects of estrogen on the gastrointestinal tract. Dig Dis Sci. 2018;63:583–96.
- Heldring N, Pike A, Andersson S, Matthews J, Cheng G, Hartman J, et al. Estrogen receptors: how do they signal and what are their targets. Physiol Rev. 2007;87:905–31.
- Toft D, Gorski J. A receptor molecule for estrogens: isolation from the rat uterus and preliminary characterization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1966;55:1574–81.
- Kuiper GG, Enmark E, Pelto-Huikko M, Nilsson S, Gustafsson JA. Cloning of a novel receptor expressed in rat prostate and ovary. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93:5925–30.
- Herynk MH, Fuqua SA. Estrogen receptor mutations in human disease. Endocr Rev. 2004;25:869–98.
- Yang H, Sukocheva OA, Hussey DJ, Watson DI. Estrogen, male dominance and esophageal adenocarcinoma: is there a link? World J Gastroenterol. 2012;18:393–400.
- Beral V, Million Women Study Collaborators. Breast cancer and hormone-replacement therapy in the Million Women Study. Lancet. 2003;362:419–27.
- Beral V, Bull D, Reeves G, Million Women Study Collaborators. Endometrial cancer and hormonereplacement therapy in the Million Women Study. Lancet. 2005;365:1543–51.
- Lacey JV Jr, Mink PJ, Lubin JH, Sherman ME, Troisi R, Hartge P, et al. Menopausal hormone replacement therapy and risk of ovarian cancer. JAMA. 2002;288:334–41.
- 20. Poulter NR, Chang CL, Farley TMM, Kelaghan J, Meirik O, Marmot MG, et al. Acute myocardial infarction and combined oral contraceptives: results of an international multicentre case-control study. WHO Collaborative Study of Cardiovascular Disease and Steroid Hormone Contraception. Lancet. 1997;349:1202–9.
- Grady D, Gebretsadik T, Kerlikowske K, Ernster V, Petitti D. Hormone replacement therapy and endometrial cancer risk: a metaanalysis. Obstet Gynecol. 1995;85:304–13.
- Grodstein F, Newcomb PA, Stampfer MJ. Postmenopausal hormone therapy and the risk of colorectal cancer: a review and metaanalysis. Am J Med. 1999;106:574–82.
- Thomas C, Gustafsson JA. The different roles of ER subtypes in cancer biology and therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11:597–608.
- Barzi A, Lenz AM, Labonte MJ, Lenz HJ. Molecular pathways: estrogen pathway in colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:5842–8.
- Kim SE, Paik HY, Yoon H, Lee JE, Kim N, Sung MK. Sex- and gender-specific disparities in colorectal cancer risk. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21:5167–75.
- 26. Son HJ, Sohn SH, Kim N, Lee H-N, Lee SM, Nam RH, et al. Effect of estradiol in an azoxymethane/

dextran sulfate sodium-treated mouse model of colorectal cancer: Implication for sex difference in colorectal cancer development. Cancer Res Treat. 2019;51:632–48.

- 27. Song CH, Kim N, Lee SM, Nam RH, Choi SI, Kang SR, et al. Effects of 17β-estradiol on colorectal cancer development after azoxymethane/dextran sulfate sodium treatment of ovariectomized mice. Biochem Pharmacol. 2019;164:139–51.
- Lopes-Ramos CM, Quackenbush J, DeMeo DL. Genome-wide sex and gender differences in cancer. Front Oncol. 2020;10:597788.
- Song HK, Kim SY. The role of sex-specific long noncoding RNAs in cancer prevention and therapy. J Cancer Prev. 2021;26:98–109.
- 30. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. Cancer J Clin. 2018;68:394–424.
- 31. Kolonel LN, Hankin JH, Nomura AMY. Multiethnic studies of diet, nutrition, and cancer in Hawaii. In: Hayashi Y, Nagao M, Sugimura T, Tokoyama S, Tomatis L, Wattenberg LW, et al., editors. Diet, nutrition and cancer. Proceedings of the 16th international symposium of the Princess Takamatsu cancer research fund. Utrecht: Tokyo/VNU Science; 1986. p. 29–40.
- 32. IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Infection with *Helicobacter pylori*. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. 1994;61:177–240.
- Plummer M, Franceschi S, Vignat J, Forman D, de Martel C. Global burden of gastric cancer attributable to *Helicobacter pylori*. Int J Cancer. 2015;136:487–90.
- 34. World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research (WCRF/AICR). Continuous Update Project Report: Diet, Nutrition, Physical Activity and Stomach Cancer 2016. Revised 2018. London: World Cancer Research Fund International; 2018. wcrf.org/ sites/default/files/Stomach-Cancer-2016-Report.pdf. Accessed 21 June 2018.
- 35. IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Personal habits and indoor combustions. Volume 100 E. A review of human carcinogens. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. 2012;100 pt E:1–538.
- Howson CP, Hiyama T, Wynder EL. The decline in gastric cancer: epidemiology of an unplanned triumph. Epidemiol Rev. 1986;8:1–27.
- 37. deMartel C, Parsonnet J. Stomach cancer. In: Thun MJ, Linet MS, Cerhan JR, Haiman CA, Schottenfeld D, editors. Cancer epidemiology and prevention. 4th ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2018. p. 593–610.
- Yokozaki H, Takekura N, Takanashi A, Tabuchi J, Haruta R, Tahara E. Estrogen receptors in gastric adenocarcinoma: a retrospective immunohistochemical analysis. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol. 1988;413:297–302.

- Matsui M, Kojima O, Uehara Y, Takahashi T. Characterization of estrogen receptor in human gastric cancer. Cancer. 1991;68:305–8.
- Singh S, Poulsom R, Wright NA, Sheppard MC, Langman MJ. Differential expression of oestrogen receptor and oestrogen inducible genes in gastric mucosa and cancer. Gut. 1997;40:516–20.
- 41. Yi JH, Do IG, Jang J, Kim ST, Kim KM, Park SH, et al. Anti-tumor efficacy of fulvestrant in estrogen receptor positive gastric cancer. Sci Rep. 2014;4:7592.
- 42. Kominea A, Konstantinopoulos PA, Kapranos N, Vandoros G, Gkermpesi M, Andricopoulos P, et al. Androgen receptor (AR) expression is an independent unfavorable prognostic factor in gastric cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2004;130:253–8.
- 43. Baek SM, Kim N, Kwon YJ, Lee HS, Kim HY, Lee J, et al. Serum pepsinogen II and *Helicobacter pylori* status in the detection of diffuse type of early gastric cancer at young age in South Korea. Gut Liver. 2020;14:439–49.
- 44. Tian Y, Wan H, Lin Y, Xie X, Li Z, Tan G. Androgen receptor may be responsible for gender disparity in gastric cancer. Med Hypotheses. 2013;80: 672–4.
- Wu CW, Chi CW, Chang TJ, Lui WY, P'eng FK. Sex hormone receptors in gastric cancer. Cancer. 1990;65:1396–400.
- 46. Nakamura Y, Shimada N, Suzuki T, Imatani A, Sekine H, Ohara S, et al. In situ androgen production in human gastric carcinoma--androgen synthesizing and metabolizing enzymes. Anticancer Res. 2006;26:1935–9.
- Song M, Rabkin CS, Camargo MC. Gastric cancer: an evolving disease. Curr Treat Options Gastroenterol. 2018;16:561–9.
- Kim SM, Min BH, Lee J, An JY, Lee JH, Sohn TS, et al. Protective effects of female reproductive factors on Lauren intestinal-type gastric adenocarcinoma. Yonsei Med J. 2018;59:28–34.
- 49. Choi Y, Kim N, Jo HH, Park J, Yoon H, Shin CM, et al. Sex differences in histology, staging, and prognosis in 2,983 patients who received gastric cancer surgery. World J Gastroenterol. 2022;28:933–47.
- Lee JW, Kim N, Kwon YJ, Lee HS. Changes in the clinical and pathological characteristics of gastric cancer during the last 16 years: A study of a single institution in Korea. Korean J Helicobacter Up Gastrointest Res. 2019;19:120–6.
- Jung YJ, Kim HJ, Park CH, Park SJ, Kim N. Effects of female reproductive factors on Lauren intestinaltype gastric cancer; A multicenter retrospective study in South Korea. Gut Liver. 2022; https://doi. org/10.5009/gnl210293.
- 52. Gan L, He J, Zhang X, Zhang YJ, Yu GZ, Chen Y, et al. Expression profile and prognostic role of sex hormone receptors in gastric cancer. BMC Cancer. 2012;12:566.
- 53. Deng H, Huang X, Fan J, Wang L, Xia Q, Yang X, et al. A variant of estrogen receptor-alpha, ER-alpha36 is expressed in human gastric cancer and is highly

correlated with lymph node metastasis. Oncol Rep. 2010;24:171–6.

- 54. Ryu WS, Kim JH, Jang YJ, Park SS, Um JW, Park SH, et al. Expression of estrogen receptors in gastric cancer and their clinical significance. J Surg Oncol. 2012;106:456–61.
- Xu CY, Guo JL, Jiang ZN, Xie SD, Shen JG, Shen JY, et al. Prognostic role of estrogen receptor alpha and estrogen receptor beta in gastric cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010;17:2503–9.
- 56. Guo JL, Xu CY, Jiang ZN, Dong MJ, Xie SD, Shen JG, et al. Estrogen receptor beta variants mRNA expressions in gastric cancer tissues and association with clinicopathologic parameters. Hepato-Gastroenterology. 2009;57:1584–8.
- 57. Park SH, Cheung LW, Wong AS, Leung PC. Estrogen regulates Snail and Slug in the down-regulation of E-cadherin and induces metastatic potential of ovarian cancer cells through estrogen receptor alpha. Mol Endocrinol. 2008;22:2085–98.
- Helguero LA, Lindberg K, Gardmo C, Schwend T, Gustafsson JA, Haldosén LA. Different roles of estrogen receptors alpha and beta in the regulation of E-cadherin protein levels in a mouse mammary epithelial cell line. Cancer Res. 2008;68: 8695–704.
- Oesterreich S, Deng W, Jiang S, Cui X, Ivanova M, Schiff R, et al. Estrogen-mediated down-regulation of E-cadherin in breast cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2003;63:5203–8.
- 60. Wang M, Pan JY, Song GR, Chen HB, An LJ, Qu SX. Altered expression of estrogen receptor alpha and beta in advanced gastric adenocarcinoma: correlation with prothymosin alpha and clinicopathological parameters. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2007;33: 195–201.
- Kang MH, Eyun SI, Park YY. Estrogen-related receptor-gamma influences *Helicobacter pylori* infection by regulating TFF1 in gastric cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Comm. 2021;563:15–22.
- 62. Jukic Z, Radulovic P, Stojković R, Mijic A, Grah J, Kruslin B, et al. Gender difference in distribution of estrogen and androgen receptors in intestinal-type gastric cancer. Anticancer Res. 2017;37:197–202.
- Hsu LW, Huang KH, Chen MH, Fang WL, Chao Y, Lo SS, et al. Genetic alterations in gastric cancer patients according to sex. Aging (Albany NY). 2020;13:376–88.
- 64. Böger C, Behrens HM, Mathiak M, Krüger S, Kalthoff H, Röcken C. PD-L1 is an independent prognostic predictor in gastric cancer of western patients. Oncotarget. 2016;7:24269–83.
- Özdemir BC, Dotto GP. Sex hormones and anticancer immunity. Clin Cancer Res. 2019;25:4603–10.
- 66. Freedman ND, Chow WH, Gao YT, Shu XO, Ji BT, Yang G, et al. Menstrual and reproductive factors and gastric cancer risk in a large prospective study of women. Gut. 2007;56:1671–7.
- 67. Kim HW, Kim JH, Lim BJ, Kim H, Kim H, Park JJ, et al. Sex disparity in gastric cancer: female sex is a

poor prognostic factor for advanced gastric cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23:4344–51.

- Li H, Wei Z, Wang C, Chen W, He Y, Zhang C. Gender differences in gastric cancer survival: 99,922 cases based on the SEER database. J Gastrointest Surg. 2020;24:1747–57.
- 69. Jun JK, Choi KS, Lee HY, Suh M, Park B, Song SH, et al. Effectiveness of the Korean National Cancer Screening Program in reducing gastric cancer mortality. Gastroenterology. 2017;152:1319–28.
- Samloff IM. Pepsinogens, pepsins, and pepsin inhibitors. Gastroenterology. 1971;60:586–604.
- Kodoi A, Yoshihara M, Sumii K, Haruma K, Kajiyama G. Serum pepsinogen in screening for gastric cancer. J Gastroenterol. 1995;30:452–60.
- 72. Kim HY, Kim N, Kang JM, Park YS, Lee DH, Kim YR, et al. Clinical meaning of pepsinogen test and *H. pylori* serology in the health check-up population in Korea. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2009;21:606–12.
- 73. Samloff IM, Varis K, Ihamaki T, Siurala M, Rotter JI. Relationships among serum pepsinogen I, serum pepsinogen II, and gastric mucosal histology: a study in relatives of patients with pernicious anemia. Gastroenterology. 1982;83:204–9.
- 74. Uemura N, Okamoto S, Yamamoto S, Matsumura N, Yamaguchi S, Yamakido M, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* infection and the development of gastric cancer. N Engl J Med. 2001;345:784–9.
- Kang JM, Kim N, Yoo JY, Park YS, Lee DH, Kim HY, et al. The role of serum pepsinogen and gastrin test for the detection of gastric cancer in Korea. Helicobacter. 2008;13:146–56.
- 76. Yun CY, Kim N, Lee J, Lee JY, Hwang YJ, Lee HS, et al. Usefulness of OLGA and OLGIM system not

only for intestinal type but also for diffuse type of gastric cancer, and no interaction among the gastric cancer risk factors. Helicobacter. 2018;23:e12542.

- 77. Kikuchi S, Wada O, Miki K, Nakajima T, Nishi T, Kobayashi O, et al. Serum pepsinogen as a new marker for gastric carcinoma among young adults. Research Group on Prevention of Gastric Carcinoma among Young Adults. Cancer. 1994;73:2695–702.
- Yanaoka K, Oka M, Yoshimura N, Mukoubayashi C, Enomoto S, Iguchi M, et al. Risk of gastric cancer in asymptomatic, middle-aged Japanese subjects based on serum pepsinogen and *Helicobacter pylori* antibody levels. Int J Cancer. 2008;123:917–26.
- 79. Ito M, Yoshihara M, Takata S, Wada Y, Matsuo T, Boda T, et al. Serum screening for detection of highrisk group for early-stage diffuse type gastric cancer in Japanese. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;27:598–602.
- Plebani M, Basso D, Cassaro M, Brigato L, Scrigner M, Toma A, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* serology in patients with chronic gastritis. Am J Gastroenterol. 1996;91:954–8.
- Mårdh E, Mårdh S, Mårdh B, Borch K. Diagnosis of gastritis by means of a combination of serological analyses. Clin Chim Acta. 2002;320:17–27.
- 82. Pilotto A, Di Mario F, Franceschi M, Leandro G, Soffiati G, Scagnelli M, et al. Cure of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in the elderly: effects of eradication on gastritis and serological markers. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 1996;10:1021–7.
- Kawai T, Miki K, Ichinose M, Kenji Y, Miyazaki I, Kawakami K, et al. Changes in evaluation of the pepsinogen test result following *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy in Japan. Inflammopharmacology. 2007;15:31–5.



11

Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine for Impact of Overweight, Obese, and Underweight on Gastric Cancer

Jieun Jang and Nayoung Kim

11.1 Introduction

As obesity incidence rate has increased noticeably for decades worldwide [1], interest in the impact of obesity on the development of noncommunicable diseases including cancers has increased [2]. Although it has been well established that excess body weight can increase the risk of several cancers including colorectal cancer, esophageal adenocarcinoma, kidney cancer, pancreatic cancer, and breast cancer [3-5] (Table 11.1), the association between obesity and gastric cancer (GC) has not been clarified yet. In addition, the association could be different according to anatomical location of GC, which is subdivided into cardia and non-cardia GC subtypes, with each GC subtype having its distinct pathological and etiological characteristics [6]. For this reason, when evaluating the

J. Jang

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

impact of *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*) infection, a well-known carcinogen of GC, on GC development, the evaluation is limited to noncardia GC in most cases [7]. The association of obesity with GC incidence also has different patterns depending on the anatomical location of the GC [8]. For patients with GC, it is well known that the risk of cardia GC is significantly elevated in the obese group than in the normal weight group, whereas non-cardia GC has been reported to have no significant association with obesity [8].

However, recent studies have revealed an increased GC risk in underweight population, especially in East Asia, where the incidence of non-cardia GC is the highest [9-12], and noncardia GC accounts for more than 90% of overall GC incidence [13]. Additionally, GC is a male-dominant cancer with a male-to-female ratio of about 2:1 [14]. Meanwhile, it has been suggested that the association between obesity and the risk of GC might be different according to sex [8]. Hence, this review will discuss sex difference in the link between obesity and GC development and biological mechanisms involved in such difference in this chapter. In addition, the possibility of sex difference in the increased risk of non-cardia GC related to underweight, a new finding from recent studies, is discussed.

Gyeongnam Center for Infectious Disease Control and Prevention, Gyeongnam Provincial Government, Changwon, Republic of Korea

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Korea (Republic of) e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr

	Male		Female	
	Cancer type ^a	RR (95% CI) ^b	Cancer type ^a	RR (95% CI) ^b
Cancers with convincing	Colon cancer	1.24 (1.20–1.28)	Colon cancer	1.09 (1.05–1.13)
evidence of increased	Esophageal	1.52 (1.33–1.74)	Esophageal	1.51 (1.31–1.74)
cancer risk related to	adenocarcinoma		adenocarcinoma	
obesity	Kidney cancer	1.24 (1.15–1.34)	Kidney cancer	1.34 (1.25–1.43)
	Pancreatic cancer	1.07 (0.93–1.23)	Pancreatic cancer	1.12 (1.02–1.22)
	Thyroid cancer	1.33 (1.04–1.70)	Gallbladder cancer	1.59 (1.02–2.47)
			Endometrial cancer	1.59 (1.50–1.68)
Cancers with weak but	Leukemia	1.08 (1.02–1.14)	Leukemia	1.17 (1.04–1.32)
possible evidence of an	Non-Hodgkin's	1.06 (1.03–1.09)	Non-Hodgkin's	1.07 (1.00–1.14)
increased risk of cancer	lymphoma		lymphoma	
related to obesity	Malignant melanoma	1.17 (1.05–1.30)	Thyroid cancer	1.14 (1.06–1.23)
	Multiple myeloma	1.11 (1.05–1.18)	Postmenopausal	1.12 (1.08–1.16)
			breast cancer	
	Rectal cancer	1.09 (1.06–1.12)	Premenopausal	1.16 (1.01–1.32)
			breast cancer ^c	

Table 11.1 Relative risk of cancers associated with obesity (adapted from the World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research [4] and Renehan et al. [5])

RR relative risk, CI confidence interval

^aCancer type reported to be associated with obesity by the World Cancer Research Fund

^bRelative risk of cancer incidence according to increase in body mass index of 5 kg/m² (Adapted from Renehan et al. [5]) ^cOnly limited to Asia-Pacific female population

11.2 Association Between Overweight/Obesity and Gastric Cancer Incidence

As obesity incidence rate has increased noticeably for decades worldwide not only in males (Fig. 11.1a) but also in females [1] (Fig. 11.1b), interest in the impact of obesity on the development of non-communicable diseases has increased. Numerous studies have reported significant associations of obesity with type II diabetes, coronary heart disease, stroke, and several cancer types [15, 16]. Cardia GC, a malignant tumor located in the top inch of the stomach, is one of the cancers with a well-established relationship with obesity. Previous studies have found an increased risk of GC related to overweight or obesity [8, 17-23] (Table 11.2). The World Cancer Research Fund (WCRF) and International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) also consider overweight or obesity as a risk factor of cardia GC with sufficient evidences to support it [16, 24]. According to a recent systematic review that assessed the association between overweight/obesity and GC incidence, both overweight (body mass index $[BMI] \ge 25 \text{ kg/}$ m²) and obesity (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) were significantly associated with elevated risk of cardia GC (hazard ratio [HR] 1.21; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.03–1.42 for overweight; HR 1.82; 95% CI, 1.32–2.49 for obesity). In contrast, there was no significant difference in the risk of non-cardia GC between normal weight and obesity groups in the same study (HR 1.00; 95% CI, 0.87–1.15) [8]. Additionally, population attributable risk fraction of obesity on cardia GC incidence was estimated to be 8.8% among males (95% CI, 3.0-14.8%) and 11.2% (95% CI, 3.8–18.8%) among females. In other words, obesity accounts for about 10% of cardia GC in both males and females [25].

One of the mechanisms proposed to explain the relationship between obesity and the increased risk of cardia GC is the occurrence of gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) due to obesity [26–28] (Fig. 11.2). Since the increase in intraabdominal pressure derived from abdominal obesity can cause reflux of gastric contents, the



Fig. 11.1 Trends in the prevalence of underweight, overweight, and obesity worldwide (from 1975 to 2016): (**a**) male and (**b**) female (adapted from NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC) [1])

incidence of GERD is estimated to be high in the obese group [29]. Several observational studies have confirmed the link between obesity and increased diagnosis and symptoms of GERD or esophagitis. Furthermore, a systematic review has also confirmed that overweight/obesity is significantly associated with the increase in GERD, although there is heterogeneity among studies (odds ratio [OR] 1.66; 95% CI, 1.61–1.71) [30].

Meanwhile, GERD is a spectrum disease that includes heterogeneous diseases with different clinical characteristics. Among these heterogeneous diseases, erosive esophagitis accompanied by damage to the esophageal mucosa has been reported to progress to Barrett's esophagus, a precursor of esophagogastric junction adenocarcinoma (about 1–13% of patients with erosive esophagitis) [31–33]. In short, obesity may increase the risk of cardia GC through a series of processes (from obesity to GERD to Barrett's esophagus to gastroesophageal junction adenocarcinoma).

In addition to physical mechanisms such as an increase in GERD due to abdominal obesity, several biological mechanisms including hyperinsulinemia and increase in insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) due to obesity have also been suggested. These biological conditions can promote cell division and cell survival while inhibiting apoptosis. Furthermore, it has been suggested that abnormal concentrations of various inflammatory cytokines such as adipokines (leptin and adiponectin), tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), and interleukin-6 (IL-6) secreted from adipose tissues in obese and diabetic conditions can increase the risk of cancer development [34, 35].

11.3 Sex Difference in the Association Between Overweight/Obesity and Cardia Gastric Cancer Incidence

It has been evaluated whether there is a sex difference in the increase of GC risk derived from overweight and obesity. In a systematic literature review [8], the risk of GC in overweight or obesity group compared to normal weight was

Table 11.2 Reports on increase	sed risk of card	ia gastric	cance	r due to overv	veight and obesity				
				Follow-up	BMI				
	Subjects	N of		period	measurement	Confirmation of	BMI (kg/m ²)		
Author, year, country	number	cases	Sex	(year)	method	cancer	category	RR ^a (95% CI)	RR ^b (95% CI)
Samanic et al., 2004, USA	4,500,700	1049	Σ	12	Record at	Cancer	<30	Ι	1.33 (1.05–1.68)
[17]					discharge	registration data	≥30		
Lindblad et al., 2005, UK	10,000	195	Å,	7	Self-reported	Histological	<20	1.37 (0.89–2.10)	1.46 (0.84-2.54)
[18]	(controls)		Ĺ			findings	20-24		
							25–29 >30		
Machnis et al 2006.	41.528	30	M.	9	Actual	Cancer	<25	2.50 (0.80-7.60)	3.70 (1.10–12.40)
Australia [19]		1	ц	I	measurement	registration	25-29		
1						data	≥30		
Samanic et al., 2006,	362,552	121	Σ	19	Actual	Cancer	18.5-24.9	1.16 (0.88-1.52)	1.09 (0.64–1.85)
Sweden [20]					measurement	registration	25-29.9		
						data	≥30		
Merry et al., 2007,	120,852	163	Х,	13.3	Self-reported	Cancer	<20	1.32 (0.94–1.85)	2.73 (1.56-4.79)
Netherlands [21]			ĹŢ			registration	20-24.9		
						data	25-29.9		
							≥30		
Corley et al., 2008, USA	206,974	66	M,	22.5	Actual	Cancer	18.5-24.9	0.91 (0.55–1.53)	2.04 (0.99-4.21)
[22]			ĹĹ		measurement	registration	25-29.9		
						data/medical	≥30		
						record			
O'Doherty et al., 2012, USA	480,475	191	M,	6	Self-reported	Cancer	18.5-24.9	1.15 (0.80-1.65)	2.57 (1.82–3.64)
[23]			ц			registration	25-29.9		
						data	30–34.9		
							≥35		
Stratification by sex									
Lindblad et al., 2005, UK	10,000	195	M,	7	Self-reported	Histological	<20	Male	Male
[18]	(controls)		Ĺ			findings	20-24	1.41 (0.86-2.30)	1.18 (0.58–2.42)
							25-29	Female	Female
							≥30	1.20 (0.50-2.87)	1.91 (0.76-4.84)
N number, BMI body mass inde	x, RR relative	risk, <i>CI</i> c	onfide	nce interval, i	M male, F female				

172

^aRelative risk of cardia gastric cancer according to overweight (BMI of 25.0–29.9 kg/m²) ^bRelative risk of cardia gastric cancer according to obesity (BMI \geq 30.0 kg/m²)



significantly elevated among males (HR 1.12; 95% CI, 1.00–1.24). However, there was no significant difference in GC risk between overweight/obesity and normal weight groups in females (HR 1.04; 95% CI, 0.93–1.16) [8].

A Korean report has shown that obesity is significantly associated with early-stage GC in males and that obesity is related to dysplasia (a precursor stage of GC) in females [36]. However, most of these results did not take into account the anatomical location of GC, making it hard to accurately evaluate whether there was a difference in the association between obesity and elevation in the risk of cardia GC according to sex.

Nonetheless, we can infer that obesity has an impact on the risk of cardia GC in males since previous studies have found significantly elevated risk of GC in males and reported that the positive association between obesity and GC is only limited to cardia GC [8].

As mentioned above, only a limited number of studies have evaluated the association between obesity and GC in consideration of both the anatomical location of cancer and sex concurrently. Therefore, it is difficult to clearly evaluate whether there is a sex difference in the extent to which obesity increases the risk of cardia GC. However, we can suggest the potential of sex difference in the link between obesity and cardia GC incidence based on several biological mechanisms.

Female hormone has been suggested as one of the major factors to explain the approximately two times higher incidence of GC in males than in females. Previous studies have reported a significantly lower risk of GC incidence in females who have a long fertility period, who have used hormone replacement therapy, and who have had a lot of childbirth [37, 38]. On the other hand, several studies have evaluated the difference in female hormone concentration according to the degree of obesity in females. These studies have found that BMI has positive correlation with concentrations of estrone, estradiol, and free estradiol in postmenopausal women [39-44]. When these study results are combined, the reason why the increase in the risk of GC associated with obesity is not found in females or the strength of the association is lower in females compared to that in males can be explained by high female hormone concentrations in obese females that can act as a preventive factor for GC

and offset the increased risk of GC due to obesity. In addition, a recent study has reported that obesity is associated with a significant increased risk of GC only in postmenopausal women, while there is no difference in GC risk according to BMI level in premenopausal women [45]. This result also supports the protective effect of female hormones against the increased risk of GC caused by obesity.

We can also infer the possibility of sex difference in association between cardia GC incidence and obesity from the difference in occurrence pattern of precursor lesion of cardia GC according to sex. A systematic review has shown that the prevalence of erosive esophagitis in males is 1.57 times higher (95% CI, 1.40-1.76) than in females. Erosive esophagitis has been suggested as a risk factor for Barrett's esophagus. Based on these results, we can explain the predominance of Barrett's esophagus in males than in females (male-to-female prevalence ratio: 1.71; 95% CI, 1.42–2.04) [46]. In Korea, it has been also reported that erosive esophagitis is 3.5 times more common in males than in females [47]. In addition, Barrett's esophagus and esophageal adenocarcinoma are more prevalent in males than in females [48].

Barrett's esophagus, which is more prevalent in males than in females and a precursor to gastroesophageal junction adenocarcinoma, has been suggested as a factor that can increase the risk of gastroesophageal junction adenocarcinoma [49]. Thus, there might be a sex difference in the level of increased risk of cardia GC due to obesity since males have a relatively higher risk of developing gastroesophageal junction adenocarcinoma precursor lesions derived from obesity compared to females.

Moreover, it has been reported that sex difference in the prevalence of GERD disappears in the older age group and that the prevalence of erosive esophagitis increases in women with menopause syndrome [50]. Therefore, difference in female hormone level between males and females might cause sex difference in the association between obesity and cardia GC. In addition, it has been suggested that female estrogen plays a role in protecting the esophagus through reinforcement of esophageal tight junction protein, further supporting the potential of sex difference in the impact of obesity on cardia GC incidence [51].

On the other hand, it has been reported that obese patients have high concentrations of serum leptin. This serum leptin concentration has a positive correlation with the risk of Barrett's esophagus only in males [52]. Therefore, male dominance in the prevalence of erosive esophagitis and GERD including Barrett's esophagus due to obesity may cause a relatively higher risk of cardia GC in males than in females.

11.4 Association Between Underweight and Noncardia Gastric Cancer Incidence

The increase in the risk of cardia GC due to obesity has been established through many observational studies, and a mechanism to explain this has been suggested. However, the impact of obesity on the incidence of non-cardia GC has not been clarified yet. A systematic review has shown no significant association between overweight/ obesity and non-cardia GC incidence [8]. However, recent studies have reported that the risk of GC in the group with a low BMI is significantly higher than that in the group with normal weight, especially in East Asia [9-12, 53, 54] where non-cardia GC accounts for a high proportion of total GC incidence [13] (Table 11.3). These recent studies support the association between underweight and an increased risk of non-cardia GC.

The reason that previous studies could not find evidence for an increased risk of non-cardia GC in the underweight population might be because most of these studies have been performed on Westerners. The proportion of non-cardia GC in total GC is lower in Westerners than in Asians [13]. The prevalence of underweight and obese

Actual measurementCancerMale $0.61 (0.38-0.99)$ $-$ RegistrationQ1: 22.2Q3 vs. Q1 $-$ RegistrationQ2: 24.5Q3 vs. Q1Q3: 31.1FemaleQ3: 24.6PermaleQ1: 20.5Q2: 22.7Q2: 22.7Q3: 24.6Q4: 27.1Q5: 31.6Actual measurementClinical recordC0: 23.2C0.51-0.83)0.86 (0.69-1.08)Actual measurementClinical record $20.32-21.75$ Actual measurementClinical record 20.3	of Follow 5 M, 12 W 12 01 M, 2.4-7.	AnatomicalN olocationcassNon-cardia485Non-cardia159Non-cardia159
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		M, 11.2 W
Actual measurement Clinical record <18.5 1.42 (1.03-1.96) $-$ Actual measurement Clinical record <18.5-24.9		M, 19.8 W
		7 M, 6 W

Table 11.3 (contin	ned)									
Author, year, country	Subjects number	Anatomical location	N of cases	Sex	Follow-up (year)	BMI measurement method	Confirmation of cancer	BMI (kg/m ²) category	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)
Stratification by se	x									
Fan et al., 2017,	29,446	Non-cardia	626	, M	19.8	Actual measurement	Clinical record	<20.32	Male	
China [9]				×				20.32-21.75 21.76-23.30	0.59 (0.42–0.82) >23 31 vs	
								≥23.31	<pre><20.32 (kg/m²)</pre>	
									Female	
									0.74 (0.51-1.08)	
									≥23.31 vs.	
									<20.32 (kg/m ²)	
Hirabayashi	92,056	Distal	2500	Ň,	18	Self-reported	Cancer	<19	Male	Male
et al., 2019,		ICD codes		8			registration	19-22.9	0.94 (0.67–1.38)	1.00 (0.85-1.18)
Japan [10]		C16.2–16.6					data	23-24.9	<19 vs. 23–24.9	19–22.9 vs.
								25-26.9	(kg/m^2)	23-24.9 (kg/m ²)
								≥27	Female	Female
									1.27 (0.76–2.14)	1.25 (0.95–1.66)
									<19 vs. 23–24.9	19–22.9 vs.
									(kg/m^2)	23-24.9 (kg/m ²)
N number, BMI boc	ly mass index.	, RR relative risk	, CI confi	dence	interval, M n	ren, W women, Q quart	ile			



Fig. 11.3 Potential mechanisms on sex difference in the association between underweight and gastric cancer incidence and sex difference within this association

subjects are lower and higher in Westerners than in Asians, respectively [1]. Hence, it would have been difficult to observe an association between a low BMI and non-cardia GC incidence in previous studies based on Westerners. In addition, hypotheses tended to focus on the impact of overweight or obesity on the incidence of GC rather than the impact of underweight in previous studies. Therefore, the underweight group was excluded from analysis or combined with the normal weight group in most of previous studies, which might be limitations in evaluating the risk of GC associated with underweight in these studies.

Although the relationship between underweight and increased non-cardia GC risk has not been clearly established, several mechanisms can be considered to explain this relationship (Fig. 11.3). First, underweight is a form of malnutrition. Thus, underweight subjects might have deficiency of micronutrients [55]. It has been suggested that micronutrients can prevent cancer through antioxidant effects [56]. In addition, the underweight group might be more susceptible to infection [57] due to malnutrition with lower immunity [58]. Therefore, underweight may be an indicator reflecting the level of infection with *H. pylori*, a major carcinogen of non-cardia GC.

11.5 Sex Difference in the Association Between Underweight and Noncardia Gastric Cancer Incidence

A limited number of studies have reported an increased risk of GC in the underweight group. These studies have been published relatively recently. Therefore, whether there is a difference in the association between underweight and GC risk between males and females has not been established yet.

Three observational studies have considered the sex difference among previous studies reporting an increase in GC risk related to underweight or a decrease in GC risk in the normal or overweight group [9, 10, 53]. One of these three studies was based on Westerners. It found that the degree of increase in the risk of GC due to underweight in males was lower than that in females [53]. However, there was no statistical significance in such sex difference. Another study was based on East Asians. It reported that the degree of increase in GC risk in the group with a BMI of 20.32–21.76 kg/m² compared to that in the group with a BMI of 23.31 kg/m² was similar between males and females [9]. In the third study, it was found that underweight was associated with an

increase in the risk of non-cardia GC only in females, although statistical significance was not found in that study [10]. Therefore, we could not obtain consistent conclusions on the sex difference in the relationship between underweight and GC incidence based on observational studies reported so far. However, the difference in the increased risk of GC by underweight between males and females could be inferred from a biological point of view.

It has been reported that concentrations of sex hormones including estradiol and estrone are significantly lower in postmenopausal women with a low BMI less than 22.5 kg/m² [59, 60].

On the other hand, high-dose estrogen therapy is related to a low standardized incidence of GC in a previous study [61]. Another study has found that diffuse-type GC, a more common histological type in females than in males, has a significant association with estrogen receptor positivity [62]. In addition to human studies, in vivo and in vitro studies on the protective effect of estrogen against GC have also been reported [63, 64].

Considering results of these studies above, estrogen concentrations in underweight females would be lower than those in normal and overweight females. As a result, the protective effect of female hormones against cancer development in females would differ according to BMI level. Therefore, underweight females might have a relatively higher risk of GC than normal and obese females.

11.6 Conclusions

GC is a male-dominant cancer. It is twice more common in males than in females. The increase in the risk of GC linked to overweight/obesity also differs between males and females. In this review, sex difference in the effect of obesity on GC incidence and mechanisms to explain such differences were discussed. In addition, recent reports on the increase in non-cardia GC risk associated with underweight and the possibility of sex difference in the association between GC incidence and underweight were considered. The

elevated risk of cardia GC associated with overweight or obesity and the sex difference in this association might be attributed to the increase in female hormone concentration according to obesity and sex difference in the occurrence of cardia GC precancerous lesions. On the other hand, recent reports have suggested an increased noncardia GC risk in underweight population as opposed to cardia GC affected by obesity. Most of these studies have been mainly reported in Asia with a high prevalence of non-cardia GC and H. pylori infection which is a major carcinogen of non-cardia GC. Thus, further studies are needed to determine whether the association between underweight and non-cardia GC is influenced by ethnicity or differences in levels of exposure to environmental factors such as eating habits, smoking, and alcohol depending on regions. In addition, we can assume that sex difference in the association between underweight and GC risk is caused by difference in female hormone concentration according to the level of body fat and sex, although this assumption needs to be evaluated in future studies.

References

- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration. Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2,416 population-based measurement studies in 128.9 million children, adolescents, and adults. Lancet. 2017;390:2627–42.
- Pi-Sunyer X. The medical risks of obesity. Postgrad Med. 2009;121:21–33.
- Basen-Engquist K, Chang M. Obesity and cancer risk: recent review and evidence. Curr Oncol Rep. 2011;13:71–6.
- World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research. Food, nutrition, physical activity, and the prevention of cancer: a global perspective. Washington, DC: AICR; 2007.
- Renehan AG, Tyson M, Egger M, Heller RF, Zwahlen M. Body-mass index and incidence of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. Lancet. 2008;371:569–78.
- Mukaisho KI, Nakayama T, Hagiwara T, Hattori T, Sugihara H. Two distinct etiologies of gastric cardia adenocarcinoma: interactions among pH, *Helicobacter pylori*, and bile acids. Front Microbiol. 2015;6:412.

- Kim JY, Lee HS, Kim N, Shin CM, Lee SH, Park YS, et al. Prevalence and clinicopathologic characteristics of gastric cardia cancer in South Korea. Helicobacter. 2012;17:358–68.
- Chen Y, Liu LX, Wang XL, Wang J, Yan Z, Cheng J, et al. Body mass index and risk of gastric cancer: a meta-analysis of a population with more than ten million from 24 prospective studies. Cancer Epidem Biomar. 2013;22:1395–408.
- Fan JH, Wang JB, Wang SM, Abnet CC, Qiao YL, Taylor PR. Body mass index and risk of gastric cancer: a 30-year follow-up study in the Linxian general population trial cohort. Cancer Sci. 2017;108:1667–72.
- Hirabayashi M, Inoue M, Sawada N, Saito E, Abe SK, Hidaka A, et al. Effect of body-mass index on the risk of gastric cancer: a population-based cohort study in A Japanese population. Cancer Epidemiol. 2019;63:101622.
- Jang J, Cho EJ, Hwang Y, Weiderpass E, Ahn C, Choi J, et al. Association between body mass index and gastric cancer risk according to effect modification by *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Cancer Res Treat. 2019;51:1107–16.
- 12. Jang J, Wang TY, Cai H, Ye F, Murphy G, Shimazu T, et al. The U-shaped association between body mass index and gastric cancer risk in the *Helicobacter pylori* Biomarker Cohort Consortium: a nested casecontrol study from eight East Asian cohort studies. Int J Cancer. 2020;147:777–84.
- Colquhoun A, Arnold M, Ferlay J, Goodman KJ, Forman D, Soerjomataram I. Global patterns of cardia and non-cardia gastric cancer incidence in 2012. Gut. 2015;64:1881–8.
- 14. Lou L, Wang L, Zhang Y, Chen G, Lin L, Jin X, Huang Y, et al. Sex difference in incidence of gastric cancer: an international comparative study based on the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. BMJ Open. 2020;10:e033323.
- 15. Guh DP, Zhang W, Bansback N, Amarsi Z, Birmingham CL, Anis AH. The incidence of comorbidities related to obesity and overweight: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health. 2009;9:88.
- Lauby-Secretan B, Scoccianti C, Loomis D, Grosse Y, Bianchini F, Straif K, et al. Body fatness and cancerviewpoint of the IARC Working Group. New Engl J Med. 2016;375:794–8.
- Samanic C, Gridley G, Chow WH, Lubin J, Hoover RN, Fraumeni JF Jr. Obesity and cancer risk among white and black United States veterans. Cancer Cause Control. 2004;15:35–43.
- Lindblad M, Rodriguez LAG, Lagergren J. Body mass, tobacco and alcohol and risk of esophageal, gastric cardia, and gastric non-cardia adenocarcinoma among men and women in a nested case-control study. Cancer Cause Control. 2005;1:285–94.
- MacInnis RJ, English DR, Hopper JL, Giles GG. Body size and composition and the risk of gastric and oesophageal adenocarcinoma. Int J Cancer. 2006;118:2628–31.

- Samanic C, Chow WH, Gridley G, Jarvholm B, Fraumeni JF Jr. Relation of body mass index to cancer risk in 362,552 Swedish men. Cancer Cause Control. 2006;17:901–9.
- Merry AH, Schouten LJ, Goldbohm RA, van den Brandt PA. Body mass index, height and risk of adenocarcinoma of the oesophagus and gastric cardia: a prospective cohort study. Gut. 2007;56:1503–11.
- Corley DA, Kubo A, Zhao W. Abdominal obesity and the risk of esophageal and gastric cardia carcinomas. Cancer Epidem Biomar. 2008;17:352–8.
- 23. O'Doherty MG, Freedman ND, Hollenbeck AR, Schatzkin A, Abnet CC. A prospective cohort study of obesity and risk of oesophageal and gastric adenocarcinoma in the NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study. Gut. 2012;61:1261–8.
- 24. World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research. Diet, nutrition, physical activity and oesophageal cancer. In: Continuous Update Project Expert Report 2018. 2018. dietandcancerreport.org. Accessed 18 Aug 2021.
- 25. Pearson-Stuttard J, Zhou B, Kontis V, Bentham J, Gunter MJ, Ezzati M. Worldwide burden of cancer attributable to diabetes and high body-mass index: a comparative risk assessment. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2018;6:95–104.
- 26. Derakhshan MH, Malekzadeh R, Watabe H, Yazdanbod A, Fyfe V, Kazemi A, et al. Combination of gastric atrophy, reflux symptoms and histological subtype indicates two distinct aetiologies of gastric cardia cancer. Gut. 2008;57:298–305.
- 27. Horii T, Koike T, Abe Y, Kikuchi R, Unakami H, Iijima K, et al. Two distinct types of cancer of different origin may be mixed in gastroesophageal junction adenocarcinomas in Japan: Evidence from direct evaluation of gastric acid secretion. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2011;46:710–9.
- Alemán JO, Eusebi LH, Ricciardiello L, Patidar K, Sanyal AJ, Holt PR. Mechanisms of obesityinduced gastrointestinal neoplasia. Gastroenterology. 2014;146:357–73.
- Olefson S, Moss SF. Obesity and related risk factors in gastric cardia adenocarcinoma. Gastric Cancer. 2015;18:23–32.
- Corley DA, Kubo A. Body mass index and gastroesophageal reflux disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101:2619–28.
- 31. Weston AP, Krmpotich PT, Cherian R, Dixon A, Topalovski M. Prospective evaluation of intestinal metaplasia and dysplasia within the cardia of patients with Barrett's esophagus. Dig Dis Sci. 1997;42:597–602.
- Cameron AJ, Lomboy CT, Pera M, Carpenter HA. Adenocarcinoma of the esophagogastric junction and Barrett's esophagus. Gastroenterology. 1995;109:1541–6.
- Fullard M, Kang JY, Neild P, Poullis A, Maxwell JD. Systematic review: does gastro-oesophageal reflux disease progress? Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2006;24:33–45.
- Cohen DH, LeRoith D. Obesity, type 2 diabetes, and cancer: the insulin and IGF connection. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2012;19:F27–45.
- Tseng CH, Chen CJ, Landolph JR Jr. Diabetes and cancer: epidemiological, clinical, and experimental perspectives. Exp Diabetes Res. 2012;2012:101802.
- 36. Kim HJ, Kim N, Kim HY, Lee HS, Yoon H, Shin CM, et al. Relationship between body mass index and the risk of early gastric cancer and dysplasia regardless of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Gastric Cancer. 2015;18:762–73.
- Camargo MC, Goto Y, Zabaleta J, Morgan DR, Correa P, Rabkin CS. Sex hormones, hormonal interventions, and gastric cancer risk: a meta-analysis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2012;21:20–38.
- Kim SM, Min BH, Lee J, An JY, Lee JH, Sohn TS, et al. Protective effects of female reproductive factors on Lauren intestinal-type gastric adenocarcinoma. Yonsei Med J. 2018;59:28–34.
- 39. Lukanova A, Lundin E, Zeleniuch-Jacquotte A, Muti P, Mure A, Rinaldi S, et al. Body mass index, circulating levels of sex-steroid hormones, IGF-I and IGFbinding protein-3: a cross-sectional study in healthy women. Eur J Endocrinol. 2004;150:161–71.
- 40. Madigan MP, Troisi R, Potischman N, Dorgan JF, Brinton LA, Hoover RN. Serum hormone levels in relation to reproductive and lifestyle factors in postmenopausal women (United States). Cancer Causes Control. 1998;9:199–207.
- 41. McTiernan A, Wu L, Chen C, Chlebowski R, Mossavar-Rahmani Y, Modugno F, et al. Relation of BMI and physical activity to sex hormones in postmenopausal women. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2006;14:1662–77.
- 42. Hankinson SE, Willett WC, Manson JE, Hunter DJ, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, et al. Alcohol, height, and adiposity in relation to estrogen and prolactin levels in postmenopausal women. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1995;87:1297–302.
- 43. Boyapati SM, Shu XO, Gao YT, Dai Q, Yu H, Cheng JR, et al. Correlation of blood sex steroid hormones with body size, body fat distribution, and other known risk factors for breast cancer in postmenopausal Chinese women. Cancer Causes Control. 2004;15:305–11.
- 44. Bezemer ID, Rinaldi S, Dossus L, Gils CH, Peeters PH, Noord PA, et al. C-peptide, IGF-I, sex-steroid hormones and adiposity: a cross-sectional study in healthy women within the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). Cancer Causes Control. 2005;16:561–72.
- 45. Choi IY, Choi YJ, Shin DW, Han KD, Jeon KH, Jeong S-M, et al. Association between obesity and the risk of gastric cancer in premenopausal and postmenopausal women: a nationwide cohort study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2021;36:2834–40.
- 46. Ronkainen J, Talley NJ, Storskrubb T, Johansson SE, Lind T, Vieth M, et al. Erosive esophagitis is a risk factor for Barrett's esophagus: a community-based

endoscopic follow-up study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2011;106:1946–52.

- 47. Kim N, Lee SW, Cho SI, Park CG, Yang CH, Kim HS, et al. The prevalence of and risk factors for erosive oesophagitis and non-erosive reflux disease: a nationwide multicentre prospective study in Korea. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2008;27:173–85.
- Kim YS, Kim N, Kim GH. Sex and gender differences in gastroesophageal reflux disease. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;22:575–88.
- Cossentino MJ, Wong RK. Barrett's esophagus and risk of esophageal adenocarcinoma. Semin Gastrointest Dis. 2003;14:128–35.
- Kim SY, Jung HK, Lim J, Kim TO, Choe AR, Tae CH, et al. Gender specific differences in prevalence and risk factors for gastro-esophageal reflux disease. J Korean Med Sci. 2019;34:e158.
- Grishina I, Fenton A, Sankaran-Walters S. Gender differences, aging and hormonal status in mucosal injury and repair. Aging Dis. 2014;5:160–9.
- Kendall BJ, Macdonald GA, Hayward NK, Prins JB, Brown I, Walker N, et al. Leptin and the risk of Barrett's oesophagus. Gut. 2008;57:448–54.
- 53. Bhaskaran K, Douglas I, Forbes H, dos -Santos-Silva I, Leon DA, Smeeth L. Body-mass index and risk of 22 specific cancers: a population-based cohort study of 5·24 million UK adults. Lancet. 2014;384:755–65.
- 54. Steffen A, Huerta JM, Weiderpass E, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, May AM, Siersema PD, et al. General and abdominal obesity and risk of esophageal and gastric adenocarcinoma in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Int J Cancer. 2015;137:646–57.
- 55. Ravindran RD, Vashist P, Gupta SK, Young IS, Maraini G, Camparini M, et al. Prevalence and risk factors for vitamin C deficiency in north and south India: a two centre population based study in people aged 60 years and over. PLoS One. 2011;6:e28588.
- 56. Kong P, Cai Q, Geng Q, Wang J, Lan Y, Zhan Y, et al. Vitamin intake reduce the risk of gastric cancer: metaanalysis and systematic review of randomized and observational studies. PLoS One. 2014;9:e116060.
- Katona P, Katona-Apte J. The interaction between nutrition and infection. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;46:1582–8.
- Nishida T, Sakakibara H. Association between underweight and low lymphocyte count as an indicator of malnutrition in Japanese women. J Women's Health. 2010;19:1377–83.
- 59. Ziomkiewicz A, Ellison PT, Lipson SF, Thune I, Jasienska G. Body fat, energy balance and estradiol levels: a study based on hormonal profiles from complete menstrual cycles. Hum Reprod. 2008;23:2555–63.
- 60. Key TJ, Appleby PN, Reeves GK, Roddam A, Dorgan JF, Longcope C, et al. Body mass index, serum sex hormones, and breast cancer risk in postmenopausal women. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2003;95:1218–26.

- Lindblad M, Ye W, Rubio C, Lagergren J. Estrogen and risk of gastric cancer: a protective effect in a nationwide cohort study of patients with prostate cancer in Sweden. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2004;13:2203–7.
- Yi JH, Do IG, Jang J, Kim ST, Kim KM, Park SH, et al. Anti-tumor efficacy of fulvestrant in estrogen receptor positive gastric cancer. Sci Rep. 2014;4:7592.
- 63. Sheh A, Ge Z, Parry NM, Muthupalani S, Rager JE, Raczynski AR, et al. 17beta-estradiol and tamoxi-

fen prevent gastric cancer by modulating leukocyte recruitment and oncogenic pathways in *Helicobacter pylori*-infected INS-GAS male mice. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2011;4:1426–35.

64. Messa C, Pricci M, Linsalata M, Russo F, Di Leo A. Inhibitory effect of 17beta-estradiol on growth and the polyamine metabolism of a human gastric carcinoma cell line (HGC-27). Scand J Gastroenterol. 1999;34:79–84.

Part VI

Pancreas and Biliary Diseases

Pancreas and Biliary Diseases

Seon Mee Park

12.1 Introduction

Sex/gender differences of pancreas and biliary diseases could provide important and useful information to decide the diagnosis and treatment in clinical fields. Main causes of such sex/ gender differences are estrogen and its related attributes. Environmental factors such as alcohol drinking, obesity, physical activity, and diets are also associated with such differences. The attitude for health facility utilization is also a contributor to different outcomes between genders. Because epidemiology and clinical characteristics of pancreas and biliary diseases are often different between Eastern and Western countries, gender differences need to be analyzed considering difference in ethnics, races, and countries. In this chapter, gender medicine about common diseases in the pancreas and the biliary tract will be summarized along with a literature review.

Department of Internal Medicine, Chungbuk National University College of Medicine, Cheongju, Republic of Korea e-mail: smpark@chungbuk.ac.kr

12.2 Benign Diseases in the Biliary System

12.2.1 Gallstone Disease

12.2.1.1 Epidemiology

The prevalence of gallstones in adults has been reported to be 10–15% in Western countries and 5–10% in Asian countries [18]. In addition to such prevalence difference, the composition and sex preference of gallstones are also different between Western and Eastern countries. Cholesterol stones in Western countries constitute more than 80% of all gallstone cases, while proportions of cholesterol and pigment stones among gallstones are nearly matched in South Korea [22] or China [13]. Women show two to three times higher prevalence of gallstones than men in Western countries, while similar prevalence has been reported for both genders in Asian countries [13]. Females are dominant in the younger group (≤ 40 years old), while males are dominant in the older group (>50 years old) of gallstone diseases [23]. These differences are caused by cholesterol stone dominance in younger females, while pigment stones are dominant in older males [22] (Fig. 12.1). In addition, obesity (body mass index ≥ 25 kg/m²), one of the risk factors of cholesterol stone, is slightly prevalent in women worldwide (male vs. female; 38.5% vs. 39.4% in 2015), while it is prevalent in men in South Korea (male vs. female; 42.3% vs. 26.4% in 2016) [6, 31].



[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_12

S. M. Park (🖂)



Fig. 12.1 Prevalence of cholesterol and pigment stones with age (a) and sex (b) in South Korea (adapted from Kim et al. [22])

12.2.1.2 Effects of Estrogen on Cholesterol Gallstones

The prevalence of cholesterol stone is increased by increasing estrogen level dose-responsively [37]. Estrogen can promote cholesterol stones by causing cholesterol supersaturation in bile. Cholesterol stone is prevalent in females during the reproductive age [20]. This effect disappears after menopause [37]. The prevalence of gallstones is increased by the number of pregnancies [49]. Recent meta-analysis including 556,620 populations from 19 studies has reported that the relative risk (RR) for gallstones by estrogen replacement is 1.59 (95% CI, 1.44-1.75) [50]. Among those with estrogen administration, effects of estrogen replacement therapy and oral contraceptives on gallstones are different. Estrogen replacement therapy is a risk factor of gallstones (1.79; 95% CI, 1.61-2.00), while oral contraceptives are not significant (1.19; 95% CI, 0.97-1.45) [50].

12.2.1.3 Coffee Consumption and Gallstones

Gallstone prevalence is reversely correlated with the amount of coffee consumption in several studies [36, 55]. Coffee can promote cholecystokinin secretion in the blood. The main action of cholecystokinin is to increase gallbladder contraction, which inhibits cholesterol crystal formation in the gallbladder. One study has analyzed the correlation between the amount of coffee consumption and the frequency of cholecystectomy and found an inverse correlation in women, but no such correlation in men [36] (Fig. 12.2). Among women, the hazard ratio (HR) was lower in premenopausal women (0.17; 95% CI, 0.05-0.55) and in those with estrogen replacement (0.44; 95% CI, 0.28–0.70) than in others [36]. When the analysis was stratified by gender, the female cohorts yielded significant results comparing coffee consumption with non-consumption (RR 0.83; 95% CI, 0.79–0.88) with no heterogeneity ($I^2 = 0.0\%$; p = 0.685). In contrast, results from the male cohorts did not reach significance (RR 0.83; 95% CI, 0.66–1.03) and had high heterogeneity ($I^2 = 70.6\%$; p = 0.033) [55]. These results suggest that the prevention of gallstones by coffee consumption might be associated with estrogen effect.

12.2.1.4 Physical Activity and Gallstones

Physical activity (PA) levels can independently reduce the prevalence of gallstone disease (GD) [56]. A meta-analysis has reported an inverse association between physical activity and gallstone disease in both men and women (RR 0.85; 95% CI, 0.78–0.92; comparison of the highestlevel and the lowest-level groups) [56]. However,





one study in Korea [28] has reported that estimated rates of PA and GD are 23.7% and 4.6% in males and 18.4% and 4.2% in females, respectively. Gallstone prevention by PA is associated with males, but not females [28]. It has been suggested that risk factors for GD, such as nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and total cholesterol levels, could be reduced by PA in males. However, for females, estrogen is such a strong risk for GD that effects of PA could be relatively low.

12.2.1.5 Cholecystectomy for Gallstone Disease

GD is one common cause of surgery. In the laparoscopic era, rates of cholecystectomy have increased because of its wide indications [33]. Rates of cholecystectomy between genders are similar. However, clinical characteristics of GD are different between men and women. One study [38] using GallRiks (Swedish Register for Gallstone Surgery and Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography) has reported that women receive cholecystectomy at a younger age than men (mean age, men vs. women: 51.14 years vs. 46.63 years). Especially, younger women less than 40 years old receive surgery for biliary pain sixfold higher than men. Compared to women, men usually receive surgery for complications of gallstones such as jaundice, acute cholecystitis, acute cholangitis, or biliary pancreatitis [38]. It has been suggested that some women receive surgery not for biliary pain, but for functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGID) [38]. Sometimes, it is difficult to perform differential diagnosis for biliary pain and FGID. Women complain more abdominal pain and need more analgesics for pain relief than men [48]. In addition, conversion rates from laparoscopy to open cholecystectomy and fibrosis by accumulation of collagen tissue near gallbladder are more frequent in men than in women [54]. One study in Australia has reported that men have a later diagnosis of acute cholecystitis than women (mean age, men vs. women: 66 years vs. 57 years) with more comorbidities [54]. Rates of severe or necrotizing cholecystitis are higher in men than women. However, there are no significant differences in complication rate, mortality, or re-admission rate between genders [35].

12.2.1.6 Positive Association of Gallbladder Stones or Polyps with Colon Polyps

Patients with gallbladder stones or polyps show higher risks of colorectal adenoma in men (odds ratio [OR] 1.47; 95% CI, 1.08–1.98 or 1.56; 95% CI, 1.20–2.02, respectively), but not in women in a study in Taiwan [32]. Gallbladder polyps and colorectal adenomas share some risk factors, such as obesity, glucose intolerance, insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome, and male gender. The gender difference in the relationship between gallbladder polyps and colorectal adenomas might be related to the fact that men have higher insulin resistance, serum levels of insulinlike growth factor 1, and secondary bile acid levels of colon than women. The possible mechanism for the association between gallbladder stones and colonic adenomas remains unclear. Patients with gallbladder stones have more deoxycholic bile acids known to be produced by bacterial degradation in the colon [46]. These secondary bile acids can increase the risk of colorectal neoplasm. Furthermore, secondary bile acid levels are higher in men with colorectal adenomas [4], while exogenous estrogen can decrease secondary bile acid production [10].

12.2.2 Sphincter of Oddi Dysfunction

Sphincter of Oddi dysfunction (SOD) frequently develops in middle-aged women than in men, which may be caused by increased sensitivity of SOD to cholecystokinin [44]. In an animal experiment, amplitudes of phasic reaction by administration of CCK are increased in males than in females [47]. The rate of post-ERCP pancreatitis (PEP) is higher in women than in men. The hypersensitivity of SOD in women might be one of the mechanisms of PEP [44].

12.3 Benign Diseases in the Pancreas

12.3.1 Pancreatic Cystic Lesions

Detection rates of pancreatic cystic lesions have increased up to 15% in adults due to increased image studies [11]. Serous cystic neoplasm (>75% in females), mucinous cystic neoplasm (>95% in females), and solid pseudopapillary neoplasm (SPN, >80% in females) are developed more frequently in females [11], while intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (IPMN) is more frequent in males [19]. Male dominance of IPMN is distinct in Asian countries than in Western countries and in main duct type than in branch duct type [19]. The male-to-female ratio is 3:1 for the main duct type and 1.8:1 for the branch duct type [19].

SPN has sex differences in terms of size and pathology. The mean size of SPN is 5.3 cm in old patients (≥50 years old) and 7.6 cm in younger patients (<50 years old) [27]. This finding suggests that estrogen can promote the growth of SPN [27]. SPN in males is characterized by late diagnosis, smaller size, and more solid proportion than in females [17]. Morphological features of SPN by image analysis show solid type predominant in males (solid type, 81%; mixed type, 19%) and mixed type predominant in females (mixed type: 70%) [17]. Therefore, it is difficult to differentiate SPN from other solid malignancies in the pancreas in males [17]. In another study [15], fibrous capsule and cholesterol cleft are distinct pathologic features of SPN in females. In spite of these pathological differences, prognosis is equivalent between sexes.

12.3.2 Acute and Chronic Pancreatitis

Main causes of acute pancreatitis (AP) include gallstones (35.0%), alcohol drinking (20.4%), and others (44.6%) [8]. However, they are quite different between genders. Alcohol drinking is the main cause of AP in men (alcohol vs. gallstone: 48% vs. 22%), while gallstone is the

dominant cause in women (alcohol vs. gallstone: 9% vs. 66%) [30]. In a Taiwan study enrolling 13,110 patients with acute biliary pancreatitis (ABP), males revealed poor prognosis than females in terms of hospital mortality (RR 1.81; 95% CI, 1.15-2.86), local complications (RR 1.38; 95% CI, 1.05-1.82), gastrointestinal bleeding (RR 1.44; 95% CI, 1.18-1.76), and total parenteral nutrition rate (RR 1.24; 95% CI, 1.00–1.52) [43]. Another nationalwide study for outcomes of patients with acute pancreatitis has also reported that men have higher mortality and morbidity than women [42] (Fig. 12.3). Post-ERCP pancreatitis (PEP) is higher in women than in men (OR 1.40; 95% CI, 1.24-1.58). However, such difference was less significant than other PEP risk factors, including SOD (OR 4.37), previous history of PEP (OR 3.23), previous history of pancreatitis (OR 2.00), precut EST (OR 2.11), and no preventive pancreatic duct stent (OR 2.10) [5].

The prevalence of chronic pancreatitis (CP) was 4.6-fold higher in men than in women in Japan [16]. The main cause of CP was alcohol

drinking (61.9%) [8]. The big difference in CP between genders was caused by higher rate of alcohol drinking in men than in women. In Biostatistics of South Korea in 2019, the rate of high-risk drinking was 18.7% in men and 5.6% in women (high-risk drinking was defined as more than two times a week and more than 7 units in males or 5 units in females) [26]. However, women developed serious alcohol-related diseases with a shorter duration or a smaller amount of alcohol drinking than males. The mean duration of alcohol drinking to alcoholic CP was 23.0 years in women and 34.3 years in men [34]. A peak incidence of alcoholic CP was younger in women (aged 35-44 years) than in men (aged 45–54 years) [53]. Mean daily alcohol consumption to induce alcoholic CP was 85.9 g in women and 96.8 g in men [34]. These gender differences are caused by different alcohol metabolism. Men have 1.5-fold higher levels of alcohol dehydrogenase enzymes. They also have higher alcohol detoxication by masculine body composition and higher amount of total body water, which can reduce the level of alcohol concentration after



Fig. 12.3 Outcomes in patients with acute pancreatitis: Male vs. female. *AKI* acute kidney insufficiency (adapted from Sharma et al. [42])

drinking. However, women have no such benefits for alcohol metabolism. In addition, estrogen can inhibit alcohol degradation [9].

One study [41] about effects of smoking on pancreatitis has reported that more than 20 packyear is a risk factor in both genders, while the risk is greater in women than in men. HRs of smoking for non-biliary AP and recurrent AP or CP were 2.01 (1.45–2.80) and 3.22 (2.12–4.87) in women and 1.87 (1.34–2.60) and 1.72 (1.12–2.66) in men, respectively [41].

12.4 Malignancies in the Pancreas and the Biliary Tract

12.4.1 Pancreatic Cancer

Cancer statistics 2018 in South Korea reported that pancreatic cancer was diagnosed in 4020 men and 3591 women. Age-standardized incidence rate (ASR, number of patients per 10⁵ population) was 9.0 for men and 6.5 for women [25]. Sex hormone might play a role in the man dominance of pancreatic cancer. Epidemiologic data have revealed that sex difference in pancreatic cancer is greater in the young population and smaller in the old population [25]. Women who have received oophorectomy show higher incidence of pancreatic cancer than other women who have not received oophorectomy [2]. These data suggest that estrogen can inhibit the development of pancreatic cancer, while androgen promotes it. In animal experiments, estrogen replacement is effective in inhibiting the development of pancreatic cancer [1]. Female rats showed less production of oxidative stress than male rats after they are fed a high-lipid diet [1]. However, unmatched results have reported that estrogen receptor does not exist in normal pancreas and that tamoxifen, an estrogen receptor antagonist, has no effect on pancreatic cancer development [2]. In spite of controversial results, it has been suggested that estrogen can inhibit pancreatic cancer development, although the mechanism and clinical significance have not been established yet.

12.4.2 Gallbladder and Biliary Tract Cancer

Cancer statistics 2018 in South Korea reported that gallbladder and biliary tract cancer were diagnosed in 3840 men and 3339 women. ASR was 8.3 for men and 5.3 for women [25]. However, when gallbladder cancer and biliary tract cancer were analyzed separately, gallbladder cancer (GBC) showed no difference between sexes [51], while biliary tract cancer was male dominant.

The GBC is a fatal malignancy. It displays considerable differences in certain ethnicities and geographic regions. GBC is about two times more common in women than in men [40]. Female predominance of GBC is caused by high prevalence of gallstones, estrogen effect, and genetic background. However, in South Korea, the incidence of GBC showed no significant difference between sexes (female-to-male incidence rate ratio: 0.96) [51]. Anomalous union of pancreaticobiliary duct (AUPBD), one of the risk factors of GBC, was frequently developed in Asian countries and in females. In addition, GBC developed more frequently in females with AUPBD than in males with AUPBD (female vs. male: 83% vs. 44%) [21].

The incidence of bile duct cancer (BDC) was male dominant with some variations between countries. South Korea had the highest incidence of BDC, showing a male dominance for intrahepatic BDC (M:F = 1.9:1) and extrahepatic BDC (M:F = 2.5:1) [12].

12.5 Morbidity and Mortality of Major Surgeries for Pancreas and Biliary Diseases

In a retrospective study, mortality rate after major surgery for gastrointestinal diseases was lower in women than in men [39]. In emergent abdominal surgery, women showed less mortality than men for diseases with a mild to moderate severity (men 25% vs. women 10%), while there was no difference in mortality for severe diseases [14]. It has been suggested that estrogen can promote the secretion of pro- or anti-inflammatory cytokines from macrophages, while male sex hormone inhibits such secretion [3, 52].

12.6 Normal Structures of Pancreas and Biliary Tracts

12.6.1 Pancreas

Pancreas volume in normal adults is 71–83 cm³, showing no statistically significant difference between males and females [7, 24]. Another study has revealed that total volume and head portion of the pancreas are smaller in females than in males, while body and tail volumes of the pancreas are not different between sexes [24]. However, the size of the pancreas has more variations among individuals than that between sexes [45], suggesting that the sex difference in pancreas volume is minimal.

12.6.2 Biliary System

The dilation of the common bile duct (CBD) helps distinguish obstructive from nonobstructive causes of jaundice. Availability of normal measurements of the CBD is therefore important. Diameter of CBD measured by abdominal ultrasound is less than 6 mm for 95% of subjects (range, 2.0–7.9 mm, proximal of 4.0 mm and distal of 4.2 mm). It increases with old age, showing no difference between sexes [29].

12.7 Conclusions

In this chapter, sex/gender differences in pancreas and biliary diseases such as gallstones, cholecystitis, pancreatitis, and malignancies are summarized with literature reviews (Table 12.1 and Fig. 12.4). The main causes of these differences are effects of estrogen and environmental factors such as alcohol drinking, smoking, and obesity. Epidemiologic data have revealed some

Pancreas and biliary diseases Female Male Gallstone Western: two to three times prevalent Western: less frequent Asian: equal prevalence Asian: equal prevalence Increased incidence by estrogen replacement Decreased incidence by coffee consumption Unchanged incidence by coffee consumption At older age and more frequent Cholecystectomy At younger age and more frequent biliary pain comorbidity and severe course Sphincter of Oddi Frequent at middle aged dysfunction Cause of post-ERCP pancreatitis Anomalous union of More frequent and more related with gallbladder cancer pancreaticobiliary duct Pancreas cystic neoplasm More frequent serous and mucinous cystic More frequent intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm neoplasm and solid pseudopapillary neoplasm Cause: alcohol 22%, gallstone Acute pancreatitis Cause: alcohol 9%, gallstone 66% 48% More severe and poorer prognosis Chronic pancreatitis Less frequent alcoholic cause More frequent alcoholic cause Shorter duration and smaller cumulative amounts of alcohol Pancreatobiliary surgery Better prognosis after surgery Pancreatic cancer Higher incidence _ Bile duct cancer _ Higher incidence

 Table 12.1
 Summaries of sex/gender difference in pancreas and biliary diseases

ERCP endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography



Fig. 12.4 Male-to-female prevalence rate ratio in pancreas and biliary diseases in South Korea

sex/gender differences in pancreas and biliary disease between Eastern and Western countries because of different genetic backgrounds as well as differences in food preferences and obesity rates. Gender medicine in this field is not enough to use for clinical decision-making. It has been studied in limited fields such as epidemiology, risk factors, and pathology. In addition, most studies were small retrospective studies or animal experiments. In the near future, studies about gender medicine are needed for personalized medicine in this field.

References

 Andrén-Sandberg A. Androgen influence on exocrine pancreatic cancer. Int J Pancreatol. 1989;4:363–9.

- Andrén-Sandberg A, Hoem D, Bäckman PL. Other risk factors for pancreatic cancer: hormonal aspects. Ann Oncol. 1999;10(Suppl 4):131–5.
- Angele MK, Knöferl MW, Schwacha MG, Ayala A, Cioffi WG, Bland KI, et al. Sex steroids regulate pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine release by macrophages after trauma-hemorrhage. Am J Phys. 1999;277:C35–42.
- Bayerdorffer E, Mannes GA, Richter WO, Ochsenkuhn T, Wiebecke B, Kopcke W, et al. Increased serum deoxycholic acid levels in men with colorectal adenomas. Gastroenterology. 1993;104:145–51.
- Chen JJ, Wang XM, Liu XQ, Li W, Dong M, Suo ZW, et al. Risk factors for post-ERCP pancreatitis: a systematic review of clinical trials with a large sample size in the past 10 years. Eur J Med Res. 2014;19:26.
- Chooi YC, Ding C, Magkos F. The epidemiology of obesity. Metabolism. 2019;92:6–10.
- DeSouza SV, Singh RG, Yoon HD, Murphy R, Plank LD, Petrov MS. Pancreas volume in health and disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;12:757–66.

- Drake M, Dodwad SJ, Davis J, Kao LS, Cao Y, Ko TC. Sex-related differences of acute and chronic pancreatitis in adults. J Clin Med. 2021;10:300.
- Erol A, Karpyak VM. Sex and gender-related differences in alcohol use and its consequences: contemporary knowledge and future research considerations. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2015;156:1–13.
- Everson GT, McKinley C, Kern F Jr. Mechanisms of gallstone formation in women. Effects of exogenous estrogen (Premarin) and dietary cholesterol on hepatic lipid metabolism. J Clin Invest. 1991;87:237–46.
- Farrell JJ. Prevalence, diagnosis and management of pancreatic cystic neoplasms: current status and future directions. Gut Liver. 2015;9:571–89.
- Florio AA, Ferlay J, Znaor A, Ruggieri D, Alvarez CS, Laversanne M, et al. Global trends in intrahepatic and extrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma incidence from 1993 to 2012. Cancer. 2020;126:2666–78.
- Gu Q, Zhou G, Xu T. Risk factors for gallstone disease in Shanghai: An observational study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2020;99:e18754.
- Harten J, McCreath BJ, McMillan DC, McArdle CS, Kinsella J. The effect of gender on postoperative mortality after emergency abdominal surgery. Gend Med. 2005;2:35–40.
- 15. Hirabayashi K, Kurokawa S, Maruno A, Yamada M, Kawaguchi Y, Nakagohri T, et al. Sex differences in immunohistochemical expression and capillary density in pancreatic solid pseudopapillary neoplasm. Ann Diagn Pathol. 2015;19:45–9.
- 16. Hirota M, Shimosegawa T, Masamune A, Kikuta K, Kume K, Hamada S, et al. The seventh nationwide epidemiological survey for chronic pancreatitis in Japan: clinical significance of smoking habit in Japanese patients. Pancreatology. 2014;14:490–6.
- Hu S, Huang W, Lin X, Wang Y, Chen KM, Chai W. Solid pseudopapillary tumour of the pancreas: distinct patterns of computed tomography manifestation for male versus female patients. Radiol Med. 2014;119:83–9.
- Huang J, Chang CH, Wang JL, Kuo HK, Lin JW, Shau WY, et al. Nationwide epidemiological study of severe gallstone disease in Taiwan. BMC Gastroenterol. 2009;9:63.
- Ingkakul T, Warshaw AL, Fernández-Del CC. Epidemiology of intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasms of the pancreas: sex differences between 3 geographic regions. Pancreas. 2011;40:779–80.
- 20. Kaechele V, Wabitsch M, Thiere D, Kessler AL, Haenle MM, Mayer H, et al. Prevalence of gallbladder stone disease in obese children and adolescents: influence of the degree of obesity, sex, and pubertal development. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2006;42:66–70.
- Kamisawa T, Munakata W, Tu Y, Egawa N, Tsuruta K, Okamoto A. Sex-based differences in gallbladder cancer associated with pancreaticobiliary maljunction. Hepatogastroenterology. 2008;55:21–3.
- 22. Kim JW, Oh HC, Do JH, Choi YS, Lee SE. Has the prevalence of cholesterol gallstones increased in

Korea? A preliminary single-center experience. J Dig Dis. 2013;14:559–63.

- 23. Kim SB, Kim KH, Kim TN, Heo J, Jung MK, Cho CM, et al. Sex differences in prevalence and risk factors of asymptomatic cholelithiasis in Korean health screening examinee: a retrospective analysis of a multicenter study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96:e6477.
- Kipp JP, Olesen SS, Mark EB, Frederiksen LC, Drewes AM, Frøkjær JB. Normal pancreatic volume in adults is influenced by visceral fat, vertebral body width and age. Abdom Radiol (NY). 2019;44:958–66.
- 25. Korea Central Cancer Registry, National Cancer Center. Annual report of cancer statistics in Korea in 2018, Ministry of Health and Welfare. 2020. https:// ncc.re.kr/cancerStatsView.ncc?bbsnum=558&search Key=total&searchValue=&pageNum=1. Accessed 10 May 2021.
- 26. Korea Health Statistics 2019: Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Rates of high risk alcohol drinking. https://gsis.kwdi.re.kr/statHtml/statHtml.do?orgId=338&tblId=DT_LCD_B002. Accessed 10 May 2021.
- Kurokawa S, Hirabayashi K, Hadano A, Yamada M, Tajiri T, Nakamura N. Do solid pseudopapillary neoplasms shrink after menopause?: Review of the literature. Pancreas. 2015;44:998–9.
- Kwon OS, Kim YK, Her KH, Kim HJ, Lee SD. Physical activity can reduce the prevalence of gallstone disease among males: an observational study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2020;99:e20763.
- Lal N, Mehra S, Lal V. Ultrasonographic measurement of normal common bile duct diameter and its correlation with age, sex and anthropometry. J Clin Diagn Res. 2014;8:Ac01–4.
- Lankisch PG, Assmus C, Lehnick D, Maisonneuve P, Lowenfels AB. Acute pancreatitis: does gender matter? Dig Dis Sci. 2001;46:2470–4.
- Lee H, Koh DH. Obesity and pancreatobiliary disease. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2020;75:240–5.
- 32. Liu YL, Wu JS, Yang YC, Lu FH, Lee CT, Lin WJ, et al. Gallbladder stones and gallbladder polyps associated with increased risk of colorectal adenoma in men. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;33:800–6.
- 33. Mallon P, White J, McMenamin M, Das N, Hughes D, Gilliland R. Increased cholecystectomy rate in the laparoscopic era: a study of the potential causative factors. Surg Endosc. 2006;20:883–6.
- Masamune A, Kume K, Shimosegawa T. Sex and age differences in alcoholic pancreatitis in Japan: a multicenter nationwide survey. Pancreas. 2013;42:578–83.
- 35. Nikfarjam M, Harnaen E, Tufail F, Muralidharan V, Fink MA, Starkey G, et al. Sex differences and outcomes of management of acute cholecystitis. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech. 2013;23:61–5.
- Nordenvall C, Oskarsson V, Wolk A. Inverse association between coffee consumption and risk of cholecystectomy in women but not in men. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015;13:1096–102.e1.
- Novacek G. Gender and gallstone disease. Wien Med Wochenschr. 2006;156:527–33.

- Pålsson SH, Sandblom G. Influence of gender and socioeconomic background on the decision to perform gallstone surgery: a population-based register study. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2015;50:211–6.
- Peterson CY, Osen HB, Tran Cao HS, Yu PT, Chang DC. The battle of the sexes: women win out in gastrointestinal surgery. J Surg Res. 2011;170:e23–8.
- Rawla P, Sunkara T, Thandra KC, Barsouk A. Epidemiology of gallbladder cancer. Clin Exp Hepatol. 2019;5:93–102.
- Setiawan VW, Pandol SJ, Porcel J, Wilkens LR, Marchand LL, Pike MC, et al. Prospective study of alcohol drinking, smoking, and pancreatitis: the multiethnic cohort. Pancreas. 2016;45:819–25.
- 42. Sharma S, Weissman S, Aburayyan K, Acharya A, Aziz M, Systrom HK, et al. Sex differences in outcomes of acute pancreatitis: findings from a nationwide analysis. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci. 2021;28:280–6.
- Shen HN, Wang WC, Lu CL, Li CY. Effects of gender on severity, management and outcome in acute biliary pancreatitis. PLoS One. 2013;8:e57504.
- Small AJ, Kozarek RA. Sphincter of Oddi dysfunction. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 2015;25:749–63.
- 45. Syed AB, Mahal RS, Schumm LP, Dachman AH. Pancreas size and volume on computed tomography in normal adults. Pancreas. 2012;41:589–95.
- 46. Thomas LA, Veysey MJ, Bathgate T, King A, French G, Smeeton NC, et al. Mechanism for the transitinduced increase in colonic deoxycholic acid formation in cholesterol cholelithiasis. Gastroenterology. 2000;119:806–15.
- 47. Tierney S, Qian Z, Yung B, Lipsett PA, Pitt HA, Sostre S, et al. Gender influences sphincter of Oddi response to cholecystokinin in the prairie dog. Am J Phys. 1995;269(4 Pt 1):G476–80.

- Uchiyama K, Kawai M, Tani M, Ueno M, Hama T, Yamaue H. Gender differences in postoperative pain after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Surg Endosc. 2006;20:448–51.
- Valdivieso V, Covarrubias C, Siegel F, Cruz F. Pregnancy and cholelithiasis: pathogenesis and natural course of gallstones diagnosed in early puerperium. Hepatology. 1993;17:1–4.
- 50. Wang S, Wang Y, Xu J, Chen Y. Is the oral contraceptive or hormone replacement therapy a risk factor for cholelithiasis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96:e6556.
- Wi Y, Woo H, Won Y-J, Jang J-Y, Shin A. Trends in gallbladder cancer incidence and survival in Korea. Cancer Res Treat. 2018;50:1444–51.
- Wichmann MW, Ayala A, Chaudry IH. Male sex steroids are responsible for depressing macrophage immune function after trauma-hemorrhage. Am J Phys. 1997;273:C1335–40.
- Yadav D, Timmons L, Benson JT, Dierkhising RA, Chari ST. Incidence, prevalence, and survival of chronic pancreatitis: a population-based study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2011;106:2192–9.
- 54. Yol S, Kartal A, Vatansev C, Aksoy F, Toy H. Sex as a factor in conversion from laparoscopic cholecystectomy to open surgery. JSLS. 2006;10:359–63.
- 55. Zhang YP, Li WQ, Sun YL, Zhu RT, Wang WJ. Systematic review with meta-analysis: coffee consumption and the risk of gallstone disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2015;42:637–48.
- 56. Zhang YP, Zhao YL, Sun YL, Zhu RT, Wang WJ, Li J. Physical activity and the risk of gallstone disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2017;51:857–68.

Part VII

Liver



13

Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease

Jihyun An

13.1 Introduction

Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is a global public health concern, and the leading cause of chronic liver disease, especially in developed countries [1]. NAFLD is characterized by lipid accumulation in the liver not attributed to other causes [2]. NAFLD encompasses simple steatosis, nonalcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), and cirrhosis. NAFLD is prevalent among subjects with obesity, dyslipidemia, diabetes mellitus, and metabolic syndrome. Although NAFLD occurs in both genders, unique gender-related differences exist, especially in women and their hormonal status. Understanding the effects of gender differences on epidemiology, natural course, risk factors, pathogenesis, and treatment in NAFLD is essential for establishing medical and socioeconomic policies for relevant disease management. Such knowledge may also enable healthcare providers to tailor their strategies for the evaluation and management of women with NAFLD. This article specifically focuses on the influence of gender in NAFLD based on existing clinical and epidemiological data and recently published international guidelines.

13.2 Definition of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease

NAFLD is characterized by excessive hepatic fat accumulation without other recognized causes of increased fat content (e.g., alcohol, virus, drugs, and autoimmunity). According to the Clinical Practice Guidelines of the European Association for the Study of the Liver, the diagnosis of NAFLD requires the exclusion of daily alcohol consumption >30 g for men and >20 g for women [3]. Alcohol consumption above these limits indicates alcoholic liver disease.

NAFLD includes a broad spectrum of conditions, including nonalcoholic fatty liver (NAFL), NASH, and NASH cirrhosis [4] (Fig. 13.1). NAFL was defined as the presence of steatosis in >5% of hepatocytes based on histological examination without evidence of hepatocellular injury in the form of hepatocyte ballooning [5]. NASH is distinguished from NAFL by the presence of hepatocellular injury characterized by lobular inflammation and hepatocellular ballooning. This inflammation is associated with the initiation and progression of fibrosis. NASH cirrhosis is characterized by cirrhosis associated with NAFL or NASH or cirrhosis occurring in patients with NAFL or NASH as proven by past histology.

Based on a recent expert consensus, NAFLD does not reflect current knowledge of pathogenesis and was therefore designated as metabolic (dysfunction)-associated fatty liver disease

J. An (🖂)

Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Hanyang University College of Medicine, Guri, Gyeonggi, Republic of Korea e-mail: starlit1@naver.com

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_13



Fig. 13.1 Histological stages of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. (a) simple steatosis, (b) steatohepatitis, (c) liver cirrhosis (adapted from Suzuki and Abdelmalek [4])

(MAFLD) [6]. The diagnosis of MAFLD is based on evidence of fat accumulation in the liver in the presence of one of the following three criteria: overweight/obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), and metabolic dysfunction.

13.3 Epidemiology of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease

NAFLD incidence has rarely been measured. It was 20–86/1000 person-years based on ultrasound (US) with or without elevated liver enzymes [7]. According to a meta-analysis of studies conducted in Asia, the pooled annual NAFLD incidence rate was 50.9 (95% CI, 44.8–57.4) cases per 1000 person-years [8].

In parallel with the obesity and metabolic syndrome epidemic, there has been a rise in NAFL and more advanced diseases. Currently, it is estimated that the prevalence of NAFLD worldwide is approximately 25% [1]. A recent meta-analysis of studies involving 8,515,431 individuals globally reported that NAFLD was highly prevalent in all continents, and the highest prevalence was reported from South America (31%) and the Middle East (32%), whereas the lowest prevalence was reported from Africa (14%) [9] (Fig. 13.2). More than 80 million individuals are affected in the United States. Similar rates are observed in Asia, with a pooled prevalence rate of 27.4% [8].

The prevalence of NAFLD varies with age, sex, ethnicity, and diagnostic method [7]. In gen-

eral adult populations, the overall NAFLD prevalence is higher in men than in women. In a study of urban population including 2287 subjects from a multiethnic sample (32.1% white, 48.3% black, and 17.5% Hispanic), hepatic steatosis was more significant in men than in women among whites, but not in blacks or Hispanics [10]. When considering the reproductive status, the prevalence and incidence are higher in men than in premenopausal women, while they tend to become more common in women after menopause [11]. In a recent meta-analysis of 17 population-based studies, the prevalence of NAFLD was 19% higher among men than in women [12] (Fig. 13.3). However, among individuals with established NAFLD, women were as likely as men to manifest NASH and more likely to exhibit advanced fibrosis than men. Among patients with NAFLD, women had a 37% higher prevalence of advanced fibrosis than men. Subgroup analysis by age showed differences in relative risk (RR), with an estimated prevalence of 17% higher among women compared with men in studies that included older patients (average study population age >50 years; RR 1.17; 95% CI, 1.01–1.36) but was not significantly higher among women in studies involving younger patients (average age <50 years; RR 0.90; 95% CI, 0.76–1.07). Postmenopausal women on hormone replacement therapy (HRT) had a lower prevalence of NAFLD compared with postmenopausal women not exposed to HRT. In a randomized clinical trial, combined HRT significantly decreased aminotransferase levels in postmenopausal women



Fig. 13.2 Distribution of global prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (adapted from Rinella and Charlton [9])

Prevalence of nonalconolic fatty liver disease					Frevalence of auvaliced liver librosis								
Female		Male					Female		Male				
Author (s)	NAF	FLD	NAF	LD			Author (s)	Advanced	Fibrosis	Advand	ed Fibros	sis	
and Year	Present	Absent	Present	Absen	t	Relative Risk [95% CI]	and Year	Present	Absent	Preser	t Absent	Rela	tive Risk [95% CI]
Chen, 2006	148	1230	224	918	÷	0.55 [0.45, 0.66]	Jun, 2017	20	76	40	192	÷	2.21 [0.75, 1.96]
Zelber-Sagi, 2007	39	126	69	115		0.63 [0.45, 0.88]	Petta, 2017	41	43	30	111	-	2.29 [1.56, 3.37]
Riquelme, 2009	126	428	69	209	- min	0.92 [0.71, 1.18]	Atay, 2017	10	1	7	5	- He-	1.56 [0.93, 2.60]
Das, 2010	76	817	88	930	- ÷	0.98 [0.73, 1.32]	Bambha, 2014	137	350	62	233	-	1.34 [1.03, 1.74]
Zhang, 2011	403	1665	223	1292	- i -	1.32 [1.14, 1.54]	McPherson, 2014	34	77	21	153		2.54 [1.56, 4.14]
Huang, 2012	1778	4176	812	1866	÷	0.98 [0.92, 1.06]	Nakahara, 2014	185	471	118	591	-	1.69 [1.38, 2.08]
Amirkalali, 2014	996	1179	1203	1645	- E	1.08 [1.02, 1.15]	Subramanian, 2013	3 33	20	41	47	je-	1.34 [0.98, 1.82]
Bai, 2014	179	1036	134	837	- +	1.07 [0.87, 1.31]	Xun, 2012	9	22	15	106		2.34 [1.13, 4.84]
Chan, 2015	102	361	118	212	-	0.62 [0.49, 0.77]	Cichoz-Lach, 2012	11	42	16	57		0.95 [0.48, 1.87]
Ostovaneh, 2015	1454	2040	1623	2606	- E	1.08 [1.03, 1.15]	Francanzani, 2011	32	39	98	262	-	1.66 [1.22, 2.25]
Pan, 2015	156	134	74	78	- i=	1.10 [0.91, 1.34]	Hossain, 2009	50	283	25	74	-	0.59 [0.39, 0.91]
Fattahi, 2016	579	1537	285	579		0.83 [0.74, 0.93]	Harrison, 2008	123	302	59	343	1.00	1.97 [1.49, 2.61]
Li, 2016	101	436	247	222	 ↓ 	0.36 [0.29, 0.43]	Wong, 2008	6	60	12	84 -		0.73 [0.29, 1.84]
Majumdar, 2016	43	100	11	22	-	- 0.90 [0.52, 1.55]	Miyaaki, 2008	27	81	5	69		3.70 [1.49, 9.17]
Jinjuvadia, 2017	1010	5461	1103	4100	t nije	0.74 [0.68, 0.80]	Malik, 2007	5	28	13	24 —	•	0.43 [0.17, 1.08]
Zhai, 2017	610	876	214	311	÷.	1.01 [0.89, 1.14]	Arun, 2006	22	205	6	47 -		0.86 [0.37, 2.01]
Shen, 2016	696	5021	1362	3319	• i :	0.42 [0.39, 0.45]	Ong, 2005	11	146	6	34 ·	• ÷	0.47 [0.18, 1.19]
					- i		Suzuki, 2005	13	36	7	23		1.14 [0.51, 2.53]
							Hashimoto, 2005	50	67	39	91	⊨∎⊷	1.42 [1.02, 1.99]
							Park, 2004	3	6	4	30	+	→ 2.83 [0.77, 10.44]
							de Ledinghen, 2004	4 7	15	13	32	+-	1.10 [0.51, 2.37]
RE Model					•	0.81 [0.68, 0.97]	RE Model					•	1.37 [1.12, 1.68]
All Studies (Q=601.41, df=16, p=.00; l ² =97.5%)				All Studies (Q=61.04, df=20, p=.00; l ² =74.0%)									
										+			
0.25 1 2									0.1	1 1	1		
Risk Ratio (log scale)					Risk Ratio (log scale)								

Prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease

Prevalence of advanced liver fibrosis

Fig. 13.3 Prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and advanced liver fibrosis according to gender differences (adapted from Balakrishnan et al. [12])

with T2D and presumed NAFLD compared with placebo controls [13]. Collectively, the current evidence suggests that women carry a lower risk of NAFLD than men, although the risk appears to rise after menopause. Once NAFLD is established, a woman's risk of progressive disease (NASH and advanced fibrosis) is higher than that of men, especially after age 50 years.

13.4 Natural Course and Cause of Death in Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease

NAFLD is strongly associated with insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease, indicating that NAFLD is a multisystem disease. According to the US National Vital Statistics System, the mortality rate associated with NAFLD increased in the past decade [14]. In a meta-analysis, a higher mortality rate was observed in patients with NAFLD than in the general population [15]. The major causes of death were cardiovascular disease (CVD), malignancy, and liver disease, and liver disease-related deaths increased in the presence of steatohepatitis. In a cohort study of NASH patients, an average of 21–26% of patients progressed to cirrhosis in 8 years [16]. The number of patients with endstage liver disease caused by NAFLD on the liver transplantation waitlist tripled from the last decade, making NAFLD the second most common indication for liver transplantation [17]. Also, NAFLD is an attributable cause of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), and the number of cases of NAFLD-related HCC has rapidly increased in the United States by 9% per year [18]. According to a multi-national study of 458 patients with biopsy-confirmed NAFLD along with bridging fibrosis or compensated cirrhosis, male sex was positively associated with worse survival (adjusted hazard ratio [aHR] 1.87) and greater incidence of HCC (aHR 7.28). Further, the development of HCC without fibrosis was more frequently observed in men than in women.

Several studies have demonstrated that CVD is the leading cause of death in NAFLD, surpassing liver-related death [19]. General population studies have shown differences in the pathophysiology of CVD between men and women, supporting the concept of female hormonal protection in CVD [20]. In the cross-sectional study of clinical and subclinical CVD outcomes in the Framingham Heart Study cohorts, the association between hepatic steatosis and abdominal artery calcium, the independent risk for future CVD was stronger in men than in women [21]. However, a recent US cohort study demonstrated that women with NAFLD lose their cardiovascular protection conferred by the female sex [22] (Fig. 13.4). Among those with NAFLD, cardiovascular disease and mortality were strikingly higher in women than in men. Further studies with more significant numbers of prospective clinical CVD outcomes are necessary to determine whether gender-specific hepatic steatosis is associated with incident CV outcomes and the development of clinical and subclinical CV outcomes.

Malignancy is the second most frequent cause of death after cardiovascular disease among patients with NAFLD. The large cohort study from Korea demonstrated that subjects with NAFLD had higher incidence rates of all cancers than those without NAFLD [23]. Especially, NAFLD was associated with the development of colorectal cancer (HR 2.01; 95% CI, 1.10–3.68) in males and breast cancer (HR 1.92; 95% CI, 1.15–3.20) in females [23] (Fig. 13.5).

13.5 Metabolic Disorders Related to Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease

NAFLD is closely related to obesity, diabetes, dyslipidemia, and metabolic syndrome. Obesity is a well-known risk factor for NAFLD. Bone body index and waist circumference, a measure of visceral adiposity, are positively correlated with the presence of NAFLD [24]. Metabolic syndrome, which consists of abdominal obesity, impaired fasting blood sugar, hypertriglyceridemia, low high-density cholesterolemia, and hypertension, is a major risk factor for NAFLD [2]. NAFLD prevalence was also high in patients with diabetes (60– 75%) and dyslipidemia (50%). The prevalence of



Fig. 13.4 Standardized incidence ratio (observed/expected rate of events) of 10-year risk of myocardial infarction or stroke in men and women with NAFLD compared with the general population (adapted from Allen et al. [22])



Fig. 13.5 Incidence of malignancy in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease according to gender difference (adapted from Kim et al. [23])



NAFLD increases by 1.6-fold in the presence of hypothyroidism [25]. In addition, obstructive sleep apnea, hypopituitarism, hypogonadism, pancreatoduodenal resection, and psoriasis increase the prevalence and severity of NAFLD [2].

Women exhibit unique risk profiles of NAFLD, including hormonal milieu and reproductive factors [26] (Fig. 13.6). Menopausal status appears to promote NAFLD, independent of chronologic aging. The menopausal transition is associated with decreased energy expenditure and increased visceral adiposity, being a key risk factor for insulin resistance and NAFLD. In a large case-control study from Europe, oophorectomy before age 50 years was associated with a 50% increased risk of NAFLD [27]. Recent data in premenopausal women with histologically confirmed NAFLD also show an increased risk of NASH fibrosis in women with polycystic ovary syndrome, independent of age and obesity [28]. Recent cohort studies reported that gestational diabetes is associated with the risk of NAFLD prevalence in middle-aged women [29]. Otherwise, a longer duration of breastfeeding was protective against NAFLD in women [30].

13.6 Pathogenesis of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease

13.6.1 Adipose Tissue and Skeletal Muscle

Regional fat distribution is associated with metabolic disorders and NAFLD, with a lower risk resulting from gynoid fat distribution in the gluteofemoral subcutaneous area and a higher risk with android visceral adiposity [31]. In contrast to gluteofemoral subcutaneous fat in women, visceral adiposity occurs in men, indicating the higher prevalence of NAFLD in men than in premenopausal women [11] (Fig. 13.7). Estradiol lowers lipolysis and improves adipose tissue insulin sensitivity, reducing excessive delivery of fatty acids to the liver. Serum adiponectin levels are higher in women than in men regardless of menopausal status [32]. These hormones are protected from the adverse consequences of excessive fat storage in women, especially during premenopausal years [33].

Skeletal muscle is one of the major organs responsible for peripheral glucose disposal and is generally more insulin-sensitive in women than in men [34]. Thus, sarcopenia in women is often associated with insulin resistance, proinflammatory cytokines, and the lack of anabolic hormones [35]. Skeletal muscle expression of estrogen receptor- α is markedly reduced in women with metabolic syndrome, indicating the relationship between sarcopenia and the development of NAFLD in women.

13.6.2 Estrogen

In an NAFLD registry study based on histological examination, premenopausal women exhibited more severe lobular inflammation, hepatocyte ballooning, and Mallory-Denk bodies than postmenopausal women or men [36]. Estrogen increases the number of T cells and regulatory T cells and modulates hepatic injury and



Fig. 13.7 Differences in the pathophysiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease according to gender (adapted from Lonardo et al. [11])

inflammation. Although premenopausal women exhibit severe hepatic damage, the hepatic fibrosis is lower than in men and postmenopausal women, suggesting multiphasic effects of sex hormones on NAFLD pathogenesis [36].

Estrogens bind to estrogen receptors within target cells and translocate into the nucleus where they regulate gene expression [37] (Fig. 13.8). In hepatocytes, estrogen alleviates lipotoxic stress by suppressing de novo lipogenesis and promoting oxidation. Estrogen decreases the expression of lipogenesis-related genes, such as FAS, ACC, SCD, and SREBP, along with over-expression of oxidation-related genes. In Kupffer cells, estrogen inhibits the production of IL-6 and the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, eventually reducing inflammation. In hepatic stellate cells, estrogens upregulate apoptosis-related genes and downregulate profibrotic genes, such as SMA, collagen, and matrix metallopeptidases, thereby attenuating liver fibrosis.

13.7 Treatment of Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease

Lifestyle interventions, including dietary modification and exercise, remain the cornerstone of NAFLD treatment. Pharmacological treatments aimed primarily at improving liver disease should generally be limited to those with biopsy-proven NASH and fibrosis. The role of sex differences in treatment response in NAFLD remains to be investigated. Based on the differences in pathogenesis of NAFLD/NASH between men and women, a gender-specific approach to the development and application of drugs should be considered. Additionally, sex- and age-based therapeutic strategy is needed due to the increased



Fig. 13.8 A schematic diagram presenting the protective mechanisms of estrogen in the liver (adapted from Lee et al. [37])

incidence and severity of NAFLD among postmenopausal women.

13.7.1 Weight Reduction

Weight loss significantly reduces liver fat content in obese patients with NAFLD. Weight loss greater than 7% decreased the intrahepatic fat content and inflammation and resulted in remarkable histological improvement. In obese patients with NAFLD, the rate of weight loss affects steatohepatitis [38]. However, in a recent study evaluating changes in NASH in response to weight loss following a 12-month lifestyle intervention, female sex was associated with a lower chance of NASH improvement in individuals losing 7–10% of body weight [39]. However, patients with greater than 10% of body weight loss, independent of sex, showed improved NASH, suggesting a potential need for more significant weight loss targets in women.

The approach to weight reduction among older women requires special attention. Significant weight reduction accelerates the loss of lean tissues, skeletal muscle, and bone mass among older subjects, which may trigger osteoporosis and bone fracture [40]. Also, the required weight loss necessary to achieve regression of NAFLD among postmenopausal women has yet to be defined. Integrating dietary modification with routine exercise is important in order to avoid adverse loss of lean mass. Both aerobic and resistance training prevent bone loss during weight loss [4].

13.7.2 Dietary Therapy

Dietary recommendations should consider caloric restriction and exclusion of NAFLDpromoting ingredients including processed food and beverages high in fructose. A daily intake of 1500–1800 kcal in men and 1200–1500 kcal in women can reduce total energy intake by more than 500 kcal/day [41]. However, daily caloric intake should be optimally adjusted according to age, sex, weight, and physical activity.

Macronutrient (carbohydrates, fats, and proteins) composition is associated with the development of obesity and NAFLD. Carbohydrate intake was related to the severity of intrahepatic inflammation, while low-carbohydrate diets effectively reduce liver fat content [42]. The macronutrient composition should be adjusted according to the Mediterranean diet with high content of monounsaturated fatty acids. Although women consume more fruits and vegetables than men, they also have a higher intake of sugars, underscoring the need for gender-specific dietary modification.

13.7.3 Drug Treatment

13.7.3.1 Vitamin E (Alpha-Tocopherol)

Vitamin E decreases oxidative stress (which worsens NASH) and thereby improves liver inflammation. In the PIVENS phase 3 trial, the administration of 96-week high-dose vitamin E (800 IU/day) produced significant improvement in liver histology compared with placebo [43]. However, the long-term use of vitamin E is associated with safety concerns because of the increased risk of prostate cancer [44]. Although the additional risk of prostate cancer by vitamin E was not clearly demonstrated in further studies, vitamin E can be used safely in women with NAFLD.

13.7.3.2 Insulin Sensitizers

Thiazolidinediones (rosiglitazone, pioglitazone), PPAR- γ agonists, reduce insulin resistance in the liver, muscle, and adipose tissue and decrease hepatic fat and hepatocellular injury by alleviating hepatic mitochondrial oxidative dysfunction. In several randomized controlled studies reported recently, histologic improvement in hepatocellular damage was observed in thiazolidinedionetreated patients. Unfortunately, no improvement in liver fibrosis was observed [43, 45]. Bone loss in women treated with thiazolidinediones is a possible concern [46].

Metformin is considered as first-line treatment for diabetes mellitus in patients with NAFLD [47]. Metformin reduces insulin resistance in the liver and muscles. Also, metformin inhibits hepatic fat accumulation and glucose excretion. Sex differences in the treatment outcomes of NAFLD based on insulin sensitizer have yet to be reported.

13.7.3.3 Lipid-Lowering Agents

Cardiovascular disease is the most common cause of death in patients diagnosed with NAFLD, suggesting the need for modification of cardiovascular risk factors. Lipid-lowering agents such as statins can be considered in NAFLD patients with dyslipidemia. In a study using the National Health Information Database of Korea, statin treatment decreased the risk of NAFLD as well as the development of related fibrosis [48].

13.7.3.4 Hormone Replacement Therapy (HRT)

Drugs targeting sex hormones represent potentially unique treatment targets in women diagnosed with NAFLD. A randomized controlled trial of HRT in women with diabetes and concomitant NAFLD improved the elevated liver enzymes among HRT users, supporting the potential protective role of exogenous estrogen supplementation in hepatic inflammation [13]. However, the safety and long-term effect of HRT in postmenopausal women remain largely unexplored.

13.8 Conclusions

The epidemic of NAFLD continues to increase in parallel with the ongoing rise in obesity. The impact of NAFLD will be reflected in higher rates of end-stage liver disease, HCC, the need for liver transplantation, and liver-related death. Although the prevalence of NAFLD in women is lower than in men, it tends to increase after menopause. However, once NAFLD is established, a woman's risk of advanced fibrosis is higher than in men. Sex hormones, distribution of adipose tissue, and skeletal muscle may play a role in gender-specific development and progression of NAFLD.

In previous NAFLD trials, sex differences in treatment response were rarely explored. Evaluation of differences in sex, gender, and hormonal status will lead to a better understanding of NAFLD risk, therapeutic targets, and treatment response.

References

- Younossi ZM, Koenig AB, Abdelatif D, Fazel Y, Henry L, Wymer M. Global epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease-meta-analytic assessment of prevalence, incidence, and outcomes. Hepatology. 2016;64:73–84.
- Kang SH, Lee HW, Yoo JJ, Cho Y, Kim SU, Lee TH, et al. KASL clinical practice guidelines: management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Clin Mol Hepatol. 2021;27:363–401.
- European Association for the Study of the L, European Association for the Study of D, European Association for the Study of O. EASL-EASD-EASO Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Hepatol. 2016;64:1388–402.
- Suzuki A, Abdelmalek MF. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in women. Womens Health (Lond). 2009;5:191–203.
- Kleiner DE, Brunt EM, Van Natta M, Behling C, Contos MJ, Cummings OW, et al. Design and validation of a histological scoring system for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology. 2005;41:1313–21.
- Eslam M, Sanyal AJ, George J. International Consensus Panel. MAFLD: a consensus-driven proposed nomenclature for metabolic associated fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology. 2020;158(1999–2014):e1.
- Marchesini G, Mazzotti A. NAFLD incidence and remission: only a matter of weight gain and weight loss? J Hepatol. 2015;62:15–7.
- Li J, Zou B, Yeo YH, Feng Y, Xie X, Lee DH, et al. Prevalence, incidence, and outcome of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in Asia, 1999-2019: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;4:389–98.
- Rinella M, Charlton M. The globalization of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: prevalence and impact on world health. Hepatology. 2016;64:19–22.
- Browning JD, Szczepaniak LS, Dobbins R, Nuremberg P, Horton JD, Cohen JC, et al. Prevalence of hepatic steatosis in an urban population in the United States: impact of ethnicity. Hepatology. 2004;40:1387–95.

- Lonardo A, Nascimbeni F, Ballestri S, Fairweather D, Win S, Than TA, et al. Sex differences in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: State of the art and identification of research gaps. Hepatology. 2019;70:1457–69.
- Balakrishnan M, Patel P, Dunn-Valadez S, Dao C, Khan V, Ali H, et al. Women have a lower risk of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease but a higher risk of progression vs men: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2021;19(61–71):e15.
- McKenzie J, Fisher BM, Jaap AJ, Stanley A, Paterson K, Sattar N. Effects of HRT on liver enzyme levels in women with type 2 diabetes: a randomized placebocontrolled trial. Clin Endocrinol. 2006;65:40–4.
- Paik JM, Henry L, De Avila L, Younossi E, Racila A, Younossi ZM. Mortality related to nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is increasing in the United States. Hepatol Commun. 2019;3:1459–71.
- Musso G, Gambino R, Cassader M, Pagano G. Metaanalysis: natural history of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and diagnostic accuracy of noninvasive tests for liver disease severity. Ann Med. 2011;43:617–49.
- Ahmed A, Wong RJ, Harrison SA. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease review: diagnosis, treatment, and outcomes. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015;13:2062–70.
- 17. Wong KL, Lai YM, Li KW, Lee KF, Ng TB, Cheung HP, et al. Erratum: a novel, stable, estradiolstimulating, osteogenic Yam protein with potential for the treatment of Menopausal Syndrome. Sci Rep. 2015;5:17129.
- Younossi ZM, Otgonsuren M, Henry L, Venkatesan C, Mishra A, Erario M, et al. Association of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in the United States from 2004 to 2009. Hepatology. 2015;62:1723–30.
- Angulo P, Kleiner DE, Dam-Larsen S, Adams LA, Bjornsson ES, Charatcharoenwitthaya P, et al. Liver fibrosis, but no other histologic features, is associated with long-term outcomes of patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology. 2015;149:389–97.e10.
- Garcia M, Miller VM, Gulati M, Hayes SN, Manson JE, Wenger NK, et al. Focused cardiovascular care for women: the need and role in clinical practice. Mayo Clin Proc. 2016;91:226–40.
- Mellinger JL, Pencina KM, Massaro JM, Hoffmann U, Seshadri S, Fox CS, et al. Hepatic steatosis and cardiovascular disease outcomes: an analysis of the Framingham Heart Study. J Hepatol. 2015;63:470–6.
- 22. Allen AM, Therneau TM, Mara KC, Larson JJ, Watt KD, Hayes SN, et al. Women with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease lose protection against cardio-vascular disease: a longitudinal cohort study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2019;114:1764–71.
- Kim GA, Lee HC, Choe J, Kim MJ, Lee MJ, Chang HS, et al. Association between non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and cancer incidence rate. J Hepatol. 2018;68:140–6.
- Bedogni G, Miglioli L, Masutti F, Tiribelli C, Marchesini G, Bellentani S. Prevalence of and risk fac-

tors for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: the Dionysos nutrition and liver study. Hepatology. 2005;42:44–52.

- Guo Z, Li M, Han B, Qi X. Association of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease with thyroid function: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Dig Liver Dis. 2018;50:1153–62.
- Yuan L, Kardashian A, Sarkar M. NAFLD in women: unique pathways, biomarkers and therapeutic opportunities. Curr Hepatol Rep. 2019;18:425–32.
- Cerda C, Pérez-Ayuso RM, Riquelme A, Soza A, Villaseca P, Sir-Petermann T, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Hepatol. 2007;47:412–7.
- Sarkar M, Terrault N, Chan W, Cedars MI, Huddleston HG, Duwaerts CC, et al. Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is associated with NASH severity and advanced fibrosis. Liver Int. 2020;40:355–9.
- Ajmera VH, Gunderson EP, VanWagner LB, Lewis CE, Carr JJ, Terrault NA. Gestational diabetes mellitus is strongly associated with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 2016;111:658–64.
- Ajmera VH, Terrault NA, VanWagner LB, Sarkar M, Lewis CE, Carr JJ, et al. Longer lactation duration is associated with decreased prevalence of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in women. J Hepatol. 2019;70:126–32.
- Fried SK, Lee MJ, Karastergiou K. Shaping fat distribution: new insights into the molecular determinants of depot- and sex-dependent adipose biology. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2015;23:1345–52.
- 32. Pedersen SB, Kristensen K, Hermann PA, Katzenellenbogen JA, Richelsen B. Estrogen controls lipolysis by up-regulating alpha2A-adrenergic receptors directly in human adipose tissue through the estrogen receptor alpha. Implications for the female fat distribution. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89:1869–78.
- Henneman P, Janssens AC, Zillikens MC, Frolich M, Frants RR, Oostra BA, et al. Menopause impacts the relation of plasma adiponectin levels with the metabolic syndrome. J Intern Med. 2010;267:402–9.
- 34. Høeg LD, Sjøberg KA, Lundsgaard AM, Jordy AB, Hiscock N, Wojtaszewski JF, et al. Adiponectin concentration is associated with muscle insulin sensitivity, AMPK phosphorylation, and ceramide content in skeletal muscles of men but not women. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2013;114:592–601.
- Bhanji RA, Narayanan P, Allen AM, Malhi H, Watt KD. Sarcopenia in hiding: the risk and consequence of underestimating muscle dysfunction in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology. 2017;66:2055–65.
- 36. Yang JD, Abdelmalek MF, Guy CD, Gill RM, Lavine JE, Yates K, et al. Patient sex, reproductive status, and synthetic hormone use associate with histologic sever-

ity of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;15:127–31.e2.

- Lee C, Kim J, Jung Y. Potential therapeutic application of estrogen in gender disparity of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease/nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Cells. 2019;8:1259.
- Promrat K, Kleiner DE, Niemeier HM, Jackvony E, Kearns M, Wands JR, et al. Randomized controlled trial testing the effects of weight loss on nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Hepatology. 2010;51:121–9.
- Vilar-Gomez E, Martinez-Perez Y, Calzadilla-Bertot L, Torres-Gonzalez A, Gra-Oramas B, Gonzalez-Fabian L, et al. Weight loss through lifestyle modification significantly reduces features of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Gastroenterology. 2015;149:367–78. e5; quiz e14–5
- McTigue KM, Hess R, Ziouras J. Obesity in older adults: a systematic review of the evidence for diagnosis and treatment. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2006;14:1485–97.
- 41. Seo MH, Lee WY, Kim SS, Kang JH, Kang JH, Kim KK, et al. 2018 Korean Society for the Study of Obesity guideline for the management of obesity in Korea. J Obes Metab Syndr. 2019;28:40–5.
- 42. Browning JD, Baker JA, Rogers T, Davis J, Satapati S, Burgess SC. Short-term weight loss and hepatic triglyceride reduction: evidence of a metabolic advantage with dietary carbohydrate restriction. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;93:1048–52.
- Sanyal AJ, Chalasani N, Kowdley KV, McCullough A, Diehl AM, Bass NM, et al. Pioglitazone, vitamin E, or placebo for nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:1675–85.
- 44. Klein EA, Thompson IM Jr, Tangen CM, Crowley JJ, Lucia MS, Goodman PJ, et al. Vitamin E and the risk of prostate cancer: the Selenium and Vitamin E Cancer Prevention Trial (SELECT). JAMA. 2011;306:1549–56.
- 45. Aithal GP, Thomas JA, Kaye PV, Lawson A, Ryder SD, Spendlove I, et al. Randomized, placebocontrolled trial of pioglitazone in nondiabetic subjects with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Gastroenterology. 2008;135:1176–84.
- 46. Yau H, Rivera K, Lomonaco R, Cusi K. The future of thiazolidinedione therapy in the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Curr Diab Rep. 2013;13:329–41.
- Nar A, Gedik O. The effect of metformin on leptin in obese patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Acta Diabetol. 2009;46:113–8.
- Lee JI, Lee HW, Lee KS, Lee HS, Park JY. Effects of statin use on the development and progression of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a nationwide nested casecontrol Study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2021;116:116–24.

Chronic Liver Disease

Won Kim

14.1 Introduction

Sex-specific medicine pursues a goal that both male and female individuals would receive the best tailored treatment based on scientific evidence. Sex differences yield substantial biological variations in chronic liver disease. Biological sex differences, including hormonal status and body fat distribution, as well as sociocultural traits, such as dietary patterns and physical activity, influence the development and progression of chronic liver disease [1]. In this regard, biological sex differences that may affect the clinical course of chronic liver disease merit further investigation.

Sex-specific medicine focuses on the understanding of sex-based differences in the prevalence, prognosis, and treatment of diverse chronic liver diseases. Biological sex differences originate principally from sex chromosomes and sex hormones, while gender differences are mainly influenced by sociocultural factors [2]. Although sex/gender differences have tended to be neglected in the approach of precision medicine, they have been extensively studied in recent

W. Kim (🖂)

years. However, there are only few studies on sex differences in chronic liver disease compared to other research areas, such as diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease, inflammation, and immunology.

Clinical evidence has suggested that men and women may exhibit marked differences in the epidemiology and natural course of chronic liver disease. Chronic liver disease is the tenth leading cause of death for men (1.8% of deaths) but is not in the top ten for women [3, 4] (Fig. 14.1). Indeed, the liver is the representative, sexually dimorphic, non-reproductive organ with more than 1,000 genes differently expressed between men and women [5]. Therefore, liver damage may result in different clinical consequences between men and women. In this chapter, whether biological sex differences may affect the development and progression of chronic liver disease will be reviewed and summarized.

14.2 Autoimmune Liver Disease

The major forms of autoimmune liver disease are autoimmune hepatitis (AIH), primary biliary cholangitis (PBC), and primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC) [6]. They follow a progressive course that if untreated develops into liver failure requiring liver transplantation [7]. In general, autoimmune diseases are much more common in women than in men, including autoimmune liver

Check for updates

Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul Metropolitan Government Boramae Medical Center, Seoul, Korea (Republic of) e-mail: drwon1@snu.ac.kr

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_14



Fig. 14.1 Distribution of the major leading causes of death by sex: USA, 2017 (adapted from Mauvais-Jarvis et al. [4])

diseases. For example, women are ten times more likely to have PBC [8-11] and four times more likely to have AIH [10, 12]. Sex may also have an impact on the clinical course of autoimmune liver diseases and the occurrence of complications, such as hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Altogether, there is clear evidence for sex affecting the epidemiology, clinical manifestation, and course of AIH and PBC, while the influence of sex on PSC incidence is much smaller, and its influence on disease course is also less clear. Clearly, additional data on the effect of sex on the progression, comorbidity, and mortality of autoimmune liver diseases are required. Although the pathophysiology of sex differences in autoimmune liver diseases is unknown, several factors, such as genetic predisposition, sex hormones, and environmental factors alone or-more likely-in combination, are thought to play a complex and interactive role in the sex-specific disparity of autoimmune liver diseases. We will discuss how sex-related factors, such as sex hormones [13-15], sex chromosomes [16-20], microbiome [21–24], and environmental factors [25–29], may affect autoimmune liver diseases [30] (Fig. 14.2) and summarize our understanding of how sex influences the pathogenesis, clinical manifestations, and prognosis of autoimmune liver diseases [31–40] (Table 14.1).

14.2.1 Autoimmune Hepatitis

Autoimmune liver diseases are deemed rare diseases; however, a marked increase in incidence and prevalence is observed over time. The prevalence of AIH ranges from 16 to 18 per 100,000 population in Europe, yet prevalence and clinical presentation vary according to ethnicity [31]. A large Danish population-based study assessed the incidence and prevalence of AIH during a 20-year time period. Notably, a marked increase in AIH incidence over time could be observed [41]. AIH is characterized by progressive hepatic inflammation, circulating autoantibodies, hypergammaglobulinemia, and interface hepatitis on liver histology [42]. AIH is highly prevalent in women, representing the 80% of affected patients, with a bimodal age distribution at presentation [31]. An impaired immune reaction of abnormal T lymphocytes to autologous hepatocytes caused by a failure of immunological tolerance is considered the main immunopathogenesis of AIH [43]. AIH is classified as type 1 or 2, based on the nature of serum autoantibodies [12]. Human leukocyte antigen (HLA) DR4 is more prevalent in women than in men with type 1 AIH and has been associated with other concurrent autoimmune disorders and remission during corticosteroid treatment, while HLA DR3 has been associated with early age onset and treatment failure [44, 45]. Czaja et al. [46] analyzed a cohort of 185 well-defined AIH patients and did not find any significant gender-based differences in terms of response to steroid treatment, whereas HLA haplotype (DR3 or DR4) was the only predictor of treatment failure and risk of progression to liver failure or liver transplant in women, with HLA DR3 being associated with treatment failure in both men and women [33]. In another study involving a



Fig. 14.2 Sex-related pathophysiologic mechanisms in autoimmune liver diseases (adapted from Schwinge and Schramm [30])

European cohort of 238 patients with AIH, males presented at a younger age with a higher relapse rate but had a better long-term outcome than females independent of HLA allotype [32]. The reasons for better survival outcomes in males remain unknown, but they do not appear to reflect differences in either the time to diagnosis, treatment response, treatment regimen, or frequency of relapses between men and women. In a Japanese study evaluating clinical features of male patients with AIH, the frequency of normalization of serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) level within 6 months after beginning of corticosteroid treatment was significantly lower in men (73%) compared to women (93%) [47]. However, it remains uncertain whether sex (especially, female) confers only a susceptibility to the development of AIH or has an influence on drug response. The severity of AIH in women seems to decrease during the second trimester of pregnancy when estrogen is secreted at high levels, and acute exacerbation occurs after delivery [48]. High level of estrogen seems to be associated with an anti-inflammatory milieu [49].

AIH	Male	Year (reference)
Prevalence compared to	25%	2015 [31]
female		
Younger age at onset	1	2008 [32]
Higher relapse rate	1	2008 [32]
Frequency of HLA-DR3	1	1991 [33]
Patient survival	1	2008 [32]
PBC	Male	Year (reference)
Prevalence compared to	10%	2012 [34]
females		
Age at diagnosis	1	2012 [35]
Pruritus, fatigue	Ļ	2013, 2012 [35,
		36]
Concomitant autoimmune	Ļ	2012 [35]
diseases		
Jaundice and serum	1	2013 [36]
transaminases		
Insufficient UDCA	1	2013, 2007 [36,
response		37]
HCC incidence	1	1986 [38]
Patient survival	Ļ	1986 [38]
PSC	Male	Year (reference)
Prevalence compared to	50-	2011 [39]
females	60%	
Prevalence of associated	1	2011, 2017 [39,
IBD		40]
Patient survival	Ļ	2017 [40]

 Table 14.1
 Sex differences and sex-related factors in autoimmune liver diseases

14.2.2 Primary Biliary Cholangitis

PBC is an autoimmune liver disease that predominantly affects women ten times more often than men [8, 11, 50] and rarely affects children [51]. PBC is characterized by chronic destructive cholangitis, with typical seropositivity for antimitochondrial antibodies [11, 52]. The prevalence and incidence of PBC vary considerably worldwide. The incidence of PBC in European populations ranges from 0.33 to 5.8 per 100,000 population per year with a prevalence reaching 40 per 100,000 population [34]. On the contrary, in the Asia-Pacific region, the prevalence and incidence of PBC appear higher than previously expected, with a pattern of disease diagnosis at a slightly older age (approximately aged around 60 years). A recent systematic review identified 18 studies from 7 Asia-Pacific countries or regions (including Japan, China, New Zealand, South Korea, Australia, India, and Singapore) [53]. The overall prevalence of PBC was 118.8 cases per million (95% CI, 50.0–187.6), with variation from high prevalence in Japan and China to low prevalence in South Korea and Australia. PBC occurs between 40 and 60 years of age [54]. Women with PBC present at a younger age with an increased rate of pruritus and appear to have slower progression rates of fibrosis than men with PBC [35, 55, 56], suggesting that sex hormones are linked to pruritus development and fibrosis progression. In addition, female sex hormones may cause more constitutional symptoms including malaise, anorexia, weight loss, and fatigue. In contrast, men more likely experience jaundice and upper gastrointestinal bleeding [57]. On the contrary, men with PBC tend to be less symptomatic at presentation than women with PBC, which may result in delayed diagnosis [35]. Additionally, fatigue was significantly less marked in men with PBC [36]. Concomitant autoimmune diseases, such as scleroderma and Sicca syndrome, were shown to be less prevalent in men [35]. PBC can progress to cirrhosis and subsequent liver failure, ultimately requiring liver transplantation [58]. Men with PBC presented at an older age and seemed to have a more severe clinical course and higher overall mortality compared to women with PBC [36]. Thus, these data indicate that women are more frequently affected by PBC and more symptomatic but have a better outcome, including better treatment response and less liver-related complications, than men. Although satisfactory reasons to explain the rarity of PBC in men are still lacking, X chromosome monosomy and fetal microchimerism may account for a strong female preponderance observed in PBC [18, 59]. Epigenomic effects are additively important, presumably to modulate the sex selectivity and biliary selectivity of disease and disease expression: one example being the role of microRNAs in the pathogenesis of PBC [60, 61]. Epidemiologic evidence has also suggested different environmental risk factors between men and women, including hair dye use, recurrent urinary tract infection, smoking, and estrogen deficiency, all of which may contribute to the increased susceptibility of women to PBC [59, 62, 63]. However, the incidence rate of HCC was higher in men than in women. Male sex and advanced histological stage independently contributed to the development of HCC [38, 64-68]. The UK-PBC Consortium reported the impacts of sex and age in predicting the prognosis of PBC using a cohort of 2353 non-transplanted PBC patients [36]. Alkaline phosphatase (ALP), which is a marker of disease severity, ALT, and gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT) levels were higher in men than in women, and men presented at an older age and with a more severe disease, and male sex was an independent risk factor for non-response to ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) [36, 37]. Moreover, female sex revealed a clear age-related difference in response to UDCA: women presenting younger than the age of 45 were significantly less likely to respond to UDCA than either men or elder women at presentation, with age being an independent predictor of UDCA response. Yagi et al. [69] reported a Japanese-based multicenter, observational, cross-sectional study in which female sex, a younger age at diagnosis (<50 years), and a lower concentration of serum albumin were independently associated with measures of fatigue, whereas a longer follow-up period and lower concentrations of serum albumin were associated with the burden of itch. Thus, baseline characteristics, such as young age, male sex, and advanced disease, and serum markers of liver injury, particularly bilirubin and ALP, are used to stratify the risk of developing complications of end-stage liver disease and assess treatment responsiveness. For patients who do not sufficiently respond to UDCA, or those with UDCA intolerance, conditionally licensed addon therapy is with the farnesoid X receptor agonist, obeticholic acid [70–73]. Off-label therapy is recognized as an alternative, notably with a pan-peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor agonist, bezafibrate [74–76].

14.2.3 Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis

PSC is a chronic cholestatic liver disease characterized by progressive inflammation and fibrosis of the intrahepatic and extrahepatic bile ducts [77], leading to cholestasis, progressive hepatic fibrosis, and eventually decompensated cirrhosis [78, 79]. In contrast to PBC and AIH, PSC is an autoimmune disease with atypical features including an almost equal male-to-female ratio, the absence of disease-specific autoantibodies, and poor response to immunosuppression [80, 81]. The incidence of PSC was 1.25 per 100,000 population per year in men and 0.54 per 100,000 population per year in women [79]. The prevalence of PSC in Europeans is estimated to be 10 per 100,000 population. Women are less likely to have PSC than men (M > F, 7:3) [80, 82, 83]. The pathogenesis of PSC remains uncertain because it is a complex immune-mediated disease. The most accredited theory is that in genetically predisposed individuals, the environmental exposure to infective agents or toxins causes persistent immune-mediated damage to cholangiocytes and progressive destruction of bile ducts, leading to chronic cholestasis [77, 84]. Survival outcome is severely impaired by the high risk of developing cholangiocarcinoma [40, 85]. Sex is not an independent risk factor for mortality in PSC, although one study found that cholangiocarcinoma was more common in men [78, 86]. There are an almost equal sex distribution and no significant differences in age at diagnosis between men and women with PSC [39]. However, data related to sex differences in PSC severity are scarce. A recent retrospective outcome analysis reported that men with classical PSC showed a slight, albeit statistically significant, increased risk of disease progression when compared to women with a matched phenotype [40]. Likewise, associated inflammatory bowel diseases were found more frequently in men than in women with PSC [40]. Currently, there is no established medical treatment with a proven benefit for PSC patients [87]. Only liver transplantation represents the treatment of choice in advanced stages of PSC [88, 89]. Notably, PSC recurs in as much as 20–30% of patients within 5 years of liver transplantation [90].

14.3 Alcohol-Related Liver Disease

Alcohol-related liver disease is becoming increasingly prevalent worldwide. Women are more susceptible than men to the adverse effects of alcohol. Women develop alcohol-related liver disease even after a shorter period and smaller amounts of alcohol intake than men, and liver injury progresses more rapidly and severely in women than in men [91]. The exact mechanisms that make sex differences in the incidence, natural course, and prognosis of alcohol-related liver diseases are not completely understood. Alcohol affects women's bodies differently than men's bodies not just because women typically weigh less than men. For example, women generally have less water and more fat in their bodies than men, causing the proportional level of alcohol in the blood to be higher [92]. To date, no single factor can account for this increased female susceptibility to alcoholic liver damage. Lower gastric mucosal alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) content in women has been suggested to possibly lead to less first-pass clearance of alcohol in the stomach [93]. Hormonal influence on the metabolism of alcohol or a higher prevalence of immunologic abnormalities is likely responsible for the differences in the prevalence of alcoholic liver damage between men and women. A sex hormone, estrogen, also impacts on hepatic ADH activity and Kupffer cell inflammatory response to gut microbiota translocation and metabolic pathways [94-98]. Therefore, sex difference observed in patients with alcohol-related liver disease is caused by the susceptibility of females to liver damage from smaller quantities of ethanol. While men are more likely to experience alcohol-related liver disease due to a higher rate of alcohol use disorder, women with alcoholrelated liver disease show more rapid progression of fibrosis in the liver. Women are also drinking more than before, increasing concerns about alcohol-related liver diseases [99]. A recent 2017 report showed a nearly 84% jump in alcohol use disorders among women from 2001 to 2012, compared to a 35% increase for men [100]. During the coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, a national survey found significant increases in heavy drinking and alcohol-related problems for women [101]. We will discuss an increasing prevalence of alcohol-related liver disease in women, putative mechanisms of sexspecific differences in alcohol metabolism that may account for this discrepancy between the sexes, and sex differences in the management of alcohol-related liver disease. Better understanding of the changing epidemiology and basic mechanisms underlying sex differences during the development of alcohol-related liver disease may contribute to the improved prevention and treatment for women who represent a rapidly growing subset of patients with alcohol-related liver disease.

14.3.1 Epidemiology of Alcohol Consumption and Alcohol-Related Liver Disease by Sex

Alcohol use disorder is highly prevalent in the United States as well as Korea and causes significant morbidity and mortality [99]. In Korea, women's monthly drinking rate and high-risk drinking rate are gradually increasing [102] (Fig. 14.3). Six different national surveys conducted between 2000 and 2016 found that the number of women ≥ 18 years who drink each year rose about 0.6% each year, and the number who binge drink increased as well, while there were no increases in men [103]. Alcohol-related liver disease is second to nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (United States) or chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection (Korea) as the leading cause of cirrhosis. In addition, alcohol-related liver disease is the third most common cause of HCC in Korea. A lifetime prevalence of severe alcohol use disorder in the United States is 18.3% of men and 9.7% of women, respectively [104]. In general, men have significantly higher rates of



Fig. 14.3 Monthly alcohol drinking rates (**a**) and high-risk alcohol drinking rates (**b**) (2016 Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (KNHANES) data) (adapted from Jang et al. [102])

alcohol consumption and high-volume drinking compared to women [105]. Men have been shown to exceed women in drinking quantity, frequency, and the rate of binge drinking; and this pattern has been consistently demonstrated throughout the world and across different cultures [106]. Women who previously drank large amounts of alcohol are more likely to stop drinking than men. The magnitudes of these sex differences vary across different cultures, indicating the multifactorial nature of alcohol consumption and drinking behavior [107]. The overall mortality from alcohol-related liver disease in the United States has increased since 2006 in every age group and race, with the exception of non-Hispanic Black men [108]. In addition, premature deaths from overall chronic liver disease and cirrhosis are expected to rise for all racial and ethnic groups except Black men until 2030 [109]. Despite the increasing overall prevalence of alcohol consumption, women are likely to develop alcohol-related liver disease with lesser alcohol exposure and suffer worse outcomes as compared with men. A systematic review and meta-analysis demonstrated that consumption of $1 \sim 2$ drinks per day as compared with long-term alcohol abstinence was associated with an increased risk of liver cirrhosis in women, but not in men. Moreover, the risk for developing cirrhosis was consistently higher in women than in men for all levels of alcohol consumption [110]. Also,

younger patients admitted with alcohol-related liver disease and acute-on-chronic liver failure were more likely to be Hispanic, obese, and women [111]. The total number of hospitalizations in patients with alcoholic cirrhosis increased by 19.8% from 2007 to 2014; this increase was more prominent in women who had an increased hospitalization rate by 33.5% as compared with an increase of only 14.7% in hospitalizations seen in men with alcoholic cirrhosis [112]. There appears to be sex-specific differences in liverrelated outcomes in patients who achieve sobriety. A study of patients with histologically confirmed alcoholic hepatitis in the absence of cirrhosis demonstrated that four of seven women who abstained from alcohol developed cirrhosis within 1-2 years compared with zero of six men [113]. This study suggests that women may have accelerated histological progression despite sobriety compared to men. Alcohol-related liver disease poses a significant opportunity for intervention in the prevention and treatment of chronic liver disease. Women represent a growing subset of alcohol-related liver disease patient population; and sex differences in the trends in alcohol consumption and liver disease development or progression are important aspects of understanding the worse trajectory that women tend to have as compared with men. Despite the higher prevalence of alcohol consumption in men than in women, women are more commonly affected by

alcohol-induced liver injury [114]. The liver is the primary organ of alcohol metabolism and as such is the main site of injury in patients with excessive alcohol consumption. Alcohol-related liver diseases include alcohol-related steatosis, hepatitis, steatohepatitis, fibrosis, cirrhosis, and HCC. In a prospective study of alcohol use in Denmark, among people who consumed ≥ 4 alcoholic drinks per day, women had a relative risk of 17.0 for alcohol-related cirrhosis compared to a relative risk of 7.0 in men [115] (Fig. 14.4). This study also found that for any given level of alcohol intake, women had a higher relative risk of developing alcohol-related liver disease and alcohol-related cirrhosis compared with men [115]. A retrospective study of alcohol-related liver disease demonstrated that women showed a significantly more rapid progression to cirrhosis (20 years on average) as compared with the rate of progression to cirrhosis in men (35 years on average) [56]. In a study of alcohol relapse after recovery from severe alcoholic hepatitis, 17% of patients experienced relapsing severe alcoholic hepatitis, and there was a slight trend toward recurrence being more common in females, which was not statistically significant [116]. Despite the sex-specific differences in the development and progression of alcohol-related liver disease, it remains uncertain whether there is a survival difference between men and women with alcohol-related liver disease. In a large US trial that reported alcohol and tobacco use, mortality from alcohol-related liver disease was not



Fig. 14.4 The estimated relative risk of alcohol-related cirrhosis in men and women according to alcohol intake amounts (modified from Becker et al. [115])

significantly different between the sexes for those consuming 2 ~ 3 drinks per day. However, mortality increased in men who consumed ≥ 4 drinks per day compared with women [114, 117]. Although men have higher death rates, the gap between death rates of men and women is narrowing. This is especially true of women who are 25-34 years of age, and the number of non-Hispanic White women dying from ALD grows more rapidly compared to rates for non-Hispanic Black women [118]. In a recent US National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, alcohol-induced acute on chronic liver failure occurred more frequently in young, female, and Hispanic patients with alcohol-related liver disease [119].

14.3.2 Putative Mechanisms of Sex Differences in Alcohol-Related Liver Disease

Alcohol-induced liver injury is instigated by ethanol metabolism via ADH and cytochrome P450 2E1 pathways that produce hepatotoxic acetaldehydes. There are sex differences acknowledged in the pharmacokinetics of alcohol [120] (see Sect. 2.4.1). For equal alcohol intake, women develop higher blood alcohol concentrations as compared with men [121]. Women are generally smaller than men; therefore, the same alcohol consumption results in higher serum alcohol concentrations in women as compared with men. In addition, women have smaller body water content per kg of body weight as compared with men, leading to a smaller volume of distribution. Table 14.2 summarizes sex-specific differences in alcohol metabolism and its contribution to sex differences in alcohol-related liver disease. A number of studies have shown a difference in gastric ADH activities between women and men [93]. The metabolism of alcohol by gastric ADH decreases its systemic bioavailability. Therefore, the stomach protects against systemic absorption of alcohol via ADH activity. Women have increased bioavailability of alcohol due to decreased first-pass metabolism, leading to increased susceptibility to alcohol-related liver

Mechanism	Sex difference	Outcome
Ethanol metabolism	Women typically have decreased body weight Women have decreased body water	Decreased volume of distribution of alcohol and increased blood alcohol concentration in women
First-pass effect	Women have decreased gastric ADH Women have slower gastric emptying of alcohol	Increased bioavailability of alcohol in women
Estrogen	Chronic alcohol consumption increases estrogen in male and female rodent models	Increased estrogen coincides with more significant liver injury in rodent models
Growth hormone	Female rodent models show continuous secretion of GH which leads to increased hepatic ADH activity	Increased accumulation of toxic acetaldehyde
Kupffer cell activation by endotoxin	Estrogen sensitizes Kupffer cells to LPS in rodent models	Increased accumulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines

Table 14.2 Mechanisms for sex differences in alcoholrelated liver disease

ADH	alcohol	dehydrogenase	, GH	growth	hormone,	LPS
lipop	olysacch	aride				

disease [93]. Women thereby have less first-pass metabolism than men, which is associated with significantly lower activity of gastric ADH in women as compared with men [121]. In addition, gastric emptying of alcohol is 42% slower in women, and hepatic oxidation is 10% higher in women. Altogether, decreased gastric metabolism in women due to significantly less active gastric ADH primarily accounts for sex differences in serum alcohol levels [121]. Sex differences in gastric ADH activity are amplified in patients who have undergone gastric bypass surgery, wherein gastric ADH is circumvented, contributing to increased risk of alcohol-related liver disease associated with first-pass metabolism [122]. Cytochrome P450 2E1 related to ethanol metabolism increases in activity when administered with ethanol, which can be confirmed in female rats since this increase in activity is reduced by the administration of anti-estrogen [123]. Considering that cytochrome P450 is regulated by growth hormone and sex hormone, the differences in these hormones between the sexes appear to induce the difference in the expression of cytochrome P450 between men and women, leading to an increase in toxic metabolites and susceptibility to liver damage in women [124]. Although the initial absorption and metabolism of alcohol differ between the sexes, there are additional mechanisms at the level of the liver that further contribute to sex differences in alcohol-induced liver injury. Chronic alcohol intake alters hormone expression in both sexes. Not only is the liver the site of steroid hormone metabolism, but also it is responsive to sex hormones, and as such there is ongoing research being done to further characterize the role of hormones in alcohol-related liver disease [125]. Estrogen modulates glucose/lipid metabolism and hepatic steatosis/inflammation via estrogen receptors (ERs) on hepatocytes [126]. An experimental rat model demonstrated that alcohol increases ER expression in male rat livers, resulting in hepatocellular proliferation. This was in contrast to female rat livers wherein alcohol did not increase ER expression and thus hepatocellular apoptosis predominated over hepatocellular proliferation [97]. Additional studies showed that with chronic alcohol exposure, androgen-responsive functions in the male rat liver decrease and, subsequently, testosterone levels decrease and estrogen levels increase due to changes in hepatic estrogen metabolism [125, 127]. Taken together, most significant liver injury occurred under the influence of high estrogen and low testosterone levels. Indeed, postmenopausal women with chronic alcohol consumption had approximately twofold higher estrogen levels [125]. Additional studies are warranted to further evaluate the clinical impact of alcohol on hormone metabolism in men and women. Estrogen stimulates the secretion of growth hormone [128]. In rodent models of growth hormone secretion showing sex differences, female rats show continuous secretion of growth hormone contrary to pulsatile secretion in male rats [129]. Growth hormone increases hepatic ADH activity, and subsequently, hepatic ADH activity is higher in female rodents compared with male rodents [94]. This increased hepatic ADH activity in females leads to increased accumulation of toxic acetaldehyde, conferring the increased susceptibility of females to alcohol-related liver disease. Estrogen and alcohol seem to produce intrahepatic inflammation through interactions with each other; it is well known that alcohol intake causes liver damage due to gut barrier disruption, bacterial translocation from the gut to portal vein, and increased endotoxins. Kupffer cells are able to remove endotoxins (i.e., lipopolysaccharides) with Kupffer cell activation and pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion [96, 130]. In rat experiments, when estrogen was administered after ethanol intake, estrogen increased the sensitivity of Kupffer cells to endotoxin [95, 96], blood level of endotoxin, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) production by Kupffer cells, which eventually led to an increase in intrahepatic inflammation [97, 98]. This study suggested that estrogen sensitizes Kupffer cells to endotoxin, resulting in an increased toxic mediator production.

14.3.3 Sex Differences in the Management of Alcohol-Related Liver Disease

Although there are significant differences between the sexes in alcohol metabolism and the development and severity of alcohol-related liver disease, alcohol abstinence is the cornerstone of treatment in both men and women. This highlights the significance of identifying patients with or at risk of alcohol abuse and providing them with effective therapeutic options. Men with alcohol-related liver disease were more likely to be listed and transplanted compared to women with alcohol-related liver disease. While men with alcohol-related liver disease had more lifetime substance use and related consequences, women had more psychiatric comorbidities and were less likely to be listed due to active alcohol and opioid use. Early detection and effective treatment of psychiatric and substance use disorders in women with alcohol-related liver disease may improve their transplant eligibility [131].

14.4 Viral Hepatitis

HBV and hepatitis C virus (HCV) are different hepatotropic viruses in the context of genomic structure, life cycle, and immunopathogenesis. Furthermore, the incidence of HBV or HCV infection is higher in males compared to females, presenting a faster disease progression with worse overall survival outcomes. Indeed, women are in general better protected against viral infections and show a lower risk of death from malignant cancer as compared to men. Sex contributes to shape immune responses, producing significant differences in the immunopathogenesis of viral hepatitis between the sexes. Females usually develop stronger innate and adaptive immune responses to viral infections than males. In addition, sex hormones differentially affect the immune responses to HBV and HCV by specific binding to sex hormone receptors on the immune cells. For example, estrogen has an immunestimulating effect, whereas androgen has an immune-suppressing effect. However, androgen can also directly interact with HBV genome integrated into the hepatocyte nucleus and activate transcription of HBV oncoproteins. On the contrary, estradiol and ERs protect hepatocytes from inflammation, apoptosis, and oxidative stress that contribute to fibrosis and malignant transformation. In HCV-related cirrhosis and HCC, the decreased expression of $ER\alpha$ in male patients may be responsible for the worse outcomes of HCV infection in men. The synergistic effect of sex hormones and sexually dimorphic immune responses on the immunopathogenesis of HBV/ HCV infections may account for the sex disparity in the clinical outcomes and progression of viral hepatitis. Herein, we will discuss underlying mechanisms that are considered for the noticed sex-related differences in HBV/HCV infections. A better appreciation of these differences between the sexes may be useful for improving sex-specific treatment options in patients with viral hepatitis.

14.4.1 Chronic Hepatitis B

The sex difference in chronic HBV infection has been perceived for a long time [132]. Indeed, female HBV carriers have lower viral loads than male carriers [133, 134], and the prevalence of serum HBV surface antigen (HBsAg) has been reported to be higher in men than in women [135]. Some differences have been attributed to sex hormone effects directly by regulating HBV transcription, entry, and integration and indirectly by modulating the immune response to HBV infection. According to the mouse models of HBV infection, sex-related disparities in the adaptive immune response to HBV infection may be explained by different CD8⁺ T-cell activity. Higher CD8⁺ T-cell activity and a lower number of intrahepatic regulatory T cells were observed in females than in males [136]. However, the roles of androgen and estrogen in regulating T-cell response to HBV infection remain unclear. Susceptibility to HBV infection is associated with a particular ER α polymorphism; this polymorphism affects ESR1 gene transcription, with the defective response of immune cells to estrogens [137]. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the gene for ER α associated with persistent HBV infection may illustrate the influence of sex hormones on the HBV-specific immune response [138]. Given the known effect of sex hormones on the immune system, this may account for the sex-based different susceptibility to HBV infection. Besides their effect on immune responses, sex hormones also directly influence viral activity. Resultingly, the viral loads and outcomes of several viral infections are different between the sexes [139–145]. Estrogen can suppress hepatic fibrogenesis [146], work as an endogenous antioxidant by reducing reactive oxidant species [147], and modulate cytokine production to protect females from liver inflammation [148]. One of the molecular mechanisms underlying the difference in the outcome of HBV infection between the sexes is direct binding of the ER and androgen receptor to binding sites within HBV enhancer I [149]. In contrast, the androgen receptor can bind directly to a specific response element within HBV enhancer I and increase overall HBV transcription [150]. In addition, estrogen also influences viral entry. Indeed, estradiol represses the expression of the major HBV entry receptor sodium taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide (NTCP) in hepatocytes through ERa, thus inhibits viral entry, and restricts infection in the liver [151, 152]. Sex hormones play a crucial role in the regulation of immune responses to HBV. This is evidenced by the fact that HBV vaccine exhibits not only higher antibody titers but also stronger adverse effects in young females receiving active immunization [153]. Furthermore, HBsAg and HBeAg seroconversions occur more frequently in females rather than in males [154]. Additionally, androgen exerts an immunosuppressive effect on the development and activation of T cells [155]. Nevertheless, the overall impact of sex hormones on HBV-specific immunity is not completely characterized [156, 157].

14.4.2 Chronic Hepatitis C

Similar to HBV infection, HCV infection is more prevalent in men than in women, with a male-tofemale ratio of nearly 2:1 [158]. HCV infection is a disease that disproportionately affects men more than women. Women are more likely to clear the HCV spontaneously. HCV-related fibrosis progression to cirrhosis is more rapid and more common in men than in women if they become chronically infected [159]. In addition to host interleukin 28B (IL-28B) genotype and HCV genotype [160], female sex has also been reported to be an independent predictor of spontaneous resolution from acute HCV infection [161, 162]. Chronic infection will develop in about 70-80% of men and ~ 60% of women [163, 164]. Clearance of infection and disease progression rely on sex [165–168]. Differences in disease progression between the sexes are assumed to be linked to the protective effect of estrogen. Moreover, the rate of disease progression changes
during lifetime in women. Postmenopausal women show more rapid progression of liver fibrosis [169] and poor response to interferonbased antiviral therapy [170]. Liver expresses ER α and ER β that are responsive to the estrogenic stimulus; however, normal male liver has higher expression of ER α as compared to normal female liver. In contrast, in HCV-related cirrhosis, ER α level has been reported to decrease only in men, suggesting the worse outcome of chronic HCV infection in men than in women [171]. The worse outcome of HCV infection in men may also be explained by the direct influence of sex hormones on HCV itself. 17B-Estradiol was found to inhibit the production of mature HCV virions via ER α binding [172, 173] and to inhibit HCV entry via downregulation of occludin in infected cell cultures [174]. So far, studies analyzing the effect of testosterone on HCV replication are lacking. The effect of estrogen and testosterone on HCV replication may explain the lower incidence of HCV infection and slower progression of liver disease in premenopausal women than in postmenopausal women and men. Furthermore, alcohol consumption may also contribute to chronic hepatitis progression as men are more likely to engage in heavy drinking [105, 175]. Sex differences in treatment-induced clearance of HCV have also been reported. A randomized study reported an increased and sustained clearance of HCV from the bloodstream (i.e., sustained virological response, SVR) in women after treatment with pegylated interferon and ribavirin [176]. Women may also achieve a higher SVR rate with higher doses of peginterferon [177]. In young women of reproductive age, the combined treatment of peginterferon and ribavirin achieves SVR with a nearly 100% chance [178]. In contrast, early menopause is associated with a poor response to interferon-based antiviral therapy, highlighting a role of estrogen in this setting [179]. The addition of raloxifene, an oral selective ER modulator, to peginterferon and ribavirin significantly improves the SVR rate in the treatment of postmenopausal women, but this approach became meaningless due to the development of oral direct-acting antiviral agents (DAAs) [180]. In the current era of DAAs, demographic factors, including sex differences, have lost their significant role in antiviral treatment response, since the treatment outcome has remarkably improved owing to the recent advance of DAA treatment.

14.5 Conclusions

Sex difference medicine focuses on understanding the clinical, pathophysiological, therapeutic, and preventive differences in various medical diseases that are equally represented in men and women. The ultimate goal of this field is to provide the best treatment to each individual man and woman based on scientific evidence. Sex disparities in incidence, presentation, natural history, and outcomes clearly exist for various chronic liver diseases. To date, basic and clinical research has been gender- and sex-unbalanced, with female subjects generally underrepresented. Therefore, a special attention on more sexspecific approaches to hepatology and general medicine is required, and additional efforts of the research community should be attempted toward a better understanding of the exact mechanisms underlying such sex differences, centered on differing behavioral, hormonal, and immunological factors. Further studies on chronic liver disease mechanisms based on sex differences would offer more efficient, sex-tailored precision medicine.

References

- Amacher DE. Female gender as a susceptibility factor for drug-induced liver injury. Hum Exp Toxicol. 2014;33:928–39.
- Lonardo A, Nascimbeni F, Ballestri S, Fairweather D, Win S, Than TA, et al. Sex differences in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: state of the art and identification of research gaps. Hepatology. 2019;70:1457–69.
- 3. Heron M. Deaths: leading causes for 2017. Natl Vital Stat Rep. 2019;68:1–77.
- Mauvais-Jarvis F, Bairey Merz N, Barnes PJ, Brinton RD, Carrero JJ, DeMeo DL, et al. Sex and gender: modifiers of health, disease, and medicine. Lancet. 2020;396:565–82.
- Cvitanovic Tomas T, Urlep Z, Moskon M, Mraz M, Rozman D. LiverSex computational model: sexual

aspects in hepatic metabolism and abnormalities. Front Physiol. 2018;9:360.

- Karlsen TH, Chung BK. Genetic risk and the development of autoimmune liver disease. Dig Dis. 2015;33(Suppl 2):13–24.
- Carbone M, Neuberger JM. Autoimmune liver disease, autoimmunity and liver transplantation. J Hepatol. 2014;60:210–23.
- Nalbandian G, Van de Water J, Gish R, Manns M, Coppel RL, Rudich SM, et al. Is there a serological difference between men and women with primary biliary cirrhosis? Am J Gastroenterol. 1999;94:2482–6.
- Parikh-Patel A, Gold EB, Worman H, Krivy KE, Gershwin ME. Risk factors for primary biliary cirrhosis in a cohort of patients from the united states. Hepatology. 2001;33:16–21.
- Manns MP, Czaja AJ, Gorham JD, Krawitt EL, Mieli-Vergani G, Vergani D, et al. Diagnosis and management of autoimmune hepatitis. Hepatology. 2010;51:2193–213.
- Lleo A, Marzorati S, Anaya JM, Gershwin ME. Primary biliary cholangitis: a comprehensive overview. Hepatol Int. 2017;11:485–99.
- Liberal R, Grant CR, Mieli-Vergani G, Vergani D. Autoimmune hepatitis: a comprehensive review. J Autoimmun. 2013;41:126–39.
- Schramm C, Herkel J, Beuers U, Kanzler S, Galle PR, Lohse AW. Pregnancy in autoimmune hepatitis: outcome and risk factors. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101:556–60.
- Trivedi PJ, Kumagi T, Al-Harthy N, Coltescu C, Ward S, Cheung A, et al. Good maternal and fetal outcomes for pregnant women with primary biliary cirrhosis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;12(1179–85):e1.
- Wellge BE, Sterneck M, Teufel A, Rust C, Franke A, Schreiber S, et al. Pregnancy in primary sclerosing cholangitis. Gut. 2011;60:1117–21.
- Erice O, Munoz-Garrido P, Vaquero J, Perugorria MJ, Fernandez-Barrena MG, Saez E, et al. MicroRNA-506 promotes primary biliary cholangitis-like features in cholangiocytes and immune activation. Hepatology. 2018;67:1420–40.
- 17. Lleo A, Zhang W, Zhao M, Tan Y, Bernuzzi F, Zhu B, et al. DNA methylation profiling of the X chromosome reveals an aberrant demethylation on CXCR3 promoter in primary biliary cirrhosis. Clin Epigenetics. 2015;7:61.
- Invernizzi P, Miozzo M, Battezzati PM, Bianchi I, Grati FR, Simoni G, et al. Frequency of monosomy X in women with primary biliary cirrhosis. Lancet. 2004;363:533–5.
- Lleo A, Oertelt-Prigione S, Bianchi I, Caliari L, Finelli P, Miozzo M, et al. Y chromosome loss in male patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. J Autoimmun. 2013;41:87–91.
- Miozzo M, Selmi C, Gentilin B, Grati FR, Sirchia S, Oertelt S, et al. Preferential X chromosome loss

but random inactivation characterize primary biliary cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2007;46:456–62.

- Henao-Mejia J, Elinav E, Thaiss CA, Licona-Limon P, Flavell RA. Role of the intestinal microbiome in liver disease. J Autoimmun. 2013;46:66–73.
- 22. Tang R, Wei Y, Li Y, Chen W, Chen H, Wang Q, et al. Gut microbial profile is altered in primary biliary cholangitis and partially restored after UDCA therapy. Gut. 2018;67:534–41.
- Trivedi PJ, Adams DH. Mucosal immunity in liver autoimmunity: a comprehensive review. J Autoimmun. 2013;46:97–111.
- Sabino J, Vieira-Silva S, Machiels K, Joossens M, Falony G, Ballet V, et al. Primary sclerosing cholangitis is characterised by intestinal dysbiosis independent from IBD. Gut. 2016;65:1681–9.
- 25. Mitchell SA, Thyssen M, Orchard TR, Jewell DP, Fleming KA, Chapman RW. Cigarette smoking, appendectomy, and tonsillectomy as risk factors for the development of primary sclerosing cholangitis: a case control study. Gut. 2002;51:567–73.
- 26. Rieger R, Leung PS, Jeddeloh MR, Kurth MJ, Nantz MH, Lam KS, et al. Identification of 2-nonynoic acid, a cosmetic component, as a potential trigger of primary biliary cirrhosis. J Autoimmun. 2006;27:7–16.
- Selmi C, Balkwill DL, Invernizzi P, Ansari AA, Coppel RL, Podda M, et al. Patients with primary biliary cirrhosis react against a ubiquitous xenobiotic-metabolizing bacterium. Hepatology. 2003;38:1250–7.
- van Erpecum KJ, Smits SJ, van de Meeberg PC, Linn FH, Wolfhagen FH, vanBerge-Henegouwen GP, et al. Risk of primary sclerosing cholangitis is associated with nonsmoking behavior. Gastroenterology. 1996;110:1503–6.
- Zein CO, Beatty K, Post AB, Logan L, Debanne S, McCullough AJ. Smoking and increased severity of hepatic fibrosis in primary biliary cirrhosis: a cross validated retrospective assessment. Hepatology. 2006;44:1564–71.
- Schwinge D, Schramm C. Sex-related factors in autoimmune liver diseases. Semin Immunopathol. 2019;41:165–75.
- European Association for the Study of the L. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: autoimmune hepatitis. J Hepatol. 2015;63:971–1004.
- Al-Chalabi T, Underhill JA, Portmann BC, McFarlane IG, Heneghan MA. Impact of gender on the long-term outcome and survival of patients with autoimmune hepatitis. J Hepatol. 2008;48:140–7.
- 33. Donaldson PT, Doherty DG, Hayllar KM, McFarlane IG, Johnson PJ, Williams R. Susceptibility to autoimmune chronic active hepatitis: human leukocyte antigens DR4 and A1-B8-DR3 are independent risk factors. Hepatology. 1991;13:701–6.
- Boonstra K, Beuers U, Ponsioen CY. Epidemiology of primary sclerosing cholangitis and primary biliary cirrhosis: a systematic review. J Hepatol. 2012;56:1181–8.

- 35. Smyk DS, Rigopoulou EI, Pares A, Billinis C, Burroughs AK, Muratori L, et al. Sex differences associated with primary biliary cirrhosis. Clin Dev Immunol. 2012;2012:610504.
- 36. Carbone M, Mells GF, Pells G, Dawwas MF, Newton JL, Heneghan MA, et al. Sex and age are determinants of the clinical phenotype of primary biliary cirrhosis and response to ursodeoxycholic acid. Gastroenterology. 2013;144:560–9.e7; quiz e13-4
- Muratori P, Granito A, Pappas G, Muratori L, Quarneti C, De Molo C, et al. Clinical and serological profile of primary biliary cirrhosis in men. QJM. 2007;100:534–5.
- Lucey MR, Neuberger JM, Williams R. Primary biliary cirrhosis in men. Gut. 1986;27:1373–6.
- 39. Toy E, Balasubramanian S, Selmi C, Li CS, Bowlus CL. The prevalence, incidence and natural history of primary sclerosing cholangitis in an ethnically diverse population. BMC Gastroenterol. 2011;11:83.
- 40. Weismuller TJ, Trivedi PJ, Bergquist A, Imam M, Lenzen H, Ponsioen CY, et al. Patient age, sex, and inflammatory bowel disease phenotype associate with course of primary sclerosing cholangitis. Gastroenterology. 2017;152:1975–84 e8.
- 41. Gronbaek L, Vilstrup H, Jepsen P. Autoimmune hepatitis in Denmark: incidence, prevalence, prognosis, and causes of death. A nationwide registry-based cohort study. J Hepatol. 2014;60:612–7.
- 42. Alvarez F, Berg PA, Bianchi FB, Bianchi L, Burroughs AK, Cancado EL, et al. International Autoimmune Hepatitis Group Report: review of criteria for diagnosis of autoimmune hepatitis. J Hepatol. 1999;31:929–38.
- Heneghan MA, Yeoman AD, Verma S, Smith AD, Longhi MS. Autoimmune hepatitis. Lancet. 2013;382:1433–44.
- 44. Czaja AJ, Strettell MD, Thomson LJ, Santrach PJ, Moore SB, Donaldson PT, et al. Associations between alleles of the major histocompatibility complex and type 1 autoimmune hepatitis. Hepatology. 1997;25:317–23.
- Czaja AJ, Carpenter HA, Santrach PJ, Moore SB. Significance of HLA DR4 in type 1 autoimmune hepatitis. Gastroenterology. 1993;105:1502–7.
- 46. Czaja AJ, Donaldson PT. Gender effects and synergisms with histocompatibility leukocyte antigens in type 1 autoimmune hepatitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2002;97:2051–7.
- 47. Miyake Y, Iwasaki Y, Terada R, Okamaoto R, Ikeda H, Makino Y, et al. Persistent elevation of serum alanine aminotransferase levels leads to poor survival and hepatocellular carcinoma development in type 1 autoimmune hepatitis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2006;24:1197–205.
- Buchel E, Van Steenbergen W, Nevens F, Fevery J. Improvement of autoimmune hepatitis during pregnancy followed by flare-up after delivery. Am J Gastroenterol. 2002;97:3160–5.

- Whitacre CC. Sex differences in autoimmune disease. Nat Immunol. 2001;2:777–80.
- Lleo A, Jepsen P, Morenghi E, Carbone M, Moroni L, Battezzati PM, et al. Evolving trends in female to male incidence and male mortality of primary biliary cholangitis. Sci Rep. 2016;6:25906.
- Dahlan Y, Smith L, Simmonds D, Jewell LD, Wanless I, Heathcote EJ, et al. Pediatric-onset primary biliary cirrhosis. Gastroenterology. 2003;125:1476–9.
- Kaplan MM, Gershwin ME. Primary biliary cirrhosis. N Engl J Med. 2005;353:1261–73.
- 53. Zeng N, Duan W, Chen S, Wu S, Ma H, Ou X, et al. Epidemiology and clinical course of primary biliary cholangitis in the Asia-Pacific region: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatol Int. 2019;13:788–99.
- 54. European Association for the Study of the LiverElectronic address eee, European Association for the Study of the L. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: The diagnosis and management of patients with primary biliary cholangitis. J Hepatol. 2017;67:145–72.
- Kim WR, Lindor KD, Locke GR 3rd, Therneau TM, Homburger HA, Batts KP, et al. Epidemiology and natural history of primary biliary cirrhosis in a US community. Gastroenterology. 2000;119:1631–6.
- Poynard T, Mathurin P, Lai CL, Guyader D, Poupon R, Tainturier MH, et al. A comparison of fibrosis progression in chronic liver diseases. J Hepatol. 2003;38:257–65.
- Rubel LR, Rabin L, Seeff LB, Licht H, Cuccherini BA. Does primary biliary cirrhosis in men differ from primary biliary cirrhosis in women? Hepatology. 1984;4:671–7.
- Carey EJ, Ali AH, Lindor KD. Primary biliary cirrhosis. Lancet. 2015;386:1565–75.
- Corpechot C, Chretien Y, Chazouilleres O, Poupon R. Demographic, lifestyle, medical and familial factors associated with primary biliary cirrhosis. J Hepatol. 2010;53:162–9.
- Rodrigues PM, Perugorria MJ, Santos-Laso A, Bujanda L, Beuers U, Banales JM. Primary biliary cholangitis: a tale of epigenetically-induced secretory failure? J Hepatol. 2018;69:1371–83.
- 61. Banales JM, Saez E, Uriz M, Sarvide S, Urribarri AD, Splinter P, et al. Up-regulation of microRNA 506 leads to decreased Cl-/HCO3- anion exchanger 2 expression in biliary epithelium of patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. Hepatology. 2012;56:687–97.
- 62. Gershwin ME, Selmi C, Worman HJ, Gold EB, Watnik M, Utts J, et al. Risk factors and comorbidities in primary biliary cirrhosis: a controlled interview-based study of 1032 patients. Hepatology. 2005;42:1194–202.
- Prince MI, Ducker SJ, James OF. Case-control studies of risk factors for primary biliary cirrhosis in two United Kingdom populations. Gut. 2010;59:508–12.
- 64. Cavazza A, Caballeria L, Floreani A, Farinati F, Bruguera M, Caroli D, et al. Incidence, risk factors,

and survival of hepatocellular carcinoma in primary biliary cirrhosis: comparative analysis from two centers. Hepatology. 2009;50:1162–8.

- 65. Harada K, Hirohara J, Ueno Y, Nakano T, Kakuda Y, Tsubouchi H, et al. Incidence of and risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma in primary biliary cirrhosis: national data from Japan. Hepatology. 2013;57:1942–9.
- 66. Trivedi PJ, Lammers WJ, van Buuren HR, Pares A, Floreani A, Janssen HL, et al. Stratification of hepatocellular carcinoma risk in primary biliary cirrhosis: a multicentre international study. Gut. 2016;65:321–9.
- Rong G, Wang H, Bowlus CL, Wang C, Lu Y, Zeng Z, et al. Incidence and risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma in primary biliary cirrhosis. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2015;48:132–41.
- Harada K, Nakanuma Y. Prevalence and risk factors of hepatocellular carcinoma in Japanese patients with primary biliary cirrhosis. Hepatol Res. 2014;44:133–40.
- 69. Yagi M, Tanaka A, Abe M, Namisaki T, Yoshiji H, Takahashi A, et al. Symptoms and health-related quality of life in Japanese patients with primary biliary cholangitis. Sci Rep. 2018;8:12542.
- Nevens F, Andreone P, Mazzella G, Strasser SI, Bowlus C, Invernizzi P, et al. A placebo-controlled trial of obeticholic acid in primary biliary cholangitis. N Engl J Med. 2016;375:631–43.
- Samur S, Klebanoff M, Banken R, Pratt DS, Chapman R, Ollendorf DA, et al. Long-term clinical impact and cost-effectiveness of obeticholic acid for the treatment of primary biliary cholangitis. Hepatology. 2017;65:920–8.
- 72. Trauner M, Nevens F, Shiffman ML, Drenth JPH, Bowlus CL, Vargas V, et al. Long-term efficacy and safety of obeticholic acid for patients with primary biliary cholangitis: 3-year results of an international open-label extension study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;4:445–53.
- 73. Bowlus CL, Pockros PJ, Kremer AE, Pares A, Forman LM, Drenth JPH, et al. Long-term obeticholic acid therapy improves histological endpoints in patients with primary biliary cholangitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;18: 1170–8.e6.
- 74. Corpechot C, Chazouilleres O, Rousseau A, Le Gruyer A, Habersetzer F, Mathurin P, et al. A placebo-controlled trial of bezafibrate in primary biliary cholangitis. N Engl J Med. 2018;378:2171–81.
- Honda A, Tanaka A, Kaneko T, Komori A, Abe M, Inao M, et al. Bezafibrate improves GLOBE and UK-PBC scores and long-term outcomes in patients with primary biliary cholangitis. Hepatology. 2019;70:2035–46.
- Bolier R, de Vries ES, Pares A, Helder J, Kemper EM, Zwinderman K, et al. Fibrates for the treatment of cholestatic itch (FITCH): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials. 2017;18:230.

- Pollheimer MJ, Halilbasic E, Fickert P, Trauner M. Pathogenesis of primary sclerosing cholangitis. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2011;25:727–39.
- Wiesner RH, Grambsch PM, Dickson ER, Ludwig J, MacCarty RL, Hunter EB, et al. Primary sclerosing cholangitis: natural history, prognostic factors and survival analysis. Hepatology. 1989;10:430–6.
- 79. Bambha K, Kim WR, Talwalkar J, Torgerson H, Benson JT, Therneau TM, et al. Incidence, clinical spectrum, and outcomes of primary sclerosing cholangitis in a United States community. Gastroenterology. 2003;125:1364–9.
- Chapman R, Fevery J, Kalloo A, Nagorney DM, Boberg KM, Shneider B, et al. Diagnosis and management of primary sclerosing cholangitis. Hepatology. 2010;51:660–78.
- Karlsen TH, Folseraas T, Thorburn D, Vesterhus M. Primary sclerosing cholangitis - a comprehensive review. J Hepatol. 2017;67:1298–323.
- Singh S, Talwalkar JA. Primary sclerosing cholangitis: diagnosis, prognosis, and management. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;11:898–907.
- Molodecky NA, Kareemi H, Parab R, Barkema HW, Quan H, Myers RP, et al. Incidence of primary sclerosing cholangitis: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Hepatology. 2011;53:1590–9.
- Eaton JE, Talwalkar JA, Lazaridis KN, Gores GJ, Lindor KD. Pathogenesis of primary sclerosing cholangitis and advances in diagnosis and management. Gastroenterology. 2013;145:521–36.
- Boonstra K, Weersma RK, van Erpecum KJ, Rauws EA, Spanier BW, Poen AC, et al. Population-based epidemiology, malignancy risk, and outcome of primary sclerosing cholangitis. Hepatology. 2013;58:2045–55.
- Tischendorf JJ, Hecker H, Kruger M, Manns MP, Meier PN. Characterization, outcome, and prognosis in 273 patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis: A single center study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2007;102:107–14.
- Hirschfield GM, Karlsen TH, Lindor KD, Adams DH. Primary sclerosing cholangitis. Lancet. 2013;382:1587–99.
- European Association for the Study of the L. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: management of cholestatic liver diseases. J Hepatol. 2009;51:237–67.
- Williamson KD, Chapman RW. New therapeutic strategies for primary sclerosing cholangitis. Semin Liver Dis. 2016;36:5–14.
- Fosby B, Karlsen TH, Melum E. Recurrence and rejection in liver transplantation for primary sclerosing cholangitis. World J Gastroenterol. 2012;18:1–15.
- Rehm J, Taylor B, Mohapatra S, Irving H, Baliunas D, Patra J, et al. Alcohol as a risk factor for liver cirrhosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2010;29:437–45.
- Thomasson HR. Gender differences in alcohol metabolism. Physiological responses to ethanol. Recent Dev Alcohol. 1995;12:163–79.

- 93. Frezza M, di Padova C, Pozzato G, Terpin M, Baraona E, Lieber CS. High blood alcohol levels in women. The role of decreased gastric alcohol dehydrogenase activity and first-pass metabolism. N Engl J Med. 1990;322:95–9.
- Mezey E. Influence of sex hormones on alcohol metabolism. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2000;24:421.
- Thurman RG II. Alcoholic liver injury involves activation of Kupffer cells by endotoxin. Am J Phys. 1998;275:G605–11.
- Chamulitrat W, Carnal J, Reed NM, Spitzer JJ. In vivo endotoxin enhances biliary ethanol-dependent free radical generation. Am J Phys. 1998;274:G653–61.
- Colantoni A, Emanuele MA, Kovacs EJ, Villa E, Van Thiel DH. Hepatic estrogen receptors and alcohol intake. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2002;193:101–4.
- Yin M, Ikejima K, Wheeler MD, Bradford BU, Seabra V, Forman DT, et al. Estrogen is involved in early alcohol-induced liver injury in a rat enteral feeding model. Hepatology. 2000;31:117–23.
- 99. Lee JY, Cho Y, Hong MH, Kim J, Lee DH, Jung YJ, et al. Incidence, inhospital mortality, and readmission among patients with alcoholic hepatitis in Korea: a nationwide study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;34:747–54.
- 100. Grant BF, Chou SP, Saha TD, Pickering RP, Kerridge BT, Ruan WJ, et al. Prevalence of 12-month alcohol use, high-risk drinking, and DSM-IV alcohol use disorder in the United States, 2001-2002 to 2012-2013: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on alcohol and related conditions. JAMA Psychiatry. 2017;74:911–23.
- 101. Pollard MS, Tucker JS, Green HD Jr. Changes in adult alcohol use and consequences during the COVID-19 pandemic in the US. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3:e2022942.
- Jang JY, Kim DJ. Epidemiology of alcoholic liver disease in Korea. Clin Mol Hepatol. 2018;24:93–9.
- 103. Grucza RA, Sher KJ, Kerr WC, Krauss MJ, Lui CK, McDowell YE, et al. Trends in adult alcohol use and binge drinking in the early 21st-Century United States: a meta-analysis of 6 national survey series. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2018;42:1939–50.
- 104. Grant BF, Goldstein RB, Saha TD, Chou SP, Jung J, Zhang H, et al. Epidemiology of DSM-5 alcohol use disorder: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions III. JAMA Psychiatry. 2015;72:757–66.
- 105. Wilsnack RW, Wilsnack SC, Kristjanson AF, Vogeltanz-Holm ND, Gmel G. Gender and alcohol consumption: patterns from the multinational GENACIS project. Addiction. 2009;104:1487–500.
- 106. Erol A, Karpyak VM. Sex and gender-related differences in alcohol use and its consequences: contemporary knowledge and future research considerations. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2015;156:1–13.
- 107. Wilsnack RW, Vogeltanz ND, Wilsnack SC, Harris TR, Ahlstrom S, Bondy S, et al. Gender differences in alcohol consumption and adverse drinking

consequences: cross-cultural patterns. Addiction. 2000;95:251–65.

- 108. Moon AM, Yang JY, Barritt ASt, Bataller R, Peery AF. Rising mortality from alcohol-associated liver disease in the United States in the 21st century. Am J Gastroenterol. 2020;115:79–87.
- 109. Best AF, Haozous EA, de Gonzalez AB, Chernyavskiy P, Freedman ND, Hartge P, et al. Premature mortality projections in the USA through 2030: a modelling study. Lancet Public Health. 2018;3:e374–e84.
- 110. Roerecke M, Vafaei A, Hasan OSM, Chrystoja BR, Cruz M, Lee R, et al. Alcohol consumption and risk of liver cirrhosis: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2019;114:1574–86.
- 111. Singal AK, Arora S, Wong RJ, Satapathy SK, Shah VH, Kuo YF, et al. Increasing burden of acute-onchronic liver failure among alcohol-associated liver disease in the young population in the United States. Am J Gastroenterol. 2020;115:88–95.
- 112. Dang K, Hirode G, Singal AK, Sundaram V, Wong RJ. Alcoholic liver disease epidemiology in the United States: a retrospective analysis of 3 US databases. Am J Gastroenterol. 2020;115:96–104.
- 113. Pares A, Caballeria J, Bruguera M, Torres M, Rodes J. Histological course of alcoholic hepatitis. Influence of abstinence, sex and extent of hepatic damage. J Hepatol. 1986;2:33–42.
- 114. Guy J, Peters MG. Liver disease in women: the influence of gender on epidemiology, natural history, and patient outcomes. Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y). 2013;9:633–9.
- 115. Becker U, Deis A, Sorensen TI, Gronbaek M, Borch-Johnsen K, Muller CF, et al. Prediction of risk of liver disease by alcohol intake, sex, and age: a prospective population study. Hepatology. 1996;23:1025–9.
- 116. Potts JR, Howard MR, Verma S. Recurrent severe alcoholic hepatitis: clinical characteristics and outcomes. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;25:659–64.
- 117. Thun MJ, Peto R, Lopez AD, Monaco JH, Henley SJ, Heath CW Jr, et al. Alcohol consumption and mortality among middle-aged and elderly U.S. adults. N Engl J Med. 1997;337:1705–14.
- 118. Yoon YH, Chen CM, Slater ME, Jung MK, White AM. Trends in premature deaths from alcoholic liver disease in the U.S., 1999-2018. Am J Prev Med. 2020;59:469–80.
- 119. Singal AK, Arsalan A, Dunn W, Arab JP, Wong RJ, Kuo YF, et al. Alcohol-associated liver disease in the United States is associated with severe forms of disease among young, females and Hispanics. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2021;54:451–61.
- 120. van de Waterbeemd H, Gifford E. ADMET in silico modelling: towards prediction paradise? Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2003;2:192–204.
- 121. Baraona E, Abittan CS, Dohmen K, Moretti M, Pozzato G, Chayes ZW, et al. Gender differences in pharmacokinetics of alcohol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 2001;25:502–7.

- 122. Hagedorn JC, Encarnacion B, Brat GA, Morton JM. Does gastric bypass alter alcohol metabolism? Surg Obes Relat Dis. 2007;3:543–8; discussion 8
- 123. Jarvelainen HA, Lukkari TA, Heinaro S, Sippel H, Lindros KO. The antiestrogen toremifene protects against alcoholic liver injury in female rats. J Hepatol. 2001;35:46–52.
- 124. Agrawal AK, Shapiro BH. Intrinsic signals in the sexually dimorphic circulating growth hormone profiles of the rat. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2001;173:167–81.
- 125. Eagon PK. Alcoholic liver injury: influence of gender and hormones. World J Gastroenterol. 2010;16:1377–84.
- 126. Kim W. Epidemiologic landscape of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is changed During lifetime by menstrual and reproductive status and sex hormonal factors. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2021;19:1114–6.
- 127. Eagon PK, Willett JE, Seguiti SM, Appler ML, Gavaler JS, Van Thiel DH. Androgen-responsive functions of male rat liver. Effect of chronic alcohol ingestion. Gastroenterology. 1987;93:1162–9.
- 128. Ameen C, Oscarsson J. Sex difference in hepatic microsomal triglyceride transfer protein expression is determined by the growth hormone secretory pattern in the rat. Endocrinology. 2003;144:3914–21.
- Shapiro BH, Agrawal AK, Pampori NA. Gender differences in drug metabolism regulated by growth hormone. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 1995;27:9–20.
- Nolan JP. Endotoxin, reticuloendothelial function, and liver injury. Hepatology. 1981;1:458–65.
- 131. McElroy LM, Likhitsup A, Scott Winder G, Saeed N, Hassan A, Sonnenday CJ, et al. Gender disparities in patients with alcoholic liver disease evaluated for liver transplantation. Transplantation. 2020;104:293–8.
- 132. Wang SH, Chen PJ, Yeh SH. Gender disparity in chronic hepatitis B: mechanisms of sex hormones. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015;30:1237–45.
- 133. Farza H, Salmon AM, Hadchouel M, Moreau JL, Babinet C, Tiollais P, et al. Hepatitis B surface antigen gene expression is regulated by sex steroids and glucocorticoids in transgenic mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1987;84:1187–91.
- 134. Breidbart S, Burk RD, Saenger P. Hormonal regulation of hepatitis B virus gene expression: influence of androgen receptor. Pediatr Res. 1993;34:300–2.
- 135. Tsay PK, Tai DI, Chen YM, Yu CP, Wan SY, Shen YJ, et al. Impact of gender, viral transmission and aging in the prevalence of hepatitis B surface antigen. Chang Gung Med J. 2009;32:155–64.
- 136. Kosinska AD, Pishraft-Sabet L, Wu W, Fang Z, Lenart M, Chen J, et al. Low hepatitis B virusspecific T-cell response in males correlates with high regulatory T-cell numbers in murine models. Hepatology. 2017;66:69–83.
- 137. Yan Z, Tan W, Dan Y, Zhao W, Deng C, Wang Y, et al. Estrogen receptor alpha gene polymorphisms and risk of HBV-related acute liver failure in the Chinese population. BMC Med Genet. 2012;13:49.

- 138. Deng G, Zhou G, Zhai Y, Li S, Li X, Li Y, et al. Association of estrogen receptor alpha polymorphisms with susceptibility to chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Hepatology. 2004;40:318–26.
- 139. Scully EP. Sex differences in HIV infection. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2018;15:136–46.
- 140. Ziegler SM, Altfeld M. Human immunodeficiency virus 1 and Type I interferons-where sex makes a difference. Front Immunol. 2017;8:1224.
- 141. Hassan MM, Botrus G, Abdel-Wahab R, Wolff RA, Li D, Tweardy D, et al. Estrogen replacement reduces risk and increases survival times of women with hepatocellular Carcinoma. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;15:1791–9.
- 142. Weyn C, Vanderwinden JM, Rasschaert J, Englert Y, Fontaine V. Regulation of human papillomavirus type 16 early gene expression in trophoblastic and cervical cells. Virology. 2011;412:146–55.
- 143. Itaborahy RM, Mancini DA, de Medeiros SF. Response to the influenza vaccine based on estradiol use in menopausal women. Vaccine. 2016;34:1358–62.
- 144. Peretz J, Pekosz A, Lane AP, Klein SL. Estrogenic compounds reduce influenza A virus replication in primary human nasal epithelial cells derived from female, but not male, donors. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2016;310:L415–25.
- 145. Furman D, Hejblum BP, Simon N, Jojic V, Dekker CL, Thiebaut R, et al. Systems analysis of sex differences reveals an immunosuppressive role for testosterone in the response to influenza vaccination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111:869–74.
- 146. Yasuda M, Shimizu I, Shiba M, Ito S. Suppressive effects of estradiol on dimethylnitrosamineinduced fibrosis of the liver in rats. Hepatology. 1999;29:719–27.
- 147. Sumi D, Hayashi T, Matsui-Hirai H, Jacobs AT, Ignarro LJ, Iguchi A. 17beta-estradiol inhibits NADPH oxidase activity through the regulation of p47phox mRNA and protein expression in THP-1 cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2003;1640:113-8.
- 148. Dorak MT, Karpuzoglu E. Gender differences in cancer susceptibility: an inadequately addressed issue. Front Genet. 2012;3:268.
- 149. Wang SH, Yeh SH, Lin WH, Yeh KH, Yuan Q, Xia NS, et al. Estrogen receptor alpha represses transcription of HBV genes via interaction with hepatocyte nuclear factor 4alpha. Gastroenterology. 2012;142:989–98.e4.
- 150. Wang SH, Yeh SH, Lin WH, Wang HY, Chen DS, Chen PJ. Identification of androgen response elements in the enhancer I of hepatitis B virus: a mechanism for sex disparity in chronic hepatitis B. Hepatology. 2009;50:1392–402.
- 151. Ni Y, Lempp FA, Mehrle S, Nkongolo S, Kaufman C, Falth M, et al. Hepatitis B and D viruses exploit sodium taurocholate co-transporting polypeptide for species-specific entry into hepatocytes. Gastroenterology. 2014;146:1070–83.

- 152. Cao J, Wood M, Liu Y, Hoffman T, Hyde J, Park-Sarge OK, et al. Estradiol represses prolactin-induced expression of Na+/taurocholate cotransporting polypeptide in liver cells through estrogen receptor-alpha and signal transducers and activators of transcription 5a. Endocrinology. 2004;145:1739–49.
- 153. Klein SL, Pekosz A. Sex-based biology and the rational design of influenza vaccination strategies. J Infect Dis. 2014;209(Suppl 3):S114–9.
- 154. Zacharakis GH, Koskinas J, Kotsiou S, Papoutselis M, Tzara F, Vafeiadis N, et al. Natural history of chronic HBV infection: a cohort study with up to 12 years follow-up in North Greece (part of the Interreg I-II/EC-project). J Med Virol. 2005;77:173–9.
- 155. Lai JJ, Lai KP, Zeng W, Chuang KH, Altuwaijri S, Chang C. Androgen receptor influences on body defense system via modulation of innate and adaptive immune systems: lessons from conditional AR knockout mice. Am J Pathol. 2012;181:1504–12.
- Ghosh S, Klein RS. Sex drives dimorphic immune responses to viral infections. J Immunol. 2017;198:1782–90.
- 157. Klein SL, Flanagan KL. Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2016;16:626–38.
- Ruggieri A, Barbati C, Malorni W. Cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in hepatocellular carcinoma gender disparity. Int J Cancer. 2010;127:499–504.
- 159. Di Martino V, Lebray P, Myers RP, Pannier E, Paradis V, Charlotte F, et al. Progression of liver fibrosis in women infected with hepatitis C: longterm benefit of estrogen exposure. Hepatology. 2004;40:1426–33.
- 160. Thomas DL, Thio CL, Martin MP, Qi Y, Ge D, O'Huigin C, et al. Genetic variation in IL28B and spontaneous clearance of hepatitis C virus. Nature. 2009;461:798–801.
- 161. Wang CC, Krantz E, Klarquist J, Krows M, McBride L, Scott EP, et al. Acute hepatitis C in a contemporary US cohort: modes of acquisition and factors influencing viral clearance. J Infect Dis. 2007;196:1474–82.
- 162. Grebely J, Page K, Sacks-Davis R, van der Loeff MS, Rice TM, Bruneau J, et al. The effects of female sex, viral genotype, and IL28B genotype on spontaneous clearance of acute hepatitis C virus infection. Hepatology. 2014;59:109–20.
- 163. Armstrong GL, Wasley A, Simard EP, McQuillan GM, Kuhnert WL, Alter MJ. The prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection in the United States, 1999 through 2002. Ann Intern Med. 2006;144:705–14.
- 164. Bakr I, Rekacewicz C, El Hosseiny M, Ismail S, El Daly M, El-Kafrawy S, et al. Higher clearance of hepatitis C virus infection in females compared with males. Gut. 2006;55:1183–7.
- 165. Poynard T, Bedossa P, Opolon P. Natural history of liver fibrosis progression in patients with chronic hepatitis C. The OBSVIRC, METAVIR, CLINIVIR, and DOSVIRC groups. Lancet. 1997;349:825–32.

- 166. Kenny-Walsh E. Clinical outcomes after hepatitis C infection from contaminated anti-D immune globulin. Irish Hepatology Research Group. N Engl J Med. 1999;340:1228–33.
- 167. Wiese M, Grungreiff K, Guthoff W, Lafrenz M, Oesen U, Porst H, et al. Outcome in a hepatitis C (genotype 1b) single source outbreak in Germany--a 25-year multicenter study. J Hepatol. 2005;43:590–8.
- 168. Wiese M, Fischer J, Lobermann M, Gobel U, Grungreiff K, Guthoff W, et al. Evaluation of liver disease progression in the German hepatitis C virus (1b)-contaminated anti-D cohort at 35 years after infection. Hepatology. 2014;59:49–57.
- 169. Villa E, Karampatou A, Camma C, Di Leo A, Luongo M, Ferrari A, et al. Early menopause is associated with lack of response to antiviral therapy in women with chronic hepatitis C. Gastroenterology. 2011;140:818–29.
- 170. Yu JW, Sun LJ, Zhao YH, Kang P, Yan BZ. Impact of sex on virologic response rates in genotype 1 chronic hepatitis C patients with peginterferon alpha-2a and ribavirin treatment. Int J Infect Dis. 2011;15:e740–6.
- 171. Iyer JK, Kalra M, Kaul A, Payton ME, Kaul R. Estrogen receptor expression in chronic hepatitis C and hepatocellular carcinoma pathogenesis. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23:6802–16.
- 172. Hayashida K, Shoji I, Deng L, Jiang DP, Ide YH, Hotta H. 17beta-estradiol inhibits the production of infectious particles of hepatitis C virus. Microbiol Immunol. 2010;54:684–90.
- 173. Magri A, Barbaglia MN, Foglia CZ, Boccato E, Burlone ME, Cole S, et al. 17,beta-estradiol inhibits hepatitis C virus mainly by interference with the release phase of its life cycle. Liver Int. 2017;37:669–77.
- 174. Ulitzky L, Lafer MM, KuKuruga MA, Silberstein E, Cehan N, Taylor DR. A new signaling pathway for HCV inhibition by estrogen: GPR30 activation leads to cleavage of Occludin by MMP-9. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0145212.
- 175. Hezode C, Lonjon I, Roudot-Thoraval F, Pawlotsky JM, Zafrani ES, Dhumeaux D. Impact of moderate alcohol consumption on histological activity and fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C, and specific influence of steatosis: a prospective study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2003;17:1031–7.
- 176. Manns MP, McHutchison JG, Gordon SC, Rustgi VK, Shiffman M, Reindollar R, et al. Peginterferon alfa-2b plus ribavirin compared with interferon alfa-2b plus ribavirin for initial treatment of chronic hepatitis C: a randomised trial. Lancet. 2001;358:958–65.
- 177. McHutchison JG, Lawitz EJ, Shiffman ML, Muir AJ, Galler GW, McCone J, et al. Peginterferon alfa-2b or alfa-2a with ribavirin for treatment of hepatitis C infection. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:580–93.
- 178. Floreani A, Cazzagon N, Boemo DG, Baldovin T, Baldo V, Egoue J, et al. Female patients in fertile age with chronic hepatitis C, easy genotype, and persis-

tently normal transaminases have a 100% chance to reach a sustained virological response. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011;23:997–1003.

179. Ogawa E, Furusyo N, Kajiwara E, Takahashi K, Nomura H, Maruyama T, et al. Efficacy of pegylated interferon alpha-2b and ribavirin treatment on the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with chronic hepatitis C: a prospective, multicenter study. J Hepatol. 2013;58:495–501.

180. Furusyo N, Ogawa E, Sudoh M, Murata M, Ihara T, Hayashi T, et al. Raloxifene hydrochloride is an adjuvant antiviral treatment of postmenopausal women with chronic hepatitis C: a randomized trial. J Hepatol. 2012;57:1186–92.

Hepatocellular Carcinoma

Won Kim

15.1 Introduction

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) prevalence and incidence vary considerably by age, sex, and race/ethnicity. In particular, sex-related variations in HCC have been frequently found in mammals ranging from rodents to humans and were first described in mice in the late 1930s, with female mice being resistant to HCC [1]. The comparative studies have identified that a marked feature of HCC is that males have a higher incidence and worse prognosis compared with females [2]. The striking sex difference implies an important role of sex hormones in the pathogenesis of HCC [3]. The sex difference of HCC has revealed that a ratio of estrogen and testosterone levels may be associated with the development and progression of HCC, suggesting that estrogen- and androgen-mediated signaling pathways may regulate the risk of HCC [4, 5]. Recently, increasing attention has been focused on the genetic alterations of sex chromosomes, which may account for the sex difference of HCC [6-8]. Substantial efforts have been exerted in

Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul Metropolitan Government Boramae Medical Center, Seoul, Korea (Republic of) e-mail: drwon1@snu.ac.kr exploring the molecular mechanisms involved in the sex difference of HCC [4, 5, 8]. In this chapter, we will discuss sex differences in the clinical outcomes and molecular pathobiology of HCC, such as sex hormones, including androgen and estrogen and their receptors, as well as sex chromosomes in the pathogenesis of HCC.

15.2 Clinical Sex Differences in Hepatocellular Carcinoma

HCC has been reported more frequently in men than in women with a male-to-female incidence ratio of 3:1, and this discrepancy is also observed in mice models [4, 9]. Although the biological grounds underlying this sex disparity in the prevalence of HCC are incompletely understood, the disparities in sex distribution are thought to be due to variations in viral hepatitis carrier states, exposure to environmental toxins, or potentially protective effects of estrogen mediated through inhibition of interleukin 6 (IL-6) [4]. Male sex is an independent risk factor for poor outcome of HCC, and females are more likely to be amenable to curative resection or transplantation [10]. Hepatitis B virus (HBV)-related HCC prevalence is much higher in men than in women, and a male-to-female ratio for patients with HBVrelated HCC has been reported to be even higher than that of patients with hepatitis C virus (HCV)related HCC [11]. This effect might be explained



229

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_15

W. Kim (🖂)

by regional characteristics (e.g., a higher prevalence of HBV and HCV infection among men). Sexual dimorphisms in metabolism are well acknowledged [12-14] and partly account for sex differences in HCC risk. Several other risk factors for HCC have been suggested for an interaction with sex. Obesity has been associated with a higher risk of HCC in men than in women, especially in non-Asians [15]. A recent study demonstrated a different relationship between body mass index and HCC risk according to sex, with a U-shaped and a linear curve for men and women, respectively [16]. A stronger risk association between diabetes mellitus and HCC has also been reported in men than in women [16– 18]. In addition, men are more prone to acquire HBV and HCV infections and develop chronic hepatitis, cirrhosis, and HCC than women [19]. Recent epidemiological studies have demonstrated that compared to men, women with HCC presented with older age, higher frequency of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, non-cirrhotic HCC, less-advanced stage, and lower frequency of alcohol-related liver disease [20-22]. Previous studies regarding sex disparities in survival rates have yielded conflicting results. Two recent studies reported higher overall survival rates among women after adjusting for confounding factors [20, 21]. Consistently, one of these demonstrated that female sex was independently associated with early HCC detection and response to initial treatment [20]. Conversely, other studies found no sex differences in the prognosis of HCC [22, 23], whereas Asian studies did [24–27]. Another study showed age, sex, and ethnicity interaction in survival rates; women had higher survival rates from HCC than men <55 years, while after 65 years or among Hispanics, there was no survival difference between sexes [27]. A similar interplay between age and sex in HCC survival and further possible age, sex, and race/ethnicity interaction in HCC survival were also found [28]. Future studies with consideration of these interactions are warranted to reconcile this inconsistency between studies.

15.3 Sex Disparity in Hepatocellular Carcinoma Pathobiology

Sex differences are well recognized in cancer mechanisms [29]. Compared to females, males are more susceptible to oxidative stress due to higher NADPH oxidase activity, lower nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2), and lower anti-oxidants [30-32] and have higher induction of IL-6 by Kupffer cells under liver injury [4]. Contrarily, higher physiological estrogen levels protect females from HCC development via the anti-oxidative effect of estrogen [30, 32], anti-fibrotic effect [13], and inhibitory effect on IL-6 production by Kupffer cells [4]. Antiviral immune response modulation by sex hormones may also contribute to explain HCC prevalence in male gender. Estrogens transcriptionally inhibit IL-6, through reduction of MyD88-dependent induction of NF- κ B [4, 33]. The protective effect of estrogen is lost after menopause, which may account for the fact that male predominance in HCC incidence attenuates with aging [34]. A higher serotonin synthesis and accumulation in male zebrafish resulted in increased activation of hepatic stellate cells and transforming growth factor $\beta 1$ expression, which has contributed to the accelerated progression of HCC in male zebrafish with activated *Kras* oncogene expression [35]. Gut microbiota also exhibits sex differences in HCC [36–39]. In an experimental mouse model, higher hepatic hydrophobic bile acid levels were noticed in males, which was associated with a decreased expression of tumor-suppressive microRNA (miR) in the liver and increased incidence of HCC [39]. In addition, similar sex differences in bile acid profiles also exist in humans [38], suggesting that sex differences in gut microbiota and bile acid profiles may contribute to male predominance in the development of HCC. Sex disparities in HCC pathobiology have extensively been explored in functional signatures of differentially expressed genes [40, 41], expression quantitative trait loci [42], and cancer-related driver

genes [42]. These studies demonstrated that HCC in men and women are biologically distinct and may respond differently to anti-cancer treatments.

15.4 Sex Hormones in Hepatocellular Carcinoma Pathobiology

Women's resistance to HCC can be largely explained by the effect of sex hormones, as evidenced by an exceptional increase in HCC incidence in postmenopausal women. Of note, sex-related hormones, such as androgen, progesterone, and estrogen, play an important role in HCC development. Both androgen and estrogen are able to induce hepatocellular adenoma, ultimately leading to HCC development even in individuals without underlying liver disease. HCC tumor tissues express estrogen receptors (ERs), although the clinical significance remains debatable [43, 44]. Normal liver expresses both ER α and ER β and is responsive to estrogenic stimulus; however, normal male livers have higher expression of ERa compared to normal female livers. Contrarily, in HCV-related HCC, ER α level has been decreased only in male patients compared to normal male livers [45]. The effect of sex hormones on HCC development is mainly thought to occur on the DNA level, since lipid-soluble sex hormones enter the plasma membrane and interact with intracellular receptors. Androgen receptor (AR) and ERa act in an antagonistic manner through differential regulation of gene expression. A central role for the transcription factors Foxa1/Foxa2 in controlling estrogen and androgen signaling was proposed [46]. Estrogens may act as a suppressor of HCC by reducing production of IL-6 [4]. In fact, ablation of IL-6 abolishes sex differences in hepatocarcinogenesis in mice, and IL-6 has been reported to be a target of the Foxa transcription factor [47]. Estrogens can exert both tumorigenic and anti-tumorigenic properties. Androgens contribute to HCC development as a tumor promoter by upregulation of β -catenin/T-

cell factor signaling and via induction of oxidative stress and DNA damage [4, 48, 49]. Several studies have evaluated the anti-tumor effect of antiestrogen therapy in patients with HCC. Since ERs are present in one third of HCCs and estrogen-dependent HCC growth has been shown in experimental models, HCC could potentially benefit from ER blockage. However, tamoxifen treatment in patients with advanced HCC has failed to show survival benefit [50–52]. As tamoxifen is the inhibitor of p-glycoprotein, a multidrug resistance gene protein, addition of tamoxifen to chemotherapy has also failed to show any survival benefit [50, 53]. Megestrol, a progestin with progestogenic and weak partial androgenic activity, has even shown a trend toward worse survival [53].

15.5 Sex Chromosomes in Hepatocellular Carcinoma Pathobiology

Genetic alterations of chromosomes X and Y are frequently found in patients with HCC, including chromosome-specific gene change, oncogene or tumor suppressor gene expression, and structural rearrangements of chromosomes [7, 8, 54]. This suggests that genes located on sex chromosomes may be responsible for HCC [55, 56]. A large body of evidence has shown direct involvement of X chromosome-encoded genes in cancer development. The X chromosome is highly enriched in immune-related genes including several X-linked miRs located within an estrogen response element. Alterations in the Y chromosome are also frequently found in malignancies. Loss of Y chromosome has been reported for several cancers, although whether this is a cause or consequence of malignant transformation remains unclear. In particular, sex-determining region Y (SRY) expression confers malignant properties in HCC [57]. SRY upregulates Sgf29 gene expression and thus suppresses c-Mycmediated malignant transformation. Moreover, SRY expression induces multiple stem cell factors, and ablation of SRY can suppress HCC development [58]. Testis-specific Y-encoded protein 1 (TSPY) is a Y-linked gene that has a significant effect on HCC development [59]. TSPY is encoded by the Y chromosome and coexpressed with AR in HCC cells. Therefore, a crosstalk between AR and TSPY is implicated in male hepatocarcinogenesis [60]. TSPY is an oncogene with well-known functions in germ cell differentiation, mitosis, and meiosis [61] and promotes cell proliferation and oncogenesis, whereas its X-located homolog, TSPY homolog X (TSPX), retards cell cycle and oncogenic progression. TSPX promotes proteasomal degradation of HBV-encoded X oncoprotein and has been suggested as a tumor suppressor in HBVrelated HCC [62]. Lastly, RNA-binding motif protein (RBMY) has been suggested as a candidate oncogene specific for male HCC [63] and, similar to TSPY, seems to be involved in the regulation of AR activity and contributes to male predominance in the development of HCC [64].

15.6 Conclusions

HCC is characterized by an obvious sex disparity, although it lacks an exact mechanistic basis. This chapter recapitulated recent research investigating the role of sex hormones and sex chromosomes in this sex-specific hepatocarcinogenesis. Sex hormones and their corresponding receptors comprise two tumor-promoting and inhibiting signaling pathways through different networks. Genetic alterations in sex chromosomes may also contribute to the exact mechanism underlying sex disparity in the development and progression of HCC. In brief, sex disparity in HCC is attributed to multiple mechanisms, and simultaneous targeting of both sex hormones and sex chromosomes may be a novel and promising therapeutic strategy against HCC. Further mechanistic understanding of sex differences in hepatocarcinogenesis, along with epidemiological characterization and incorporation of reproductive history, would enable accurate risk stratification and personalized therapeutic approaches.

References

- Zhao Y, Li Z. Interplay of estrogen receptors and FOXA factors in the liver cancer. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2015;418(Pt 3):334–9.
- Torre LA, Siegel RL, Ward EM, Jemal A. Global cancer incidence and mortality rates and trends – an update. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2016;25:16–27.
- Yeh SH, Chen PJ. Gender disparity of hepatocellular carcinoma: the roles of sex hormones. Oncology. 2010;78(Suppl 1):172–9.
- Naugler WE, Sakurai T, Kim S, Maeda S, Kim K, Elsharkawy AM, et al. Gender disparity in liver cancer due to sex differences in MyD88-dependent IL-6 production. Science. 2007;317:121–4.
- Wang SH, Yeh SH, Lin WH, Wang HY, Chen DS, Chen PJ. Identification of androgen response elements in the enhancer I of hepatitis B virus: a mechanism for sex disparity in chronic hepatitis B. Hepatology. 2009;50:1392–402.
- Jiang HL, Xu D, Yu H, Ma X, Lin GF, Ma DY, et al. DAX-1 inhibits hepatocellular carcinoma proliferation by inhibiting beta-catenin transcriptional activity. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2014;34:734–42.
- Chua HH, Tsuei DJ, Lee PH, Jeng YM, Lu J, Wu JF, et al. RBMY, a novel inhibitor of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta, increases tumor stemness and predicts poor prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2015;62:1480–96.
- Liu C, Ren YF, Dong J, Ke MY, Ma F, Monga SPS, et al. Activation of SRY accounts for male-specific hepatocarcinogenesis: implication in gender disparity of hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Lett. 2017;410:20–31.
- Global Burden of Disease Liver Cancer C, Akinyemiju T, Abera S, Ahmed M, Alam N, Alemayohu MA, et al. The Burden of Primary Liver Cancer and Underlying Etiologies From 1990 to 2015 at the Global, Regional, and National Level: Results From the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3:1683–91.
- Farinati F, Sergio A, Giacomin A, Di Nolfo MA, Del Poggio P, Benvegnu L, et al. Is female sex a significant favorable prognostic factor in hepatocellular carcinoma? Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2009;21:1212–8.
- Lee CM, Lu SN, Changchien CS, Yeh CT, Hsu TT, Tang JH, et al. Age, gender, and local geographic variations of viral etiology of hepatocellular carcinoma in a hyperendemic area for hepatitis B virus infection. Cancer. 1999;86:1143–50.
- Lonardo A, Nascimbeni F, Ballestri S, Fairweather D, Win S, Than TA, et al. Sex differences in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: state of the art and identification of research gaps. Hepatology. 2019;70:1457–69.
- Lonardo A, Suzuki A. Sexual dimorphism of NAFLD in adults. Focus on clinical aspects and implications for practice and translational research. J Clin Med. 2020;9:1278.

- Mauvais-Jarvis F, Bairey Merz N, Barnes PJ, Brinton RD, Carrero JJ, DeMeo DL, et al. Sex and gender: modifiers of health, disease, and medicine. Lancet. 2020;396:565–82.
- Yao KF, Ma M, Ding GY, Li ZM, Chen HL, Han B, et al. Meta-analysis reveals gender difference in the association of liver cancer incidence and excess BMI. Oncotarget. 2017;8:72959–71.
- Chen CL, Kuo MJ, Yen AM, Yang WS, Kao JH, Chen PJ, et al. Gender difference in the association between metabolic factors and hepatocellular carcinoma. JNCI Cancer Spectr. 2020;4:pkaa036.
- El-Serag HB, Hampel H, Javadi F. The association between diabetes and hepatocellular carcinoma: a systematic review of epidemiologic evidence. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2006;4:369–80.
- Borena W, Strohmaier S, Lukanova A, Bjorge T, Lindkvist B, Hallmans G, et al. Metabolic risk factors and primary liver cancer in a prospective study of 578,700 adults. Int J Cancer. 2012;131:193–200.
- El-Serag HB. Epidemiology of viral hepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 2012;142:1264–73 e1.
- Rich NE, Murphy CC, Yopp AC, Tiro J, Marrero JA, Singal AG. Sex disparities in presentation and prognosis of 1110 patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2020;52:701–9.
- Phipps M, Livanos A, Guo A, Pomenti S, Yeh J, Dakhoul L, et al. Gender matters: characteristics of hepatocellular carcinoma in women from a large, multicenter study in the United States. Am J Gastroenterol. 2020;115:1486–95.
- 22. Wu EM, Wong LL, Hernandez BY, Ji JF, Jia W, Kwee SA, et al. Gender differences in hepatocellular cancer: disparities in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease/steato-hepatitis and liver transplantation. Hepatoma Res. 2018;4:66.
- 23. Ladenheim MR, Kim NG, Nguyen P, Le A, Stefanick ML, Garcia G, et al. Sex differences in disease presentation, treatment and clinical outcomes of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: a single-centre cohort study. BMJ Open Gastroenterol. 2016;3:e000107.
- 24. Lai MW, Chu YD, Lin CL, Chien RN, Yeh TS, Pan TL, et al. Is there a sex difference in postoperative prognosis of hepatocellular carcinoma? BMC Cancer. 2019;19:250.
- Lam CM, Yong JL, Chan AO, Ng KK, Poon RT, Liu CL, et al. Better survival in female patients with hepatocellular carcinoma: oral contraceptive pills related? J Clin Gastroenterol. 2005;39:533–9.
- Dohmen K, Shigematsu H, Irie K, Ishibashi H. Longer survival in female than male with hepatocellular carcinoma. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2003;18:267–72.
- Tangkijvanich P, Mahachai V, Suwangool P, Poovorawan Y. Gender difference in clinicopathologic features and survival of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2004;10:1547–50.
- Yang D, Hanna DL, Usher J, LoCoco J, Chaudhari P, Lenz HJ, et al. Impact of sex on the survival of patients

with hepatocellular carcinoma: a Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results analysis. Cancer. 2014;120:3707–16.

- Rubin JB, Lagas JS, Broestl L, Sponagel J, Rockwell N, Rhee G, et al. Sex differences in cancer mechanisms. Biol Sex Differ. 2020;11:17.
- Augustine LM, Fisher CD, Lickteig AJ, Aleksunes LM, Slitt AL, Cherrington NJ. Gender divergent expression of Nqo1 in Sprague Dawley and August Copenhagen x Irish rats. J Biochem Mol Toxicol. 2008;22:93–100.
- 31. Kratschmar DV, Calabrese D, Walsh J, Lister A, Birk J, Appenzeller-Herzog C, et al. Suppression of the Nrf2-dependent antioxidant response by glucocorticoids and 11beta-HSD1-mediated glucocorticoid activation in hepatic cells. PLoS One. 2012;7:e36774.
- Tenkorang MA, Snyder B, Cunningham RL. Sexrelated differences in oxidative stress and neurodegeneration. Steroids. 2018;133:21–7.
- Prieto J. Inflammation, HCC and sex: IL-6 in the centre of the triangle. J Hepatol. 2008;48:380–1.
- 34. Liu P, Xie SH, Hu S, Cheng X, Gao T, Zhang C, et al. Age-specific sex difference in the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in the United States. Oncotarget. 2017;8:68131–7.
- Yang Q, Yan C, Yin C, Gong Z. Serotonin activated hepatic stellate cells contribute to sex disparity in hepatocellular carcinoma. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;3:484–99.
- 36. Santos-Marcos JA, Rangel-Zuniga OA, Jimenez-Lucena R, Quintana-Navarro GM, Garcia-Carpintero S, Malagon MM, et al. Influence of gender and menopausal status on gut microbiota. Maturitas. 2018;116:43–53.
- 37. Santos-Marcos JA, Haro C, Vega-Rojas A, Alcala-Diaz JF, Molina-Abril H, Leon-Acuna A, et al. Sex differences in the gut microbiota as potential determinants of gender predisposition to disease. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2019;63:e1800870.
- Xie G, Wang X, Zhao A, Yan J, Chen W, Jiang R, et al. Sex-dependent effects on gut microbiota regulate hepatic carcinogenic outcomes. Sci Rep. 2017;7:45232.
- Kim YS, Unno T, Kim BY, Park MS. Sex differences in gut microbiota. World J Mens Health. 2020;38:48–60.
- Natri HM, Wilson MA, Buetow KH. Distinct molecular etiologies of male and female hepatocellular carcinoma. BMC Cancer. 2019;19:951.
- 41. Villa E, Moles A, Ferretti I, Buttafoco P, Grottola A, Del Buono M, et al. Natural history of inoperable hepatocellular carcinoma: estrogen receptors' status in the tumor is the strongest prognostic factor for survival. Hepatology. 2000;32:233–8.
- Li CH, Haider S, Shiah YJ, Thai K, Boutros PC. Sex differences in cancer driver genes and biomarkers. Cancer Res. 2018;78:5527–37.
- Kalra M, Mayes J, Assefa S, Kaul AK, Kaul R. Role of sex steroid receptors in pathobiology of hepatocellular carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 2008;14:5945–61.

- 44. Sukocheva OA. Estrogen, estrogen receptors, and hepatocellular carcinoma: are we there yet? World J Gastroenterol. 2018;24:1–4.
- 45. Iyer JK, Kalra M, Kaul A, Payton ME, Kaul R. Estrogen receptor expression in chronic hepatitis C and hepatocellular carcinoma pathogenesis. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23:6802–16.
- 46. Xu X, Hou Y, Yin X, Bao L, Tang A, Song L, et al. Single-cell exome sequencing reveals singlenucleotide mutation characteristics of a kidney tumor. Cell. 2012;148:886–95.
- 47. Li Z, White P, Tuteja G, Rubins N, Sackett S, Kaestner KH. Foxa1 and Foxa2 regulate bile duct development in mice. J Clin Invest. 2009;119:1537–45.
- Ma WL, Hsu CL, Yeh CC, Wu MH, Huang CK, Jeng LB, et al. Hepatic androgen receptor suppresses hepatocellular carcinoma metastasis through modulation of cell migration and anoikis. Hepatology. 2012;56:176–85.
- 49. Feng H, Cheng AS, Tsang DP, Li MS, Go MY, Cheung YS, et al. Cell cycle-related kinase is a direct androgen receptor-regulated gene that drives betacatenin/T cell factor-dependent hepatocarcinogenesis. J Clin Invest. 2011;121:3159–75.
- 50. Chou WC, Su IJ, Tien HF, Liang DC, Wang CH, Chang YC, et al. Clinicopathologic, cytogenetic, and molecular studies of 13 Chinese Patients with Ki-1 anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Special emphasis on the tumor response to 13-cis retinoic acid. Cancer. 1996;78:1805–12.
- Tamoxifen in treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: a randomised controlled trial. CLIP Group (Cancer of the Liver Italian Programme). Lancet. 1998;352:17–20.
- Lasset C, Bonadona V, Chauvin F, Mignotte H, Bremond A. Risk of endometrial cancer in premenopausal women on tamoxifen. Lancet. 1998;352:1476.
- Dorak MT, Karpuzoglu E. Gender differences in cancer susceptibility: an inadequately addressed issue. Front Genet. 2012;3:268.
- Zhang S, Shu R, Yue M, Zhang S. Effect of overexpression of zinc-finger protein (ZFX) on selfrenewal and drug-resistance of hepatocellular carcinoma. Med Sci Monit. 2016;22:3025–34.

- Park SJ, Jeong SY, Kim HJ. Y chromosome loss and other genomic alterations in hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines analyzed by CGH and CGH array. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 2006;166:56–64.
- 56. Liu J, Wang ZM, Zhen SF, Wu XP, Ma DX, Li ZH, et al. Aberration of X chromosome in liver neoplasm detected by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int. 2004;3:110–4.
- 57. Murakami S, Ninomiya W, Sakamoto E, Shibata T, Akiyama H, Tashiro F. SRY and OCT4 are required for the acquisition of cancer stem cell-like properties and are potential differentiation therapy targets. Stem Cells. 2015;33:2652–63.
- Murakami S, Chishima S, Uemoto H, Sakamoto E, Sato T, Kurabe N, et al. The male-specific factor Sry harbors an oncogenic function. Oncogene. 2014;33:2978–86.
- 59. Kido T, Lo RC, Li Y, Lee J, Tabatabai ZL, Ng IO, et al. The potential contributions of a Y-located protooncogene and its X homologue in sexual dimorphisms in hepatocellular carcinoma. Hum Pathol. 2014;45:1847–58.
- 60. Li S, Mo C, Huang S, Yang S, Lu Y, Peng Q, et al. Over-expressed Testis-specific Protein Y-encoded 1 as a novel biomarker for male hepatocellular carcinoma. PLoS One. 2014;9:e89219.
- Lau YF, Li Y, Kido T. Gonadoblastoma locus and the TSPY gene on the human Y chromosome. Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today. 2009;87:114–22.
- 62. Kido T, Ou JH, Lau YF. The X-linked tumor suppressor TSPX interacts and promotes degradation of the hepatitis B viral protein HBx via the proteasome pathway. PLoS One. 2011;6:e22979.
- 63. Tsuei DJ, Hsu HC, Lee PH, Jeng YM, Pu YS, Chen CN, et al. RBMY, a male germ cell-specific RNA-binding protein, activated in human liver cancers and transforms rodent fibroblasts. Oncogene. 2004;23:5815–22.
- 64. Tsuei DJ, Lee PH, Peng HY, Lu HL, Su DS, Jeng YM, et al. Male germ cell-specific RNA binding protein RBMY: a new oncogene explaining male predominance in liver cancer. PLoS One. 2011;6:e26948.

Part VIII

Colon

Irritable Bowel Syndrome

Nayoung Kim

16.1 Introduction

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) is a chronic functional gastrointestinal disorder (FGID) characterized by repeated changes in the form of stool or defecation habits with abdominal pain or discomfort without organic diseases. IBS is a common disorder, with a prevalence of 7-24% among women and 5-19% among men (i.e., IBS is more common among women) [1-3]. IBS is one of the most common reasons for visits to primary healthcare facilities, and patients with IBS commonly present with symptoms unrelated to the digestive system such as migraine and fibromyalgia [4, 5]. The symptoms of IBS occur irregularly, can vary depending on time, and demonstrate a considerable degree of variation, as overlap syndrome where IBS presents with other functional disorders is common. Therefore, a more objective diagnosis needs to be made, and patients can be categorized into more homogeneous groups by using internationally developed diagnostic criteria. Various diagnostic criteria approved internationally have been used, and the Rome IV diagnostic criteria (2016), which are a revised version of the Rome III diagnostic criteria (2006),

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National

University College of Medicine, Seoul National

University Bundang Hospital,

e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr

Seongnam, Korea (Republic of)

currently constitute the most commonly used diagnostic framework [6]. IBS is the first FGID to which the concept of sex/gender-specific medicine has been applied not only because it is more common among women but also because IBS in female patients is influenced more by the braingut axis. IBS with predominant constipation (IBS-C) is more common among women, and they have more severe symptoms [7]. In contrast, postinfectious IBS or IBS with predominant diarrhea (IBS-D) is more common among male patients. This review aims to provide the sex/gender differences in the epidemiology, mechanism, symptoms, and treatment of IBS.

16.2 **Definition and Subtypes** of Irritable Bowel Syndrome

Since IBS is not an organic disease and does not have biological markers, it is diagnosed after testing for various organic diseases with similar symptoms and confirming that there are no organic causes. Therefore, the symptoms reported by patients constitute the most important evidence for diagnosis. After the awareness of FGIDs, including IBS, a classification system for research and clinical diagnosis became necessary. As there were no standards or researchbased evidence at the time of the 1988 International Congress of Gastroenterology in Rome, they developed diagnostic criteria by con-





[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_16



Fig. 16.1 Forms of stool, which are important for the diagnosis of IBS (a) and the criteria to determine the subtype of IBS (b). *IBS* irritable bowel syndrome (adapted from Lacy et al. [6])

sensus through the Delphi approach. However, as new data accumulated, revision of diagnostic criteria is needed for evidence-based approach. Thus, the Rome I diagnostic criteria was published in 1994, Rome II 2000, Rome III 2006, and Rome IV 2016 [6]. If research on the concept and pathophysiology of FGIDs accumulates, then the guidelines for FGIDs is expected to be updated. IBS is diagnosed if patients experience repeated abdominal pain for more than 1 day per week in the past 3 months and two or more items from the below list are present.

- 1. Abdominal pain is related to defecation.
- 2. Changes in the frequency of defecation.
- 3. Changes in the form of stool.

Moreover, while meeting the criteria for the past 3 months, the symptoms must have started at least 6 months ago [6]. Although not included in the criteria, symptoms that support the diagnosis are as follows: the frequency of defecation is less than or equal to three times a week or more than or equal to four times a day; the stool is thick, hard, loose, or watery; defecation needs to be forceful for expulsion; the need to defecate is urgent; defecation feels incomplete; the stool is mucous; and there is bloating. In the Rome II diagnostic criteria, IBS was categorized into IBS-C and IBS-D, but the stool can be hard even when the frequency of defecation is high (pseudodiarrhea), and on the other hand, stool can be loose or watery even when defecation is forceful. Usually, the form of stool reflects the duration of movement through the intestine, but symptoms such as forceful defecation, an urgent need for defecation, a sensation of incomplete defecation, and the frequency of defecation could be not related to the form of stool. Therefore, the Rome IV diagnostic criteria used the Bristol stool chart (Fig. 16.1a) to compensate these problems. That is, IBS was classified as IBS-C when types 1 and 2 account for more than 25% of bowel movements and types 6 and 7 are less than 25% and as IBS-D when types 6 and 7 account for more than 25% of bowel movements and types 1 and 2 are less than 25% (Fig. 16.1b). Based on these forms of stool, four subtypes-IBS-C, IBS-D, IBS with mixed bowel habits (IBS-M), and IBS unclassified (IBS-U)—were proposed [6] (Fig. 16.1b).

16.3 Epidemiology and Prevalence of Irritable Bowel Syndrome

The prevalence of IBS is known to be 10–20% internationally, but it was lower in South Korea, at around 2.2-6.6% based on Rome criteria. Its prevalence among women is about 2-2.5 times higher than its prevalence among men in all circumstances, and this finding is consistent across studies [8, 9]. However, there have been reports that this sex/gender difference was not observed in some parts of Asia and South America. According to a systematic review conducted by the Rome Foundation Committee with 83 studies in 41 countries including 288,103 individuals (55% women), the prevalence was 10.2% among women, which was higher than the prevalence of 8.8% among men, and this same phenomenon was also observed in Asia and South America [10]. In another meta-analysis with 55 studies including 162,543 individuals, the prevalence was significantly higher in women than in men (14.0% among women and 8.9% among men; odds ratio [OR] 1.67; 95% confidence interval [CI], 1.53–1.82) [11]. However, this sex/gender difference varied by region (Cochran Q, 82.89; p < 0.001 [12], and this variation can be attributed to the hygiene hypothesis and differences in the gut microbiome, diet, and utilization of hospitals [13].

The frequency of IBS does not demonstrate sex/gender differences until puberty, but differences can be observed subsequently [14]. In women, IBS frequently occurs in the late teens, increases until mid-40s, and decreases afterward until it becomes similar to that of men in the 70s [14], which suggests the influence of sex hormone. In contrast, in men, it increases from 20s but remains relatively stable until the 70s [14, 15]. Further evidence for this possibility is drawn from observations that IBS is affected by menstruation, pregnancy, menopause, and hormone replacement therapy [14, 16].

16.4 Symptoms of Irritable Bowel Syndrome

is categorized into four subtypes IBS (Fig. 16.1b)—IBS-C, IBS-D, IBS-M, and IBS-U—based on the Bristol stool types [6] (Fig. 16.1a). However, since the form of stool is not completely consistent, the categorization is based on a threshold of 25%. In addition, based on whether abdominal pain is experienced, functional constipation and IBS-C are differentiated. Similarly, IBS-D and functional diarrhea, which is diagnosed when there is repeated diarrhea without pain, are differentiated, and these two conditions can change into each other [6] (Fig. 16.2). There are substantial sex/gender differences in types, as IBS-C is more common among women and IBS-D is more common among men [11, 12, 17–19]. In a meta-analysis of 22 studies, women reported symptoms related to pain and constipation more frequently than men (all p < 0.05), and men reported symptoms related to diarrhea more often [19]. The pooled prevalence of IBS-C among women was 40%, while it was 21% among men (OR 2.38; 95% CI, 1.45-3.92), and the pooled prevalence of IBS-D among women was 31%, while it was 50% among men (OR 0.45; 95% CI, 0.32-0.65) [19]. There were no observed differences in the



Fig. 16.2 IBS subtypes and their relationships with functional constipation and functional diarrhea. *IBS* irritable bowel syndrome (adapted from Lacy et al. [6])

pooled prevalence of IBS-M (25.8% among women and 25.0% among men) (OR 1.07; 95%) CI, 0.84-1.38) [19], indicating that the large sex/gender differences are due to IBS-C in females and IBS-D in males. Chronic pain disorders such as fibromyalgia, chronic fatigue syndrome, and migraines are common in female IBS patients, suggesting a connection to hormones [14, 16, 20-23]. This hypothesis is supported by IBS symptoms such as loose stool, bloating, and exacerbated abdominal pain reported during menstruation [14]. Similarly, a study of community members in Iceland observed that IBS symptoms were more severe in females who experienced dysmenorrhea than those in females who did not experience dysmenorrhea, and a study that used an ovulation kit found that IBS was exacerbated in the late luteal phase and in the beginning of menstruation when estrogen and progesterone levels are low [24]. IBS symp-

toms are clearly different between males and females, whose sex hormones differ, but the results regarding IBS in females according to menstruation cycle or pre- and post-menopausal status are rather inconsistent, suggesting the need for more studies.

Sex/gender differences in IBS symptoms relate to quality of life (QoL), resulting in major differences in the QoL of women and men with IBS. Female patients with IBS had low QoL, high levels of stress, depression, anxiety, and low selfcontrol [25], and bloating, flatulence, and rumbling in the abdomen were more common among women. Dissatisfaction with defecation and health anxiety were also higher among women [26]. A study conducted in South Korea found significantly lower health-related QoL among women than among males, and QoL was lower in the women with a relatively low education level [27]. The low QoL among patients with IBS has been explained by psychological factors [28–30].

16.5 Pathophysiology of Irritable Bowel Syndrome

It is hypothesized that genetic factors, changes in intestinal motility, visceral hypersensitivity, psychosocial factors, imbalances in neurotransmitters, infection, and inflammation influence the pathogenesis of IBS. However, its pathophysiology is not completely understood, and interrelated mechanisms are thought to cause IBS. The current understanding is that disorders in the brain-gut axis, which is composed of the interactions among the intestinal tract, the enteric nervous system, and the central nervous system, cause changes in intestinal motility, visceral hypersensitivity, and disorders in the autonomic nervous system. In addition, environmental factors such as various psychosocial factors, infections, and inflammation responses impact this process. The effect of hormones is interpreted as causing the higher prevalence among females and more severe symptoms, while the tendency to be more vulnerable to stress in sociocultural relationships is thought to lower the QoL among women with IBS. In this review, the pathophysiology of IBS is summarized with a focus on sex/ gender-specific medicine.

16.5.1 Hormonal Factors

The changes in intestinal motility, visceral hypersensitivity, and disorders in the autonomic nervous system observed in patients with IBS are known to be caused by the brain-gut axis. Female sex hormones are related to the nervous system and emotional system and influence stress and sensitivity toward intestinal motility and visceral pain [26]. Estrogen and progesterone suppress smooth muscle contraction, and progesterone affects the 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) system, which controls peristaltic movement of the large intestine. However, there was a report that female patients with IBS experience constipation at times when they are not menstruating and when they have low blood levels of ovarian hormones [31]. In general, the gastrointestinal transit time is longer in females than in males [32], and the

transit time is longer when the levels of female ovarian hormones are high, indicating a close association between sex hormones and intestinal contraction [33]. The role of male sex hormones is being discovered as well. Androgens suppressed chronic pain syndrome and had analgesic effects in an experimental pain model [34]. It is hypothesized that androgen levels, receptors, and area of activity have a role in the incidence of IBS and chronic pain syndrome [35]. According to a recent study, middle-aged males with IBS had lower luteinizing hormone levels than healthy males, and it was reported that IBS symptoms were inversely proportional to testosterone [36]. Sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) and testosterone were elevated in young male patients with IBS [36], suggesting that male sex hormones play a role in the occurrence of IBS, but more studies are necessary, as this finding is contrary to what has been reported in the past.

16.5.2 Changes in Intestinal Motility

Motility abnormalities have been observed in 25-75% of patients with IBS. Increases in intestinal motility due to various stimuli such as food, balloon distension of the colon, stress, and cholecystokinin (CCK) are more drastic in IBS patients than in healthy individuals. High-amplitude propagating contractions (HAPCs), which are related to abdominal pain, are significantly increased in patients whose main symptoms are diarrhea and abdominal pain. In contrast, highamplitude contractions in the intestines are decreased in IBS-C patients, and the total intestinal transit time is long. Intestinal motility abnormalities cause symptoms in relation to the lower sensitivity threshold than that of healthy controls. Regarding such intestinal motility abnormalities, IBS-C, in which intestinal motility slows down, is more common among women, and IBS-D, in which intestinal motility is more active, is more common among men. In addition, abdominal pain is more severe among women, which is difficult to understand at first glance. Abdominal pain is not the direct result of intestinal motility-instead, it is a phenomenon caused by

visceral hypersensitivity—so an interpretation from multiple perspectives is necessary.

16.5.3 Visceral Hypersensitivity and Brain-Gut Interactions

Research on visceral hypersensitivity and braingut interactions suggests that many symptoms of IBS are caused by exaggerated perceptions of visceral stimuli that occur in the gastrointestinal tract, as 50-70% of IBS patients experience discomfort when the intestines are expanded and demonstrate a low pain threshold. Visceral hypersensitivity in patients with IBS can be observed both in the large intestine and in the small intestine. In healthy controls, pain from balloon distension is experienced in only one location, but patients with IBS experience pain in multiple locations and radiating pain. Internal sensory information is delivered to the central nervous system through the afferent neural pathways known as the brain-gut axis. When there are abnormalities in the upregulation process of afferent signals in one or more locations, visceral hypersensitivity and abdominal pain and discomfort are experienced. Visceral hypersensitivity causes symptoms by increasing the efferent stimulation to the intestinal tract and inducing changes in intestinal motility through the amplification of the afferent-efferent reflex of the intestinal tract. As the concept of the visceral nervous system has been established and many studies about the interactions between the central nervous system-gastrointestinal tract have been conducted, it has become clear that the changes in intestinal motility, visceral hypersensitivity, and disorders in the autonomic nervous system observed in IBS are controlled by the brain-gut axis. The importance of the gut microbiome has recently been emphasized, and the concept was expanded to the brain-gut-gut microbiome axis. The motor and sensory pathways of the visceral nervous system are connected to the central nervous system through the sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous systems. When various substances such as serotonin, bradykinin, adenosine, prostaglandins, and proteases accumulate

due to inflammation in the intestinal tract, ischemia, or psychological factors such as stress, the sensitivity toward the stimulation of sensory afferent fibers located in the intestines increases. There are also reports that even though nerve stimulation delivered to the central nervous system is normal, there are disorders in the process of the stimulation being interpreted in the brain. In this process, gender influences the threshold for visceral pain in both healthy individuals and patients with IBS [9], and women experience more severe, frequent, and lasting pain [37, 38]. At the same time, women have a lower pain threshold when the intestines are expanded than men, reporting more frequent pain and stomach discomfort [17, 33, 39–41]. Female patients with IBS are known to have similar or lower pain thresholds compared to healthy female controls [37, 39]. The most important cause of this phenomenon is hormones. Estrogen is a central nervous system stimulant, while androgen receptors suppress the central nervous system [42] (Fig. 16.3), reducing chronic pain syndrome [38]. At the same time, compared to male patients with IBS, female patients with IBS demonstrate structural and functional differences in the brain such as higher activation in the areas that process emotion such as the amygdala and infragenual cerebral cortex in response to intestinal stimuli [33].

16.5.4 Infection, Inflammation Response, Immune Response, and Postinfectious Irritable Bowel Syndrome

IBS is associated with low-grade inflammation, and changes in cytokine levels have been observed in IBS. A meta-analysis also found sex/gender differences [43, 44]. That is, serum tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) levels were higher among female patients with IBS than among male patients with IBS, and interleukin (IL)-10 was lower among male patients with IBS than among healthy controls, suggesting that IL-10 is a protective factor against IBS [45]. Sex/gender-specific studies on inflammatory cytokines and IBS showed that IL-17 and TNF- α levels were high in



Fig. 16.3 The effect of sex hormones in the pathophysiology of IBS. *IBS* irritable bowel syndrome (adapted from Kim and Kim [42])

females and IL-10 levels were lower in females and males [26]. Compared to males, female patients with IBS had greater mast cell infiltration in the intestines and decreased levels of CD3+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes [45], indicating sex/gender differences in the immune mechanism of IBS. The author also measured intestinal inflammatory factors and factors related to intestinal permeability among patients with IBS, and the results indicated that both female and male patients with IBS-C had significantly increased levels of transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 (TRPV1), nerve growth factor (NGF), and glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) (all p < 0.05) [40]. Serum IL-1 β levels significantly increased among female patients with IBS-C (p < 0.002), indicating that such neurotrophic factors and IL-1ß contribute to IBS-C [46]. However, these factors did not demonstrate significant changes in IBS-D, and instead, female patients with IBS-D had decreased levels of zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1), a tight junction protein, suggesting different mechanisms depending on the subtype of IBS and sex/gender differences [46].

IBS that occurs rapidly after acute infection accounts for around 6–17% of all IBS cases, and approximately 7–31% of patients who completed treatment for acute infections had IBS. Mast cell infiltration in the myenteric plexus and muscle layer of the intestines is observed among such patients, the number of enterochromaffin cells increases in the intestinal mucosa, and lymphocyte infiltration into the intestinal plexus is prominent. Symptoms similar to IBS are observed in a high percentage of patients with inflammatory bowel diseases, especially in the post-remission state of ulcerative colitis. Sensory-motor changes in the intestines which occur in the acute deteriorated stage of inflammatory bowel diseases are maintained even after remission occurs, causing symptoms of IBS. The risk factors of postinfectious IBS are age 60 and below, female sex, more than 7 days of acute infection, no vomiting, psychological factors such as hypochondriasis or a history of stress before infection, and pathogenrelated factors. Female sex showed an OR of 2.19 (95% CI, 1.57–3.07) [47], and it is reported that IBS occurs more frequently when the enteritis is severe. Postinfectious IBS patients have shorter intestinal transit time and increased visceral sensations and local reflexes, demonstrate malabsorption of bile acids, and have increased enterochromaffin cells that contain serotonin in the intestines. These suggest that inflammation and immune activation are the main pathophysiological components of postinfectious IBS. It starts as acute inflammation in patients with a genetic pre-disposition. The low-grade chronic inflammation maintained by increased exposure to intestinal antigens due to the increased permeability of the intestinal mucosal epithelium is the main pathophysiology of postinfectious IBS. If there is a clear history of acute symptoms and two conditions out of fever, vomiting, diarrhea, and positive fecal culture test are met, postinfectious IBS can be diagnosed. If there is continuing weight loss or bloody stool, other diseases must be considered.

16.5.5 Intestinal Permeability

Psychological stress is known to increase the cell permeability of the intestines through the activation of mast cells and eosinophils [48–51], and females had severely and constantly impaired absorption of albumin, mannitol, and xylose when cold pain stress was introduced to the jejunal lumen [52]. In addition, chronic psychological stress reduced the expression of epithelial tight junction proteins such as claudin-1, occludin (OCLN), and ZO-1 through the mediation of corticosterone which increased intestinal permeability [52]. Interestingly, estrogen was found to play a role in this process [52]. Estrogen aided the penetration of calcium and vitamin D in Caco-2, a colorectal cancer cell line [53], and increased the expression of mRNA and proteins of OCLN and junction adhesion molecule A in the intestines of female mice [54]. Estrogen receptors were activated in female mice who had phytoestrogen-rich soy germ-fermented ingredients orally injected for 2 weeks, suppressing intestinal permeability and intestinal hypersensitivity caused by stress [55]. According to an experiment on intestinal inflammatory factors and factors related to intestinal permeability among patients with IBS, inflammatory factors and factors related to intestinal permeability were significantly higher in the IBS-C group than in the control group (all p < 0.05), and ZO-1 mRNA expression was significantly lower among female patients with IBS-D than among controls (p = 0.021) [46], indicating that an increase in intestinal permeability can explain IBS-D and that estrogen plays a role in this process. However, more detailed studies are needed.

16.5.6 Changes in the Gut Microbiota

Gut microbiota can be categorized largely into the microbiota in the intestinal lumen (microbiota detected in stool) and the microbiota adhering to the intestinal mucosa. The intestinal bacteria that mostly comprise gut microbiota are important in maintaining intestinal homeostasis through metabolic processes and can cause bloating or flatulence symptoms in patients with IBS through fermenting carbohydrates and producing gas. Bacteria adhering to the intestinal mucosa are present at a lower quantity, but can cause symptoms such as immune activation through interaction with the immune system of the intestinal mucosa. The gut microbiota is thus important for the normal physiology and immune management of the intestines. Disorders in intestinal motility, immune activation, and abnormal fermentation due to over-proliferated gut microbiota are thought to contribute to the pathogenesis of IBS. There are differences in the bacterial composition in stool between patients with IBS and healthy controls, especially in the composition of bacteria, the *Firmicutes* phylum. When the author conducted 16S rRNA metagenomic sequencing of feces from 7 patients with IBS-D and 12 healthy controls and a phylogenetic investigation of communities by reconstruction of unobserved states (PICRUSt), *Acidaminococcaceae*, *Sutterellaceae*, and *Desulfovibrionaceae* were present at higher levels in patients with IBS, but *Enterococcaceae*, *Leuconostocaceae*, *Clostridiaceae*, *Peptostreptococcaceae*, and *Lachnospiraceae* were found at significantly lower levels [56] (Fig. 16.4a–i). In particular, K07007 (baiN, 3-dehydro-bile acid delta 4,6-reductase) and K15874 (baiI, bile acid 7 betadehydratase), which are involved in secondary bile acid production (pathway ko00121) that influences bile reabsorption, were present at significantly lower levels in patients with IBS than in controls [56] (Fig. 16.4j–k), indicating the influence of gut microbiota on the occurrence of IBS-D [56]. However, the sample size was too small, to conduct a sex/genderspecific analysis. Recently, the expression "brain-



Fig. 16.4 Comparison of the gut microbiota in patients with IBS and controls. (b) *Acidaminococcaceae*, (c) *Sutterellaceae*, and (d) *Desulfovibrionaceae*, which demonstrate significant differences in the abundance ratio between patients with IBS and controls in a linear discriminant analysis of effect size (LEfSe) at the family level of the gut microbiota, showing significantly higher levels in patients with IBS than in controls (a). (e) *Enterococcaceae*,

(f) Leuconostocaceae, (g) Clostridiaceae, (h) Peptostreptococcaceae, (i) Lachnospiraceae. (j-k) Among orthologues that are involved in secondary bile acid production (pathway ko00121), (j) K07007 (baiN, 3-dehydro-bile acid delta 4,6-reductase) and (k) K15874 (baiI, bile acid 7 beta-dehydratase) were significantly lower in patients with IBS than in the control group. *IBS* irritable bowel syndrome (adapted from Lee et al. [56])

gut-microbiome axis" is being used, as many evidences were accumulated regarding the importance of the gut microbiota for the brain-gut axis and barriers [42, 57, 58] (Fig. 16.3). Actually, sustained reduction in the gut microbiota and brain-gut axis imbalance cause low-grade inflammation and immune mechanism imbalance, leading to intestinal secretions, visceral pain, and changes in intestinal motility [48]. Sex hormones influence bacterial metabolism and influence the expression of bacterial virulence factors through the expression of nuclear steroid receptors such as estrogen receptor β (ER β) [59]. Exposure to microbiota in infancy impacts the level of sex hormones, changing the progression of autoimmune diseases in insulin-dependent diabetic mice models [60]. In a similar context, when testosterone secretion increased in pubescent male mice models, changes in the gut microbiota and T and B lymphocytes, which are related to autoimmune diseases, occurred [60].

There are several evidences that small intestinal bacterial overgrowth (SIBO) can be important in IBS. Normally, the stomach has a relatively small number of bacteria due to peristalsis and a low pH from gastric acid. There are $0-1 \times 10^3$ colony-forming units (CFU)/mL per 1 mL of stomach content, while there are $1-1 \times 10^4$ CFU/ mL in the duodenum and jejunum, $1-1 \times$ 10^{5} CFU/mL in the proximal ileum, 1×10^{5} – $1 \times$ 10^{8} CFU/mL in the terminal ileum, and 1×10^{10} –1 \times 10¹² CFU/mL in the colon. *Lactobacillus* spp., Enterococcus spp., and Streptococcus spp., as benign aerobic bacteria that are a part of the oral flora, and facultative anaerobes exist in the small intestines, while facultative anaerobes such as **Bacteroides** spp., Clostridium spp., Bifidobacterium spp., Fusobacterium spp., and Eubacterium spp. make up around 99.9% of the microbiota in the large intestine. Overproliferation of bacteria in the small intestine refers to bacteria in the intestines or the distal small intestine expanding into and inhabiting the proximal small intestines and is defined by bacteria in the proximal small intestines proliferating to more than 1×10^5 CFU/mL. The prevalence of SIBO (> 10^3 coliforms per mL) in patients with IBS-D was 60% compared with 27.3% of IBS

patients without diarrhea (p = 0.004) [61] Since IBS-D, bloating, and abdominal pain are more common among females, it can be hypothesized that SIBO is also more common among females. However, sex/gender differences have not been reported, yet, in this regard, and further research

16.5.7 Psychosocial Factors

is needed.

Patients with IBS are more likely than healthy controls to have experienced severe stress such as abuse during childhood. Such stress is closely related to the onset and severity of IBS symptoms, and in 40-90% of patients with IBS, psychiatric disorders co-occur. Psychological and psychosocial factors affect disease progression and treatment results of patients with IBS, and psychosocial stressors cause symptoms through the amplification of central nervous system signaling regarding changes in intestinal functions and normal intestinal signals. Changes in intestinal physiology and psychosocial factors are combined through the brain-gut axis to influence the symptoms, disease behavior, and ultimately disease progression and prognosis. Sex/gender differences cause IBS symptoms depending on individuals' sense of responsibility and social roles (e.g., unpaid childcare and work, which are stressful) and also influence healthcare-seeking behaviors [62-64]. When IBS symptoms are present, society has certain expectations about how individuals will react according to their sex/ gender, and these expectations affect healthcareseeking behaviors; therefore, behaviors in response to symptoms among patients with IBS can differ by sex/gender [62]. Women believe that bodily phenomena are more private than men do, feel that a loss of control is very shameful, and believe they should be thin and attractive [63]. Women also worry more than men about the effects of IBS, such as their abdomen appearing bigger due to bloating, having to go to the bathroom more often due to diarrhea, and having a foul odor [13]. Women worry a lot about not being able to function in their roles as wives,

mothers, and workers due to IBS symptoms, while men are more threatened by the fact that they have IBS, which is more common among women, that they feel weak, and that they cannot perform the duties necessary to be responsible for their family [65]. Along with the pathophysiology of IBS, doctors should understand the sex/ gender differences in the responses toward IBS symptoms to help with treatment [65].

16.5.8 Dietary Factors

Many patients with IBS believe that food sensitivity contributes to the pathophysiology of IBS since their symptoms are triggered or exacerbated by ingesting certain foods. Lactose intolerance, fructose intolerance, and food allergies have been hypothesized as mechanisms, but this did not fully explain the association with IBS symptoms. It was recently found that fermentable mono-, di-, and oligosaccharides and polyols, which are not easily absorbed and are easily fermented in the intestines, are associated with IBS symptoms. The main examples are fructan, raffinose, lactose, polyol, and galactan, which are referred to as FODMAPs (fermentable oligosaccharides, disaccharides, monosaccharides, and polyols). Galactan is mostly found in onions, cabbage, and beans, and fructan is abundant in wheat, onions, spring onions, chives, and chicory. When these items are consumed excessively, bloating and diarrhea similar to IBS symptoms occur through the maintenance of high osmotic pressure in the small and large intestines, which indicates that FODMAPs can be a cause of IBS. Since food preferences differ by sex/gender and preferences also shift with age, the distribution of gut microbiota that decompose food is different by sex/gender. Therefore, FODMAPs must contribute to the experience of IBS symptoms in some manner. As it is clearly distinguished whether Western food, such as food consumed in Australia, contains FODMAPs, apps have been developed accordingly. However, no studies have examined sex/gender differences in the consumption of FODMAPs, so far.

16.6 Treatment of Irritable Bowel Syndrome

IBS is not a life-threatening disease, but it lowers the QoL and productivity by requiring frequent visits to doctor's offices. Therefore, active treatment is needed. Appropriate disease historytaking and examination are important, and mutual cooperation with the patient is essential [42]. An explanation of the progress of the disease and reassurance are the most important aspects of the clinical encounter, and beyond that, psychological stress relief, diet, changes in gut microbiota, and drug therapy are used as treatment. Some patients with IBS do not respond to these active treatments. In a multi-center study in Japan, risk factors for non-response were low mental component summary (MCS) score and female sex [66]. Treatment results were not favorable in women because the factors that decrease the effectiveness of IBS treatment, such as depression, anxiety, and intense psychological symptoms [67, 68], are observed more frequently in women. IBS occurs more commonly in women, who are sensitive to stress, and the pathophysiology of IBS is influenced by sex/gender differences; therefore, sex/gender-tailored medicine is very important for treating IBS appropriately.

16.6.1 Overall Drug Treatment

Drug treatment for IBS is not necessary for all patients, and patients whose QoL is reduced due to symptoms are the treatment target. However, the placebo effect is high (20–50%), suggesting the importance of explanations about the disease progress and reassurance. The treatment of IBS aims at the alleviation of overall symptoms such as abdominal discomfort, bloating, and changes in defecation habits, so medications effective for each main symptom such as abdominal pain, diarrhea, and constipation are used. An overall principle is that anticonvulsants such as anticholinergics, calcium channel blockers, and opioid receptor modulators relax or inhibit contraction of the intestinal smooth muscle. Bulk-forming

laxatives are effective for the treatment of diarrhea and can increase the frequency of bowel movements, but they can also exacerbate bloating or stomach discomfort in some patients, requiring caution. Loperamide, an antidiarrheal, is very effective in treating diarrhea, decreasing the frequency of bowel movements, and improving the form of stool, but it is not effective for the overall IBS symptoms, abdominal discomfort, and bloating. Tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) improve abdominal pain in patients with IBS but do not improve overall symptoms or other types of symptoms. Especially since the most common and dose-responsive side effect of TCA is constipation, the use of TCAs in patients with IBS-C should be considered with caution. In summary, when abdominal pain is the main symptom, antipsychotic agents and TCAs are used. When diarrhea is the main symptom, antidiarrheals, antipsychotic agents, and cholestyramine are used. In the case of IBS-C, laxatives and a highfiber diet are used. When patients report intestinal gas, simethicone, pancreatic enzymes, and prevention of swallowing air are recommended. It is known that there are sex/gender differences in the response to such treatments [69], but sex/ gender differences in loperamide, atropine, diphenoxylate, and cholestyramine, which are widely used, are unknown [19, 70, 71]. An explanation may be that most clinical studies were conducted among women [72], but serotonin 5-HT₃ receptor antagonists are drugs for which sex/gender differences were found in a recently conducted clinical study. 5-HT₃ receptors exist in the limbic system and cortical region of the central nervous system, as well as the emetic center, and are located in the post-synaptic enteric nervous system in the afferent sensory nerves, the myoclonic plexus, and the submucosal plexus. 5-HT₃ antagonists are used as drugs for IBS-D, as 5-HT₃ receptors are involved in visceral pain, intestinal transit time, and gastrointestinal secretion. The effectiveness of ramosetron and alosetron, which are 5-HT₃ antagonists, and 5-HT₄ agonists is greater in females than in males, but the mechanism has yet to be understood [73-76]. In a recent clinical trial of alosetron, a 5-HT₃

antagonist, with only males, abdominal pain, abdominal discomfort, and stool improved, but other IBS symptoms did not, supporting its greater effectiveness among females [77]. However, a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials reported that it was effective for both males and females [78, 79]. Tegaserod, a famous 5-HT₄ agonist, is also known to be effective in females [71, 80], but since the number of males who participated in the clinical trial was too small, it is difficult to discuss sex/gender differences regarding this drug.

Based on the observation that there are family trends in IBS, it has been hypothesized that there are genetic factors beyond the common environmental factors. Serotonin transporter-linked polymorphic region [5-HTTLPR], a 44-bp insertion/deletion of SLC6A4 (serotonin reuptake transporter) (a neurotransmitter), creates short (S) and long (L) alleles that have different transcriptional efficiencies, suggesting an association with IBS [81]. The author recently reported that the L/L genotype was associated with overall IBS, IBS-C, and IBS-M [81] and serum serotonin levels were lower in patients with IBS-C than patients with IBS-D or controls [82]. It was also indicated that the sex/gender differences in the 5-HT signaling system are related to the differences in the effectiveness of 5-HT₃ antagonists [83]. For example, expression of *SLC6A4* mRNA was higher in the rectal mucosa of female patients with IBS-D than in that of males [83].

16.6.2 New Drug Therapies

Excretion of the intestinal chlorine ion (Cl⁻) is essential to control the movement of intestinal bodily fluids and electrolytes. Cl⁻ enters the cell through the Na⁺-K⁺-Cl⁻ cotransporter located in the basolateral aspect of the cell and accumulates in the cell. When the electrochemical equilibrium is exceeded, Cl⁻ is excreted out of the cell through the apical Cl⁻ channel, along with bodily fluids. There are three known channels through which Cl⁻ is secreted to the intestines, which are cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR), calcium-activated chloride channel (CaCC), and type-2 chloride channel (ClC-2). Most of the movement of Cl⁻ through the apical cell membrane occurs through the cyclic adenosine monophosphate-dependent CFTR (cAMPdependent CFTR) Cl⁻ channel. Lubiprostone is a bicyclic fatty acid ($C_{20}H_{32}F_2O_5$) derived from metabolic products of prostaglandin E1 and ClC-2 activator, which activates ClC-2 in the apical cell membrane of the intestinal epithelium, increases the intra-intestinal movement of Cl-, and increases the secretion of intra-intestinal bodily fluid. Two clinical trials were conducted to examine the effectiveness for IBS-C, in which 8 µg of lubiprostone or placebo was given to 1154 patients with IBS-C diagnosed using the Rome II diagnostic criteria (92% female) two times a day. IBS symptoms (abdominal discomfort, pain, defecation habits, etc.) improved in the lubiprostone group compared to the placebo group (study 1, 13.8% vs. 7.8%; study 2, 12.1% vs. 5.7%) [84]. Based on the results of those clinical trials, lubiprostone was approved in 2008 by the US FDA as a treatment for IBS-C in females of age 18 or older (8 µg, twice daily). When a clinical trial was conducted with a small sample, it was more effective for female patients with IBS-C than for males [69], but in a study with a larger sample of patients with chronic and idiopathic constipation, it was effective for both males and females, indicating that a sufficient number of males and females must be included in a study to determine sex/gender differences [85].

The next drug introduced was linaclotide, a guanylate cyclase C receptor agonist that increases cyclic guanosine monophosphate, which in turn stimulates the intra-intestinal secretion of Cl⁻ and carbonate ion (HCO₃⁻) and suppresses the intra-intestinal Na⁺ absorption by Na⁺/K⁺ exchangers through the CFTR Cl⁻ channel-dependent mechanism and a low-level CFTR Cl⁻ channel-independent mechanism. In a phase II clinical trial, this drug decreased intestinal transit time in a group of female patients with IBS-C who took 1000 µg of linaclotide compared to the placebo group [86] and significantly improved symptoms including abdominal pain [87]. The results from a phase III clinical trial with 805 patients with IBS-C in 2010 showed significant or complete improvement in symptoms among 39.4% of patients in the linaclotide treatment group and 16.6% of patients in the placebo group, which resulted in FDA approval. Linaclotide is known to be effective in both males and females [88, 89].

16.6.3 Drug Treatment Related to Gut Microbiota

Differences in the gut microbiota between healthy controls and patients with IBS have been established [90]. The most commonly used antibiotic in patients with IBS is rifaximin. Rifaximin is a derivative of rifamycin and has broad sensitivity toward gram-positive, gram-negative, aerobic, and anaerobic bacteria. There is little concern about systemic side effects since there is almost no systemic absorption when taken orally. It is appropriate for patients with IBS and overproliferation of bacteria in the small intestines who require repeated treatment since there have been no reports of resistant strains after longterm use. As it is also sensitive to Clostridium difficile, the cause of pseudomembranous colitis, there are also little concerns about antibioticrelated diarrhea and pseudomembranous colitis. When a randomized controlled trial of nonabsorbed antibiotic rifaximin was conducted for 2 weeks with patients with IBS except IBS-C (TARGET 1 and TARGET 2, 67% female), IBS symptoms, bloating, abdominal pain, and loose or watery stool significantly improved [91]. A study of patients with reoccurring IBS-D (68% female) still showed the effectiveness of repeated use of rifaximin [92]. However, sex/gender differences are unknown since sex/gender-specific analyses were not conducted.

The evidence supporting the use of *Lactobacillus* formulations in patients with IBS is that *Lactobacillus* formulations lead to interference with pathogen adhesion by binding to mucosal epithelial cells, reinforcement of epithelial barrier function, changes of fermentation in the intestines, changes of mucosal response to stress, an immunomodulatory effect, reduction of visceral hypersensitivity through increased

expression of opioid and cannabinoid receptors in the intestinal epithelial cells [93], and reduction of inflammation to low levels [94]. In a recent meta-analysis with 18 randomized controlled trials, Lactobacillus formulations aided the treatment of IBS and were effective in 1 out of 4 patients [95]. Since the gut microbiota of males and females differ, it is hypothesized that the male-to-female ratio of study participants would impact the effect, but no data have clarified this point yet. The author's research team recently conducted a study with a model of IBSinduced Wistar mice [49]. When a low-grade inflammation was induced through the psychological anxiety created by placing mice on top of a plastic box floating on water for 1 h per day for 10 days (repeated water avoidance stress, rWAS), female Wistar rats experienced diarrhea more than male rats, experienced visceral analgesia, and had greater levels of mast cell infiltration in the distal intestines and mucosal cytokines [49]. When Lactobacillus farciminis (1 x 10¹¹ CFU/ mL once every day) was given orally, the treatment effect in terms of both symptoms and the reduction in mast cells and cytokines was significantly greater in female rats than in male rats [49]. Based on this result, the role of the gut microbiota in IBS, as well as responses to treatment, differs by sex/gender, an area that requires further clinical studies.

16.6.4 Psychiatric Treatment

The anterior cingulate cortex is less activated, while the prefrontal cortex is more activated in patients with IBS than in controls. The anterior cingulate cortex is a region of the limbic system and is related to opioid receptor activation, and the prefrontal cortex is closely related to hyperarousal and anxiety. Various types of psychiatric treatment such as cognitive behavioral therapy, interpersonal therapy, and hypnotic therapy increase the activation of the anterior cingulate cortex, which is related to opioid receptor activation, and reduce the activation in the brain areas that expand pain sensation resulting in the decrease of pain perception. Patients with IBS are more likely to have psychiatric disorders such as depression, anxiety, and affective disorders than healthy individuals. Somatization disorder is a predictive factor of FGIDs, present in at least 25% of patients with IBS who visit a tertiary hospital. Patients with IBS are around two to four times more likely to be using medication that acts on the central nervous system, such as antidepressants, anti-anxiety drugs, antipsychotics, sleeping pills, or sedatives than controls, so psychiatric treatment can be helpful. The exact mechanism of hypnotic therapy is not known, but it improves symptoms such as abdominal pain and bloating, extraintestinal symptoms, QoL, and psychological symptoms such as anxiety and depression and controls bowel movements [96]. Hypnotic therapy has been reported to be especially effective among women, but there are no reports on the sex/gender differences in patients with IBS. Cognitive behavioral therapy aims to correct patients' maladaptive beliefs about their pain and replace them with more reasonable thoughts, but its treatment effect on IBS is yet unknown.

The reasons for using antidepressants are that they change central pain perception and they are effective for (1) visceral pain by having an analgesic effect on the peripheral nerves; (2) intestinal movement and secretions through the choline, noradrenaline, and serotonin pathways; and (3) treating accompanying psychiatric disorders such as anxiety related to symptoms, depression, and somatization disorder, as well as sleep disorders, which can be a comorbidity of IBS [97]. Antidepressants can be broadly divided into TCAs and SSRIs. In a recent meta-analysis of 12 randomized controlled trials that were evaluated as high quality, antidepressants were found to be effective for treating IBS [98].

16.6.4.1 Tricyclic Antidepressants (TCAs)

TCAs are the most widely used class of antidepressants for the treatment of IBS. TCAs block the reuptake of neurotransmitters (serotonin, norepinephrine, dopamine, etc.) secreted in the presynaptic nerve endings and increase the level of synaptic neurotransmitters, causing post-synaptic receptor hyperexcitation. Amitriptyline can reduce the activation of the prefrontal cortex due to balloon distension of the colon in patients with IBS. This effect was not observed when patients listened to comfortable music; instead, it was only observed when patients were exposed to auditory stressors, indicating that pain or symptoms exacerbated by stress are reduced through the central nervous system rather than the peripheral nervous system [99]. The mechanism of the effect of TCAs on IBS is still unclear, but improvements in the descending pain control mechanism or the anticholinergic effect have been suggested as possible mechanisms [100]. The effect can be delayed due to the drugs' characteristics, so a sufficient dose must be prescribed for at least 4 weeks [101].

16.6.4.2 Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors (SSRIs)

SSRIs selectively inhibit the reuptake of serotonin and increase the level of synaptic serotonin by interfering with serotonin transmission proteins in the presynaptic nerve endings. As it has little impact on receptors related to other neurotransmitters, they have fewer side effects and are tolerated very well compared to TCAs. SSRIs include fluoxetine, paroxetine, citalopram, escitalopram, sertraline, and fluvoxamine. The mechanism of SSRIs is not clear, but unlike TCAs, SSRIs improve related anxiety instead of controlling pain, increase overall happiness, increase the analgesic effect of other drugs such as TCA, and treat accompanying psychiatric conditions [100]. They reduce the mouth-tocecum transit time and total intestinal transit time, increase intestinal phasic contractility, and cause HAPCs, suggesting that they exert a stimulating effect on bowel movement [102]. In a recent meta-analysis, SSRIs were evaluated to be effective for IBS, with a relative risk of continued IBS symptoms of 0.62 (95% CI, 0.45-0.87) compared to placebo [98]. SSRIs can be used more effectively for the treatment of patients with IBS-C [103]. Paroxetine is useful when the main symptom is diarrhea since it has a stronger muscarinic effect.

16.6.4.3 Serotonin-Norepinephrine Reuptake Inhibitors

Serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs) prevent reuptake of both norepinephrine and serotonin and are regarded to be as effective as TCAs. SNRIs include duloxetine, venlafaxine, and desvenlafaxine. Duloxetine is the only drug with a study with patients with IBS; it was found to be effective in improving pain, the severity of symptoms, QoL, and loose stool after being given to 15 patients without depressive symptoms for 12 weeks. Seven out of the 15 patients dropped out of the study due to severe constipation [104]. Studies on SNRIs related to IBS are very limited so far, and these three psychiatric drugs are expected to be more effective in females with higher depressive and anxiety symptoms, but reports on sex/gender differences are scarce.

16.6.5 Diet

Two-thirds of patients with IBS report that their symptoms are related to food [105]. Such symptoms lower the QoL and affect energy, sleep, and physical conditions, so food must be examined closely. The premise of dietary therapy is to exclude food that exacerbates symptoms. Lactose, fructose, allergenic food, and starches such as flour are not good for IBS patients. It is reported that women consume more food that triggers symptoms than men, indicating that women must pay closer attention to diet [106]. Female patients with IBS should increase their consumption of dietary fiber and fish and reduce their consumption of fatty foods, sweet foods, red meat, coffee, and alcohol. When dietary changes are suggested, women are more eager to reflect them in their diet than men. As mentioned before, monosaccharides and polyols, which are not easily absorbed but easily fermented in the intestines, are related to IBS symptoms, and a low-FODMAP diet improves the digestive system symptoms and stomach pain of IBS in the short term [107, 108]. However, no studies have examined whether IBS symptoms improve more in one sex/gender than the other through a low-FODMAP diet.

Therapeutic target	Name	Dose	Mechanism of action	Effect of sex or gender
Loose stool (IBS-D)	Alosetron	0.5–1 mg peroral bid	5-HT ₃ antagonist	Currently available to treat women with severe IBS-D Initially demonstrated a significant improvement in women but not in men [69, 73] Later, effective in both men and women [76, 77]
	Ondansetron	4–8 mg peroral every 8 h	5-HT ₃ antagonist	Did not conduct separate analyses by sex [109]
	Cilansetron	2 mg peroral tid	5-HT ₃ antagonist	Significant improvement in men compared to that in women [78]
	Tegaserod		5-HT ₄ agonist	Greater efficacy in women [78] Withdrawn from US market due to cardiovascular side effects [75]
	Ramosetron	5 μg peroral qid 2.5 μg peroral qid	5-HT ₃ antagonist	Initially limited to men with IBS-D [110, 111] Now: a half-dose is prescribed for women [112, 113]
	Bile acid (colesevelam)	1.875 g peroral bid	Decreased stool transit times	Limited data [19]
	Loperamide	4 mg peroral Then 2 mg with each Additional loose stool Maximum 16 mg/ day	Binds gut wall opioid receptor Increases sphincter tone Decreased stool frequency	Limited data [114]
Hard stool (IBS-C)	Lubiprostone	8 μg peroral bid	ClC-2 activator	For IBS, approved for women ≥18 years with IBS-C [71, 115] Effective treatment of chronic idiopathic constipation in both men and women [71]
	Linaclotide	290 μg peroral qid	Guanylate cyclase C receptor agonist	Efficacious in both men and women [85]
	Eluxadoline	100 mg peroral bid	μ - and κ -opioid receptor agonist and δ -opioid receptor antagonist	Efficacious in both men and women [89, 116] Contraindicated in patients with history of cholecystectomy
Altered gut microbiota	Rifaximin	550 mg peroral tid for 14 days	Presumed decrease in gas-producing bacteria	Did not conduct separate analyses by sex [65, 80]

Table 16.1 Treatment outcomes of drug for irritable bowel syndrome depending on sex/gender (adapted from Kim and
Kim [42])

Table 16.1 (continued)

Visceral hypersensitivity	Antidepressant	TCAs Amitriptyline, 10–59 mg Imipramine, 10–50 mg Doxepin, 10–59 mg Nortriptyline, 10–59 mg Desipramine, 10–200 mg SSRIs Citalopram, 10–40 mg Fluoxetine, 10–40 mg Paroxetine, 10–40 mg Escitalopram, 10–40 mg Sertraline, 25–100 mg SNRIs Duloxetine, 30–90 mg Venlafaxine, 75–225 mg	Various	Did not conduct separate analyses by sex [9, 117]
Abdominal pain	Dicyclomine	20–40 mg peroral qid	Antagonizes acetylcholine at muscarinic receptors, smooth muscle relaxer, inhibits bradykinin, reduces histamine-induced spasm	Limited data [9, 89]
	Hyoscyamine	0.125–0.25 mg peroral every 4 h when necessary		Limited data [9, 82]
	Peppermint oil capsule	0.2–0.4 mL tid	Smooth muscle relaxer; reduce gastric motility by acting on calcium channels (similar to dihydropyridine calcium antagonists)	Limited data [9, 82]
Bloating	FODMAP		Decreases fermentable gas-producing foods	Limited data [118, 119]
	Probiotics	Various	Repopulate the gut with more efficient bacteria	Limited data [120]
	Psychotherapy			Did not conduct separate analyses by sex [9, 79, 117]

IBS-D IBS with predominant diarrhea, *IBS-C* IBS with predominant constipation, $5-HT_3$ 5-hydroxytryptamine 3 receptor, *ClC-2* chloride channel-2, *TCAs* tricyclic antidepressants, *SSRIs* selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, *SNRIs* serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors, *FODMAP* fermentable oligosaccharides, disaccharides, monosaccharides, and polyols, bid twice a day, tid three times a day, qid four times a day

16.7 Conclusions

It is unanimously recognized that IBS occurs more commonly in women than in men. The effect of hormones is expected to underlie this difference, but the exact mechanism has yet to be understood. Female patients with IBS report constipation, nausea, and bloating more frequently, while male patients with IBS report diarrhea more frequently. Female patients have a lower QoL than male patients and demonstrate more extraintestinal symptoms and psychological symptoms such as depression, anxiety, and somatization disorders. The changes in intestinal motility, visceral hypersensitivity, and autonomic nervous system disorders observed in IBS are known to be controlled by the brain-gut axis. Female sex hormones are associated with the neuromodulation and emotion systems and affect sensitivity to stress, bowel movement, and visceral pain. As a result, females have IBS more commonly and have more severe symptoms. Their tendency to be more vulnerable to stress lowers their QoL. More women have IBS that does not respond to treatment which is shown in Table 16.1 regarding treatment outcomes of drug for irritable bowel syndrome depending on sex/gender [9, 19, 65, 69, 71, 73, 75-78, 80, 82, 85, 89, 109-120]. An explanation for why treatment results are worse in women is that factors that reduce the treatment effect, such as depression, anxiety, and intense psychological symptoms, are more common among women, suggesting the necessity for tailored treatment.

References

- Drossman DA, Whitehead WE, Camilleri M. Irritable bowel syndrome: a technical review for practice guideline development. Gastroenterology. 1997;112:2120–37.
- Chey WD, Olden K, Carter E, Boyle J, Drossman D, Chang L. Utility of the Rome I and Rome II criteria for irritable bowel syndrome in U.S. women. Am J Gastroenterol. 2002;97:2803–11.
- Sandler RS. Epidemiology of irritable bowel syndrome in the United States. Gastroenterology. 1990;99:409–15.
- 4. Whitehead WE, Palsson O, Jones KR. Systematic review of the comorbidity of irritable bowel syn-

drome with other disorders: what are the causes and implications? Gastroenterology. 2002;122:1140–56.

- Azpiroz F, Dapoigny M, Pace F, Müller-Lissner S, Coremans G, Whorwell P, et al. Nongastrointestinal disorders in the irritable bowel syndrome. Digestion. 2000;62:66–72.
- Mearin F, Lacy BE, Chang L, Chey WD, Lembo AJ, Simren M, et al. Bowel disorders. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:1393–407.
- Ahlawat SK, Cuddihy MT, Locke GR 3rd. Genderrelated differences in dyspepsia: a qualitative systematic review. Gend Med. 2006;3:31–42.
- Boeckxstaens GE, Drug V, Dumitrascu D, Farmer AD, Hammer J, Hausken T, et al. Phenotyping of subjects for large scale studies on patients with IBS. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;28: 1134–47.
- Talley NJ. Irritable bowel syndrome: definition, diagnosis and epidemiology. Baillieres Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 1999;13:371–84.
- Sperber AD, Dumitrascu D, Fukudo S, Gerson C, Ghoshal UC, Gwee KA, et al. The global prevalence of IBS in adults remains elusive due to the heterogeneity of studies: a Rome foundation working team literature review. Gut. 2017;66:1075–85.
- Chang L, Heitkemper MM. Gender differences in irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 2002;123:1686–701.
- Lovell RM, Ford AC. Effect of gender on prevalence of irritable bowel syndrome in the community: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2012;107:991–1000.
- Lee OY. Asian motility studies in irritable bowel syndrome. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2010;16: 120–30.
- Mulak A, Taché Y. Sex difference in irritable bowel syndrome: do gonadal hormones play a role? Gastroenterol Pol. 2010;17:89–97.
- 15. García Rodríguez LA, Ruigómez A, Wallander MA, Johansson S, Olbe L. Detection of colorectal tumor and inflammatory bowel disease during follow-up of patients with initial diagnosis of irritable bowel syndrome. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2000;35:306–11.
- Heitkemper MM, Chang L. Do fluctuations in ovarian hormones affect gastrointestinal symptoms in women with irritable bowel syndrome? Gend Med. 2009;6(Suppl 2):152–67.
- Chial HJ, Camilleri M. Gender differences in irritable bowel syndrome. J Gend Specif Med. 2002;5:37–45.
- Song KH, Jung HK, Kim HJ, Koo HS, Kwon YH, Shin HD, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for irritable bowel syndrome in Korea, 2017 revised edition. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2018;24:197–215.
- Adeyemo MA, Spiegel BM, Chang L. Metaanalysis: do irritable bowel syndrome symptoms vary between men and women? Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2010;32:738–55.
- Mulak A, Waszczuk E, Paradowski L. Irritable bowel syndrome as an interdisciplinary clinical problem. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2008;17:667–75.

- Warnock JK, Clayton AH. Chronic episodic disorders in women. Psychiatr Clin North Am. 2003;26:725–40.
- 22. Chang L, Toner BB, Fukudo S, Guthrie E, Locke GR, Norton NJ, et al. Gender, age, society, culture, and the patient's perspective in the functional gastrointestinal disorders. Gastroenterology. 2006;130:1435–46.
- 23. Georgescu D, Reisz D, Gurban CV, Georgescu LA, Ionita I, Ancusa OE, et al. Migraine in young females with irritable bowel syndrome: still a challenge. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2017;14:21–8.
- Heitkemper MM, Cain KC, Jarrett ME, Burr RL, Hertig V, Bond EF. Symptoms across the menstrual cycle in women with irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Gastroenterol. 2003;98:420–30.
- Simrén M, Abrahamsson H, Svedlund J, Björnsson ES. Quality of life in patients with irritable bowel syndrome seen in referral centers versus primary care: the impact of gender and predominant bowel pattern. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2001;36: 545–52.
- Choghakhori R, Abbasnezhad A, Amani R, Alipour M. Sex-related differences in clinical symptoms, quality of life, and biochemical factors in irritable bowel syndrome. Dig Dis Sci. 2017;62:1550–60.
- Park JM, Choi MG, Kim YS, Choi CH, Choi SC, Hong SJ, et al. Quality of life of patients with irritable bowel syndrome in Korea. Qual Life Res. 2009;18:435–46.
- Faresjö A, Grodzinsky E, Johansson S, Wallander MA, Timpka T, Akerlind I. A population-based case-control study of work and psychosocial problems in patients with irritable bowel syndromewomen are more seriously affected than men. Am J Gastroenterol. 2007;102:371–9.
- Halder SL, Locke GR 3rd, Talley NJ, Fett SL, Zinsmeister AR, Melton LJ 3rd. Impact of functional gastrointestinal disorders on health-related quality of life: a population-based case-control study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2004;19:233–42.
- Michalsen VL, Vandvik PO, Farup PG. Predictors of health-related quality of life in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. A cross-sectional study in Norway. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2015;13:113.
- Choi YJ, Kim N, Yoon H, Shin CM, Park YS, Kim JW, et al. Overlap between irritable bowel syndrome and functional dyspepsia including subtype analyses. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;32:1553–61.
- Lampe JW, Fredstrom SB, Slavin JL, Potter JD. Sex differences in colonic function: a randomised trial. Gut. 1993;34:531–6.
- Meleine M, Matricon J. Gender-related differences in irritable bowel syndrome: potential mechanisms of sex hormones. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:6725–43.
- Aloisi AM. Gonadal hormones and sex differences in pain reactivity. Clin J Pain. 2003;19:168–74.
- Cairns BE, Gazerani P. Sex-related differences in pain. Maturitas. 2009;63:292–6.

- Houghton LA, Jackson NA, Whorwell PJ, Morris J. Do male sex hormones protect from irritable bowel syndrome? Am J Gastroenterol. 2000;95:2296–300.
- Miller V, Whitaker K, Morris JA, Whorwell PJ. Gender and irritable bowel syndrome: the male connection. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2004;38:558–60.
- Aloisi AM, Bachiocco V, Costantino A, Stefani R, Ceccarelli I, Bertaccini A, et al. Cross-sex hormone administration changes pain in transsexual women and men. Pain. 2007;132:S60–7.
- 39. Chang L, Mayer EA, Labus JS, Schmulson M, Lee OY, Olivas TI, et al. Effect of sex on perception of rectosigmoid stimuli in irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2006;291:R277–84.
- Ragnarsson G, Hallböök O, Bodemar G. Abdominal symptoms are not related to anorectal function in the irritable bowel syndrome. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1999;34:250–8.
- Naliboff BD, Berman S, Chang L, Derbyshire SW, Suyenobu B, Vogt BA, et al. Sex-related differences in IBS patients: central processing of visceral stimuli. Gastroenterology. 2003;124:1738–47.
- Kim YS, Kim N. Sex-gender differences in irritable bowel syndrome. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2018;24:544–58.
- 43. Chang L, Adeyemo M, Karagiannides I, Videlock EJ, Bowe C, Shih W, et al. Serum and colonic mucosal immune markers in irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Gastroenterol. 2012;107:262–72.
- Martin-Viñas JJ, Quigley EM. Immune response in irritable bowel syndrome: a systematic review of systemic and mucosal inflammatory mediators. J Dig Dis. 2016;17:572–81.
- 45. Cremon C, Gargano L, Morselli-Labate AM, Santini D, Cogliandro RF, De Giorgio R, et al. Mucosal immune activation in irritable bowel syndrome: gender-dependence and association with digestive symptoms. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104:392–400.
- 46. Lee JY, Kim N, Park JH, Nam RH, Lee SM, Song CH, et al. Expression of neurotrophic factors, tight junction proteins, and cytokines according to the irritable bowel syndrome subtype and sex. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2020;26:106–16.
- 47. Klem F, Wadhwa A, Prokop LJ, Sundt WJ, Farrugia G, Camilleri M, et al. Prevalence, risk factors, and outcomes of irritable bowel syndrome after infectious enteritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gastroenterology. 2017;152:1042–54.e1.
- 48. Pigrau M, Rodiño-Janeiro BK, Casado-Bedmar M, Lobo B, Vicario M, Santos J, et al. The joint power of sex and stress to modulate brain-gut microbiota axis and intestinal barrier homeostasis: implications for irritable bowel syndrome. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;28:463–86.
- 49. Lee JY, Kim N, Kim YS, Nam RH, Ham MH, Lee HS, et al. Repeated water avoidance stress alters mucosal mast cell counts, interleukin-1β levels with sex difference in distal colon of wistar rats. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;22:694–704.

- Mulak A, Taché Y, Larauche M. Sex hormones in the modulation of irritable bowel syndrome. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:2433–48.
- Zheng G, Wu SP, Hu Y, Smith DE, Wiley JW, Hong S. Corticosterone mediates stress-related increased intestinal permeability in a region-specific manner. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2013;25:e127–39.
- 52. Honda J, Iijima K, Asanuma K, Ara N, Shiroki T, Kondo Y, et al. Estrogen enhances esophageal barrier function by potentiating occludin expression. Dig Dis Sci. 2016;61:1028–38.
- 53. Cotter AA, Cashman KD. Effect of 17 betaoestradiol on transepithelial calcium transport in human intestinal-like Caco-2 cells and its interactions with 1,25-dihydroxycholecalciferol and 9-cis retinoic acid. Eur J Nutr. 2006;45:234–41.
- 54. Braniste V, Leveque M, Buisson-Brenac C, Bueno L, Fioramonti J, Houdeau E. Oestradiol decreases colonic permeability through oestrogen receptor beta-mediated up-regulation of occludin and junctional adhesion molecule-A in epithelial cells. J Physiol. 2009;587(Pt 13):3317–28.
- 55. Moussa L, Bézirard V, Salvador-Cartier C, Bacquié V, Houdeau E, Théodorou V. A new soy germ fermented ingredient displays estrogenic and protease inhibitor activities able to prevent irritable bowel syndrome-like symptoms in stressed female rats. Clin Nutr. 2013;32:51–8.
- Lee SM, Kim N, Yoon H, Kim YS, Choi SI, Park JH, et al. Compositional and functional changes in the gut microbiota in irritable bowel syndrome patients. Gut Liver. 2021;15:253–61.
- Distrutti E, Monaldi L, Ricci P, Fiorucci S. Gut microbiota role in irritable bowel syndrome: new therapeutic strategies. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22:2219–41.
- 58. Ait-Belgnaoui A, Payard I, Rolland C, Harkat C, Braniste V, Théodorou V, et al. *Bifidobacterium longum* and *Lactobacillus helveticus* synergistically suppress stress-related visceral hypersensitivity through hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis modulation. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2018;24:138–46.
- 59. Menon R, Watson SE, Thomas LN, Allred CD, Dabney A, Azcarate-Peril MA, et al. Diet complexity and estrogen receptor β status affect the composition of the murine intestinal microbiota. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2013;79:5763–73.
- 60. Markle JG, Frank DN, Mortin-Toth S, Robertson CE, Feazel LM, Rolle-Kampczyk U, et al. Sex differences in the gut microbiome drive hormone dependent regulation of autoimmunity. Science. 2013;339:1084–8.
- 61. Pyleris E, Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Tzivras D, Koussoulas V, Barbatzas C, Pimentel M. The prevalence of overgrowth by aerobic bacteria in the small intestine by small bowel culture: relation-ship with irritable bowel syndrome. Dig Dis Sci. 2012;57:1321–9.
- Frissora CL, Koch KL. The role of gender and biological sex in irritable bowel syndrome. Curr Gastroenterol Rep. 2005;7:257–63.

- Cheney AM. "Most girls want to be skinny": body (dis)satisfaction among ethnically diverse women. Qual Health Res. 2011;21:1347–59.
- 64. Ali A, Toner BB, Stuckless N, Gallop R, Diamant NE, Gould MI, et al. Emotional abuse, self-blame and self-silencing in women with irritable bowel syndrome. Psychosom Med. 2000;62:76–82.
- 65. Björkman I, Dellenborg L, Ringström G, Simrén M, Jakobsson UE. The gendered impact of irritable bowel syndrome: a qualitative study of patients' experiences. J Adv Nurs. 2014;70:1334–43.
- 66. Yamada E, Tsunoda S, Abe T, Uchida E, Teraoka H, Watanabe S, et al. Factors associated with poor therapeutic response in outpatients with irritable bowel syndrome: a multicenter study in Japan. J Gastroenterol. 2017;52:301–7.
- Creed F. The relationship between psychosocial parameters and outcome in irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Med. 1999;107:74S–80S.
- Ustün TB. Cross-national epidemiology of depression and gender. J Gend Specif Med. 2000;3:54–8.
- 69. Lunsford TN, Harris LA. Lubiprostone: evaluation of the newest medication for the treatment of adult women with constipation-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. Int J Women's Health. 2010;2:361–74.
- Drossman DA, Camilleri M, Mayer EA, Whitehead WE. AGA technical review on irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 2002;123:2108–31.
- Ouyang A, Wrzos HF. Contribution of gender to pathophysiology and clinical presentation of IBS: should management be different in women? Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101(12 Suppl):S602–9.
- 72. Houghton LA, Heitkemper M, Crowell M, Emmanuel A, Halpert A, McRoberts JA, et al. Age, gender and women's health and the patient. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:1332–43,e4.
- 73. Camilleri M, Mayer EA, Drossman DA, Heath A, Dukes GE, McSorley D, et al. Improvement in pain and bowel function in female irritable bowel patients with alosetron, a 5-HT₃ receptor antagonist. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 1999;13:1149–59.
- 74. Camilleri M, Northcutt AR, Kong S, Dukes GE, McSorley D, Mangel AW. Efficacy and safety of alosetron in women with irritable bowel syndrome: a randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2000;355:1035–40.
- Katsumata R, Shiotani A, Murao T, et al. Gender differences in serotonin signaling in patients with diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. Intern Med. 2017;56:993–9.
- Scott LJ, Perry CM. Tegaserod. Drugs. 1999;58:491– 6. discussion 497–8
- 77. Chang L, Ameen VZ, Dukes GE, McSorley DJ, Carter EG, Mayer EA. A dose-ranging, phase II study of the efficacy and safety of alosetron in men with diarrhea-predominant IBS. Am J Gastroenterol. 2005;100:115–23.
- Ford AC, Brandt LJ, Young C, Chey WD, Foxx-Orenstein AE, Moayyedi P. Efficacy of 5-HT₃ antagonists and 5-HT₄ agonists in irritable bowel

syndrome: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104:1831–43.

- 79. Qi Q, Zhang Y, Chen F, Zuo X, Li Y. Ramosetron for the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhea: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. BMC Gastroenterol. 2018;18:5.
- Johanson JF, Morton D, Geenen J, Ueno R. Multicenter, 4-week, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of lubiprostone, a locallyacting type-2 chloride channel activator, in patients with chronic constipation. Am J Gastroenterol. 2008;103:170–7.
- Choi YJ, Hwang SW, Kim N, Park JH, Oh JC, Lee DH. Association between SLC6A4 serotonin transporter gene linked polymorphic region and ADRA2A 1291C>G and irritable bowel syndrome in Korea. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2014;20:388–99.
- Heils A, Teufel A, Petri S, Stöber G, Riederer P, Bengel D, et al. Allelic variation of human serotonin transporter gene expression. J Neurochem. 1996;66:2621–4.
- Katsumata R, Shiotani A, Murao T, Ishii M, Fujita M, Matsumoto H, et al. Gender differences in serotonin signaling in patients with diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. Intern Med. 2017;56: 993–9.
- 84. Drossman DA, Chey WD, Johanson JF, Fass R, Scott C, Panas R, et al. Clinical trial: lubiprostone In patients with constipation-associated irritable bowel syndrome – results of two randomized, placebocontrolled studies. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2009;29:329–41.
- 85. Johanson JF, Ueno R. Lubiprostone, a locally acting chloride channel activator, in adult patients with chronic constipation: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-ranging study to evaluate efficacy and safety. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2007;25:1351–61.
- Andresen V, Camilleri M, Busciglio IA, Grudell A, Burton D, McKinzie S, et al. Effect of 5 days linaclotide on transit and bowel function in females with constipation-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 2007;133:761–8.
- Johnston JM, Kurtz CB, Macdougall JE, Lavins BJ, Currie MG, Fitch DA, et al. Linaclotide improves abdominal pain and bowel habits in a phase IIb study of patients with irritable bowel syndrome with constipation. Gastroenterology. 2010;139:1877–86.
- Chey WD, Lembo AJ, Lavins BJ, Shiff SJ, Kurtz CB, Currie MG, et al. Linaclotide for irritable bowel syndrome with constipation: a 26-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial to evaluate efficacy and safety. Am J Gastroenterol. 2012;107:1702–12.
- Lembo AJ, Schneier HA, Shiff SJ, Kurtz CB, MacDougall JE, Jia XD, et al. Two randomized trials of linaclotide for chronic constipation. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:527–36.
- 90. Ringel Y, Carroll IM. Alterations in the intestinal microbiota and functional bowel symp-

toms. Gastrointest Endosc Clin N Am. 2009;19(141–150):vii.

- Pimentel M, Lembo A, Chey WD, Zakko S, Ringel Y, Yu J, et al. Rifaximin therapy for patients with irritable bowel syndrome without constipation. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:22–32.
- 92. Lembo A, Pimentel M, Rao SS, Schoenfeld P, Cash B, Weinstock LB, et al. Repeat treatment with rifaximin is safe and effective in patients with diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 2016;151:1113–21.
- Dai C, Zheng CQ, Jiang M, Ma XY, Jiang LJ. Probiotics and irritable bowel syndrome. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19:5973–80.
- Lee BJ, Bak YT. Irritable bowel syndrome, gut microbiota and probiotics. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2011;17:252–66.
- Moayyedi P, Ford AC, Talley NJ, Cremonini F, Foxx-Orenstein AE, Brandt LJ, et al. The efficacy of probiotics in the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome: a systematic review. Gut. 2010;59:325–32.
- Lee HH, Choi YY, Choi MG. The efficacy of hypnotherapy in the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2014;20:152–62.
- Grover M, Drossman DA. Centrally acting therapies for irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterol Clin N Am. 2011;40:183–206.
- Ford AC, Talley NJ, Schoenfeld PS, Quigley EM, Moayyedi P. Efficacy of antidepressants and psychological therapies in irritable bowel syndrome: systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut. 2009;58:367–78.
- Morgan V, Pickens D, Gautam S, Mertz H. Amitriptyline reduces rectal pain related activation of the anterior cingulate cortex in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Gut. 2005;54:601–7.
- Mayer EA. Irritable bowel syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:1692–9.
- 101. Spiller R, Aziz Q, Creed F, Emmanuel A, Houghton L, Hungin P, et al. Guidelines on the irritable bowel syndrome: mechanisms and practical management. Gut. 2007;56:1770–98.
- 102. Tack J, Broekaert D, Corsetti M, Fischler B, Janssens J. Influence of acute serotonin reuptake inhibition on colonic sensorimotor function in man. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2006;23:265–74.
- 103. Vahedi H, Merat S, Momtahen S, Kazzazi AS, Ghaffari N, Olfati G, et al. Clinical trial: the effect of amitriptyline in patients with diarrhoea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2008;27:678–84.
- 104. Brennan BP, Fogarty KV, Roberts JL, Reynolds KA, Pope HG Jr, Hudson JI. Duloxetine in the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome: an open-label pilot study. Hum Psychopharmacol. 2009;24:423–8.
- 105. Lacy BE, Weiser K, Noddin L, Robertson DJ, Crowell MD, Parratt-Engstrom C, et al. Irritable bowel syndrome: patients' attitudes, concerns and level of knowledge. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2007;25:1329–41.
- 106. Böhn L, Störsrud S, Törnblom H, Simrén M. Selfreported food-related gastrointestinal symptoms in IBS are common and associated with more severe symptoms and reduced quality of life. Am J Gastroenterol. 2013;108:634–41.
- 107. Schumann D, Klose P, Lauche R, Dobos G, Langhorst J, Cramer H. Low fermentable, oligo-, di-, mono-saccharides and polyol diet in the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nutrition. 2018;45:24–31.
- 108. Varjú P, Farkas N, Hegyi P, Garami A, Szabó I, Illés A, et al. Low fermentable oligosaccharides, disaccharides, monosaccharides and polyols (FODMAP) diet improves symptoms in adults suffering from irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) compared to standard IBS diet: a meta-analysis of clinical studies. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0182942.
- 109. Camilleri M, Atanasova E, Carlson PJ, Ahmad U, Kim HJ, Viramontes BE, et al. Serotonintransporter polymorphism pharmacogenetics in diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 2002;123:425–32.
- 110. Garsed K, Chernova J, Hastings M, Lam C, Marciani L, Singh G, et al. A randomised trial of ondansetron for the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhoea. Gut. 2014;63:1617–25.
- 111. Lee KJ, Kim NY, Kwon JK, Huh KC, Lee OY, Lee JS, et al. Efficacy of ramosetron in the treatment of male patients with irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhea: a multicenter, randomized clinical trial, compared with mebeverine. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2011;23:1098–104.
- 112. Fukudo S, Ida M, Akiho H, Nakashima Y, Matsueda K. Effect of ramosetron on stool consistency in male patients with irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhea. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2014;12:953–9.e4.

- 113. Fukudo S, Kinoshita Y, Okumura T, Ida M, Akiho H, Nakashima Y, et al. Ramosetron reduces symptoms of irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhea and improves quality of life in women. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:358–66.e8.
- 114. O'Mahony L, McCarthy J, Kelly P, Hurley G, Luo F, Chen K, et al. *Lactobacillus* and *bifidobacterium* in irritable bowel syndrome: symptom responses and relationship to cytokine profiles. Gastroenterology. 2005;128:541–51.
- 115. Zheng Y, Yu T, Tang Y, Xiong W, Shen X, Jiang L, et al. Efficacy and safety of 5-hydroxytryptamine 3 receptor antagonists in irritable bowel syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0172846.
- 116. Barshop K, Staller K. Eluxadoline in irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhea: rationale, evidence and place in therapy. Ther Adv Chronic Dis. 2017;8:153–60.
- 117. Fukudo S, Kinoshita Y, Okumura T, Ida M, Hayashi K, Akiho H, et al. Effect of ramosetron in female patients with irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhea: a phase III long-term study. J Gastroenterol. 2016;51:874–82.
- 118. Kim Y, Choi CH. Role of fructose malabsorption in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2018;24:161–3.
- 119. Böhn L, Störsrud S, Törnblom H, Bengtsson U, Simrén M. Selfreported food-related gastrointestinal symptoms in IBS are common and associated with more severe symptoms and reduced quality of life. Am J Gastroenterol. 2013;108:634–41.
- 120. Meibohm B, Beierle I, Derendorf H. How important are gender differences in pharmacokinetics? Clin Pharmacokinet. 2002;41:329–42.

Functional Constipation

Jeong Eun Shin

17.1 Introduction

Constipation is a common functional gastrointestinal disorder (FGID) that reduces the quality of life in many patients [1]. Functional constipation (FC) is characterized by hard stools, excessive straining, the feeling of incomplete evacuation, the sensation of anorectal blockage, the use of manual maneuvers during defecation, and fewer than three bowel movements a week without organic abnormalities. These symptoms persist chronically, limiting social life and lowering the quality of life, resulting in social and economic burdens. Constipation may occur secondary to various causative diseases such as endocrine diseases, metabolic diseases, neurological diseases, mental diseases, and gastrointestinal obstruction, and therapeutic drugs are taken to control them. FC is diagnosed when there is no such cause. According to the new Rome IV diagnostic criteria, FGIDs exist on a spectrum with interrelated pathophysiological characteristics that vary according to the quantitative distribution, intensity, and severity of the patient's symptoms [2–4]. Irritable bowel syndrome with predominant constipation (IBS-C) and FC can have overlapping clinical features, and each disease is diagnosed according to the accompanying pain level. The

subtypes of IBS were also suggested to have overlapping features due to changes in bowel habits [2–4]. For this reason, the clinical features, pathophysiology, and treatment of FC and IBS-C cannot be clearly distinguished. However, this manuscript deals only with FC. The main mechanisms of FC are sensorimotor disorders of the large intestine and pelvic floor dysfunction, and there are various causes such as decreased caloric intake, changes in the microbiome, and anatomical structure abnormalities. These mechanisms work in combination.

The differences in pathophysiology and clinical features between men and women are very important for understanding constipation patients and applying a diagnosis and treatment process tailored to each individual with FC in clinical practice. The purpose of this manuscript was to investigate the differences between men and women in the epidemiology, pathophysiology, clinical features, and therapeutic approaches to FC.

17.2 Definition and Classification

The diagnostic criteria for FGIDs were revised according to the Rome IV diagnostic criteria in 2016 [2, 5]. FC is a functional bowel disorder in which symptoms of difficult, infrequent, or incomplete defecation predominate. Patients with FC should not meet IBS criteria, although abdominal pain and bloating may be present but

Department of Internal Medicine, Dankook University College of Medicine, Dankook University Hospital, Chung Nam Province, Republic of Korea

¹⁷



[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_17

J. E. Shin (🖂)

are not the predominant symptoms [2]. The diagnostic criteria for FC in the Rome IV criteria are shown in Table 17.1, and secondary constipation should be excluded [2]. FC includes at least two of the six symptoms shown in Table 17.1, and these symptoms should begin at least 6 months before diagnosis and present during the last 3 months.

FC is divided into normal transit constipation, slow transit constipation (STC), and functional defecation disorder (FDD) according to colonic transit time and anorectal function, but they are expressed in overlapping forms rather than being distinct from each other. FDD is characterized by paradoxical contractions or inappropriate relaxation of the pelvic muscles during defecation attempts or inadequate propulsion [6]. Although patients with FDD may experience excessive straining and the sensation of incomplete evacuation or require finger manipulation during defe-

 Table 17.1
 Rome IV diagnostic criteria for functional constipation (adapted from Lacy et al. [2])

Functional constipation ^a
1. Must include two or more of the following ^b :
a. Straining during more than one-fourth (25%) of
defecations
b. Lumpy or hard stools (BSFS 1_2) more than
one-fourth (25%) of defecations
c. Sensation of incomplete evacuation more than
one-fourth (25%) of defecations
d. Sensation of anorectal obstruction/blockage more
than one-fourth (25%) of defecations
e. Manual maneuvers to facilitate more than
one-fourth (25%) of defecations (e.g., digital
evacuation, support of the pelvic floor)
f. Fewer than three spontaneous bowel movements
per week
2. Loose stools are rarely present without the use of
laxatives
3. Insufficient criteria for irritable bowel syndrome
^a Criteria fulfilled for the last 3 months with symptom onset at least 6 months prior to diagnosis

^bFor research studies, patients meeting criteria for opioidinduced constipation should not be given a diagnosis of FC because it is difficult to distinguish between opioid side effects and other causes of constipation. However, clinicians recognize that these two conditions might overlap cation, it is not possible to diagnose patients with FDD based on the presence or absence of these symptoms [6–9]. Therefore, FDD should be diagnosed by both considering the symptoms and physiological testing. The diagnostic criteria for FDD are described in Table 17.2, which are subdivided into inadequate defecatory propulsion and dyssynergic defecation (DD) [10]. In the Rome III criteria, there was a prerequisite to satisfy the diagnostic criteria for FC in order to diagnose FDD. However, the Rome IV criteria include all cases that satisfy the diagnostic criteria for FC or IBS-C or IBS with mixed bowel habits (IBS-M) [10]. The changes in the prerequisites of these diagnostic criteria were based on the research findings that IBS may be related to pelvic floor dysfunction [11, 12] and patients with FDD can be effectively treated through biofeedback treatment regardless of the presence or absence of IBS symptoms [13].

 Table 17.2
 Rome IV diagnostic criteria^a for functional defecation disorders (adapted from Rao et al. [10])

1. The patient must satisfy diagnostic criteria for functional constipation and/or irritable bowel syndrome with constipation
2. During repeated attempts to defecate, there must be features of impaired evacuation, as demonstrated by two of the following three tests:
a. Abnormal balloon expulsion test
b. Abnormal anorectal evacuation pattern with manometry or anal surface EMG
c. Impaired rectal evacuation by imaging
Subcategories F3a and F3b apply to patients who satisfy criteria for functional defecation disorders
F3a. Diagnostic criteria for inadequate defecatory propulsion Inadequate propulsive forces as measured with manometry with or without inappropriate contraction of the anal sphincter and/or pelvic floor muscles ^b
F3b. Diagnostic criteria for dyssynergic defecation Inappropriate contraction of the pelvic floor as measured with anal surface EMG or manometry with adequate propulsive forces during attempted defecation ^b
^a Criteria fulfilled for the last 3 months with symptom onset at least 6 months before diagnosis

^bThese criteria are defined by age- and sex-appropriate normal values for the technique *EMG* electromyography

J. E. Shin

17.3 Epidemiology and Prevalence of Functional Constipation

In a systematic literature review, the global prevalence of constipation was about 14% (95% confidence interval [CI], 12–17%) and varied by region, with a relatively low prevalence in Southeast Asia [14]. The study results on the prevalence of constipation are reported in various ways according to the constipation diagnostic criteria applied, and recently, the prevalence of constipation using the Rome IV criteria in the United States was reported to be about 24% [15]. The prevalence of constipation was higher in women than in men (odds ratio [OR] 2.22; 95% CI, 1.87–2.62) [14].

The prevalence of constipation increases with age [16, 17]. In a Chinese study using the Rome III criteria, the prevalence of constipation in the population aged 60 years or older was 32.6% (634/1942) and increased with age, and it was found to be 44.8% in those aged 80 years and older [18]. As age increases, intestinal function may decrease, including incomplete relaxation of the rectoanal angle, an increase in perineum descent, a decrease in elasticity of the rectal wall due to decreases in muscle mass and elasticity, and damage to the vulvar nerve. In addition, the incidence of constipation increases due to a combination of factors such as an increase in various underlying diseases including the nervous and endocrine system, increases in medications, changes in dietary intake, and a decrease in physical activity [16, 19]. In a Finnish study, constipation was diagnosed in 57% and 64% of older women and men, respectively, and increased to 79% and 81%, respectively, in the residents of nursing homes [20]. The difference in the prevalence of constipation between men and women disappears with increasing age, and this phenomenon may be due to changes in physical and psychological factors such as female hormones, sociocultural role changes, and underlying diseases that accompany increasing age.

17.4 Symptoms of Functional Constipation

The FC symptoms reported by patients differ according to gender. In a study of constipation patients who visited a tertiary hospital, women showed infrequent bowel movement (adjusted OR [AOR] 2.07; 95% CI, 1.67-5.28), hard stools (AOR 3.08; 95% CI, 1.80-5.28), and longer duration of constipation symptoms (AOR 2.00; 95% CI, 1.05-3.82) than men [21]. In addition, women had an increased frequency of the occurrence of abdominal pain (AOR 2.22; 95% CI, 1.22-4.05), bloating (AOR 2.65; 95% CI, 1.50-4.70), unsuccessful attempts at evacuation (AOR 1.74; 95% CI, 1.01-3.00), and the use of anal digitation to evacuate stool (AOR 3.37; 95% CI, 1.15–9.90) than men [21]. In another study, the frequency of excessive straining during defecation or the feeling of incomplete evacuation was higher in female patients with constipation than males [22]. A previous study reported that the symptoms of DD were associated with the absence of an urge to defecate in men and straining during defecation in women [23]. However, research on whether the symptoms of FC actually differ between men and women is still limited.

17.5 Pathophysiology of Functional Constipation

The main mechanisms of FC are sensorimotor impairment in the large intestine and pelvic floor dysfunction. In addition, various causes such as changes in the microbiome and anatomical structure abnormalities may be involved in the occurrence of constipation. In particular, differences in the effects of sex hormones and brain activity in men and women with constipation have been reported.

17.5.1 Sensorimotor Impairment of the Large Intestine

Normal movement of the colon is characterized by segmental and peristaltic contractions. These movements occur through the myenteric plexus, interstitial cells of Cajal, and neurotransmitters. Serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5-HT) is an important representative neurotransmitter that induces local reflexes by releasing stimulatory or inhibitory neurotransmitters such as acetylcholine or nitric oxide through intestinal neurons [24]. In STC, colonic transit time increases, and the frequency of high-amplitude propagating contractions decreases [25]. The physiological and immunohistochemical findings in STC included abnormal colon propulsion activity, delayed proximal colon transit, decreased cholinergic response, increased adrenergic response, weakened gastrointestinal reflex, an incongruity in rectal sigmoid activity, neurodegeneration of the myenteric plexus ganglia and interstitial cells of Cajal, and abnormalities in intestinal neurotransmitters [26]. There are insufficient studies on whether the difference in these changes exists in male and female constipation patients.

17.5.2 Pelvic Floor Dysfunction

Pelvic floor dysfunction is the main cause of FDDs and is caused by a combination of decreased rectal evacuation and resistance to the defecation process. Resistance to the defecation process is caused by high anal resting pressure and paradoxical contractions or incomplete relaxation of the pelvic and external anal sphincters. FDDs are classified into dyssynergic defecation, in which the pelvic floor muscles contract inappropriately during attempted defecation, and inadequate defecatory propulsion, in which there are inadequate propulsive forces [10]. FDDs may be accompanied by decreased rectal sensations. Decreased rectal sensations can reduce the urge to defecate, and in about 50% of these patients, colonic motility is slowed. Retained feces can also physically block the defecation pathway and induce rectocolonic inhibitory reflexes. Over time, excessive straining can weaken the pelvic floor muscles, increasing the risk of excessive perineal descent, rectal prolapse, and isolated rectal ulcer syndrome.

In the anorectal function test, men with constipation had higher median sphincter resting pressures (81.2 vs. 75.2 mm Hg, p = 0.01) and mean squeeze pressure (257.0 vs. 170.5 mm Hg, p < 0.0001) compared to women with constipation [22]. Men showed less severe straining and incomplete evacuation than women but had greater mean rectoanal pressure differentials (-106.7 vs. -71.1 mm Hg, p < 0.0001), a lower mean defection index (0.17 vs. 0.27, p = 0.03), and higher volume threshold for urgency (115.2 vs. 103.4 mL, p = 0.03). Women were more likely to have abnormal balloon expulsion time than men. In a multivariate analysis, male gender was the only independent predictor of a normal balloon expulsion time [22]. The results of the anorectal function tests suggest the possibility that there is a difference between men and women in the pathophysiology of FC. However, physiological testing, such as anorectal manometry and the balloon expulsion test, should be interpreted with caution as there is a possibility of false-positive results when the patient is uncomfortable.

17.5.3 Influence of Sex Hormones

Female sex hormones affect colon motility and were thought to be one of the causes of STC. In a study on healthy Korean adults, the study found a difference in the colon transit time according to the menstrual cycle, and the colonic transit time in the luteal phase was longer than that in the follicular phase $(40.9 \pm 19.0 \text{ h vs. } 20.6 \pm 19.2 \text{ h}, p < 0.05)$ [27]. In a study of pregnant women in China using the Rome III diagnostic criteria for constipation, the prevalence of constipation among pregnant women was 13.0%, which was higher than 6.0% in the general population [28, 29]. As maternal age increased, the prevalence of constipation also increased, especially in pregnant women over 35 years of age, in which it increased to 22.5% (OR 3.010; 95% CI, 2.224–4.076) [29]. These findings suggest that among the female sex hormones, progesterone, in particular, may be involved in STC. However, another study did not report a similar association between the menstrual cycle and colon transit [30], and some studies found that

serum progesterone levels were normal in women with STC [31]. These results indicate that the increased progesterone levels in patients with STC may affect the action mechanism rather than directly affecting intestinal motility, and studies supporting these results have been reported. In the colonic epithelial cells of women with STC, progesterone receptors were overexpressed, serotonin transporter (SERT) levels were lower, and serotonin levels were higher than in healthy women [32]. In epithelial cells, progesterone treatment decreased serotonin transporters and increased mucosal serotonin [32]. Serotonin signaling abnormalities are related to the overexpression of progesterone receptors produced in human epithelial cells, and increased serotonin levels in patients with constipation may appear as a compensatory mechanism for increased colon transit time.

17.5.4 Differences in Brain Activity

It has been reported that brain activity in patients with IBS differed according to gender in functional magnetic resonance imaging [33, 34]. There are few reports of differences in constipation symptoms between men and women. However, like IBS, FC is a functional disease that occurs twice as often in women than in men, so there is a possibility that there is an important difference in the signaling system involved in the visceral stimulus response and emotion regulation processes [35]. The orbital frontal cortex (OFC) and insula (INS) belong to the emotional arousal network mainly involved in regulating visceral responses as emotional processes. The OFC shares extensive connections with areas such as the prefrontal region, limbic system, motor, and primary sensations. The insula is involved in visceral pain, integrating information from the body and internal organs. The lateral OFC is involved in downregulating emotional responses [36], and the insula is mainly involved in integrating emotional information with the gut [37]. In a recent study, abdominal pain and abdominal distension were correlated with transit and state anxiety ratings in female than male patients with FC. The female FC group had lower amplitudes of low-

frequency fluctuation (ALFF) than males in the precentral gyrus (PreCen), thalamus (THA), INS, and OFC (p < 0.01). ALFF in the INS and OFC was correlated with abdominal pain and difficulty in defecation, respectively, in the female FC group [35]. The positive correlation between the difficulty in defecation and ALFF in the OFC indicates that constipation symptoms have a greater effect on the OFC in female patients with constipation than in male patients. There were also gendifferences in resting-state functional der connectivity (RSFC) between the INS and lateral OFC (IOFC). The RSFC between the INS and lOFC was weaker in female patients with constipation than in male patients. These findings suggest that the INS and OFC play important roles in modulating the intrinsic functional connectivity of the resting brain networks in patients with FC and that this role is influenced by sex [35] (Fig. 17.1). In this study, male patients with constipation showed higher connectivity between the INS and IOFC than healthy males, reflecting increased responses to persistent visceral stimulation. However, this ability may worsen as abdominal distension increases, which is explained by an inverse correlation between abdominal distension and INS-IOFC connectivity in male patients with constipation. In contrast, INS-IOFC showed lower connectivity and an inverse association with anxiety in female patients with constipation compared to healthy women, suggesting that it may impair the ability to control negative emotional responses in female patients with constipation.

Overall, female patients with constipation had lower INS-IOFC connectivity than male patients and an inverse correlation between the RSFC in INS-IOFC and anxiety/abdominal distension. These findings suggest that the lack of an ability to control visceral sensation and negative emotions in women compared to men may be related to the higher prevalence of constipation in females [35].

17.5.5 Changes in Gut Microbiome

Imbalances in intestinal microflora are known to be involved in the development of functional



Fig. 17.1 Differences in brain activity between men and women in healthy and constipated patients. (a) RSFC strength between the INS and the lateral OFC (IOFC). Male constipation patients showed higher strength of RSFC than healthy male and female constipation patients, and female constipation patients showed lower strength of RSFC than healthy females. (b) SAS and RSFC were not correlated in healthy men and women. (c) SAS tended to be correlated with RSFC strength between INS and IOFC in female constipation patients, but not in male constipation patients. (d) Abdominal distension was inversely correlated with the connectivity between INS and IOFC in

bowel diseases such as IBS. Changes in gut microflora have also been reported in patients with FC [38]. Khalif et al. reported that *Bifidobacterium*, *Lactobacillus*, *Clostridium*, and *Bacteroides* were decreased and *Escherichia coli*, *Enterobacteriaceae*, and *Staphylococcus aureus* were increased in stool microbial cultures of patients with constipation [39]. In a Korean study, stool analysis using real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) showed that *Bifidobacterium* and *Bacteroides* were decreased in patients with constipation compared to healthy adults [40]. Another study

male constipation patients, but not in female constipation patients. Z score indicated there were no statistical differences of correlation coefficient between HC_M and HC_F and between FC_M and FC_F. ALFF amplitude of lowfrequency fluctuation, FC functional constipation, FC_F female patients with functional constipation, FC_M male patients with functional constipation, HC healthy control, HC_F female healthy controls, HC_M male healthy controls, INS insula, OFC orbital frontal cortex, RSFC resting-state functional connectivity, SAS self-rating anxiety scale (adapted from Jin et al. [35])

examining microbial changes in the colonic mucosa reported that the colonic mucosa of patients with constipation was particularly rich in *Bacteroides* compared to normal individuals and that this difference had an accuracy of 94% [41]. In patients with constipation, changes in gut microflora are still inconsistent. The putative microbiotic-dependent mechanisms in chronic constipation are shown in Fig. 17.2 [42]. Intestinal microorganisms affect intestinal motility by participating in the development of the enteric nervous system (ENS), the synthesis of short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), and the metabo-



Fig. 17.2 Putative microbiotic-dependent mechanisms in chronic constipation. *BA* bile acids, *ENS* enteric nervous system, *SCFAs* short-chain fatty acids (adapted from Kaminski et al. [42])

lism of bile acids [43]. The ENS is involved in intestinal motor and sensory functions through reflex pathways that can function independent of the central nervous system [44]. Metabolites such as SCFAs or peptides generated during fermentation by intestinal microbiota can stimulate ENS and affect intestinal motility [45]. The gut neuroendocrine system interacts with the gut microbiota via serotonin [46]. Serotonin is produced in the ENS and central nervous system and plays a central role in mediating motor and sensory responses in the ENS. Serotonin stimulates local enteric nerve reflexes to initiate secretion and propulsion and acts on the vagus afferent nerve to control contractile movements [47]. Slow bowel movements are aggravated when the amount of serotonin in the large intestine decreases. It is also associated with a relative decrease in Firmicutes, an increase in Bacteroides, and changes in SCFAs and bile acids in the stool [48]. There are still few studies on the differences between men and women in the distribution of intestinal microbiota in patients with constipation, so further research is needed.

17.6 Treatment of Functional Constipation

The first step in the treatment of FC is to improve lifestyle and diet, and if necessary, appropriate laxatives are administered. Laxatives include bulking laxatives, osmotic laxatives, stimulant laxatives, prokinetics, and secretagogues. Studies on the therapeutic effect of laxatives have been unable to prove a difference between men and women because the study subjects were mostly female patients. Although laxatives can improve FDD, biofeedback treatment is very effective in this subgroup.

17.6.1 Diet and Lifestyle Modification

Adequate dietary fiber intake is important in patients with constipation. Dietary fiber can improve constipation symptoms by increasing stool volume and softening it and increasing the frequency of defecation. Most guidelines recommend consuming 20–25 g of fiber per day [49]. In a meta-analysis, dietary fiber increased bowel frequency in patients with constipation, but it was not clear whether it could improve stool hardness or reduce the use of laxatives [50]. In some severely constipated patients, excessive fiber intake may cause abdominal distension, so it should be consumed with caution [50]. Another study found that a vegetarian diet rich in fruits and vegetables for 12 weeks reduced the number of patients complaining of constipation [51].

Constipation patients are advised to drink 1.5–2 L water per day. A National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey in the United States showed that bowel frequency decreased and stool became firmer as water intake decreased regardless of gender, suggesting a possible association between constipation and water intake [52]. There is still no evidence that increased fluid intake is effective in treating constipation, but it may help in treating constipation in patients with insufficient fluid intake [53, 54]. As suggested in the Korean guidelines, when taking bulk-forming laxatives, sufficient fluid intake is recommended in consideration of the mechanism of action [49].

The effects of physical activity vary in the treatment of constipation. Regular aerobic exercise (e.g., walking and cycling) can be effective for constipation by shortening the overall colon transit time and the rectosigmoid colon transit time [55]. In a study, moderate-to-high physical activity shortened the colon transit time only in women with constipation [56]. Although there is still no evidence that physical activity is effective in treating constipation, it is recommended for patients with constipation because it can improve the quality of life and provide health benefits.

In summary, dietary studies related to constipation still lack evidence and do not have the same effect on all patients with constipation, so it is desirable to eat a balanced diet along with appropriate physical activity for the treatment of constipation. It is helpful to relatively increase the intake of foods high in fiber and drink sufficient water to ensure adequate hydration.

17.6.2 Laxatives

Bulking laxatives absorb water in the large intestine to increase stool volume, shorten colon transit time, and soften stool so that it can be easily evacuated. Compared to placebo, bulking laxatives (especially psyllium) improved overall constipation symptoms, such as straining, pain during defecation, and stool hardness, and increased the number of bowel movements per week [57]. The Korean guidelines state that bulking laxatives are effective in the treatment of chronic constipation and can help patients with chronic constipation with inadequate fiber intake [49]. Bulking laxatives are relatively safe drugs with few side effects, but when they are fermented by bacteria in the colon, gases such as hydrogen, methane, and carbon dioxide are generated, so they can cause abdominal distension, bloating, and gas, which can lead to poor compliance with the drugs. For this reason, it is recommended to gradually increase the dosage of bulking laxatives. Bulking laxatives are ineffective in severe STC, DD, fecal impaction, and drug-induced constipation and may worsen symptoms, so it is preferable to use osmotic laxatives first [58]. Osmotic laxatives are not absorbed from the intestine but move body water into the intestinal lumen by osmotic pressure to facilitate defecation. Osmotic laxatives are divided into magnesium laxatives, non-absorbable polysaccharides, and polyethylene glycol (PEG). Magnesium laxatives are widely used because they are inexpensive and easy to take and they improve bowel frequency and stool consistency, but studies on magnesium laxatives are lacking. In particular, if there is a decrease in renal function or neuromuscular disease, magnesium laxatives may induce hypermagnesemia, resulting in a gradual loss of neuromuscular, respiratory, and cardiac function. They can cause hypotension and conduction abnormalities, which may lead to bradycardia and even cardiac arrest [59]. The Korean guidelines recommend that they should not be used in patients with impaired renal function as it may cause hypermagnesemia [49]. Nonabsorbable polysaccharides include lactulose and lactitol, and PEG includes PEG 3350 and

Macrogel 4000. Non-absorbable polysaccharides are not absorbed in the small intestine but are metabolized by bacteria in the large intestine and converted to fatty acids to increase osmotic reactions and stimulate colonic motility. Nonabsorbable polysaccharides have the advantage that they are not absorbed into the bloodstream, so there is no risk of their systemic circulation. In a study of patients with FC, when lactulose was taken at 45–60 mL per day, the transit time in the proximal colon was accelerated, bowel frequency increased, stool hardness improved, and the overall symptoms related to constipation improved [60]. PEG is a high molecular weight polymer that is not absorbed in the intestine and remains in solution to maintain high osmotic pressure in the large intestine. It does not absorb water into the body, so it softens stool consistency and increases stool amount. In a meta-analysis, the number of bowel movements per week increased by 1.98 times in the constipated group taking PEG compared to the placebo group, and the hardness and ease of defecation were also improved [61]. According to the Korean guidelines, non-absorbable polysaccharides and PEG are effective drugs for improving the frequency and hardness of bowel movements in patients with chronic constipation [49]. These drugs have few serious side effects, so can be administered for the long term, and are recommended for elderly patients with chronic constipation [49]. Non-absorbable polysaccharides may cause abdominal distension and flatulence due to gas produced by metabolism by bacteria in the large intestine. In contrast, PEG does not undergo a metabolic process and does not generate gas, so it has higher compliance than non-absorbable polysaccharides. PEG may be more effective than non-absorbable polysaccharides in patients with severe abdominal distension or gas. Since both drugs take effect 24–72 h after taking them, the patient should be informed of this, and the dose should be increased slowly [62].

The stimulant laxatives include anthraquinones (senna, cascara, and aloe), polyphenols (bisacodyl and phenolphthalein), and surfactant laxatives (docusate, castor oil, and dehydrocholic acid). Most stimulant laxatives are composed of multiple ingredients rather than a single ingredient. Although the exact mechanism of action is not known, stimulant laxatives are considered to promote intestinal movement by inhibiting the absorption of water and electrolytes in the large intestine and stimulating the muscular plexus. They can cause cramping pain and diarrhea, and long-term use can cause electrolyte and water abnormalities such as hyponatremia, hypokalemia, dehydration, secondary aldosteronism, steatorrhea, cathartic colon, and protein-loss enteritis [63, 64]. The safety has not been established for use for more than 4 weeks.

Prucalopride is a selective type 4 serotonin receptor agonist that directly promotes gastrointestinal motility. In an analysis of six case-control studies, the group administered prucalopride at 2 mg had a higher frequency of three or more spontaneous bowel movements a week for 12 weeks compared to the control group and showed high safety and compliance. There was no difference in the efficacy and safety of prucalopride between men and women [65]. Prucalopride is administered at 2 mg once a day. The administration of 1 mg once a day is recommended for elderly patients 65 years of age or older and patients with severe renal impairment (glomerular filtration rate of <30 mL/ min/1.73 m²) and severe hepatic impairment (Child-Pugh class C). Although it is relatively safe, headache is most common on the first day of use and improves gradually. Giving patients this information can help improve their adherence to the drug. Unlike non-selective type 4 serotonin receptor agonists such as cisapride and tegaserod, prucalopride selectively acts only on type 4 serotonin receptors, so no cardiovascular side effects have been reported.

Laxatives are selected in consideration of the patient's overall condition, such as age and underlying disease, and either bulking or osmotic laxatives are selected first. Bulking laxatives may be preferentially selected over osmotic laxatives in patients whose colonic transit time is judged to be close to normal due to insufficient dietary fiber intake. That is, if the patient defecates less than one to two times a week, the stool form is Bristol stool form scale 1 or 2, and stool retention is suspected in simple abdominal X-ray, it is better to select an osmotic laxative rather than a bulking laxative. Osmotic laxatives should be selected in consideration of the advantages and disadvantages of the drugs. Magnesium salt is inexpensive, is easy to take, and has the advantage of showing quick effects, so it can be selected for patients without renal impairment or neuromuscular disease. Non-absorbable polysaccharides and PEG have few serious side effects and can be administered for a long period of time, so they can be prescribed first for elderly patients or patients with accompanying underlying diseases [66]. The choice between the two drugs takes into account compliance, accompanying symptoms such as gas or abdominal distension, and cost. PEG may be effective if it is difficult to take due to the sweet taste of non-absorbable polysaccharides or if gas or abdominal distension is severe. PEG can rarely cause electrolyte imbalance and water retention if taken in excess, so it should be used with caution when kidney or heart function is impaired [58]. When prescribing prucalopride, age, renal function, and liver function must be checked before administration, and excessive doses must be avoided. Cardiovascular adverse events have not yet been reported, but caution is warranted in patients at risk for cardiovascular disease [62]. It has not yet been determined in what order and in which combination laxatives should be used when a patient does not respond to one laxative. The choice of laxative should be selected in consideration of the patient's symptoms, underlying disease, period of time required for treatment, administration interval, drug characteristics, effects, side effects, and long-term safety, as well as the economic aspects. When the laxative being taken is ineffective, it may be more effective to add another drug with a different mechanism of action that does not increase side effects rather than increasing the dose of the drug over the standard therapeutic dose [67].

17.6.3 New Laxatives

Lubiprostone is a chloride channel activator that induces intra-intestinal water and chloride secretion and accelerates transit [68, 69]. In randomized controlled trials (RCTs) in patients with chronic constipation and IBS-C, lubiprostone was associated with significantly improved symptoms [69–72]. Lubiprostone may cause nausea and has been suspected to promote abortion rates in animal studies due to its prostaglandin properties [69]. Hence, it is mostly used as a reserve medication and has not yet been approved in most European countries. Linaclotide acts as an oral guanylate cyclase C receptor agonist and increases intracellular cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) levels. Thus, fluid secretion into the intestinal lumen is increased, which, in turn, accelerates gastrointestinal transit velocity [73, 74]. In recent European guidelines, lubiprostone and linaclotide were effective in the management of chronic constipation and IBS-C [75].

17.6.4 Biofeedback Therapy

Biofeedback therapy is an effective method for the treatment of DD, which can be safely and repeatedly performed and can reduce the use of laxatives [49]. Biofeedback therapy is a process of retraining the anorectal and pelvic muscles of patients with constipation. Biofeedback therapy is effective in about 70% of the patients with DD and lasts for more than 2 years but has little effect in patients with STC [76, 77]. Although patients with DD can be treated with laxatives, it is desirable to recommend biofeedback therapy regardless of the laxative response. It is predicted that biofeedback therapy will be more effective in patients with hard stools, shorter duration of laxative use, high resting sphincter pressure, and longer balloon expulsion time [78]. Biofeedback therapy can be recommended for these patients.

17.6.5 Surgical Treatment

Colectomy may be helpful in the treatment of patients with STC who do not have defecatory dysfunction and do not respond to laxatives. Surgical treatment can also be effective in patients with outlet obstruction such as symptomatic rectocele and rectal prolapse [49]. However, research on the surgical treatment of FC is still lacking [79]. Surgical treatment can result in serious complications, so it should be considered carefully and selectively in patients with STC who do not respond to non-surgical treatment and do not have DD.

17.7 Conclusions

The prevalence of FC is about twice as high in women as in men. Women with FC had more infrequent bowel movements, hard stools, unsuccessful attempts at evacuation, and used anal digitation to evacuate stool than men. And the duration of symptoms was longer, and the frequency of abdominal pain or bloating was higher in women with constipation than in men. However, studies on whether the symptoms of constipation actually differ between men and women are limited. Women with STC were reported to have abnormalities in the serotonin signaling system, suggesting that STC is related to the overexpression of progesterone receptors rather than the direct effect of progesterone. Also, in female constipation patients, changes in brain activation, which are expected to decrease the ability to control the signaling system involved in visceral sensations and emotional responses, have been reported. This difference may be a factor in increasing the prevalence of constipation in women. Although changes in intestinal microbiota have been reported in patients with FC, studies on the differences between men and women are still insufficient. In the future, it is expected that additional studies will be conducted to identify the differences between constipation in women and men so that they can be used for the tailored treatment of patients with constipation.

References

1. Jun DW, Park HY, Lee OY, Lee HL, Yoon BC, Choi HS, et al. A population-based study on bowel habits in a Korean community: prevalence of functional constipation and self-reported constipation. Dig Dis Sci. 2006;51:1471–7.

- Lacy BE, Mearin F, Chang L, Chey WD, Lembo AJ, Simren M, et al. Bowel disorders. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:1393–407.
- Wong RK, Palsson OS, Turner MJ, Levy RL, Feld AD, von Korff M, et al. Inability of the Rome III criteria to distinguish functional constipation from constipation-subtype irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105:2228–34.
- Shekhar C, Monaghan PJ, Morris J, Issa B, Whorwell PJ, Keevil B, et al. Rome III functional constipation and irritable bowel syndrome with constipation are similar disorders within a spectrum of sensitization, regulated by serotonin. Gastroenterology. 2013;145:749–57.
- Sood R, Ford AC. Rome IV criteria for FGIDs an improvement or more of the same? Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;13:501–2.
- Rao SS, Tuteja AK, Vellema T, Kempf J, Stessman M. Dyssynergic defecation: demographics, symptoms, stool patterns, and quality of life. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2004;38:680–5.
- Ratuapli SK, Bharucha AE, Noelting J, Harvey DM, Zinsmeister AR. Phenotypic identification and classification of functional defecatory disorders using high resolution anorectal manometry. Gastroenterology. 2013;144:314–22.
- Minguez M, Herreros B, Sanchiz V, Hernandez V, Almela P, Añon R, et al. Predictive value of the balloon expulsion test for excluding the diagnosis of pelvic floor dyssynergia in constipation. Gastroenterology. 2004;126:57–62.
- Rao SSC, Mudipalli RS, Stessman M, Zimmerman B. Investigation of the utility of colorectal function tests and Rome II criteria in dyssynergic defecation (Anismus). Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2004;16:589–96.
- Rao SS, Bharucha AE, Chiarioni G, Felt-Bersma R, Knowles C, Malcolm A, et al. Anorectal disorders. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:1430–42.
- Prott G, Shim L, Hansen R, Kellow J, Malcolm A. Relationships between pelvic floor symptoms and function in irritable bowel syndrome. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2010;22:764–9.
- Suttor VP, Prott GM, Hansen RD, Kellow JE, Malcolm A. Evidence for pelvic floor dyssynergia in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Dis Colon Rectum. 2010;53:156–60.
- Patcharatrakul T, Gonlachanvit S. Outcome of biofeedback therapy in dyssynergic defecation patients with and without irritable bowel syndrome. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2011;45:593–8.
- Suares NC, Ford AC. Prevalence of, and risk factors for, chronic idiopathic constipation in the community: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2011;106:1582–91.
- 15. Oh SJ, Fuller G, Patel D, Khalil C, Spalding W, Nag A, et al. Chronic constipation in the United States: results from a population-based survey assessing healthcare seeking and use of pharmacotherapy. Am J Gastroenterol. 2020;115:895–905.

- Gallegos-Orozco JF, Foxx-Orenstein AE, Sterler SM, Stoa JM. Chronic constipation in the elderly. Am J Gastroenterol. 2012;107:18–25.
- Higgins PD, Johanson JF. Epidemiology of constipation in North America: a systematic review. Am J Gastroenterol. 2004;99:750–9.
- Zhang M, Yang X, Zhu H, Tang Z, Li B, Zhao D. Epidemiological study of elderly constipation in Beijing. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21:13368–73.
- McCrea GL, Miaskowski C, Stotts NA, Macera L, Varma MG. Pathophysiology of constipation in the older adult. World J Gastroenterol. 2008;14:2631–8.
- Kinnunen O. Study of constipation in a geriatric hospital, day hospital, old people's home and at home. Aging (Milano). 1991;3:161–70.
- McCrea GL, Miaskowski C, Stotts NA, Macera L, Paul SM, Varma MG. Gender differences in selfreported constipation characteristics, symptoms, and bowel and dietary habits among patients attending a specialty clinic for constipation. Gend Med. 2009;6:259–71.
- Zakari M, Nee J, Hirsch W, Kuo B, Lembo A, Staller K. Gender differences in chronic constipation on anorectal motility. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2017;29:e12980.
- Jain M, Baijal R, Srinivas M, Venkataraman J. Clinical predictors and gender-wise variations in dyssynergic defecation disorders. Indian J Gastroenterol. 2018;37:255–60.
- Andromanakos NP, Pinis SI, Kostakis AI. Chronic severe constipation: current pathophysiological aspects, new diagnostic approaches, and therapeutic options. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015;27:204–14.
- Dinning PG, Smith TK, Scott SM. Pathophysiology of colonic causes of chronic constipation. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2009;21(Suppl 2):20–30.
- 26. Wedel T, Spiegler J, Soellner S, Roblick UJ, Schiedeck TH, Bruch HP, et al. Enteric nerves and interstitial cells of Cajal are altered in patients with slow transit constipation and megacolon. Gastroenterology. 2002;123:1459–67.
- Jung H, Kim D, Moon I. Effects of gender and menstrual cycle on colonic transit time in healthy subjects. Korean J Intern Med. 2003;18:181–6.
- 28. Zhao YF, Ma XQ, Wang R, Yan XY, Li ZS, Zou DW, et al. Epidemiology of functional constipation and comparison with constipation-predominant irritable bowel syndrome: the Systematic Investigation of Gastrointestinal Diseases in China (SILC). Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;34:1020–9.
- Shi W, Xu X, Zhang Y, Guo S, Wang J, Wang J. Epidemiology and risk factors of functional constipation in pregnant women. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0133521.
- Bovo P, Paola BM, diFrancesco V, Frulloni L, Montesi G, Cavallini G. The menstrual cycle has no effect on gastrointestinal transit time. Ital J Gastroenterol. 1992;24:449–51.
- Kamm MA, Farthing MJ, LeonnardJones JE. Bowel function and transit rate during the menstrual cycle. Gut. 1989;30:605–8.

- 32. Guarino M, Cheng L, Cicala M, Ripetti V, Biancani P, Behar J. Progesterone receptors and serotonin levels in colon epithelial cells from females with slow transit constipation. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2011;23:575–e210.
- 33. Labus JS, Gupta A, Coveleskie K, Tillisch K, Kilpatrick L, Jarcho J, et al. Sex differences in emotion- related cognitive processes in irritable bowel syndrome and healthy control subjects. Pain. 2013;154:2088–99.
- Berman S, Suyenobu B, Naliboff BD, Bueller J, Stains J, Wong H, et al. Evidence for alterations in central noradrenergic signaling in irritable bowel syndrome. NeuroImage. 2012;63:1854–63.
- 35. Jin Q, Duan S, Li G, Sun L, Hu Y, Hu C, et al. Sex-related differences in resting-state brain activity and connectivity in the orbital frontal cortex and insula in patients with functional constipation. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2019;31:e13566.
- Hong JY, Kilpatrick LA, Labus JS, Gupta A, Katibian D, Ashe-McNalley C, et al. Sex and diseasesrelated alterations of anterior insula functional connectivity in chronic abdominal pain. J Neurosci. 2014;34:14252–9.
- Craig AD. How do you feel–now? The anterior insula and human awareness. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2009;10:59–70.
- Ohkusa T, Koido S, Nishikawa Y, Sato N. Gut microbiota and chronic constipation: a review and update. Front Med (Lausanne). 2019;6:19.
- Khalif IL, Quigley EM, Konovitch EA, Maximova ID. Alterations in the colonic flora and intestinal permeability and evidence of immune activation in chronic constipation. Dig Liver Dis. 2005;37:838–49.
- 40. Kim SE, Choi SC, Park KS, Park MI, Shin JE, Lee TH, et al. Change of fecal flora and effectiveness of the short-term VSL#3 probiotic treatment in patients with functional constipation. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2015;21:111–20.
- 41. Parthasarathy G, Chen J, Chen X, Chia N, O'Connor HM, Wolf PG, et al. Relationship between microbiota of the colonic mucosa vs feces and symptoms, colonic transit, and methane production in female patients with chronic constipation. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:367–79.e1.
- 42. Kaminski M, Skonieczna-Zydecka S, Loniewski I, Koulaouzidis A, Marlicz W. Are probiotics useful in the treatment of chronic idiopathic constipation in adults? A review of existing systematic reviews, metaanalyses, and recommendations. Gastroenterology Rev. 2020;15:103–18.
- Obata Y, Pachnis V. The effect of microbiota and the immune system on the development and organization of the enteric nervous system. Gastroenterology. 2016;151:836–44.
- Blackshaw LA, Brookes SJ, Grundy D, Schemann M. Sensory transmission in the gastrointestinal tract. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2007;19(1 Suppl):1–19.
- 45. Barbara G, Stanghellini V, Brandi G, Cremon C, Di Nardo G, De Giorgio R, et al. Interactions between commensal bacteria and gut sensorimotor func-

tion in health and disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 2005;100:2560-8.

- 46. Uribe A, Alam M, Johansson O, Midtvedt T, Theodorsson E. Microflora modulates endocrine cells in the gastrointestinal mucosa of the rat. Gastroenterology. 1994;107:1259–69.
- 47. Spiller R. Recent advances in understanding the role of serotonin in gastrointestinal motility in functional bowel disorders: alterations in 5-HT signalling and metabolism in human disease. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2007;19(Suppl 2):25–31.
- 48. Cao H, Liu X, An Y, Zhou G, Liu Y, Xu M, et al. Dysbiosis contributes to chronic constipation development via regulation of serotonin transporter in the intestine. Sci Rep. 2017;7:441.
- 49. Shin JE, Jung HK, Lee TH, Jo Y, Lee H, Song KH, et al. Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of chronic functional constipation in Korea, 2015 revised edition. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;22:383–411.
- Yang J, Wang HP, Zhou L, Xu CF. Effect of dietary fiber on constipation: a meta analysis. World J Gastroenterol. 2012;18:7378–83.
- 51. Lee BR, Ko YM, Cho MH, Yoon YR, Kye SH, Park YK. Effects of 12-week vegetarian diet on the nutritional status, stress status and bowel habits in middle school students and teachers. Clin Nutr Res. 2016;5:102–11.
- 52. Markland AD, Palsson O, Goode PS, Burgio KL, Busby-Whitehead J, Whitehead WE. Association of low dietary intake of fiber and liquids with constipation: evidence from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Am J Gastroenterol. 2013;108:796–803.
- 53. Bove A, Bellini M, Battaglia E, Bocchini R, Gambaccini D, Bove V, et al. Consensus statement AIGO/SICCR: diagnosis and treatment of chronic constipation and obstructed defecation (part II: treatment). World J Gastroenterol. 2012;18:4994–5013.
- Müller-Lissner SA, Kamm MA, Scarpignato C, Wald A. Myths and misconceptions about chronic constipation. Am J Gastroenterol. 2005;100:232–42.
- 55. De Schryver AM, Keulemans YC, Peters HP, Akkermans LM, Smout AJ, De Vries WR, et al. Effects of regular physical activity on defecation pattern in middle-aged patients complaining of chronic constipation. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2005;40: 422–9.
- Song BK, Cho KO, Jo Y, Oh JW, Kim YS. Colon transit time according to physical activity level in adults. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2012;18:64–9.
- Suares NC, Ford AC. Systematic review: the effects of fibre in the management of chronic idiopathic constipation. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;33:895–901.
- Lee BE, Lee TH, Kim SE, Park KS, Park SY, Shin JE, et al. Conventional laxatives. Korean J Med. 2015;88:1–8.
- 59. Tatsumi H, Masuda Y, Imaizumi H, Kuroda H, Yoshida S, Kyan R, et al. A case of cardiopulmonary arrest caused by laxatives-induced hypermagnesemia in a patient with anorexia nervosa and chronic renal failure. J Anesth. 2011;25:935–8.

- 60. Lee JS, Kim YD, Im HH, Cho YM, Jung IS, Koh BM, et al. The effect of lactulose on the colon transit and the various symptoms of constipation in patients with functional constipation. Kor J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2006;12:127–35.
- Belsey JD, Geraint M, Dixon TA. Systematic review and meta analysis: polyethylene glycol in adults with non-organic constipation. Int J Clin Pract. 2010;64:944–55.
- Shin JE. Pharmacological treatment of chronic constipation: focused on oral laxatives. J Korean Med Assoc. 2018;61:57–61.
- Noergaard M, Andersen JT, Jimenez-Solem E, Christensen MB. Long term treatment with stimulant laxatives – clinical evidence for effectiveness and safety? Scand J Gastroenterol. 2019;54:27–34.
- 64. Wald A. Is chronic use of stimulant laxatives harmful to the colon? J Clin Gastroenterol. 2003;36: 386–9.
- 65. Camilleri M, Piessevaux H, Yiannakou Y, Tack J, Kerstens R, Quigley EMM, et al. Efficacy and safety of prucalopride in chronic constipation: an integrated analysis of six randomized, controlled clinical trials. Dig Dis Sci. 2016;61:2357–72.
- Shin JE, Park KS, Nam K. Chronic functional constipation. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2019;73:92–8.
- Shin JE, Hong KS, Jung KW, Lee TH, Lee BE, Park SY, et al. Guidelines for the use of laxatives - which laxatives, when? Korean J Med. 2015;88:22–6.
- Cuppoletti J, Malinowska DH, Tewari KP, Li QJ, Sherry AM, Patchen ML, et al. SPI-0211 activates T84 cell chloride transport and recombinant human ClC-2 chloride currents. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2004;287:C1173–83.
- Johanson JF, Drossman DA, Panas R, Wahle A, Ueno R. Clinical trial: phase 2 study of lubiprostone for irritable bowel syndrome with constipation. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2008;27:685–96.
- Johanson JF, Morton D, Geenen J, Ueno R. Multicenter, 4-week, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of lubiprostone, a locallyacting type-2 chloride channel activator, in patients with chronic constipation. Am J Gastroenterol. 2008;103:170–7.
- 71. Johanson JF, Ueno R. Lubiprostone, a locally acting chloride channel activator, in adult patients with chronic constipation: a double-blind, placebocontrolled, dose-ranging study to evaluate efficacy and safety: lubiprostone for chronic constipation. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2007;25:1351–61.
- 72. Lembo AJ, Johanson JF, Parkman HP, Rao SS, Miner PB Jr, Ueno R. Long-term safety and effectiveness of lubiprostone, a chloride channel (ClC-2) activator, in patients with chronic idiopathic constipation. Dig Dis Sci. 2011;56:2639–45.
- Lembo AJ, Schneier HA, Shiff SJ, Kurtz CB, MacDougall JE, Jia XD, et al. Two randomized trials of linaclotide for chronic constipation. N Engl J Med. 2011;365:527–36.
- 74. Videlock EJ, Cheng V, Cremonini F. Effects of linaclotide in patients with irritable bowel syndrome with

constipation or chronic constipation: a meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2013;11:1084–92.e3.

- 75. Serra J, Pohl D, Azpiroz F, Chiarioni G, Ducrotté P, Gourcerol G, et al. European society of neurogastroenterology and motility guidelines on functional constipation in adults. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2020;32:e13762.
- Rao SS, Valestin J, Brown CK, Zimmerman B, Schulze K. Long-term efficacy of biofeedback therapy for dyssynergic defecation: randomized controlled trial. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105:890–6.
- 77. Lee HJ, Boo SJ, Jung KW, Han S, Seo SY, Koo HS, et al. Long-term efficacy of biofeedback therapy

in patients with dyssynergic defecation: results of a median 44 months follow-up. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2015;27:787–95.

- Shim LS, Jones M, Prott GM, Morris LI, Kellow JE, Malcolm A. Predictors of outcome of anorectal biofeedback therapy in patients with constipation. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;33:1245–51.
- Arebi N, Kalli T, Howson W, Clark S, Norton C. Systematic review of abdominal surgery for chronic idiopathic constipation. Color Dis. 2011;13:1335–43.

Functional Diarrhea

Kyung Ho Song

18.1 Introduction

Diarrhea can be caused by a variety of functional or organic causes. In the case of a chronic course, functional diarrhea, or irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), may be suspected. At the same time, it should be possible to differentiate the causes of various organic diarrheas. In addition to symptomatic treatment, customized prescriptions for organic causes are possible.

18.2 Definition of Diarrhea

It is easy to judge the hardness of stool subjectively, but there is a limit to defining diarrhea without any scale. The Bristol stool scale, which more objectively defines the hardness of the stool, can be applied. In this case, type 6 (soft stools with lumpy edges) or type 7 (watery stools with few lumps) is defined as diarrhea [1]. In addition to stool hardness, diarrhea can be defined by the number of bowel movements or the amount of stool per day. It is generally accepted that the amount of stool in a healthy adult is up to 200 g per day [2]. However, the daily amount of stool can vary greatly depending upon the amount of food ingested and the composition of the diet. Therefore,

it is only used for research purposes. Eating a high-fiber diet or overeating can lead to a large increase in stool volume. However, if the stool volume is in the normal range but the firmness is loose or watery, the patient is considered to have diarrhea. An alternative to the definition of stool firmness and volume is the number of bowel movements per day. Generally, three or more bowel movements per day can be defined as diarrhea. As a systematic diagnostic approach for diarrhea has not been established, it can arbitrarily be divided into acute and chronic categories according to the duration of diarrhea. When diarrhea lasts more than 4 weeks, it is defined as chronic diarrhea and is distinguished from acute diarrhea [3]. Occasionally, fecal incontinence may occur alone or be accompanied by diarrhea, and a distinction is required. Fecal incontinence is involuntary defecation and can be caused by damage to nerves or intestinal muscles that act to control defecation. Since severe diarrhea can be accompanied by temporary fecal incontinence, clinicians must differentiate whether the patient's main symptom is diarrhea, diarrhea accompanied by temporary incontinence, or fecal incontinence.

18.3 Epidemiology

Most available epidemiologic and disease burden data relate to IBS. Epidemiologic studies conducted in the USA, the UK, and New Zealand

18

Check for updates

K. H. Song (🖂)

Department of Internal Medicine, CHA University Ilsan Medical Center, Goyang-si, Republic of Korea e-mail: postit@chamc.co.kr

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_18

showed that about 10–50% of patients with IBSrelated symptoms visited medical institutions [4–6]. When analyzing which factors in the patients experiencing changes in bowel habits such as diarrhea were related to the use of medical institutions, the weaker the mental health and social support bases, the higher the visit rate to medical institutions. According to US healthcare statistics, diarrhea remains a major healthcare issue and accounts for more than five million outpatient or emergency room visits annually [7].

According to a large cohort study in the UK using the Rome criteria III questionnaire, which has been validated, the average age of functional diarrhea patients was significantly higher than IBS with predominant diarrhea (IBS-D) patients (mean age 41.8 years vs. 48.2 years old, p = 0.001 [8]. In addition, the gender ratio of patients diagnosed with functional diarrhea was also lower compared to that for IBS-D (female ratio 69.5% for IBS-D vs. 50.5% for function diarrhea, p = 0.001). Anxiety scales, somatizationtype behavioral patterns, higher education levels, and lower body mass index were much more pronounced in IBS-D. What can be confirmed through these epidemiological characteristics is that the two diseases are relatively separate diseases, while the Rome diagnostic criteria are not based on pathophysiology and have the limitation of arbitrary classifications. The ratio of overlap syndrome between IBS-D and functional diarrhea was 27.6%, which was higher than the ratio of overlap syndrome between IBS with predominant constipation (IBS-C) and functional constipation, 18.1%. It can be assumed that the two functional gastrointestinal diseases with diarrhea as the main symptom cannot be sufficiently distinguished as individual diseases by the Rome criteria [8].

In a cross-sectional study using phone interviews to confirm the percentage of the population who experienced diarrhea in the past 4 weeks based on the number of bowel movements, the prevalence was high in women in all countries (4.2–9.0% for women; 2.7–7.2% for men), and the prevalence decreased with increasing age [9]. Considering the definition of diarrhea in that study, both acute and chronic diarrhea could be

included, but the results were consistent with the epidemiologic pattern of general IBS. In contrast, in a cross-sectional study in Beijing, there was no difference in the proportion of male and female patients who experienced diarrhea for 1 year. There was a difference in the prevalence according to behavioral patterns such as hand-washing behavior, uncooked food intake habits, cooking utensil use habits, and exercise habits [10]. These are the main risk factors for acute infectious diarrhea. Combining the two studies described above, a difference in prevalence by sex could be confirmed when IBS was the chief possible diagnosis, and no sex difference in the prevalence of diarrhea was found in the group where acute infectious diarrhea was the main possible diagnosis.

18.4 Symptomatology

If diarrhea persists for more than 4 weeks, the clinician can presumptively rule out infectious diar-(rarely rhea Yersinia or Campylobacter infections) and suspect the possibility of IBS-D or functional diarrhea. If symptom-based diagnostic methods (Manning criteria and Rome criteria I, II, and III) were prioritized for patients with IBS symptoms, the positive likelihood ratios were 2–3, and the negative likelihood ratios were at the level of 0.2–0.6 by meta-analysis [11]. A diagnosis based on symptoms is basically a diagnosis of exclusion. The likelihood ratio of a diagnosis using biomarkers was compared by meta-analysis. The method with the best positive likelihood ratio was 26.4 (95% CI, 11.4-61.9) when using fecal calprotectin, intestinal permeability, and the Rome criteria I [11]. The most obvious method for the negative likelihood ratio was to use serum biomarkers and psychiatric measures, and the likelihood ratio was 0.18 (95%) CI, 0.12–0.25) [11]. Thus, these biomarkersupported diagnoses were superior to symptombased diagnoses, but these markers are not generally used in clinical practice. In the future, it can be expected that appropriate tests to supplement the symptom-based diagnostic method will overcome the limitations of the Rome criteria.

For chronic diarrhea patients who show one or more alarm features (e.g., unintentional weight loss, blood in the stool, nocturnal diarrhea, and unexplained iron deficiency anemia), whether they have been screened for colorectal cancer according to their age needs to be checked. However, in countries with poor access to medical care, data that question the usefulness of alarm features have been presented [12, 13]. As a result of a study of 2000 people who recently visited secondary medical institutions, the sensitivity of alarm features to colorectal cancer was very limited at 2–33% [14]. Therefore, where medical accessibility is very good, it is desirable to check the age-appropriate colorectal cancer screening history even if there is no alarm feature in a patient complaining of chronic changes in bowel habits such as diarrhea.

Regardless of accessibility to medical care, it may be an effective approach for patients with diarrhea to suspect organic disease as noninvasively as possible. Data on inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) rates in patients presumptively diagnosed with IBS in the USA and Canada were significantly different at 0.4% and 11%, respectively [15]. This was largely due to the difference in the composition of the referred patients. A representative example that can objectively quantify the presence of intestinal inflammation in clinical practice is fecal calprotectin. A high-quality literature review revealed that a fecal calprotectin level of less than 50 µg/g excluded the presence of IBD with the best sensitivity, good specificity, and low false negatives in patients complaining of chronic diarrhea [3].

18.5 Pathophysiology of Diarrhea

18.5.1 Overview

Diarrhea is the main defense mechanism of the digestive tract, and it maintains the health of the human body by rapidly discharging toxins or microorganisms ingested orally. However, it causes discomfort due to inappropriate symptoms through a chronic course, and its meaning as a defense mechanism is diluted. Alterations in

the regulation of water in the intestinal tract, along with changes in intestinal motility, are the main mechanisms of diarrhea. The water-binding ability of insoluble stool substances (e.g., dietary fiber and bacterial cell walls) has been suggested as a major factor in determining stool hardness [16]. Soft stools occur when insoluble stool material has a low capacity to bind water compared to existing water, and solid stools occur when the capacity is sufficient. Therefore, stool hardness is determined by the ratio between the amount of water present in the intestinal tract and the waterbinding capacity of the insoluble stool material. In other words, it cannot be said that diarrhea occurs just because there is a lot of water in the lumen, and it is also the basis for not being able to define diarrhea only by the amount of feces. However, in most cases, changes in the amount of water present in the intestinal tract are more important than changes in the water-binding capacity of insoluble fecal material. The total amount of water ingested per day, saliva, gastric acid, pancreatic juice, and digestive juices secreted into bile is about 10 L, of which 8–8.5 L is absorbed in the small intestine [2]. The amount of water passing through the cecum is about 1.5 L, and the amount of water excreted per day is only about 0.1 L as most of it is absorbed by binding with insoluble fecal material in the intestinal tract or passing through the large intestine, 1.4 L. The amount of unabsorbed water in the intestinal tract increases by only 1% per day, and diarrhea is induced even when the amount of water in the intestinal tract becomes 0.2 L. The function of epithelial cells, which are the main mechanisms that control the amount of water in the intestinal tract, and changes in the secretion of digestive juices are involved in the occurrence of diarrhea, and in most cases, these two problems co-exist.

18.5.2 Specific Diagnosis of Chronic Diarrhea

18.5.2.1 Bile Acid Diarrhea

Bile acid is synthesized in the liver and secreted into the bile after meals to aid in the absorption of fat-soluble nutrients. About 95% of the secreted bile acids are reabsorbed in the terminal ileum to control the amount of bile acid synthesis in the liver. Bile acids inhibit the growth of some gut microbiota or promote intestinal movement, and the presence of high concentrations of bile acids in the large intestine may cause diarrhea. A high concentration of bile acids may be generated in the intestinal tract due to a problem with the gene involved in preventing the normal feedback inhibition of bile acid synthesis or by inhibiting the absorption of bile acids due to surgical resection of the terminal ileum [3]. The amount of bile acid synthesized can be measured by SeHCAT, a nuclear medicine test using 75 selenium. Since this modality is not practical, it is usually diagnosed by confirming an improvement in diarrhea after the empirical prescription of bile acid resin (cholestyramine).

18.5.2.2 Small Intestinal Bacterial Overgrowth

The main symptom of small intestinal bacterial overgrowth (SIBO) is chronic diarrhea. Hypoacidity, the long-term use of drugs that decrease intestinal motility, diabetic neuropathy, and a history of gastrointestinal surgery are the main causes of SIBO [17]. The diagnostic criterion for SIBO is the presence of 10⁵ or more bacteria per 1 mL of fluid of the jejunum, and it is usually determined by a non-invasive test (hydrogen breath test). When bacteria in the small intestine become chronically excessive, as described above, the defense mechanism of the digestive tract is activated, or the water-binding ability of insoluble fecal substances (such as bacteria cell walls) that determines the hardness of feces is changed, which can cause diarrhea.

18.5.2.3 Microscopic Colitis

The long-term intake of drugs such as vitamins, statins, or nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs can change the absorptive function of epithelial cells, and diarrhea can be caused by the infiltration of lymphocytes into the intestinal tract or the deposition of collagen beneath the intestinal epithelial cells. Unlike IBD, inflammation does not spread to glandular structures. It can occur at any age, but it is more common in people over the age of 60. Although nonspecific findings including minimal edema, redness, and erosion of the mucous membrane can be observed by colonoscopy, in many cases, the mucosa appears to be normal. Therefore, random biopsies are performed for each segment of the colon for diagnosis. Because pathological changes in the right colon are more pronounced than those in the left colon, the diagnostic efficiency of sigmoidoscopy is low.

18.6 Medical Treatment of Chronic Diarrhea

Table 18.1 summarizes possible drug treatments for pathological diarrhea.

18.6.1 Loperamide

Loperamide is a synthesized µ-opioid agonist that activates inhibitory presynaptic receptors in the enteric nervous system, thereby inhibiting intestinal peristalsis and inducing a decrease in intestinal secretions. It also has the effect of increasing the pressure of the anal sphincter. This improves the symptoms of loose stools, the urge to defecate, and fecal incontinence in patients with diarrhea. The starting dose is 4 mg per day and can be increased to a maximum of 16 mg per day by additional doses of 2 mg every 4 h [18]. According to a recent Food and Drug Administration (FDA) safety letter, dizziness, palpitations, and dullness may be experienced by an overdose of loperamide, and QT segment prolongation was confirmed in these patients. Therefore, when prescribing loperamide, caution should be exercised in the concomitant administration of other drugs that may prolong the QT segment.

18.6.2 Ramosetron

Serotonin is a neurotransmitter that is involved in euphoria in the brain, and about 90% of it is secreted from the intestinal nervous system in the human body. Serotonin, secreted from the enteric nervous system, is an important neurotransmitter

	Mechanism	Efficacy	Quality of data	Adverse events	Limitation	FDA end points
Ramosetron	5-HT ₃ antagonist	Effective	High	Constipation	Limited number of	NNT 7
					RCT	$\Delta = 15\%$
						(Alosetron)
Loperamide	μ-Opioid agonist	Unknown	Low	Fatal cardiac arrhythmia	Limited number of	NNT 10
				on overdose	RCT	$\Delta = 10\%$
						(Eluxadoline)
Cholestyramine	Bile acid sequestrant	Unknown	Low		No RCT	
Rifaximin	Non-absorbable	Effective	Moderate	Possible risk of antibiotic	Small therapeutic gain	NNT 10
	antibiotics			resistance		$\Delta = 9\%$
Antidepressant	Central sensory	Effective	Moderate	Xerostomia, drowsiness	Quality of RCT issue	
	modulation					
Antispasmodic	Smooth muscle	May be effective	Low	Xerostomia, visual	Quality of RCT issue	
	relaxation			disturbance		
PCT randomized controlle	d trial					

	nea
	arrt
;	9
•	onic
	chr
	tor
;	edies
	rem
	drug
:	Possible
,	_
9	×.
	Ð
	Ō
Î	Ø
_	

đ RC involved in the transit time of the colon and visceral pain. The amount of serotonin secreted from the enteric nervous system after a meal was increased in patients with IBS-D [19]. Ramosetron, a serotonin type 3 receptor antagonist, is effective in treating IBS-D by delaying colonic transit time, reducing postprandial gastric-colon reflexes, and lowering rectal irritability [20]. The administration of 5 µg of ramosetron to male patients improved the overall symptoms in IBS-D patients compared to placebo. In contrast, in a placebo-controlled study conducted in female patients, taking 2.5 µg of ramosetron once a day improved abdominal pain and discomfort, stool firmness, and overall symptoms [21, 22]. No serious side effects were reported even with long-term use, and some patients complained of constipation. For female or male patients with mild symptoms, the initial dose can be started at 2.5 μ g, and the dosage can be increased according to the clinical course.

18.6.3 Rifaximin

As described above, the main symptom of patients with SIBO is diarrhea. In addition, since about 10% of IBS-D patients may have accompanying bacterial overgrowth in the small intestine, it can be treated with antibiotics that are not absorbed from the intestinal tract. A relatively high daily dose of 1200-1600 mg of rifaximin is recommended for this purpose. The effect was confirmed to last for more than 10 weeks when administered at a high dose [23]. Among rifaximin responders, 64.4% experienced a recurrence of symptoms and improved again when they were given a second dose [24]. Rifaximin is poorly absorbed from the digestive tract, so there are few side effects. However, in consideration of the risk of antibiotic resistance, limiting the administration of rifaximin to refractory patients who have not improved with other drugs is recommended.

18.6.4 Cholestyramine

Since high concentrations of bile acids can cause diarrhea, cholestyramine, a resin of bile acids,

can improve diarrhea. Very few medical institutions can perform the SeHCAT test to diagnose bile acid-related diarrhea. Therefore, bile acid diarrhea can be diagnosed if the symptoms improve after the empirical administration of cholestyramine. Cholestyramine also has the effect of improving dyslipidemia.

18.6.5 Tricyclic Antidepressants

Tricyclic antidepressants may be useful in patients complaining of diarrhea by regulating intestinal transit time. In patients with IBS-D, it was confirmed that the symptoms improved regardless of the dose or blood concentration of the tricyclic antidepressant. Rather, the improvement was related to the cognitive aspects (improvement in the number of bowel movements, awareness of symptom control, and confidence in treatment) [25, 26]. Therefore, patients who complain of changes in bowel movements do not need the high doses used for depression but start with a low concentration and maintain it at a level where the frequency of bowel movements is controlled. Clinicians also can adjust the dosage so that systemic side effects such as drowsiness, dry mouth, voiding difficulty, and constipation do not occur. Antidepressants are relatively safe because they do not cause serious side effects, but it is also worth noting that the QT interval may be prolonged. In the case of amitriptyline, it is appropriate to start with 5 mg or less once a day before bed and not exceed 30 mg per day [27].

18.6.6 Antispasmodic Agents

Antispasmodics reduce abdominal pain by suppressing bowel contractions occurring after meal ingestions and improve symptoms by modulating colon transit time. A meta-analysis confirmed that antispasmodics improved the overall symptoms of IBS-D compared to placebo [28]. In addition, there are no serious side effects related to the drug, and it is relatively safe. The drugs that have consistent study results or that satisfy the specific drug efficacy criteria of the FDA are pinaverium, hyoscine, and otilonium bromide [29].

18.7 Conclusions

Diarrhea is the body's defense mechanism, but if it has a chronic course of more than 4 weeks, it can be a pathological problem that causes unnecessary discomfort. Patients with chronic diarrhea may be suspected of having IBS-D or functional diarrhea, but other organic diseases should be excluded. Epidemiology or the treatment of functional diarrhea is limited in its application according to IBS-D. It is necessary to distinguish a special type of chronic diarrhea in which only diarrhea is the main symptom without abdominal pain such as bile acid diarrhea, SIBO, and microscopic colitis. It should be noted that the appropriate dose of a drug differs according to age and sex.

References

- Lacy BE, Patel NK. Rome criteria and a diagnostic approach to irritable bowel syndrome. J Clin Med. 2017;6:99.
- Schiller LR, Sellin JH. Diarrhea. In: Sleisenger MH, Feldman M, Friedman LS, editors. Sleisenger and Fordtran's gastrointestinal and liver disease. Philadelphia: Saunders; 2006. p. 159–60.
- Carrasco-Labra A, Lytvyn L, Falck-Ytter Y, Surawicz CM, Chey WD. AGA technical review on the evaluation of functional diarrhea and diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome in adults (IBS-D). Gastroenterology. 2019;157:859–80.
- Talley NJ, Zinsmeister AR, Van Dyke C, Melton LJ 3rd. Epidemiology of colonic symptoms and the irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 1991;101:927–34.
- Koloski NA, Talley NJ, Boyce PM. Predictors of health care seeking for irritable bowel syndrome and nonulcer dyspepsia: a critical review of the literature on symptom and psychosocial factors. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:1340–9.
- Drossman DA, Li Z, Andruzzi E, Temple RD, Talley NJ, Thompson WG, et al. U.S. householder survey of functional gastrointestinal disorders. Prevalence, sociodemography, and health impact. Dig Dis Sci. 1993;83:1569–80.
- Everhart JE, Ruhl CE. Burden of digestive diseases in the United States part II: lower gastrointestinal diseases. Gastroenterology. 2009;136:741–54.
- Ford AC, Bercik P, Morgan DG, Bolino C, Pintos-Sanchez MI, Moayyedi P. Characteristics of functional bowel disorder patients: a cross-sectional survey using the Rome III criteria. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2014;39:312–21.

- Scallan E, Majowicz SE, Hall G, Banerjee A, Bowman CL, Daly L, et al. Prevalence of diarrhoea in the community in Australia, Canada, Ireland, and the United States. Int J Epidemiol. 2005;34:454–60.
- Ma C, Wu S, Yang P, Li H, Tang S, Wang Q. Behavioural factors associated with diarrhea among adults over 18 years of age in Beijing, China. BMC Public Health. 2014;14:1–7.
- Sood R, Gracie DJ, Law GR, Ford AC. Systematic review with meta-analysis: the accuracy of diagnosing irritable bowel syndrome with symptoms, biomarkers and/or psychological markers. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2015;42:491–503.
- Ford AC, Veldhuyzen van Zanten SJ, Rodgers CC, Talley NJ, Vakil NB, Moayyedi P. Diagnostic utility of alarm features for colorectal cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut. 2008;57:1545–53.
- Ford AC, Moayyedi P, Bercik P, Morgan DG, Bolino C, Pintos-Sanchez MI, et al. Lack of utility of symptoms and signs at first presentation as predictors of inflammatory bowel disease in secondary care. Am J Gastroenterol. 2015;110:716–24.
- 14. Simpkins SJ, Pinto-Sanchez MI, Moayyedi P, Bercik P, Morgan DG, Bolino C, et al. Poor predictive value of lower gastrointestinal alarm features in the diagnosis of colorectal cancer in 1981 patients in secondary care. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2017;45:91–9.
- 15. Kappelman MD, Rifas-Shiman SL, Kleinman K, Ollendorf D, Bousvaros A, Grand RJ, et al. The prevalence and geographic distribution of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis in the United States. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2007;5:1424–9.
- Wenzl HH, Fine KD, Schiller LR, Fordtran JS. Determinants of decreased fecal consistency in patients with diarrhea. Gastroenterology. 1995;108:1729–38.
- Quigley EMM, Murray JA, Pimentel M. AGA clinical practice update on small intestinal bacterial overgrowth: expert review. Gastroenterology. 2020;159:1526–32.
- Lavo B, Stenstam M, Nielsen AL. Loperamide in treatment of irritable bowel syndrome--a doubleblind placebo controlled study. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl. 1987;130:77–80.
- Berger M, Gray JA, Roth BL. The expanded biology of serotonin. Annu Rev Med. 2009;60:355–66.
- 20. Zheng Y, Yu T, Tang Y, Xiong W, Shen X, Jiang L, et al. Efficacy and safety of 5-hydroxytryptamine 3 receptor antagonists in irritable bowel syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0172846.
- Fukudo S, Kinoshita Y, Okumura T, Ida M, Akiho H, Nakashima Y, et al. Ramosetron reduces symptoms of irritable bowel syndrome with diarrhea and improves quality of life in women. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:358–66.e8.
- 22. Viramontes BE, Camilleri M, McKinzie S, Pardi DS, Burton D, Thomforde GM. Gender-related differences in slowing colonic transit by a 5-HT₃ antagonist in subjects with diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:2671–6.

- Pimentel M, Lembo A, Chey WD, Zakko S, Ringel Y, Yu J, et al. Rifaximin therapy for patients with irritable bowel syndrome without constipation. N Engl J Med. 2011;364:22–32.
- 24. Lembo A, Pimentel M, Rao SS, Schoenfeld P, Cash B, Weinstock LB, et al. Repeat treatment with rifaximin is safe and effective in patients with diarrhea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 2016;151:1113–21.
- Halpert A, Dalton CB, Diamant NE, Toner BB, Hu Y, Morris CB, et al. Clinical response to tricyclic antidepressants in functional bowel disorders is not related to dosage. Am J Gastroenterol. 2005;100:664–71.
- 26. Weinland SR, Morris CB, Dalton C, Hu Y, Whitehead WE, Toner BB, et al. Cognitive factors affect treatment response to medical and psychological treatments

in functional bowel disorders. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105:1397–406.

- 27. Song KH, Jung HK, Kim HJ, Koo HS, Kwon YH, Shin HD, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for irritable bowel syndrome in Korea, 2017 revised edition. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2018;24:197–215.
- Ruepert L, Quartero AO, de Wit NJ, van der Heijden GJ, Rubin G, Muris JW. Bulking agents, antispasmodics and antidepressants for the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011:CD003460.
- Gwee KA, Ghoshal UC, Chen M. Irritable bowel syndrome in Asia: pathogenesis, natural history, epidemiology, and management. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;33:99–110.

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases,

University Bundang Hospital,

Seongnam, Republic of Korea

Y. Choi

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

reported up to date.

19.1

Introduction

Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBDs) are a group of idiopathic diseases having a complex pathophysiology, with immune response dysregulation being their main mechanism [1, 2]. The number of IBD patients worldwide is on the rise. The number of IBD patients and medical expenses in Korea also continue to rise significantly, leading to increased disease burden [3]. Risk factors for IBDs include genetic sensitivity [4, 5] and environmental factors such as dietary or antibiotic exposure [6, 7]. Additionally, females are well-known risk factors for IBDs such as Crohn's disease (CD) [8-10]. Although sex differences in the incidence and prevalence of IBDs have not been well known, there have been reports of sex differences, showing that female CD patients have higher disease severity than male patients and that the occurrence of ulcerative colitis (UC) is more commonly observed in males [11]. Recent studies have shown that sex hormones such as estrogen are underlying mechanisms

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National

University College of Medicine, Seoul National

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_19

University College of Medicine, Seoul National

for these sex differences [8-11]. The objective of this chapter is to examine and summarize reported differences in etiologies, mechanisms, symptoms, and treatments of IBDs between males and females

19.2 **Definition and Classification** of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases

UC is a chronic inflammatory disease with unknown etiology and is characterized by inflammation confined to the mucosal or submucosal layer of the large intestine with repeated bloody diarrhea, fecal urgency, and abdominal pain [12]. UC is reported to be caused by a combination of genetic and environmental factors [4-7]. It is known to be the most common in North America and Northern Europe [13], although it has been reported worldwide. By race, it is common in Jews and Caucasians, but relatively rare in Asians [13]. However, with the improvement of sanitation, recent outbreaks have continued to rise in southern Europe, Asian countries including South Korea and Japan, and other developing countries [14–17]. Endoscopically, UC is characterized by continuous and symmetrical inflammatory lesions going up from the rectum and invading various ranges depending on the activity of the disease. Inflammation is usually the most severe in the rectum, while the proximal area becomes less so, showing relatively clear boundaries from normal mucosa.

Inflammatory Bowel Diseases

Yonghoon Choi and Nayoung Kim



University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Korea (Republic of)

e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr



Fig. 19.1 Endoscopic and histologic features of ulcerative colitis. (a) Rectal mucosa is covered with inflammatory exudates, with loss of normal vascular patterns due to edematous, hyperemic change observed on endoscopy. (b) Granularities are also observed on endoscopy. (c)

Histologically, inflammation is confined within submucosal layer. Inflammatory cell infiltration with atrophy, structural distortion of crypt, cryptitis, and crypt abscess are observed

In mild to moderate diseases, loss of normal vascular patterns is observed due to edema and loss of transparency in mucosa. In severe cases, large amounts of mucus, changes in mucosal surface with hyperemia, granularity, and friability are shown (Fig. 19.1). The severity of the disease can be assessed by Mayo's Score or Truelove and Witt's Score that depends on clinical symptoms such as diarrhea, hematochezia, and endoscopic findings [18].

CD is a chronic intractable IBD that can invade the entire gastrointestinal (GI) tract from the mouth to the anus, with major symptoms such as abdominal pain, weight loss, diarrhea, and bloody stools. It usually occurs in young people in their teens and 20s. In addition, complications requiring surgical treatment such as strictures or perforations of the intestine are common. The pathomechanism of CD also involves a combination of genetic and various environmental factors [4–7]. It is mainly reported in Western developed countries [13]. Although it is a rare disease in the East, the incidence of CD has continued to increase recently in epidemiological studies in Japan, South Korea, and other Asian countries [19, 20]. Endoscopic findings of CD are characterized by irregular, asymmetrical, and discontinuous (skipped) inflammatory lesions (Fig. 19.2). An inflammation invading the digestive tract other than the colon suggests CD. In mild to moderate cases, partial hyperemic changes and mucosal friability are observed along with loss of normal mucosal vascular patterns. In advanced diseases, characteristic cobblestone appearances and ulcerative lesions are observed. Because it often invades the terminal ileum (Fig. 19.2a), tissue biopsy at this site plays an important role in its diagnosis. The rectum is often preserved, which is a point to distinguish CD from UC. Unlike UC in histology, inflammation is observed throughout the whole layer of intestine in CD (Fig. 19.2d).



Fig. 19.2 Endoscopic and histologic features of Crohn's disease. (a-c) Irregular, deep ulcers along with edematous, hyperemic change of the mucosa and characteristic cobblestone appearances are observed in the terminal

ileum, ileocecal valve, and transverse colon, respectively. (\mathbf{d} and \mathbf{e}) Histologically, inflammation invades the whole layer, with characteristic non-necrotic, noncaseating granulomas observed which are not seen in ulcerative colitis

The presence of a granuloma without central necrosis or caseous change (in about 15–70% of cases) is also a pathognomonic finding of CD [21]. If the upper GI tract or small intestine is suspected of invasion, diagnosis can be obtained through esophagogastroscopy or capsule endoscopy, although capsule endoscopy is contraindicated in cases with suspected stenosis. Crohn's disease activity index (CDAI) is mainly used for assessing severity of the disease [22], which comprehensively evaluates patient symptoms and endoscopic findings.

19.3 Epidemiology and Incidence of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases

As with other inflammatory diseases, differences between males and females are also observed in IBDs. Several studies have shown that adult CD tends to occur more in females. This trend has been observed in Western cohort studies, although it has not been apparent in Asian cohort studies [23–27]. Conversely, most studies on UC have reported that UC is more common in males [28–31]. The incidence of CD is more common in males in children. This pattern reverses at around puberty, with CD occurring more in females in adulthood [27, 28, 32–37] (Fig. 19.3).

In recent studies on the occurrence of IBD, the predominance of CD in females is significant compared to that of UC in males. In a Canadian study of age-specific incidence and prevalence of IBD, reported occurrence rates of CD and UC in females compared to those in males are 1.31 and 1.02, respectively [28]. A Danish cohort study has reported that occurrence rates of CD and UC in females compared to those in males are 1.35 and 1.08, respectively [38]. Meanwhile, metaanalysis studies published in China have reported that both CD and UC are more common in men [39, 40], suggesting that the occurrence of IBD might be affected by regional and environmental factors. There might be differences in the severity of the group of patients included in the analysis



Age

Fig. 19.3 Differences in the risk of developing Crohn's disease by age and gender in the life cycle. Males show a higher risk of Crohn's disease than females during childhood. This trend reverses around puberty with hormonal

as the severity of the disease is also affected by sex. A study of more than 2300 patients including various races has found that CD is 1.2 times more common in females and UC is 1.3 times more common in males [41]. One study on African American in the United States has shown that the occurrence of CD has a more prominent female predominance [42].

In South Korea, a study of 5600 patients with CD and 10,000 patients with UC from 2011 to 2014 has reported that both CD and UC are more common in males (male-to-female ratio: 2.4 in CD and 1.5 in UC) [43]. A recent locoregional study of Songpa-Gangdong district residents in South Korea has also reported higher incidence of CD and UC in males than in females [44]. These results are different from Western studies reported to date. Due to limitations of retrospective data analysis and limited area study in each case, large-scale studies focusing on sex differ-

changes. The risk of Crohn's disease in females increases gradually, which is higher in females than in males during adulthood (adapted from Goodman et al. [37])

ences in the incidence and prevalence of IBDs are needed in the future.

19.4 Symptoms and Complications of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases

IBDs show a variety of clinical manifestations, making it difficult to distinguish them from other intestinal diseases such as irritable bowel syndrome and infectious enteritis [45]. Thus, medical history of patients should be taken closely. Abdominal pain and diarrhea are common in both CD and UC. However, bloody stools are more common in UC (83–95%) than in CD (40%) [46], whereas weight loss and perianal diseases are more frequent in CD than in UC. About 17% of IBD patients are known to have extra-



Fig. 19.4 Sex differences in extra-intestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Extra-intestinal complications of inflammatory bowel disease differ between males and females, with males having higher risks of malignancies including colitis-associated colorec-

tal cancers, primary sclerosing cholangitis, urinary tract stones, and ankylosing spondylitis (left) and females having higher risks of cardiovascular complications, anemia, malnutrition, periodontitis, and oropharyngeal cancers (right) (adapted from Goodman et al. [37])

intestinal symptoms [47]. These sex-specific disease severity differences vary from study to study. Being males has been reported to be a risk factor for severe diseases in several studies [48]. On the other hand, a higher remission rate in males and a higher disease activity in females have been reported in others [49, 50]. There was also a study reported that there was no significant sex difference [51].

Results so far show that females with CD and males with UC are more likely to be accompanied by extra-intestinal manifestations and sex differences in these extra-intestinal involvements are also observed [37] (Fig. 19.4). The most commonly invaded organs include the skin, joints, eyes, and liver. Approximately 25–40% of IBD patients have complications such as peripheral arthritis, erythema nodosum, primary sclerosing cholangitis, and episcleritis [52, 53]. Rheumatoid symptoms and iron deficiency anemia have been found to be more common in female patients [54–57], although these studies were conducted in limited areas or in small numbers of subjects.

The most serious complication of IBD is malignancy, including sporadic and colitisassociated colorectal cancer. The risk of colorectal cancer is higher in male patients than in female patients [58, 59]. The wider the range, the worse the degree of inflammation, and the higher the risk [60, 61]. The cancer risk is higher if primary sclerosing cholangitis or family history of colorectal cancer coexists with IBD [60, 61]. Studies in North America and Europe have reported that patients with IBD have 1.1 to 2.2 times higher risk of developing colorectal cancer than normal controls [62-65]. A populationbased study using the Utah Cancer Registry has revealed that patients with IBD develop colorectal cancer at an early age than the control group, with male patients having a higher risk of colorectal cancer [66]. Other European studies have also reported a significant increase in cancer incidence in male patients with UC [67]. The risk of bowel resection associated with cancer and antibiotic-resistant pouchitis has been reported to be higher in male patients than in female patients [68]. The risk of death from lymphatic or hematopoietic malignancy is also higher in males than in females [69]. Other than colorectal cancer, the risk of adenocarcinoma, lymphoma, and neuroendocrine tumors in the small intestine also seems to rise in patients with IBD [70], especially in patients with ileal-invading CD [71], although there is no analysis of sex-specific differences yet. Primary sclerosing cholangitis is one of the most common pancreatobiliary complications of IBD. It has been reported to be associated with significantly lower survival rates and increased risk of developing bile duct cancer and requiring liver transplantation [72]. Among them, the risk of liver transplantation, cancer, and death in female patients is known to be lower in females than in males [73].

In males with IBD, the risk of ankylosing spondylitis and urinary stones is increased [37, 74, 75]. The risk of urinary tract cancer associated with the use of thiopurine is also increased [76]. In CD, the risk of stroke is also increased, with a study reporting a higher risk of stroke in females than in males [77]. There are also reports of elevated risk of periodontitis and oral cavity cancer in female IBD patients [78, 79]. Deficiencies in trace elements such as vitamin D, zinc, and selenium are more frequent in female patients [80]. One report has suggested that these deficiencies might be linked to cardiovascular complications such as thromboembolism and

arrhythmia [81]. As such, sex differences are observed in symptoms, severity, and extraintestinal complications of IBD. However, there have been few well-designed, large-scale studies. Thus, further research is needed.

19.5 Pathophysiology of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases

Pathophysiology of IBD is very complex, making it difficult to be explained by one factor. However, most studies have suggested that the pathophysiology of IBD is associated with the immune system of intestinal mucosa, with dysregulations of innate and acquired immune responses being important mechanisms. Recently, it has been shown that female hormones such as estrogen, progesterone, and luteinizing hormone (LH) can affect various GI activities, including GI contraction, GI emptying, and sensitivity to pain [82, 83]. Thus, female hormones might affect the development of IBD and the activity of the disease. Furthermore, gut microbiomes play a role in modulating the immune system of intestinal mucosa, with sex hormones having effects on gut microbiomes. Here, the pathophysiology of IBD will be described in terms of sex difference.

19.5.1 Hormonal Factors

Estrogen affects the expression of adherent proteins in the mucosal barrier that protects the host pathogens. After administration from of 17β-estradiol to azoxymethane/dextran sulfate sodium (AOM/DSS) colitis mouse models, increased expression levels of mucin 2 (MUC2), zonula occludens 1 (ZO-1), occludin (OCLN), and claudin 4 (CLDN4) genes and decreased colorectal permeability are observed, while expression levels of genes and protein related to inflammation such as Krüppel-like factor 4 (KLF4), nuclear factor κB (NF- κB), inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) are observed to be decreased [84]. Similar results have been observed in human. When 17β -estradiol is given to CCD841CoN, a

normal female colon epithelial cell line, the inflammation is decreased as NF- κ B and COX-2 expression levels are reduced, while heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) and NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1) expression levels are increased [85]. Depending on the expression and activity of estrogen receptors, changes in intestinal microenvironment and mucosal barrier functions appear to result in different inflammatory reactions in male and female IBD patients.

Meanwhile, there are reports of the correlation between oral contraceptive use and risk of IBD. A meta-analysis conducted in 2008 has compared the risk of IBD in females with and without using oral contraceptives and found that the risk of CD (relative risk (RR) 1.46; 95% confidence interval (CI), 1.26–1.70; p < 0.001) and UC (RR 1.28; 95% CI, 1.06–1.54; p = 0.011) occurrence are both higher in females using oral contraceptives [86]. A large-scale meta-analysis conducted in 2017 has also shown a 24% higher risk of CD and a 30% higher risk of UC in females exposed to oral contraceptives [87]. Another prospective study of more than 200,000 subjects has reported a higher risk of CD in females using oral contraceptives, with RR of 2.82 [88]. Similarly, a study in Denmark has shown an increased risk of developing IBD in females with endometriosis than in healthy controls (standardized incidence ratio: 1.5, 95% CI, 1.4-1.7), suggesting that increased estrogen secretion is a potential risk factor for the development of IBD [71]. Increased estrogen level and disease severity of IBD also seem to be correlated, with studies reporting symptoms of IBD such as diarrhea worsening just before menstruation [89], menstrual cycle irregularities preceding the diagnosis of IBD [90], and irritable bowel symptoms increased in healthy females before menstruation [91, 92]. In addition to the role of estrogen in modulating inflammation and immune system, estrogen also contributes to thrombogenesis [93]. To understand why estrogen is a risk factor for IBD in situations such as oral contraceptive use and endometriosis, it has been explained that estrogen might activate coagulation cascades and lead to multiple infarction which in turn can facilitate the progress of IBD [85].

In terms of dysplasia and cancer development, sex hormones and their receptors might promote or downregulate the carcinogenesis pathway. It is well known that IBD is associated with an increased risk of colorectal cancer, which is related to long-standing chronic inflammation as mentioned above [62-65, 94]. Some studies have demonstrated effects of sex hormones on carcinogenesis in IBD patients. For example, Principi et al. have reported the influence of estrogen receptor (ER) α/β balance and concluded that $ER\beta$ appears to parallel apoptosis, thus exerting an anti-carcinogenic effect [95, 96]. They have suggested that phytoestrogens could be used as a chemopreventive agent for colorectal cancer even when the disease is the long-term consequence of chronic inflammation [96]. Cancer surveillance and prevention are important for patients with IBD. Further investigations on this topic are needed.

19.5.2 Immune Mechanisms

Studies have been conducted on the pathophysiology of IBD associated with the immune system of intestinal mucosa. Dysregulations of innate and acquired immune responses are known to be important mechanisms. Innate immune response is the first gateway to protect an object from exogenous antigens, a non-specific immune response that occurs within minutes to hours. This process is initiated by receptors such as tolllike receptors (TLRs) on the cell surface and nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors in the cytoplasm [97]. It is modulated by various cells including epithelial cells, neutrophils, dendritic cells, monocytes, macrophages, and natural killer cells [98]. Recent studies have shown changes in expression levels of these receptors and activities of these regulatory cells in patients with IBD. For example, aggregation of neutrophils in response to mucosal damage can decrease the production of interleukin (IL)-1 β and IL-8 [99]. Reduced response to lipid polysaccharides in mucosa with NOD2 gene variation [100] and deactivation of NF- κ B [101] have been observed in CD patients. These

may lead to decreased protective function of mucosa and invasion of pathogenic microorganisms, contributing to the development of IBD [102]. Other studies have also explained that failure of NOD2 to contribute to immune tolerance can lead to the lack of inhibition of TLR2 stimuli, leading to activation of inflammatory reactions and excessive Th1 response triggers [103, 104].

IL-23 is a cytokine that plays an important role in early reactions in both innate and acquired immune responses. IL-23 receptor polymorphisms are known to be associated with both CD and UC, suggesting that IL-23 might represent a common inflammatory molecule in IBD. Recent studies have also shown that IL-23 can act on cells in the innate immune system and induce Th17 cytokine production by innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) that share phenotypes of lymphoid tissue inducer (LTi) cells [105]. CD is also associated with ATG16L1 and IRGM gene variations involved in autophagy. ATG16L1 coding mutation T300A is associated with an increased risk of CD [106–108]. Autophagy is very important for host defense against microorganisms in cells. In patients with NOD2 or Atg16L1 mutations, the process of autophagy is inhibited which can contribute to the development of IBD [109]. In addition, deficiencies in epithelial barriers and increased intestinal permeability have been observed in patients with IBD [110]. The first physiological barrier to antigens is the mucus layer covering the intestinal epithelium [111], and the second barrier is the epithelium consisting of epithelial cells such as enterocytes, goblet cells, and Paneth cells. In addition to the formation of physical barriers to bacteria, epithelial cells also have a function of secreting antibacterial peptides. Defects in antibacterial peptide production function of epithelial cells have been observed in patients with CD [112].

Unlike innate immune responses, adaptive immune response is highly specific. It often takes days, depending on the type and number of T cells. Th1 cells induced by IL-12 can produce large amounts of IFN- α , while Th2 cells can produce IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 [113]. Abnormal Th1 immune responses are thought to cause intestinal inflammation in CD, with mucosal T cells of CD patients producing more IL-2 and IFN- γ than those of UC patients or normal controls [114]. Meanwhile, abnormal NK T cells in UC can produce more IL-13, a Th2 cytokine, than those in CD patients or normal controls [115, 116]. Based on these, there are views that CD is Th1 immune response dominant and UC is Th2 immune response dominant [117]. However, conflicting results have also been reported. For example, one study has shown a similar increase of IFN- γ in tissues of both CD and UC patients [118]. Others have reported a decrease of IL-13 in intestinal mucosa of UC patients compared to that of CD patients and normal controls or no significant differences in IL-13 and IFN-y concentrations between CD or UC and normal control groups using in vitro incubation of intestinal mucosal biopsy samples [119, 120]. To sum this up, the concept of describing IBD as Th1/Th2 immune response alone remains controversial.

Th17 is a T cell that produces large amounts of IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21, and IL-22. It is derived by the combination of IL-6 and transforming growth factor (TGF)- α facilitated by IL-23 [121]. Inflammatory actions of Th17 cells and their product, cytokine IL-17A, have been widely studied. Many studies have observed increased levels of IL-17A in mucosa of patients with CD and UC than in normal intestinal mucosa [114, 122, 123]. In addition, Th17 cell is an important source of cytokine IL-21 which is associated with IL-2 that is increased in IBD [124, 125]. It expresses IL-23 receptors on its cell surface. Studies have revealed the role of Th17 in the development of IBD [126]. It is well known that such complex and diverse immune mechanisms are involved in the pathophysiology of IBD, although many areas have not been clearly identified. Induction and modulation of these immune responses vary greatly from individual to individual. Thus, additional research should be conducted, including studies on differences between males and females.

19.5.3 Genetic Factors

Until now, studies of first-degree relatives and twins have shown that there is a genetic predisposition to the development of IBD. The incidence of CD or UC is known to be around 2–15% in relatives of IBD patients [127]. Having patients with IBD among family members is the most definite risk factor for CD and UC [128]. Twin studies have shown higher matching rates in CD than in UC, with similar clinical manifestations between them [129, 130]. On this background, genetic studies using techniques such as genome-wide association study (GWAS) and whole genome sequencing (WGS) have been conducted, and more than 240 related genes have been reported to date [131, 132]. Regarding sex difference in genetic factors, it has been reported that the predominance of IBD in women is noticeable in cases with a family history of IBD [133]. That study has also found that the probability of heredity from women to women is higher than that from men to women [133]. This phenomenon is referred to as female imprinting, which is thought to be particularly prominent in CD. Sex-specific genetic variants known to be associated with IBD include R30Q DLG5 (increases risk of CD in males), IL-23R mutation L310P (having protective effect against UC in females), and single nucleotide polymorphism in IL-10 promoter sites (increases risk of UC in females) [134–137]. However, the exact mechanisms for these effects remain unclear, requiring further research. Studies have shown that X chromosome aberrations play an important role in the development of autoimmune diseases and that X chromosome deficiency in peripheral T and B lymphocytes is associated with the production of autoantibodies, leading to the development of various autoimmune diseases including primary biliary cirrhosis, autoimmune thyroid disease, Raynaud's syndrome, and sys-

19.5.4 Changes in Gut Microbiota

Gut microbiomes play a role in modulating the immune system of intestinal mucosa. After administrating sex hormones to animals, studies have shown that gut microbiomes play an important role in immune response, especially early in life [141, 142]. Sex-specific difference in gut microbiome has been found to be one major pathophysiology in many diseases including IBD [143] because gut microbiome is involved in the development of IBD as an immune modulator [144]. In a study using an IBD mouse model, changes in gut microbiomes are observed [92, 145]. Such changes are more significant after oophorectomy [146, 147]. In a male enteritis mouse model, estrogen shows immune-protective effects through regulatory T (Treg) cell expansion, which is proportional to the expression of Er β . Decreased ER β expression in female mice can result in decreased Treg cells and increased inflammations of the small and large intestine [37, 143] (Fig. 19.5). Decreased ERα expression in male mice can increase intestinal inflammation, while the opposite is seen in female mice. Thus, ERβ expression is thought to have a protective effect on enteritis [143]. In addition, one study of fecal microbiomes in male and female acute enteritis animal models derived from 2,4,6-trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid (TNBS) has shown more severe inflammation in males than in females of both wild-type and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) -/- mutant mice in an agedependent manner [148]. Meanwhile, analysis of fecal microbiomes of C57BL/6 mouse has shown a difference in β -diversity between males and females, although such difference is eliminated in IL-10 deficiency (knockout, KO) mice inflammatory models with increased *Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes* ratio [145]. In addition, in female mice, Proteobacteria are increased in IL-10 KO mice than in wild-type mice, suggest-



Fig. 19.5 A schematic diagram of mechanisms of sexbased differences in intestinal microbiota in the development of inflammatory bowel disease. Microbiota might contribute to sex-based differences in IBD by several different mechanisms, including differences in commensal composition between male mice and female mice, the ability of the microbiota in male mice to induce testosterone that has protective effects, and the induced protection in female mice after fecal transplantation from male donors. Estrogen (E2) has also been shown to have immunoprotective effects during experimental colitis by inducing regulatory T (Treg) cell expansion and function in male mice in an estrogen receptor (ER) β -dependent man-

ing that gut microbiome has a significant immune-modulating effect [145]. Based on changes in gut microbiomes of animal IBD models, there are significant sex-dependent differences in changes of gut microbiomes associated with immune responses, suggesting sex differences in the occurrence of IBD.

19.5.5 Environmental Factors

Exposure to different environments has also been suggested as one of the reasons for the difference between males and females in the development of IBD [149]. Studies so far have reported that appendectomy and smoking can increase the risk of developing CD in females [150–152]. Smoking

ner. In addition, decreased ER β has been observed in both epithelial and Treg cells from female mice that are prone to ileitis and/or colitis. It can promote intestinal epithelial barrier dysfunction and worsening of disease. Decreased expression of ER α in male mice can result in the exacerbation of intestinal inflammation, but has an opposite effect in female mice, suggesting that skewing toward ER β signaling can induce global protection from colitis. Finally, differential transcription (e.g., by DNA methylation) of genes located on chromosome X can regulate molecules that affect downstream sex-based differences in the pathogenesis of IBD. $T_H 1$ cell T helper 1 cell (adapted from Goodman et al. [37])

is a well-known risk factor for CD. The smoking rate in males was much higher than that in females at all ages in the past. However, in recent years, the smoking rate in young women has gradually increased [153]. Previous studies have shown that middle-aged female CD group has the highest smoking rate among patients with IBD [153]. Another study on IBD patients has reported that the smoking rate in females is higher than that in males [154]. In the past, smoking was thought to be a protective factor against UC, but a risk factor in CD [152]. However, recent studies have reported that smoking and IBD have a more complex relationship than the past concepts, showing sex-specific differences. Cosnes et al. [155] have concluded that smoking has a protective effect against the occurrence and progression of disease and that it can reduce the need for immunosuppressive treatment in male UC patients but not in females. They also reported that smoking had a detrimental effect in female CD patients but not in males [155]. Given these current results, active recommendation of quitting smoking in females with IBD is believed to bring benefits to treatment for both UC and CD [156].

Many other environmental factors (including drugs, occupational chemicals, sunlight, and vitamin D) and lifestyle factors (including sleep and shifts) can potentially contribute to the development of IBD and disease complications, with significant differences in risk exposure between males and females [156]. Sex-related differences have been observed after the use of antibiotics, with IBD being especially higher in young males after antibiotic treatment [157]. However, appendectomy is associated with increased risk of CD in females [151]. Although these sex differences are thought to be associated with sex-specific differences in gut microbiomes [158, 159], the specific mechanism remains unclear. Further research is needed on the specific effects of these environmental factors on IBD in each sex in the future.

19.5.6 Dietary Factors

Compared to traditional Mediterranean and Asian diets, Western-style diets usually contain more refined carbohydrates, saturated fats, red meat, dairy products, and processed foods with fewer vegetables, fruits, beans, whole grains, raw foods, and fiber. In addition, Western-style diets have high calories from saturated fats, glucides, and animal proteins. So far, studies have been conducted on the relevance of Western diets to obesity, hypertension, chronic nephropathy, and many non-communicable diseases [160–162]. It has been found that these dietary habits can promote inflammatory reactions in the GI tract through a variety of mechanisms, including gut microbiological changes [163–166]. Westernstyle diets can affect immune responses, intestinal microbiomes, and mucosal barriers [167]. They also contain lower levels of antiinflammatory and antioxidant nutrients. Thus,

diet Westernization affects the prevalence of IBD. A recent study on African children has shown that changes in rural vegetarian diets to Western diets (an increase in intake of animal protein, saturated fat, and processed refined foods) have resulted in dramatic changes of intestinal microorganisms and intestinal functions [168]. In addition, the decrease in fiber intake has reduced microorganisms for fermenting dietary fibers [168]. Furthermore, numbers of bacterial groups that could metabolize animal proteins, fats, and sugars are increased [168]. Even in East Asia, which has traditionally shown a low prevalence of IBD, the prevalence seems to be increasing due to diet Westernization [168].

Although it is difficult to determine the exact role of diet in the development of IBD, given that the incidence of IBD increases as industrialization and Westernization progress, it is certain that diet can affect the occurrence of IBD and control the activity of the disease. Although there are many different types of food without definitive guidelines for diet currently, dietary control can help treat IBD, maintain remission, and improve patients' quality of life [164]. It seems necessary to draw up guidelines on diet and nutrition in patients with IBD through research including sex and individual differences in the future.

19.6 Treatment of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases

IBDs are chronic. The goal of IBD treatment is to improve patient's quality of life after inducing remission. Prior to treatment, the range, severity, and clinical aspects of the disease as well as the response to existing treatment, side effects, extraintestinal manifestations, and disease behavior (especially in CD) should all be considered.

The goal of treating UC is to improve symptoms and mucosal inflammation, induce remission, and maintain it for as long as possible to improve patient's quality of life. Based on the intruded area of inflammation, the severity of UC can be classified as proctitis (inflammation invades up to 15 cm from anal verge), left-sided colitis (inflammation invades up to splenic flexure), and extensive colitis (inflammation invades whole colon) [169]. In UC proctitis, topical 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) drugs can be attempted initially. Oral 5-ASA treatment is recommended for remission induction in patients with left-sided and extensive colitis with mild to moderate activity. Systemic steroid treatment is required when a patient's symptoms deteriorate or remain with sufficient dose (over 2.4 g/day) of 5-ASA treatment for more than 4 weeks. In addition, worsening symptoms in patients undergoing azathioprine (AZA) maintenance therapy will need oral steroids. Treatment with biologics such as anti-TNF agents is recommended when sufficient dose and duration of steroids or steroids and thiopurine coalescing administration are inefficient or when the patient is intolerable to maintenance therapy [169].

In addition to inducing and maintaining remission of active stage disease, preventing complications by inhibiting the progression of the disease is also emerging as an important treatment goal in CD. When the patient is considered to be an active stage of CD, possibilities of intestinal infections, abscesses, fibrosis and stenosis, bacterial overgrowth, bile absorption disorder, gallstones, and GI motility disorders should be excluded as possible aggravating factors. Sulfasalazines can be used for induction of disease remission in mild CD patients. In addition. 5-ASAs can be considered for mild cases with fewer drug side effects and convenience of administration, although its remission-inducing effect is limited. Topical steroid administration is preferred for induction of disease remission for mild to moderate CD, which is confined to the terminal ileum. Systemic steroids should be considered for cases with low response to 5-ASA or topical steroids. If there is no improvement in systemic steroid treatment or if steroids cannot be discontinued, biologics such as anti-TNF agents can be attempted. In addition, in CD, surgical treatment should be considered as an option if it does not respond to adequate medical treatment. The treatment plan needs to be determined through sufficient interactions between gastroenterologists, surgeons, and patients [170].

Looking at sex-specific considerations in the treatment of IBD reported so far, first, male patients with IBD are more likely to receive systemic treatment than female patients [171, 172], which might be associated with high accessibility to medical care in males. However, in a study of 55 patients with infliximab, males have been reported to be less attractive to treatment than female patients [173]. A study of 317 CD patients with infliximab has reported higher remission rate in male patients, while males show significant lower incidence of vascular complications such as ischemic heart disease and peripheral vascular disease compared to females [174]. Sex differences in steroid and vedolizumab treatment have also been reported, with fewer requirement of steroid treatment in males [175] and higher rates of drug cessation due to hypersensitivity during vedolizumab treatment in females [176]. The difference in responses to anti-TNF drugs between males and females is thought to be attributable to genetic influences. In the analysis of factors affecting blood drug concentrations of infliximab and adalimumab, factors that can lower blood drug concentrations are males and polymorphism (variable number of tandem repeat (VNTR)) of Fc fracture of IgG receptor and transporter gene (FCGRT) [177]. These findings suggest that responses to biological drugs may vary due to sex-specific genetic differences. Thus, consideration of genetic differences between males and females is essential as biologics are thought to be the mainstay of future IBD treatment.

19.7 Conclusions

The number of patients with IBD and the burden of disease are increasing. Although there are many IBD treatment methods due to the development of new drugs, there are still many challenges. Sex differences have been identified in the occurrence and progress, symptoms and complications, reactions to treatment, and adverse drug reactions of IBD. As mentioned above, CD occurs more in males during childhood, but this tendency is reversed around puberty, resulting in more cases in females during adulthood, while UC occurs more in males. In addition, females with CD and males with UC are more likely to exhibit extra-intestinal manifestations. Especially, male UC patients have a higher risk of colon cancer. Estrogen plays a major role in the underlying sex differences, which contribute to the development of IBD through immune modulation, thrombosis formation, and intestinal microbiological changes that can also increase the incidence of IBD in situations where estrogen secretion increases. However, research on sex differences in IBD is still insufficient so far. Thus, an analysis, especially on people, will be needed. In the past, the sex of patients was not considered in the diagnosis or treatment of IBD. However, it should be considered from now on since males are less compliant with drugs and biological drugs have more side effects in females, making it the first step in providing personalized and tailored therapy.

References

- Braus NA, Elliott DE. Advances in the pathogenesis and treatment of IBD. Clin Immunol. 2009;132:1–9.
- McGuckin MA, Eri R, Simms LA, Florin TH, Radford-Smith G. Intestinal barrier dysfunction in inflammatory bowel diseases. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2009;15:100–13.
- Shin SH. The trend of treating inflammatory bowel disease in the last 10 years. HIRA Service Policy Brief. 2020;14:70–9.
- Goodnow CC, Sprent J, de St F, Groth B, Vinuesa CG. Cellular and genetic mechanisms of self tolerance and autoimmunity. Nature. 2005;435:590–7.
- Zenewicz LA, Abraham C, Flavell RA, Cho JH. Unraveling the genetics of autoimmunity. Cell. 2010;140:791–7.
- Miller FW, Pollard KM, Parks CG, Germolec DR, Leung PS, Selmi C, et al. Criteria for environmentally associated autoimmune diseases. J Autoimmun. 2012;39:253–8.
- Munz C, Lunemann JD, Getts MT, Miller SD. Antiviral immune responses: triggers of or triggered by autoimmunity? Nat Rev Immunol. 2009;9:246–58.
- Fish EN. The X- files in immunity: sex-based differences predispose immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8:737–44.
- Whitacre CC. Sex differences in autoimmune disease. Nat Immunol. 2001;2:777–80.

- Whitacre CC, Reingold SC, O'Looney PA. A gender gap in autoimmunity. Science. 1999;283:1277–8.
- Wagtmans MJ, Verspaget HW, Lamers CB, van Hogezand RA. Gender-related differences in the clinical course of Crohn's disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:1541–6.
- Kornbluth A, Sachar DB; Practice Parameters Committee of the American College of GastroenterologyUlcerative colitis practice guidelines in adults (update): American College of Gastroenterology, Practice Parameters Committee. Am J Gastroenterol. 2004;99:1371–85.
- Hou JK, El-Serag H, Thirumurthi S. Distribution and manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease in Asians, Hispanics, and African Americans: a systematic review. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104:2100–9.
- 14. Su C, Lichtenstein GR. Ulcerative colitis. In: Feldman MFL, Brandt LJ, editors. Sleisenger and Fordtran's gastrointestinal and liver disease: pathophysiology, diagnosis, management, vol. 2. 8th ed. Philadelphia: Saunders; 2006. p. 2499–548.
- Yang SK, Loftus EV Jr, Sandborn WJ. Epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in Asia. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2001;7:260–70.
- 16. Shivananda S, Lennard-Jones J, Logan R, Fear N, Price A, Carpenter L, et al. Incidence of inflammatory bowel disease across Europe: is there a difference between the north and south? Results of the European Collaborative Study on Inflammatory Bowel Disease (ECIBD). Gut. 1996;39:690–7.
- Lakatos P. Recent trends in the epidemiology of inflammatory bowel diseases: up or down? World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12:6102–8.
- Kalappurayil NB, Thomas J, Mankuni B, Thomas V. Assessment of disease severity and role of cytomegalo virus infection in patients with ulcerative Colitis. J Clin Diagn Res. 2017;11:EC07–11.
- Yang SK, Yun S, Kim JH, Park JY, Kim HY, Kim YH, et al. Epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in the Songpa-Kangdong district, Seoul, Korea, 1986-2005: a KASID study. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2008;14:542–9.
- Thia KT, Loftus EV Jr, Sandborn WJ, Yang SK. An update on the epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in Asia. Am J Gastroenterol. 2008;103:3167–82.
- Sairenji T, Collins KL, Evans DV. An update on inflammatory bowel disease. Prim Care. 2017;44:673–92.
- 22. Khanna R, Zou G, D'Haens G, Feagan BG, Sandborn WJ, Vandervoort MK, et al. A retrospective analysis: the development of patient reported outcome measures for the assessment of Crohn's disease activity. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2015;41:77–86.
- 23. Shah SC, Khalili H, Chen CY, Ahn HS, Ng SC, Burisch J, et al. Sex-based differences in incidence of inflammatory bowel diseases-pooled analysis of population-based studies from western countries. Gastroenterology. 2018;155:1079–89.
- 24. Gower-Rousseau C, Vasseur F, Fumery M, Savoye G, Salleron J, Dauchet L, et al. Epidemiology of inflammatory bowel diseases: new insights from a French population- based registry (EPIMAD). Dig Liver Dis. 2013;45:89–94.
- Leddin D, Tamim H, Levy AR. Decreasing incidence of inflammatory bowel disease in eastern Canada: a population database study. BMC Gastroenterol. 2014;14:140.
- 26. Ott C, Obermeier F, Thieler S, Kemptner D, Bauer A, Schölmerich J, et al. The incidence of inflammatory bowel disease in a rural region of Southern Germany: a prospective population- based study. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008;20:917–23.
- 27. Ye Y, Manne S, Treem WR, Bennett D. Prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in pediatric and adult populations: recent estimates from large national databases in the United States, 2007–2016. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2020;26:619–25.
- Bernstein CN, Wajda A, Svenson LW, MacKenzie A, Koehoorn M, Jackson M, et al. The epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in Canada: a population-based study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2006;101:1559–68.
- 29. Gearry RB, Richardson A, Frampton CM, Collett JA, Burt MJ, Chapman BA, et al. High incidence of Crohn's disease in Canterbury, New Zealand: results of an epidemiologic study. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2006;12:936–43.
- Hammer T, Nielsen KR, Munkholm P, Burisch J, Lynge E. The Faroese IBD study: incidence of inflammatory bowel diseases across 54 years of population-based data. J Crohns Colitis. 2016;10:934–42.
- Molinie F, Gower-Rousseau C, Yzet T, Merle V, Grandbastien B, Marti R, et al. Opposite evolution in incidence of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis in Northern France (1988–1999). Gut. 2004;53: 843–8.
- 32. Abramson O, Durant M, Mow W, Finley A, Kodali P, Wong A, et al. Incidence, prevalence, and time trends of pediatric inflammatory bowel disease in Northern California, 1996 to 2006. J Pediatr. 2010;157: 233–9.e1.
- 33. Adler J, Dong S, Eder SJ, Dombkowski KJ. ImproveCareNow Pediatric IBD Learning Health System. Perianal Crohn disease in a large multicenter pediatric collaborative. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2017;64:e117–24.
- 34. Auvin S, Florence M, Corinne G-R, Brazier F, Merle V, Grandbastien B, et al. Incidence, clinical presentation and location at diagnosis of pediatric inflammatory bowel disease: a prospective population-based study in northern France (1988–1999). J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2005;41:49–55.
- Cosnes J, Gower-Rousseau C, Seksik P, Cortot A. Epidemiology and natural history of inflammatory bowel diseases. Gastroenterology. 2011;140:1785–94.

- Loftus EV Jr. Clinical epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease: incidence, prevalence, and environmental influences. Gastroenterology. 2004;126:1504–17.
- Goodman WA, Erkkila IP, Pizarro TT. Sex matters: impact on pathogenesis, presentation and treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;17:740–54.
- Lophaven SN, Lynge E, Burisch J. The incidence of inflammatory bowel disease in Denmark 1980– 2013: a nationwide cohort study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2017;45:961–72.
- 39. Li X, Song P, Li J, Tao Y, Li G, Li X, et al. The disease burden and clinical characteristics of inflammatory bowel disease in the Chinese population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017;14:238.
- 40. Shah SC, Khalili H, Chen CY, Ahn HS, Ng SC, Burisch J, et al. Sex-based differences in the incidence of inflammatory bowel diseases—pooled analysis of population-based studies from the Asia-Pacific region. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2019;49:904–11.
- Herrinton LJ, Liu L, Lewis JD, Griffin PM, Allison J. Incidence and prevalence of inflammatory bowel disease in a Northern California managed care organization, 1996–2002. Am J Gastroenterol. 2008;103:1998–2006.
- 42. Veluswamy H, Suryawala K, Sheth A, Wells S, Salvatierra E, Cromer W, et al. African-American inflammatory bowel disease in a Southern U.S. health center. BMC Gastroenterol. 2010;10:104.
- 43. Jung YS, Han M, Kim WH, Park S, Cheon JH. Incidence and clinical outcomes of inflammatory bowel disease in South Korea, 2011–2014: a nationwide population-based study. Dig Dis Sci. 2017;62:2102–12.
- 44. Park SH, Kim Y, Rhee KH, Kim YH, Hong SN, Kim KH, et al. A 30-year trend analysis in the epidemiology of inflammatory bowel disease in the Songpa-Kangdong district of Seoul, Korea in 1986-2015. J Crohns Colitis. 2019;13:1410–7.
- Levine A. Pediatric inflammatory bowel disease: is it different? Dig Dis. 2009;27:212–4.
- 46. Bousvaros A, Antonioli DA, Colletti RB, Dubinsky MC, Glickman JN, Gold BD, et al. Differentiating ulcerative colitis from Crohn disease in children and young adults: report of a working group of the North American Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition and the Crohn's and Colitis Foundation of America. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2007;44:653–74.
- 47. Dotson JL, Hyams JS, Markowitz J, LeLeiko NS, Mack DR, Evans JS, et al. Extraintestinal manifestations of pediatric inflammatory bowel disease and their relation to disease type and severity. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2010;51:140–5.
- Mazor Y, Maza I, Kaufman E, Ben-Horin S, Karban A, Chowers Y, et al. Prediction of disease complication occurrence in Crohn's disease using pheno-

type and genotype parameters at diagnosis. J Crohns Colitis. 2011;5:592–7.

- 49. Blumenstein I, Herrmann E, Filmann N, Zosel C, Tacke W, Bock H, et al. Female patients suffering from inflammatory bowel diseases are treated less frequently with immunosuppressive medication and have a higher disease activity: a subgroup analysis of a large multi-centre, prospective, internet-based study. J Crohns Colitis. 2011;5:203–10.
- Bokemeyer B, Hardt J, Hüppe D, Prenzler A, Conrad S, Düffelmeyer M, et al. Clinical status, psychosocial impairments, medical treatment and health care costs for patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) in Germany: an online IBD registry. J Crohns Colitis. 2013;7:355–68.
- 51. Romberg-Camps MJ, Dagnelie PC, Kester AD, Hesselink-van de Kruijs MA, Cilissen M, Engels LG, et al. Influence of phenotype at diagnosis and of other potential prognostic factors on the course of inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104:371–83.
- Bernstein CN, Blanchard JF, Rawsthorne P, Yu N. The prevalence of extraintestinal diseases in inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:1116–22.
- Levine JS, Burakoff R. Extraintestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterol Hepatol (NY). 2011;7:235–41.
- 54. Bandyopadhyay D, Bandyopadhyay S, Ghosh P, De A, Bhattacharya A, Dhali GK, et al. Extraintestinal manifestations in inflammatory bowel disease: prevalence and predictors in Indian patients. Indian J Gastroenterol. 2015;34:387–94.
- 55. Karmiris K, Avgerinos A, Tavernaraki A, Zeglinas C, Karatzas P, Koukouratos T, et al. Prevalence and characteristics of extra- intestinal manifestations in a large cohort of Greek patients with inflammatory bowel disease. J Crohns Colitis. 2016;10:429–36.
- 56. Vegh Z, Kurti Z, Gonczi L, Golovics PA, Lovasz BD, Szita I, et al. Association of extraintestinal manifestations and anaemia with disease outcomes in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Scand Scand J Gastroenterol. 2016;51:848–54.
- 57. Biedermann L, Renz L, Fournier N, Rossel JB, Butter M, Bluemel S, et al. Uveitis manifestations in patients of the Swiss Inflammatory Bowel Disease Cohort Study. Ther Adv Gastroenterol. 2019;12:1756284819865142.
- Söderlund S, Granath F, Broström O, Karlén P, Löfberg R, Ekbom A, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease confers a lower risk of colorectal cancer to females than to males. Gastroenterology. 2010;138:1697–703.
- 59. Yoshino T, Nakase H, Takagi T, Bamba S, Okuyama Y, Kawamura T, et al. Risk factors for developing colorectal cancer in Japanese patients with ulcerative colitis: a retrospective observational study— CAPITAL (Cohort and Practice for IBD total management in Kyoto- Shiga Links) study I. BMJ Open Gastroenterol. 2016;3:e000122.

- Beaugerie L, Itzkowitz SH. Cancers complicating inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med. 2015;372:1441–52.
- Xie J, Itzkowitz SH. Cancer in inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol. 2008;14:378–89.
- Ekbom A, Helmick C, Zack M, Adami HO. Ulcerative colitis and colorectal cancer. A population-based study. N Engl J Med. 1990;323:1228–33.
- Herrinton LJ, Liu L, Levin TR, Allison JE, Lewis JD, Velayos F. Incidence and mortality of colorectal adenocarcinoma in persons with inflammatory bowel disease from 1998 to 2010. Gastroenterology. 2012;143:382–9.
- 64. Beaugerie L, Svrcek M, Seksik P, Bouvier AM, Simon T, Allez M, et al. Risk of colorectal highgrade dysplasia and cancer in a prospective observational cohort of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology. 2013;145:166–75.e8.
- 65. Jess T, Simonsen J, Jørgensen KT, Pedersen BV, Nielsen NM, Frisch M. Decreasing risk of colorectal cancer in patients with inflammatory bowel disease over 30 years. Gastroenterology. 2012;143:375–81. e1.
- 66. Jewel Samadder N, Valentine JF, Guthery S, Singh H, Bernstein CN, Wan Y, et al. Colorectal cancer in inflammatory bowel diseases: a population-based study in Utah. Dig Dis Sci. 2017;62:2126–32.
- 67. Hovde Ø, Høivik ML, Henriksen M, Solberg IC, Småstuen MC, Moum BA. Malignancies in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: results from 20 years of follow-up in the IBSEN study. J Crohns Colitis. 2017;11:571–7.
- Wu XR, Ashburn J, Remzi FH, Li Y, Fass H, Shen B. Male gender is associated with a high risk for chronic antibiotic- refractory pouchitis and ileal pouch anastomotic sinus. J Gastrointest Surg. 2016;20:631–9.
- 69. Caini S, Bagnoli S, Palli D, Saieva C, Ceroti M, Bendinelli B, et al. Total and cancer mortality in a cohort of ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease patients: the Florence Inflammatory Bowel Disease Study, 1978–2010. Dig Liver Dis. 2016;48: 1162–7.
- Aparicio T, Zaanan A, Svrcek M, Laurent-Puig P, Carrere N, Manfredi S, et al. Small bowel adenocarcinoma: epidemiology, risk factors, diagnosis and treatment. Dig Liver Dis. 2014;46:97–104.
- Jess T, Gamborg M, Matzen P, Munkholm P, Sørensen TI. Increased risk of intestinal cancer in Crohn's disease: a meta-analysis of population-based cohort studies. Am J Gastroenterol. 2005;100:2724–9.
- 72. Fraga M, Fournier N, Safroneeva E, Pittet V, Godat S, Straumann A, et al. Primary sclerosing cholangitis in the Swiss Inflammatory Bowel Disease Cohort Study: prevalence, risk factors, and long-term follow-up. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;29:91–7.
- Weismüller TJ, Trivedi PJ, Bergquist A, Imam M, Lenzen H, Ponsioen CY, et al. Patient age, sex, and inflammatory bowel disease phenotype associ-

ate with course of primary sclerosing cholangitis. Gastroenterology. 2017;152:1975–84.e8.

- 74. Landi M, Maldonado-Ficco H, Perez-Alamino R, Maldonado-Cocco JA, Citera G, Arturi P, et al. Gender differences among patients with primary ankylosing spondylitis and spondylitis associated with psoriasis and inflammatory bowel disease in an iberoamerican spondyloarthritis cohort. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016;95:e5652.
- Gaspar SR, Mendonça T, Oliveira P, Oliveira T, Dias J, Lopes T. Urolithiasis and Crohn's disease. Urol Ann. 2016;8:297–304.
- 76. Bourrier A, Carrat F, Colombel JF, Bouvier AM, Abitbol V, Marteau P, et al. Excess risk of urinary tract cancers in patients receiving thiopurines for inflammatory bowel disease: a prospective observational cohort study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2016;43:252–61.
- Xiao Z, Pei Z, Yuan M, Li X, Chen S, Xu L. Risk of stroke in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review and meta- analysis. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2015;24:2774–80.
- Piras V, Usai P, Mezzena S, Susnik M, Ideo F, Schirru E, et al. Prevalence of apical periodontitis in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases: a retrospective clinical study. J Endod. 2017;43:389–94.
- Katsanos KH, Roda G, McBride RB, Cohen B, Colombel JF. Increased risk of oral cancer in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;14:413–20.
- Han YM, Yoon H, Lim S, Sung MK, Shin CM, Park YS, et al. Risk factors for vitamin D, zinc, and selenium deficiencies in Korean patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Gut Liver. 2017;11:363–9.
- 81. Castro Aguilar-Tablada T, Navarro-Alarcón M, Quesada Granados J, Samaniego Sánchez C, Rufián-Henares JÁ, Nogueras-Lopez F. Ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease are associated with decreased serum selenium concentrations and increased cardiovascular risk. Nutrients. 2016;8:780.
- Matos JF, Americo MF, Sinzato YK, Volpato GT, Corá LA, Calabresi MF, et al. Role of sex hormones in gastrointestinal motility in pregnant and non-pregnant rats. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22:5761–8.
- Mulak A, Tache Y, Larauche M. Sex hormones in the modulation of irritable bowel syndrome. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:2433–48.
- 84. Song CH, Kim N, Sohn SH, Lee SM, Nam RH, Na HY, et al. Effects of 17β-estradiol on colonic permeability and inflammation in an azoxymethane/dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis mouse model. Gut Liver. 2018;12:682–93.
- Son HJ, Kim N, Song CH, Lee SM, Lee HN, Surh YJ. 17β-estradiol reduces inflammation and modulates antioxidant enzymes in colonic epithelial cells. Korean J Intern Med. 2020;35:310–9.
- 86. Cornish JA, Tan E, Simillis C, Clark SK, Teare J, Tekkis PP. The risk of oral contraceptives in the

etiology of inflammatory bowel disease: a metaanalysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2008;103:2394–400.

- Ortizo R, Lee SY, Nguyen ET, Jamal MM, Bechtold MM, Nguyen DL. Exposure to oral contraceptives increases the risk for development of inflammatory bowel disease: a meta-analysis of case-controlled and cohort studies. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;29:1064–70.
- Khalili H, Higuchi LM, Ananthakrishnan AN, Richter JM, Feskanich D, Fuchs CS, et al. Oral contraceptives, reproductive factors and risk of inflammatory bowel disease. Gut. 2013;62:1153–9.
- Bernstein MT, Graff LA, Targownik LE, Downing K, Shafer LA, Rawsthorne P, et al. Gastrointestinal symptoms before and during menses in women with IBD. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2012;36:135–44.
- 90. Saha S, Zhao Y, Shah SA, Esposti SD, Lidofsky S, Salih S, et al. Menstrual cycle changes in women with inflammatory bowel disease: a study from the Ocean State Crohn's and Colitis Area Registry. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2014;20:534–40.
- Adeyemo MA, Spiegel BM, Chang L. Metaanalysis: do irritable bowel syndrome symptoms vary between men and women? Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2010;32:738–55.
- Whitehead WE, Cheskin LJ, Heller BR, Robinson JC, Crowell MD, Benjamin C, et al. Evidence for exacerbation of irritable bowel syndrome during menses. Gastroenterology. 1990;98:1485–9.
- Wakefield AJ, Sawyerr AM, Dhillon AP, Pittilo RM, Rowles PM, Lewis AA, et al. Pathogenesis of Crohn's Disease: multifocal gastrointestinal infarction. Lancet. 1989;2:1057–62.
- Rubin DC, Shaker A, Levin MS. Chronic intestinal inflammation: inflammatory bowel disease and colitis-associated colon cancer. Front Immunol. 2012;3:107.
- 95. Di Leo A, Linsalata M, Cavallini A, Messa C, Russo F. Sex steroid hormone receptors, epidermal growth factor receptor, and polyamines in human colorectal cancer. Dis Colon Rectum. 1992;35:305–9.
- Principi M, Barone M, Pricci M, De Tullio N, Losurdo G, Ierardi E, et al. Ulcerative colitis: from inflammation to cancer. Do estrogen receptors have a role? World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:11496–504.
- Abreu MT, Fukata M, Arditi M. TLR signaling in the gut in health and disease. J Immunol. 2005;174:4453–60.
- Medzhitov R, Janeway C Jr. Innate immunity. N Engl J Med. 2000;343:338–44.
- Marks DJ, Harbord MW, MacAllister R, Rahman FZ, Young J, Al-Lazikani B, et al. Defective acute inflammation in Crohn's disease: a clinical investigation. Lancet. 2006;367:668–78.
- 100. Bonen DK, Ogura Y, Nicolae DL, Inohara N, Saab L, Tanabe T, et al. Crohn's disease-associated NOD2 variants share a signaling defect in response to lipopolysaccharide and peptidoglycan. Gastroenterology. 2003;124:140–6.

- 101. Wehkamp J, Harder J, Weichenthal M, Schwab M, Schäffeler E, Schlee M, et al. NOD2 (CARD15) mutations in Crohn's disease are associated with diminished mucosal alpha-defensin expression. Gut. 2004;53:1658–64.
- Abraham C, Cho JH. Functional consequences of NOD2 (CARD15) mutations. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2006;12:641–50.
- 103. Watanabe T, Kitani A, Murray PJ, Strober W. NOD2 is a negative regulator of Toll-like receptor 2-mediated T helper type 1 responses. Nat Immunol. 2004;5:800–8.
- 104. Noguchi E, Homma Y, Kang X, Netea MG, Ma X. A Crohn's disease-associated NOD2 mutation suppresses transcription of human IL10 by inhibiting activity of the nuclear ribonucleoprotein hnRNP-A1. Nat Immunol. 2009;10:471–9.
- 105. Takatori H, Kanno Y, Watford WT, Tato CM, Weiss G, Ivanov II, et al. Lymphoid tissue inducer-like cells are an innate source of IL-17 and IL-22. J Exp Med. 2009;206:35–41.
- 106. Rioux JD, Xavier RJ, Taylor KD, Silverberg MS, Goyette P, Huett A, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies new susceptibility loci for Crohn disease and implicates autophagy in disease pathogenesis. Nat Genet. 2007;39:596–604.
- 107. Hampe J, Franke A, Rosenstiel P, Till A, Teuber M, Huse K, et al. A genome-wide association scan of nonsynonymous SNPs identifies a susceptibility variant for Crohn disease in ATG16L1. Nat Genet. 2007;39:207–11.
- 108. McCarroll SA, Huett A, Kuballa P, Chilewski SD, Landry A, Goyette P, et al. Deletion polymorphism upstream of IRGM associated with altered IRGM expression and Crohn's disease. Nat Genet. 2008;40:1107–12.
- 109. Kaser A, Blumberg RS. Autophagy, microbial sensing, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and epithelial function in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology. 2011;140:1738–47.
- 110. Salim SY, Söderholm JD. Importance of disrupted intestinal barrier in inflammatory bowel diseases. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2011;17:362–81.
- 111. Van der Sluis M, De Koning BA, De Bruijn AC, Velcich A, Meijerink JP, Van Goudoever JB, et al. Muc2-deficient mice spontaneously develop colitis, indicating that MUC2 is critical for colonic protection. Gastroenterology. 2006;131:117–29.
- 112. Wehkamp J, Harder J, Weichenthal M, Mueller O, Herrlinger KR, Fellermann K, et al. Inducible and constitutive beta-defensins are differentially expressed in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2003;9:215–23.
- 113. Korn T, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. IL-17 and Th17 cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 2009;27: 485–517.
- 114. Breese E, Braegger CP, Corrigan CJ, Walker-Smith JA, MacDonald TT. Interleukin-2- and interferon-gamma-secreting T cells in normal and

diseased human intestinal mucosa. Immunology. 1993;78:127-31.

- 115. Heller F, Florian P, Bojarski C, Richter J, Christ M, Hillenbrand B, et al. Interleukin-13 is the key effector Th2 cytokine in ulcerative colitis that affects epithelial tight junctions, apoptosis, and cell restitution. Gastroenterology. 2005;129:550–64.
- 116. Fuss IJ, Heller F, Boirivant M, Leon F, Yoshida M, Fichtner-Feigl S, et al. Nonclassical CD1d-restricted NK T cells that produce IL-13 characterize an atypical Th2 response in ulcerative colitis. J Clin Invest. 2004;113:1490–7.
- 117. Di Sabatino A, Biancheri P, Rovedatti L, MacDonald TT, Corazza GR. New pathogenic paradigms in inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2012;18:368–71.
- 118. Rovedatti L, Kudo T, Biancheri P, Sarra M, Knowles CH, Rampton DS, et al. Differential regulation of interleukin 17 and interferon gamma production in inflammatory bowel disease. Gut. 2009;58:1629–36.
- 119. Wilson MS, Ramalingam TR, Rivollier A, Shenderov K, Mentink-Kane MM, Madala SK, et al. Colitis and intestinal inflammation in IL10–/– mice results from IL-13Rα2-mediated attenuation of IL-13 activity. Gastroenterology. 2011;140:254–64.
- 120. Bernardo D, Vallejo-Díez S, Mann ER, Al-Hassi HO, Martínez-Abad B, Montalvillo E, et al. IL-6 promotes immune responses in human ulcerative colitis and induces a skin-homing phenotype in the dendritic cells and Tcells they stimulate. Eur J Immunol. 2012;42:1337–53.
- 121. Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R, Min R, Shenderov K, Egawa T, et al. IL-6 programs T(H)-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. Nat Immunol. 2007;8:967–74.
- 122. Kobayashi T, Okamoto S, Hisamatsu T, Kamada N, Chinen H, Saito R, et al. IL23 differentially regulates the Th1/Th17 balance in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. Gut. 2008;57:1682–9.
- 123. Sugihara T, Kobori A, Imaeda H, Tsujikawa T, Amagase K, Takeuchi K, et al. The increased mucosal mRNA expressions of complement C3 and interleukin-17 in inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Exp Immunol. 2010;160:386–93.
- 124. Monteleone G, Monteleone I, Fina D, Vavassori P, Del Vecchio BG, Caruso R, et al. Interleukin-21 enhances T-helper cell type I signaling and interferon-gamma production in Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology. 2005;128:687–94.
- 125. Sarra M, Monteleone I, Stolfi C, Fantini MC, Sileri P, Sica G, et al. Interferon-gamma-expressing cells are a major source of interleukin-21 in inflammatory bowel diseases. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2010;16:1332–9.
- 126. Fina D, Sarra M, Fantini MC, Rizzo A, Caruso R, Caprioli F, et al. Regulation of gut inflammation and th17 cell response by interleukin-21. Gastroenterology. 2008;134:1038–48.

- 127. Russell RK, Satsangi J. IBD: a family affair. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2004;18:525–39.
- Satsangi J, Jewell DP, Rosenberg WM, Bell JI. Genetics of inflammatory bowel disease. Gut. 1994;35:696–700.
- 129. Halfvarson J, Bodin L, Tysk C, Lindberg E, Järnerot G. Inflammatory bowel disease in a Swedish twin cohort: a long-term follow-up of concordance and clinical characteristics. Gastroenterology. 2003;124:1767–73.
- 130. Annese V, Andreoli A, Astegiano M, Campieri M, Caprilli R, Cucchiara S, et al. Clinical features in familial cases of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis in Italy: a GISC study. Italian Study Group for the Disease of Colon and Rectum. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:2939–45.
- Khor B, Gardet A, Xavier RJ. Genetics and pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature. 2011;474:307–17.
- 132. Annese V. Genetics and epigenetics of IBD. Pharmacol Res. 2020;159:104892.
- 133. Zelinkova Z, Stokkers PC, van der Linde K, Kuipers EJ, Peppelenbosch MP, van der Woude CP. Maternal imprinting and female predominance in familial Crohn's disease. J Crohns Colitis. 2012;6:771–6.
- 134. Biank V, Friedrichs F, Babusukumar U, Wang T, Stoll M, Broeckel U, et al. DLG5 R30Q variant is a female-specific protective factor in pediatric onset Crohn's disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 2007;102:391–8.
- 135. Browning BL, Annese V, Barclay ML, Bingham SA, Brand S, Büning C, et al. Gender-stratified analysis of DLG5 R30Q in 4707 patients with Crohn disease and 4973 controls from 12 Caucasian cohorts. J Med Genet. 2008;45:36–42.
- 136. Lin Z, Poritz L, Franke A, Li TY, Ruether A, Byrnes KA, et al. Genetic association of nonsynonymous variants of the IL23R with familial and sporadic inflammatory bowel disease in women. Dig Dis Sci. 2010;55:739–46.
- 137. Tedde A, Putignano AL, Bagnoli S, Congregati C, Milla M, Sorbi S, et al. Interleukin-10 promoter polymorphisms influence susceptibility to ulcerative colitis in a gender-specific manner. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2008;43:712–8.
- 138. Svyryd Y, Hernández-Molina G, Vargas F, Sánchez-Guerrero J, Segovia DA, Mutchinick OM. X chromosome monosomy in primary and overlapping autoimmune diseases. Autoimmun Rev. 2012;11:301–4.
- Libert C, Dejager L, Pinheiro I. The X chromosome in immune functions: when a chromosome makes the difference. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10:594–604.
- 140. Invernizzi P, Miozzo M, Selmi C, Persani L, Battezzati PM, Zuin M, et al. X chromosome monosomy: a common mechanism for autoimmune diseases. J Immunol. 2005;175:575–8.
- 141. Markle JG, Frank DN, Mortin-Toth S, Robertson CE, Feazel LM, Rolle-Kampczyk U, et al. Sex differences in the gut microbiome drive hormone-

dependent regulation of autoimmunity. Science. 2013;339:1084–8.

- 142. Yurkovetskiy L, Burrows M, Khan AA, Graham L, Volchkov P, Becker L, et al. Gender bias in autoimmunity is influenced by microbiota. Immunity. 2013;39:400–12.
- 143. Rustgi SD, Kayal M, Shah SC. Sex-based differences in inflammatory bowel diseases: a review. Ther Adv Gastroenterol. 2020;13:1756284820915043.
- 144. Geuking MB, Köller Y, Rupp S, McCoy KD. The interplay between the gut microbiota and the immune system. Gut Microbes. 2014;5:411–8.
- 145. Son HJ, Kim N, Song CH, Nam RH, Choi SI, Kim JS, et al. Sex-related alterations of gut microbiota in the C57BL/6 mouse model of inflammatory bowel disease. J Cancer Prev. 2019;24:173–82.
- 146. Org E, Mehrabian M, Parks BW, Shipkova P, Liu X, Drake TA, et al. Sex differences and hormonal effects on gut microbiota composition in mice. Gut Microbes. 2016;7:313–22.
- 147. Song CH, Kim N, Nam RH, Choi SI, Lee HN, Surh YJ. 17β-Estradiol supplementation changes gut microbiota diversity in intact and colorectal cancerinduced ICR male mice. Sci Rep. 2020;10:12283.
- 148. Kozik AJ, Nakatsu CH, Chun H, Jones-Hall YL. Age, sex, and TNF associated differences in the gut microbiota of mice and their impact on acute TNBS colitis. Exp Mol Pathol. 2017;103:311–9.
- 149. Hausmann J, Blumenstein I. Gender differences and inflammatory bowel disease. Z Gastroenterol. 2015;53:774–8.
- Ngo ST, Steyn FJ, McCombe PA. Gender differences in autoimmune disease. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2014;35:347–69.
- 151. Andersson RE, Olaison G, Tysk C, Ekbom A. Appendectomy is followed by increased risk of Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology. 2003;124: 40–6.
- 152. Lakatos PL, Vegh Z, Lovasz BD, David G, Pandur T, Erdelyi Z, et al. Is current smoking still an important environmental factor in inflammatory bowel diseases? Results from a population-based incident cohort. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2013;19:1010–7.
- 153. Biedermann L, Fournier N, Misselwitz B, Frei P, Zeitz J, Manser CN, et al. High rates of smoking especially in female Crohn's disease patients and low use of supportive measures to achieve smoking cessation--data from the Swiss IBD Cohort Study. J Crohns Colitis. 2015;9:819–29.
- 154. Severs M, Spekhorst LM, Mangen MJ, Dijkstra G, Löwenberg M, Hoentjen F, et al. Sex-related differences in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: results of 2 prospective cohort studies. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2018;24:1298–306.
- 155. Cosnes J, Nion-Larmurier I, Afchain P, Beaugerie L, Gendre JP. Gender differences in the response of colitis to smoking. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2004;2:41–8.
- 156. Greuter T, Manser C, Pittet V, Vavricka SR, Biedermann L, on behalf of Swiss IBDnet, an

official working group of the Swiss Society of Gastroenterology. Gender differences in inflammatory bowel disease. Digestion. 2020;101(Suppl 1):98–104.

- 157. Kronman MP, Zaoutis TE, Haynes K, Feng R, Coffin SE. Antibiotic exposure and IBD development among children: a population-based cohort study. Pediatrics. 2012;130:e794–803.
- 158. Yilmaz B, Juillerat P, Øyås O, Ramon C, Bravo FD, Franc Y, et al. Microbial network disturbances in relapsing refractory Crohn's disease. Nat Med. 2019;25:323–36.
- 159. Bolnick DI, Snowberg LK, Hirsch PE, Lauber CL, Org E, Parks B, et al. Individual diet has sexdependent effects on vertebrate gut microbiota. Nat Commun. 2014;5:4500.
- 160. Rai SK, Fung TT, Lu N, Keller SF, Curhan GC, Choi HK. The dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH) diet, Western diet, and risk of gout in men: Prospective cohort study. BMJ. 2017;357:j1794.
- Hariharan D, Vellanki K, Kramer H. The Western diet and chronic kidney disease. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2015;17:16.
- 162. Melaku YA, Renzaho A, Gill TK, Taylor AW, Dal Grande E, de Courten B, et al. Burden and trend of diet-related non-communicable diseases in Australia and comparison with 34 OECD countries, 1990– 2015: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Eur J Nutr. 2019;58:1299–313.
- 163. Smith PM, Howitt MR, Panikov N, Michaud M, Gallini CA, Bohlooly-Y M, et al. The microbial metabolites, short-chain fatty acids, regulate colonic Treg cell homeostasis. Science. 2013;341:569–73.
- 164. Devkota S, Wang Y, Musch MW, Leone V, Fehlner-Peach H, Nadimpalli A, et al. Dietary-fat-induced taurocholic acid promotes pathobiont expansion and colitis in II10–/– mice. Nature. 2012;487:104–8.
- 165. Chassaing B, Koren O, Goodrich JK, Marzorati M, Gewirtz AT. Dietary emulsifiers impact the mouse gut microbiota promoting colitis and metabolic syndrome. Nature. 2015;519:92–6.
- 166. Zinöcker MK, Lindseth IA. The Western dietmicrobiome-host interaction and its role in metabolic disease. Nutrients. 2018;10:365.
- 167. Rizzello F, Spisni E, Giovanardi E, Imbesi V, Salice M, Alvisi P, et al. Implications of the westernized diet in the onset and progression of IBD nutrients. Nutrients. 2019;11:1033.
- De Filippo C, Di Paola M, Ramazzotti M, Albanese D, Pieraccini G, Banci E, et al. Diet, Environments,

and gut microbiota: a preliminary investigation in children living in rural and urban Burkina Faso and Italy. Front Microbiol. 2017;8:1979.

- 169. Choi CH, Moon W, Kim YS, Kim ES, Lee BI, Jung Y, et al. Second Korean guidelines for the management of Ulcerative colitis. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2017;69:1–28.
- 170. Park JJ, Yang SK, Ye BD, Kim JW, Park DI, Yoon H, et al. Second Korean guidelines for the management of Crohn's disease. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2017;69:29–54.
- 171. Blumenstein I, Bock H, Zose C, Dignass AU, Hartmann F, Zeuzem S, et al. Are there genderrelated differences in the therapeutic management of patients suffering from inflammatory bowel disease? Subgroup analysis of a prospective multicentre online-based trial. Z Gastroenterol. 2009;47:1045–51.
- 172. Lesuis N, Befrits R, Nyberg F, van Vollenhoven RF. Gender and the treatment of immune- mediated chronic inflammatory diseases: rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease and psoriasis: an observational study. BMC Med. 2012;10:82.
- 173. Campos S, Portela F, Sousa P, Sofia C. Inflammatory bowel disease: adherence to immunomodulators in a biological therapy era. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;28:1313–9.
- 174. Kirchgesner J, Andersen NN, Carrat F, Jess T, Beaugerie L. BERENICE study group. Risk of acute arterial events associated with treatment of inflammatory bowel diseases: nationwide French cohort study. Gut. 2020;69:852–8.
- 175. Waljee AK, Wiitala WL, Govani S, Stidham R, Saini S, Hou J, et al. Corticosteroid use and complications in a US inflammatory bowel disease cohort. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0158017.
- 176. Eriksson C, Marsal J, Bergemalm D, Vigren L, Björk J, Eberhardson M, et al. Long-term effectiveness of vedolizumab in inflammatory bowel disease: a national study based on the Swedish national quality registry for inflammatory bowel disease (SWIBREG). Scand J Gastroenterol. 2017;52:722–9.
- 177. Billiet T, Dreesen E, Cleynen I, Wollants WJ, Ferrante M, Van Assche G, et al. A genetic variation in the neonatal Fc-receptor affects anti- TNF drug concentrations in inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 2016;111:1438–45.



20

Sex Difference of Colorectal Cancer

Nayoung Kim

20.1 Introduction

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is a significant cause of morbidity and mortality in the world. For example, CRC was the third most common cancer globally in 2012 and the incidence is expected to reach 2.2 million by 2030 [1, 2]. CRC occurs at a higher frequency in men than in women [3]. When describing sex differences in CRC, it is important to discriminate between sexual dimorphism (biological differences in hormones and genes) and gender differences (non-biological differences in societal attitudes and behavior) [4]. The incidence and mortality of CRC in populations over 65 years old are higher in women than those in men implying that CRC is a major health threat among older women [5, 6]. Considering the longer life expectancy of women compared to that of men, gendertargeted strategies to prevent and treat CRC should be properly delivered to improve the quality of life, especially, in older women [5]. Usually CRC is classified as right-sided (proximal) and left-sided (distal) colon cancer. Right colon cancer was known to be more aggressive type tumor compared to colon cancer [5], and the percentage of patients with proximal colon cancer is often

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Korea (Republic of) e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr higher in women than in men [7]. In addition, the pathophysiology of CRC such as chromosomal instability (CIN), CpG island methylator phenotype (CIMP), and microsatellite instability (MSI) is somewhat different between proximal colon cancer and distal colon cancer [8]. Therefore, in this paper, we reviewed the sexual dimorphism (biological differences in hormones and genes) and gender differences (non-biological differences in societal attitudes and behavior) to provide strategies for gender-targeted CRC screening, treatment, and prevention including diet.

20.2 Incidence and Mortality Rate of Colorectal Cancer in the World

The Global Cancer Observatory 2019 shows that the incidence and survival patterns for CRC vary markedly across the world [9]. However, the incidence of CRC in men is consistently higher than in women, and the age-standardized incidence rates (ASIRs) per 100,000 of CRC in the world were 23.6 and 16.3 in the men and women, respectively [9] (Fig. 20.1). Highest incidence is seen in Australia and New Zealand (41.7 and 32.1 in the men and women, respectively), Europe, Eastern Asia, and North America; and the lowest incidence in the South-Eastern Asia, Africa, and South-Central Asia (6.1 and 3.8 in the men and women, respectively) [9] (Fig. 20.1).

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_20



Age standardized (World) incidence rates, colorectal cancer, by sex

Fig. 20.1 Age-standardized incidence rates of colorectal cancer depending on sex. The incidence rate for CRC varies markedly across the world (Data from International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) [9])

Mortality rates from CRC are also higher in men than women, and this is consistently seen across different regions of the world [4] (Fig. 20.2). The age-standardized mortality rate for men is 50% higher (10.8 per 100,000 person-year) than for women (7.2 per 100,000 person-year) [9]. It is challenging to determine how much of the sexual dimorphism in CRC mortality is attributable to the sex differences in CRC incidence rates [4].

20.2.1 Sex Difference of Incidence of Colorectal Cancer

It is well known that CRC occurs at a higher frequency in men than in women. According to the Global Cancer Observatory [9], the ASIR per

100,000 in men is 45% higher (23.6 per 100,000 person-year) than women (16.3 per 100,000 person-year). Also, men have a 50% higher cumulative risk (CR) to develop CRC than women (CR 2.75 vs. 1.83) [4]. Cancer statistics in Korea also showed that ASIR per 100,000 for incidence in men in 2017 was 30.8 per 100,000 persons, and it was 39.9 in men higher than 23.0 in women [3]. Looking at different age-frames, CRC incidence rates under 50 years old are very low and there is not a clear sex disparity. That is, the ASIR of CRC by age began to show that men have higher incidence rates than women from 45 to 50 years of age in the United States (Fig. 20.3a), the United Kingdom (Fig. 20.3b), and China (Fig. 20.3c) [4]. In every age group above 50, women have lower incidence rates than age-matched males [10]. This

Fig. 20.2 Age-



World estimated age-standardized CRC mortality rates in 2018

Fig. 20.3 Age-standardized incidence rate of colorectal cancer of men and women in the United States (**a**), the United Kingdom (**b**), and China (**c**). Colon cancer inci-

dence rates by age show men have higher incidence rates than females from 45 to 50 years of age (adapted from Abancens et al. [4])

effectively results in 4–8 years delay in women compared to men, such that women aged 65, for example, have similar CRC incidence to men aged 60 [11]. This difference in CRC incidence between men and women is not a new phenomenon because it has been observed steadily for at least the past 40 years in the United States (Fig. 20.4a), where the incidence was rather higher in the world [12] and for 25 years in Korea where that of CRC was rather lower than the developed countries [13] (Fig. 20.4b). In Korea, the overall cancer incidence rates increased annually by 3.5% from 1999 to 2011 and decreased by 2.7% annually thereafter [3]. Factors such as obesity and smoking evidently contribute to this difference, but a protective role for estrogen in the prevention of CRC has also been proposed in women [14, 15]. Furthermore the incidence of CRC in the postmenopausal women steadily increases, which is very different from that of men



Fig. 20.4 Age-standardized colorectal cancer incidence rates of men and women for past 18–40 years. (a) The ASR of colon cancer in men is consistently higher than in

[3] (Fig. 20.5). This raises the question of whether hormonal status has a direct impact upon incidence or whether hormone abundance influences the contribution of other established risk factors [1]. A number of studies have investigated the gender difference in CRC incidence in the context of different lifestyles and different cultural backgrounds. That is, population-based data collected in the 1970s found that the ASIRs for CRC were women (adapted from SEER 9 registries [12]). (b) It was similar in South Korea (adapted from Korea Central Cancer Registry [13])

similar among men and women [16]. However, within the past few decades, the incidence of CRC in men has increased and exceeded that seen for women, especially in high incidence populations such as in New Zealand, the United States, Canada, Australia, and the United Kingdom [1]. Now this similar trend is observed in the traditionally low-risk populations that are developing a rising incidence, such as Hong Kong, Japan, and Age-specific rate per 100,000



evaluated using data from the Korea National Cancer

Incidence Database from 1999 to 2017 with follow-up

until December 31, 2018 (adapted from Hong et al. [3])

Fig. 20.5 Age-specific incidence rates of colorectal cancer depending on age in the men and women. The incidence, survival, and prevalence rates of cancer were

Singapore [1]. This trend is much less apparent in low incidence populations such as in India, Chile, and Thailand [16]. The importance of the environment and lifestyle has been confirmed in migrant studies, where it was revealed that the incidence of CRC in men rises more rapidly than that in women when they immigrate to high from low incidence areas [16]. In contrast to these human studies, azoxymethane/dextran sodium sulfate (AOM/DSS)-induced colon cancer mouse model showed that the CRC incidence was definitely higher in male than female mouse and the treatment of 17β-estradiol during the DSS inflammation period prevented the development of CRC [15]. Our team also reported that endogenous and exogenous testosterone presented a stimulating effect on AOM/DSS-induced colitis and carcinogenicity [17]. Taken together, sex hormones contribute to CRC risk, but this is modulated by lifestyle and environmental factors.

20.2.2 Sex Difference of Mortality of Colorectal Cancer

Mortality rates from CRC are higher in men than women, and this is consistently seen across different regions of the world [4] (Fig. 20.2). For example, a German population-based cohort study including 185,967 patients showed women had significantly better overall (hazard ratio, HR 0.853) and recurrence-free survival (HR 0.857) than men [18]. In the United States [12] (Fig. 20.6a) and in Korea [13] (Fig. 20.6b) were also found similar findings. A meta-analysis from 2017 including 37 clinical trials also showed that women had better overall (HR 0.87) and cancerspecific survival (HR 0.92) than men [19]. In the same way, the EUROCARE-4 study that analyzed data of patients diagnosed between 1995 and 1999 from 23 European countries showed women had a 2.2% advantage in 5-year average and region-adjusted survival for CRC [20]. However, the most recent EUROCARE-5 study, which evaluated patients from 29 European countries diagnosed between 2000 and 2007, did

not show the significant advantage for women in CRC survival [21]. In addition, a cross-sectional study from the United Kingdom including 164,980 CRC patients showed no significant age-standardized survival benefit for women compared to men [22]. Generally, the benefit in CRC survival, which has been attributable to sexual dimorphism, has been associated with the pre-menopause stage in women [4]. That is, pre-menopausal patients have better 5-year survival rates than age-matched male patients. For instance, younger women (18–44 years) showed

Female

Fig. 20.6 Agestandardized mortality rates of colorectal cancer in men and women for past 18–40 years. (**a**) The age-standardized mortality rates of colon cancer in men were consistently higher than in women (adapted from SEER 9 registries [12]). (**b**) It was similar in South Korea (adapted from Korea Central Cancer Registry [13])



lower mortality compared to older women (over 50 years) [23, 24]. In contrast, CRC women patients over 65 years old showed worse survival rates than age-matched men patients [4]. The reason could be that women patients over 65 years old tend to be diagnosed in a more advanced stage than men and have a more aggressive cancer type [5, 25-27], which is originated from the location and morphology of colon cancer. Actually sex differences exist regarding the type of tumor [4, 5]. That is, women show a higher frequency of right-sided (proximal) tumors than men [5, 28]. Right-sided tumors occur predominantly in women and older patients, and are less common than left-sided (distal) tumors [5]. Patients with right-sided colon cancer exhibited vague symptoms and suffered from more associated diseases and less differentiated compared to left-sided colon cancer [19]. When a Japanese study analyzed a total of 62,350 colon cancer

patients, 5-year net survival rates for subjects with left- and right-sided colon cancer were 74.0% (95% confidence interval [CI], 73.4-74.7%) and 70.4% (95% CI, 69.7–71.0%), respectively [29]. Compared with left-sided colon cancers, the excess hazard ratio (HER) for right-sided colon cancers was 1.20 (95% CI, 1.16-1.25) after adjustment for age, sex, and stage [29]. Furthermore, a meta-analysis study reported that patients with right-sided colon cancers had an 18% increase in mortality risk and that this was independent of stage [30]. In addition to the location, right- and left-sided tumors have been shown to differ in several clinicopathological features such as immune infiltration, differentiation, or MSI. High-MSI tumors comprise close to 15% of all CRC cases, and they locate predominantly in the right-sided colon [5, 31]. Differences between right- and left-sided colon cancers are possibly due to differences in genetic makeup, life style, and/or dietary habits [5]. Chromosomal instability, which is associated with 60-70% of CRC, is more often observed in left-sided colon cancer, and defective genes include adenomatous polyposis coli, Kirstenras, deleted in CRC, and p53 [32-34]. On the other hand, MSI-high, CIMP-high, and BRAF mutation are often observed in right-sided colon cancer [33, 34]. Hereditary non-polyposis CRC is more likely to develop tumors on the right side of the colon, whereas familial adenomatous polyposis is associated with left-sided colon cancer [35, 36]. This MSI status has been shown to impact sensitivity to CRC treatments and prognosis [4]. For example, immunotherapy has been shown to improve prognosis, particularly of MSI-high tumor carrying patients, whereas anti-EGFR and 5-FU adjuvant therapies exert little and no benefit to MSI-H tumors in contrast to MSS tumors [37]. In terms of survival, metastatic CRC patients with right-sided primary tumors have worse survival rates compared to left-sided tumors [38]. In addition, right-sided tumors are more difficult to diagnose by colonoscopy because of their flat shape neoplasia compared to the polyp type neoplasia from left-sided tumors [39] (Fig. 20.7). The decreased gender-specificity of screening tools may therefore explain a higher mortality and shorter 5-year survival rate of women in many regions of the world. Taken together, women have a lower risk to develop CRC than men. Women at a younger age are less likely to die from CRC than age-matched men patients. However, right-sided colon cancer increases which are diagnosed in advanced stage and resistant to chemotherapy resulting in worse prognosis in older women than men.

20.3 Pathophysiology of Colorectal Cancer

CRC develops by sexual dimorphism (biological differences in hormones and genes) and gender differences (non-biological differences in societal attitudes and behavior) [4]. Biological distinction between the sexes is based on the difference in the levels of circulating sex hormones. Especially, 17 β -estradiol plays a key role in the prevention of CRC in female. Among gender differences (non-biological differences in societal attitudes and behavior); diet is also very important in the increase of CRC in men. In the case of 17 β -estradiol, how it plays a key role in the prevention of CRC has still not been fully discovered.

20.3.1 Sex Hormones

All sex steroid hormones derive from cholesterol and are classified into estrogens (17β -estradiol, estriol, and estrone), androgens (testosterone), and progestogens (progesterone) [4]. Estrogens are synthetized from androgens, which in turn derive from progestogens produced from cholesterol [4]. Sex hormones are produced in the testis (men) and ovaries (women), but also in the adipose tissue, adrenal glands, brain, skin, and bone [4]. For example, adipose tissue becomes an important source of estrogens in postmenopausal women and obese men [4]. Higher body mass index (BMI) and lower physical activity levels have been positively associated with higher levels of circulating estrogens in postmenopausal women and men [40, 41]. Sex hormones are



Fig. 20.7 Right-sided tumors (**a** and **b**) are more difficult to diagnose by colonoscopy because of their flat shape neoplasia compared to the polyp type neoplasia from left-sided tumors (**c** and **d**).

mainly bound to albumin in the plasma and to sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG). Only 1–3% of circulating sex hormones are unbound, and this fraction is considered to be most biologically active. Both sexes produce the same sex hormones with differential effects depending on circulating concentration, receptor expression, and hormone-specific interactions with target organs [4]. Progesterone has also been considered as a potential contributor to CRC protection. In general, normal serum progesterone levels are lower in males than females; however, males have similar progesterone levels (~1 ng/ml) as postmenopausal women, and as women at the beginning of their menstrual cycle [4]. Progesterone levels increase in women in the middle of the menstrual cycle from 5 to 20 ng/ml, and in pregnancy from 11 to 90 ng/ml [42]. Recent evidence implicated that progesterone reduced CRC but this seems to be additive to estrogen signaling via the estrogen receptor ER β [43], and a protective role for progesterone looks like to be specific to postmenopausal incidence of CRC [44]. It looks like that the effect of progesterone on the CRC is rather minor so far. Among these sex hormones, the mechanisms of estrogen with its receptors and testosterone on the development of CRC are being actively discovered.

20.3.1.1 Estrogen

Estrogen acts through estrogen receptors (ERs, ER α and ER β) that have genomic and nongenomic effects [45]. Genomic effects appear through estrogen-responsive elements located at the promotor of target genes. In addition, it affects transcription factors such as activating protein-1 (AP-1) and stimulating protein-1 (Sp-1) [45]. Furthermore, non-genomic effects are medicated through protein-kinase cascades. Many steroid hormones including estrogen produce both rapid and latent biological actions, which can be divided into membrane-initiated non-genomic effects (seconds - minutes) and nuclear genomic responses (hours-days) [46]. Genomic responses mainly involve estrogen binding to the major wild-type estrogen isoforms ER α (encoded by ESR1) and ER β (encoded by ESR2) in the cytosol (with release from heat shock proteins) or directly in the nucleus to produce receptor dimerization and interact with N. Kim

cofactors to induce gene transcription and protein synthesis [4]. Non-genomic rapid responses to steroid hormones (RRSH) on the other hand involve estrogen binding to a membraneassociated estrogen receptor followed usually by transactivation of other membrane receptors (G-proteins or EGFR) to induce rapid protein kinase signaling, which modulate cellular processes such as calcium signaling, pH, ion channel activity, and metabolic pathways [47].

20.3.1.1.1 17β-Estradiol Reduces Inflammation and Modulates Antioxidant Enzymes in Colonic Epithelial Cells (CCD841CoN)

Inflammation is a very important mechanism to provide the tumor microenvironment and to provoke the cancer in the presence of other precancerous conditions. As estrogen prevents the development of CRC; thus, we investigated whether estradiol treatment reduces inflammation in CCD841CoN, a female human colonic epithelial cell line, and uncovered underlying mechanisms of estradiol effects on this inflammation [48]. For this 17 β -estradiol (E2), effect was measured by Western blot after inducing inflammation of CCD841CoN by tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) [48]. We found that ER α expression has no significant change after E2 treatment (Fig. 20.8a) but E2 treatment consistently increased ER^β expression from 1 nM concentration of E2 (Fig. 20.8b, p < 0.05). In addition, E2 treatment for 48 h significantly elevated the expression of anti-oxidant enzymes, heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) (p < 0.05) (Fig. 20.8c), and NAD(P)H-quinone oxidoreductase-1 (NQO1) (p < 0.05) [48] (Fig. 20.8d). TNF- α treatment significantly increased the level of activated nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) (p < 0.05), and this increase was significantly suppressed by the treatment of 10 nM of E2 (p < 0.05) (Fig. 20.8e). Furthermore, E2 treatment ameliorated TNF- α induced cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) expression (p < 0.05) (Fig. 20.8f). However, 4-(2-phenyl-5,7-bis(trifluoromethyl)pyrazolo(1,5-a) pyrimidin-3-yl)phenol (PHTPP), antagonist of ER β , removed the inhibitory effect of E2 in the TNF- α -induced COX-2 expression (p = 0.05). In the next, we evaluated the Kelch-like ECHassociated protein-1 (Keap1)/nuclear factor ery-



Fig. 20.8 17β-estradiol (E2) reduces inflammation and modulates antioxidant enzymes following tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α)-induced inflammation in colonic epithelial cells (CCD841CoN). (a) ERα expression has no significant change after E2 treatment. (b) E2 treatment consistently increased ERβ expression from 1 nM concentration of E2 (p < 0.05). (c) E2 treatment for 48 h significantly elevated the expression of heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) (p < 0.05). (d) E2 treatment for 48 h also significantly elevated the expression of NAD(P)H-quinone oxidoreductase-1 (NQO1) (p < 0.05). (e) TNF-α treatment significantly increased the level of activated nuclear factor-κB (NF-κB) (p < 0.05), and this increase was significantly suppressed by the treatment of 10 nM of E2 (p < 0.05). (f) E2 treatment ameliorated TNF- α -induced cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) expression (p < 0.05). (g) The protein expression level of nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2), a transcriptional factor-related pathways, increased in the presence of 10 ng/mL TNF- α /E2 for 2–3 h and then NRF2 expression was inhibited at 6 h. (h) The protein expression level of Kelch-like ECH-associated protein-1 (KEAP1) showed no significant difference according to the treatment of TNF- α and E2. *NS* is not significant, ^ap < 0.05 compared with the control (0, white bar) of target gene expression, ^bp < 0.05 compared with the control (0, black bar) of target gene expression, ^cp < 0.001 (adapted from Son et al. [48]) throid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) signaling pathway because they regulate anti-inflammatory gene expression to suppress the progression of inflammation [49]. The protein expression level of NRF2, a transcriptional factor, increased in the presence of 10 ng/mL TNF- α /E2 for 2–3 h and then this effect disappeared 6 h (Fig. 20.8g). In contrast, the protein expression level of KEAP1 showed no significant difference according to the treatment of TNF- α and E2 (Fig. 20.8h). This upregulation of NRF2 by E2 during 2-3 h after treatment is consistent with a previous study that reported the stimulation of Nrf2-Keap1 antioxidant defense in human neuroblast cell line [50]. The persistent expression of KEAP1 with little variation during TNF- α /E2 treatment was in accordance with previous results [51]. These results suggested that estrogen inhibits inflammation through downregulation of NF-kB and COX-2 expression and induction of anti-oxidant enzymes such as HO-1 and NQO1 which is downstream of Nrf2 in female human colonic epithelial cell lines [48].

20.3.1.1.2 Preventive Mechanism of Estradiol in an AOM/DSS-treated Mouse Model of Colorectal Cancer and Dual Role of Nrf2

Our team showed the protective roles of estradiol in colorectal tumorigenesis by showing more tumor multiplicities in AOM/DSS-treated male mice compared to AOM/DSS-treated female mice [15, 52]. Estradiol increased Nrf2 activity in breast cancer cell line [53] and in colonic epithelial cells (CCD841CoN) [48]. Yet in CRC vivo model, there was no comprehensive knowledge about estradiol as an upstream regulator of Nrf2. Protein kinase C delta (PKC\delta), an important mediator in the $G\alpha_{13}$ signaling pathway, promotes Nrf2 activity [54]. In addition, PKC has been closely related to the protective effect of estradiol on vascular reactivity after shock in female rats [55]. Furthermore, estradiol-induced protein synthesis in mouse uterine epithelial cells was also mediated through the PKC signaling pathway [56]. Estradiol increased the mRNA level of PKC δ in the colonic epithelium of rats [57]. Thus, the $G\alpha_{13}$ -PKC δ signaling pathway could be an upstream regulator of Nrf2 in CRC, and estradiol might play a role in this cascade. There are several suggested mechanisms of the Nrf2mediated prevention of inflammation and tumorigenesis [15]. First, the activation of Nrf2 and cross-talk between Nrf2 and nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-κB) downregulate pro-inflammatory signaling by suppressing NF-kB directly [58]. Second, Nrf2 is one of the most essential transcription factors that regulate the expression of anti-oxidant enzymes [59]. Lastly, the close relationship of Nrf2 with the activating mechanism of the NLRP3 inflammasome was recently reported [60]. Considering the importance of Nrf2 in NLRP3 inflammasome activation [60], Nrf2 activation might lead to immune modulation through caspase-1-related activities, such as pyroptosis [61].

Inflammation is an important factor in the pathophysiology of colitis-associated and sporadic CRC. For example, Salerio et al. demonstrated the higher levels of inflammatory cytokines and polyp development at weeks 9 and 16 in AOM/DSS-treated estrogen receptor β $(ER\beta)$ knockout mice, compared to wild-type mice [62]. However, almost no studies have thoroughly evaluated the early inflammation stage of tumorigenesis, since in most of the studies, the animals were sacrificed after adenoma formation. From this background, we hypothesized that the observed sex difference in CRC incidence may be due to estradiol-mediated downregulation of inflammation, which might somehow affect the CRC cascade [15]. To explore this hypothesis, we assessed the temporal role of Nrf2 in modulating inflammation and carcinogenesis through the regulation of the NF-κB-mediated proinflammatory pathway, anti-oxidant enzymes, and the Nod-like receptor protein 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome [15]. This Nrf2/NLRP3 inflammasome/IL-1β-mediated pyroptosis might trigger the elimination of precancerous cells during inflammation and play a key role in preventing carcinogenesis in the presence of estradiol. AOM/ DSS-treated male and female mice were sacrificed at weeks 2, 10, and 16, to assess estrogen effects on colitis and carcinogenesis [15] (Fig. 20.9). Compared with AOM/DSS-treated

male mice (M-AOM/DSS group), AOM/DSStreated male mice with estradiol administration (M-AOM/DSS + estr group) displayed at week 2 significantly decreased severity of colitis. At weeks 10 and 16, AOM/DSS-treated female mice (F-AOM/DSS group) and the M-AOM/ DSS + estr group showed significantly lower tumor multiplicity compared with the M-AOM/ DSS group. At week 2, F-AOM/DSS group had a lower level of NF- κ B expression and a higher level of Nrf2 expression, compared to the M-AOM/DSS group [15]. After confirming the sex difference in CRC development by showing that the F-AOM/DSS group has significantly



Fig. 20.9 Estradiol prevents wasting disease progression in AOM/DSS-induced colitis. (**a**) Scheme for the experimental course of AOM/DSS promoted colitis-associated tumorigenesis. The mice were injected AOM on day 0. DSS in drinking water (2.5%) and estradiol supply was provided from day 7 to 13. Mice were sacrificed at week 2, 10, and 16. (**b**) Histopathologic findings of the colonic mucosa (H&E, ×200) at week 16. (c) Tumor incidence is presented in each group. $p^* < 0.05$ compared to control, $p^* < 0.05$ compared to AOM/DSS group, p < 0.05between estradiol-treated group and female AOM/DSS group. *M* male, *F* female, *AOM* azoxymethane, *DSS* dextran sulfate sodium, *estr* estradiol (adapted from Son et al. [15])



Fig. 20.9 (continued)

lower tumor multiplicity and incidence compared with the M-AOM/DSS group, we further investigated the underlying anti-cancer mechanism of estradiol. At week 2, expression levels of NF-KB and its related mediators decreased in the M-AOM/DSS + estr group, while levels of Nrf2 and Nrf2-related anti-oxidant enzymes increased. In addition, estradiol significantly increased NLRP3 inflammasome expressions in AOM/ DSS-treated male mice. In contrast, at weeks 10 and 16, Nrf2 and its-related anti-oxidant enzymes and NLRP3 inflammasome were highly expressed in M-AOM/DSS group and in F-AOM/DSS group, who developed cancer. Our data suggest that estradiol inhibits the initiation of CRC by regulating Nrf2-related pathways and demonstrated a dual role of Nrf2 in modulating inflammation and carcinogenesis through the regulation of the NF-kB-mediated pro-inflammatory pathway, anti-oxidant enzymes, and NLRP3 inflammasome. In this research, we focused on week 2, which is the active DSS-induced inflammation stage [63], just after the completion of estradiol administration, and several weeks before the AOM/DSS-induced tumorigenesis. The severity

of inflammation at week 2 was associated with tumor formation at weeks 10 and 16. Our study clearly demonstrates the importance of early inflammatory control by the administration of estradiol to AOM/DSS-treated male mice, to confirm the role of estradiol for CRC prevention. In addition, the M-AOM/DSS + estr group was compared with the F-AOM/DSS group to check any differences between exogenous and endogenous estradiol. This approach strongly supports the inhibitory effect of estradiol on inflammation and inflammation-induced tumorigenesis, and also notably uncovers its underlying mechanism of estradiol in three aspects: (1) NF- κ B-related pro-inflammatory mediators, (2) Nrf2-related anti-oxidant enzymes, and (3) NLRP3 inflammasome [15]. The NF- κ B signaling pathway is highly involved in inflammation and cancer development, especially in colitis-associated CRC [64]. In our study, estradiol inhibited the NF-κB signaling pathway involving iNOS, COX-2, IL-6, and TNF- α during the DSS-induced inflammation stage of AOM/DSS-induced colon tumorigenesis [15]. Furthermore, the concomitant increased expression of $G\alpha_{13}$, PKCS, and

Nrf2 by estradiol administration in AOM/DSStreated male mice during the DSS-induced inflammation stage supports the correlation between the suppression of NF-κB signaling and the estradiol-induced activation of G α_{13} /PKCδ/ Nrf2 pathway [15]. ERs inhibit the NF-κB pathway by the modulation of upstream signaling or the transcriptional activation of NF-κB in various cell lines [65]. Nrf2 inhibition of NF-κB activity is well known. G α_{13} strengthens ER α activity [66], and estradiol regulates the activity of PKCδ [57] and Nrf2 [53].

Nrf2 signaling was significantly upregulated after tumors developed (weeks 10 and 16), in the M-AOM/DSS group, and this suggest that Nrf2 and anti-oxidant enzymes might play a role in promoting tumor progression [15]. Several studies reported the possibility of the dual role of Nrf2 in tumor prevention and progression [67]. Satoh et al. showed that Nrf2 activation in cancer cells enhances tumor malignancy, while Keap1knockdown mice having high expression of Nrf2 are more resistant to urethane-induced carcinogenesis [67]. Similar to Nrf2, we found two facets of NLRP3 inflammasome. Although NLRP3 inflammasome is a well-established target of NF-kB, its expression is inversely related to NF-kB expression at week 2. This indicates that it might have different roles from NF- κ B, such as inducing pyroptosis in the DSS-induced inflammation stage. In contrast, it has been reported that once tumor formation is initiated, NLRP3 inflammasome-induced IL-1 β and IL-18 modulate immunity in the tumor microenvironment and promote cancer progression [68]. A significant increment of NLRP3 and caspase-1 expression in the F-AOM/DSS cancer group compared to the F-AOM/DSS non-cancer group in our study also supports tumor promotion by the NLRP3 inflammasome [15].

The collective present and prior [54, 61, 66] data support the proposal that the regulatory mechanism of estradiol in colitis-associated CRC depends on sex, and the timing of DSS-induced inflammation and carcinogenesis [15] (Fig. 20.10). At the peak of inflammation at week 2, estradiol appears to induce inflammasome activation through $G\alpha_{13}$ protein subunits. $G\alpha_{12}$ and $G\alpha_{13}$ have potentiated estradiol-bound ER α activity [66]. However, despite the functional overlap between $G\alpha_{12}$ and $G\alpha_{13}$, only $G\alpha_{13}$ regulates NRF2 via PKC8 [54]. NRF2 mediates inflammasome activation through the transcription of as-yet unknown genes. NLRP3 inflammasome activation induces pyroptosis to eliminate precancerous cells [61]. NRF2 inhibits NF-KB, which is activated by inflammatory activators through toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling and reactive oxygen species. Ultimately, estradiol prevents carcinogenesis, whereas in the absence of estradiol, a cancer-inducing microenvironment is created through NF-kB activation. When precancerous cells are not completely eliminated, cancer progresses through both the $G\alpha_{12}$ and $G\alpha_{13}$ protein subunits. $G\alpha_{12}$ regulates the NF- κ B-mediated signaling pathway [54, 69]. $G\alpha_{13}$ regulates NRF2 via PKCδ [54]. NRF2 promotes tumor progression by the activation of anti-oxidant enzymes and NLRP3 inflammasome [60]. Ultimately, NF- κ B and NRF2 signaling pathways accelerate colonic carcinogenesis (Fig. 20.10).

20.3.1.1.3 Effects of 17β-Estradiol on Colorectal Cancer Development in the AOM/DSS-treated Mouse Model After Ovariectomy

In the next, we investigated whether ovariectomy in a female AOM/DSS mouse model increases colorectal tumorigenesis and whether tumorigenesis is reduced by estrogen supplementation after ovariectomy [70]. Experimental protocol for evaluating the effects of E2 on AOM/DSSinduced colitis and associated tumorigenesis is presented in Fig. 20.11a [70]. Initially, we expected AOM/DSS-induced inflammation at week 2 and carcinogenesis at weeks 10 and 16 to be more severe in ovariectomy (OVX) mice than in control mice. However, ovariectomy did not aggravate colitis-associated symptoms, including DAI score, colon shortening, and colitis severity, but rather decreased the levels of the inflammatory mediator MPO. A previous report showed that the serum level of testosterone (T), a major male sex hormone, was decreased alongside serum E2 levels in OVX mice compared to control mice [71]. We do not know the precise reason but OVX did not aggravate AOM/DSS-induced colitis at 2 weeks.



Fig. 20.10 Proposed regulatory mechanism of estrogen in colitis-associated CRC at week 2 (**a**) and at weeks 10 and 16 (**b**). (**a**) Estrogen induces inflammasome activation through $G\alpha_{13}$ protein subunits. $G\alpha_{12}$ and $G\alpha_{13}$ have potentiated estrogen-bound ERα activity. However, despite the functional overlap between $G\alpha_{12}$ and $G\alpha_{13}$, only $G\alpha_{13}$ regulates Nrf2 via PKCδ. Nrf2 mediates inflammasome activation through the transcription of as-yet unknown genes. NLRP3 inflammasome activation induces pyroptosis to eliminate precancerous cells. After eliminating precancerous cells, Nrf2 inhibits NF-κB and reactive oxygen species through the anti-oxidant enzymes. Ultimately,

Interestingly at weeks 10 and 16, ovariectomy significantly increased tumor number and incidence rate in only the proximal colon after AOM/ DSS treatment (F_AOM/DSS vs OVX_AOM/ DSS), and these increases were significantly reduced by E2 supplementation (OVX_AOM/ DSS vs OVX_AOM/DSS/E2) [70] (Fig. 20.11b, c). However, ovariectomy did not affect CRC development in the distal colon (F_AOM/DSS vs OVX_AOM/DSS) [70] (Fig. 20.11b, c). Tumor development within the proximal colon is closely associated with female sex, age older than 68 years, hypermethylation, and MSI-high status [8]. Therefore, it is expected that females have a higher risk of developing proximal (right-sided) colon cancer than do males, and this type of colon cancer is more aggressive than distal (left-sided) colon cancer [8]. Furthermore, Missiaglia et al. and Wang et al. recently reported that proximal and distal colon cancers differ in terms of molec-

estrogen prevents carcinogenesis (Left Panel). In contrast, in the absence of estrogen, inflammation provides a cancer microenvironment through activation of the NF-κB pathway (Right Panel). (b) After unsuccessful elimination of precancerous cells, inflammation progresses to cancer at weeks 10 and 16. G α_{12} and G α_{13} regulate NF-κB and Nrf2 via PKCδ-mediated signaling pathway, respectively. Nrf2 promotes tumor progression by activation of antioxidant enzymes and NLRP3 inflammasome. Ultimately, NF-κB and Nrf2 signaling pathways accelerate carcinogenesis (adapted from Son et al. [15])

ular, pathological, and clinical features and cancer-specific survival rates. According to previous reports, proximal cancer is more often mucinous and MSI-high, and key tumorigenic pathways are more often mutated, such as mutated BRAF^{V600E}, regardless of histological type [34]. Additionally, stage II proximal cancers showed a lower cancer-specific mortality than distal cancers at the same stage [72]. In contrast to proximal cancers, distal cancers more often harbor chromosome instability and EGFR or human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) amplifications and more frequently overexpress epiregulin [34]. These data strongly support the pivotal role of estrogen in inflammation inflammation-mediated and carcinogenesis, especially tumor development in the proximal colon, as shown in OVX mice.

For the evaluation for the underlying mechanism, clinical symptoms and histological severity of colitis and the levels of inflammatory mediators were evaluated in the colon of AOM/DSStreated OVX mice. At week 2, E2 administration to AOM/DSS-treated OVX mice attenuated the histological severity of colitis by decreasing the protein and/or mRNA levels of ER α and NF- κ Brelated mediators (i.e., COX-2, TNF- α , and IL-6) and by enhancing estrogen receptor beta (ER β) and nuclear Nrf2 protein expression and the mRNA expression of related antioxidant enzyme genes (i.e., HO-1, GCLC, GCLM, and NQO1) [70]. NF- κ B, a well-known mediator of inflammatory responses, plays a pivotal role in carcinogenesis and is emerging as a link between



Fig. 20.11 Ovariectomy and 17β -estradiol administration with AOM/DSS treatment in female ICR mice. (a) Experimental protocol for evaluating the effects of E2 on AOM/DSS-induced colitis after ovariectomy. One week after ovariectomy, animals were enrolled in the AOM/ DSS protocol. The mice were injected with AOM on day 0 and were provided DSS in drinking water (2.5%) and E2 supplementation from day 8 to 14. Mice were sacrificed at weeks 2, 10, and 16. (b) Tumor incidence at weeks 10 and 16. (c) Representative histological images after H&E staining at weeks 10 (upper panel) and 16 (lower panel). Adenoma is indicated by a dashed-line circle, and adenocarcinoma is indicated by a solid-line circle and a bar (H&E, ×200). *F* female, *OVX* ovariectomized, *E2* 17β-estradiol, *AOM* azoxymethane, *DSS* dextran sulfate sodium, *F_Con* female control mice, *F_AOM/DSS* female mice treated with AOM/DSS, *OVX_Con* ovariectomized female control mice, *OVX_AOM/DSS* ovariectomized female mice treated with AOM/DSS, *OVX_AOM/DSS/E2* AOM/DSS-treated ovariectomized female mice administered E2. **p* < 0.05 for comparison between two groups (adapted from Song et al. [70])



Fig. 20.11 (continued)

inflammation and cancer [64]. It is highly activated at inflammatory sites in diverse diseases, including inflammatory bowel disease [73], and can induce the transcription of proinflammatory cytokines, growth factors, chemokines, and antiapoptotic genes [74]. In addition, NF- κ B is well known to induce the expression of COX-2, a key mediator of the inflammatory process [75]. In this OVX study, E2 treatment decreased the levels of NF- κ B-regulated proinflammatory cytokines (i.e., TNF- α and IL-6) and COX-2 gene expression compared to the corresponding control during the inflammation (week 2) and tumorigenesis (weeks 10 and 16) stages [70]. Furthermore, nuclear Nrf2 protein levels and the

mRNA expression of Nrf2 and antioxidant enzyme genes (i.e., HO-1, GCLC, GCLM, and NQO1) were significantly increased by E2 treatment compared to the corresponding control at week 2 [70]. These data suggest that the increase in Nrf2 and antioxidant enzyme gene expression by E2 supplementation in the OVX_AOM/DSS group blocked the expression of NF- κ B-regulated proinflammatory cytokines (i.e., TNF- α and IL-6) and COX-2. Taken together, endogenous estrogen in females protects against the development of proximal colon cancer, and exogenous E2 replacement in OVX female mice showed protective effects against AOM/DSS-induced colitis and carcinogenesis.



Selective loss of ERβ promotes tumorigenesis.

Fig. 20.12 Estrogens regulate the cellular effects through their intracellular receptors, estrogen receptors (ER) α and ER β . ER β showed tumor-suppressive function in CRC through activation of pro-apoptotic signaling, regulation

20.3.1.2 Estrogen Receptors (Membrane Estrogen Receptor and G Protein-Coupled Estrogen Receptor)

The receptors involved in transducing rapid nongenomic responses to estrogen are the membrane estrogen receptor (mER, ER α and ER β) and the G protein-coupled estrogen receptor (GPER, encoded by the GPER1 gene) [4]. Most of the rapid actions of estrogen have been shown to be transduced by mER [76], whereas GPER appears to become biologically important as an estrogen receptor in tissues where the expression of ER isoforms is low or undetectable [77]. Significant biologically relevant cross-talk has been demonstrated between genomic and non-genomic signaling pathways [78]. Membrane-initiated rapid responses to estrogen have been shown to influence the latent genomic responses (for example by MAPK phosphorylation of the ligand-receptor complex to facilitate nuclear translocation and phosphorylation of transcription factor signaling such as PKA-CREB) and vice versa genomic effects can regulate rapid responses through the of mismatch repair proteins, and modulation of the inflammatory tumor microenvironment (adapted from Caiazza et al. [79])

synthesis of protein kinases essential for rapid actions in the cytosol [4].

20.3.1.2.1 Membrane Estrogen Receptors

The protective role of estrogen in the female against CRC has been mainly associated with expression levels of the ER β in intestinal epithelial cells [79, **80**]. That is, ER β is the prevalent estrogen receptor in normal colon mucosa and shows a significantly reduced expression in CRC [81]. ER β showed tumor-suppressive function in CRC through activation of pro-apoptotic signaling, regulation of mismatch repair proteins, and modulation of the tumor microenvironment [79] inflammatory (Fig. 20.12). Thus, selective loss of ER β within the large intestine promotes tumorigenesis [79, 81] (Fig. 20.12). That is, the ER β 1, ER β 2, and ER β 5 isoforms are expressed in the colon with variable levels along the crypt axis [82] and are reduced in tumor cells compared to normal colon [83, 84]. The experimental overexpression of $ER\beta$ in colon cancer cells showed that $ER\beta$ inhibits proliferation by blocking the cell cycle in the G1-S phase [85] and stimulating apoptosis [86]. Moreover, $ER\beta$ induces anti-inflammatory signaling in CRC cells [87]. Other protective mechanisms attributed to $ER\beta$ in the colon include upregulation of tight junction proteins occludin (OCLN) and JAMA (F11R) to preserve homeostasis of paracellular permeability [88]. Our team also reported that the mRNA expressions of intestinal barrier-related molecules (Zonula occludens-1 [ZO-1], OCLN, and Claudin4 [CLDN4]) were decreased by AOM/DSStreatment; and this inhibition was rescued by 17 β -estradiol supplementation [89]. ER β 1 is the most highly expressed estrogen receptor in the healthy colonic epithelium, and the expression of $ER\beta1$ is reduced in tumor cells compared to normal colon [90, 91]. Sustained ER β 1 expression in CRC correlates with better prognosis and patient survival, whereas loss of ER_{β1} expression is correlated with worse prognosis [92]. Estrogen has been shown to increase ER β levels, and this is a likely mechanism by which estrogen confers protection against CRC [93].

20.3.1.2.2 G Protein-Coupled Estrogen Receptor (GPER)

In addition, the protective estrogen activity in CRC in the absence of ER is explained by the role of membrane-bound GPER [94, 95]. Diverse functions of GPER in the colon include the regulation of visceral hypersensitivity and gut motility, immune responses in inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) [96, 97], and the modulation of cell migration and proliferation in CRC cell lines [98]. GPER is known to stimulate gut motility; thus, it can prevent the possible effect of chronic constipation on CRC [99]. In addition, a sex-dependent regulation of GPER expression and signal transduction for mucosal inflammation has been proposed in IBD such as Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis [100] which can provoke CRC, especially in male. Estrogen is known to produce a rapid non-genomic anti-secretory response in colon, which is both female sex-dependent but not observed in males [57, 101]. Thus estrogen and GPER modulate key physiological functions in the intestine [4]. Thus when they are dysregulated, CRC neoplasm can develop. Taken together estrogen effects in advanced CRC tumors may be transduced via GPER given the relative absence of expression of ER α or ER β in CRC patients and cell lines studied [4]. Strangely GPER has been described as a tumor promoter in certain cancers such as breast cancer via activation of EGFR, STAT5, and MAPK/extracellular regulated kinase (ERK) pathways [102]. However, in CRC, the expression of GPER is reported to act variously as a tumor suppressor or promoter depending on the stage of the disease and expression levels of ER and GPER [103]. For instance, the expression of GPER was significantly decreased with increasing stage and lymph node metastasis of CRC patients [104]. That is, as colon cancer progresses to advanced stage disease, GPER expression was found to be greatly reduced in cancerous tissue compared to adjacent healthy colon and low GPER expression was associated with reduced survival [105]. Moreover, high GPER expression was associated with poor relapse-free survival in women with stage 3/4 but not in stage 1/2 CRC while there was no correlation of GPER expression in men with disease of any stage [18]. Taken together, the role of GPER in CRC looks like to be both sexually dimorphic and dependent on the stage of the disease [4]. Possible answers for these discrepancies might lie within the tumor microenvironment where metabolic signals may modulate the signaling pathways regulated by estrogen/GPER [4]. Sexual dimorphism in the biology of gene and protein expression, and in endocrine cellular signaling, underpins the sexual dichotomy in colon cancer summarized in Fig. 20.13 [4].

20.3.1.3 Testosterone and Orchiectomy-Associated Colorectal Cancer in the AOM/ DSS-treated Mouse Model

Testosterone is the sex hormone in male. Here we evaluated the role of testosterone and androgen receptors and introduced our experiment regarding the effect of orchiectomy in the AOM/DSS-induced tumor numbers and incidence rates of CRC.

20.3.1.3.1 Testosterone and Androgen Receptors

Androgen receptors (ARs) have been reported to be expressed in CRC [106]. ARs are the binding



Fig. 20.13 Sexual dimorphism targets of estrogen signaling, receptors, and genes underpinning sex differences in the development of CRC. Estrogen, receptors, and genes modulate ion channels, metabolism, innate and adaptive immunity, and oncogene expression to activate

non-genomic and genomic responses underpinning CRC development from neoplastic transformation, adenomas, and carcinoma to tumor (adapted from Abancens et al. [4])

site for dihydrotestosterone (DHT), and two isoforms of the AR, androgen receptor A (AR-A, 87-kDa) and androgen receptor B (AR-B, 110 kDa) [107]. Both of these were detected in healthy colonic mucosa whereas only AR-A was detected in neoplastic colonic mucosa [108]. It suggests that neoplastic colonic mucosa is characterized by loss of expression of the AR-B isoform, whereas AR-A expression is maintained [107]. As low levels of AR-A are normally detected in the fetal colon, the expression of AR-A in CRC may be indicative of loss of cell differentiation [107]. Membrane androgen receptors (mARs), cell-surface G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) in colonic tumors signal via modulation of intracellular calcium or inositol 1,4-5-triphosphate second messenger pathways. Recently mARs have been reported to trigger apoptosis in neoplastic cells [108]. In addition, mARs were suggested to induce tumor regression, in the mice xenograft tumors and two colon cancer cell lines (Caco2 and HCT116 cells) [109]. Significant mAR expression was reported

in xenograft tumor tissues and cell lines compared to healthy or nontransformed cells [109]. When fluorescence staining of Caco2 and HCT116 cells were treated with testosterone3-[O-carboxymethyl] oxime human serum albumin (testosterone-HSA) for 24 h apoptosis occurred via caspase-3 activation [109]. Taken together, mARs look like to play a role to regress the CRC contrary to our expectation. However, implantation of dihydrotestosterone in the APC PIR/+ rat and testosterone supplementation in the AOM mouse, along with castration, increased the number of adenomas [110]. Furthermore, a recent study in postmenopausal women in Japan [111] including 185 CRC patients and 361 controls showed that higher testosterone levels were significantly associated with CRC risk (odds ratio[OR] 2.1; 95% CI, 1.11-3.99). However, there are many contrary reports for the role of testosterone on the CRC in human studies. That is, there was no significant clinical correlation between testosterone concentrations and outcomes in CRC patients [112, 113]. For instance, lower androgenicity in men, as a result of reduced androgen receptor activity by hypermethylation or lower circulating dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate, has been associated with increased CRC risk [114, 115]. A recent US study including 732 CRC patients and 1156 controls from 4 prospective cohorts reported that high testosterone levels in men were significantly associated with lower relative-risk for CRC (highest vs. lowest quartile 0.65) and showed no association in postmenopausal women [116]. Also, a prospective study evaluating 107,859 men diagnosed with prostate cancer from the American SEER-Medicare database has shown orchiectomy and long-term therapy (more than

androgen-deprivation 25 months) were significantly associated with higher CRC risk (hazard ratio [HR] 1.37; 95% CI, 1.14–1.66, and HR 1.31; 95% CI, 1.12–1.53, respectively) [117]. As these are epidemiological observational studies, there may be many confounding factors leading to the different CRC risk associations in different populations [4]. Expression of the androgen receptor has also been explored for association with CRC risk. In a case-control study including 550 CRC patients and 540 controls, longer cytosine-adenineguanine (CAG) repeats in the AR gene that reduce the transcription rates have been associated with higher CRC risk and lower 5-year median overall survival (HR 1.4; 95% CI, 1.04-1.79) in CRC patients [118]. In contrast, a German population-based study of 1798 CRC patients and 1810 controls reported no association between CAG repeats in AR and CRC prognosis [119]. Lastly, adding to this complexity, some smaller prospective population-based studies failed to detect any association of testosterone with CRC risk [113, 120]. In summary, the role of testosterone in CRC is not yet clear, but some of the compounding factors are age-dependent differential effects of the hormone, tumor stage, and tissue environment factors [4].

20.3.1.3.2 Orchiectomy Diminished the AOM/DSS-Induced Tumor Numbers and Incidence Rates in the Distal Colon

We investigated whether orchiectomy(ORX) in C57BL/6 male mice reduces colorectal tumori-

genesis and whether testosterone administration increases tumorigenesis after orchiectomy in an AOM/DSS mouse model [17]. Experimental protocol for evaluating the effects of E2 on AOM/ DSS-induced colitis (week 2) and associated tumorigenesis (week 13) is presented in Fig. 20.14a [17]. Orchiectomy significantly diminished the AOM/DSS-induced colitis indices, including disease activity index, colon shortening, and histological severity at week 2, and decreased tumor numbers, and incidence rates in the distal part of the colon increased following AOM/DSS administration at week 13; this reduction was reversed by testosterone supplementation (Fig. 20.14b, c). Most of colon tumors develop [63]. Similarly, AOM/DSS-treated male mice presented a higher tumor numbers than AOM/DSS-treated ORX males and females, especially tumors >2 mm in size in the distal colon [17]. Moreover, testosterone administration increased the tumor numbers compared to the AOM/DSS group. In addition, testosterone administration increased the development of submucosal invasive adenocarcinoma in males and females treated with AOM/DSS (Fig. 20.14b, c) [17]. Furthermore, endogenous and exogenous testosterone levels were identified as reasonable risk factors for developing distal colon submucosal invasive adenocarcinoma, based on multivariate and univariate logistic regression analyses [17]. According to a recent report, the molecular, pathological, and clinical characteristics of colon cancer and survival rates in CRC differ depending on the anatomical location [34]. Furthermore, there is a sex difference in the CRC location. That is, female CRC is more prevalent in the proximal colon, but in males, CRC is mainly located in the distal colon [70]. Furthermore, the depletion of endogenous estrogen by ovariectomy significantly increased tumor numbers and CRC incidence only in the proximal colon after AOM/ DSS treatment compared to females treated with AOM/DSS, and these increments were strongly decreased following administration of exogenous E2 [70]. However, ovariectomy did not affect the occurrence of CRC in the distal colon [70]. These findings suggest a relationship between sex hormones and the anatomical location of CRC. The colon is anatomically divided into proximal (right

side) and distal (left side) part. Proximal colon cancer is frequently mucinous and has higher MSI, with major carcinogenic pathways such as mutant BRAF^{V600E} mutated more often, regardless of the histological type [34]. In contrast, distal colon cancer is more frequently accompanied by chromosomal instability and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) or human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) amplification, often overexpressing epiregulin [34]. These present results strongly support the key role of testosterone in colitis and colon tumorigenesis, especially in the tumorigenesis of the distal part of the colon, as shown in ORX mice and female mice. Furthermore, it was confirmed that the ELISA level (MPO and IL-1 β) and the mRNA expression of the inflammatory mediators (COX-2 and iNOS) were maintained at high levels in the tumors of the testosterone-treated group compared with AOM/DSS groups [70]. Taken together, endogenous and



Fig. 20.14 Orchiectomy and testosterone administration in AOM/DSS-treated orchiectomy (ORX) and female C57BL/6 mice. (a) Scheme to evaluate the role of TP on AOM/DSS-induced colitis (week 2) and CRC (week 13). One week after orchiectomy, animals were enrolled in the AOM/DSS protocol. The mice were injected with AOM on day 0 and provided with DSS in drinking water (2%). TP administration was initiated on the day of surgery, administered twice a week by intramuscular (i.m.) injections. Mice were sacrificed at weeks 2 and 13. (b) Representative histological images after H&E staining at week 13. Adenocarcinoma is indicated by a circle and a bar. Submucosal invasion is indicated by a red arrow. Magnification, 40×. (c) Quantification of adenoma/adenocarcinoma incidence and invasion in each group by microscopic evaluation of colonic tissues at the carcinogenesis stage (at week 13). * p < 0.05 for Con vs. AOM/DSS, # p < 0.05 for AOM/DSS vs. AOM/DSS + TP, † p < 0.05 for male vs. ORX male, ‡ p < 0.05 for male vs. female; § p < 0.05 for ORX male vs. female. The statistical significance of the sum is shown at the top of the graph. *Con* control, *AOM* azoxymethane, *DSS* dextran sulfate sodium, *TP* testosterone propionate, *ORX* orchiectomized, *H&E* hematoxylin-eosin (adapted from Song et al. [17])



Fig. 20.14 (continued)

exogenous testosterone presented a stimulating effect on AOM/DSS-induced colitis and carcinogenicity [17]. However, key pathogenic mechanism has not been clarified why testosterone causes this specific CRC. In-depth mechanistic studies are needed to investigate the severity of colitis and CRC progression based on the anatomical distribution of the colon in ORX male mice.

20.3.2 Gut Microbiome

The gut microbiome is located in close proximity to the colorectal epithelium and there is cross interaction. Human intestinal microbiota is composed of 10^{13} to 10^{14} microorganisms which is about the same order as the number of human cells, and their total mass is about 0.2 kg [121].

Dysbiosis, a state of pathological imbalance in the gut microbiome, contributes to colorectal neoplasm [122]. The development of CRC has been associated with an overall reduction in microbial diversity [123] and specific enrichment of individual bacteria such as *Fusobacterium nucleatum* [124] and loss of potentially protective bacteria such as *Roseburia* [125]. In addition, the metabolic factors of microbiota such as bile acid and butyrate affect colon carcinogenesis [126].

20.3.2.1 The Role Gut Microbiome and Its Metabolite in the Development of Colorectal Cancer

Several studies in animal models have reported that estrogen signaling can help to maintain microbiome diversity [4] and ovariectomy has led to microbial dysbiosis although this was affected by strain and diet [127]. Furthermore, dietary supplementation with the hormone estradiol has been shown to increase microbial diversity in healthy male mice and to impact the ratio of bacteria in the microbiome of a CRC-induced mouse model [128]. The potential protective effect of estrogen was examined in a recent study using the AOM/ DSS mouse model of intestinal specific ER^β deletion in the colitis-induced CRC model, suggesting that ER β expression influenced gut microbiome diversity and attenuated these diseases [129]. Similarly, another study showed a reduction in gut microbiota diversity with the development of CRC, which was exacerbated in the absence of $\text{ER}\beta$ [130]. We also observed a significant increase in the microbial diversity (Chao1 index) in females, males supplemented with E2, and males treated with AOM/DSS/E2 compared with normal males [128]. In AOM/DSS-treated male mice, E2 supplementation showed significantly lower level of the Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes (F/B) ratio [128]. In addition, the ratio of commensal bacteria to opportunistic pathogens was higher in females and E2-treated males compared to normal males and females subjected to ovarectomy [128]. Our findings suggested that estrogen alters the gut microbiota in ICR (CrljOri:CD1) mice, particularly AOM/DSS-treated males, by decreasing the F/B ratio and changing Shannon and Simpson index [128]. This highlights a possibility that estrogen could cause changes in the gut microbiota, thereby reducing the risk of developing CRC [128].

20.3.2.2 Gut Microbiome Metabolite and Colorectal Cancer

Metabolic property of gut bacterial population has been investigated in relation to tumorigenesis. The well-known factor is short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), nitroso compunds (NOCs), heme, and secondary bile acids [126] (Fig. 20.15).

20.3.2.2.1 Butyrate

The SCFAs, namely acetate, butyrate, and propionate, are quantitatively and metabolically the most important microbial end-products of the human colon fermentation process [131, 132]. Among them, butyrate produced by fermentation of dietary fiber is considered to be the main reason for the health benefit from the indigestible carbohydrate [133]. Butyrate is the preferred energy source for the colonic mucosa, and it suppresses the growth of tumor cells. The most investigated mechanism is that butyrate inhibits histone deacetylases (HDAC) and thus results in inactivation of many oncogenic signaling pathways [134]. The metabolic rearrangement in cancerous colonocytes is an appropriate means for providing biomaterials as well as energy that are essential for growth (Warburg effect). The effect of butyrate has been reported to differ according to dosage. Lower doses of butyrate have a differential effect on cell proliferation depending on the Warburg effect, while higher doses of butyrate was shown to inhibit proliferation regardless of the Warburg effect [135]. Butyrate is metabolized to acetyl-CoA; the dose of butyrate determines the utilization of epigenetic mechanisms [135]. A high dose of butyrate (5 mM) is a potent HDAC inhibitor, while at low doses such as 0.5 mM, butyrate might induce histone acetylation by an alternative mechanism that is distinct from its role as an HDAC inhibitor [135]. Butyrate induces cell differentiation, promotes cell apoptosis, and reduces tumor cell invasiveness [136]. Human study revealed that high red meat consumption increased the levels of pro-oncogenic microRNA including miR17-92 cluster in rectal biopsies, and increased butyrate supply through consumption of a butyrylatedresistant starch restored the miR17-92 miRNAs to



baseline levels [137]. Butyrate insufficiency may contribute to the development of inflammatory conditions because the acid has been shown to induce the differentiation of colonic T regulatory lymphocytes, which suppress inflammatory and allergic responses [138, 139]. Actually, butyrate was shown to suppress development of colon carcinogenesis in ApcMin/+ mice due to its Gpr109a agonist property through T regulatory cell differentiation [140].

Bifidobacteria are Gram-positive, anaerobic, saccharolytic bacteria belonging to the phylum Actinobacteria. Most butyrate producers in the human colon belong to the Firmicutes phylum and in particular Clostridium clusters IV and XIVa [131]. Clostridium clusters IV and XIVa butyrate producers are Gram-positive, highly oxygen-sensitive, anaerobic, and saccharolytic bacteria. The two dominant bacterial species are Faecalibacterium prausnitzii (up to 14% of the total fecal microbiota, *Clostridium* cluster IV) and Eubacterium rectale (up to 13% of the total fecal microbiota, *Clostridium* cluster XIVa) [131, 141]. Pyrosequencing study revealed the difference in fecal microbial population patterns between CRC and healthy subjects [142]. Phylotypes closely related to Bacteroides were prevalent in the cancer patients, while the butyrate-producing Faecalibacterium and *Roseburia* were significantly less abundant [142]. Potentially pathogenic Fusobacterium and *Campylobacter* species were more abundant in CRC patients than in the controls [142]. A crosssectional study measured the fecal samples from African Americans with a high risk of colon cancer and rural native Africans with a low risk for the disease [143]. Native Africans had significantly higher abundance in the butyrate-producing bacteria such as F prausnitzii, Clostridium clusters IV and XIVa, while Bacteroides was the dominant microbial composition of African Americans [143]. However, there is no research regarding the sex difference of microbiota in the patients with CRC, so far. Instead there was a age difference in this butyrate-producing gut microbiota. That is, when gut microbiota in cecal contents of 6-, 31-, and 74-week-old and 2-year-old male Fischer-344 rats (corresponding to 5, 30, 60, and 80-year-old humans in terms of age) were analyzed using 16S ribosomal RNA metagenome sequencing major bacterial taxa changed in 31-week-old rats [144]. Especially, Lachnospiraceae, a SCFAs-producing family, increased at this age and unknown species EU622775_s and EU622773_s showed strong relationship with cecal butyrate level at 31 weeks of age, suggesting that butyrate production is different during lifespan with a peak in the middle age in rat [144]. Although SCFAs including butyrate have been generally shown to be beneficial, several challenging reports also exist. Several key studies on the relationship between butyrate, microbiota, and colon cancer are summarized in Table 20.1 [126, 138, 139, 141, 145–

151]. Higher fecal SCFA concentration correlated positively with metabolic syndrome risk factors such as adiposity, waist circumference, and homeostatic model assessment index, and inversely with high-density lipoprotein (HDL) [152]. In addition, significantly high concentrations of butyrate and propionate in obese children compared with normal-weight children were also reported [145]. Recently, direct instillation of sodium butyrate to represent the concentration of the SCFA in the distal part of the colon resulted in aberrant proliferation and transformation of colon epithelial cells in APC^{Min/+}MutS Homolog 2(MSH2)^{-/-} mice [148]. This discrepancy regarding the effect of butyrate on colon neoplasm could partly be attributed to the fiber itself that could play as a confounder [149]. Many studies testing the effect of butyrate on colon cancer development used dietary fiber as their source for butyrate production. However, the fiber may have independent effects from that of butyrate [149]. Dietary fiber can dilute possible carcinogens by increasing fecal bulk [150]. It also shortens time

for proteolytic fermentation which may result in tumorigenic metabolites. Fiber could also bind carcinogens such as secondary bile acids [150]. Furthermore, many fibers contain healthpromoting substances such as phytate and phytosterols [149]. In addition, the difference between in vitro vs. in vivo vs. human study can be another important factor explaining the discrepancy in the results [149]. Recently, a probiotic clinical trial proposed a "rebalancing" of butyrate concentration by administrating L. para*casei* DG [151]. Interestingly, they found that the effect of the probiotic on the microbiota and SCFAs was associated with initial fecal butyrate concentration [151]. Specifically, objects with initial butyrate higher than 100 mmol/kg of wet feces showed reduction in butyrate and decrease in Colostridales genera. In contrast, for those with initial butyrate lower than 25 mmol/kg, the probiotic treatment increased butyrate concentration and decreased Ruminococcus. Based on the result, they suggested that fecal butyrate concentration may represent a biomarker to classify the

Author (year)	Study subject	Protocol	Effect of butyrate on colon
Whitehead et al. (1986) [145]	Cell line LIM1215	In vitro	Differentiating effect
Freeman (1986) [146]	Wistar rats	In vivo DMH	Enhancing the development of colonic neoplasia
Deschner et al. (1990) [147]	CF1 Mice	In vivo AOM	No difference in dysplasia or tumor
Archer et al. (1998) [148]	Cell line HT-29	In vitro	Growth inhibition
O'Keefe et al. (2009) [149]	Human	Cross-sectional	Higher fecal butyrate in Native Africans
Donohoe et al. (2011) [150]	C57BL/6 mice	Ex vivo CV vs. GF	Stimulating colon epithelial cell proliferation
Furusawa et al. (2013) [139]	Mice ^a	In vitro, in vivo	Inducing differentiation of colon Tregs
Belcheva et al. (2014) [151]	APCMin/+MSH2-/- mice ^b	In vivo	Inducing aberrant proliferation and transformation
Singh et al. (2014) [141]	Niacr1-/- mice ^c	In vivo, ex vivo AOM + DSS	Suppressing colon inflammation and carcinogenesis
Humphreys et al. (2014) [138]	Human	Randomized trial	Restoring oncogenic miRNA to baseline

Table 20.1 Key studies on butyrate and microbiota regarding colon cancer (adapted from Yoon and Kim [126])

DMH 1,2-dimethylhydrazine, AOM azoxymethane, CV conventional, GF germ-fre, Tregs regulatory T cells, DSS dextran sulfate sodium, miRNA microRNA

^aGF IQI, C57BL/6 mice, Myd88–/–Ticam1–/– mice, OT-II transgenic mice

^bC57BL/6J background

°C57BL/6 background

subjects who might benefit from the probiotic treatment [151].

20.3.2.2.2 Nitroso Compounds

N-nitroso compounds (NOCs) are known to exert highly carcinogenic effects following the formation of potent DNA alkylating agents during metabolism. The apparent total N-nitroso compound (ATNC) in food is generally nondetectable; the measurable fecal concentration of ATNC is suggested to be produced endogenously by N-nitrosation [153, 154]. Although most dietary nitrate and nitrite are absorbed in upper GI tract and excreted in the urine, people consuming a large amount of red meat can have nitrosating agents through colon [155].

Nitrate present in food and water is reduced by gut bacterial nitrate reductase to nitrite. Then nitrite reacts with nitrogenous compounds to produce NOC [154, 156]. Laboratory studies have shown that the bacterial strains belonging to Escherichia, Pseudomonas, Proteus, Klebsiella, and Neissera genera nitrosate the nitrogenous precursors [154, 155]. And the nitrate and nitrite reductase genes regulate the N-nitrosation activity [154]. Most of these microbiota belong to facultative anaerobes that can also use nitrate or nitrite for respiratory denitrification by reducing nitrate to nitrite, NO, N₂O, and N₂ [153]. ATNC investigated in germ-free and conventional microflora rats supports this concept, showing the ATNC in the stomach and large intestine of the conventional animals was formed by microbial action [157]. However, there is no research regarding the sex difference of NOCs in the patients with CRC, so far.

20.3.2.2.3 Heme

Heme iron is more abundant in red meat than white meat and fish, and they mediate transportation of nitrosating agents [155]. Dietary heme was also reported to alter the microflora by decreasing the number of gram-positive bacteria, leading to expansion of Gram-negative community [158, 159]. An animal study reported that mice fed with a diet supplemented with heme showed a damaged gut epithelium and hyperproliferation [160]. The damage and hyperproliferation was not observed in mice that received heme and antibiotics together, implying the role of microbiota in heme-induced epithelial hyperplasia [160]. In the study, antibiotics were shown to block hemeinduced differential expression of oncogenes, tumor suppressors, and cell turnover genes, implying that antibiotic treatment prevented the heme-dependent cytotoxicity to the epithelium. The protective effect of antibiotics was attributed to elimination of sulfide-producing bacteria and mucin-degrading bacteria such as Akkermansia, because sulfide reduces disulfide bond to cause mucin denaturation [160]. A recent study also reported that dietary heme induces gut dysbiosis such as a decrease in α -diversity, a reduction of Firmicutes, and an increase of Proteobacteria, particularly Enterobacteriaceae [161]. The change was similar to DSS-induced colitis model. A reduction in fecal butyrate levels was also found in mice fed with the heme-supplemented diet, compared to the control mice [161]. Mice with heme-supplemented diet also showed a higher number of large adenomatous polyps than those with control diet [161]. However, there is no research regarding the sex difference of heme in the patients with CRC, so far.

20.3.2.2.4 Secondary Bile Acids

As bile acids are involved in the absorption of dietary fat in the intestine [162], high-fat diets induce an increase in bile secretion. Secondary bile acids are the metabolites produced by intestinal bacteria from primary bile acids (cholic and chenodeoxycholic acids). Large bowel anaerobic bacteria deconjugates and dehydroxylates, cleaving glycine and taurine residues to form the secondary bile acids such as deoxycholic acid and lithocholic acid [132, 154]. Metagenomic analysis showed that the microbial bile salt hydrolase activity is identified in all major bacterial divisions in the gut [163]. Bile salt hydrolase confers bile tolerance and hence improvement in survival of bacteria in murine intestine [163]. However, to the host, continuous exposure to the certain hydrophobic bile acids may induce oxidative DNA damage that might lead to tumorigenesis [162]. In serum and bile of patients with colonic adenomas, more deoxycholic acid was detected

than in healthy controls [164]. Secondary bile acids are toxic to several cell systems at physiological concentrations [164]. Direct installation of secondary bile acids in the large bowel can be tumor promoting. Infusion of deoxycholic acid led to damage of the mucosa, provoking increased cell proliferation [165]. Deoxycholic acid has been reported to cause resistance to apoptosis, as suggested from tissue specimens [166] and cellline studies [167]. However, there is no research regarding the sex difference of secondary bile acids in the patients with CRC, so far.

20.3.3 Life Styles Including Diet, Physical Activity, Alcohol, and Smoking

Multiple lifestyle factors combine with biological sex differences to contribute to disparities between the sexes in many diseases including cancer [168]. Diet, exercise, and other lifestyle factors have been associated with CRC risk [169]. Recently, it has been observed that lifestyle factors such as diet and smoking could be linked with specific molecular CRC subtypes [170]. However, the impact of lifestyle factors on CRC risk seems to differ between men and women, implying an underlying biological contribution. That is, the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition study (EPIC) has reported that a high inflammatory profile (proinflammatory diet + sedentarism + obesity) showed a strong association with higher risk for CRC in men (HR 2.11; 95% CI, 1.50-2.97) and no significant association in women [171].

20.3.3.1 Diet, Physical Activity Levels, Obesity, Metabolic Syndrome, and Colorectal Cancer

20.3.3.1.1 Diet and CRC

Women have generally healthier dietary habits than men, with higher fiber and lower meat consumption, and less alcohol intake [4]. Interestingly studies have reported that dietary factors are associated differently with CRC depending on the location of tumors [5]. High carbohydrate intake increased right-sided colon cancer in

women, but increased rectal cancer in men [172]. High fat and protein intakes increased risks of right- and left-sided colon cancers, respectively [173, 174]. Recent evidence from a large Canadian population-based case-control study suggested that high intake of polyunsaturated fat, trans-fat, cholesterol, sucrose, and lactose was associated with the increased risk of right-sided colon cancer [175]. In addition, meat consumption increased the risk of left-sided colon cancer compared to right-sided colon cancer [176–178], whereas total iron and iron from supplements were inversely associated with distal colon cancer [178]. Also, high calcium intake [179–181] and serum/plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D level [182] were inversely associated with distal colon cancer. Consumption of soy products containing phytoestrogens has been shown to be inversely associated with the risk of CRC [183-186]. A recent meta-analysis found that soy consumption was associated with an approximately 21% reduction in CRC risk only in women, presumably due to the structural and metabolic similarities of soy isoflavones to estrogen [183]. This result supports a previous report suggesting soy consumption differentially affects estrogen metabolism depending on the endogenous estrogen level [187]. Indeed, an experimental study reported that high phytoestrogens intake increases ER α expression, decreases apoptosis, and induces inflammation markers in colonic mucosa of female mice possibly due to the high estrogenic background [188]. Thus, large population-based cohort studies need to report sex-specific estimates of dietary risk factors to provide better guidelines for cancer-preventive dietary intake.

20.3.3.1.2 Physical Activity Levels, Obesity, Metabolic Syndrome, and Colorectal Cancer

In spite of the wide variation in physical assessment methodology among studies, including type of activity (leisure-time or occupational) and method of assessment, prospective and retrospective studies support an inverse association between physical activity and risk of colon, but not rectal cancer [189]. In a prospective study of female nurses who were in the upper quintile of activity, it was found that they were at almost half the risk of developing colon cancer compared to nonactive women (relative risk [RR] 0.54; 95% CI, 0.33–0.90) [190]. This finding was supported by the Health Professionals Follow-up Study, a large prospective study of men [191]. Several biological mechanisms have been proposed for the inverse association between physical activity and colon cancer. First, a higher level of leisure-time activity was inversely related to the concentration of prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) in the rectal mucosa, suggesting a potential mechanism acting through PGE2 synthesis [192]. Prospective follow-up analyses of these data also show higher physical activity levels at baseline to be associated with lower PGE2 levels from biopsies taken 8-26 months later (p = 0.01). Second, hyperinsulinemia may also be an important mechanism through which physical activity exerts its protective effect [189]. High insulin levels are related to physical inactivity, high body mass, and central deposition of adipose tissue; furthermore, insulin is a mitogen for normal and neoplastic colonic epithelial cells [191]. In addition, recent studies have found diabetes mellitus to be a risk factor [193], and a prospective analysis of insulin's influence found a direct association with colon cancer risk [194]. However, this hyperinsulinemia partially explains the adiposity associated with CRC progression in postmenopausal women [195]. In addition, there was a report that the association between BMI and colon cancer in women is modified by menopausal status: a positive association was shown for pre-menopausal women but not among post-menopausal women [196]. Furthermore, higher BMI and lower physical activity levels have been positively associated with higher levels of circulating estrogens in postmenopausal women [197] suggesting that adipose tissue becomes an important source of estrogens in postmenopausal women and obese men. Taken together, the effect of obesity on colorectal neoplasia in pre-menopausal women acts via the insulin/insulin growth factor pathway while in post-menopausal women, higher levels of estrogens in obese women act in opposite directions to cancel out the effect of each other (i.e., BMI increases risk and estrogens lower risk) [189].

Regarding obesity and metabolic syndrome (MetS), we found the incidence of CRC with a sex difference. That is, when 408,931 Korean adults without cancer at baseline were followed up until 2013 (mean follow-up, 9 year), 5108 new cases of CRC occurred. Being underweight (18.5 kg/m²) reduced the risk for CRC among women (adjusted HR 0.646; 95% CI, 0.484-0.863), whereas high BMI significantly increased the risk in men and in the elderly [198]. Obesity $(\geq 25 \text{ kg/m}^2)$, diabetes mellitus, and hypertension were identified as risk factors for CRC in men but not for women. Although metabolically unhealthy nonobese men had a higher risk for CRC than metabolically healthy nonobese men (adjusted HR 1.114; 95% CI, 1.004–1.236), the risk was lower than that in the obese men [198]. MetS and its components have been thought to be involved in the development of CRC and interestingly the effect was different depending on the gender and location of CRC. That is, when we evaluated the data of 22,809,722 Korean individuals of the National semi-compulsive cohort who underwent regular health check-ups between 2009 and 2012, the hazard ratio for CRC development in patients with MetS was 1.22 (95% CI, 1.20-1.24) and this association was more prominent in men than in women (HR 1.41; 95% CI, 1.37-1.44 vs. HR 1.23; 95% CI, 1.20–1.27, p for interaction <0.001) [199]. Left-sided colon cancers were more associated with MetS among men compared to women (HR 1.70; 95% CI, 1.61-1.80 vs. HR 1.43; 95% CI, 1.33–1.54), while right colon cancers showed a stronger association with MetS among women than men (HR 1.63; 95% CI, 1.49–1.78 vs. HR 1.34; 95% CI, 1.24–1.44) (all p for interaction <0.001, respectively) [199]. Having two MetS components was still associated with CRC development, and the association was the highest when two of glucose intolerance, abdominal obesity and low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), combined [199].

20.3.3.2 Alcohol

Alcohol consumption is one of the most important known risk factors for human cancers [200]; and there is convincing evidence that alcohol consumption increases the risk of cancer in the colorectum, female breast, larynx, liver, esophagus, oral cavity, and pharynx [201]. Ethanol from alcoholic beverages is metabolized to acetaldehyde, which was classified as a human carcinogen by the IARC [202]. Ethanol itself can cause local irritation of the upper GI tract [203] and could stimulate carcinogenesis by inhibiting DNA methylation [204]. As sociological and cultural aspects of alcohol drinking vary by sex and that the toxic threshold of ethanol may differ by sex, it is important to provide specific summaries for women and men [204]. For instance, the risk of CRC by alcohol was 1.42 times higher in a Japanese cohort study [205]. When our team performed this study regarding the association between alcohol intake and CRC risk in a population-based prospective cohort of 23,323,730 adults who had undergone a biennial evaluation provided by the National Health Insurance Corporation between the years 2009 and 2012, 154,970 CRC cases were identified after median 5.4 years of follow-up [204]. Light drinking as well as moderate to heavy alcohol consumption significantly increased the risks of the CRC (HR 1.12; 95% CI, 1.11–1.14) compared with non-drinkers after adjusting for age, sex, smoking, exercise, income, BMI, and diabetes [204]. Light drinking including even one alcoholic drink a day (even less than 10 g per day) was associated with increased risks of CRC. It might be related with the variant allele of ALDH2, which breaks down acetaldehyde to acetate in the metabolism of alcohol, in Asians is much higher (28-45%) than in other ethnic groups [206]. However, the risks of the CRC increased with the amount of alcohol consumption but there was no significant increase in women. This finding was similar in the community-based study which was observed 6291 residents (aged 55 and older) of Ganghwa-do for 20.8 years from 1985 to 2005 in Korea [207]. In this study, the risk of CRC was 1.87 times higher in heavy drinkers than in non-drinkers [207]. In addition, the mortality associated with soju (Korean traditional alcohol with higher amount of ethanol) was significantly higher than that associated with makgeolli (Korean traditional alcohol with lower amount of ethanol) among men, but this difference was not significant among women [207]. Again the reason for this finding may be that the amount of consumption was larger and the duration of consumption was longer in men.

20.3.3.3 Smoking

A higher risk of adenomatous polyps has been consistently observed among smokers with relative risks ranging from 1.4 to 3.6 [189, 208], and an induction period of 30-40 years between smoking and risk of CRC has been proposed based on results from two large cohort studies [209, 210]. However, there are controversial results regarding smoking and CRC. That is, most of studies have reported positive associations between cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer [189], but several studies did not support an association [211, 212]. In addition, non-supportive studies were conducted in Sweden [210, 213, 214], which suggests some factor, possibly genetic, in Swedes may counter the impact of smoking [189]. The overall evidence supports the hypothesis that tobacco smoke is an initiator of colorectal carcinogenesis and the requirement for a very long induction period, possibly up to four decades, which suggests that studies assessing the role of tobacco exposure and CRC need to take into account this long induction period in their analyses [189]. In the latest and largest published study to date, based on data from the Cancer Prevention Study II (CPS II), 312,332 men and 469,019 women were followed prospectively from 1982 to 1996. The relative risk for CRC mortality was 1.32 (95% CI, 1.16-1.49) for women and 1.41 (95% CI, 1.26-1.58) for men who reported being current smokers [187, 215]. Of interest, cigar or pipe smokers who smoked for 20 years or more were also at increased risk of dying from CRC (OR 1.34; 95% CI, 1.11–1.62). A follow-up review continues to support the adverse effect of tobacco on the risk of CRC [216]. However, there is no data regarding the sex/ gender difference of smoking effect on the CRC.

20.4 Colorectal Cancer Screening and Bowel Preparation

Socio-cultural barriers within women sometimes delay screening and diagnosis of CRC. In addition,

the length of colon is known to be longer in females than in males and the morphology of colon cancer is different between males and females. Bowel preparation for colonoscopy should be well performed in the left-sided colon cancer, especially sessile and lateral spreading tumor (Fig. 19.8a, b).

20.4.1 Colorectal Cancer Screening

Gender differences in CRC screening have been noted with women tending to consider CRC as a male disease and taking time to choose women gastroenterologists [217], whereas men tend to undergo colonoscopy right away more than women [218]. Non-invasive fecal occult-blood tests and colonoscopies are the gold standard for CRC screening as they facilitate early detection of asymptomatic CRC and the removal of adenomas [219]. Five-year survival rates for early stage CRC are close to 90%, whereas survival rates drop to 15% at advanced stage CRC. Population screening strategies established by developed countries have had a major survival benefit by detecting a higher proportion of localized, early stage malignancies [4]. In many developed countries, a population screening program has been established to screen the high risk population. However, the stating age is different in each country. That is, Irish program screens every man and woman aged 60-69 years old for a home fecal immunochemical test (FIT) every 2 years [220]. In Germany, screening starts with fecal occult blood test (FOBT) and colonoscopy starts at 55 years old which contributed to the early detection of CRC and longer survival rate. In Korea FOBT and colonoscopy starts at 50 years in the average risk population. As capacity grows, many countries are expanding their programs to make screening available for all the population from 55 to 79 years old. Younger adults with increased risk for CRC due to family history or a genetic condition are eligible for regular colonoscopies.

20.4.2 Bowel Preparation

CRC developed from right-sided or left-sided colon shows differences in incidence according

to geographic region, age, and sex [35, 221]. It is known that patients with left-sided colon cancer are older and having more women than those with right-sided cancer. In addition, there is a difference in cancer morphology. That is, rightcolon tumors are more often flat (Figs. 20.7a and 20.7b) while left-sided colon tumors have a polypoid-type (Figs. 20.7c and 20.7d) which can be more easily detected by colonoscopy [39]. Tumor location and prognosis of CRC are also different between men and women. However, studies that consider sex/gender-specific design and interpretation of CRC are insufficient. Colonoscopy is important for screening and diagnosis of CRC [222]. As inadequate bowel preparation affects the effectiveness and accuracy of colonoscopy examination bowel, preparation and colonoscopy quality management are important [222]. Several studies have reported that age, sex/gender, physical activity, and disease are associated with bowel preparation [223]. The length of colon is known to be longer in females than in males [224]. There have been some reports regarding sex difference in colonoscopy quality. They showed that male sex (OR 0.85) was associated with inadequate bowel preparation [225] and that men gender was a predictor of inadequate cleansing at right colon and left colon (p = 0.040 and p = 0.014, respectively) [226]. In terms of cecal intubation time that men were associated with prolonged cecal intubation time $(913.86 \pm 453.28 \text{ s in males vs.})$ 910.44 ± 513.33 s in females, p = 0.443 [227]. In contrast, males showed a higher success rate of cecal intubation within 20 min than females (83.9% in males vs. 77.6% in females, p = 0.004)[228]. Our team also performed a research in the study group comprising a total of 12,561 patients (6148 females and 6413 males) under the hypothesis that there are sex differences in colonoscopy preparation quality, cecal intubation time, and withdrawal time (from point of cecal intubation to final withdrawal) [222]. Females showed better bowel preparation than males (mean total score of Boston bowel preparation score (BBPS): 7.4 ± 1.8 vs. 7.2 ± 1.9 , p = 0.001) [222]. There was no significant difference in cecal intubation rate between males and females (95.2% in males vs. 95.4% in females, p = 0.512) but cecal intubation time was significantly longer in females
(male, 6.2 ± 6.1 min vs. female, 8.3 ± 6.4 min; p < 0.001 [222]. In contrast, withdrawal time was significantly longer in males $(7.9 \pm 3.5 \text{ min})$ in males vs. 7.4 ± 3.1 min in females, p < 0.001), which was caused by the higher rate of colonoscopy biopsy in males (p < 0.001) and higher polyp detection rate in males (32.1% vs. 20.8%; p < 0.001 [222]. In addition, the number of cases with 3 or more polyps was higher in males (p < 0.001) and diverticulum was also more frequently detected in males (9.5% vs. 6.1%; p < 0.001 [222]. Our results suggest that different indication of colonoscopy and colonoscopy follow-up interval might be needed based on sex difference of bowel preparation method and colonoscopy withdrawal time.

20.5 Conclusions

Clinical and preclinical studies have indicated that there are sex/gender-associated differences in CRC development. Women have a higher risk of developing right-sided (proximal) colon cancer than men, which is associated with more aggressive form of neoplasia compared to leftsided (distal) colon cancer. Both genetic and environmental factors play roles in sex/gender differences in right- vs left-sided colon cancers. Therefore, biological and pathophysiological differences in CRC development between men and women need to be clearly addressed. Sex hormones contribute to CRC risk, but this is modulated by lifestyle and environmental factors. For instance, AOM/DSS-induced colon cancer mouse model showed that the CRC incidence was definitely higher in male than female mouse and the treatment of 17β-estradiol during the DSS inflammation period prevented the development of CRC [15]. Endogenous estrogen in females protects against the development of left-sided colon cancer, and exogenous E2 replacement in ovariectomy female mice showed protective effects against AOM/DSS-induced colitis and carcinogenesis. In addition, endogenous and exogenous testosterone presented a stimulating effect on AOM/DSS-induced colitis and carcinogenicity. In addition to the sex hormones diet, exercise and other lifestyle factors have been associated with CRC risk. In addition, it has been observed that lifestyle factors such as diet and smoking could be linked with specific molecular CRC subtypes. However, the impact of lifestyle factors on CRC risk seems to differ between men and women implying an underlying biological contribution. Socio-cultural barriers within women sometimes delay screening and diagnosis of CRC. Bowel preparation for colonoscopy should be well performed in the left-sided colon cancer, especially sessile and lateral spreading tumor. Given the biological and socio-cultural differences between genders, gender-specific analyses should be conducted to provide optimal cancer prevention strategies and to reduce the number of new CRC cases both in men and women.

References

- Haziman AA, Ravinderan S, Thangavelu T, Thomas T. A novel role for estrogen-induced signaling in the colorectal cancer gender bias. Ir J Med Sci. 2019;188:389–95.
- Arnold M, Sierra MS, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F. Global patterns and trends in colorectal cancer incidence and mortality. Gut. 2017;66:683–91.
- Hong S, Won YJ, Park YR, Jung KW, Kong HJ, Lee ES, et al. Cancer statistics in Korea: incidence, mortality, survival, and prevalence in 2017. Cancer Res Treat. 2020;52:335–50.
- Abancens M, Bustos V, Harvey H, McBryan J, Harvey BJ. Sexual dimorphism in colon cancer. Front Oncol. 2020;10:607909.
- Kim SE, Paik HY, Yoon H, Lee JE, Kim N, Sung MK. Sex- and gender-specific disparities in colorectal cancer risk. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21:5167–75.
- Ferlay JSI, Ervik M, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, et al. GLOBOCAN 2012 v1.0, Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: IARC CancerBase No. 11[Internet]. Lyon: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2013.
- Pal SK, Hurria A. Impact of age, sex, and comorbidity on cancer therapy and disease progression. J Clin Oncol. 2010;28:4086–93.
- Ahlquist T, Lind GE, Costa VL, Meling GI, Vatn M, Hoff GS, et al. Gene methylation profiles of normal mucosa, and benign and malignant colorectal tumors identify early onset markers. Mol Cancer. 2008;7:94.
- 9. International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). The Global Cancer Observatory 2019. https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/ cancers/10_8_9-Colorectum-fact-sheet.pdf. Accessed 22 October 2020.

- Ci5plus, International Agency for Research on Cancer. Cancer incidents in five continents time trends. https://ci5.iarc.fr/CI5plus/Pages/online.aspx. Accessed 22 July 2021.
- Brenner H, Hoffmeister M, Arndt V, Haug U. Gender differences in colorectal cancer: implications for age at initiation of screening. Br J Cancer. 2007;96:828–31.
- 12. National Cancer Institute: Surveillance E, and Results: SEER stat fact sheetsall sites. https://seer.cancer.gov/explorer/ application.html?site = 20 & data_ type=1&graph_type=1&compareBy=sex&chk_ $sex_3 = 3 \& chk_sex_2 = 2 \& race = 1 \& age_$ range=1&hdn_stage=101&rate_type=2&advopt_ precision=1&advopt_display=2. Accessed 22 October 2020.
- Korea Central Cancer Registry, National Cancer Center. Annual report of cancer statistics in Korea in 2017, Ministry of Health and Welfare, 2019.
- O'Mahony F, Thomas W, Harvey BJ. Novel female sex-dependent actions of oestrogen in the intestine. J Physiol. 2009;587:5039–44.
- 15. Son HJ, Sohn SH, Kim N, Lee HN, Lee SM, Nam RH, et al. Effect of estradiol in an azoxymethane/dextran sulfate sodium-treated mouse model of colorectal cancer: Implication for sex difference in colorectal cancer development. Cancer Res Treat. 2019;51:632–48.
- Rennert G, Rennert HS, Pinchev M, Lavie O, Gruber SB. Use of hormone replacement therapy and the risk of colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2019;27:4542–7.
- Song JH, Kim N, Nam RH, Choi SI, Yu JE, Nho H, et al. Testosterone strongly enhances azoxymethane/ dextran sulfate sodium-induced colorectal cancer development in C57BL/6 mice. Am J Cancer Res. 2021;11:3145–62.
- Schmuck R, Gerken M, Teegen EM, Krebs I, Klinkhammer-Schalke M, Aigner F, et al. Gender comparison of clinical, histopathological, therapeutic and outcome factors in 185,967 colon cancer patients. Langenbeck's Arch Surg. 2020;405:71–80.
- Yang Y, Wang G, He J, Ren S, Wu F, Zhang J, et al. Gender differences in colorectal cancer survival: a meta-analysis. Int J Cancer. 2017;141:1942–9.
- Sant M, Allemani C, Santaquilani M, Knijn A, Marchesi F, Capocaccia R, et al. EUROCARE-4. Survival of cancer patients diagnosed in 1995-1999. Results and commentary. Eur J Cancer. 2009;45:931–91.
- De Angelis R, Sant M, Coleman MP, Francisci S, Baili P, Pierannunzio D, et al. Cancer survival in Europe 1999-2007 by country and age: results of EUROCARE–5-a population-based study. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15:23–34.
- 22. White A, Ironmonger L, Steele RJC, Ormiston-Smith N, Crawford C, Seims A. A review of sexrelated differences in colorectal cancer incidence, screening uptake, routes to diagnosis, cancer stage and survival in the UK. BMC Cancer. 2018;18:906.
- International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC). Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer

Tomorrow. Estimated number of incident cases from 2018 to 2040, colon, both sexes, all ages 2019. https://gco.iarc.fr/tomorrow/graphicisotype?type=0&type_sex=0&mode=population&sex=0&populations=900&cance rs=8&age_group=value&apc_male=0&apc_female=0&single_unit=100000&print=0. Accessed 28 July 2021.

- 24. Ferlay J, Shin HR, Bray F, Forman D, Mathers C, Parkin DM. Estimates of worldwide burden of cancer in 2008: GLOBOCAN 2008. Int J Cancer. 2010;127:2893–917.
- Koo JH, Jalaludin B, Wong SK, Kneebone A, Connor SJ, Leong RW. Improved survival in young women with colorectal cancer. Am J Gastroenterol. 2008;103:1488–95.
- Majek O, Gondos A, Jansen L, Emrich K, Holleczek B, Katalinic A, et al. Sex differences in colorectal cancer survival: population-based analysis of 164,996 colorectal cancer patients in Germany. PLoS One. 2013;8:e68077.
- Hendifar A, Yang D, Lenz F, Lurje G, Pohl A, Lenz C, et al. Gender disparities in metastatic colorectal cancer survival. Clin Cancer Res. 2009;15:6391–7.
- Lee MS, Menter DG, Kopetz S. Right versus left colon cancer biology: integrating the consensus molecular subtypes. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2017;15:411–9.
- Nakagawa-Senda H, Hori M, Matsuda T, Ito H. Prognostic impact of tumor location in colon cancer: the Monitoring of Cancer Incidence in Japan (MCIJ) project. BMC Cancer. 2019;19:431.
- Petrelli F, Tomasello G, Borgonovo K, Ghidini M, Turati L, Dallera P, et al. Prognostic survival associated with left-sided vs right-sided colon cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Oncol. 2016;4227:2374–445.
- Ward R, Meagher A, Tomlinson I, O'Connor T, Norrie M, Wu R, et al. Microsatellite instability and the clinicopathological features of sporadic colorectal cancer. Gut. 2001;486:821–9.
- Markowitz SD, Bertagnolli MM. Molecular origins of cancer: molecular basis of colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med. 2009;361:2449–60.
- Jacobs ET, Thompson PA, Martínez ME. Diet, gender, and colorectal neoplasia. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2007;41:731–46.
- 34. Missiaglia E, Jacobs B, D'Ario G, Di Narzo AF, Soneson C, Budinska E, et al. Distal and proximal colon cancers differ in terms of molecular, pathological, and clinical features. Ann Oncol. 2014;25:1995–2001.
- 35. Iacopetta B. Are there two sides to colorectal cancer? Int J Cancer. 2002;101:403–8.
- 36. Lynch HT, Watson P, Lanspa SJ, Marcus J, Smyrk T, Fitzgibbons RJ, et al. Natural history of colorectal cancer in hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (Lynch syndromes I and II). Dis Colon Rectum. 1988;31:439–44.
- 37. Shen H, Yang J, Huang Q, Jiang MJ, Tan YN, Fu JF, et al. Different treatment strategies and molecular

features between right-sided and left-sided colon cancers. World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21:6470–8.

- 38. Gasser E, Braunwarth E, Riedmann M, Cardini B, Fadinger N, Presl J, et al. Primary tumour location affects survival after resection of colorectal liver metastases: a two-institutional cohort study with international validation, systematic metaanalysis and a clinical risk score. PLoS One. 2019;14:e0217411.
- 39. Kaku E, Oda Y, Murakami Y, Goto H, Tanaka T, Hasuda K, et al. Proportion of flat- and depressedtype and laterally spreading tumor among advanced colorectal neoplasia. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011;9:503–8.
- 40. Liedtke S, Schmidt ME, Becker S, Kaaks R, Zaineddin AK, Buck K, et al. Physical activity and endogenous sex hormones in postmenopausal women: to what extent are observed associations confounded or modified by BMI? Cancer Causes Control. 2011;22:81–9.
- 41. Lukanova A, Lundin E, Zeleniuch-Jacquotte A, Muti P, Mure A, Rinaldi S, et al. Body mass index, circulating levels of sex-steroid hormones, IGF-I and IGF-binding protein-3: a cross-sectional study in healthy women. Eur J Endocrinol. 2004;150:161–71.
- Carmina E, Stanczyk FZ, Lobo RA. Laboratory assessment. In: Barbieri R, Strauss J, editors. Yen and Jaffe's reproductive endocrinology. 7th ed. Virginia: Elsevier; 2014. p. 822–50.
- 43. Sasso CV, Santiano FE, Campo Verde Arboccó F, Zyla LE, Semino SN, Guerrero-Gimenez ME, et al. Estradiol and progesterone regulate proliferation and apoptosis in colon cancer. Endocr. Connect. 2019;8:217–29.
- 44. Meijer BJ, Wielenga MCB, Hoyer PB, Amos-Landgraf JM, Hakvoort TBM, Muncan V, et al. Colorectal tumor prevention by the progestin medroxyprogesterone acetate is critically dependent on postmenopausal status. Oncotarget. 2018;9:30561–7.
- Nie X, Xie R, Tuo B. Effects of estrogen on the gastrointestinal tract. Dig Dis Sci. 2018;63:583–96.
- Wilkenfeld SR, Lin C, Frigo DE. Communication between genomic and non-genomic signaling events coordinate steroid hormone actions. Steroids. 2018;133:2–7.
- Harvey BJ. Guest editorial: 11th international meeting on rapid responses to steroid hormones RRSH2018. Steroids. 2020;154:108552.
- 48. Son HJ, Kim N, Song CH, Lee SM, Lee HN, Surh YJ. 17β-Estradiol reduces inflammation and modulates antioxidant enzymes in colonic epithelial cells. Korean J Intern Med. 2020;35:310–9.
- 49. Chi X, Yao W, Xia H, Jin Y, Li X, Cai J, et al. Elevation of HO-1 expression mitigates intestinal ischemia-reperfusion injury and restores tight junction function in a rat liver transplantation model. Oxidative Med Cell Longev. 2015;2015:986075.
- Chen CS, Tseng YT, Hsu YY, Lo YC. Nrf2-Keap1 antioxidant defense and cell survival signaling are upregulated by 17beta-estradiol in homo-

cysteine-treated dopaminergic SH-SY5Y cells. Neuroendocrinology. 2013;97:232–41.

- 51. Tao S, Justiniano R, Zhang DD, Wondrak GT. The Nrf2-inducers tanshinone I and dihydrotanshinone protect human skin cells and reconstructed human skin against solar simulated UV. Redox Biol. 2013;1:532–41.
- 52. Lee SM, Kim N, Son HJ, Park JH, Nam RH, Ham MH, et al. The effect of sex on the azoxymethane/ dextran sulfate sodium-treated mice model of colon cancer. J Cancer Prev. 2016;21:271–8.
- Wu J, Williams D, Walter GA, Thompson WE, Sidell N. Estrogen increases Nrf2 activity through activation of the PI3K pathway in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Exp Cell Res. 2014;328:351–60.
- 54. Cho MK, Kim WD, Ki SH, Hwang JI, Choi S, Lee CH, et al. Role of Galpha12 and Galpha13 as novel switches for the activity of Nrf2, a key antioxidative transcription factor. Mol Cell Biol. 2007;27:6195–208.
- 55. Li T, Xiao X, Zhang J, Zhu Y, Hu Y, Zang J, et al. Age and sex differences in vascular responsiveness in healthy and trauma patients: contribution of estrogen receptor-mediated Rho kinase and PKC pathways. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2014;306:H1105–15.
- 56. Wang Y, Zhu L, Kuokkanen S, Pollard JW. Activation of protein synthesis in mouse uterine epithelial cells by estradiol 17beta is mediated by a PKC-ERK1/2-mTOR signaling pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112:E1382–91.
- O'Mahony F, Alzamora R, Chung HL, Thomas W, Harvey BJ. Genomic priming of the antisecretory response to estrogen in rat distal colon throughout the estrous cycle. Mol Endocrinol. 2009;23:1885–99.
- Li W, Khor TO, Xu C, Shen G, Jeong WS, Yu S, et al. Activation of Nrf2-antioxidant signaling attenuates NFkappaB-inflammatory response and elicits apoptosis. Biochem Pharmacol. 2008;76:1485–9.
- Niture SK, Khatri R, Jaiswal AK. Regulation of Nrf2-an update. Free Radic Biol Med. 2014;66:36–44.
- Zhao C, Gillette DD, Li X, Zhang Z, Wen H. Nuclear factor E2-related factor-2 (Nrf2) is required for NLRP3 and AIM2 inflammasome activation. J Biol Chem. 2014;289:17020–9.
- Miao EA, Rajan JV, Aderem A. Caspase-1induced pyroptotic cell death. Immunol Rev. 2011;243:206–14.
- Saleiro D, Murillo G, Benya RV, Bissonnette M, Hart J, Mehta RG. Estrogen receptor-beta protects against colitis-associated neoplasia in mice. Int J Cancer. 2012;131:2553–61.
- 63. Suzuki R, Kohno H, Sugie S, Tanaka T. Sequential observations on the occurrence of preneoplastic and neoplastic lesions in mouse colon treated with azoxymethane and dextran sodium sulfate. Cancer Sci. 2004;95:721–7.
- DiDonato JA, Mercurio F, Karin M. NF-kappaB and the link between inflammation and cancer. Immunol Rev. 2012;246:379–400.

- Kalaitzidis D, Gilmore TD. Transcription factor cross-talk: the estrogen receptor and NF-kappaB. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2005;16:46–52.
- 66. Bratton MR, Antoon JW, Duong BN, Frigo DE, Tilghman S, Collins-Burow BM, et al. Galphao potentiates estrogen receptor alpha activity via the ERK signaling pathway. J Endocrinol. 2012;214:45–54.
- 67. Satoh H, Moriguchi T, Saigusa D, Baird L, Yu L, Rokutan H, et al. NRF2 intensifies host defense systems to prevent lung carcinogenesis, but after tumor initiation accelerates malignant cell growth. Cancer Res. 2016;76:3088–96.
- Fabbi M, Carbotti G, Ferrini S. Context-dependent role of IL-18 in cancer biology and counter-regulation by IL-18BP. J Leukoc Biol. 2015;97:665–75.
- 69. Ki SH, Choi MJ, Lee CH, Kim SG. Galpha12 specifically regulates COX-2 induction by sphingosine 1-phosphate. Role for JNK-dependent ubiquitination and degradation of IkappaBalpha. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:1938–47.
- Song CH, Kim N, Lee SM, Nam RH, Choi SI, Kang SR, et al. Effects of 17β-estradiol on colorectal cancer development after azoxymethane/dextran sulfate sodium treatment of ovariectomized mice. Biochem Pharmacol. 2019;164:139–51.
- Dou M, Zhu K, Fan Z, Zhang Y, Chen X, Zhou X, et al. Reproductive hormones and their receptors may affect lung cancer. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2017;44:1425–34.
- 72. Wang B, Yang J, Li S, Lv M, Chen Z, Li E, et al. Tumor location as a novel high risk parameter for stage II colorectal cancers. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0179910.
- Tak PP, Firestein GS. NF-kappaB: a key role in inflammatory diseases. J Clin Invest. 2001;107:7–11.
- 74. Zhang Z, Rigas B. NF-kappaB, inflammation and pancreatic carcinogenesis: NF-kappaB as a chemoprevention target (review). Int J Oncol. 2006;29:185–92.
- Yamamoto Y, Gaynor RB. Therapeutic potential of inhibition of the NF-kappaB pathway in the treatment of inflammation and cancer. J Clin Invest. 2001;107:135–42.
- Levin ER, Hammes SR. Nuclear receptors outside the nucleus: extranuclear signalling by steroid receptors. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2016;17:783–97.
- 77. Gaudet HM, Cheng SB, Christensen EM, Filardo EJ. The G-protein coupled estrogen receptor, GPER: the inside and inside-out story. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2015;418(Pt 3):207–19.
- Levin ER. Membrane estrogen receptors signal to determine transcription factor function. Steroids. 2018;132:1–4.
- Caiazza F, Ryan EJ, Doherty G, Winter DC, Sheahan K. Estrogen receptors and their implications in colorectal carcinogenesis. Front Oncol. 2015;5:19.
- Maingi JW, Tang S, Liu S, Ngenya W, Bao E. Targeting estrogen receptors in colorectal cancer. Mol Biol Rep. 2020;47:4087–91.

- Principi M, Barone M, Pricciet M, Tullio ND, Losurdo G, Ierardiet E, et al. Ulcerative colitis: from inflammation to cancer. Do estrogen receptors have a role? World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:11496–504.
- Fiorelli G, Picariello L, Martineti V, Tonelli F, Brandi ML. Functional estrogen receptor beta in colon cancer cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;261:521–7.
- Wong NA, Malcomson RD, Jodrell DI, Groome NP, Harrison DJ, Saunders PT. ERbeta isoform expression in colorectal carcinoma: an in vivo and in vitro study of clinicopathological and molecular correlates. J Pathol. 2005;207:53–60.
- Wada-Hiraike O, Imamov O, Hiraike H, Hultenby K, Schwend T, Omoto Y, et al. Role of estrogen receptor beta in colonic epithelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103:2959–64.
- Martineti V, Picariello L, Tognarini I, Carbonell Sala S, Gozzini A, Azzari C, et al. ERbeta is a potent inhibitor of cell proliferation in the HCT8 human colon cancer cell line through regulation of cell cycle components. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2005;12:455–69.
- Qiu Y, Waters CE, Lewis AE, Langman MJ, Eggo MC. Oestrogen-induced apoptosis in colonocytes expressing oestrogen receptor beta. J Endocrinol. 2002;174:369–77.
- 87. Hases L, Indukuri R, Birgersson M, Nguyen-Vu T, Lozano R, Saxena A, et al. Intestinal estrogen receptor beta suppresses colon inflammation and tumorigenesis in both sexes. Cancer Lett. 2020;492:54–62.
- Braniste V, Leveque M, Buisson-Brenac C, Bueno L, Fioramonti J, Houdeau E. Oestradiol decreases colonic permeability through oestrogen receptor betamediated up-regulation of occludin and junctional adhesion molecule-A in epithelial cells. J Physiol. 2009;587(Pt 13):3317–28.
- 89. Song CH, Kim N, Sohn SH, Lee SM, Nam RH, Na HY, et al. Effects of 17β-estradiol on colonic permeability and inflammation in an azoxymethane/dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis mouse model. Gut Liver. 2018;12:682–93.
- 90. Konstantinopoulos PA, Kominea A, Vandoros G, Sykiotis GP, Andricopoulos P, Varakis I, et al. Oestrogen receptor beta (ERbeta) is abundantly expressed in normal colonic mucosa, but declines in colon adenocarcinoma paralleling the tumour's dedifferentiation. Eur J Cancer. 2003;39:1251–8.
- Foley EF, Jazaeri AA, Shupnik MA, Jazaeri O, Rice LW. Selective loss of estrogen receptor beta in malignant human colon. Cancer Res. 2000;60:245–8.
- Rudolph A, Toth C, Hoffmeister M, Roth W, Herpel E, Jansen L, et al. Expression of oestrogen receptor beta and prognosis of colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer. 2012;107:831–9.
- Barzi A, Lenz AM, Labonte MJ, Lenz HJ. Molecular pathways: estrogen pathway in colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19:5842–8.
- Jacenik D, Beswick EJ, Krajewska WM, Prossnitz ER. G protein-coupled estrogen receptor in colon

function, immune regulation and carcinogenesis. World J Gastroenterol. 2019;25:4092–104.

- 95. Jacenik D, Krajewska WM. Significance of G protein-coupled estrogen receptor in the pathophysiology of irritable bowel syndrome, inflammatory bowel diseases and colorectal cancer. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2020;11:390.
- 96. Jacenik D, Zielińska M, Mokrowiecka A, Michlewska S, Małecka-Panas E, Kordek R, et al. G protein-coupled estrogen receptor mediates antiinflammatory action in Crohn's disease. Sci Rep. 2019;9:6749.
- 97. Xu S, Wang X, Zhao J, Yang S, Dong L, Qin B. GPER-mediated, oestrogen dependent visceral hypersensitivity in stressed rats is associated with mast cell tryptase and histamine expression. Fundam Clin Pharmacol. 2020;34:433–43.
- Manjegowda M, Limaye AM. DNA methylation dependent suppression of GPER1 in colorectal cancer. Med Res Arch. 2019;6:4.
- 99. Guérin A, Mody R, Fok B, Lasch KL, Zhou Z, Wu EQ, et al. Risk of developing colorectal cancer and benign colorectal neoplasm in patients with chronic constipation. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2014;40:83–92.
- 100. Jacenik D, Cygankiewicz AI, Mokrowiecka A, Małecka-Panas E, Fichna J, Krajewska WM. Sexand age-related estrogen signaling alteration in inflammatory bowel diseases: modulatory role of estrogen receptors. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20:3175.
- Condliffe SB, Doolan CM, Harvey BJ. 17b-Oestradiol acutely regulates Cl–secretion in rat distal colonic epithelium. J Physiol. 2001;530(Pt 1):47–54.
- 102. Meng R, Qin Q, Xiong Y, Wang Y, Zheng J, Zhao Y, et al. NHERF1, a novel GPER associated protein, increases stability and activation of GPER in ER positive breast cancer. Oncotarget. 2016;7:54983–97.
- Jung J. Role of G protein-coupled estrogen receptor in cancer progression. Toxicol Res. 2019;35:209–14.
- 104. Rhodes DR, Yu J, Shanker K, Deshpande N, Varambally R, Ghosh D, et al. ONCOMINE: a cancer microarray database and integrated data-mining platform. Neoplasia. 2004;6:1–6.
- 105. Skrzypczak M, Goryca K, Rubel T, Paziewska A, Mikula M, Jarosz D, et al. Modeling oncogenic signaling in colon tumors by multidirectional analyses of microarray data directed for maximization of analytical reliability. PLoS One. 2010;5:e13091.
- 106. Slattery ML, Sweeney C, Murtaugh M, Ma KN, Wolff RK, Potter JD, et al. Associations between ERalpha, ERbeta, and AR genotypes and colon and rectal cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2005;14:2936–42.
- Catalano MG, Pfeffer U, Raineri M, Ferro P, Curto A, Capuzzi P, et al. Altered expression of androgenreceptor isoforms in human colon-cancer tissues. Int J Cancer. 2000;86:325–30.
- Roshan MHK, Tambo A, Pace NP. The role of testosterone in colorectal carcinoma: pathomechanisms and open questions. EPMA J. 2016;7:22.

- 109. Gu S, Papadopoulou N, Nasir O, Föller M, Alevizopoulos K, Lang F, et al. Activation of membrane androgen receptors in colon cancer inhibits the prosurvival signals Akt/Bad in vitro and in vivo and blocks migration via vinculin/actin signaling. Mol Med. 2011;17:48–58.
- 110. Amos-Landgraf JM, Heijmans J, Wielenga MC, Dunkin E, Krentz KJ, Clipson L, et al. Sex disparity in colonic adenomagenesis involves promotion by male hormones, not protection by female hormones. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111:16514–9.
- 111. Mori N, Sawada N, Iwasaki M, Yamaji T, Goto A, Shimazu T, et al. Circulating sex hormone levels and colorectal cancer risk in Japanese postmenopausal women: the JPHC nested case-control study. Int J Cancer. 2019;145:1238–44.
- 112. Khaw KT, Dowsett M, Folkerd E, Bingham S, Wareham N, Luben R, et al. Endogenous testosterone and mortality due to all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer in men: European prospective investigation into cancer in Norfolk (EPIC-Norfolk) prospective population study. Circulation. 2007;116:2694–701.
- 113. Hyde Z, Flicker L, McCaul KA, Almeida OP, Hankey GJ, Chubb SA, et al. Associations between testosterone levels and incident prostate, lung, and colorectal cancer. A populationbased study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2012;21:1319–29.
- 114. Xia T, Sun H, Huang H, Bi H, Pu R, Zhang L, et al. Androgen receptor gene methylation related to colorectal cancer risk. Endocr Connect. 2019;8:979–87.
- 115. Alberg AJ, Gordon GB, Hoffman SC, Comstock GW, Helzlsouer KJ. Serum dehydroepiandrosterone and dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate and the subsequent risk of developing colon cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2000;9:517–21.
- 116. Yang W, Giovannucci EL, Hankinson SE, Chan AT, Ma Y, Wu K, et al. Endogenous sex hormones and colorectal cancer survival among men and women. Int J Cancer. 2020;147:920–30.
- 117. Gillessen S, Templeton A, Marra G, Kuo YF, Valtorta E, Shahinian VB. Risk of colorectal cancer in men on long-term androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2010;102:1760–70.
- 118. Huang R, Wang G, Song Y, Wang F, Zhu B, Tang Q, et al. Polymorphic CAG repeat and protein expression of androgen receptor gene in colorectal cancer. Mol Cancer Ther. 2015;14:1066–74.
- 119. Rudolph A, Shi H, Försti A, Hoffmeister M, Sainz J, Jansen L, et al. Repeat polymorphisms in ESR2 and AR and colorectal cancer risk and prognosis: results from a German population-based case-control study. BMC Cancer. 2014;14:817.
- Orsted DD, Nordestgaard BG, Bojesen SE. Plasma testosterone in the general population, cancer prognosis and cancer risk: a prospective cohort study. Ann Oncol. 2014;25:712–8.

- 121. Sender R, Fuchs S, Milo R. Revised estimates for the number of human and bacteria cells in the body. PLoS Biol. 2016;14:e1002533.
- Dulal S, Keku TO. Gut microbiome and colorectal adenomas. Cancer J (Sudbury, Mass). 2014;20:225.
- Brennan CA, Garrett WS. Gut microbiota, inflammation, and colorectal cancer. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2016;70:395–411.
- 124. Castellarin M, Warren RL, Freeman JD, Dreolini L, Krzywinski M, Strauss J, et al. Fusobacterium nucleatum infection is prevalent in human colorectal carcinoma. Genome Res. 2012;22:299–306.
- 125. Geng J, Fan H, Tang X, Zhai H, Zhang Z. Diversified pattern of the human colorectal cancer microbiome. Gut Pathog. 2013;5:2.
- Yoon K, Kim N. The effect of microbiota on colon carcinogenesis. J Cancer Prev. 2018;23:117–25.
- 127. Org E, Mehrabian M, Parks BW, Shipkova P, Liu X, Drake TA, et al. Sex differences and hormonal effects on gut microbiota composition in mice. Gut Microbes. 2016;7:313–22.
- 128. Song CH, Kim N, Nam RH, Choi SI, Lee HN, Surh YJ. 17β-Estradiol supplementation changes gut microbiota diversity in intact and colorectal cancer-induced ICR male mice. Sci Rep. 2020;10:12283.
- 129. Pedram A, Razandi M, Lewis M, Hammes S, Levin ER. Membrane-localized estrogen receptor α is required for normal organ development and function. Dev Cell. 2014;29:482–90.
- 130. Ibrahim A, Hugerth LW, Hases L, Saxena A, Seifert M, Thomas Q, et al. Colitis-induced colorectal cancer and intestinal epithelial estrogen receptor beta impact gut microbiota diversity. Int J Cancer. 2019;144:3086–98.
- 131. Ou J, Carbonero F, Zoetendal EG, DeLany JP, Wang M, Newton K, et al. Diet, microbiota, and microbial metabolites in colon cancer risk in rural Africans and African Americans. Am J Clin Nutr. 2013;98:111–20.
- 132. Brownawell AM, Caers W, Gibson GR, Kendall CW, Lewis KD, Ringel Y, et al. Prebiotics and the health benefits of fiber: current regulatory status, future research, and goals. J Nutr. 2012;142:962–74.
- 133. Rivière A, Selak M, Lantin D, Leroy F, De Vuyst L. Bifidobacteria and butyrate-producing colon bacteria: importance and strategies for their stimulation in the human gut. Front Microbiol. 2016;7:979.
- 134. Encarnação J, Abrantes AM, Pires AS, Botelho MF. Revisit dietary fiber on colorectal cancer: butyrate and its role on prevention and treatment. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2015;34:465–78.
- Chen J, Vitetta L. Inflammation-modulating effect of butyrate in the prevention of colon cancer by dietary fiber. Clin Colorectal Cancer. 2018;17:e541–4.
- 136. Donohoe DR, Collins LB, Wali A, Bigler R, Sun W, Bultman SJ. The Warburg effect dictates the mechanism of butyrate-mediated histone acetylation and cell proliferation. Mol Cell. 2012;48:612–26.

- 137. Wu X, Wu Y, He L, Wu L, Wang X, Liu Z. Effects of the intestinal microbial metabolite butyrate on the development of colorectal cancer. J Cancer. 2018;9:2510–7.
- 138. Humphreys KJ, Conlon MA, Young GP, Topping DL, Hu Y, Winter JM, et al. Dietary manipulation of oncogenic microRNA expression in human rectal mucosa: a randomized trial. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2014;7:786–95.
- 139. Furusawa Y, Obata Y, Fukuda S, Endo TA, Nakato G, Takahashi D, et al. Commensal microbe-derived butyrate induces the differentiation of colonic regulatory T cells. Nature. 2013;504:446–50.
- 140. Conlon MA, Bird AR, Clarke JM, Le Leu RK, Christophersen CT, Lockett TJ, et al. Lowering of large bowel butyrate levels in healthy populations is unlikely to be beneficial. J Nut. 2015;145:1030–1.
- 141. Singh N, Gurav A, Sivaprakasam S, Brady E, Padia R, Shi H, et al. Activation of Gpr109a, receptor for niacin and the commensal metabolite butyrate, suppresses colonic inflammation and carcinogenesis. Immunity. 2014;40:128–39.
- 142. Velasquez-Manoff M. Gut microbiome: the peacekeepers. Nature. 2015;518:S3–11.
- 143. Tomkovich S, Yang Y, Winglee K, Gauthier J, Mühlbauer M, Sun X, et al. Locoregional effects of microbiota in a preclinical model of colon carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. 2017;77:2620–32.
- 144. Choi SI, Son JH, Kim N, Kim YS, Nam RH, Park JH, et al. Changes in cecal microbiota and short-chain fatty acid during lifespan of the rat. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2021;27:134–46.
- 145. Whitehead RH, Young GP, Bhathal PS. Effects of short chain fatty acids on a new human colon carcinoma cell line (LIM1215). Gut. 1986;27:1457–63.
- 146. Freeman HJ. Effects of differing concentrations of sodium butyrate on 1,2-dimethylhydrazineinduced rat intestinal neoplasia. Gastroenterology. 1986;91:596–602.
- 147. Deschner EE, Ruperto JF, Lupton JR, Newmark HL. Dietary butyrate (tributyrin) does not enhance AOM-induced colon tumorigenesis. Cancer Lett. 1990;52:79–82.
- 148. Archer SY, Meng S, Shei A, Hodin RA. p21(WAF1) is required for butyrate-mediated growth inhibition of human colon cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:6791–6.
- 149. O'Keefe SJ, Ou J, Aufreiter S, O'Connor D, Sharma S, Sepulveda J, et al. Products of the colonic microbiota mediate the effects of diet on colon cancer risk. J Nutr. 2009;139:2044–8.
- 150. Donohoe DR, Garge N, Zhang X, Sun W, O'Connell TM, Bunger MK, et al. The microbiome and butyrate regulate energy metabolism and autophagy in the mammalian colon. Cell Metab. 2011;13:517–26.
- 151. Belcheva A, Irrazabal T, Robertson SJ, Streutker C, Maughan H, Rubino S, et al. Gut microbial metabolism drives transformation of Msh2-deficient colon epithelial cells. Cell. 2014;158:288–99.

- 152. Wu N, Yang X, Zhang R, Li J, Xiao X, Hu Y, et al. Dysbiosis signature of fecal microbiota in colorectal cancer patients. Microb Ecol. 2013;66:462–70.
- 153. Zeng H, Lazarova DL, Bordonaro M. Mechanisms linking dietary fiber, gut microbiota and colon cancer prevention. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2014;6:41–51.
- 154. Ferrario C, Taverniti V, Milani C, Fiore W, Laureati M, De Noni I, et al. Modulation of fecal Clostridiales bacteria and butyrate by probiotic intervention with *Lactobacillus paracasei* DG varies among healthy adults. J Nutr. 2014;144:1787–96.
- 155. Kim DH, Jin YH. Intestinal bacterial beta-glucuronidase activity of patients with colon cancer. Arch Pharm Res. 2001;24:564–7.
- 156. Rowland IR. The role of the gastrointestinal microbiota in colorectal cancer. Curr Pharm Des. 2009;15:1524–7.
- 157. Liong MT. Roles of probiotics and prebiotics in colon cancer prevention: postulated mechanisms and in-vivo evidence. Int J Mol Sci. 2008;9:854–63.
- 158. Kulkarni N, Reddy BS. Inhibitory effect of *Bifidobacterium longum* cultures on the azoxymethane-induced aberrant crypt foci formation and fecal bacterial beta-glucuronidase. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 1994;207:278–83.
- 159. Rowland I, Granli T, Bøckman OC, Key PE, Massey RC. Endogenous *N*-nitrosation in man assessed by measurement of apparent total *N*-nitroso compounds in faeces. Carcinogenesis. 1991;12:1395–401.
- Rowland RHIR. Metabolic activities of the gut microflora in relation to cancer. Microb Ecol Health Dis. 2000;12:179–85.
- 161. Kobayashi J. Effect of diet and gut environment on the gastrointestinal formation of N-nitroso compounds: a review. Nitric Oxide. 2018;73:66–73.
- 162. Ijssennagger N, Derrien M, van Doorn GM, Rijnierse A, van den Bogert B, Müller M, et al. Dietary heme alters microbiota and mucosa of mouse colon without functional changes in host-microbe cross-talk. PLoS One. 2012;7:e49868.
- 163. Gamage SMK, Dissabandara L, Lam AK, Gopalan V. The role of heme iron molecules derived from red and processed meat in the pathogenesis of colorectal carcinoma. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2018;126:121–8.
- 164. Ijssennagger N, Belzer C, Hooiveld GJ, Dekker J, van Mil SW, Müller M, et al. Gut microbiota facilitates dietary heme-induced epithelial hyperproliferation by opening the mucus barrier in colon. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112:10038–43.
- 165. Constante M, Fragoso G, Calvé A, Samba-Mondonga M, Santos MM. Dietary heme induces gut dysbiosis, aggravates colitis, and potentiates the development of adenomas in mice. Front Microbiol. 2017;8:1809.
- 166. David LA, Maurice CF, Carmody RN, Gootenberg DB, Button JE, Wolfe BE, et al. Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. Nature. 2013;505:559–63.

- 167. Barrasa JI, Olmo N, Lizarbe MA, Turnay J. Bile acids in the colon, from healthy to cytotoxic molecules. Toxicol In Vitro. 2013;27:964–77.
- 168. Mauvais-Jarvis F, Bairey Merz N, Barnes PJ, Brinton RD, Carrero JJ, DeMeo DL, et al. Sex and gender: modifiers of health, disease, and medicine. Lancet. 2020;396:565–82.
- 169. Conti L, Del Cornò M, Gessani S. Revisiting the impact of lifestyle on colorectal cancer risk in a gender perspective. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2020;145:102834.
- 170. Wan L, He X, Ugai T, Haruki K, Lo C-H, Hang D, et al. Risk factors and incidence of colorectal cancer according to major molecular subtypes. JNCI Cancer Spectr. 2020;5:pkaa089.
- 171. Jakszyn P, Cayssials V, Buckland G, Perez-Cornago A, Weiderpass E, Boeing H, et al. Inflammatory potential of the diet and risk of colorectal cancer in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition study. Int J Cancer. 2020;147:1027–39.
- 172. Borugian MJ, Sheps SB, Whittemore AS, Wu AH, Potter JD, Gallagher RP. Carbohydrates and colorectal cancer risk among Chinese in North America. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2002;11:187–93.
- 173. McMichael AJ, Potter JD. Diet and colon cancer: integration of the descriptive, analytic, and metabolic epidemiology. Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 1985;69:223–8.
- 174. West DW, Slattery ML, Robison LM, Schuman KL, Ford MH, Mahoney AW, et al. Dietary intake and colon cancer: sex- and anatomic site-specific associations. Am J Epidemiol. 1989;130:883–94.
- 175. Hu J, La Vecchia C, Negri E, Mery L. Nutrients and risk of colon cancer. Cancers (Basel). 2010;2:51–67.
- 176. Hjartåker A, Aagnes B, Robsahm TE, Langseth H, Bray F, Larsen IK. Subsite-specific dietary risk factors for colorectal cancer: a review of cohort studies. J Oncol. 2013;2013:703854.
- 177. Larsson SC, Rafter J, Holmberg L, Bergkvist L, Wolk A. Red meat consumption and risk of cancers of the proximal colon, distal colon and rectum: the Swedish Mammography Cohort. Int J Cancer. 2005;113:829–34.
- 178. Ferrucci LM, Sinha R, Huang WY, Berndt SI, Katki HA, Schoen RE, et al. Meat consumption and the risk of incident distal colon and rectal adenoma. Br J Cancer. 2012;106:608–16.
- 179. Stemmermann GN, Nomura A, Chyou PH. The influence of dairy and nondairy calcium on subsite large-bowel cancer risk. Dis Colon Rectum. 1990;33:190–4.
- 180. Wu K, Willett WC, Fuchs CS, Colditz GA, Giovannucci EL. Calcium intake and risk of colon cancer in women and men. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2002;94:437–46.
- 181. Oh K, Willett WC, Wu K, Fuchs CS, Giovannucci EL. Calcium and vitamin D intakes in relation to risk of distal colorectal adenoma in women. Am J Epidemiol. 2007;165:1178–86.

- 182. Touvier M, Chan DS, Lau R, Aune D, Vieira R, Greenwood DC, et al. Meta-analyses of vitamin D intake, 25-hydroxyvitamin D status, vitamin D receptor polymorphisms, and colorectal cancer risk. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2011;20:1003–16.
- 183. Yan L, Spitznagel EL, Bosland MC. Soy consumption and colorectal cancer risk in humans: a meta-analysis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2010;19:148–58.
- 184. Yang G, Shu XO, Li H, Chow WH, Cai H, Zhang X, et al. Prospective cohort study of soy food intake and colorectal cancer risk in women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2009;89:577–83.
- 185. Cotterchio M, Boucher BA, Manno M, Gallinger S, Okey A, Harper P. Dietary phytoestrogen intake is associated with reduced colorectal cancer risk. J Nutr. 2006;136:3046–53.
- 186. Budhathoki S, Joshi AM, Ohnaka K, Yin G, Toyomura K, Kono S, et al. Soy food and isoflavone intake and colorectal cancer risk: the Fukuoka Colorectal Cancer Study. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2011;46:165–72.
- 187. Xu X, Duncan AM, Wangen KE, Kurzer MS. Soy consumption alters endogenous estrogen metabolism in postmenopausal women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2000;9:781–6.
- 188. Bises G, Bajna E, Manhardt T, Gerdenitsch W, Kallay E, Cross HS. Gender-specific modulation of markers for premalignancy by nutritional soy and calcium in the mouse colon. J Nutr. 2007;137:211S–5S.
- Martinez ME. Primary prevention of colorectal cancer: lifestyle, nutrition, exercise. Recent Results Cancer Res. 2005;166:177–211.
- 190. Martinez ME, Giovannucci E, Spiegelman D, Hunter DJ, Willett WC, Colditz GA. Leisure-time physical activity, body size, and colon cancer in women. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1997;89:948–55.
- 191. Giovannucci E, Ascherio A, Rimm EB, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willett W. Physical activity, obesity, and risk of colon cancer and adenoma in men. Ann Intern Med. 1995;122:327–34.
- 192. Martinez ME, Heddens D, Earnest DL, Bogert CL, Roe D, Einspahr J, et al. Physical activity, body mass index, and PGE2 levels in rectal mucosa. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1999;91:950–3.
- 193. Hu FB, Manson JE, Liu S, Hunter D, Colditz GA, Michels KB, et al. Prospective study of adult onset diabetes mellitus (type 2) and risk of colorectal cancer in women. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1999;91:542–7.
- 194. Schoen RE, Tangen CM, Kuller LH, Burke GL, Cushman M, Tracy RP, et al. Increased blood glucose and insulin, body size, and incident colorectal cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1999;91:1147–54.
- 195. Ho GYF, Wang T, Gunter MJ, Strickler HD, Cushman M, Kaplan RC, et al. Adipokines linking obesity with colorectal cancer risk in postmenopausaol women. Cancer Res. 2012;72:3029–37.

- Terry PD, Miller AB, Rohan TE. Obesity and colorectal cancer risk in women. Gut. 2001;51:191–4.
- 197. McTiernan A, Wu L, Chen C, Chlebowski R, Mossavar-Rahmani Y, Modugno F, et al. Relation of BMI and physical activity to sex hormones in postmenopausal women. Obes (Silver Spring). 2006;14:1662–77.
- 198. Shin CM, Han K, Lee DH, Choi YJ, Kim N, Park YS, et al. Association among obesity, metabolic health, and the risk for colorectal cancer in the general population in Korea using the national health insurance service-national sample cohort. Dis Colon Rectum. 2017;60:1192–200.
- 199. Choi YJ, Lee DH, Han KD, Shin CM, Kim N. Abdominal obesity, glucose intolerance and decreased high-density lipoprotein cholesterol as components of the metabolic syndrome are associated with the development of colorectal cancer. Eur J Epidemiol. 2018;33:1077–85.
- 200. World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research. Food, nutrition, physical activity, and the prevention of cancer: a global perspective. Washington, DC: AICR; 2007.
- 201. International Agency for Research on Cancer. Alcohol consumption and ethyl carbamate. In: IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans Lyon: IARC Press, International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2010.
- 202. International Agency for Research on Cancer. Re-evaluation of some organic chemicals, hydrazine and hydrogen peroxide. Lyon: IARC Press, International Agency for Research on Cancer; 1998.
- 203. Organization WH. IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans: alcohol drinking. Lyon: IARC Press, International Agency for Research on Cancer; 1988.
- 204. Choi YJ, Lee DH, Han KD, Kim HS, Yoon H, Shin CM, et al. The relationship between drinking alcohol and esophageal, gastric or colorectal cancer: A nationwide population-based cohort study of South Korea. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0185778.
- 205. Mizoue T, Inoue M, Wakai K, et al. Alcohol drinking and colorectal cancer in Japanese: a pooled analysis of results from five cohort studies. Am J Epidemiol. 2008;167:1397–406.
- 206. Goedde HW, Agarwal DP, Fritze G, Meier-Tackmann D, Singh S, Beckmann G, et al. Distribution of ADH2 and ALDH2 genotypes in different populations. Hum Genet. 1992;88:344–6.
- 207. Yi SW, Sull JW, Linton JA, Nam CM, Ohrr H. Alcohol consumption and digestive cancer mortality in Koreans: the Kangwha cohort study. J Epidemiol. 2010;20:204–11.
- Giovannucci E, Martinez ME. Tobacco, colorectal cancer, and adenomas: a review of the evidence. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1996;88:1717–30.

- 209. Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Ascherio A, Kearney J, et al. A prospective study of cigarette smoking and risk of colorectal adenoma and colorectal cancer in U.S. men. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1994;86:183–91.
- 210. Giovannucci E, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Hunter D, Rosner BA, Willett WC, et al. A prospective study of cigarette smoking and risk of colorectal adenoma and colorectal cancer in U.S. women. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1994;86:192–9.
- 211. Nordlund LA, Carstensen JM, Pershagen G. Cancer incidence in female smokers: a 26-year follow-up. Int J Cancer. 1997;73:625–8.
- 212. Tavani A, Pregnolato A, La Vecchia C, Negri E, Talamini R, Franceschi S. Coffee and tea intake and risk of cancers of the colon and rectum: a study of 3,530 cases and 7,057 controls. Int J Cancer. 1997;73:193–7.
- 213. Baron JA, Gerhardsson de Verdier M, Ekbom A. Coffee, tea, tobacco, and cancer of the large bowel. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 1994;3:565–70.
- 214. Nyrn O, Bergstrom R, Nystrom L, Engholm G, Ekbom A, Adami HO, et al. Smoking and colorectal cancer: a 20-year follow-up study of Swedish construction workers. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1996;88:1302–7.
- 215. Chao A, Thun MJ, Jacobs EJ, Henley SJ, Rodriguez C, Calle EE. Cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer mortality in the Cancer Prevention Study II. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000;92:1888–96.
- Giovannucci E. An updated review of the epidemiological evidence that cigarette smoking increases risk of colorectal cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev. 2001;10:725–31.
- 217. Friedemann-Sánchez G, Griffin JM, Partin MR. Gender differences in colorectal cancer screening barriers and information needs. Health Expect. 2007;10:148–60.
- Ritvo P, Myers RE, Paszat L, Serenity M, Perez DF, Rabeneck L. Gender differences in attitudes impeding colorectal cancer screening. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:500.

- Pox CP, Altenhofen L, Brenner H, Theilmeier A, Von Stillfried D, SchmiegelW. Efficacy of a nationwide screening colonoscopy program for colorectal cancer. Gastroenterology. 2012;142:1460–7.e2.
- 220. HSE.ie. BowelScreen for Health Professionals. https://www.bowelscreen.ie/healthprofessional. Accessed 22 July 2021.
- 221. Benedix F, Kube R, Meyer F, Schmidt U, Gastinger I, Lippert H, et al. Comparison of 17,641 patients with right- and left-sided colon cancer: differences in epidemiology, perioperative course, histology, and survival. Dis Colon Rectum. 2010;53:57–64.
- 222. Hwang YJ, Shin DW, Kim N, Yoon H, Shin CM, Park YS, et al. Sex difference in bowel preparation quality and colonoscopy time. Korean J Intern Med. 2021;36:322–31.
- 223. Gandhi K, Tofani C, Sokach C, Patel D, Kastenberg D, Daskalakis C. Patient characteristics associated with quality of colonoscopy preparation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;16:357–69.
- 224. Khashab MA, Pickhardt PJ, Kim DH, Rex DK. Colorectal anatomy in adults at computed tomography colonography: normal distribution and the effect of age, sex, and body mass index. Endoscopy. 2009;41:674–8.
- 225. Ness RM, Manam R, Hoen H, Chalasani N. Predictors of inadequate bowel preparation for colonoscopy. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:1797–802.
- 226. Rotondano G, Rispo A, Bottiglieri ME, De Luca L, Lamanda R, Orsini L, et al. Quality of bowel cleansing in hospitalized patients undergoing colonoscopy: a multicenter prospective regional study. Dig Liver Dis. 2015;47:669–74.
- 227. Akere A, Otegbayo JA. Complete colonoscopy: impact of patients' demographics and anthropometry on caecal in tubation time. BMJ Open Gastroenterol. 2016;3:e000076.
- 228. Chung JI, Kim N, Um MS, Kang KP, Lee DH, Na JC, et al. Learning curves for colonoscopy: a prospective evaluation of gastroenterology fellows at a single center. Gut Liver. 2010;4:31–5.

Part IX

Gut-Microbiome-Brain Axis

21.1 Introduction

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

Disorders in gastrointestinal (GI) motility, visceral hypersensitivity, infection, inflammation, and changes in the gut microbiota are hypothesized to be important mechanisms of the pathophysiology of functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGIDs), such as functional dyspepsia (FD) and irritable bowel syndrome (IBS). Recent research has actively explored the interactions between the central nervous system (CNS), GI system, and gut microbiota; and the biopsychosocial model (Fig. 21.1) suggests that GI symptoms occur as a result of the interaction among sensation disorders, changes in motility, combined activation of the autonomic nervous system (ANS) and CNS, and the gut microbiota [1]. In the past, the term "brain-gut axis" was used to refer to the interaction between the areas in the CNS responsible for emotion or cognition and the areas involved with functions within the GI tract such as sensation and motility. However, as the importance of the gut microbiota has been recognized, it has been referred to as the "brain-gut-microbiome axis" or "the gut-microbiome-brain axis" [2] (Fig. 21.2). Many pre-clinical and clinical trials have demon-

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National

University College of Medicine, Seoul National

University Bundang Hospital,

e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr

Seongnam, Korea (Republic of)

strated the bidirectional interrelationships among the CNS, GI system, and gut microbiota. These gut microbiota were found to be in close contact with the CNS through the neural, endocrine, and immune signaling systems. The brain modulates the expression of genes in the gut microbiota by controlling GI secretion and motility, intestinal permeability, and hormone secretion and the ANS [3]. Various changes that occur in the CNS or the GI tract influence each other, rather than occurring separately. These three elements function as components of a biological system, and when a problem occurs in any part of this process, this problem affects the entire system, causing IBS, obesity, and psychological/neurological diseases [3]. In fact, external stimuli (e.g., vision and scent) and changes that occur in the CNS (e.g., emotion and cognition) can influence the function of the GI tract, such as sensation, motility, inflammation, and secretion; and various stimuli that occur within the GI tract can impact pain recognition, mood, and behaviors in the CNS. FGIDs can change depending on dysbiosis. Based on the fact that FGIDs are more common in females [4] (Table 21.1), it can be inferred that there are sex/ gender differences in this brain-gut-microbiome axis. In order to understand the role of brain-gut interactions in FGIDs, recent research has actively explored functional or structural changes in the CNS through the assessment of neuroimaging for visceral pain and changes in endocrine responses or intestinal immune responses that occur due to

Gut-Microbiome-Brain Axis

Nayoung Kim



21

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_21

³⁴³



Fig. 21.1 Biopsychosocial model of functional gastrointestinal disorders. *CNS* central nervous system, *ENS* enteric nervous system (modified from Chey [1])

various stimuli in the CNS. With the use of nextgeneration sequencing (NGS) in the analysis of the gut microbiome, many studies are being published. However, it is very difficult to find studies which analyzed sex/gender differences and it could be due to the small number of participating subjects. In addition, another reason could be that women account for most participants in these clinical trials.

21.2 Sex/Gender Differences in the Brain Areas Related to Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders

It is very common for psychological disorders such as depression and anxiety to co-occur with FGIDs. In addition, there are sex/gender differences in responses to stress hormones. Various explanations have been proposed regarding why females are more vulnerable to stress responses than males. One mechanism is that females are more sensitive to the locus coeruleus-

norepinephrine system, which increases sensitivity to corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) and stress [5]. In contrast, when CRF is over-secreted in males, CRF receptors are internalized into cells; thus, the response to CRF is dulled. This internalization process does not occur in females, and stress is thereby delivered throughout the entire body [5]. In addition, estrogen blocks the negative feedback of cortisol by acting on the estrogen alpha receptors in the hypothalamus, which impacts stress vulnerability in females [5]. When females are exposed to severe and constant stress, they experience more severe effects because the CRF-related endocrine system and arousal system are not regulated [5], leading to the occurrence of somatization disorders, which are common in severe cases of FGIDs [5]. Other than the relationship with CRF, there are sex/gender differences in the functional linkages in the amygdala, which oversees postprandial satiety, food consumption, emotional regulation, and endogenous pain inhibition. It has also been discovered that in patients with FGIDs, there are functional or structural differences in the default



Fig. 21.2 Bidirectional gut-microbiome-brain signaling system. The gut and the brain maintain bodily functions after receiving direct or indirect signals through the immune, neural, endocrine, and metabolic pathways. With the intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) as the foundation, microbes secrete short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) or chemotactic peptides to impact the brain or combine with receptors in enteroendocrine cells (EECs) to secrete pep-

mode network and salience network in brain areas depending on sex/gender [6-9]. Of particular note, in female patients with FD, severe disor-

tides such as signaling substances. Moreover, microbes influence intestinal immune cells and change cytokines to influence the brain or modify behavior. When the neural pathways are activated through these pathways, they influence the secretion of cytokines in the intestines through the secretion of hormones or other peptides (adapted from Jašarevic et al. [2])

ders in cognitive-affective processing in the amygdala were reported [6]. When the neuroimaging findings of the basolateral area of amyg-

FGID	Effect of sex
Esophageal	
Globus	F > M
Rumination	F = M
	F > M
Functional chest pain	F = M
	F > M (at tertiary care)
Functional heartburn	F = M
Dysphagia	F > M
Gastroduodenal	
Dyspepsia	F = M
Aerophagia	M > F
	F > M
Functional vomiting	F = M
Biliary tract	F > M
Lower GI tract	
IBS	F > M
Functional constipation	F > M
Functional diarrhea	M > F
Functional bloating	Discordant
	F > M
FAPS	F > M
Fecal incontinence	F > M (at home)
	M > F (nursing homes)
Functional anorectal pain	F > M
Outlet delay	F > M

Table 21.1 Differences the in incidence of FGIDs by sex/gender (adapted from Houghton et al. [4])

FAPS functional abdominal pain syndrome, GI gastrointestinal

dala (BLA) were compared between female patients with FD and female controls as well as male patients with FD, resting-state functional connectivity (rsFC) in the insula was found to be higher in female patients with FD, and the rsFC of the medial prefrontal cortex and the lateral and dorsal lateral prefrontal cortex was lower [6]. These results help to explain why females are more sensitive to pain and report digestive pain/ discomfort more frequently, as visceral afferent circuits are activated and negative emotions are increased in female patients with FD [6].

21.3 The Role of the Microbiome in the Gut-Microbiome-Brain Axis

Animal studies were the first to report the role of the gut microbiome in stress responses. Mice that did not have a normal gut microbiome when they were young did not have normal stress responses after they matured, but when at least one strain of bacteria was injected when they were young, abnormal stress responses were partially normalized [10]. Mice without normal gut microbiome when they were young had low brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) levels in the brain cortex and the hippocampus [10, 11] and low expression levels of serotonin (5-HT) receptors 1A and 1B in the hippocampus [11], suggesting that the gut microbiome affects the CNS. Other than responses to stress, studies have reported responses to anxiety [11, 12], behaviors related to stress [13–15], and nociceptive responses [16, 17]. When a broad-spectrum antibiotic was used, changes in the gut microbiome were found to be accompanied by an anxiety response similar to that in aseptic mice [18]. Anxiety-related behaviors decreased when mice were fed probiotics [13, 19, 20], which indicates the impact of the gut microbiome on the brain [3]. The effect of the gut microbiome on the brain is known to be related to neuroimmune mechanisms concerning the vagus nerve and neuroendocrine mechanisms [2, 13, 21] (Fig. 21.2). This communication is related to the short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) that are secreted from the gut microbiome, secondary bile acids, and tryptophan metabolites [21–23]. These SCFAs primarily deliver signals to the brain through the effects of enteroendocrine cells (EECs), enterochromaffin cells (ECCs), and the mucosal immune system; however, they are also hypothesized to enter the bloodstream or cross the blood-brain barrier from time to time [2, 22, 24, 25] (Fig. 21.2). Based on studies regarding the relationship between the microbiome-brain-gut axis and sex hormones, sex hormones participate in the central and peripheral control mechanisms of the pathophysiology of IBS; influence the stress response, visceral hypersensitivity, motility, intestinal barrier function, and intestinal mucosal immune function; and simultaneously have a direct impact on the gut microbiome [4] (Fig. 21.3). Estrogen, in particular, controls the gut microbiome, which affects the metabolism of estrogen [26], lead-



Fig. 21.3 Interrelationship between sex hormones and the brain-gut-microbiome. Sex hormones participate in the central and peripheral control mechanisms of the pathophysiology of irritable bowel syndrome; influence

ing to the suggestion of the term "microgenderome" [27].

21.4 Pathophysiology of Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders in Terms of Gut-Microbiome-Brain Axis Depending on Sex/Gender

Visceral hypersensitivity, disorders in GI motility, intestinal permeability, infection, inflammation, and changes in the gut microbiota are hypothesized to be important pathophysiology of FGIDs such as gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD), FD, and IBS. Non-clinical and clinical evidences regarding the sex/gender differences in pathophysiology could be summarized and presented as follows.

21.4.1 Visceral Pain Perception

In the baseline status without stress, females show a greater response to visceral pain than males [28, 29]. It is known that genetic factors influence these baseline differences [30]. Visceral

stress response, visceral hypersensitivity, motility, intestinal barrier function, and intestinal mucosal immune function; and simultaneously have a direct impact on the gut microbiome (adapted from Houghton et al. [4])

pain is related to chemical stimuli, inflammation, and stress. Stress, especially repeated stress and stress in childhood, causes visceral hypersensitivity in females [31]. Such visceral hypersensitivity was found to cause a large response in female rodents days and even months after the stressor [32, 33]. There are many arguments about the role of female sex hormones, but it is difficult to study this topic in rodents as their menstrual cycle is very short. In human studies, females report abdominal pain related to bowel movements. Female patients with IBS mainly report constipation, excessive strain, and bloating, while male patients with IBS report symptoms related to diarrhea such as an increase in the frequency of bowel movements [34]. No definitive conclusions have yet been reached on the effect of sex/gender on visceral pain in healthy individuals and patients with FGIDs [35-39], but it is known that female patients with IBS have higher sensitivity toward repeated pressure in the sigmoid colon than male patients [38, 40]. The reasons for different results across studies may include differences in study design, small sample size, ovarian hormones and their receptors, stress level and mood, childhood experiences, and social factors.

21.4.2 Disorders in Gastrointestinal Motility and Intestinal Permeability

Estrogen and progesterone influence disorders in GI motility and intestinal permeability [41]. An example is decreased intestinal movement when estrogen and progesterone are injected after ovariectomy [42]. It is hypothesized that nerves involved in nitric oxide signaling in the myenteric plexus [43] and mast cells distributed in the GI tract are related [44]. Stress decreases upper GI motility and increases lower GI motility, especially in female animal models [45, 46], and it is known that this effect is mediated by corticotropinreleasing factor receptor-1 (CRFR-1), which is activated by estrogen and expressed in the intestinal myenteric plexus [47]. Sex/gender differences in the digestive organs depend on the organ. For example, there are no sex/gender differences in the anatomy of the esophagus or esophageal nerve distribution, but there is a slight difference in function [48]. Meanwhile, females have slower gastric emptying than males, both for solid food and liquid food [49-53]. Postprandial gastric body relaxation is more delayed in females than in males, and perception scores are higher among females than males [54]. Intestinal transit time is generally faster in males than in females, and the transit time is especially slow in the right ascending colon for females [55-57]. Although not adjusted for the menstrual cycle, healthy females had lower contractility in 24-h ambulatory intestinal manometry than males [58]. Anal sphincter pressure, maximum contractility, and volume at the time of desire to defecate are lower among females [59, 60].

Estrogen also influences the expression of tight junction proteins in the intestinal barrier, which protect the host from harmful bacteria. The author's study team reported that expression of occludin (OCLN) increased in female patients with GERD [61] and that intestinal permeability decreases and expression of genes and proteins related to inflammation such as Krüppel-like factor 4 (KLF4), nuclear factor κ B (NF- κ B), inducible nitric oxide synthetase (iNOS), and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) decreased due to

increased expression of mucin 2 (MUC2), zonula occludens 1 (ZO-1), OCLN, and claudin 4 (CLDN4) genes, when 17 β -estradiol was administered in mice models in which colitis was induced using azoxymethane/dextran sulfate sodium [62]. These results are consistent with reduced inflammation from decreased expression of NF- κ B and COX-2 and increased expression of heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) and NAD(P) H-quinine oxidoreductase-1 (NQO1), which are antioxidant enzymes, when 17 β -estradiol was given to CCD841CoN, a normal female intestinal epithelial cell line [63].

21.4.3 Sex Difference of Central Processing of Visceral Stimuli

Specific area in the brain is activated as a response to a specific stimulus, metabolic activity, and the amount of blood flow increase. When singlephoton emission tomography (SPECT), positron emission tomography (PET), or functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) is used, the level of neuron activity can be assessed by measuring the amount of blood flow in a certain brain area. Whereas it takes several minutes for changes in blood flow to be reflected in PET images, fMRI can measure changes within seconds, and the image is clear without having to use isotopes. fMRI is therefore used in many studies about sensory functions and sensory areas in the brain [64]. These diagnostic methods can confirm the mechanism by which GI sensation and motility are controlled in the CNS and the area responsible for the emotion or recognition caused by responses to specific stimuli [65]. When healthy controls and patients with IBS were compared through brain imaging studies, there were disorders in the sensory processing of the central nerves regarding visceral pain [66]. In fMRI images, there were differences in the signaling system by sex/gender even in healthy controls, and in patients with IBS, sex/gender differences were observed [4]. Stimuli that expand the rectum increase the activation of the anterior cingulate cortex in patients with IBS [67], and several studies utilizing fMRI and PET reported that anterior cingulate cortex activation was significantly higher in patients with IBS than in controls [64, 68–71], suggesting that the anterior cingulate cortex is responsible for recognizing early pain stimuli in patients with IBS [66]. An increase in anterior cingulate cortex activation was related to anxiety, stress, maladaptive coping, and history of abuse [72]; and patients with IBS who have a history of abuse feel a significantly higher level of pain for the same rectal stimuli and have significantly increased activation in the dorsal posterior cingulate cortex and dorsal middle cingulate cortex [73]. There can be sex/gender differences in the level of activation in certain areas observed on brain imaging. For the same rectal stimulus, activity in the ventromedial prefrontal cortex, right anterior cingulate cortex, and the amygdala increased among females, while activity in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, insula, dorsal pons, and periaqueductal gray increased among males [74]. This result indicates that regarding information processing related to visceral stimuli, females use areas related to emotions and autonomic regions more, while males use the corticolimbic pain inhibition system more [4]. When examined using connectivity modeling, these sex/gender differences were hypothesized to reflect differences in the effective connectivity of the emotional arousal circuitry rather than differences in the visceral afferent processing circuitry [4, 41] (Fig. 21.4). A recent study found sex/gender differences in brain activation/connectivity even without stimuli such as rectal expansion, and the insula was more highly activated in female patients with IBS than in males [75]. Oscillatory dynamics in the amygdala and the hippocampus, which are responsible for emotions, were increased due to the increase in high-frequency power in female patients [75]. This finding was interpreted as showing the tendency to rely on the process of perception among males and the tendency to rely on interoceptive awareness among females. The effect of early adverse life events (EALs) on resting brain con-



Fig. 21.4 Baseline, anal inflation, and pain expectation by sex/gender. Schematics of homeostatic-afferent, emotional-arousal, and cortical-modulatory circuits in three periods. The β coefficients that indicate effective connectivity are shown using line thickness and color.

Solid lines are significantly different from zero, but dotted lines are not significant. *Amyg* amygdala, *INS* insula, *mOFC* medial orbital frontal cortex, *sACC* supragenual anterior cingulate cortex (adapted from Houghton et al. [4])

nectivity among patients with IBS was observed [76]. EAL scores were associated with the increased connectivity in thalamus, insula, middle temporal gyrus, and cerebellum networks; but this phenomenon was only observed in males [4]. The right subgenual anterior cingulate cortex was found to be thinner in female patients with IBS than in male patients [77]. The integrity of the sensorimotor and descending pain modulation pathways was weaker in female patients than in male patients, and this difference was not observed in healthy individuals [78]. In summary, both functional and structural changes of the brain occur in patients with IBS, and the level and duration of pain are related to structural changes [79].

21.4.4 Stress and the Neuroendocrine Response

Stress is considered a type of physiological adaptive response and can be defined as an abrupt or imbalanced status that threatens the individual's homeostasis. When stress increases too drastically and exceeds the adaptive capacity, it impacts various parts of the body [80]. Stress is an important component of the pathophysiology of FGIDs [81] and can cause inhibition of gastric emptying, increased intestinal motility, and visceral hypersensitivity. The CNS contains the emotional motor system, which is the core of stress response control, and the paraventricular nucleus in the hypothalamus, amygdala, and periaqueductal gray also participate in this process [82] (Fig. 21.5). When the emotional motor system is activated due to exteroceptive stress such as psychological stress and interoceptive stress such as intra-intestinal infection, motility disorder, and inflammation, the body attempts to control the stress through ANS responses, visceral sensation modulation, and neuroendocrine responses. ANS responses cause changes in intestinal motility and secretion, and the periaqueductal gray controls visceral sensation signaling and signals the pituitary to activate the hypothalamus-pituitaryadrenal (HPA) axis, influencing the physiology of the intestinal tract and the brain [82]. CRF is the hormone that plays the most important role in this process.

21.4.4.1 Corticotropin-Releasing Factor and Receptors

CRF is a protein composed of 41 amino acids that was first discovered in 1981 [83]. In response to physiological or psychological stress, CRF is secreted from the paraventricular nucleus in the hypothalamus and amygdala. CRF is the main neurohormone that activates the HPA axis and acts as the main neurotransmitter in the emotional, behavioral, and autonomic responses to stress [84-86]. The main target of CRF modulation is the locus coeruleus-norepinephrine system, which controls alertness in the stress response. The physiological responses and the secretion of mediators such as CRF were found to be significantly higher in patients with IBS than in healthy individuals in response to the same stress [87–89]. The myenteric plexus in the brain and GI tract and CRF receptors that exist in the intestinal mucosa are related to acute or chronic stress and act on various areas in the CNS and GI tract, acting as important mediators that cause changes in GI function [86, 90, 91]. There are two types of CRF receptors. Activation of CRF type 1 (CRF₁) increases intestinal motility, the inflammatory response in the intestinal mucosa, pain, and anxiety; and CRF type 2 (CRF₂) inhibits gastric emptying, reduces inflammatory responses and pain, and suppresses anxiety [92, 93]. However, CRF receptors do not influence changes in intestinal motility that occur without stress [81, 84].

21.4.4.2 The Role of CRF₁ in the Central Nervous System

In various animal models, when CRF is injected into the CNS, intestinal motility and defecation increase [94–96]. This response occurs through the CRF₁ receptors in the CNS. When drugs that selectively react to CRF₁ receptors, such as ovine CRF and r/h CRF, are injected into the CNS in animal studies, responses similar to the increase in intestinal motility caused by stress can be observed [97]. When CRF receptor antagonists or CRF₁ receptor-selective antagonists are



Fig. 21.5 The emotional motor system (EMS). The paraventricular nucleus in the hypothalamus, amygdala, and periaqueductal gray participate in this role. When the emotional motor system is activated due to exteroceptive stress such as psychological stress and interoceptive stress

injected into the CNS, the increase in intestinal motility or defecation caused due to stress or the injection of CRF into the CNS is blocked [81, 94, 95, 98]. In contrast, when CRF₂ selective antagonists are injected into the CNS, the response of increased intestinal motility caused by CRF is not blocked [84], indicating that CRF₁ receptors play a major role in the stress-induced increase in intestinal motility. Changes in intestinal motility related to CRF in the CNS occur even when HPA axis activation is blocked [99] through the activation of parasympathetic nerves via the vagus nerve [96, 100]. In animal studies, when serotonin type 3 $(5-HT_3)$ receptor antagonists and serotonin type 4 (5- HT_4) receptor antagonists are intravenously injected and CRF is injected into the CNS, the increase in defecation caused by CRF is blocked. However, this inhibitory effect

such as intra-intestinal infection, motility disorder, and inflammation, the body attempts to control the stress though autonomic nervous system responses, visceral sensation modulation, and neuroendocrine responses (adapted from Mayer et al. [82])

does not occur when these formulations are injected into the CNS [101, 102], suggesting that the main pathway of CRF is the activation of various receptors in the GI tract through the vagus nerve [66].

21.4.4.3 Sex/Gender Differences in the Function of Hypothalamus CRF and the Signaling System of CRF₁ Receptors

Even without stress, the levels of HPA axis hormones such as glucocorticoid and corticosterone are higher in female rodents than in male rodents, and when they are stressed, the high levels are maintained for a longer time, as more adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) and glucocorticoids are secreted [103, 104]. When female rodents are not under stress, the increased expression of CRF in the paraventricular nucleus is proportional to the blood estrogen level [103, 104], and CRF expression has been found to increase in response to childhood or psychological stress [104, 105]. However, restraint stress and chronic mild stress caused increased expression of CRF mRNA in the paraventricular nucleus only in male rodents, which may have been due to the already high expression of CRF mRNA in females [103, 106– 108]. In human studies, these results have not been clearly observed, which might be due to differences in the CRF response depending on the stressor. Summarizing the results of relevant research, females are more vulnerable to acute stress and are less able to adapt to chronic stress or high-CRF situations. One reason why females are vulnerable to mood and anxiety disorders is the high expression of CRF in females and the HPA axis. The explanation is becoming clearer due to advances in our understanding of the molecular biological mechanisms of β -arrestin-2 in relation to CRF receptors. β -arrestin-2 controls the effect of CRF₁ receptors using G-protein-independent signaling cascades such as mitogen-activated protein kinase (e.g., ERK2, JNK3, and p38), tyrosine kinases (e.g., c-SRC, Hck, Fgr, Yes), AKT, PI3 kinase, and RhoA through scaffolding signaling molecules [5, 109-112] (Fig. 21.6a). In contrast, β -arrestin-2 does not interact with CRF receptors in females, and these receptors instead comprise a signaling system different from that of males, depending on GTP-binding proteins (Gs) [5] (Fig. 21.6a). Depression in post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) clearly demonstrates this difference clearly. In order for pharmacological treatment to be effective in females, hyperarousal should be decreased by changing the pathway for CRF_1 receptor signaling from the Gs pathway to the β-arrestin-2-related pathway.

When CRF is secreted in stress situations, specific responses occur in the endocrine, behavioral, and ANS through the HPA axis and the locus coeruleus-norepinephrine system. In the acute phase, these responses allow individuals to respond well to emergency situations, but when the activation of CRF_1 is continued, mood disor-

ders and depression are caused due to a lack of precise control of the HPA axis and the locus coeruleus-norepinephrine system. The reasons why the prevalence of depression is twice as high in females as in males are as follows: first, estrogen increases the expression of CRF in hypothalamus; second, the locus coeruleus-norepinephrine system is activated and maintains hyperarousal due to sex/gender differences in the signaling system downstream of CRF₁ [5] (Fig. 21.6a); and third, the limbic input according to emotional changes is more effectively received in females, as dendrites in the locus coeruleus nerves are more abundant in females than in males [5] (Fig. 21.6b). There are sex/gender differences in the locus coeruleus dendrites. While the number of dendrites is small in males, dendrites are abundant in females, allowing them to receive information very well from the limbic system. CRF_1 receptors distributed in the locus coeruleus dendrites are connected to β -arrestin-2 and exist in the cytoplasm in males, while they are mainly distributed in the cell membranes after combining with Gs located in the cell membranes, rather than β -arrestin-2, in females [5] (Fig. 21.6b). As a result, inter-communication with the locus coeruleus nerve dendrites is very active, making it easy to maintain hyperarousal. Fourth, when an excessive amount of CRF is secreted after a stressor, the CRF₁ receptors are inside the cytoplasm for negative feedback in males, but in females, the connection between CRF1 and β -arrestin-2 does not exist, and instead CRF₁ binds with Gs in the cell membranes, where Gs remain present. As a result, negative feedback in response to CRF over-secretion does not occur in females, so the HPA axis and the locus coeruleusnorepinephrine system continue to be activated and hyperarousal maintained, leading to disease manifestations such as stomach pain due to visceral hypersensitivity.

21.4.4.4 The Role of the CRF Signaling Pathway in the Gastrointestinal Tract

CRF ligand and receptors exist in various organs other than in the CNS and are widely distributed in the GI tract [84]. CRF₁ in the GI



Fig. 21.6 Schematic of corticotropin-releasing factor receptor 1 (CRF₁ receptor) and locus coeruleus nerve cells by sex/gender. (a) Sex/gender differences are observed as β -arrestin-2 controls the effect of CRF₁ receptors using G-protein-independent signaling cascades such as mitogen-activated protein kinase (e.g., ERK2, JNK3, and p38), tyrosine kinases (e.g., c-SRC, Hck, Fgr, Yes), AKT, PI3 kinase, and RhoA through scaffolding signaling molecules in males, while CRF₁ receptors in females do not interact with β -arrestin-2 and instead compose a signaling system different from that of males depending on GTP-binding proteins (Gs). (b) These are sex/gender different

ences in the locus coeruleus dendrites. While the number of dendrites is small in males, these dendrites are abundant in females, allowing them to receive information very well from the limbic system. CRF₁ receptors distributed in the locus coeruleus dendrites are connected to β -arrestin-2 (square box) and exist in the cytoplasm in males, while they are mainly distributed in the cell membranes after binding with Gs located in the cell membranes, rather than β -arrestin-2, in females. As a result, it is easy to maintain hyperarousal after stress in females due to active inter-communication with locus coeruleus dendrites (adapted from Bangasser and Valentino [5]) **Fig. 21.7** The role of corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) on intestinal function. CRF, which is increased due to stress, causes significant changes in intestinal motility and intestinal transit time through the autonomic nervous system and visceral nervous system and increases peristalsis (adapted from Stengel and Taché [114])



tract, in particular, is related to the increase in intestinal motility [113], and the local effect of CRF in these peripheral areas is partly responsible for changes in intestinal motility due to stress [114]. When CRF is intravenously injected, significant changes in intestinal motility and the intestinal transit time can be observed [88, 115]. When CRF is injected into isolated intestinal tissue, an increase in peristalsis occurs [93]. Figure 21.7 presents this process schematically [114].

21.4.4.5 The Effect of Stress on Gastrointestinal Inflammation

Factors that cause inflammation in the intestinal tract for patients with IBS are bacterial or viral infections, genetic factors, food allergies, stress, changes in the gut microbiome, and malabsorption of bile acids. It is unclear whether stress acts as a direct cause of intestinal inflammation, but it can be a factor that increases activation of mucosal inflammatory cells, especially mast cells.

When acute stress is introduced in animal studies, intestinal permeability and ion secretion increase [116, 117]. When chronic psychological stress is introduced, increases in the number and degranulation of intestinal mast cells occur with the increase in intestinal permeability [118]. Intestinal mast cells are activated by CRF or ace-tylcholine secreted in the nerve endings originating from central nerves [118, 119]. Therefore, when the blood CRF level increases due to stress, secretion of mediating substances increases due to activation of mast cells, and the permeability of intestinal mucosa increases, causing inflammation [120] (Fig. 21.8).

21.4.4.6 Stress and Postinfectious Irritable Bowel Syndrome

IBS is related to the interaction of the gutmicrobiome-brain axis, and it has been reported that psychological stress around the time that an intestinal infection occurred was significantly higher in patients with IBS group than in controls [121]. Since there has been a report



Fig. 21.8 The role of corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) in the gastrointestinal immune system and inflammation. When the blood CRF level increases due to stress, activation of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA axis) such as adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), glucocorticoid, and corticosterone; activation of the arousal system of norepinephrine; and activation of vari-

that visceral sensation and motility did not significantly differ between patients with postinfectious IBS and controls, it is hypothesized that symptoms are maintained because stress is recognized in the form of increased signaling when the CNS processes information delivered from the intestines [122]. HPA axis activation due to stress can also cause an increase in inflammatory cells and mediators in the GI tract [123]. Therefore, functional disorders in the brain-gut interaction act as an important com-

ous immune cells such as mast cells increase the secretion of cytokines and the permeability of intestinal mucosa, causing inflammation. *CRF* corticotropin-releasing factor, *DC* dendritic cells, *E* epinephrine, *GC* circulating glucorcorticoids, *IEC* intestinal epithelial cells, *MC* mucosal mast cells, $M\Phi$ macrophages, *NE* norepinephrine, *T* T lymphocytes (adapted from Kiank et al. [120])

ponent of the pathophysiology of postinfectious IBS. The role of CRF in the GI immune system and inflammation can be summarized as follows: when the blood CRF level increases due to stress, activation of the HPA axis (including ACTH, glucocorticoid, and corticosterone), the arousal system involving norepinephrine, and various immune cells such as mast cells increases the secretion of cytokines and the permeability of the intestinal mucosa, causing inflammation [120] (Fig. 21.8).

21.5 Conclusions

Disorders in GI motility, visceral hypersensitivity, infection, inflammation, and changes in the gut microbiota are hypothesized to be important mechanisms of the pathophysiology of FGIDs. The concept of the CNS- GI -gut microbiota axis, by which GI symptoms occur as a result of sensation disorders, changes in motility, combined activation of the ANS and CNS, and the effect of gut microbiota, has been suggested. The gut-microbiome-brain axis refers to the interactions that occur among the CNS, gut microbiome, and areas that express actual function such as GI sensation and motility, and this axis has been hypothesized as an important component of the pathophysiology of FGIDs. The mechanism that controls GI sensation and motility in the CNS and the area responsible for emotions and cognitions can be observed using fMRI. It has been reported that there are both functional and structural changes in the brain of patients with IBS and that there are sex/gender differences in these changes. The reason why women are more vulnerable to stress responses is due to a higher sensitivity of their locus coeruleus-norepinephrine system to CRF and stress. Stress increases blood CRF levels to a greater extent in females, activating the HPA axis (including ACTH, glucocorticoid, and corticosterone), the norepinephrine system, and various immune cells including mast cells. This activation then increases the secretion of cytokines and the permeability of intestinal mucosa, thereby causing inflammation in the GI system. Therefore, for the tailored treatment for FGIDs, the recognition of basic sex/gender differences in the gut-microbiomebrain axis is necessary.

References

- Chey WD. The role of food in functional gastrointestinal disorders: Introduction to a manuscript series. Am J Gastroenterol. 2013;108:694–7.
- Jašarevic E, Morrison KE, Bale TL. Sex differences in the gut microbiome–brain axis across the lifespan. Philos Trans R Soc B. 2016;371:1688.
- Martin CR, Osadchiy V, Kalani A, Mayer EA. The brain-gut-mcrobiome axis. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;6:133–48.

- Houghton LA, Heitkemper M, Crowell M, Emmanuel A, Halpert A, McRoberts JA, et al. Age, gender, and women's health and the patient. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:1332–43.e4.
- Bangasser DA, Valentino RJ. Sex differences in molecular and cellular substrates of stress. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2012;32:709–23.
- Zeng F, Sun R, He Z, Chen Y, Lei D, Yin T, et al. Altered functional connectivity of the amygdala and sex differences in functional dyspepsia. Clin Transl Gastroenterol. 2019;10:e00046.
- Lee IS, Wang H, Chae Y, Preissl H, Enck P. Functional neuroimaging studies in functional dyspepsia patients: a systematic review. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;28:793–805.
- Zeng F, Qin W, Liang F, Liu J, Tang Y, Liu X, et al. Abnormal resting brain activity in patients with functional dyspepsia is related to symptom severity. Gastroenterology. 2011;141:499–506.
- Zhou G, Qin W, Zeng F, Liu P, Yang X, von Deneen KM, et al. White-matter microstructural changes in functional dyspepsia: a diffusion tensor imaging study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2013;108:260–9.
- Sudo N, Chida Y, Aiba Y, Sonoda J, Oyama N, Yu XN, et al. Postnatal microbial colonization programs the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal system for stress response in mice. J Physiol. 2004;558:263–75.
- Neufeld KM, Kang N, Bienenstock J, Foster JA. Reduced anxiety-like behavior and central neurochemical change in germ-free mice. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2011;23:255–64, e119.
- Sampson TR, Debelius JW, Thron T, Janssen S, Shastri GG, Ilhan ZE, et al. Gut microbiota regulate motor deficits and neuroinflammation in a model of Parkinson's disease. Cell. 2016;167:1469–80.e12.
- Bravo JA, Forsythe P, Chew MV, Escaravage E, Savignac HM, Dinan TG, et al. Ingestion of *Lactobacillus* strain regulates emotional behavior and central GABA receptor expression in a mouse via the vagus nerve. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:16050–5.
- Savignac HM, Kiely B, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. Bifidobacteria exert strain-specific effects on stressrelated behavior and physiology in BALB/c mice. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2014;26:1615–27.
- De Palma G, Blennerhassett P, Lu J, Deng Y, Park AJ, Green W, et al. Microbiota and host determinants of behavioural phenotype in maternally separated mice. Nat Commun. 2015;6:7735.
- Amaral FA, Sachs D, Costa VV, Fagundes CT, Cisalpino D, Cunha TM, et al. Commensal microbiota is fundamental for the development of inflammatory pain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:2193–7.
- Ait-Belgnaoui A, Han W, Lamine F, Eutamene H, Fioramonti J, Bueno L, et al. *Lactobacillus farciminis* treatment suppresses stress induced visceral hypersensitivity: a possible action through interaction with epithelial cell cytoskeleton contraction. Gut. 2006;55:1090–4.

- Bercik P, Denou E, Collins J, Jackson W, Lu J, Jury J, et al. The intestinal microbiota affect central levels of brain-derived neurotropic factor and behavior in mice. Gastroenterology. 2011;141(599–609):e1–3.
- Desbonnet L, Garrett L, Clarke G, Kiely B, Cryan JF, Dinan TG. Effects of the probiotic *Bifidobacterium infantis* in the maternal separation model of depression. Neuroscience. 2010;170:1179–88.
- Bercik P, Park AJ, Sinclair D, Khoshdel A, Lu J, Huang X, et al. The anxiolytic effect of *Bifidobacterium longum* NCC3001 involves vagal pathways for gut-brain communication. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2011;23:1132–9.
- Tolhurst G, Heffron H, Lam YS, Parker HE, Habib AM, Diakogiannaki E, et al. Short-chain fatty acids stimulate glucagonlike peptide-1 secretion via the G-protein-coupled receptor FFAR2. Diabetes. 2012;61:364–71.
- Yano JM, Yu K, Donaldson GP, Shastri GG, Ann P, Ma L, et al. Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. Cell. 2015;161:264–76.
- Wikoff WR, Anfora AT, Liu J, Schultz PG, Lesley SA, Peters EC, et al. Metabolomics analysis reveals large effects of gut microflora on mammalian blood metabolites. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106:3698–703.
- 24. Samuel BS, Shaito A, Motoike T, Rey FE, Backhed F, Manchester JK, et al. Effects of the gut microbiota on host adiposity are modulated by the shortchain fattyacid binding G protein-coupled receptor, Gpr41. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:16767–72.
- Haghikia A, Jörg S, Duscha A, Berg J, Manzel A, Waschbisch A, et al. Dietary fatty acids directly impact central nervous system autoimmunity via the small intestine. Immunity. 2015;43:817–29.
- Flores R, Shi J, Fuhrman B, Xu X, Veenstra TD, Gail MH, et al. Fecal microbial determinants of fecal and systemic estrogens and estrogen metabolites: a cross-sectional study. J Transl Med. 2012;10:253.
- Flak MB, Neves JF, Blumberg RS. Immunology. Welcome to the microgenderome. Science. 2013;339:1044–5.
- Kirschbaum C, Kudielka BM, Gaab J, Schommer NC, Hellhammer DH. Impact of gender, menstrual cycle phase, and oral contraceptives on the activity of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis. Psychosom Med. 1999;61:154–62.
- Kirschbaum C, Wust S, Hellhammer D. Consistent sex differences in cortisol responses to psychological stress. Psychosom Med. 1992;54:648–57.
- 30. Kitay JI. Sex differences in adrenal cortical secretion in the rat. Endocrinology. 1961;68:818–24.
- 31. Lee JY, Kim N, Kim YS, Nam RH, Ham MH, Lee HS, et al. Repeated water avoidance stress alters mucosal mast cell counts, interleukin-1β levels with sex difference in distal colon of Wistar rats. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;22:694–704.
- Koob GF. Corticotropin-releasing factor, norepinephrine, and stress. Biol Psychiatry. 1999;46:1167–80.

- 33. Kosoyan HP, Grigoriadis DE, Tache Y. The CRF(1) receptor antagonist, NBI-35965, abolished the activation of locus coeruleus neurons induced by colorectal distension and intracisternal CRF in rats. Brain Res. 2005;1056:85–96.
- Melia KR, Duman RS. Involvement of corticotropinreleasing factor in chronic stress regulation of the brain noradrenergic system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1991;88:8382–6.
- 35. Merali Z, Du L, Hrdina P, Palkovits M, Faludi G, Poulter MO, et al. Dysregulation in the suicide brain: mRNA expression of corticotropin-releasing hormone receptors and GABA(A) receptor subunits in frontal cortical brain region. J Neurosci. 2004;24:1478–85.
- Nemeroff CB. The corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) hypothesis of depression: new findings and new directions. Mol Psychiatry. 1996;1:336–42.
- 37. Nemeroff CB, Bissette G, Akil H, Fink M. Neuropeptide concentrations in the cerebrospinal fluid of depressed patients treated with electroconvulsive therapy. Corticotrophin-releasing factor, beta-endorphin and somatostatin. Br J Psychiatry. 1991;158:59–63.
- Nemeroff CB, Widerlöv E, Bissette G, Walléus H, Karlsson I, Eklund K, et al. Elevated concentrations of CSF corticotropin-releasing factor-like immunoreactivity in depressed patients. Science. 1984;226:1342–4.
- O'Donnell T, Hegadoren KM, Coupland NC. Noradrenergic mechanisms in the pathophysiology of post-traumatic stress disorder. Neuropsychobiology. 2004;50:273–83.
- 40. Oakley RH, Olivares-Reyes JA, Hudson CC, Flores-Vega F, Dautzenberg FM, Hauger RL. Carboxylterminal and intracellular loop sites for CRF₁ receptor phosphorylation and beta-arrestin-2 recruitment: a mechanism regulating stress and anxiety responses. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2007;293:R209–22.
- 41. Labus JS, Naliboff BN, Fallon J, Berman SM, Suyenobu B, Bueller JA, et al. Sex differences in brain activity during aversive visceral stimulation and its expectation in patients with chronic abdominal pain: a network analysis. NeuroImage. 2008;41:1032–43.
- Leuner B, Shors TJ. New spines, new memories. Mol Neurobiol. 2004;29:117–30.
- 43. Liu Z, Zhu F, Wang G, Xiao Z, Wang H, Tang J, et al. Association of corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor1 gene SNP and haplotype with major depression. Neurosci Lett. 2006;404:358–62.
- 44. Livezey GT, Miller JM, Vogel WH. Plasma norepinephrine, epinephrine and corticosterone stress responses to restraint in individual male and female rats, and their correlations. Neurosci Lett. 1985;62:51–6.
- 45. Lodge DJ, Grace AA. Acute and chronic corticotropin-releasing factor 1 receptor blockade inhibits cocaine-induced dopamine release: correla-

tion with dopamine neuron activity. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2005;314:201–6.

- 46. Lund TD, Munson DJ, Haldy ME, Handa RJ. Androgen inhibits, while oestrogen enhances, restraint-induced activation of neuropeptide neurones in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. J Neuroendocrinol. 2004;16:272–8.
- 47. Mental Health America (MHA). Ranking America's mental health: an analysis of depression across the states. Alexandria; Mental Health; 2007.
- Owens MJ, Bissette G, Nemeroff CB. Acute effects of alprazolam and adinazolam on the concentrations of corticotropin-releasing factor in the rat brain. Synapse. 1989;4:196–202.
- Owens MJ, Nemeroff CB. Physiology and pharmacology of corticotropin-releasing factor. Pharmacol Rev. 1991;43:425–73.
- 50. Owens MJ, Vargas MA, Knight DL, Nemeroff CB. The effects of alprazolam on corticotropinreleasing factor neurons in the rat brain: acute time course, chronic treatment and abrupt withdrawal. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1991;258:349–56.
- Page ME, Abercrombie ED. Discrete local application of corticotropin-releasing factor increases locus coeruleus discharge and extracellular norepinephrine in rat hippocampus. Synapse. 1999;33:304–13.
- Page ME, Berridge CW, Foote SL, Valentino RJ. Corticotropin-releasing factor in the locus coeruleus mediates EEG activation associated with hypotensive stress. Neurosci Lett. 1993;164:81–4.
- 53. Paris JJ, Franco C, Sodano R, Freidenberg B, Gordis E, Anderson DA, et al. Sex differences in salivary cortisol in response to acute stressors among healthy participants, in recreational or pathological gamblers, and in those with posttraumatic stress disorder. Horm Behav. 2010;57:35–45.
- Perkonigg A, Kessler RC, Storz S, Wittchen H-U. Traumatic events and post-traumatic stress disorder in the community: prevalence, risk factors and comorbidity. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2000;101:46–59.
- Premont RT. Once and future signaling: G proteincoupled receptor kinase control of neuronal sensitivity. NeuroMolecular Med. 2005;7:129–47.
- Raadsheer FC, Hoogendijk WJ, Stam FC, Tilders FJ, Swaab DF. Increased numbers of corticotropinreleasing hormone expressing neurons in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus of depressed patients. Neuroendocrinology. 1994;60:436–44.
- Rassnick S, Hoffman GE, Rabin BS, Sved AF. Injection of corticotropin-releasing hormone into the locus coeruleus or foot shock increases neuronal Fos expression. Neuroscience. 1998;85:259–68.
- Redei E, Li L, Halasz I, McGivern RF, Aird F. Fast glucocorticoid feedback inhibition of ACTH secretion in the ovariectomized rat: effect of chronic estrogen and progesterone. Neuroendocrinology. 1994;60:113–23.
- Revankar CM, Vines CM, Cimino DF, Prossnitz ER. Arrestins block G protein-coupled receptor-mediated apoptosis. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:24578–84.

- Reyes BA, Fox K, Valentino RJ, Van Bockstaele EJ. Agonist-induced internalization of corticotropinreleasing factor receptors in noradrenergic neurons of the rat locus coeruleus. Eur J Neurosci. 2006;23:2991–8.
- 61. Kim JJ, Kim N, Park JH, Kim YS, Lee SM, Lee DH, et al. Comparison of tight junction protein-related gene mRNA expression levels between male and female gastroesophageal reflux disease patients. Gut Liver. 2018;12:411–9.
- 62. Song CH, Kim N, Sohn SH, Lee SM, Nam RH, Na HY, et al. Effects of 17β-estradiol on colonic permeability and inflammation in an azoxymethane/dextran sulfate sodium-induced colitis mouse model. Gut Liver. 2018;12:682–93.
- 63. Son HJ, Kim N, Song CH, Lee SM, Lee HN, Surh YJ. 17-β estradiol reduces inflammation and modulates antioxidant enzymes in colonic epithelial cells. Korean J Intern Med. 2020;35:310–9.
- 64. Mertz H, Morgan V, Tanner G, Pickens D, Price R, Shyr Y, et al. Regional cerebral activation in irritable bowel syndrome and control subjects with painful and nonpainful rectal distention. Gastroenterology. 2000;118:842–8.
- 65. Drossman DA. Brain imaging and its implications for studying centrally targeted treatments in irritable bowel syndrome: a primer for gastroenterologists. Gut. 2005;54:569–73.
- 66. Kwan JG. The interaction between brain-gut axis. In: The Society of Korean Neurogastroenterology and Motility, editor. Irritable bowel syndrome. Seoul: SnC Publishing Co. Inc; 2011. p. 76–87.
- Hobson AR, Aziz Q. Brain imaging and functional gastrointestinal disorders: has it helped our understanding? Gut. 2004;53:1198–206.
- Naliboff BD, Derbyshire SW, Munakata J, Berman S, Mandelkern M, Chang L, et al. Cerebral activation in patients with irritable bowel syndrome and control subjects during rectosigmoid stimulation. Psychosom Med. 2001;63:365–75.
- 69. Drossman DA, Ringel Y, Vogt BA, Leserman J, Lin W, Smith JK, et al. Alterations of brain activity associated with resolution of emotional distress and pain in a case of severe irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 2003;124:754–61.
- 70. Chang L, Berman S, Mayer EA, Suyenobu B, Derbyshire S, Naliboff B, et al. Brain responses to visceral and somatic stimuli in patients with irritable bowel syndrome with and without fibromyalgia. Am J Gastroenterol. 2003;98:1354–61.
- Hobday DI, Aziz Q, Thacker N, Hollander I, Jackson A, Thompson DG. A study of the cortical processing of ano-rectal sensation using functional MRI. Brain. 2001;124:361–8.
- 72. Ringel Y, Drossman DA, Turkington TG, Bradshaw B, Hawk TC, Bangdiwala S, et al. Regional brain activation in response to rectal distension in patients with irritable bowel syndrome and the effect of a history of abuse. Dig Dis Sci. 2003;48:1774–81.
- Ringel Y, Drossman DA, Leserman JL, Suyenobu BY, Wilber K, Lin W, et al. Effect of abuse history

on pain reports and brain responses to aversive visceral stimulation: an FMRI study. Gastroenterology. 2008;134:396–404.

- Naliboff BD, Berman S, Chang L, Derbyshire SW, Suyenobu B, Vogt BA, et al. Sex-related differences in IBS patients: central processing of visceral stimuli. Gastroenterology. 2003;124:1738–47.
- Hong JY, Kilpatrick LA, Labus J, Gupta A, Jiang Z, Ashe-McNalley C, et al. Patients with chronic visceral pain show sex-related alterations in intrinsic oscillations of the resting brain. J Neurosci. 2013;33:11994–2002.
- 76. Gupta A, Kilpatrick L, Labus J, Tillisch K, Braun A, Hong JY, et al. Early adverse life events and resting state neural networks in patients with chronic abdominal pain: evidence for sex differences. Psychosom Med. 2014;76:404–12.
- 77. Jiang Z, Dinov ID, Labus J, Shi Y, Zamanyan A, Gupta A, et al. Sex-related differences of cortical thickness in patients with chronic abdominal pain. PLoS One. 2013;8:e73932.
- Ellingson BM, Mayer E, Harris RJ, Ashe-McNally C, Naliboff BD, Labus JS, et al. Diffusion tensor imaging detects microstructural reorganization in the brain associated with chronic irritable bowel syndrome. Pain. 2013;154:1528–41.
- Blankstein U, Chen J, Diamant NE, Davis KD. Altered brain structure in irritable bowel syndrome: potential contributions of pre-existing and disease-driven factors. Gastroenterology. 2010;138:1783–9.
- McEwen BS. Allostasis and allostatic load: implications for neuropsychopharmacology. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2000;22:108–24.
- Martinez V, Taché Y. CRF₁ receptors as a therapeutic target for irritable bowel syndrome. Curr Pharm Des. 2006;12:4071–88.
- Mayer EA, Naliboff BD, Chang L, Coutinho SV. V. Stressand irritable bowel syndrome. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2001;280:G519–G524.
- Vale W, Spiess J, Rivier C, Rivier J. Characterization of a 41-residue ovine hypothalamic peptide that stimulates secretion of corticotropin and betaendorphin. Science. 1981;213:1394–7.
- 84. Taché Y, Martinez V, Million M, Wang L. Stress and the gastrointestinal tract III. Stress-related alterations of gut motor function: role of brain corticotropinreleasing factor receptors. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2001;280:G173–7.
- Bale TL, Vale WW. CRF and CRF receptors: role in stress responsivity and other behaviors. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol. 2004;44:525–57.
- Caso JR, Leza JC, Menchén L. The effects of physical and psychological stress on the gastro-intestinal tract: lessons from animal models. Curr Mol Med. 2008;8:299–312.
- Murray CD, Flynn J, Ratcliffe L, Jacyna MR, Kamm MA, Emmanuel AV. Effect of acute physical and psychological stress on gut autonomic innervation in irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 2004;127:1695–703.

- Fukudo S, Nomura T, Hongo M. Impact of corticotropin-releasing hormone on gastrointestinal motility and adrenocorticotropic hormone in normal controls and patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Gut. 1998;42:845–9.
- Taché Y, Martinez V, Million M, Maillot C. Role of corticotropin releasing factor receptor subtype 1 in stress-related functional colonic alterations: implications in irritable bowel syndrome. Eur J Surg Suppl 2002:16–22.
- Taché Y, Bonaz B. Corticotropin-releasing factor receptors and stress-related alterations of gut motor function. J Clin Invest. 2007;117:33–40.
- Fukudo S. Role of corticotropin-releasing hormone in irritable bowel syndrome and intestinal inflammation. J Gastroenterol. 2007;42(Suppl 17):48–51.
- Steckler T, Holsboer F. Corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor subtypes and emotion. Biol Psychiatry. 1999;46:1480–508.
- Maillot C, Million M, Wei JY, Gauthier A, Taché Y. Peripheral corticotropin-releasing factor and stress-stimulated colonic motor activity involve type 1 receptor in rats. Gastroenterology. 2000;119:1569–79.
- 94. Bonaz B, Taché Y. Water-avoidance stress-induced c-fos expression in the rat brain and stimulation of fecal output: role of corticotropin-releasing factor. Brain Res. 1994;641:21–8.
- 95. Martínez V, Wang L, Rivier J, Grigoriadis D, Taché Y. Central CRF, urocortins and stress increase colonic transit via CRF₁ receptors while activation of CRF₂ receptors delays gastric transit in mice. J Physiol. 2004;556(Pt 1):221–34.
- 96. Lenz HJ, Burlage M, Raedler A, Greten H. Central nervous system effects of corticotropin-releasing factor on gastrointestinal transit in the rat. Gastroenterology. 1988;94:598–602.
- Rühmann A, Bonk I, Lin CR, Rosenfeld MG, Spiess J. Structural requirements for peptidic antagonists of the corticotropin-releasing factor receptor (CRFR): development of CRFR2beta-selective antisauvagine-30. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:15264–9.
- 98. Taché Y, Martinez V, Wang L, Million M. CRF₁ receptor signaling pathways are involved in stress-related alterations of colonic function and viscerosensitivity: implications for irritable bowel syndrome. Br J Pharmacol. 2004;141:1321–30.
- Gue M, Junien JL, Bueno L. Conditioned emotional response in rats enhances colonic motility through the central release of corticotropin-releasing factor. Gastroenterology. 1991;100:964–70.
- 100. Million M, Wang L, Martinez V, Taché Y. Differential Fos expression in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus, sacral parasympathetic nucleus and colonic motor response to water avoidance stress in Fischer and Lewis rats. Brain Res. 2000;877:345–53.
- 101. Miyata K, Ito H, Fukudo S. Involvement of the 5-HT₃ receptor in CRH-induce defecation in rats. Am J Phys. 1998;274(Pt 1):G827–31.
- 102. Nakade Y, Fukuda H, Iwa M, Tsukamoto K, Yanagi H, Yamamura T, et al. Restraint stress stimulates

colonic motility via central corticotropin-releasing factor and peripheral 5-HT₃ receptors in conscious rats. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2007;292:G1037–44.

- 103. Viau V, Bingham B, Davis J, Lee P, Wong M. Gender and puberty interact on the stress-induced activation of parvocellular neurosecretory neurons and corticotropin-releasing hormone messenger ribonucleic acid expression in the rat. Endocrinology. 2005;146:137–46.
- 104. Iwasaki-Sekino A, Mano-Otagiri A, Ohata H, Yamauchi N, Shibasaki T. Gender differences in corticotropin and corticosterone secretion and corticotropin-releasing factor mRNA expression in the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus and the central nucleus of the amygdala in response to footshock stress or psychological stress in rats. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2009;34:226–37.
- 105. Desbonnet L, Garrett L, Daly E, McDermott KW, Dinan TG. Sexually dimorphic effects of maternal separation stress on corticotrophin-releasing factor and vasopressin systems in the adult rat brain. Int J Dev Neurosci. 2008;26:259–68.
- 106. Sterrenburg L, Gaszner B, Boerrigter J, Santbergen L, Bramini M, Roubos EW, et al. Sex-dependent and differential responses to acute restraint stress of corticotropin-releasing factor-producing neurons in the rat paraventricular nucleus, central amygdala, and bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. J Neurosci Res. 2012;90:179–92.
- 107. Sterrenburg L, Gaszner B, Boerrigter J, Santbergen L, Bramini M, Elliott E, et al. Chronic stress induces sex-specific alterations in methylation and expression of corticotropin-releasing factor gene in the rat. PLoS One. 2011;6:e28128.
- 108. Duncko R, Kiss A, Skultétyová I, Rusnák M, Jezová D. Corticotropin-releasing hormone mRNA levels in response to chronic mild stress rise in male but not in female rats while tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA levels decrease in both sexes. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2001;26:77–89.
- Lefkowitz RJ, Shenoy SK. Transduction of receptor signals by beta-arrestins. Science. 2005;308:512–7.
- Violin JD, Lefkowitz RJ. Beta-arrestin-biased ligands at seven-transmembrane receptors. Trends Pharmacol Sci. 2007;28:416–22.
- DeWire SM, Ahn S, Lefkowitz RJ, Shenoy SK. Betaarrestins and cell signaling. Annu Rev Physiol. 2007;69:483–510.

- 112. Shukla AK, Xiao K, Lefkowitz RJ. Emerging paradigms of beta-arrestin-dependent seven transmembrane receptor signaling. Trends Biochem Sci. 2011;36:457–69.
- 113. Taché Y, Perdue MH. Role of peripheral CRF signalling pathways in stress-related alterations of gut motility and mucosal function. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2004;16(Suppl 1):137–42.
- Stengel A, Taché Y. Neuroendocrine control of the gut during stress: corticotropin-releasing factor signaling pathways in the spotlight. Annu Rev Physiol. 2009;71:219–39.
- 115. Williams CL, Peterson JM, Villar RG, Burks TF. Corticotropin-releasing factor directly mediates colonic responses to stress. Am J Phys. 1987;253(4 Pt 1):G582–6.
- 116. Saunders PR, Kosecka U, McKay DM, Perdue MH. Acute stressors stimulate ion secretion and increase epithelial permeability in rat intestine. Am J Phys. 1994;267(5 Pt 1):G794–9.
- 117. Kiliaan AJ, Saunders PR, Bijlsma PB, Berin MC, Taminiau JA, Groot JA, et al. Stress stimulates transepithelial macromolecular uptake in rat jejunum. Am J Phys. 1998;275(5 Pt 1):G1037–44.
- 118. Santos J, Yang PC, Soderhölm JD, Benjamin M, Perdue MH. Role of mast cells in chronic stress induced colonic epithelial barrier dysfunction in the rat. Gut. 2001;48:630–6.
- Söderholm JD, Perdue MH. Stress and gastrointestinal tract. II. Stress and intestinal barrier function. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2001;280:G7–13.
- 120. Kiank C, Taché Y, Larauche M. Stress-related modulation of inflammation in experimental models of bowel disease and post-infectious irritable bowel syndrome: role of corticotropin-releasing factor receptors. Brain Behav Immun. 2010;24:41–8.
- 121. Gwee KA, Leong YL, Graham C, McKendrick MW, Collins SM, Walters SJ, et al. The role of psychological and biological factors in postinfective gut dysfunction. Gut. 1999;44:400–6.
- 122. Drossman DA. Mind over matter in the postinfective irritable bowel. Gut. 1999;44:306–7.
- 123. Dinan TG, Quigley EM, Ahmed SM, Scully P, O'Brien S, O'Mahony L, et al. Hypothalamicpituitary-gut axis dysregulation in irritable bowel syndrome: plasma cytokines as a potential biomarker? Gastroenterology. 2006;130:304–11.

Part X

Sex Difference of Gut or Oral Microbiota

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_22

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National

University College of Medicine, Seoul National

University Bundang Hospital,

e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr

Seongnam, Korea (Republic of)

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

Sex Difference of Gut Microbiota

Nayoung Kim

22.1 Introduction

The microbiome refers to the combined total of microbes that exist in a certain environment. Although 99% of the microbes in the human body are bacteria, other forms such as viruses, archaea, fungi, and protozoa exist as well. The digestive system, including the intestines, contains 95% of the total microbes in the human body, while the remaining 1% are widely distributed in the respiratory organs, reproductive organs, mouth, and skin. Therefore, many scholars have focused on studying the gut microbiome. It was thought that the number of symbiotic microbes is more than 10 times higher than the number of somatic cells that compose the human body, but recent study results have calculated the number of symbiotic microbes at 4×10^{13} , which is slightly more than the number of somatic cells. Symbiotic microbes make up 200 g to 1 kg of the total body weight. The gut microbiota that comprise the majority of the symbiotic microbes contribute to the development of immune organs and the visceral plexus after birth, engage in important immune responses, modulate the response to medications, and have a large effect on metabolism. As next-generation sequenc-

ing (NGS) was widely implemented starting in the 2000s, research on metagenomics became very active. Research within this framework has demonstrated that the composition of the gut microbiota is influenced by diet, ethnicity, age, antibiotics, stress, psychological factors, the health of pregnant mothers, the method of delivery (i.e., vaginal delivery vs. cesarean section), environmental factors, and exercise [1]. Sex hormones vary across childhood, puberty (when sex/gender differences start to be observed), pregnancy trimester, menopause, and old age; but the importance of sex/gender differences is often overlooked in gut microbiome research [2]. Simultaneously, estrogen and androgens, the most widely known sex hormones, influence the gut microbiome, which in turn influences the metabolism of estrogen and androgen. As this relationship became understood, the term "microgenderome" was created [3], but this concept is not yet widely known. This chapter explores the sex/gender differences in the dynamic gut microbiome, and its associations with age.

22.2 Factors that Influence the Distribution of Gut Microbiome

The gut microbiome changes drastically by age as the gut microbiota are influenced by both differences in sex hormones and diet and other various environmental factors according to age. The

22



[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*,

role of the gut microbiota is to stimulate maturation of the immune system, which protects against the invasion of pathogens through interactions with the body, and to engage in the regulation of metabolism by producing vitamins and short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) as a supply of nutrition. However, if the interactions that maintain homeostasis are interrupted or dysbiosis of the gut microbiota occurs, health can deteriorate and disease occurs. The human gut microbiome can be categorized into the mucosal gut microbiota, which are attached to the intestinal epithelial cells, and the luminal microbiota, which exist in the intestinal lumen [4] (Fig. 22.1). They activate homeostatic reactions by epithelial cells, macrophages, dendritic cells, T lymphocytes, and B lymphocytes to allow coexistence with potential pathogenic bacterial products in the intestines. Pattern recognition receptors including extracellular toll-like receptor (TLR) and intracellular NOD-like receptor (NLR) recognize bacteria,

and their binding with bacterial receptors activates central signaling pathways, such as the nuclear transcription factor-kappa B (NF-kB), AKT/PI3K, and MAPK pathways. The gut microbiota induce inhibitory substances such as A20, PPAR γ , NF- κ B inhibitors, interferon (IFN) α/β , interleukin (IL)-10, transforming growth factor (TGF)- β , and prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂). The role of the gut microbiota in the normal state is to control pathogenic innate immunity and to promote the immune system through adaptive immunity in the intestinal mucosa. There is a slight difference in the distribution of the phyla of the gut microbiota between patients with irritable bowel syndrome and controls, with the highest proportion found for Firmicutes, followed in descending order by Bacteroidetes. Actinobacteria, Verrucomicrobia and [5] (Fig. 22.2). This distribution changes according to various factors including diet, ethnicity, age, and sex/gender. The ratio of bacteria to human



Fig. 22.1 Categorization of the gut microbiota. The gut microbiome can be categorized into the mucosal gut microbiota, which exist attached to the intestinal epithe-

lial cells, and the luminal microbiota, which exist in the intestinal lumen separated from epithelial cells. *TLR* toll-like receptor (adapted from Seo et al. [4])



Fig. 22.2 Comparison of gut microbiota in the stool of healthy individuals and patients with irritable bowel syndrome. When the stool of patients with irritable bowel syndrome was analyzed, the level of Firmicutes was

cells (B:H ratio) was 2.2 in females, which is markedly higher than the ratio of 1.3 in males [6–11] (Table 22.1), making it important to distinguish sex/gender in interpreting research results. Other than intestinal bacteria, another subset of the gut microbiota that is receiving attention is fungi, which comprise less than 0.1%of the gut microbiota. Most of the fungi found in the intestines are *Candida albicans*, but Torulopsis glabrata and Candida tropicalis have also been reported [12]. Saccharomyces boulardii is used in Lactobacillus formulations to treat diarrhea [12]. Reports have found that the diversity of intestinal mucosal fungi increased in patients with colon cancer [13] and that the percentage of Basidiomycota increased in the mucosa of patients with colitis-related colon cancer, indicating that fungi might be involved in the dysbiosis of gut microbiota in patients with colon cancer [13]. Research on intestinal fungi is in its early stages, and no studies have investigated sex differences.

22.2.1 Differences in Gut Microbiota by Diet and Ethnicity

The gut microbiota, especially *Faecalibacterium*, *Roseburia*, and *Bifidobacterium*, metabolize consumed dietary fibers into SCFAs, which is beneficial because SCFAs correspond to 10% of the energy source of the human body. The gut micro-

lower, that of Bacteroidetes was twice as high, and those of the Proteobacteria and Fusobacteria phyla was higher than in controls. (modified from Lee et al. [5])

biota also metabolize bile acid, which in turn affects the diversity and gene expression of gut microbiota [14]. SCFAs include acetate, propionate, and butyrate, which are energy sources, modulate inflammation, and play an important role in intestinal motility and wound healing [15]. Diet also influences the health of the human body by controlling the composition of the gut microbiota. According to a study that analyzed the stool of 98 individuals, Bacteroides and Prevotella were dominant clusters among the fecal microbes. When proteins or food rich in animal fat were consumed as part of a long-term diet, Bacteroides increased, whereas Prevotella increased when food rich in carbohydrates was consumed [16]. These changes in the gut microbiota according to diet are observed starting in childhood. In a study that compared children living in Italian cities and in rural areas in Africa, 14 healthy African children generated energy from fiber, as they had abundant Prevotella and Xylanibacter, which hydrolyze fiber and sugar, and showed rich biodiversity [16]. Compared to children in Italian cities, their levels of SCFAs and butyrate, which are effective for preventing colon cancer, were higher, and the numbers of E. coli, Shigella, and Salmonella were lower in African children [16]. Unfortunately, this study did not report the sex/gender of the children. However, as the children were pre-pubescent and the sample size was small, it would have been difficult to see sex/gender differences.

	4		•						
Population	Body weight		Blood volume	RBC count	Colon content	bac. conc. (10 ¹¹ /g	Total human cells	Total bacteria	
segment	(kg)	Age (y)	(T)	$(10^{12}/L)$	(g)	wet) ^a	$(10^{12})^{b}$	(10^{12})	B:H
Ref. man	70	20–30	4.9	5.0	420	0.92	30	38	1.3
Ref. woman	63		3.9	4.5	480	0.92	21	44	2.2
Young infant	4.4	4 weeks	0.4	3.8	48	0.92	1.9	4.4	2.3
Infant	9.6	1	0.8	4.5	80	0.92	4	7	1.7
Elder	70	66	3.8°	4.8	420	0.92	22	38	1.8
Obese	140		6.7	5.0 ^d	610 ^e	0.92	40	56	1.4
The ratio is 2.2 in f	emales, which is	greater than that	of 1.3 in males	مصامع فالمانية					

\cap
9
t a
e
<u>le</u>
ŭ
Š
Я
ē
Ð
eq
pt
da
(a
Ы
pd
er
00
ex
s
ĥ
\mathbf{ls}
<u>e</u>
C
lai
Ħ
Ч
to
а
E.
Ē
ba
1
inź
sti
Ite
H
of
u
ti.
or
dc
JIC
e
Ē
Ľ
ς.
2
a l
ā
Ta.

^a No significant change in bacteria concentrations in relation to high variation for the reference man [7, 8] ^b Assuming RBCs account for 84% of the total host cells as observed for the reference man

 $^\circ$ Decrease of 24% in the blood volume, according to [9]

 $^{\rm d}$ No significant change in the hematocrit in obesity [10]

* We could not find any direct measurements of the colonic volume for obese individuals in the literature, yet from an indirect analysis, the volume increases with weight and plateaus at about 600 mL [11]

Research on changes of gut microbiota in response to a high-fat diet is an important issue in the studies regarding the effect of diet on gut microbiota. In a study with F344 mice conducted by the author's research team, a high-fat diet in which 60% of the total calories came from fat was given for 8 weeks [17]. Whereas 6-week-old (equivalent to 6 years old in humans) male and female mice and 2-year-old (equivalent to 80 years old in humans) female mice effectively reorganized the gut microbiota to resolve high fat, this reorganization was not observed in 2-year-old male mice [17]. Previously it was known that a long period of time (around 6 months) was necessary until diet's effect became definite on the gut microbiota. However, recent studies in mice indicated that diet had an immediate effect on gut microbiota, as a high-fat diet resulted in a difference even in a day [18]. The result might be influenced by the short doubling time of E. coli (20 min) and fast metabolism in mice. However, it can be inferred that the diet's effects on gut microbiota occur in a shorter time period in the human body as well. Considering national and international reports [19, 20] that women tend to prefer fruits and vegetables more than men, sex/gender differences in the gut microbiota can be partially attributed to sex/gender differences in diet, and the effect of diet can vary by age.

22.2.2 Changes in Gut Microbiota by Age

It has been reported that there are generally no sex/gender differences in the gut microbiota in childhood, which might be due to the absence of differences in sex hormones before puberty [21]. Sex/gender differences in the gut microbiota are first observed in puberty and continue until old age because the maturation of the intestines is proportional to hormonal changes, which are reflected in the changes in gut microbiota [21].

22.2.2.1 Gut Microbiota of Fetuses and Mothers

The gut microbiota during pregnancy tend to be different from those of females pre-pregnancy. In

addition, there are large changes depending on trimester [22] (Fig. 22.3). During pregnancy, the richness of diversity decreases as Proteobacteria and Actinobacteria increase. When the stool of pregnant female in their third trimester (T3) was transplanted into germ-free mice, fat and insulin resistance developed in mice, but the difference was small when using stool from female in their first trimester (T1) [22]. Of particular interest, the composition of the gut microbiota (Fig. 22.3b) was different in the T1 and the T3, when the levels of estrogen differ (Fig. 22.3a), and there were large differences in the α -diversity in T3 [22] (Fig. 22.3c). The α -diversity in T3, when the level of estrogen is highest, was lower than that in T1 (Fig. 22.3c), and this difference furnishes evidence that female sex hormones influence the gut microbiota.

It is becoming understood that the metabolic requirements in stages of fetal development are different by sex [23, 24]. The maternal gut microbiota appropriately respond to fetal requirements and provide nutrients and metabolic products needed by the fetus [22]. In T1, the gut microbiota in the Clostridiales order, which produce SCFAs such as butyrate, propionate, and acetate, increase substantially [22, 25]. The increased blood SCFAs in mothers cross the placenta and influence the development of the fetal brain [26]. Increased butyrate levels during early pregnancy follow the same trajectory as the development of blood-brain barrier (BBB), and it was proven that the gut microbiota that produce butyrate increased in early-pregnancy mice [27]. Dynamic remodeling is observed in the late stages of human pregnancy as the gut microbiota that produce SCFAs decrease, while the gut microbiota that produce energy increases [22], but sex differences among fetuses in this process are not understood in detail.

22.2.2.2 Gut Microbiota After Birth

The moment a fetus is born, there is a large change in the gut microbiota. For several days or weeks after birth, *Bacteroides*, *Bifidobacterium*, *Parabacteroides*, and *Escherichia/Shigella* compose the majority of the gut microbiota of newborns [28]. *Escherichia/Shigella* belongs to the



Fig. 22.3 Composition trends of the gut microbiota and changes in hormones by stages of pregnancy. There are clear differences in gut microbiota during pregnancy. Compared to the first trimester (T1), when the levels of

estrogen and progesterone are the highest (**a**), the gut microbiota in the third trimester (T3) are different (**b**), and α -diversity (**c**) is lower. *mo* month (adapted from Koren et al. [22])

Gram-negative Proteobacteria phylum, and lipopolysaccharide (LPS), which causes immune responses, is distributed in the outer membrane of *Escherichia/Shigella* [29, 30]. It is known that LPS derived from Proteobacteria directly enters through the vagus nerve or stimulates cytokines produced through paracrine or endocrine mechanisms to cross the BBB to aid neurodevelopment [31]. A recent study found that the gut microbiota stimulates immune cells such as microglia in the brain to cause sex differences in the function of microglia [32].

There are differences in the gut microbiota of newborns depending on the delivery method. Bacteria from the mother's vagina comprise most of the gut microbiota of newborns delivered through vaginal birth, but the gut microbiome of newborns delivered through cesarean section is composed of bacteria from the mother's skin, the environment to which the infant is exposed, the medical staff participating in the delivery, and other newborns [33]. The difference in the gut microbiota by delivery method is maintained until childhood and is associated with increased body mass index or childhood obesity [34]. Newborns delivered through cesarean section tend to have allergies such as rhinoconjunctivitis, which is most common among female newborns delivered by cesarean section in women who have previously undergone at least one cesarean section [35, 36]. According to meta-analyses, children born through cesarean section have a higher risk of autistic disorders, and one of the suggested causes is the difference in the gut microbiota by the delivery method [37, 38]. Male children are more strongly impacted by maternal stress, which is interpreted as reflecting sex differences in the gut microbiota. Research on this topic is conducted through measurements of spatial learning, locomotor activity according to stress, and sucrose preference [39-46]; and the mechanism by which male children are influenced more is explained as follows. Stress in pregnant mothers reduces Lactobacillus, which is the most common taxon in the vagina and vaginal immune activity, as well as the most common resident flora in newborns' intestines [47]. The decrease in Lactobacillus interferes with the composition of breast milk because they produce lactic acid; therefore, an insufficient amount of Lactobacillus lengthens the time needed to establish an acidic gut environment, which is an important transition in infancy [48-50]. An increase in anaerobic bacteria such as Bacteroides and *Clostridium* due to a decrease in *Lactobacillus* was only observed in male children. Changes in the composition of gut microbiota in newborns cause disruptions in the supply of histidine and glutamate, which are important nutrients for brain development, but were not observed in female children [51, 52]. Summarizing the evidence so far, the vaginal microbiota of mothers influence the gut microbiota of newborns differently by sex, and stress before birth is an important aspect of sex differences in the development of the intestines and the brain.

22.2.2.3 Gut Microbiota During Childhood and Puberty

Changes in the composition and function of gut microbiota occur during childhood and puberty. The composition of the microbiota becomes more complex, and the gut microbiota tend to be more unstable than in adults [53]. It is known that there are no sex differences in childhood due to the lack of sex hormone signaling. Sex differences in the gut microbiota start to occur during puberty [54]. According to studies in mice, the changes during puberty are further altered through maturation during adulthood in male mice, but in female mice, changes during puberty are maintained through adulthood [55]. As evidence, when male mice are neutered during puberty to reduce testosterone, sex differences in gut microbiota do not occur in adulthood, indicating that testosterone affects the composition of dimorphic gut microbiota [55]. Interestingly, when the cecal content, which is more diverse and abundant in adult male mice, was injected into pubescent female mice, the gut microbiota and metabolites in the female mice showed a more masculine pattern, and testosterone increased and was maintained until adulthood in female mice [56]. Moreover, when the cecal content of adult male mice and flutamide, an androgen receptor antagonist, were injected into female mice together, the gut microbiota did not show a masculine pattern, indicating that the increase in testosterone is imperative for downstream changes in the gut microbiota from the transplantation of male cecal content [56]. In contrast, when the intestinal content of female mice was given to male mice, estrogen levels did not increase and female characteristics did not develop, showing sex differences [21].

22.2.2.4 Changes in the Gut Microbiota in Adulthood and Old Age

The changes in the gut microbiota that occur during the transitional phase from puberty to adulthood are directed toward better adaptation to stress, infection, diet, and antibiotics [57]. Chronic social stress destroys intestinal barrier function and changes the bacterial composition. The intestinal epithelial immune response is activated as bacteria can more easily approach the lymphatic tissue. In this process, males have more Bacteroides and Prevotella than females, demonstrating a sex difference in stress and gut microbiota [58]. Males and females in adulthood display sex differences in hormonal changes. Males maintain a steady level of testosterone, whereas females regularly have hormonal changes, ultimately resulting in differences in the gut microbiota [59, 60]. The famous ELDERMET
consortium listed the health-related aging signs associated with the gut microbiota as frailty, nutritional status, metabolism score, and changes in inflammation markers [61–63]. The core changes in the gut microbiota with age are an increased proportion of *Bacteroides* species and *Clostridium* bacteria [61]. An increase in Firmicutes and anaerobic bacteria is characteristic in people over the age of 100 [64], and among individuals older than 70, the physiological function of the intestines affects the composition of gut microbiota [54, 65, 66]. For example, the quantity of the gut microbiota of patients with constipation increases proportionally to the intestinal transit time [67]. As the stool became harder and the number of Methanobrevibacter and Akkermansia bacteria increased. the Ruminococcaceae-Bacteroides enterotype increased [67]. In contrast, in patients with diarrhea or loose stool with a fast intestinal transit time, Firmicutes (Faecalibacterium, Lactococcus, Roseburia) and Prevotella enterotypes increased [68]. According to a study with 35,292 German adults, there were age differences in the number of colony-forming units. For example, E. coli and Enterococci spp. increased with age, and Bacteroides spp. decreased with age, while there were changes in Lactobacilli and no *Bifidobacteria* [65, 69]. In a study by the author's research team that directly measured SCFAs in the cecal content of male mice aged 6 weeks, 31 weeks, 74 weeks, and 2 years, Lachnospiraceae, which mainly produce SCFAs, and EU622775_s and EU622773_s, which have a strong association with butyrate, increased in 31-week-old male mice (human age of 30 years), showing age differences [70]. It is regrettable that sex differences in the gut microbiota that produce SCFAs were not examined, as comparisons with female mice were not made.

22.2.2.5 Changes in the Gut Microbiota Before and After Menopause

Aging is a very dynamic process for females, in whom ovarian activity decreases and hormones change rapidly. The composition of gut microbiota is different between before and after menopause (Fig. 22.4a), and the ratio of Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes increases after menopause to a level greater than that of males (p = 0.013) [71] (Fig. 22.4b). Moreover, the ratio of *Lachnospira* and *Roseburia, Prevotella, Parabacteroides*, and *Bilophila genera*, as well as plasma glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), IL-6, and MCP-1 levels increased after menopause [71], indicating that hormonal changes have a major effect on the gut microbiota.

22.3 Sex Differences in the Gut Microbiota

As humans age, the gut microbiota matures, and changes in sex hormones occur. The gut microbiota and sex hormones have a close relationship [21]. In a study with 1135 individuals, females had substantial diversity in the gut microbiota, which was influenced by birth control pills or ovariectomy, and had antibiotic resistance genes, which might have been related to the frequent use of antibiotics [72]. Numerous studies about the sex differences of gut microbiota are being published [6, 73] (Table 22.1) as more detailed information is available since the NGS method became more elaborated in 2014.

22.3.1 Relationship Between Sex Hormones and the Gut Microbiota

Sex hormones affect gut microbiota, especially through the immune activity. In addition, both of estrogen and androgens are affected by gut microbiota, especially, by β -glucuronidase producing microbiota in the menopause and in old male. It means there is a similarity in the metabolism of sex hormones in male and female in terms of gut microbiota.

22.3.1.1 Estrogen and Gut Microbiota

Reproductive organs are controlled by various hormones through intricate feedback, and the organs that secrete estrogen are the ovaries, adrenal cortex, and adipose tissue. Estrogen directly



Fig.22.4 Changes in the gut microbiota post-menopause. The composition of the gut microbiota pre- and post-menopause differs (a), and the ratio of Firmicutes to

controls the metabolism of bacteria through the combination with estrogen receptor beta (ER β) [74], and bacteria are also actively involved in the metabolism of estrogen [3].

22.3.1.1.1 Modulation of the Gut Microbiota by Estrogen

Estrogen and testosterone have a direct impact on the gut microbiota and immune cells. β -estradiol stimulates dendritic cells to secrete IL-12 and IFN- γ , which in turn activate the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines [75]. β-estradiol extends the survival of B lymphocytes and activates polyclonal B lymphocytes, increasing intestinal permeability and creating a proinflammatory environment, which creates an inflammation process loop as the gut microbiota migrate to the lamina propria, causing inflammation [75]. There are conflicting reports stating that 17β -estradiol reduced metabolic endotoxemia and low-grade chronic inflammation [76]. Male mice treated with 17β-estradiol showed a decreased production of Proteobacteria and LPS, and metabolic endotoxemia and low-grade chronic inflammation increased in female mice that underwent ovariectomy [76]. The results indicated that estrogen itself influences the composition of gut

Bacteroidetes increases to a level higher than that of males after menopause (**b**) (adapted from Santos-Marcos et al. [71])

microbiota, increases intestinal permeability through its ongoing effects on immune cells, and affects the composition of the gut microbiota.

22.3.1.1.2 Involvement of the Gut Microbiota in the Metabolism of Estrogen

The gut microbiota are not only influenced by estrogen, but also engage in the metabolism of estrogen [3]. When conjugated estrogens are secreted into the bile and kidney after circulating in blood, β-glucuronidase in gut microbiota mutates the estrogen that flows into the bile into its deconjugated forms [3] (Fig. 22.5a). This active deconjugated estrogen is absorbed into the blood and enters the enterohepatic circulation to act on ER α and ER β in the reproductive organs, muscle, nervous system, and vasculature [3] (Fig. 22.5a). Some taxa in the gut microbiota are rich in β -glucuronidase, while others do not have it, limiting the bacteria that can influence the blood levels of estrogen [3] (Fig. 22.5b). ERs are widely distributed in the central nervous system and visceral nervous system. After estrogen binds with ERs, the hormone-receptor complex combines with the ligand-binding site of ERs that exist in the nucleus to cause morphological changes [77]. This becomes the ligand-ER com-



b

Genus	β-glucuronidase	β-galactosidase	Genus	β-glucuronidase	β-galactosidase
Collinsella	+	-	Faecalibacterium	+	+
Edwardsiella	+	-	Lactobacillus	+	+
Alistipes	+	+	Marvinbryantia	+	+
Bacteroides	+	+	Propionibacterium	+	+
Bifidobacterium	+	+	Roseburia	+	+
Citrobacter	+	+	Tannerella	+	+
Clostridium	+	+	Actinomyces	-	+
Dermabacter	+	+	Alistipes	-	+
Escherichia	+	+			

Fig. 22.5 Metabolic processes of estrogen by gut microbiota. When conjugated estrogen is secreted into the kidney and stool, β -glucuronidase converts conjugated estrogens into their deconjugated forms. Active deconju-

gated estrogen is absorbed into the blood and enters enterohepatic circulation to act on the estrogen receptors ER α and ER β (a). Bacteria that secrete β -glucuronidase (b) (adapted from Kwa et al. [3])

plex, which interacts with estrogen-responsive elements (EREs) located in gene promoters. This complex operates with various co-activators and co-repressor multiprotein complexes that promote or repress gene transcription [77]. An association was found between total estrogen levels in the urine and the richness and α -diversity of fecal bacteria among males and menopausal females. Estrogen secreted in organs other than the ovaries was associated with fecal Clostridia and Ruminococcaceae, and the activity of fecal β -glucuronidase was inversely associated with fecal estrogen [73]. However, the results were different in pre-menopausal females, indicating that ovarian estrogen and non-ovarian estrogen are affected differently by the involvement of the gut microbiota in estrogen metabolism [78]. In pre-menopausal women, estrogen was not related to gut microbiota or its enzymes, and non-ovarian estrogen was associated with gut microbiota and β -glucuronidase [78].

22.3.1.2 Androgens and the Gut Microbiota

Metabolism of androgens is also affected by β -glucuronidase gut microbiota which is very similar to that of estrogen. In addition, patients with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) show the symptoms related with androgens excess.

22.3.1.2.1 The Effect of Gut Microbiota on the Metabolism of Androgens

There are deconjugated and glucuronidated forms of androgens. In mice, the levels of glucuronidated testosterone and dihydrotestosterone (DHT) were high in the small intestines, while the level of free DHT type was high at the end of the large intestines [79]. In young male mice, the level of free DHT was 70 times higher in the stool than in the blood serum, and in germ-free mice, glucuronidated testosterone and DHT levels were high, but the free DHT level was low, indicating that the gut microbiota engage in the deglucuronidation of androgen [79]. Moreover, when the associations between testosterone in males and estrogen in females and the gut microbiota were examined, the diversity of gut microbiota was greater in males with high testosterone and females with high estrogen levels [80]. Acinetobacter, Dorea, Ruminococcus, and Megamonas were prevalent in males with high testosterone levels, and Bacteroidetes were prevalent, while Firmicutes were less prevalent in females with high estrogen levels. Females with low estrogen levels had more Slackia and Butyricimonas genera [80].

The effect of sex hormones on immune cells is also different. In males, testosterone inhibited the

proliferation of T lymphocytes and interferes with the TLR mechanism which is different from estrogen's effect on B lymphocytes. In addition, testosterone did not influence the intestinal epithelial cell barriers, unlike estrogen [75]. When the testes were removed from male mice with type 1 diabetes, the sex differences in gut microbiota disappeared, confirming the effect of androgens on gut microbiota [55].

22.3.1.2.2 Changes in the Gut Microbiota Due to Excess Androgen in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome

PCOS is a disease in which numerous ovarian cysts reduce normal ovarian tissue that secrete estrogen and increase blood androgen levels. In disease models of PCOS, there have been many reports about changes in the gut microbiota [73]. For example, in PCOS models with a high-fat diet and 5-alpha-DHT treatment, diversity of the gut microbiota and Bacteroidetes decreased, resulting in disorders in the gut microbiota [81]. In a study with 33 patients with PCOS, the distribution of gut microbiota was clearly different compared to that of healthy controls who were not obese. Bacteroides, Escherichia/Shigella, and Streptococcus levels were higher in patients with PCOS. There was a negative association with ghrelin and positive associations with testosterone and body mass index. Levels of Akkermansia, Ruminococcaceae, body weight, sex hormones, and brain-gut peptides decreased [82]. In a comparative study with eight obese patients with PCOS, 10 non-obese patients with PCOS, and nine controls, the PCOS groups had lower α -diversity and higher β -diversity [82]. Butyrate levels were only low in non-obese patients with PCOS, indicating that obesity is an important factor in gut microbiota disorders in patients with PCOS [83]. Fifty-eight obese adolescents with PCOS had lower α -diversity, higher Actinobacteria, lower Bacteroidetes, and similar levels of Firmicutes and Proteobacteria compared to controls [84]. Low α -diversity was closely related to high testosterone [85]. When letrozole, an aromatase antagonist that lowers androgen levels, was injected into PCOS-induced mice, reproduction, metabolism, and disorders in the

gut microbiota improved. When letrozole was withdrawn, the three factors reversed to similar levels as before, suggesting that symptom improvement is possible in patients with PCOS who maintain low androgen levels [86].

22.4 Conclusions

The gut microbiome is influenced by diet, ethnicity, age, antibiotics, stress, psychological factors, health of pregnant mothers, delivery methods (i.e., vaginal birth or cesarean section), environmental factors, and exercise. With the recent increase in the number of studies reporting sex differences in the gut microbiota, the role of sex hormones such as estrogen and androgen has been emphasized. For example, the composition of the gut microbiota before and after menopause is different, and the ratio of Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes increases after menopause to a level higher than that of males. There are differences in the gut microbiota according to stages of pregnancy, when changes in sex hormones are clear. In the T3, when estrogen levels are highest, α -diversity decreases. Moreover, there are sex differences in the effect of the vaginal bacteria of mothers on the gut microbiota and brain development of newborns. Male children are more strongly affected by maternal stress than female children. ER β directly controls the metabolism of the gut microbiota, which in turn are actively involved in the metabolism of estrogen. β -glucuronidase in the gut microbiota mutates conjugated estrogen into its deconjugated forms, which enter into the enterohepatic circulation and act on the ER α and ER β . This phenomenon does not occur before menopause in females, suggesting that it is limited to non-ovarian estrogen. In recent research, an association between sex hormones and the gut microbiota was shown by the observations that obese-type PCOS, by which blood androgen levels increase, causes disorders in gut microbiota and that treatment with letrozole, which is an aromatase antagonist that lowers the level of androgen, erases the changes in gut microbiota. Many diseases have been shown to be related to the gut microbiota, which are

closely related to sex hormones. Therefore, research on differences in the gut microbiota related to sex hormones can aid in the development of new drugs.

References

- Osadchiy V, Martin CR, Mayer EA. The gut-brain axis and the microbiome: mechanisms and clinical implications. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;17:322–32.
- Kim YS, Unno T, Kim BY, Park MS. Sex difference in gut microbiota. World J Men's Health. 2020;38:48–60.
- Kwa M, Plottel CS, Blaser MJ, Adams S. The intestinal microbiome and estrogen receptor-positive female breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2016;108:djw029.
- Seo AY, Kim N, Oh DH. Abdominal bloating: pathophysiology and treatment. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2013;19:433–53.
- Lee SM, Kim N, Yoon H, Kim YS, Choi SI, Park JH, et al. Compositional and functional changes of gut microbiota in irritable bowel syndrome patients. Gut Liver. 2021;15:253–61.
- Sender R, Fuchs S, Milo R. Revised estimates for the number of human and bacteria cells in the body. PLoS Biol. 2016;14:e1002533.
- Roger LC, Mccartney AL. Longitudinal investigation of the faecal microbiota of healthy full-term infants using fluorescence in situ hybridization and denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis. Microbiology. 2010:3317–28.
- Vulevic J, Juric A, Tzortzis G, Gibson GR. A mixture of trans-galactooligosaccharides reduces markers of metabolic syndrome and modulates the fecal microbiota and immune function of overweight adults. J Nutr. 2013;143:324–31.
- 9. Davy KP, Seals DR. Total blood volume in healthy young and older men. Am Physiol Soc. 1994;76:2059–62.
- Retzlaff JA, Tauxe WN, Kiel JM, Stroebel CF. Erythrocyte volume, plasma volume, and lean body mass in adult men and women. Blood. 1969;33:649–67.
- 11. Young JF, Luecke RH, Pearce BA, Lee T, Ahn H, Baek S, et al. Human organ/tissue growth algorithms that include obese individuals and black/white population organ weight similarities from autopsy data. J Toxicol Environ Health. 2009;72:527–40.
- Czerucka D, Piche T, Rampal P. Review article: yeast as probiotics–Saccharomyces boulardii. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2007;26:767–78.
- Richard ML, Liguori G, Lamas B, Brandi G, da Costa G, Hoffmann TW, et al. Mucosa-associated microbiota dysbiosis in colitis associated cancer. Gut Microbes. 2018;9:131–42.
- Tremaroli V, Bäckhed F. Functional interactions between the gut microbiota and host metabolism. Nature. 2012;489:242–9.

- Yoon K, Kim N. The effect of microbiota on colon carcinogenesis. J Cancer Prev. 2018;23:117–25.
- 16. De Filippo C, Cavalieri D, Di Paola M, Ramazzotti M, Poullet JB, Massart S, et al. Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:14691–6.
- Lee SM, Kim N, Yoon H, Nam RH, Lee DH. Microbial changes and host response in F344 rat colon depending on sex and age following a high-fat diet. Front Microbiol. 2018;9:2236.
- Foley KP, Soumaya Zlitni S, Denou E, Duggan BM, Chan RW, Stearns JC, et al. Long term but not short term exposure to obesity related microbiota promotes host insulin resistance. Nat Commun. 2018;9:468.
- Lee HS, Cho YH, Park J, Shin HR, Sung MK. Dietary intake of phytonutrients in relation to fruit and vegetable consumption in Korea. J Acad Nutr Diet. 2013;113:1194–7.
- 20. Regu GM, Kim H, Kim YJ, Paek JE, Lee G, Chang N, et al. Association between dietary carotenoid intake and bone mineral density in Korean adults aged 30–75 years using data from the fourth and fifth Korean national health and nutrition examination surveys (2008–2011). Nutrients. 2017;9:E1025.
- Jasarevic E, Morrison KE, Bale TL. Sex differences in the gut microbiome-brain axis across the lifespan. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci. 2016;371:20150122.
- Koren O, Goodrich JK, Cullender TC, Spor A, Laitinen K, Bäckhed HK, et al. Host remodeling of the gut microbiome and metabolic changes during pregnancy. Cell. 2012;150:470–80.
- Nugent BM, Bale TL. The omniscient placenta:metabolic and epigenetic regulation of fetal programming. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2015;39:28–37.
- Bronson SL, Bale TL. The placenta as a mediator of stress effects on neurodevelopmental reprogramming. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2015;41:207–18.
- Macfabe DF. Short-chain fatty acid fermentation products of the gut microbiome: implications in autism spectrum disorders. Microb Ecol Health Dis. 2012;23:19260.
- Nagai A, Takebe K, Nio-Kobayashi J, Takahashi-Iwanaga H, Iwanaga T. Cellular expression of the monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) family in the placenta of mice. Placenta. 2010;31:126–33.
- Braniste V, Al-Asmakh M, Kowal C, Anuar F, Abbaspour A, Tóth M, et al. The gut microbiota influences blood–brain barrier permeability in mice. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6:263ra158.
- Bäckhed F, Roswall J, Peng Y, Feng Q, Jia H, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, et al. Dynamics and stabilization of the human gut microbiome during the first year of life. Cell Host Microbe. 2015;17:852.
- Elahi S, Ertelt JM, Kinder JM, Jiang TT, Zhang X, Xin L, et al. Immunosuppressive CD71+ erythroid cells compromise neonatal host defence against infection. Nature. 2013;504:158–62.

- Deshmukh HS, Liu Y, Menkiti OR, Mei J, Dai N, O'Leary CE, et al. The microbiota regulates neutrophil homeostasis and host resistance to Escherichia coli K1 sepsis in neonatal mice. Nat Med. 2014;20:524–30.
- Quan N, Banks WA. Brain-immune communication pathways. Brain Behav Immun. 2007;21:727–35.
- 32. Erny D, Hrabě de Angelis AL, Jaitin D, Wieghofer P, Staszewski O, David E, et al. Host microbiota constantly control maturation and function of microglia in the CNS. Nat Neurosci. 2015;18:965–77.
- 33. Dominguez-Bello MG, Costello EK, Contreras M, Magris M, Hidalgo G, Fierer N, et al. Delivery mode shapes the acquisition and structure of the initial microbiota across multiple body habitats in newborns. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107:11971–5.
- 34. Blustein J, Attina T, Liu M, Ryan AM, Cox LM, Blaser MJ, et al. Association of caesarean delivery with child adiposity from age 6 weeks to 15 years. Int J Obes. 2013;37:900–6.
- Roduit C, Scholtens S, de Jongste JC, Wijga AH, Gerritsen J, Postma DS, et al. Asthma at 8 years of age in children born by caesarean section. Thorax. 2009;64:107–13.
- Renz-Polster H, David MR, Buist AS, Vollmer WM, O'Connor EA, Frazier EA, et al. Caesarean section delivery and the risk of allergic disorders in childhood. Clin Exp Allergy. 2005;35:1466–72.
- 37. Curran EA, O'Neill SM, Cryan JF, Kenny LC, Dinan TG, Khashan AS, et al. Research review: birth by caesarean section and development of autism spectrum disorder and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2015;56:500–8.
- Curran EA, Cryan JF, Kenny LC, Dinan TG, Kearney PM, Khashan AS. Obstetrical mode of delivery and childhood behavior and psychological development in a British cohort. J Autism Dev Disord. 2016;46:603–14.
- Bronson SL, Bale TL. Prenatal stress-induced increases in placental inflammation and offspring hyperactivity are male-specific and ameliorated by maternal anti-inflammatory treatment. Endocrinology. 2014;155:2635–46.
- 40. Howerton CL, Morgan CP, Fischer DB, Bale TL. O-GlcNAc transferase (OGT) as a placental biomarker of maternal stress and reprogramming of CNS gene transcription in development. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110:5169–74.
- Mueller BR, Bale TL. Impact of prenatal stress on long term body weight is dependent on timing and maternal sensitivity. Physiol Behav. 2006;88: 605–14.
- Mueller BR, Bale TL. Early prenatal stress impact on coping strategies and learning performance is sex dependent. Physiol Behav. 2007;91:55–65.
- Mueller BR, Bale TL. Sex-specific programming of offspring emotionality after stress early in pregnancy. J Neurosci. 2008;28:9055–65.
- 44. Pankevich DE, Mueller BR, Brockel B, Bale TL. Prenatal stress programming of offspring feed-

ing behavior and energy balance begins early in pregnancy. Physiol Behav. 2009;98:94–102.

- 45. Brunton PJ, Sullivan KM, Kerrigan D, Russell JA, Seckl JR, Drake AJ. Sex-specific effects of prenatal stress on glucose homoeostasis and peripheral metabolism in rats. J Endocrinol. 2013;217:161–73.
- 46. Maccari S, Darnaudery M, Morley-Fletcher S, Zuena AR, Cinque C, Van Reeth O. Prenatal stress and longterm consequences: implications of glucocorticoid hormones. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2003;27:119–27.
- 47. Jasarevic E, Howerton CL, Howard CD, Bale TL. Alterations in the vaginal microbiome by maternal stress are associated with metabolic reprogramming of the offspring gut and brain. Endocrinology. 2015;156:3265–76.
- Kunji ER, Mierau I, Hagting A, Poolman B, Konings WN. The proteolytic systems of lactic acid bacteria. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek. 1996;70:187–221.
- Jiang T, Savaiano DA. In vitro lactose fermentation by human colonic bacteria is modified by *Lactobacillus acidophilus* supplementation. J Nutr. 1997;127:1489–95.
- Soergel KH. Colonic fermentation: metabolic and clinical implications. Clin Invest. 1994;72:742–8.
- McDonald JW, Johnston MV. Physiological and pathophysiological roles of excitatory amino acids during central nervous system development. Brain Res Brain Res Rev. 1990;15:41–70.
- McDonald JW, Johnston MV. Excitatory amino acid neurotoxicity in the developing brain. NIDA Res Monogr. 1993;133:185–205.
- Hollister EB, Riehle K, Luna RA, Weidler EM, Rubio-Gonzales M, Mistretta TA, et al. Structure and function of the healthy pre-adolescent pediatric gut microbiome. Microbiome. 2015;3:36.
- Sisk CL, Foster DL. The neural basis of puberty and adolescence. Nat Neurosci. 2004;7:1040–7.
- Yurkovetskiy L, Burrows M, Khan AA, Graham L, Volchkov P, Becker L, et al. Gender bias in autoimmunity is influenced by microbiota. Immunity. 2013;39:400–12.
- Markle JG, Frank DN, Mortin-Toth S, Robertson CE, Feazel LM, Rolle-Kampczyk U, et al. Sex differences in the gut microbiome drive hormone-dependent regulation of autoimmunity. Science. 2013;339:1084–8.
- Spor A, Koren O, Ley R. Unravelling the effects of the environment and host genotype on the gut microbiome. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2011;9:279–90.
- 58. Mueller S, Saunier K, Hanisch C, Norin E, Alm L, Midtvedt T, et al. Differences in fecal microbiota in different European study populations in relation to age, gender, and country: a cross-sectional study. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2006;72:1027–33.
- Ober C, Loisel DA, Gilad Y. Sex-specific genetic architecture of human disease. Nat Rev Genet. 2008;9:911–22.
- 60. Viña J, Borrás C, Gambini J, Sastre J, Pallardó FV. Why females live longer than males: control of longevity by sex hormones. Sci Aging Knowl Environ. 2005;2005:pe17.

- 61. Claesson MJ, Cusack S, O'Sullivan O, Greene-Diniz R, de Weerd H, Flannery E, et al. Composition, variability, and temporal stability of the intestinal microbiota of the elderly. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108(Suppl 1):4586–91.
- Claesson MJ, Jeffery IB, Conde S, Power SE, O'Connor EM, Cusack S, et al. Gut microbiota composition correlates with diet and health in the elderly. Nature. 2012;488:178–84.
- Rampelli S, Candela M, Turroni S, Biagi E, Collino S, Franceschi C, et al. Functional metagenomic profiling of intestinal microbiome in extreme ageing. Aging (Albany NY). 2013;5:902–12.
- 64. Biagi E, Nylund L, Candela M, Ostan R, Bucci L, Pini E, et al. Through ageing, and beyond: gut microbiota and inflammatory status in seniors and centenarians. PLoS One. 2010;5:e10667.
- Bischoff SC. Microbiota and aging. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2016;19:26–30.
- Salles N. Basic mechanisms of the aging gastrointestinal tract. Dig Dis. 2007;25:112–7.
- 67. Vandeputte D, Falony G, Vieira-Silva S, Tito RY, Joossens M, Raes J. Stool consistency is strongly associated with gut microbiota richness and composition, enterotypes and bacterial growth rates. Gut. 2016;65:57–62.
- 68. Parthasarathy G, Chen J, Chen X, Chia N, O'Connor HM, Wolf PG, et al. Relationship between microbiota of the colonic mucosa vs feces and symptoms, colonic transit, and methane production in female patients with chronic constipation. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:367–79.e1.
- Enck P, Zimmermann K, Rusch K, Schwiertz A, Klosterhalfen S, Frick JS. The effects of ageing on the colonic bacterial microflora in adults. Z Gastroenterol. 2009;47:653–8.
- Choi SI, Son JH, Kim N, Kim YS, Nam RH, Park JH, et al. Changes in cecal microbiota and short-chain fatty acid during lifespan of the rat. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2021;27:134–46.
- Santos-Marcos JA, Rangel-Zuñiga OA, Jimenez-Lucena R, Quintana-Navarro GM, Garcia-Carpintero S, Malagon MM, et al. Influence of gender and menopausal status on gut microbiota. Maturitas. 2018;116:43–53.
- 72. Sinha T, Vich Vila A, Garmaeva S, Jankipersadsing SA, Imhann F, Collij V, et al. Analysis of 1135 gut metagenomes identifies sex-specific resistome profiles. Gut Microbes. 2019;10:358–66.
- Yoon K, Kim N. Roles of sex hormones and gender in the gut microbiota. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2021;27:314–25.
- 74. Menon R, Watson SE, Thomas LN, Allred CD, Dabney A, Azcarate-Peril MA, et al. Diet complexity and estrogen receptor β status affect the composition of the murine intestinal microbiota. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2013;79:5763–73.
- Gomez A, Luckey D, Taneja V. The gut microbiome in autoimmunity: sex matters. Clin Immunol. 2015;159:154–62.

- 76. Kaliannan K, Robertson RC, Murphy K, Stanton C, Kang C, Wang B, et al. Estrogen-mediated gut microbiome alterations influence sexual dimorphism in metabolic syndrome in mice. Microbiome. 2018;6:205.
- 77. Nie X, Xie R, Tuo B. Effects of estrogen on the gastrointestinal tract. Dig Dis Sci. 2018;63:583–96.
- Flores R, Shi J, Fuhrman B, Xu X, Veenstra TD, Gail MH, et al. Fecal microbial determinants of fecal and systemic estrogens and estrogen metabolites: a crosssectional study. J Transl Med. 2012;10:253.
- 79. Colldén H, Landin A, Wallenius V, Elebring E, Fändriks L, Nilsson ME, et al. The gut microbiota is a major regulator of androgen metabolism in intestinal contents. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2019;317:E1182–92.
- Shin JH, Park YH, Sim M, Kim SA, Joung H, Shin DM. Serum level of sex steroid hormone is associated with diversity and profiles of human gut microbiome. Res Microbiol. 2019;170:192–201.
- 81. Zheng Y, Yu J, Liang C, Li S, Wen X, Li Y. Characterization on gut microbiome of PCOS rats and its further design by shifts in high-fat diet and dihydrotestosterone induction in PCOS rats. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng. 2021;44:953–64.

- Liu R, Zhang C, Shi Y, Zhang F, Li L, Wang X, et al. Dysbiosis of gut microbiota associated with clinical parameters in polycystic ovary syndrome. Front Microbiol. 2017;8:324.
- Liang Y, Ming Q, Liang J, Zhang Y, Zhang H, Shen T. Gut microbiota dysbiosis in polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): association with obesity - a preliminary report. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 2020;98:803–9.
- 84. Chu W, Zhai J, Xu J, Li S, Li W, Chen ZJ, et al. Continuous light-induced PCOS-like changes in reproduction, metabolism, and gut microbiota in sprague-dawley rats. Front Microbiol. 2019;10:3145.
- 85. Jobira B, Frank DN, Pyle L, Silveira LJ, Kelsey MM, Garcia-Reyes Y, et al. Obese adolescents with PCOS have altered biodiversity and relative abundance in gastrointestinal microbiota. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2020;105:e2134–44.
- 86. Arroyo P, Ho BS, Sau L, Kelley ST, Thackray VG. Letrozole treatment of pubertal female mice results in activational effects on reproduction, metabolism and the gut microbiome. PLoS One. 2019;14:e0223274.



23

Gut Microbiota and Depression, Anxiety, and Cognitive Disorders

Hyun Jung Hur and Hye Youn Park

23.1 Introduction

It is widely accepted that the gut microbiome plays a crucial role in brain development and function in all types of animals, including human beings. In particular, the concept of brain-gutmicrobiome axis explains the effect of gut microbiome on the development and function of the human brain [1]. A stream of research has found evidence supporting the bidirectional relationship between the gut microbiome and the brain through neurological, immunological, and metabolic pathways [1]. Specifically, the gut microbiome and bacterial flora can influence the cognition, emotion, and behaviors of organisms through these pathways. Concurrently, changes in the brain owing to stress or different emotions can influence the environment of the gut microbiota. Multiple epidemiological studies have pointed out the clinical comorbidity between psychiatric disorders and gastrointestinal symptoms and that psychological conditions such as depression and anxiety commonly coexist with functional dyspepsia and irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) [2]. Furthermore, researchers have suggested the existence of sex differences in the development and function of the brain-gutmicrobiome system with sex hormones partially

responsible for its development [3] (Fig. 23.1). Thus, this chapter discusses and elucidates the bidirectional relationship between the gut microbiome and brain function, specifically focusing on associations of the gut microbiome with depression, anxiety, and cognitive function, including sex differences in these associations.

23.2 Microbiome and Brain Functions

23.2.1 Bidirectional Relationship Between the Gut Microbiome and Brain Functions and Its Mechanism

A large number of animal studies have demonstrated that the gut microbiota can affect brain development and brain formation [4]. In particular, these studies have reported that transgenic and knockout mice lacking gut microbiota exhibit cognitive impairment caused by an underdevelopment of the hypothalamus–pituitary–adrenal (HPA) axis and a malformation of the hippocampus [5]. Many studies have also found out that abnormal behaviors such as excessive risky behaviors of mice are substantially reduced after normalizing their bacterial flora in intestines [6]. Regarding these changes in emotion and behavior, several studies have suggested that gut microbiota contribute to the manifestation of serotonin

H. J. Hur · H. Y. Park (🖂)

Department of Psychiatry, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Republic of Korea e-mail: hy.park@snu.ac.kr

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_23



Timelines of the sex-sepcific maturations of gut, hormones and the brain

Fig. 23.1 Timelines of sex-specific maturations of gut, hormones, and the brain. *ICE* intestinal epithelial cell (adapted from Jašarević et al. [3])

(5-hydroxytryptamine) receptor and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in the brain [1].

In adulthood, as brain development is expected to be complete, the condition of gut microbiota remains stable. However, many factors such as changes in diet, antibiotic use, and stress may cause fluctuations in the intestinal environment [7]. For instance, when mice were given abundant taurine, changes in gut microbiota were observed [8]. Subsequently, their anxiety behaviors were reduced and cognitive learning was improved [8]. This finding implied that changes in gut microbiota can influence brain function and behaviors. Another study has illustrated that changes in gut microbiome due to antibiotic intake can influence BDNF levels in the hippocampus and amygdala of mice [9]. Other studies have reported that low metabolite activities of dopamine and serotonin and BDNF expression in the hippocampus can be normalized by supplementing mice with a specific strain of probiotics that can prevent cognitive impairment due to stress [5, 10]. These results are in line with clinical findings that patients with IBS and patients who use antibiotics frequently show emotional and behavioral changes [11]. In other words, the gut microbiota play a major role in controlling multiple types of brain functions, including cognition, behavior, and emotion in organisms across their lifespans.

The gut microbiota can control brain function through various pathways. First, the neural pathway, which is mediated by the vagus nerve and gamma aminobutyric acid (GABA), is known to affect the level of anxiety or anxiety behavior [12]. The metabolic pathway comprises the second type of pathway, which can be demonstrated, for instance, by the metabolism of tryptophan in organisms, which can influence emotions such as depression by changing serotonin activity [13]. Gut microbiota are involved in moderating levels of cytokines and their secretion through the immunological pathway in the intestine or the entire body [14]. For example, the association between antibiotic or probiotic use and changes in depressive symptoms can be explained by the fact that the gut microbiota can influence the modulation of cytokines such as interleukin-4 (IL-4) and interferon-gamma (IFN-gamma) related to the pathophysiology of depression [15]. The last type of pathway that can control brain function is the digestive pathway. As a giant endocrine organ, the digestive system can modulate the secretion of gastrin, cholecystokinin, and serotonin, which in turn can make changes in endocrine cells and alter multiple peptides related to brain function [16]. Apart from these pathways, several recent studies have hypothesized the existence of other direct neuroregulating mechanisms because neurotransmitters such as noradrenaline, dopamine, and acetylcholine can be

extracted from bacteria. These studies suggest that the use of probiotics is an alternative treatment for psychiatric conditions [17].

On the contrary, changes in the brain can influence the constitution of gut microbiota. Many experiments have illustrated that excessive stress can alter gut microbiota in mice [18]. Many studies have found that noradrenaline, which is increased during high levels of stress, may alter gene expression of certain bacteria [19]. Although specific mechanisms of this finding are only partially established, this stream of study has investigated the effect of changes in brain function on gut microbiota and its environment and emphasized the importance of further studies in this area.

23.2.2 Sex Differences Related to Gut Microbiota and Brain Function

Several researchers have observed sex differences in the development and maintenance of the brain-gut-microbiome axis [3]. This difference ranges from the prenatal period to old age. Moreover, from a clinical point of view, the incidence rate, severity, and treatment outcomes of certain diseases are closely related to sex differences [3]. Taking IBS as an example, this type of functional gastrointestinal disorder is more common in women. Physiological changes in the intestine due to sex hormones can explain this sex difference [20]. Moreover, sex differences can be observed even during the prenatal period. At this stage, the mother's microbial environment can influence sex-specific and neural development of the fetus [21]. Recent experiments on mice have revealed that psychological stress of the mother can lead to reduced levels of Lactobacillus in newborn mice and that environmental changes in gut microbiota exhibit differences dependent on the sex of newborn mice [22]. At puberty, this sex difference becomes more distinct. In particular, testosterone, the male sex hormone, is recognized as a factor that can induce changes in gut microbiota and lead to distinct differences between men and women. Such difference can last throughout adulthood [23].

During adulthood, sex difference in the gut microbiome remains steady. Some epidemiological studies in Europe have demonstrated that adult males display significantly increased levels of gut microbiota, including Bacteriodes and Prevotella, than adult females [24]. Moreover, females are relatively prone to fluctuations in gut microbiome due to changes in female sex hormones caused by pregnancy, childbirth, and menopause [23]. In particular, researchers have pointed out that levels of ovarian hormones are decreased in women undergoing menopause, which is closely related to the onset or exacerbation of depression, anxiety, and gastrointestinal symptoms. This notion supports the link of gut microbiota to sex hormones and brain function [20, 25].

In late adulthood, numerous changes occur in gut microbiota and brain function. In general, the digestive system becomes weak, the diversity of the gut microbiome diminishes, the intestinal wall dysfunctions, and inflammatory responses increase [26]. Specifically, research has suggested that changes in gut microbiome can mediate reduced levels of female sex hormones, depression, and cognitive impairment [27]. However, the detailed mechanism of this relationship remains unknown, which requires further studies.

23.3 Gut Microbiome, Depression, and Anxiety

Gut microbiota are associated with the onset and progress of psychiatric disorders, especially depression and anxiety [28]. Previous studies have argued that patients with major depressive disorder (MDD) exhibit significantly different compositions of fecal microbiota compared with healthy controls [28, 29]. In particular, a few studies have reported that the severity of depression is related to increased levels of Enterobacteriaceae and Allistipes and decreased levels of Faecalibacterium [29]. Similarly, observational studies have indicated that the number of specific genera in gut microbiota, such as Faecalibacterium, Eubacterium rectale,

Lachnospira, Butyricicoccus, and Sutterella, is decreased in patients with generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) [30]. Stress-related pathways such as the HPA axis play a crucial role in the etiological mechanism of depression and anxiety. It has been suggested that the gut microbiome can influence the development and function of this pathway [31]. In experiments on animals, germ-free mice without gut microbiota display reactions that are different from those of control mice with a gut microbiome. Specifically, germfree mice showed an excessively activated HPA axis or remarkably different activation levels of norepinephrine, dopamine, and serotonin [32]. Additionally, the immune system of germ-free mice tended to develop abnormally, making them vulnerable to systemic infection, neuroinflammation, and consequent presentations of abnormal behaviors [33].

23.3.1 Association of the Gut Microbiome with Depression or Anxiety

The inflammatory immune response is involved with the onset and progress of depression and anxiety. Research studies on patients with depression have found that levels of proinflammatory cytokines are increased [34] and depressive symptoms are improved after administration of antibiotics [35]. These results were replicated in a study on patients with anxiety disorder by demonstrating that patients with anxiety disorders displayed increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines [36]. Similarly, an animal study on anxiety-modeled mice has suggested that IL-6, a proinflammatory cytokine, is closely related to anxiety behaviors of mice [37]. The gut microbiome directly and indirectly affects immunological and pathophysiological mechanisms of depression and anxiety by controlling functions of the epithelial wall, immune system, and autonomic nerve in the gut [1] (Fig. 23.2). In addition, gut microbiota can reduce stress-induced endotoxemia and neuroinflammation by maintaining the function of the intestinal wall and facilitating anti-inflammatory reactions of immu-



The role of the brain-gut-microbiota axis in mood regulation

Fig. 23.2 The role of the brain-gut-microbiota axis in mood regulation. *DC* dendritic cell, *GABA* γ -aminobutyric acid, *5-HT* 5-hydroxytryptamine (adapted from Collins et al. [1])

nocytes. Thus, gut microbiota ultimately contribute to the modulation of depression and anxiety symptoms related to neuroinflammation [38].

Gut microbiota are also involved in the production of short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) during the metabolism of carbohydrates. As SCFAs facilitate the division of T-cells in the immune system and the generation of neurotransmitters, the reduction or dysfunction of microbiota in the intestine can decrease SCFA metabolism, which can partially explain the relationship between changes in the gut microbiome and depression [39]. Moreover, the gut microbiome is partially involved in synthesizing precursors of major neurotransmitters related to depression, such as GABA, serotonin, norepinephrine, and dopamine. In this regard, many studies have offered evidence that patients with MDD display decreased levels of Bifidobacterium, which is necessary for GABA synthesis [40].

Another possible mechanism that the gut microbiome influences depression and anxiety is through the control of intestinal peptide secretion from enteroendocrine cells mediated by the brain-gut-microbiome axis, which regulates brain function. Several studies on animals have indicated that germ-free mice exhibit increased levels of neuropeptide Y, glucagon-like peptide, and ghrelin or decreased levels of cholecystokinin [41, 42]. The neuropeptide Y receptor is involved in GABA modulation, whereas the glucagon-like peptide, BDNF, and cholecystokinin receptors are involved in the modulation of GABA, glutamate, dopamine, and acetylcholine. As a result, researchers have suggested that these mechanisms can mediate the activation of the brain-gut-microbiome axis and the gut-brain signaling system. They have also suggested that changes in the gut microbiome can influence the development or remission of depression and anxiety behaviors [39]. Many findings support this notion by demonstrating that the use of antibiotics can lead to alterations in the microbiome, disrupted intestinal homeostasis, and increased risk of depression [43]. Recently, studies on animals have reported that certain probiotics can exert anxiolytic effects by stimulating the vagus nerve, suggesting the possible involvement of gut microbiome in the control of the vagus nerve [44]. However. additional studies and investigations regarding this mechanism are required. Recent studies on patients with depression have also observed significant differences in several types of gut microbiome (i.e., Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, Fusobacteria, and Proteobacteria). However, results of these studies are mixed on whether the level of specific gut microbiome is increased or decreased, leading to a lack of consensus on which gut microbiome is directly related to depression [39]. Thus, future studies should investigate this area using methods that are more systematic considering other factors, such as comorbidity of psychiatric disorders, other medical conditions, drug effects, and standardized measurements.

In terms of using probiotics as a treatment, many animal studies have indicated that the hyperactivity of the HPA axis could be relieved and that cortisol levels could be diminished using probiotics [12, 45]. Another study with healthy subjects has also demonstrated an alleviation of increased levels of stress-induced cortisol [46]. These results confirm that the gut microbiome could control stress reaction. As illustrated by several studies, abnormal behaviors in mice with depressive and anxiety symptoms are reduced after the administration of probiotics [47]. These probiotics are also effective in relieving depressive mood or stress in humans [48, 49]. However, studies focusing on probiotic treatment for patients with depression or anxiety disorders remain limited with mixed results depending on the strain used in the research or the population of subjects [39]. Thus, follow-up studies on probiotic treatment are needed. A few studies have demonstrated that several antidepressants could relieve depressive symptoms in patients with depression by modifying gut microbiome dysbiosis through antimicrobial effects. However, supporting evidence remains limited [50].

23.3.2 Sex Difference Related to Gut Microbiome, Depression, and Anxiety and Its Mechanism

Depression and anxiety are more common in women than in men. Factors such as sex hormones, differences in the gut microbiome and immune system, and reactivity to stress contribute to such difference in terms of psychiatric disorders [51, 52]. Although androgen (male sex hormone) tends to exert antianxiety effects, low levels of estrogen (female sex hormone) are related to increased risk for depression because estrogen activates the brain-gut-microbiome axis [53, 54] and acts as an anti-inflammatory agent of neuroinflammation [51, 55]. It has been reported that microglia contribute to this neuroimmunological sex difference. Microglia are major immunocytes in the central nervous system with main roles in the secretion of cytokines and function of macrophages. Sex differences in terms of microglia can be observed in early stages of human development. For instance, microglia are more activated in men than in women, and estrogen and testosterone differently influence the anti-inflammatory function of microglia [55]. These sex differences in the manifestation and maturation of microglia can partially explain the mechanisms of different vulnerabilities to depression and anxiety between men and women, with microbiome influencing the onset or progress of depression and anxiety by involving the manifestation and function of the microglia [55].

Sex hormones can control inflammatory reaction and brain function by mediating the gut microbiome. Many studies support this notion by illustrating that women tend to have fewer Bacteroidetes than men. This low level of Bacteroidetes is related to clinical depression [56]. Recent research has suggested that sex difference in terms of gut microbiota might exist as a depression-related biomarker [57]. Moreover, other studies have confirmed that the number of Actinobacteria is increased in female patients with depression, whereas the number of Bacteroidetes is relatively decreased in male patients with depression compared to that in a healthy group [57]. Another study has observed an increase in inflammatory reaction and intestinal permeability due to stress only in women but not in men, which could contribute to the sex difference in gut microbiome [58]. Nevertheless, this biological mechanism contributes to the fact that women are more vulnerable to depression and anxiety than men in addition to other factors, such as interpersonal relationships, manifestation of symptoms, obesity, levels of activity, and social roles. To gain further knowledge regarding the effect of gut microbiome on sex differences related to depression and anxiety, additional studies that employ specific and sophisticated designs are required.

23.4 Gut Microbiome and Cognitive Function

For a long time, researchers have widely recognized that the gut microbiome is associated with multiple cognitive functions such as attention, memory, and learning. Several animal studies have reported that differences or changes in the gut microbiome can specifically influence memory and learning and that antibiotic use can lead to learning impairment in germ-free mice [59]. On the contrary, when probiotics are given, germ-free mice displayed improvements in cognitive tasks and BDNF levels [60, 61]. These results were replicated in human studies. It has been found that obesity affects gut microbiome which links to brain microstructures and cognitive functions [62]. Moreover, the diversity of the gut microbiome is significantly reduced in patients with Alzheimer's disease than in patients with mild cognitive impairment or healthy controls [63]

Fig. 23.3 Fecal

microbiota in patients with Alzheimer's disease. The α -diversity of the fecal microbiome among three groups is depicted according to ACE, Chao 1, Shannon index and Simpson index. HC normal cognition healthy control, aMCI amnestic mild cognitive impairment, AD Alzheimer's disease (adapted from Liu et al. [63])

Feacl microbiota in patients with Alzheimer's disease AD had significantly decreased commensal diversity as indicated by reduced Shannon index.



(Fig. 23.3). Many studies have indicated that memory including working memory is improved in the elderly after probiotic use [64]. However, results are relatively confusing [65]. They remain inconclusive as mechanisms regarding the gut microbiome and cognitive functions are not well understood. Many researchers have proposed that the gut microbiome is a protective factor for stress or inflammatory reaction that could lead to cognitive impairment [66].

23.4.1 Gut Microbiome and Cognitive Impairment

Aging can lead to alteration in the gut microbiome. Reduced diversity of the gut microbiome is closely related to frailty and cognitive impairment in the elderly [67]. Alzheimer's disease is a neurodegenerative disease whose major symptoms include cognitive impairment. Many studies have examined the role of gut microbiome in cognitive functions and provided evidence for



ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

CHRONIC INTESTINAL INFLAMMATION

Fig. 23.4 Gut microbiota dysbiosis and Alzheimer's disease: mechanisms and therapeutic implications. *BBB* bloodbrain barrier, *LPS* Lipopolysaccharide (adapted from Sochocka et al. [68])

the association between gut microbiome and cognitive function [68] (Fig. 23.4). The main cause of Alzheimer's disease is the accumulation of amyloid-beta and tau protein [68]. Specifically, the accumulation of beta-amyloid protein can activate microglia and induce inflammatory responses in the brain. Betaamyloid can be removed through immune reaction in the acute phase. However, aging leads to changes in the immune system, which enables continued microglia activation and results in chronic inflammation that can induce neurotoxin and, ultimately, brain damage [69]. During this process, astrocytes also become activated. Activated astrocytes lead to augmentation of neuroinflammation and dysfunction in the blood-brain barrier (BBB), which could escalate degeneration and neural damage [69]. As previously cited, the gut microbiome plays a crucial role in systemic and neural immune systems and controls several neurotransmitters such as serotonin, melatonin, GABA, and acetylcholine. For this reason, many studies have pointed out that the altered gut microbiome promotes the development of neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease by controlling neural inflammation through changes in microglia, BBB, and systemic inflammatory reaction [68]. Many studies have found changes in Bacteroides vulgatus and Campylobacter jejuni known to influence glutamate metabolism in patients with dementia [70]. Additionally, recent animal studies have reported that probiotic use or fecal transplantation could control the gut microbiome by reducing neurotoxins such as beta-amyloid and neural inflammatory response [71, 72]. By contrast, a recent systematic review of randomized controlled trials that administered probiotics to patients with Alzheimer's disease demonstrated no significant effect of probiotics on cognitive functions of patients [73]. In other words, changes in the intestinal environment of gut microbiome are directly related to aging in terms of cognitive function and impairment. However, a detailed mechanism of how the intestinal immune reaction improves cognitive impairment through diet change or probiotic use requires a thorough examination.

23.4.2 Sex Difference Related to Gut Microbiome and Cognitive Impairment and Its Mechanism

As Alzheimer's disease is common for women than for men, the previous studies infer that sex differences may exist in the etiological mechanism [74]. First, sex differences may occur in the function of the gut microbiome regarding the accumulation of beta-amyloid, which is a crucial etiological mechanism of Alzheimer's disease. A series of research studies have indicated sex differences in the accumulation of beta-amyloid. These studies found that the gut microbiome could mediate the relationship between calorie-limit diet and beta-amyloid accumulation [75, 76]. According to a study conducted on mice, limited carbohydrate intake could reduce beta-amyloid buildup in female but not male mice [76]. Moreover, sex differences in the mechanism of microglia functions and genetic expression were observed [77] (Fig. 23.5). For example, Minter et al. [78] have observed that when mice are administered with antibiotics, their gut microbiome is changed, leading to reductions in microglia and astrocytes. However, this finding is applicable to male mice only. This sex difference can be regarded as a function of the gut microbiome in terms of modulating sex hormones. Other studies have demonstrated that administrating sex hormones can cause changes in the gut microbiome [9], whereas several studies have proposed that the microbiome in the intestine could lead to changes in metabolism and levels of sex hormones such as androgen and estrogen [79]. In this manner, the specific mechanism regarding the association between gut microbiome and neurodegenerative disorders and its sex difference are only partially established. Numerous studies have provided evidence that further research is needed in this area considering sexspecific factors as possible mechanisms.

23.5 Conclusions

The gut microbiome is one of crucial factors that influence brain development and function. It plays a role in modulating cognition, emotion,

The impact of gut microbiome on microglia in a sex and time dependent manner

Microbiome affects expressions of microglial cells in a sex-sepcific manner



Fig. 23.5 The impact of gut microbiome on microglia in a sex- and time-dependent manner. Microbiome affects expressions of microglial cells in a sex-specific manner.

SPF specific-pathogen free, *GF* germ-free (adapted from Thion et al. [77])

and behavior through various pathways. The major pathway is the neural pathway, which regulates depressive and anxiety symptoms through the metabolism process of neurotransmitters such as serotonin, noradrenaline, and GABA. Furthermore, this pathway regulates the parasympathetic nerve. In this pathway, gut microbiota can affect the onset of depression, the progress of depression, and anxiety by triggering regulatory stress reactions and systemic immune responses. Many studies have suggested that probiotic intake could relieve depressive and anxiety symptoms. However, evidence to substantiate this claim remains limited and requires further investigation. Depression and anxiety disorders are more common in women in men. Symptoms and progress of these psychiatric disorders need to consider sex differences, which could partially explain the modulation of sex hormones and antiinflammatory reaction depending on sex. Gut microbiota can influence cognitive function, whereas a decreased number of microorganisms in the gut microbiome is closely related to impairment in domains of attention, memory, and learning. As suggested by a few studies, the accumulation of beta-amyloid and increased microglia, which are main causes of dementia such as in Alzheimer's disease, are associated with the gut microbiome. The abovementioned studies have offered evidence of а neuroinflammation-controlling mechanism of gut microbiota in the development of neurocognitive disorders. Moreover, these studies have pointed out sex differences in the development of dementia, which the gut microbiome plays a partial role by regulating sex hormones and neural damage or neurodegenerative process.

References

- 1. Collins SM, Surette M, Bercik P. The interplay between the intestinal microbiota and the brain. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2012;10:735–42.
- Wu JC. Psychological co-morbidity in functional gastrointestinal disorders: epidemiology, mechanisms and management. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2012;18:13.
- Jašarević E, Morrison KE, Bale TL. Sex differences in the gut microbiome-brain axis across the lifespan. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci. 2016;371:20150122.
- Crawley JN. Behavioral phenotyping strategies for mutant mice. Neuron. 2008;57:809–18.
- Gareau MG, Wine E, Rodrigues DM, Cho JH, Whary MT, Philpott DJ, et al. Bacterial infection causes stress-induced memory dysfunction in mice. Gut. 2011;60:307–17.
- Heijtz RD, Wang S, Anuar F, Qian Y, Björkholm B, Samuelsson A, et al. Normal gut microbiota modulates brain development and behavior. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:3047–52.
- Jalanka-Tuovinen J, Salonen A, Nikkilä J, Immonen O, Kekkonen R, Lahti L, et al. Intestinal microbiota in healthy adults: temporal analysis reveals individual and common core and relation to intestinal symptoms. PLoS One. 2011;6:e23035.
- Li W, Dowd SE, Scurlock B, Acosta-Martinez V, Lyte M. Memory and learning behavior in mice is tempo-

rally associated with diet-induced alterations in gut bacteria. Physiol Behav. 2009;96:557–67.

- Bercik P, Denou E, Collins J, Jackson W, Lu J, Jury J, et al. The intestinal microbiota affect central levels of brain-derived neurotropic factor and behavior in mice. Gastroenterology. 2011;141:599–609.e3.
- Desbonnet L, Garrett L, Clarke G, Bienenstock J, Dinan TG. The probiotic Bifidobacteria infantis: an assessment of potential antidepressant properties in the rat. J Psychiatr Res. 2008;43:164–74.
- Mayer EA. Gut feelings: the emerging biology of gut-brain communication. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2011;12:453–66.
- Bravo JA, Forsythe P, Chew MV, Escaravage E, Savignac HM, Dinan TG, et al. Ingestion of Lactobacillus strain regulates emotional behavior and central GABA receptor expression in a mouse via the vagus nerve. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:16050–5.
- Wikoff WR, Anfora AT, Liu J, Schultz PG, Lesley SA, Peters EC, et al. Metabolomics analysis reveals large effects of gut microflora on mammalian blood metabolites. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106:3698–703.
- Salzman NH. Microbiota–immune system interaction: an uneasy alliance. Curr Opin Microbiol. 2011;14:99–105.
- Desbonnet L, Garrett L, Clarke G, Kiely B, Cryan JF, Dinan TG. Effects of the probiotic Bifidobacterium infantis in the maternal separation model of depression. Neuroscience. 2010;170:1179–88.
- Uribe A, Alam M, Johansson O, Midtvedt T, Theodorsson E. Microflora modulates endocrine cells in the gastrointestinal mucosa of the rat. Gastroenterology. 1994;107:1259–69.
- Lyte M. Probiotics function mechanistically as delivery vehicles for neuroactive compounds: microbial endocrinology in the design and use of probiotics. BioEssays. 2011;33:574–81.
- Bailey MT, Dowd SE, Galley JD, Hufnagle AR, Allen RG, Lyte M. Exposure to a social stressor alters the structure of the intestinal microbiota: implications for stressor-induced immunomodulation. Brain Behav Immun. 2011;25:397–407.
- Lyte M, Vulchanova L, Brown DR. Stress at the intestinal surface: catecholamines and mucosa–bacteria interactions. Cell Tissue Res. 2011;343:23–32.
- Meleine M, Matricon J. Gender-related differences in irritable bowel syndrome: potential mechanisms of sex hormones. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:6725.
- 21. De Theije CG, Wopereis H, Ramadan M, van Eijndthoven T, Lambert J, Knol J, et al. Altered gut microbiota and activity in a murine model of autism spectrum disorders. Brain Behav Immun. 2014;37:197–206.
- Jiang T, Savaiano DA. In vitro lactose fermentation by human colonic bacteria is modified by Lactobacillus acidophilus supplementation. J Nutr. 1997;127:1489–95.
- 23. Yurkovetskiy L, Burrows M, Khan AA, Graham L, Volchkov P, Becker L, et al. Gender bias in auto-

immunity is influenced by microbiota. Immunity. 2013;39:400–12.

- 24. Mueller S, Saunier K, Hanisch C, Norin E, Alm L, Midtvedt T, et al. Differences in fecal microbiota in different European study populations in relation to age, gender, and country: a cross-sectional study. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2006;72:1027–33.
- Mulak A, Taché Y, Larauche M. Sex hormones in the modulation of irritable bowel syndrome. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:2433.
- 26. Gonzalez-Freire M, Diaz-Ruiz A, Hauser D, Martinez-Romero J, Ferrucci L, Bernier M, et al. The road ahead for health and lifespan interventions. Ageing Res Rev. 2020;59:101037.
- Sherwin BB. Estrogen and cognitive functioning in women: lessons we have learned. Behav Neurosci. 2012;126:123.
- Peirce JM, Alviña K. The role of inflammation and the gut microbiome in depression and anxiety. J Neurosci Res. 2019;97:1223–41.
- 29. Jiang H, Ling Z, Zhang Y, Mao H, Ma Z, Yin Y, et al. Altered fecal microbiota composition in patients with major depressive disorder. Brain Behav Immun. 2015;48:186–94.
- Jiang H-y, Zhang X, Yu Z-h, Zhang Z, Deng M, Zhao J-h, et al. Altered gut microbiota profile in patients with generalized anxiety disorder. J Psychiatr Res. 2018;104:130–6.
- 31. Luo Y, Zeng B, Zeng L, Du X, Li B, Huo R, et al. Gut microbiota regulates mouse behaviors through glucocorticoid receptor pathway genes in the hippocampus. Transl Psychiatry. 2018;8:1–10.
- 32. Crumeyrolle-Arias M, Jaglin M, Bruneau A, Vancassel S, Cardona A, Daugé V, et al. Absence of the gut microbiota enhances anxiety-like behavior and neuroendocrine response to acute stress in rats. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2014;42:207–17.
- 33. Erny D, de Angelis ALH, Jaitin D, Wieghofer P, Staszewski O, David E, et al. Host microbiota constantly control maturation and function of microglia in the CNS. Nat Neurosci. 2015;18:965–77.
- 34. Lamers F, Vogelzangs N, Merikangas K, De Jonge P, Beekman A, Penninx B. Evidence for a differential role of HPA-axis function, inflammation and metabolic syndrome in melancholic versus atypical depression. Mol Psychiatry. 2013;18:692–9.
- 35. Mendlewicz J, Kriwin P, Oswald P, Souery D, Alboni S, Brunello N. Shortened onset of action of antidepressants in major depression using acetylsalicylic acid augmentation: a pilot open-label study. Int Clin Psychopharmacol. 2006;21:227–31.
- 36. Duivis HE, Vogelzangs N, Kupper N, de Jonge P, Penninx BW. Differential association of somatic and cognitive symptoms of depression and anxiety with inflammation: findings from the Netherlands Study of Depression and Anxiety (NESDA). Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2013;38:1573–85.
- Niraula A, Witcher KG, Sheridan JF, Godbout JP. Interleukin-6 induced by social stress promotes a unique transcriptional signature in the monocytes that facilitate anxiety. Biol Psychiatry. 2019;85:679–89.

- Kelly CJ, Zheng L, Campbell EL, Saeedi B, Scholz CC, Bayless AJ, et al. Crosstalk between microbiotaderived short-chain fatty acids and intestinal epithelial HIF augments tissue barrier function. Cell Host Microbe. 2015;17:662–71.
- Cheung SG, Goldenthal AR, Uhlemann A-C, Mann JJ, Miller JM, Sublette ME. Systematic review of gut microbiota and major depression. Front Psychiatry. 2019;10:34.
- 40. Yunes R, Poluektova E, Dyachkova M, Klimina K, Kovtun A, Averina O, et al. GABA production and structure of gadB/gadC genes in Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium strains from human microbiota. Anaerobe. 2016;42:197–204.
- 41. Woods SE, Leonard MR, Hayden JA, Brophy MB, Bernert KR, Lavoie B, et al. Impaired cholecystokinininduced gallbladder emptying incriminated in spontaneous "black" pigment gallstone formation in germfree Swiss Webster mice. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2015;308:G335–G49.
- 42. Schéle E, Grahnemo L, Anesten F, Hallén A, Bäckhed F, Jansson J-O. The gut microbiota reduces leptin sensitivity and the expression of the obesity-suppressing neuropeptides proglucagon (Gcg) and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (Bdnf) in the central nervous system. Endocrinology. 2013;154:3643–51.
- Hao W-Z, Li X-J, Zhang P-W, Chen J-X. A review of antibiotics, depression, and the gut microbiome. Psychiatry Res. 2020;284:112691.
- 44. Bercik P, Park A, Sinclair D, Khoshdel A, Lu J, Huang X, et al. The anxiolytic effect of Bifidobacterium longum NCC3001 involves vagal pathways for gut– brain communication. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2011;23:1132–9.
- 45. Gareau MG, Jury J, MacQueen G, Sherman PM, Perdue MH. Probiotic treatment of rat pups normalises corticosterone release and ameliorates colonic dysfunction induced by maternal separation. Gut. 2007;56:1522–8.
- 46. Kato-Kataoka A, Nishida K, Takada M, Kawai M, Kikuchi-Hayakawa H, Suda K, et al. Fermented milk containing Lactobacillus casei strain Shirota preserves the diversity of the gut microbiota and relieves abdominal dysfunction in healthy medical students exposed to academic stress. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2016;82:3649–58.
- Savignac H, Kiely B, Dinan T, Cryan J. Bifidobacteria exert strain-specific effects on stress-related behavior and physiology in BALB/c mice. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2014;26:1615–27.
- Huang R, Wang K, Hu J. Effect of probiotics on depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Nutrients. 2016;8:483.
- Wallace CJ, Milev R. The effects of probiotics on depressive symptoms in humans: a systematic review. Ann General Psychiatry. 2017;16:1–10.
- 50. Macedo D, Chaves Filho AJM, de Sousa CNS, Quevedo J, Barichello T, Júnior HVN, et al. Antidepressants, antimicrobials or both? Gut microbiota dysbiosis in depression and possible implications of the antimicrobial effects of antidepressant drugs

for antidepressant effectiveness. J Affect Disord. 2017;208:22–32.

- Albert K, Pruessner J, Newhouse P. Estradiol levels modulate brain activity and negative responses to psychosocial stress across the menstrual cycle. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2015;59:14–24.
- Songtachalert T, Roomruangwong C, Carvalho AF, Bourin M, Maes M. Anxiety disorders: sex differences in serotonin and tryptophan metabolism. Curr Top Med Chem. 2018;18:1704–15.
- Maeng LY, Milad MR. Sex differences in anxiety disorders: interactions between fear, stress, and gonadal hormones. Horm Behav. 2015;76:106–17.
- Turner-Cobb JM, Osborn M, da Silva L, Keogh E, Jessop DS. Sex differences in hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis function in patients with chronic pain syndrome. Stress. 2010;13:293–301.
- 55. Hanamsagar R, Bilbo SD. Sex differences in neurodevelopmental and neurodegenerative disorders: focus on microglial function and neuroinflammation during development. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2016;160:127–33.
- 56. Naseribafrouei A, Hestad K, Avershina E, Sekelja M, Linløkken A, Wilson R, et al. Correlation between the human fecal microbiota and depression. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2014;26:1155–62.
- 57. Chen J-j, Zheng P, Liu Y-Y, Zhong X-G, Wang H-Y, Guo Y-J, et al. Sex differences in gut microbiota in patients with major depressive disorder. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2018;14:647.
- Audet M-C. Stress-induced disturbances along the gut microbiota-immune-brain axis and implications for mental health: Does sex matter? Front Neuroendocrinol. 2019;54:100772.
- 59. Wang T, Hu X, Liang S, Li W, Wu X, Wang L, et al. Lactobacillus fermentum NS9 restores the antibiotic induced physiological and psychological abnormalities in rats. Benef Microbes. 2015;6: 707–17.
- 60. Vázquez E, Barranco A, Ramírez M, Gruart A, Delgado-García JM, Martínez-Lara E, et al. Effects of a human milk oligosaccharide, 2'-fucosyllactose, on hippocampal long-term potentiation and learning capabilities in rodents. J Nutr Biochem. 2015;26:455–65.
- Savignac H, Tramullas M, Kiely B, Dinan T, Cryan J. Bifidobacteria modulate cognitive processes in an anxious mouse strain. Behav Brain Res. 2015;287:59–72.
- 62. Fernandez-Real J-M, Serino M, Blasco G, Puig J, Daunis-i-Estadella J, Ricart W, et al. Gut microbiota interacts with brain microstructure and function. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100:4505–13.
- 63. Liu P, Wu L, Peng G, Han Y, Tang R, Ge J, et al. Altered microbiomes distinguish Alzheimer's disease from amnestic mild cognitive impairment and health in a Chinese cohort. Brain Behav Immun. 2019;80:633–43.
- 64. Chung Y-C, Jin H-M, Cui Y, Jung JM, Park J-I, Jung E-S, et al. Fermented milk of Lactobacillus helveticus IDCC3801 improves cognitive functioning during

cognitive fatigue tests in healthy older adults. J Funct Foods. 2014;10:465–74.

- Benton D, Williams C, Brown A. Impact of consuming a milk drink containing a probiotic on mood and cognition. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2007;61:355–61.
- 66. Sarkar A, Harty S, Lehto SM, Moeller AH, Dinan TG, Dunbar RI, et al. The microbiome in psychology and cognitive neuroscience. Trends Cogn Sci. 2018;22:611–36.
- Claesson MJ, Jeffery IB, Conde S, Power SE, O'connor EM, Cusack S, et al. Gut microbiota composition correlates with diet and health in the elderly. Nature. 2012;488:178–84.
- Sochocka M, Donskow-Łysoniewska K, Diniz BS, Kurpas D, Brzozowska E, Leszek J. The gut microbiome alterations and inflammation-driven pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease—a critical review. Mol Neurobiol. 2019;56:1841–51.
- Mayer EA, Knight R, Mazmanian SK, Cryan JF, Tillisch K. Gut microbes and the brain: paradigm shift in neuroscience. J Neurosci. 2014;34:15490–6.
- Chang C-H, Lin C-H, Lane H-Y. d-glutamate and Gut microbiota in Alzheimer's disease. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21:2676.
- Rogers G, Bruce K. Challenges and opportunities for faecal microbiota transplantation therapy. Epidemiol Infect. 2013;141:2235–42.
- Moon M, Choi JG, Nam DW, Hong H-S, Choi Y-J, Oh MS, et al. Ghrelin ameliorates cognitive dysfunction and neurodegeneration in intrahippocampal amyloid-β 1-42 oligomer-injected mice. J Alzheimers Dis. 2011;23:147–59.
- Krüger JF, Hillesheim E, Pereira AC, Camargo CQ, Rabito EI. Probiotics for dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Nutr Rev. 2021;79:160–70.
- Cox LM, Abou-El-Hassan H, Maghzi AH, Vincentini J, Weiner HL. The sex-specific interaction of the microbiome in neurodegenerative diseases. Brain Res. 2019;1724:146385.
- Radler ME, Hale MW, Kent S. Calorie restriction attenuates lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced microglial activation in discrete regions of the hypothalamus and the subfornical organ. Brain Behav Immun. 2014;38:13–24.
- 76. Schafer MJ, Alldred MJ, Lee SH, Calhoun ME, Petkova E, Mathews PM, et al. Reduction of β -amyloid and γ -secretase by calorie restriction in female Tg2576 mice. Neurobiol Aging. 2015;36: 1293–302.
- Thion MS, Low D, Silvin A, Chen J, Grisel P, Schulte-Schrepping J, et al. Microbiome influences prenatal and adult microglia in a sex-specific manner. Cell. 2018;172:500–16.e16.
- Minter MR, Zhang C, Leone V, Ringus DL, Zhang X, Oyler-Castrillo P, et al. Antibiotic-induced perturbations in gut microbial diversity influences neuroinflammation and amyloidosis in a murine model of Alzheimer's disease. Sci Rep. 2016;6:1–12.
- Plottel CS, Blaser MJ. Microbiome and malignancy. Cell Host Microbe. 2011;10:324–35.



24

Sex Differences and Gut Microbiota Changes in Parkinson's Disease

Jee Young Lee and Cheol Min Shin

24.1 Introduction

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most common neurodegenerative disorder affecting hundreds of individuals per 100,000 population, and the prevalence increases up to 5% in population above 80 years old. The pathological hallmark is neuronal loss with Lewy bodies containing phosphorylated alpha-synuclein aggregates. Brain pathology can appear in the focal regions in the olfactory bulb or the lower medulla, but it ultimately propagates into the widespread subcortical and cortical areas in the brain. Particular involvement of the substantia nigra results in degeneration of dopaminergic neurons which is responsible for typical clinical symptoms of PD: rigidity, tremor, bradykinesia, and postural instability.

Sex differences are reported in many aspects of PD including epidemiology, clinical features, and genetic or biomarkers. However, the most interesting part comes from the discovery that gut is one of the peripheral organs with α -synuclein pathology preceding the central nervous system involvement in PD, and inflammation in the gut can affect pathological α-synuclein spreading through the brain, which highlights the gut-brain axis in the pathogenesis of PD. Furthermore, GI disorders are observed in about two-thirds of PD patients [1], contributed by the α -synuclein pathology in the gut and vagal nucleus, as well as chronic dopaminergic drug intakes, and other nutritional or dietary problems. Therefore, pathophysiological research on the gut pathology and GI dysfunctions in PD patients would provide a valuable clue to revealing the pathogenesis of PD. Sex hormone is known to affect gut permeability and various aspects of GI disorders; thus, the sex-specific alterations in the gut-brain axis gather increasing attention more than ever before with increasing knowledge on the gut functions and the role of microbiome in humans.

In this chapter, we will review the literatures addressing sex differences in PD and the role of gut microbiome in the pathogenesis of PD. Then, we will finally discuss whether the sex-specific gut microbiome changes could be linked to the sex-different mechanism for both the pathogenesis and clinical features of PD.

J. Y. Lee (🖂)

Department of Neurology, Seoul National University-Seoul Metropolitan Government Boramae Medical Center, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul, Republic of Korea e-mail: wieber04@snu.ac.kr

C. M. Shin

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Republic of Korea

24.2 Sex Difference in Parkinson's Disease

24.2.1 Epidemiological Risk Factors Differently Affecting Men and Women

Many studies consistently reported that males are more affected than females by approximately two-fold. The sex difference is more evident in sporadic PD than young-onset PD patients, who are more affected by genetic predisposition. However, Korean studies have not shown the male preponderance in PD, and the female to male ratio is above 1 in most Korean cohort studies. Japanese epidemiology study also showed female predominance in PD [2]. The disparity might be due to the specific feature of the elderly population in these countries, and unknown genetic or cultural/environmental factors controverting the potential protective effect of estrogen. Elderly females in Korea might be more exposed to risk factors of PD than males, for example, no-smoking, no alcohol consumption, pesticide exposure, head trauma, agricultural occupation, dietary deficiency, and well-water drinking. Nevertheless, this hypothesis has not been proven. Interestingly, male predominance is observed in young-onset PD in a recent Korean epidemiology study [3].

We also observed sex differences in PD risk predicted by smoking, alcohol, and serum r-glutamyl transferase levels in the Korean population [4, 5]. Studies also reported sex-different impacts of urate [6], and cholesterol levels in the statin-free cohort [7]. All these studies show that the most robustly demonstrated epidemiologic risk factors of PD seem to play a role in men but not in women.

The negative impact of high urate levels on the development of PD is significantly demonstrated in *LRRK2* mutation carriers, especially for women [8]. *LRRK2* (the gene encoding leucine-rich repeat kinase 2) is the most common genetic cause of PD, and among the *LRRK2* carriers, PD relatively equally affects both men and women [9]. The sex-different predisposition is also observed with GBA-associated parkinsonism. *GBA1* is the gene encoding the lysosomal enzyme

glucocerebrosidase (GCase) and is one of the important genetic causes which highlight the pathogenic role of lysosomal dysfunction and resultant reduced alpha-synuclein degradation, thus contributing to the development of PD [10]. Among the GBA carriers, galactosidase alpha (GLA) activity, encoded by a gene on the X chromosome, is linked to PD [11].

24.2.2 Specific Clinical Features Predicted by Biological Sex in Parkinson's Disease

From the aspects of clinical phenotype, PD is a highly heterogeneous disorder [12]. The traditional classification is the tremor-dominant with benign disease type and the postural instabilitygait disorder with malignant disease type. The latter type is linked to earlier dementia and autonomic dysfunction. However, many PD patients do not fit into this classification, and recently, there are many intermediate and sequestered phenotypes reported so far based on the data-driven analysis from the large multicenter longitudinal databases containing clinical, neuroimaging, and body-fluid biomarker information, such as Parkinson's Progression Markers Initiative (PPMI) study (https://www.ppmi-info.org). There is no study showing apparent differences in the distribution of these phenotypes between the sexes, but female sex can predict some clinical features. Females tend to show milder rigidity, more tremor, and a higher propensity to develop postural instability and an elevated risk for levodopa-related motor complications during the disease course [13–15], although many other factors especially disease duration and severity and regimens of dopaminergic medications should also be considered in clinical practice. Of note, camptocormia, a skeletal abnormality with forward-flexion of the trunk, is more frequently observed in male than female patients. An ongoing clinical trial evaluates the sex-different prevalence of various skeletal abnormalities in parkinsonism such as camptocormia, Pisa syndrome, antecollis, scoliosis, and striatal hand or toe (clinicaltrial.gov. NCT03573232).

Cognitive functions are differently predicted by biological sex in PD. Male patients are more likely to have executive dysfunction and impaired facial emotion recognition while female patients do with visuospatial dysfunction [16, 17]. Some nonmotor symptoms such as anxiety, depression, constipation, and pain are particularly observed in female patients [18–20].

24.2.3 Hypothesized Mechanisms for Sex Differences in Parkinson's Disease Pathogenesis

The distinctive clinical features and risk factors between males and females may be associated with estrogen. Recently, numerous studies have reported different functional networks and pattern of gray and white matter atrophies between men and women, suggesting that neuroimaging analysis should consider biological sex as an essential confounding variable [21].

Regarding dopaminergic neuronal degeneration in the substantia nigra, studies have shown sexdifferent genetic expressions in human dopaminergic neurons. Males have upregulated genes, such as SNCA and PINK1 [22], and downregulated transcriptions related to oxidative stress, apoptosis, and synaptic and axonal transmission [23]. Gene products for metabolic processes and mitochondrial energy consumption are generally upregulated in males compared to females [23]. This gene-level expression of dopaminergic neurons in men points towards a predisposition to neurodegeneration of male gender. The development of D1 and D2 receptor systems in the human brain differs by sex, and after grown-up, males have heightened D2:D1 receptor ratios in all brain regions than females [24]. These heterogeneous dopamine receptor densities between sexes might explain the clinical features of female PD patients of later motor symptom development and more frequent levodopa-induced dyskinesias than the male counterpart. It is also known that estradiol increases the synthesis, release, reuptake, and turnover of dopamine [25], which is linked to a predisposition of females to adverse levodopa-induced motor behaviors.

Neuroinflammation is one of the key pathophysiological mechanisms of neurodegeneration in PD, of which microglia and astrocytes are key actors. It is known that microglial maturation and immunity are sex-specifically developed in the human brain [26]. Animal PD model studies have shown that estrogen could attenuate microglial activation and enhance microglia polarization directed toward a more cytoprotective phenotype [27]. Bioenergetic properties of astrocytes in the physiological oxygen tension, like the environment inside the brain, are also shown to differ by biological sex [28]. However, whether the astrocytes' actions differently affect the development of PD by biological sex has not been revealed.

The tolerability to oxidative stress of neurons is thought to be different between males and females. Higher mitochondrial respiratory chain activity and lower calcium uptake capacity [29– 31], bigger neuromelanin volume in the substantia nigra [32], and greater resistance to iron-mediated oxidative stress [33, 34] have been demonstrated in females than males by experimental studies. However, how exactly these sexdifferent properties affect the development of Lewy body pathologies in the brain has not been specifically investigated.

24.2.4 Gastrointestinal Symptoms in Parkinson's Disease Patients Reflect the Different Influence on Dysmotility by Biological Sex

Constipation is reported to be more common in females than male PD patients by a cohort study surveying nonmotor symptoms of 951 PD patients [35]. However, few studies prospectively investigate dysmotility symptoms both relating to the upper and lower GI tracts. There was a randomized controlled trial specifically targeting GI dysfunctions as a primary outcome in PD patients in Korea [36]. This multicenter trial evaluated GI symptoms of participants before and 4 weeks after DA-9701 therapy compared with placebo treatment, and further evaluated symptom changes after additional 8 weeks of DA-9701 therapy in both treated groups. We conducted the subgroup analysis using the clinical trial database whether there is a sex difference in GI symptoms. We compared GI symptom severity between males and females assessed on the Korean Nepean dyspepsia index (NDI-K), GI symptom diary and Bristol stool scale in association with the severity and duration of PD, and antiparkinsonian drug dosages using multiple linear regression models (Table 24.1). The NDI-K symptom and NDI-K QoL scores were both higher in female patients (13.62 vs. 22.28, and 47.33 vs. 58.37 in men and women, adjusted p = 0.007 and 0.001, respectively, by linear regression). Female patients complained of early fullness and bloating in the upper abdomen after a meal more frequently than males in their GI symptom diary. In Bristol stool scale and defecation frequency, constipation symptom was also worse in female patients. When we performed a

	Men ($n = 78, 54.2\%$)	Women ($n = 66, 45.8\%$)	<i>p</i> -value ^b
NDI-K symptom score (total)	13.62 (10.41)	22.28 (23.34)	0.007
Dyspepsia sum score ^c	8.18 (6.48)	16.09 (16.19)	< 0.001
GI symptom diary (per day)			
Inability to finish meals due to early fullness			0.001
Absent	50 (64.1)	29 (46.8)	
Once	21 (26.9)	11 (17.7)	
Twice	1 (1.3)	9 (14.5)	
Three times (every meal)	6 (7.7)	13 (21.0)	
Bloating in the upper abdomen after a meal			0.025
Absent	53 (67.9)	34 (54.8)	
Once	21 (26.9)	15 (24.2)	
Twice	3 (3.8)	5 (8.1)	
Three times (every meal)	1 (1.3)	8 (12.9)	
Burning or pain in the upper			0.146
abdomen			
Absent	60 (76.9)	40 (63.5)	
Mild	17 (21.8)	17 (27.0)	
Moderate	1 (1.3)	2 (3.2)	
Severe	0	3 (4.8)	
Very severe	0	1 (1.6)	
Bristol stool scale			0.001
Type 1 (severe constipation)	7 (9.1)	15 (23.4)	
Type 2	23 (29.9)	13 (20.3)	
Туре 3, 4	45 (58.4)	25 (39.1)	
Type 5	1 (1.3)	8 (12.5)	
Туре 6	0 (0)	3 (4.7)	
Type 7 (severe diarrhea)	1 (1.3)	0 (0)	
Defecation frequency (per day)			0.001
<1	16 (21.3)	24 (40.0)	
1	44 (58.7)	35 (58.3)	
>1	15 (20.0)	1 (1.7)	

Table 24.1 Sex differences of gastrointestinal symptoms in PD patients who participated in the PASS-GI^a clinical trial

^aA multi-center double-blind randomized placebo-controlled trial of DA-9701 in the treatment of gastrointestinal symptoms in PD patients conducted in Korea [36]

^bby multivariate logistic regression models controlling for age, disease duration, and PD severity assessed on the Unified PD Rating Scale

^cDyspepsia sum score comprises 8 items of the NDI-K scale: upper abdominal pain, discomfort, burning, pressure and bloating sensation, inability to finish a regular meal, fullness after eating, and nausea

post-hoc analysis of the NDI-K dyspepsia symptoms, pain in the upper abdomen, inability to finish regular meals, fullness after eating, and nausea were significantly worse in female patients (corrected p < 0.05 for all). This subgroup analysis result highlights the apparent sex differences in GI symptoms in PD patients. Among the dyspepsia symptoms, impaired gastric accommodation seems to be a predominant symptom in female PD patients, which requires further studies to confirm this dysfunctional symptom in female PD patients and address its pathophysiological mechanism.

24.3 Gut Microbiota Changes in Parkinson's Disease

The GI tract plays an important role in the pathophysiology of PD. Pathologically, Lewy bodies are observed not only in the substantia nigra, but also in non-dopaminergic neurons outside the basal ganglia [37]. α -synuclein deposition and neurodegeneration in the enteric nervous system are associated with the constipation in PD patients [38, 39]. Clinically, constipation may occur years before the onset of motor symptoms [40]. Vagotomy may reduce the risk of developing PD [41]. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that the alternations of the gut environment may affect the development of PD [42–44].

The clinical picture of PD is strongly influenced by the gut microbiota. Gut microbes like *Bacillus* species can produce dopamine, and gut microbiota accounts for almost half of the dopamine production in human body [45, 46]. Gut microbiota affects the brain activity through microbiota-gut-brain axis under both healthy and disease conditions including PD [47–50]. Microbiota and the brain crosstalk *via* the immune system, tryptophan metabolism, and the vagus nerve and the enteric nervous system. Microbial metabolites such as short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), branched chain amino acids, and peptidoglycans are involved in the communication [51].

It has been suggested that intestinal dysbiosis can promote the pathology of PD. First, small intestinal bacterial overgrowth (SIBO) has also been associated with PD [52–55]. In patients with PD, the presence of SIBO has been associated with a greater degree of motor impairment attributed to fluctuation in levodopa response [53]. In the α -synuclein overexpression mouse model, transplantation of fecal microbiota from PD patients leads to a significantly higher chance of developing symptoms of PD compared to transplanting fecal microbiota from healthy donors [56]. Chronic oral administration of rotenone has been reported to cause GI dysfunction and intestinal dysbiosis prior to the development of motor dysfunction and CNS pathology [57].

24.3.1 Gut Microbiota Signature in Parkinson's Disease

Gut dysbiosis is more prevalent in PD patients than in healthy controls. The compositions of both fecal and mucosal microorganisms have been reported to be different in PD patients 58–61]. However, care must be taken in interpreting microbiome changes in PD patients. For example, gut microbiota is substantially affected by the diet and the environment [58, 59]. Dietary habits may change after a diagnosis of PD. Especially, PD patients may increase fiber intake to improve GI symptoms such as constipation.

The results of previous studies on microbiota signature of PD patients are inconsistent. Nevertheless, some interesting findings are summarized as below. First, butyrate-producing bacteria were significantly decreased in fecal samples in PD patients [60]. One study reported that the cellulose-degrading bacteria such as Blautia, Faecalibacterium, and Ruminococcus were significantly decreased, whereas the pathobionts from Escherichia, Shigella, Streptococcus, Proteus, and Enterococcus were significantly increased in PD patients. Disease severity and PD duration negatively correlated with the relative abundance of cellulose degraders and positively correlated with the presence of putative pathobionts [61]. Sampson et al. reported that gut microbiota signature from PD patients showed a decrease in Prevotella. Lactobacillus. Peptostreptococcus, and Butyricicoccus and an increase in Proteus and Enterobacter compared to healthy controls [56]. In contrast, another study reported that relative abundance of Prevotellaceae was significantly increased in PD patients. The relative abundance of Enterobacteriaceae was positively associated with the severity of postural instability and gait difficulty [62]. Minato et al. reported that a decrease of *Bacteroides fragilis* was found to be associated with worsening of motivation/initiative, and a decrease of Bifidobacterium was associated with worsening of hallucinations and delusions using the Unified PD Rating Scale over a period of 2 years [63]. Hasegawa et al. reported that relative abundance of Clostridium coccoides was increased in patients with early PD, while relative abundance of Lactobacillus gasseri was increased in patients with advanced PD [64]. Some studies have reported increased abundance of Akkermansia in PD patients [65-67]. Akkermansia degrades the mucus layer for energy source, and an increase of Akkermansia can result in the increased permeability of the intestinal mucus barrier.

24.3.2 How Does Gut Dysbiosis Affect the Development and Clinical Course of Parkinson's Disease?

To date, several mechanisms have been proposed on how gut dysbiosis can cause PD or exacerbate the symptoms of PD. First, the deficiency of SCFAs such as butyrate and propionate is observed with gut dysbiosis in PD patients [68-70]. Butyrate is an energy source for epithelial cells in colon [71], and its deficiency results in a reduced colonic motility and constipation [72]. Furthermore, the decrease of SCFA concentration can lead to an increase of intestinal permeability via chronic inflammation and a decreased expression of tight junction proteins including claudin 1 and claudin 2 [73, 74]. Also, SCFAs also contribute to the integrity of the blood brain barrier [75]. Intestinal dysbiosis leads to decreased claudin expression in the brain gut barrier. Also, the decrease of SCFA concentration leads to microglia dysfunction.

Second, gut dysbiosis with an increase of lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-producing bacteria can lead to the progression of PD. A decrease in serum LPS binding protein (LBP) levels is observed in PD [64, 66]. The increase of LPS concentration activates microglia and NLRP3 inflammasome and promotes the expression of iNOS [76, 77]. LPS induces progressive dopaminergic neurodegeneration in substantial nigra and decreased striatal dopamine levels [77–79].

Third, as mentioned above, the gut microbes can produce about half of all dopamine in human body. Gut dysbiosis alters the level of dopamine produced in the gut. Also, the concentration of SCFAs can affect the secretion of ghrelin, which decreases dopamine secretion in substantia nigra.

Fourth, bacterial amyloids can enhance progression of PD *via* inducing immune response to α -synuclein [80, 81].

24.3.3 Therapeutic Aspects of Gut Microbiota in Parkinson's Disease

Gut dysbiosis may precede glial cell dysfunction several years before the onset of PD [39]. Therefore, if gut dysbiosis can be normalized, the progression to PD can be prevented. SIBO is reported to be prevalent in PD patients with motor impairments. Since levodopa is absorbed from jejunum, SIBO may interfere with drug absorption through inflammation of the intestinal epithelium and/or altered levodopa metabolism by intraluminal bacteria [52]. Thus, antibiotics may improve motor fluctuations [52, 53]. In addition, some intestinal bacteria can metabolize levodopa, and it can be reversed by administering (S)-α-Fluoromethyltyrosine. As the bioavailability of the current levodopa/dopa decarboxylase inhibitor regimens appears to be very low, this could provide a new way to improve pharmacokinetics of the drug [82].

Probiotics may be beneficial in PD patients. Probiotics may reduce proinflammatory cytokines and enhance anti-inflammatory cytokines in PD patients [83], or reduce α -synuclein aggregation [84]. Several studies have consistently shown that taking probiotics can improve constipation in PD patients [35, 85, 86]. Prebiotics can improve constipation and α -synuclein pathology, and reduced inflammation in PD patients [35, 70]. Recently, two pilot studies have suggested that fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) may improve constipation and PD symptoms [87, 88]. There is a need to follow up the results of clinical studies on the effects of FMT on PD.

24.3.4 Can Gut Microbiota Changes Explain Sex Difference in Parkinson's Disease?

Sex differences in gut microbiota have been previously reported [89-91]. Also, sex-related differences in disease presentation and progression have been established in PD patients. Therefore, we can speculate that sex hormones affect the gut microbiota, leading to differences in the clinical manifestation of PD between men and women. The SCFA-producing bacteria such as Prevotella, Ruminococcus, and Roseburia are reported to depend on sex and hormonal status [92]. Serum estradiol level positively correlated with relative abundances of Gammaproteobacteria and Mixococcales, both Proteobacteria and LPS producers, and negatively correlated with relative abundance of Prevotellaceae, a SCFA producer in women [93, 94]. Estradiol-induced alterations in the gut microbiota may explain the increased risk of psychiatric disorders during puberty and reproductive age in women [92]. Since estrogen is thought to have a protective effect against PD, these findings may be inconsistent with the fact that PD is more prevalent in men than in women. However, since PD is a disease of the elderly and most women with PD are diagnosed after menopause, the effect of sex hormones on the clinical course of PD may be limited. The pathophysiology of PD may be more influenced by genetic and other environmental factors than gut microbiome.

Nonetheless, menopause or changes in sex hormones may affect the susceptibility to PD in women. Oral contraceptives and ovariectomy are also associated with changes in gut microbiota [95]. It has been reported that menopausal status might affect gut microbiota. That is, premenopausal women showed higher abundance of SCFA-producing bacteria than postmenopausal women and age-matched men [94, 96]. Young-onset PD (PD diagnosed <50 y) is known to be more prevalent in men [3]. Thus, these findings may provide one explanation on how sex differences can affect the susceptibility to PD via gut microbiota change. To date, there is sparse evidence on the changes in gut microbiome by sex in PD patients. In clinical studies involving changes in the gut microbiome of PD, both sexes are equally distributed within study groups, but the concept of sex differences is underestimated or mostly underreported. Therefore, further studies are necessary to clarify this issue.

24.4 Conclusions

Sex-related differences have been reported in PD. Several mechanisms have been proposed for sex differences in PD etiology. Recently, PD-specific gut microbiota signature has been reported, which may influence the pathogenesis or clinical course of PD. However, few studies have investigated the effect of gut microbiota on sex differences in PD. At present, we can only speculate the interactions between them. Gut microbiota may play a minor role in sex-related differences in PD. Nevertheless, this is a very interesting topic and further research is warranted in the future.

References

- Park H, Lee JY, Shin CM, Kim JM, Kim TJ, Kim JW. Characterization of gastrointestinal disorders in patients with parkinsonian syndromes. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2015;21:455–60.
- Kusumi M, Nakashima K, Harada H, Nakayama H, Takahashi K. Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease in Yonago City, Japan: comparison with a study carried out 12 years ago. Neuroepidemiology. 1996;15:201–7.
- Park JH, Kim DH, Kwon DY, Choi M, Kim S, Jung JH, et al. Trends in the incidence and prevalence of Parkinson's disease in Korea: a nationwide, population-based study. BMC Geriatr. 2019;19:320.

- Kim R, Yoo D, Jung YJ, Han K, Lee JY. Sex differences in smoking, alcohol consumption, and risk of Parkinson's disease: a nationwide cohort study. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2020;71:60–5.
- Yoo D, Kim R, Jung YJ, Han KD, Shin CM, Lee JY. Serum gamma-glutamyltransferase activity and Parkinson's disease risk in men and women. Sci Rep. 2020;10:1258.
- Cortese M, Riise T, Engeland A, Ascherio A, Bjørnevik K. Urate and the risk of Parkinson's disease in men and women. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2018;52:76–82.
- Rozani V, Gurevich T, Giladi N, El-Ad B, Tsamir J, Hemo B, et al. Higher serum cholesterol and decreased Parkinson's disease risk: a statin-free cohort study. Mov Disord. 2018;33:1298–305.
- Bakshi R, Macklin EA, Logan R, Zorlu MM, Xia N, Crotty GF, et al. Higher urate in LRRK2 mutation carriers resistant to Parkinson disease. Ann Neurol. 2019;85:593–9.
- Shu L, Zhang Y, Pan H, Xu Q, Guo J, Tang B, et al. Clinical heterogeneity among LRRK2 variants in Parkinson's disease: a meta-analysis. Front Aging Neurosci. 2018;10:283.
- Migdalska-Richards A, Schapira AH. The relationship between glucocerebrosidase mutations and Parkinson disease. J Neurochem. 2016;139(Suppl 1):77–90.
- Alcalay RN, Wolf P, Levy OA, Kang UJ, Waters C, Fahn S, et al. Alpha galactosidase A activity in Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2018;112:85–90.
- Fereshtehnejad SM, Romenets SR, Anang JB, Latreille V, Gagnon JF, Postuma RB. New clinical subtypes of Parkinson disease and their longitudinal progression: a prospective cohort comparison with other phenotypes. JAMA Neurol. 2015;72:863–73.
- Baba Y, Putzke JD, Whaley NR, Wszolek ZK, Uitti RJ. Gender and the Parkinson's disease phenotype. J Neurol. 2005;252:1201–5.
- Accolla E, Caputo E, Cogiamanian F, Tamma F, Mrakic-Sposta S, Marceglia S, et al. Gender differences in patients with Parkinson's disease treated with subthalamic deep brain stimulation. Mov Disord. 2007;22:1150–6.
- Haaxma CA, Bloem BR, Borm GF, Oyen WJ, Leenders KL, Eshuis S, et al. Gender differences in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2007;78:819–24.
- Riedel O, Klotsche J, Spottke A, Deuschl G, Förstl H, Henn F, et al. Cognitive impairment in 873 patients with idiopathic Parkinson's disease. Results from the German Study on Epidemiology of Parkinson's Disease with Dementia (GEPAD). J Neurol. 2008;255:255–64.
- Reekes TH, Higginson CI, Ledbetter CR, Sathivadivel N, Zweig RM, Disbrow EA. Sex specific cognitive differences in Parkinson disease. NPJ Parkinsons Dis. 2020;6:7.
- Scott B, Borgman A, Engler H, Johnels B, Aquilonius SM. Gender differences in Parkinson's disease symptom profile. Acta Neurol Scand. 2000;102:37–43.

- Martinez-Martin P, Falup Pecurariu C, Odin P, van Hilten JJ, Antonini A, Rojo-Abuin JM, et al. Gender-related differences in the burden of nonmotor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol. 2012;259:1639–47.
- Silverdale MA, Kobylecki C, Kass-Iliyya L, Martinez-Martin P, Lawton M, Cotterill S, et al. A detailed clinical study of pain in 1957 participants with early/ moderate Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2018;56:27–32.
- Tremblay C, Abbasi N, Zeighami Y, Yau Y, Dadar M, Rahayel S, et al. Sex effects on brain structure in de novo Parkinson's disease: a multimodal neuroimaging study. Brain. 2020;143:3052–66.
- Cantuti-Castelvetri I, Keller-McGandy C, Bouzou B, Asteris G, Clark TW, Frosch MP, et al. Effects of gender on nigral gene expression and parkinson disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2007;26:606–14.
- Simunovic F, Yi M, Wang Y, Stephens R, Sonntag KC. Evidence for gender-specific transcriptional profiles of nigral dopamine neurons in Parkinson disease. PLoS One. 2010;5:e8856.
- Cullity ER, Madsen HB, Perry CJ, Kim JH. Postnatal developmental trajectory of dopamine receptor 1 and 2 expression in cortical and striatal brain regions. J Comp Neurol. 2019;527:1039–55.
- 25. Song Z, Yang H, Peckham EM, Becker JB. Estradiolinduced potentiation of dopamine release in dorsal striatum following amphetamine administration requires estradiol receptors and mGlu5. eNeuro. 2019;6:ENEURO.0446-18.2019.
- 26. Hanamsagar R, Alter MD, Block CS, Sullivan H, Bolton JL, Bilbo SD. Generation of a microglial developmental index in mice and in humans reveals a sex difference in maturation and immune reactivity. Glia. 2017;65:1504–20.
- 27. Siani F, Greco R, Levandis G, Ghezzi C, Daviddi F, Demartini C, et al. Influence of estrogen modulation on glia activation in a murine model of Parkinson's disease. Front Neurosci. 2017;11:306.
- 28. Jaber SM, Bordt EA, Bhatt NM, Lewis DM, Gerecht S, Fiskum G, et al. Sex differences in the mitochondrial bioenergetics of astrocytes but not microglia at a physiologically relevant brain oxygen tension. Neurochem Int. 2018;117:82–90.
- 29. Gaignard P, Savouroux S, Liere P, Pianos A, Thérond P, Schumacher M, et al. Effect of sex differences on brain Mitochondrial function and its suppression by ovariectomy and in aged mice. Endocrinology. 2015;156:2893–904.
- Guevara R, Gianotti M, Oliver J, Roca P. Age and sexrelated changes in rat brain mitochondrial oxidative status. Exp Gerontol. 2011;46:923–8.
- Kim HJ, Magrane J, Starkov AA, Manfredi G. The mitochondrial calcium regulator cyclophilin D is an essential component of oestrogen-mediated neuroprotection in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Brain. 2012;135:2865–74.
- 32. Xing Y, Sapuan A, Dineen RA, Auer DP. Life span pigmentation changes of the substantia nigra detected

by neuromelanin-sensitive MRI. Mov Disord. 2018;33:1792–9.

- Wang LF, Yokoyama KK, Chen TY, Hsiao HW, Chiang PC, Hsieh YC, et al. Male-specific alleviation of iron-induced striatal injury by inhibition of autophagy. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0131224.
- 34. Xu M, Tan X, Li N, Wu H, Wang Y, Xie J, et al. Differential regulation of estrogen in iron metabolism in astrocytes and neurons. J Cell Physiol. 2019;234:4232–42.
- Barichella M, Pacchetti C, Bolliri C, Cassani E, Iorio L, Pusani C, et al. Probiotics and prebiotic fiber for constipation associated with Parkinson disease: an RCT. Neurology. 2016;87:1274–80.
- Choi JH, Lee JY, Cho JW, Koh SB, Yang YS, Yoo D, et al. Double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of DA-9701 in Parkinson's disease: PASS-GI Study. Mov Disord. 2020;35:1966–76.
- Del Tredici K, Rüb U, De Vos RA, Bohl JR, Braak H. Where does parkinson disease pathology begin in the brain? J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2002;61:413–26.
- Cersosimo MG, Benarroch EE. Pathological correlates of gastrointestinal dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2012;46:559–64.
- Devos D, Lebouvier T, Lardeux B, Biraud M, Rouaud T, Pouclet H, et al. Colonic inflammation in Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2013;50: 42–8.
- Ueki A, Otsuka M. Life style risks of Parkinson's disease: association between decreased water intake and constipation. J Neurol. 2004;251(Suppl 7):vII18–23.
- 41. Liu B, Fang F, Pedersen NL, Tillander A, Ludvigsson JF, Ekbom A, et al. Vagotomy and Parkinson disease: a Swedish register-based matched-cohort study. Neurology. 2017;88:1996–2002.
- 42. Braak H, Rüb U, Gai WP, Del Tredici K. Idiopathic Parkinson's disease: possible routes by which vulnerable neuronal types may be subject to neuroinvasion by an unknown pathogen. J Neural Transm (Vienna). 2003;110:517–36.
- Kalia LV, Lang AE. Parkinson's disease. Lancet. 2015;386:896–912.
- Verbaan D, Marinus J, Visser M, van Rooden SM, Stiggelbout AM, van Hilten JJ. Patient-reported autonomic symptoms in Parkinson disease. Neurology. 2007;69:333–41.
- 45. Eisenhofer G, Aneman A, Friberg P, Hooper D, Fåndriks L, Lonroth H, et al. Substantial production of dopamine in the human gastrointestinal tract. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82:3864–71.
- Wall R, Cryan JF, Ross RP, Fitzgerald GF, Dinan TG, Stanton C. Bacterial neuroactive compounds produced by psychobiotics. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2014;817:221–39.
- Collins SM, Surette M, Bercik P. The interplay between the intestinal microbiota and the brain. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2012;10:735–42.
- Cryan JF, Dinan TG. Mind-altering microorganisms: the impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2012;13:701–12.

- Friedland RP. Mechanisms of molecular mimicry involving the microbiota in neurodegeneration. J Alzheimers Dis. 2015;45:349–62.
- 50. Mayer EA, Tillisch K, Gupta A. Gut/brain axis and the microbiota. J Clin Invest. 2015;125:926–38.
- Cryan JF, O'Riordan KJ, Cowan CSM, Sandhu KV, Bastiaanssen TFS, Boehme M, et al. The microbiotagut-brain axis. Physiol Rev. 2019;99:1877–2013.
- 52. Fasano A, Bove F, Gabrielli M, Petracca M, Zocco MA, Ragazzoni E, et al. The role of small intestinal bacterial overgrowth in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2013;28:1241–9.
- Tan AH, Mahadeva S, Thalha AM, Gibson PR, Kiew CK, Yeat CM, et al. Small intestinal bacterial overgrowth in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2014;20:535–40.
- 54. Gabrielli M, Bonazzi P, Scarpellini E, Bendia E, Lauritano EC, Fasano A, et al. Prevalence of small intestinal bacterial overgrowth in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2011;26:889–92.
- Cassani E, Barichella M, Cancello R, Cavanna F, Iorio L, Cereda E, et al. Increased urinary indoxyl sulfate (indican): new insights into gut dysbiosis in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2015;21:389–93.
- 56. Sampson TR, Debelius JW, Thron T, Janssen S, Shastri GG, Ilhan ZE, et al. Gut microbiota regulate motor deficits and neuroinflammation in a model of Parkinson's disease. Cell. 2016;167:1469–80.e12.
- 57. Yang X, Qian Y, Xu S, Song Y, Xiao Q. Longitudinal analysis of fecal microbiome and pathologic processes in a rotenone induced mice model of Parkinson's disease. Front Aging Neurosci. 2017;9:441.
- Zeevi D, Korem T, Zmora N, Israeli D, Rothschild D, Weinberger A, et al. Personalized nutrition by prediction of glycemic responses. Cell. 2015;163:1079–94.
- 59. Zuker CS. Food for the brain. Cell. 2015;161:9–11.
- Keshavarzian A, Green SJ, Engen PA, Voigt RM, Naqib A, Forsyth CB, et al. Colonic bacterial composition in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2015;30:1351–60.
- 61. Li W, Wu X, Hu X, Wang T, Liang S, Duan Y, et al. Structural changes of gut microbiota in Parkinson's disease and its correlation with clinical features. Sci China Life Sci. 2017;60:1223–33.
- Scheperjans F, Aho V, Pereira PA, Koskinen K, Paulin L, Pekkonen E, et al. Gut microbiota are related to Parkinson's disease and clinical phenotype. Mov Disord. 2015;30:350–8.
- 63. Minato T, Maeda T, Fujisawa Y, Tsuji H, Nomoto K, Ohno K, et al. Progression of Parkinson's disease is associated with gut dysbiosis: Two-year follow-up study. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0187307.
- 64. Hasegawa S, Goto S, Tsuji H, Okuno T, Asahara T, Nomoto K, et al. Intestinal dysbiosis and lowered serum lipopolysaccharide-binding protein in Parkinson's disease. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0142164.
- 65. Hill-Burns EM, Debelius JW, Morton JT, Wissemann WT, Lewis MR, Wallen ZD, et al. Parkinson's disease and Parkinson's disease medications have dis-

tinct signatures of the gut microbiome. Mov Disord. 2017;32:739–49.

- 66. Forsyth CB, Shannon KM, Kordower JH, Voigt RM, Shaikh M, Jaglin JA, et al. Increased intestinal permeability correlates with sigmoid mucosa alphasynuclein staining and endotoxin exposure markers in early Parkinson's disease. PLoS One. 2011;6:e28032.
- 67. Bedarf JR, Hildebrand F, Coelho LP, Sunagawa S, Bahram M, Goeser F, et al. Functional implications of microbial and viral gut metagenome changes in early stage L-DOPA-naïve Parkinson's disease patients. Genome Med. 2017;9:39.
- 68. Unger MM, Spiegel J, Dillmann KU, Grundmann D, Philippeit H, Bürmann J, et al. Short chain fatty acids and gut microbiota differ between patients with Parkinson's disease and age-matched controls. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2016;32:66–72.
- Bienenstock J, Kunze W, Forsythe P. Microbiota and the gut-brain axis. Nutr Rev. 2015;73(Suppl 1):28–31.
- Perez-Pardo P, Dodiya HB, Engen PA, Naqib A, Forsyth CB, Green SJ, et al. Gut bacterial composition in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. Benef Microbes. 2018;9:799–814.
- Koh A, De Vadder F, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Bäckhed F. From dietary fiber to host physiology: short-chain fatty acids as key bacterial metabolites. Cell. 2016;165:1332–45.
- 72. Soret R, Chevalier J, De Coppet P, Poupeau G, Derkinderen P, Segain JP, et al. Short-chain fatty acids regulate the enteric neurons and control gastrointestinal motility in rats. Gastroenterology. 2010;138:1772–82.
- Plöger S, Stumpff F, Penner GB, Schulzke JD, Gäbel G, Martens H, et al. Microbial butyrate and its role for barrier function in the gastrointestinal tract. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2012;1258:52–9.
- 74. Wang HB, Wang PY, Wang X, Wan YL, Liu YC. Butyrate enhances intestinal epithelial barrier function via up-regulation of tight junction protein Claudin-1 transcription. Dig Dis Sci. 2012;57:3126–35.
- Braniste V, Al-Asmakh M, Kowal C, Anuar F, Abbaspour A, Tóth M, et al. The gut microbiota influences blood-brain barrier permeability in mice. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6:263ra158.
- 76. Flores-Martinez YM, Fernandez-Parrilla MA, Ayala-Davila J, Reyes-Corona D, Blanco-Alvarez VM, Soto-Rojas LO, et al. Acute neuroinflammatory response in the substantia nigra pars compacta of rats after a local injection of lipopolysaccharide. J Immunol Res. 2018;2018:1838921.
- 77. Hunter RL, Cheng B, Choi DY, Liu M, Liu S, Cass WA, et al. Intrastriatal lipopolysaccharide injection induces parkinsonism in C57/B6 mice. J Neurosci Res. 2009;87:1913–21.
- 78. Hoban DB, Connaughton E, Connaughton C, Hogan G, Thornton C, Mulcahy P, et al. Further characterisation of the LPS model of Parkinson's disease: a comparison of intra-nigral and intra-striatal lipopoly-saccharide administration on motor function, micro-

gliosis and nigrostriatal neurodegeneration in the rat. Brain Behav Immun. 2013;27:91–100.

- Liu M, Bing G. Lipopolysaccharide animal models for Parkinson's disease. Parkinsons Dis. 2011;2011:327089.
- Miraglia F, Colla E. Microbiome, Parkinson's disease and molecular mimicry. Cells. 2019;8:222.
- Tursi SA, Tükel Ç. Curli-containing enteric biofilms inside and out: Matrix composition, immune recognition, and disease implications. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 2018;82:e00028–18.
- Maini Rekdal V, Bess EN, Bisanz JE, Turnbaugh PJ, Balskus EP. Discovery and inhibition of an interspecies gut bacterial pathway for Levodopa metabolism. Science. 2019;364:eaau6323.
- Magistrelli L, Amoruso A, Mogna L, Graziano T, Cantello R, Pane M, et al. Probiotics may have beneficial effects in Parkinson's disease: in vitro evidence. Front Immunol. 2019;10:969.
- 84. Goya ME, Xue F, Sampedro-Torres-Quevedo C, Arnaouteli S, Riquelme-Dominguez L, Romanowski A, et al. Probiotic *Bacillus subtilis* protects against α-Synuclein aggregation in *C. elegans*. Cell Rep. 2020;30:367–80.e7.
- 85. Cassani E, Privitera G, Pezzoli G, Pusani C, Madio C, Iorio L, et al. Use of probiotics for the treatment of constipation in Parkinson's disease patients. Minerva Gastroenterol Dietol. 2011;57:117–21.
- 86. Tan AH, Lim SY, Chong KK, Manap MAA A, Hor JW, et al. Probiotics for constipation in Parkinson disease: a randomized placebo-controlled study. Neurology. 2021;96:e772–82.
- Huang H, Xu H, Luo Q, He J, Li M, Chen H, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation to treat Parkinson's disease with constipation: a case report. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019;98:e16163.
- 88. Sun MF, Zhu YL, Zhou ZL, Jia XB, Xu YD, Yang Q, et al. Neuroprotective effects of fecal microbiota transplantation on MPTP-induced Parkinson's disease mice: Gut microbiota, glial reaction and TLR4/ TNF-α signaling pathway. Brain Behav Immun. 2018;70:48–60.
- Jašarević E, Morrison KE, Bale TL. Sex differences in the gut microbiome-brain axis across the lifespan. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci. 2016;371:20150122.
- Markle JG, Frank DN, Mortin-Toth S, Robertson CE, Feazel LM, Rolle-Kampczyk U, et al. Sex differences in the gut microbiome drive hormone-dependent regulation of autoimmunity. Science. 2013;339: 1084–8.
- Wallis A, Butt H, Ball M, Lewis DP, Bruck D. Support for the microgenderome: associations in a human clinical population. Sci Rep. 2016;6:19171.
- 92. Jaggar M, Rea K, Spichak S, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. You've got male: Sex and the microbiota-gutbrain axis across the lifespan. Front Neuroendocrinol. 2020;56:100815.
- d'Hennezel E, Abubucker S, Murphy LO, Cullen TW. Total lipopolysaccharide from the human gut

microbiome silences toll-like receptor signaling. mSystems. 2017;2:e00046–17.

- 94. Santos-Marcos JA, Rangel-Zuñiga OA, Jimenez-Lucena R, Quintana-Navarro GM, Garcia-Carpintero S, Malagon MM, et al. Influence of gender and menopausal status on gut microbiota. Maturitas. 2018;116:43–53.
- 95. Sinha T, Vich Vila A, Garmaeva S, Jankipersadsing SA, Imhann F, Collij V, et al. Analysis of 1135 gut

metagenomes identifies sex-specific resistome profiles. Gut Microbes. 2019;10:358-66.

96. Santos-Marcos JA, Haro C, Vega-Rojas A, Alcala-Diaz JF, Molina-Abril H, Leon-Acuña A, et al. Sex differences in the gut microbiota as potential determinants of gender predisposition to disease. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2019;63:e1800870.



25

The Impact of Oral Microbiome on Systemic Disease

Hyo-Jung Lee

25.1 Introduction

Surprisingly, few studies have meticulously investigated oral microbiome based on sex differences. It has long been estimated that nearly 700 different types of bacteria exist in the human oral cavity [1]. Currently, about 1000 species of the oral microbiome are known, and there is little interest in gender-based differences. Without accurate knowledge of gender differences in oral microbiome, analyses will lead to erroneous results. General information must be shared by clinicians in terms of oral microbime, Because the composition of oral microbiome is altered by therapeutic intervention. From a sex/gender perspective, a healthy oral microbiome will be revisited according to the stage of life such as pre-puberty and after puberty. The connection between the oral cavity and the body is the official slogan of the Forsyth Institute, which emphasizes the role of oral microbiome regarding oral disease progression followed by systemic diseases.

Recent studies have shown that the protective effect of estradiol is associated with estrogen receptor subtypes and specific tissue compartments associated with bacterial injury, suggesting that tissue-specific expression of specific sex steroid receptors increases the susceptibility to bacterial infection. Further, this gender bias depends on the effect of sex hormones on specific bacterial species [2]. This chapter is particularly helpful in understanding the link between oral and systemic diseases based on gender-based microbiome composition.

25.2 Dental Biofilm

The most diverse collections of oral microorganisms are found in dental plaque [3]. The biofilms that form on teeth are referred to as dental plaque [4]. It is now very common to use the term "dental biofilm" instead of the original descriptor "dental plaque." This does not mean that the original work performed on "dental plaque" is now invalid or irrelevant; rather it emphasizes the direct relevance of the broader principles based on studies of dental biofilms across the spectrum of microbiologic habitats.

The vast majority of microorganisms in nature, including those in the mouth, are attached to surfaces as biofilms. Biofilms have thus been defined as matrix-embedded microbial populations, adherent to each other and to surfaces or interfaces. It appears as a white or pale yellow "slime layer," that is commonly found between the teeth and along the gingival cervical margins

H.-J. Lee (🖂)

Department of Periodontology, Section of Dentistry, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Republic of Korea

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_25

(Fig. 25.1). Eventually, the biofilm changes from an early colony to a mature substrate [5] (Fig. 25.2). Whole oral cavity is covered by biofilm. Therefore, the composition of oral microbiome differs from the attached site in the oral cavity such as subgingival plaque supragingival plaque, keratinized gingiva, buccal mucosa, hard palate, tongue dorsum and saliva, tonsils, and throat [6].



Fig. 25.1 Dental plaque (dental biofilm): Dental biofilms defined as matrix-embedded microbial populations, adherent to each other and to surfaces or interfaces

Sex-Based Differences 25.3 in Healthy Oral Microbiome

In the absence of oral disease, the oral microbiome is influenced by genetic variation and environment. Recent studies support the role of contact and shared environment, and age (not genetics) as determinants of microbial transmission, consistently across species and strains and across multiple oral habitats [7]. However, this does not mean that heredity is not a factor in the composition of the oral microbiome. Host genetic factors, as well as environmental variables such as age, sex, and hormonal fluctuations, are also related to the human microbiome [8]. Oral bacteria change under major hormonal fluctuations, such as puberty or pregnancy, and hormonal changes may play a causal role in gender-specific microbial transitions [9]. The primary etiology of oral diseases is bacterial, and oral bacterial profiles vary by sex. The effect of sex steroids on subgingival bacteria is obvious by the cumulative impact of puberty, menstruation, oral contraceptives, and pregnancy on long-term changes in the



b Summary hypothesis for interpretation of hedgehog structures



Fig. 25.2 (a) Dental plaque: Corncob structures formed by Corynebacterium and cocci in plaque. Corynebacterium cells (magenta) are visible as long filaments, with cocci (green) bound to the tips of the filaments (Scale bar: $20 \ \mu m$). (b) Summary hypothesis for the interpretation of

hedgehog structures: The base of the hedgehog is dominated by Corynebacterium filaments and thinly populated by additional rods, filaments, and cocci (adapted from Welch et al. [5])

а

female subgingival microbiome reported by studies investigating the association between sex and the composition of oral microbiome in health and disease [10].

The role of oral microbiome in childhood is not clearly established. Children aged 2–12 years carry high levels of *Actinomycetes*, some of which increase the risk of caries, indicating that these microbes may not be a major determinant influencing dental caries in girls without caries [11].

Basically, the biochemical parameters of saliva differ according to gender. Salivary pH, buffering capacity, protein content, secretion-IgA, and chitinase activity were all lower in females than in males, whereas lysozymal activity was higher [12]. Zaura et al. reported genderspecific differences in microbiome and metabolites. Samples with high salivary pH showed increased chitinase activity, higher abundance of *Veillonella* and *Prevotella* species, and

higher levels of amino acid fermentation products, suggesting proteolytic adaptation. Linear discriminant analysis effect size (LEfSe) revealed 65 unique OTUs between males and females, of which 44 OTUs (including 19 streptococcal OTUs) were significantly higher in females, whereas the male salivary microbiome was higher in Veillonella, Prevotella, and Megasphaera. The results also suggested that overspecialization of proteolytic or saccharolytic ecotypes may indicate a transition to a dysbiotic state (Fig. 25.3). Low salivary pH in female is attributed to physiological factors such as the effect of sex hormones on salivary gland gene expression and smaller salivary gland size [13]. The oral cavity harbors a high degree of bacterial diversity [3]. It is also known to carry a very diverse viral community [14]. Many of these oral viruses are not transient members of the oral ecosystem, as evidenced by persistence of specific viruses over the entire 60-day study period. In



Fig. 25.3 Salivary ecosystem in healthy young adults: The dichotomy in bacteria-metabolite associations and the relation with salivary parameters is depicted in sac-

charolytic (left side) and proteolytic (right side) adaptations of the ecosystem. MIC 1.2.3: Clusters of three main microbiome samples (adapted from Zaura et al. [12]) this study, differences between viromes were attributed to sex differences of the host rather than differences between individuals.

25.4 Oral Microbiome and Oral Disease Based on Sex

Salivary microbiome studies investigating oral disease status report differences between healthy and dysbiotic microbiomes, such as dental caries or periodontal diseases [15, 16].

In general, men are more susceptible to periodontal disease [17]. Women have significantly higher saliva pH than men, but women are more susceptible to dental caries due to multiple reasons such as biological and anthropological factors [18].

25.4.1 Oral Microbiome in Dental Caries by Sex

Streptococcus mutans and *Lactobacillus* are classically cariogenic microbial species [19]. Additional microorganisms that are associated

with caries include Scardovia wiggsiae, Firmicutes, Veillonella HOT 780, Slackia exigua, Porphyromonas, Granulicatella elegans, and Actinomyces [20]. These cariogenic bacteria produce an acidic environment by breaking down fermentable carbohydrates, suggesting that diet and specific nutrients are key determinants of dental caries. In 2019, Ortiz et al. reported significant sex differences in salivary microbiota between caries-active boys and girls. Neisseria flavescens, Rothia aeria, and Haemophilus pittmaniae were found at significantly higher levels caries-active boys [11]. In contrast, in Lactococcus lactis, Selenomonas species HOT 126, Actinobaculum species HOT 183, V. parvula, and Alloprevotella species HOT 473 were found at significantly higher levels in cariesactive girls aged 2-12 years (Fig. 25.4). Thus, the levels of acid-producing caries-inducing L. lactis were significantly higher in caries-active girls than in caries-active boys. In addition, in cariesactive girls, Alloprevotella species HOT 473 was the only species that exhibited significant sex differences (4.4-fold difference; p = 0.0003) and increased abundance (1.85% of the total micro-



Fig. 25.4 Abundance of top 20 salivary microorganisms found in caries-active and caries-free children differentiated by sex (adapted from Ortiza et al. [11])
bial population). Other early caries studies reported significant differences in the abundance of Neisseria between males and females diagnosed with severe childhood caries [21]. Due to multiple risks, including cultural issues, female gender is more susceptible to caries than men in remote areas [22]. However, the diminished flow rate of saliva contributes to a less protective oral environment and greater caries susceptibility. The parotid, buccal, and lip salivary glands showed lower flow rates in females than in males, especially among elderly participants [23]. Smaller salivary glands in women consistently showed substantially lower IgA concentrations among all salivary glands tested, and the higher IgA concentrations in men may be associated with a greater protection against caries when compared with women [24].

25.4.2 Oral Microbiome in Periodontal Disease by Sex

The incidence and severity of periodontal disease were higher in men [25]. Umeda et al. reported that men have greater odds of carrying P. intermedia in saliva, subgingival and supragingival plaques [8]. Periodontal disease during a hormone surge suggests that inflammation occurs due to the hormonal effect on the gingival tissue and the subgingival ecosystem. Since these hormonal variations are systemic, it may be useful to investigate whether host-associated bacterial ecosystems elsewhere in the body respond similar to that of subgingival bacteria [9]. Moore et al. reported increased levels of Lactobacillus rimae (now Atopobium rimae), P. denticola, Actinomyces naeslundii, and V. atypica in pubertal boys [26]. Immediately after the onset of puberty, P. intermedia and P. melaninogenica were detected mostly in boys, whereas Actinomyces odontolyticus was more frequently detected in girls [27]. Within the oral environment, Prevotella spp. (P. intermedia and P. nigrescens) were found in both healthy periodontal furrows and diseased periodontal pocket, but their frequency and rate of detection in healthy individuals was significantly lower than in disease [28].

Prevotella species also secrete potent lipopolysaccharides that stimulate osteoclast formation and nitric oxide release from macrophages in vitro [29]. Exopolysaccharide is another recently identified virulence factor that appears to confer resistance to phagocytosis by polymorphonuclear leukocytes [30, 31].

25.5 Oral Microbiome and Systemic Diseases

Previous studies have reported that the salivary microbiome is more resilient and stable despite changes in diet and oral hygiene compared with the gut microbiota. The oral microbiome contains a wealth of information including not only the oral health, but also the systemic health of the whole body.

25.5.1 Oral Microbiome and Metabolic Diseases by Sex

Raju et al. determined the association between salivary microbiota and body size in Finnish children aged 11–14 years based on gender [32]. Oral microbiome in boys was more alpha-diverse than girls. The composition differed between normal-weight and obese girls, but not in boys. The levels of Veilonella, Prevotella, Selenomonas, and Streptococci were reduced in obese children. Among young adults in their 20s, differences could be observed in saliva microbiota between men and women in the fasted condition but even more in the fed condition, and Porphyromonas and Capnocytophaga were overrepresented in the male salivary samples compared with female saliva [33]. This study suggests that gender was associated with a particular "signature" of oral microbiota in fed and fasted conditions. Therefore, the sex-related differences after feeding require further characterization as part of a generalized concept of "personalized medicine." Bacterial signatures of belonging to the male gender were identified under fed conditions: Lentimicrobiaceae and Capnocytophaga were



Fig. 25.5 (a) Oral (saliva) microbiota in fed condition in female subjects compared with male subjects: Linear discriminant analysis effect size (LEfSe) analysis-based

overrepresented in the male salivary samples and partly contributed to the "male microbiota" signature.

Similarly, the genus *Haemophilus* from the family Pasteurellaceae was overrepresented in the female salivary samples after feeding and represented the signature of female salivary microbiota [33] (Fig. 25.5).

25.5.2 Oral Microbiome and Gastrointestinal Diseases by Sex

Recent studies suggest that the oral microbiome plays a role in the health of other extremities in the body. For example, the enrichment of both *Porphyromonas gingivalis* and *Aggregatibacter actinomycetemcomitans* in oral cavity has been associated with a higher risk of pancreatic cancer [34]. The relative abundance of *Streptococcus* and *Prevotella* species was higher in the oral cavity of individuals with colorectal cancer [35]. However, it is still unknown whether oral inflammation in patients with gastrointestinal (GI) diseases is the cause or a consequence of imbalance cladogram. (b) Unifrac representation of the beta diversity between fed female and fed male (adapted from Minty et al. [33])

in the salivary microbiota, and which local (oral cavity) or systemic (gut) immune response is responsible for the apparent dysbiosis of salivary microbiota. Further studies are needed to elucidate the sex-dependent oral microbiome in patients with GI diseases.

25.5.3 Oral Microbiome and Cardiovascular Diseases by Sex

Kwun et al. investigated the microbial diversity and composition of coronary thrombus in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardinal infarction (STEMI), and the composition of thrombus microbiome compared with oral and intestinal microbiota [36]. The patient group presented microbial dysbiosis characterized by a higher relative abundance of *Proteobacteria* (p) and *Enterobacteriaceae* (f) in the gut microbiome and a lower abundance of *Firmicutes* (p) and *Haemophilus* (g) in the oral microbiome. Currently, most studies related to oral microbiome in patients diagnosed with cardiovascular diseases are focused on male gender.

25.6 Conclusions

The salivary microflora exhibits temporal stability, with little or no evidence of diurnal activity compared with stool [37]. Fluctuations indicate that saliva sampling time is not a critical parameter [37]. The composition of the oral microbiome is influenced by several factors, including gender. A well-designed study investigating the role of gender in oral disease is needed.

References

- Paster BJ, Boches SK, Galvin JL, Ericson RE, Lau CN, Levanos VA, et al. Bacterial diversity in human subgingival plaque. J Bacteriol. 2001;183:3770–83.
- Vázquez-Martínez ER, García-Gómez E, Camacho-Arroyo I, González-Pedrajo B. Sexual dimorphism in bacterial infections. Biol Sex Differ. 2018;9:1–20.
- Dewhirst FE, Chen T, Izard J, Paster BJ, Tanner ACR, Yu WH, et al. The human oral microbiome. J Bacteriol. 2010;192:5002–17.
- Niklaus PL, Jan L. Clinical periodontology and implant dentistry. 6th ed. Oxford: Wiley; 2015.
- Welch JLM, Rossetti BJ, Rieken CW, Dewhirst FE, Borisy GG. Biogeography of a human oral microbiome at the micron scale. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113:E791–800.
- Segata N, Haake SK, Mannon P, Lemon KP, Waldron L, Gevers D, et al. Composition of the adult digestive tract bacterial microbiome based on seven mouth surfaces, tonsils, throat and stool samples. Genome Biol. 2012;13:R42.
- Mukherjee C, Moyer CO, Steinkamp HM, Hashmi SB, Beall CJ, Guo X, et al. Acquisition of oral microbiota is driven by environment, not host genetics. Microbiome. 2021;9:1–13.
- Umeda M, Chen C, Bakker I, Contreras A, Morrison JL, Slots J. Risk indicators for harboring periodontal pathogens. J Periodontol. 1998;69:1111–8.
- Kumar PS. Sex and the subgingival microbiome: Do female sex steroids affect periodontal bacteria? Periodontol. 2000;2013(61):103–24.
- Corby PMA, Bretz WA, Hart TC, Melo Filho M, Oliveira B, Vanyukov M. Mutans streptococci in preschool twins. Arch Oral Biol. 2005;50:347–51.
- Ortiz S, Herrman E, Lyashenko C, Purcell A, Raslan K, Khor B, et al. Sex-specific differences in the salivary microbiome of caries-active children. J Oral Microbiol. 2019;11:1653124.
- Zaura E, Brandt BW, Prodan A, Teixeira De Mattos MJ, Imangaliyev S, Kool J, et al. On the ecosystemic network of saliva in healthy young adults. ISME J. 2017;11:1218–31.

- Prodan A, Brand HS, Ligtenberg AJM, Imangaliyev S, Tsivtsivadze E, van der Weijden F, et al. Interindividual variation, correlations, and sex-related differences in the salivary biochemistry of young healthy adults. Eur J Oral Sci. 2015;123:149–57.
- Abeles SR, Robles-Sikisaka R, Ly M, Lum AG, Salzman J, Boehm TK, et al. Human oral viruses are personal, persistent and gender-consistent. ISME J. 2014;8:1753–67.
- Takeshita T, Kageyama S, Furuta M, Tsuboi H, Takeuchi K, Shibata Y, et al. Bacterial diversity in saliva and oral health-related conditions: The Hisayama Study. Sci Rep. 2016;6:1–11.
- 16. Marsh PD. Are dental diseases examples of ecological catastrophes? Microbiology. 2003;149:279–94.
- Haytac MC, Ozcelik O, Mariotti A. Periodontal disease in men. Periodontol. 2000;2013(61):252–65.
- Lukacs JR. Sex differences in dental caries experience: clinical evidence, complex etiology. Clin Oral Investig. 2011;15:649–56.
- Fakhruddin KS, Ngo HC, Samaranayake LP. Cariogenic microbiome and microbiota of the early primary dentition: a contemporary overview. Oral Dis. 2019;25:982–95.
- 20. Ma C, Chen F, Zhang Y, Sun X, Tong P, Si Y, et al. Comparison of oral microbial profiles between children with severe early childhood caries and caries-free children using the human oral microbe identification microarray. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0122075.
- de Jesus VC, Shikder R, Oryniak D, Mann K, Alamri A, Mittermuller B, et al. Sex-based diverse plaque microbiota in children with severe caries. J Dent Res. 2020;99:703–12.
- Ferraro M, Vieira AR. Explaining gender differences in caries: a multifactorial approach to a multifactorial disease. Int J Dent. 2010;2010:1–5.
- Percival RS, Challacombe S, Marsh PD. Flow rates of resting whole and stimulated parotid saliva in relation to age and gender. J Dent Res. 1994;73:1416–20.
- Eliasson L, Birkhed D, Österberg T, Carlén A. Minor salivary gland secretion rates and immunoglobulin A in adults and the elderly. Eur J Oral Sci. 2006;114:494–9.
- 25. Paul E, Bruce D, Liang M, Gary S, Gina T, Wenche B, et al. Update on prevelence of periodontitis in adults in the Unite States. J Peridontol. 2015;86:611–22.
- Moore WEC, Burmeister JA, Brooks CN, Ranney RR, Hinkelmann KH, Schieken RM, et al. Investigation of the influences of puberty, genetics, and environment on the composition of subgingival periodontal floras. Infect Immun. 1993;61:2891–8.
- Gusberti FA, Mombelli A, Lang NP, Minder CE. Changes in subgingival microbiota during puberty: a 4-year longitudinal study. J Clin Periodontol. 1990;17:685–92.
- Lie MA, Van Der Weijden GA, Timmerman MF, Loos BG, Van Steenbergen TJM, Van Der Velden U, et al. Occurrence of *Prevotella intermedia* and *Prevotella nigrescens* in relation to gingivitis and gingival health. J Clin Periodontol. 2001;28:189–93.

- 29. Chung YH, Chang EJ, Kim SJ, Kim HH, Kim HM, Lee SB, et al. Lipopolysaccharide from *Prevotella nigrescens* stimulates osteoclastogenesis in cocultures of bone marrow mononuclear cells and primary osteoblasts. J Periodontal Res. 2006;41:288–96.
- 30. Yamane K, Yamanaka T, Yamamoto N, Furukawa T, Fukushima H, Walker CB, et al. A novel exopolysaccharide from a clinical isolate of *Prevotella nigrescens*: purification, chemical characterization and possible role in modifying human leukocyte phagocytosis. Oral Microbiol Immunol. 2005;20:1–9.
- 31. Angela M, van Oosten C, Mombelli A, Gusberti FA, Lang NP. Black-pigmented *Bacteroides* and spirochetes in the subgingival microbiota of prepubertal schoolchildren. J Periodontal Res. 1988;23:199–203.
- Raju SC, Lagström S, Ellonen P, De Vos WM, Eriksson JG, Weiderpass E, et al. Gender-specific associations between saliva microbiota and body size. Front Microbiol. 2019;10:1–10.
- Minty M, Loubières P, Canceill T, Azalbert V, Burcelin R, Tercé F, et al. Gender-associated differ-

ences in oral microbiota and salivary biochemical parameters in response to feeding. J Physiol Biochem. 2021;77:155–66.

- 34. Fan X, Alekseyenko AV, Wu J, Peters BA, Jacobs EJ, Gapstur SM, et al. Human oral microbiome and prospective risk for pancreatic cancer: a population-based nested case-control study. Gut. 2018;67:120–7.
- 35. Flemer B, Warren RD, Barrett MP, Cisek K, Das A, Jeffery IB, et al. The oral microbiota in colorectal cancer is distinctive and predictive. Gut. 2018;67:1454–63.
- 36. Kwun JS, Kang SH, Lee HJ, Park HK, Lee WJ, Yoon CH, et al. Comparison of thrombus, gut, and oral microbiomes in Korean patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a case–control study. Exp Mol Med. 2020;52:2069–79.
- Cameron SJS, Huws SA, Hegarty MJ, Smith DPM, Mur LAJ. The human salivary microbiome exhibits temporal stability in bacterial diversity. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. 2015;91:1–10.

Part XI

Overlap Syndrome of Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders



26

Overlap Syndrome of Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders

Nayoung Kim

26.1 Introduction

The Rome Foundation, a committee of experts, published the Rome Criteria IV in 2016 and categorized functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGIDs) in the digestive organs into esophageal, gastroduodenal, bowel, gastrointestinal (GI) pain, gallbladder and sphincter of Oddi, anorectal disease, neonate/toddler, and child/adolescent diseases [1] (Table 26.1). GI motility disorder, visceral hypersensitivity, infection, inflammation, and changes in the gut microbiota are hypothesized to be important pathophysiological mechanisms. In recent years, as studies have explored interactions within the brain-gutmicrobiome axis, the biopsychosocial model has become prominent as a way to explain GI symptoms as a result of paresthesia, changes in motility, the combined activation of the autonomic and central nervous systems, and interactions involving the gut microbiota. Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) and functional dyspepsia (FD) are the most common FGIDs. Depending on the definition used and the population in each study, the prevalence of IBS was 3–27% and that of FD was 25% [2]. These two diseases have a shared pathophys-

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Korea (Republic of) e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr iology; this increases the probability of these diseases occurring together, which is referred to as overlap syndrome of FGID, about which numerous studies have been published [3–12].

A notable characteristic of overlap syndrome of FGID is that, in addition to GI symptoms, patients with overlap syndrome report physical and psychological symptoms, such as fibromyalgia, migraine, joint pain, temporomandibular joint disorder, bladder pain syndrome, interstitial cystitis, anxiety, and depression, and they are more likely to be female and have accompanying pain [13]. Therefore, rather than simply approaching overlap syndrome as a combination of IBS and FD, there is a need for research focusing specifically on overlap syndrome of FGID as a condition that is more severe and is more frequent in women, for which reason it is important to understand sex/ gender differences in this disease. In this chapter, the definition, distribution, and pathophysiology of overlapping syndrome of FGID are explored.

26.2 Distribution of Overlap Syndrome of Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders

The Rome Foundation defines each FGID separately [1] (Table 26.1), but in clinical practice, it is common to observe two or more FGIDs at the same time. Population-based epidemiological studies have similarly reported overlapping syn-

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_26

	· •
A. Esophageal disorders	
A1. Functional chest pain	A4. Globus
A2. Functional heartburn	A5. Functional dysphagia
A3. Reflux hypersensitivity	
B. Gastroduodenal disorders	
B1. Functional dyspepsia	B3. Nausea and vomiting disorders
B1a. Postprandial distress syndrome (PDS)	B3a. Chronic nausea vomiting syndrome (CNVS)
B1b. Epigastric pain syndrome (EPS)	B3b. Cyclic vomiting syndrome (CVS)
B2. Belching disorders	B3c. Cannabinoid hyperemesis syndrome (CHS)
B2a. Excessive supragastric belching	B4. Rumination syndrome
B2b. Excessive gastric belching	
C. Bowel disorders	
C1. Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS)	C2. Functional constipation
IBS with predominant constipation (IBS-C)	C3. Functional diarrhea
IBS with predominant diarrhea (IBS-D)	C4. Functional abdominal bloating/distension
IBS with mixed bowel habits (IBS-M)	C5. Unspecified functional bowel disorder
IBS unclassified (IBS-U)	C6. Opioid-induced constipation
D. Centrally mediated disorders of gastrointestinal pain	
D1. Centrally mediated abdominal pain syndrome (CAPS)	
D2. Narcotic bowel syndrome (NBS)/opioid-induced GI hy	peralgesia
E. Gallbladder and sphincter of Oddi (SO) disorders	
E1. Biliary pain	E2. Functional pancreatic SO disorder
E1a. Functional gallbladder disorder	
E1b. Functional biliary SO disorder	
F. Anorectal disorder	
F1. Fecal incontinence	F3. Functional defecation disorders
F2. Functional anorectal pain	F3a. Inadequate defecatory propulsion
F2a. Levator ani syndrome	F3b. Dyssynergic defecation
F2b. Unspecified functional anorectal pain	
F2c. Proctalgia fugax	
G. Childhood functional GI disorders: neonate/toddler	
G1. Infant regurgitation	G5. Functional diarrhea
G2. Rumination syndrome	G6. Infant dyschezia
G3. Cyclic vomiting syndrome (CVS)	G7. Functional constipation
G4. Infant colic	
H. Childhood functional GI disorders: child/adolescent	
H1. Functional nausea and vomiting	H2a2. Epigastric pain syndrome
H1a. Cyclic vomiting Syndrome (CVS)	H2b. Irritable bowel syndrome (IBS)
H1b. Functional nausea and functional vomiting	H2c. Abdominal migraine
H1b1. Functional nausea	H2d. Functional abdominal pain – NOS
H1b2. Functional vomiting	H3. Functional defecation disorders
H1c. Rumination syndrome	H3a. Functional constipation
H1d. Aerophagia	H3b. Nonretentive fecal incontinence
H2. Functional abdominal pain disorders	
H2a. Functional dyspepsia	
H2a1. Postprandial distress syndrome	

Table 26.1 Categorization of FGIDs in the Rome IV criteria (adapted from Drossman and Hasler [1])

drome, wherein various FGIDs co-occur [7–9, 14–16] (Table 26.2). For example, the prevalence of IBS among patients with FD is 37%, which is substantially higher than the prevalence of 7%

among those who do not have FD. The odds ratio (OR) of IBS in patients with FD is high, at 8 (95% confidence interval [CI], 5.74–11.16) [17]. The prevalence of FD when IBS is present is

	Primary clinics	Tertiary hospitals	Total
	(<i>n</i> = 155)	(n = 236)	(N = 391)
Combined FGIDs	84 (54.2%)	117 (49.6%)	201 (51.4%)
FD + IBS	35 (22.6%)	53 (22.5%)	88 (22.5%)
FD + belching disorders	25 (16.1%)	45 (19.1%)	70 (17.9%)
IBS + belching disorders	20 (12.9%)	30 (12.7%)	50 (12.8%)
FD + functional heartburn	16 (10.3%)	24 (10.2%)	40 (10.2%)
IBS + functional heartburn	5 (3.2%)	15 (6.4%)	20 (5.1%)
Functional heartburn + belching disorders	10 (6.5%)	19 (8.1%)	29 (7.4%)
FD + IBS + belching disorders	14 (9.0%)	24 (10.2%)	38 (9.7%)
FD + IBS + functional heartburn	5 (3.2%)	14 (5.9%)	19 (4.9%)
FD + belching disorders + functional heartburn	8 (5.2%)	13 (5.5%)	21 (5.4%)
IBS + belching disorders + functional heartburn	4 (2.6%)	9 (3.8%)	13 (3.3%)
FD + IBS + belching disorders + functional	4 (2.6%)	9 (3.8%)	13 (3.3%)
heartburn			

Table 26.2 Trends of overlap syndrome in primary clinics and tertiary hospitals (adapted from Park et al. [8])

FGIDs functional gastrointestinal disorders, FD functional dyspepsia, IBS irritable bowel syndrome

29–87% [16, 18, 19]. These high prevalence rates imply the possibility that shared components of pathophysiology such as GI motility disorder, visceral hypersensitivity, infection, inflammation, and changes in the gut microbiota are expressed in both the stomach and intestines, rather than overlap by chance. Support for this possibility is provided by the ongoing publication of reports about FGIDs other than IBS and FD [2]. In an age-representative survey about 20 types of FGIDs conducted in the United States, 69% of respondents had at least one FGIDs [20], and in a population-based survey, 1-8% of the general population had multiple FGIDs [16]. A study of the general population in Olmsted County, Minnesota in the United States also reported that 17% of individuals had two or more FGIDs, including symptoms of gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) [21]. Among reports from Asia, a cross-sectional study of individuals participating in health check-ups in Japan found that the prevalence of FD was 10.0%, that of IBS was 14.2%, and that of overlap syndrome of FD and IBS was 3.4% [5]. In a South Korean study of individuals participating in health check-ups and inpatients, 15.0% had overlap syndrome of FD and IBS, and patients with overlap syndrome reported more symptoms of depression and lower quality of life (QoL) than individuals with no FGIDs [4]. A study conducted among patients visiting gastroenterology clinics in China

Table 26.3 Overlap syndrome of functional dyspepsia and irritable bowel syndrome in Asia (modified from Suzuki and Hibi [7])

			FD-IBS
	FD alone	IBS alone	overlap
	(<i>n</i> [%])	(<i>n</i> [%])	(<i>n</i> [%])
Wang et al.	306	178 (28.0)	151 (23.8)
[3]	(48.2)		
Nakajima	17 (34.0)	21 (42.0)	12 (24.0)
et al. [6]			
Kaji et al.	177	289 (51.8)	92 (16.5)
[5]	(31.7)		
Lee et al. [4]	28 (18.4)	82 (53.9)	42 (27.6)
Park [9]	72 (43.1)	76 (45.5)	19 (11.4)
Choi et al.	198	46 (13.0)	110 (31.0)
[11]	(56.0)		

FD functional dyspepsia, IBS irritable bowel syndrome

reported overlap syndrome of IBS and FD in 5% of the samples [3]. The prevalence of overlap syndrome of FD and IBS reported in Asia ranges from 11.4% [9] to 27.6% [4] (Table 26.3) [7]; this discrepancy might reflect variation across different cohorts or study designs. When more severe FGIDs are included, the proportion of overlap syndrome increases, but when multiple less severe symptoms are included, the proportion is expected to decline. In a study by the author's research team conducted among gastroenterology outpatients, the proportion of patients with overlap syndrome of FD and IBS was high, at 31.0% [11]. When the subtypes of FD and IBS were compared, overlap of postprandial distress



Fig. 26.1 The distribution of subtypes of irritable bowel syndrome by subtypes of functional dyspepsia. Overlap with irritable bowel syndrome with predominant constipation was common in the PDS subtype of functional dyspepsia, while irritable bowel syndrome with predominant

diarrhea was frequently observed in the EPS subtype of functional dyspepsia. *PDS* postprandial distress syndrome, *EPS* epigastric pain syndrome (adapted from Choi et al. [11])

syndrome (PDS)-subtype FD with IBS with predominant constipation (IBS-C) was the most common [11] (Fig. 26.1). FD of the epigastric pain syndrome (EPS) subtype, where pain is experienced regardless of food consumption, and IBS with predominant diarrhea (IBS-D) also commonly overlapped [11] (Fig. 26.1). The former combination was much more common in women than in men [11].

26.3 Symptoms of and Sex/ Gender Differences in Overlap Syndrome

In a study conducted by the author's research team with 354 patients who had either FD or IBS diagnosed using the Rome III criteria and 278 controls, the patients with overlap syndrome were younger than those with only FD (47.2 ± 13.8 vs. 51.9 ± 2.9 years, p = 0.003) and were more likely to be women (66.4% vs. 45.7%, p = 0.016) [11]. Compared to those with either

FD or IBS, patients with overlap syndrome of FGID were more likely to be single, divorced, or widowed (30.9% vs. 13.1%, 30.9% vs. 13.0%, respectively, both p < 0.05). The depression score and the proportion of those who drank \geq 70 g of alcohol per week were higher among patients with overlap syndrome than among those with FD only (depression score: 10.1 ± 3.5 vs. 7.3 ± 3.3 , p = 0.028; alcohol: 26.9% vs. 7.1%, p = 0.01). However, the proportion of smokers was lower among patients with overlap syndrome than in other disorder groups [11]. Nausea, abdominal bloating, and a feeling of incomplete emptying after bowel movements were independent risk factors for overlap syndrome compared to separate disorders. Young age, depression score, abdominal bloating, and PDS were independent risk factors for overlap syndrome compared to FD [11]. Symptom severity was higher and QoL was much lower in patients with overlap syndrome than in patients with either FD or IBS [11] (Fig. 26.2). In another Korean multicenter study (334 healthy controls, 168 with FD-only,



Fig. 26.2 Comparison of the severity of digestive symptoms among irritable bowel syndrome only, functional dyspepsia only, and overlapping syndrome (adapted from Choi et al. [11])



Total Men Women

Fig. 26.3 Gender difference in the frequency of representative gastrointestinal symptoms in patients with overlap syndrome of functional dyspepsia and irritable bowel syndrome (adapted from Nam et al. [22])

37 with IBS-only, 128 with FD-IBS overlap), the overlap group (19.2%) showed a higher rate of preference for dairy products, higher rate of history of Helicobacter pylori eradication, and higher anxiety/depression scores than the nonoverlap group (p < 0.05). In the FD-IBS overlap

group, men complained of reflux symptom and loose/watery stools more than women (p < 0.05), whereas women showed more severe GI symptoms, especially epigastric pain/burning symptoms, and higher depression scores than men (all p < 0.05) [22] (Fig. 26.3).

Overlap syndrome of FGIDs is more common among women than men. Women with overlap syndrome of FGIDs are more likely to have female-specific diseases such as dysmenorrhea, endometriosis, adenomyosis, leiomyomas, pelvic floor myalgia, vulvodynia, chronic cyclic pelvic pain, dyspareunia, and polycystic ovary syndrome than women without GI disorders. Hysterectomy was three-times more prevalent among patients who had IBS than among those who did not [13, 23] and was significantly more prevalent among patients with overlap syndrome of FGIDs [11], suggesting that when gynecological diseases co-occur with IBS, the possibility of healthcare-seeking is high, which leads to surgical interventions [13]. The reasons why gynecological diseases are common among patients with FGIDs, especially IBS, are related with brain activation patterns, dysregulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, immune dysfunction, visceral and somatic pain sensitivity alterations, autonomic nervous system dysregulation, and genetic susceptibility [13]. As the cause and pathophysiology of each symptom of FGIDs are complex and multifactorial, it is difficult to pinpoint a single main cause, which can vary from person to person [13]. The gender difference that women visit healthcare institutions more frequently may also be a relevant causal factor, although this phenomenon varies across countries.

26.4 Pathophysiology of Overlap Syndrome

A persuasive explanation for overlap syndrome is that two or more diseases that share the same pathophysiology (e.g., visceral hypersensitivity and GI motility disorder) can occur in multiple organs, instead of being limited to one organ. For example, abnormalities in GI smooth muscles can be a common cause of GERD, FD, and IBS-C [24, 25]. Resting-state lower esophageal sphincter pressure measured with esophageal manometry was significantly lower in patients with IBS than in those without IBS [26], and visceral hypersensitivity—as an important component of the pathophysiology of FGIDs-has been proposed as a common mechanism of various FGIDs, including GERD [27–29]. For example, the threshold for pain recognition in the rectum was found to be lower in patients with IBS, and similarly, the threshold for recognition and discomfort sensation in the esophagus was significantly lower [30]. Patients with FD also had a significantly lower threshold for recognition and discomfort sensation in the esophagus and for pain recognition in the rectum than their counterparts [30]. The pathophysiology of FD, such as a delay in gastric emptying time and visceral hypersensitivity, has been suggested as the mechanism for 10-40% of cases of GERD that is nonresponsive to proton pump inhibitors [31, 32], which are effective medications for treating GERD [24, 31]. This indicates that some patients with GERD, especially those with overlap syndrome, have a disease similar to FGIDs rather than gastric acid reflux [2]. When overlap syndrome includes GERD, visceral hypersensitivity is not limited to a specific GI area and it was supported by our study [33]. We included nonerosive reflux disease or reflux hypersensitivity in addition to FD, and IBS in the analysis of FGID overlap syndrome (Fig. 26.4a) and we found sex/gender differences in FGID, especially in the overlap group [33] (Fig. 26.4b). That is, non-erosive reflux disease (NERD)/reflux hypersensitivity (RH) was significantly more prevalent in men and FD was more prevalent in women [33] (Fig. 26.4b). Overlap FGIDs were more prevalent than non-overlap FGIDs in women. Anxiety and depression scores were higher in the overlap FGIDs, and FGID symptoms (early satiation, postprandial fullness, and epigastric pain) were more frequent and severe in the overlap FGIDs than in the non-overlap groups [33]. Our study supports that FGIDs alternatively or concurrently occur throughout the entire stomach and intestines [34]. Overlap between the PDS subtype of FD and IBS-C is especially common (Fig. 26.1), and its suggested pathophysiology is not limited to visceral hypersensitivity, but also includes infection, immune function abnormalities, gut microbiota abnormalities, dysmotility, psychological factors, altered brain activation,



Fig. 26.4 Proportions of subjects with FGIDs (**a**) and distribution of FGIDs according to sex (**b**). The prevalence of NERD was significantly higher in men and that of FD was significantly higher in women. *p < 0.0001 compared with women NERD, **p < 0.0001 compared with men FD. *FGID* functional gastrointestinal disorder

(n = 494), *NERD* non-erosive reflux disease or *RH* reflux hypersensitivity (n = 304), FD functional dyspepsia (n = 308), *IBS* irritable bowel syndrome (n = 180), nonoverlap FGIDs (n = 255), overlap FGIDs (n = 239)(adapted from Lee et al. [33])

and genetic factors [11]. In addition to GI symptoms, patients with overlap syndrome of FGIDs tend to have physical and psychological symptoms such as fibromyalgia, migraine, joint pain, temporomandibular joint disorder, bladder pain syndrome, interstitial cystitis, anxiety, and depression, as well as pain [13] (Fig. 26.5).

26.5 Course and Overlap Syndrome of Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders

Generally, GI symptoms fluctuate between improvement and deterioration with time. According to a short-term follow-up study of FGIDs in the Swedish general population by Bolling-Sternevald et al., around 72–81% reported the same symptoms around 3 months after reporting symptoms of GERD, FD, or IBS [35]. This result indicates that there are not very

many short-term changes in FGIDs, and most symptoms do not change. However, in a population-based study that observed changes in FGIDs with a longer follow-up, unlike the findings from the previous study, changes in other FGIDs were observed in many cases [2]. According to a study about 1-year and 7-year changes in FGIDs, including GERD, conducted in Sweden by Agréus et al., the prevalence of FGIDs, including GERD, was similar, and more than 50% of those who had symptoms of IBS in the first survey had the same symptoms 1 year and 7 years after [14]. However, many cases became asymptomatic or had different symptoms [14]. In a study conducted by Halder et al. that followed up FGIDs for 12 years, only around 20% of patients who were identified as patients with FGIDs in the earlier surveys had the same FGIDs 12 years later, 40% became asymptomatic, and 40% had different FGIDs [36]. This finding indicates that FGIDs remain the same in



Fig. 26.5 Model of factors that cause psychiatric symptoms with irritable bowel syndrome. *CNS* central nervous system, *CRF-HPA axis* corticosteroid releasing factor-

some patients, become different FGIDs in others, and resolve in a substantial proportion (40%) [2, 36]. Similarly, Aro et al. conducted a study that followed up FGIDs for 10 years [34]. Although the symptoms started as FD, GERD, and IBS, during the 10-year follow-up, they evolved into other FGIDs, and in this process, overlap syndrome was commonly observed [34] (Fig. 26.6). The most important factor that perpetuated FGIDs was anxiety symptoms [34]. Among 703 who completed the follow-up survey, 110 (15.6%) had FD in the first survey, and 93 (13.3%) were diagnosed during the follow-up period, among whom 48 were newly diagnosed cases of FD [34] (Fig. 26.6). Patients with FD commonly had severe anxiety symptoms (OR

hypothalamus pituitary adrenal (adapted from Chang and Drossman [15])

6.30; 99% CI, 1.64-24.16), which were closely associated with the EPS subtype of FD in the first survey (OR 4.83; 99% CI, 1.24-18.76) and became more severe during the follow-up (OR 8.12; 99% CI, 2.13-30.85) [34]. Such anxiety symptoms were especially closely related to FD and therefore were associated with the incidence of newly diagnosed FD (OR 7.61; 99% CI, 1.21-47.73), but not with GERD [34], indicating the importance of managing anxiety symptoms to prevent FD. Similarly, the author's research team followed up 494 patients with FGIDs and 239 controls for 75.8 months; symptoms progressed more frequently in the overlap FGIDs, especially in patients with anxiety as well as depression symptoms [33]. When we analyzed genetic poly-



Fig. 26.6 Natural course of FGIDs observed in Sweden for 10 years. Dyspepsia, symptoms of gastroesophageal reflux, and irritable bowel syndrome developed into other FGIDs during the 10-year follow-up, and in the process,

overlap occurred frequently. *FD* functional dyspepsia, *GERS* gastroesophageal reflux symptoms, *IBS* irritable bowel syndrome, *FGID* functional gastrointestinal disease (adapted from Aro et al. [34])

morphisms of neurotransmitters which could be associated with certain symptoms of overlap FGIDs, the L/S genotype of the *SLC6A4 5-HTTLPR* gene was also associated with deteriorating symptoms of overlap syndrome [33]. In addition, the 592 C>A polymorphism of the *IL10* gene was associated with symptoms among male patients with IBS (p = 0.009), whereas the *SLC6A4 5-HTTLPR* genotype was closely associated with esophageal symptoms among female patients with FD and IBS, indicating that polymorphisms of genes that affect neurotransmitters contribute to sex/gender differences [33]. Regarding the natural course of FGIDs, data are only available from a few countries [14, 34–36]. The main reasons could be that it is difficult to collect comprehensive surveys since the symptoms of FGIDs are diverse and to find patterns when analyzing the natural course of these conditions. Most studies about FGIDs reported that symptom severity was higher, the impact on QoL was larger, and the incidence of overlap syndrome was higher among females, but since the severity of FGIDs is not as high as that of other diseases, they have not received much attention. It will be important to examine the course of FGIDs in more detail in the future and to analyze it by sex/gender for efficient treatment.

In some cases, the diagnosis of organic diseases can be delayed due to confusion with FGIDs. The results of long-term follow-up of the incidence of organic diseases in patients with FGIDs showed that around 3% of cases of IBS or FD developed into organic diseases in 6 years [19]. Around 4% of patients with upper GI symptoms had peptic ulcers [3]. In a survival analysis of FGIDs with 30,000 person-years, there were no significant differences in survival rates between the IBS or FD group and individuals without those conditions [37]. It is very different from the mortality due to the complications of peptic ulcer disease such as bleeding [38] and perforation [39]. In contrast, FGIDs have a negligible impact on the incidence of other organic diseases or increased mortality with time, but can decrease the QoL, especially in case of overlap syndrome of FGID.

26.6 Conclusions

FGIDs are common diseases, each of which has a 10–20% prevalence in the general population. It is relatively common to observe more than one FGID in a single patient, and the prevalence of overlap of multiple FGIDs, including GERD, in the general population is around 17%. Overlap syndrome is more common, has more severe symptoms, and lowers the QoL more in women than in men. In terms of the pathophysiology, the overlap in FGIDs occurs due to shared pathophysiology (e.g., visceral hypersensitivity and GI dysmotility) rather than by chance. FGIDs have a negligible impact on the incidence of other organic diseases or increase in mortality, but can become different FGIDs or progress into overlap syndrome with time. The most important risk factor for the persistence of FGIDs was anxiety and depression symptoms [33, 34]. Since anxiety increased the likelihood of long-term persistent FGIDs by 7.6 times, proactive measures to prevent anxiety disorders in the general population are necessary [34]. In addition, genetic factors such as L/S genotype of the SLC6A4 5-HTTLPR gene were also associated with deteriorating symptoms of overlap syndrome [33]. More studies about overlap syndrome of FGIDs are needed in the future, especially with a detailed focus on sex/gender differences.

References

- Drossman DA, Hasler WL. Rome IV-functional GI disorders: disorders of gut-brain interaction. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:1257–61.
- Choung RS. Natural history and overlap of functional gastrointestinal disorders. Korean J Gastroenterol. 2012;60:345–8.
- Wang A, Liao X, Xiong L, Peng S, Xiao Y, Liu S, Hu P, et al. The clinical overlap between functional dyspepsia and irritable bowel syndrome based on Rome III criteria. BMC Gastroenterol. 2008;8:43.
- Lee HJ, Lee SY, Kim JH, Sung IK, Park HS, Jin CJ, et al. Depressive mood and quality of life in functional gastrointestinal disorders: differences between functional dyspepsia, irritable bowel syndrome and overlap syndrome. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 2010;32:499–502.
- Kaji M, Fujiwara Y, Shiba M, Kohata Y, Yamagami H, Tanigawa T, et al. Prevalence of overlaps between GERD, FD and IBS and impact on health-related quality of life. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2010;25:1151–6.
- Nakajima S, Takahashi K, Sato J, Fukuda M, Yamamoto K, Inoue T, et al. Spectra of functional gastrointestinal disorders diagnosed by Rome III integrative questionnaire in a Japanese outpatient office and the impact of overlapping. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2010;25(Suppl 1):S138–43.
- Suzuki H, Hibi T. Overlap syndrome of functional dyspepsia and irritable bowel syndrome - Are both diseases mutually exclusive? J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2011;17:360–5.
- Park JM, Cho MG, Cho YK, Lee IS, Kim JI, Kim SW, et al. Functional gastrointestinal disorders diagnosed by Rome III questionnaire in Korea. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2011;17:279–86.
- Park H. Functional gastrointestinal disorders and overlap syndrome in Korea. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011;26(Suppl 3):12–4.
- Yao X, Yang YS, Cui LH, Sun G, Peng LH, Wang WF, et al. The overlap of upper gastrointestinal disorders with irritable bowel syndrome in Chinese outpatients: a multicenter study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;31:1584–93.
- Choi YJ, Kim N, Yoon H, Shin CM, Park YS, Kim JW, et al. Overlap between irritable bowel syndrome and functional dyspepsia including subtype analyses. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;32:1553–61.
- von Wulffen M, Talley NJ, Hammer J, McMaster J, Rich G, Shah A, et al. Overlap of irritable bowel syndrome and functional dyspepsia in the clini-

cal setting: prevalence and risk factors. Dig Dis Sci. 2019;64:480-6.

- Houghton LA, Heitkemper M, Crowell MD, Emmanuel A, Halpert A, McRoberts JA, et al. Age, gender, and women's health and the patient. Gastroenterology. 2016;150:1332–43.
- Agréus L, Svärdsudd K, Talley NJ, Jones MP, Tibblin G. Natural history of gastroesophageal reflux disease and functional abdominal disorders: a populationbased study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:2905–14.
- Kim SE, Chang L. Overlap between functional GI disorders and other functional syndromes: what are the underlying mechanisms? Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2012;24:895–913.
- Locke GR III, Zinsmeister AR, Fett SL, Melton LJ III, Talley NJ. Overlap of gastrointestinal symptom complexes in a US community. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2005;17:29–34.
- Ford AC, Marwaha A, Lim A, Moayyedi P. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the prevalence of irritable bowel syndrome in individuals with dyspepsia. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2010;8:401–9.
- Choung RS, Locke GR, Schleck CD, Zinsmeister AR, Talley NJ. Do distinct dyspepsia subgroups exist in the community? A population-based study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2007;102:1983–9.
- Agréus L, Svärdsudd K, Nyrén O, Tibblin G. Irritable bowel syndrome and dyspepsia in the general population: overlap and lack of stability over time. Gastroenterology. 1995;109:671–80.
- Drossman DA, Li Z, Andruzzi E, Temple RD, Talley NJ, Thompson WG, et al. U.S. householder survey of functional gastrointestinal disorders. Prevalence, sociodemography, and health impact. Dig Dis Sci. 1993;38:1569–80.
- 21. Choung RS, Chang JY, Locke GR, Schleck CD, Zinsmeister AR, Talley NJ. Is having multiple functional gastrointestinal disorders distinct from having a single FGID? A population based study. Gastroenterology. 2011;140:S708.
- 22. Nam K, Kim N, Song HJ, Baik GH, Choi SC, Kim HJ, et al. Gender difference in the overlap of irritable bowel syndrome and functional dyspepsia: a prospective nationwide multicenter study in Korea. J Gastroenterol. 2021;56:537–46.
- Hasler WL, Schoenfeld P. Systematic review: abdominal and pelvic surgery in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2003;17:997–1005.
- 24. Gasiorowska A, Poh CH, Fass R. Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) and irritable bowel syndrome (IBS)--is it one disease or an overlap of two disorders? Dig Dis Sci. 2009;54:1829–34.
- Jones R, Lydeard S. Irritable bowel syndrome in the general population. BMJ. 1992;304:87–90.
- Smart HL, Nicholson DA, Atkinson M. Gastrooesophageal reflux in the irritable bowel syndrome. Gut. 1986;27:1127–31.

- 27. Cheung TK, Lam KF, Hu WH, Lam CL, Wong WM, Hui WM, et al. Positive association between gastrooesophageal reflux disease and irritable bowel syndrome in a Chinese population. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2007;25:1099–104.
- Costantini M, Sturniolo GC, Zaninotto G, D'Incà R, Polo R, Naccarato R, et al. Altered esophageal pain threshold in irritable bowel syndrome. Dig Dis Sci. 1993;38:206–12.
- 29. Rubenstein JH, Nojkov B, Korsnes S, Adlis SA, Shaw MJ, Weinman B, et al. Oesophageal hypersensitivity is associated with features of psychiatric disorders and the irritable bowel syndrome. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2007;26:443–52.
- Trimble KC, Farouk R, Pryde A, Douglas S, Heading RC. Heightened visceral sensation in functional gastrointestinal disease is not site-specific. Evidence for a generalized disorder of gut sensitivity. Dig Dis Sci. 1995;40:1607–13.
- Fass R. Persistent heartburn in a patient on protonpump inhibitor. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008;6:393–400.
- 32. Lee ES, Kim N, Lee SH, Park YS, Kim JW, Jeong SH, et al. Comparison of risk factors and clinical responses to proton pump inhibitors in patients with erosive esophagitis and non-erosive reflux disease. Aliment Pharm Ther. 2009;30:154–64.
- 33. Lee JY, Kim N, Park JH, Yu JE, Song YJ, Yoon JW, et al. Sex and gender differences in overlap syndrome of functional gastrointestinal disorder and effect of genetic polymorphisms in South Korea: a longterm follow-up study. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2022;28:145–58.
- 34. Aro P, Talley NJ, Johansson SE, Agréus L, Ronkainen J. Anxiety is linked to new-onset dyspepsia in the Swedish population: a 10-year follow-up study. Gastroenterology. 2015;148:928–37.
- 35. Bolling-Sternevald E, Aro P, Ronkainen J, Storskrubb T, Talley NJ, Junghard O, et al. Do gastrointestinal symptoms fluctuate in the short-term perspective? The Kalixanda study. Dig Dis. 2008;26:256–63.
- Halder SL, Locke GR III, Schleck CD, Zinsmeister AR, Melton LJ III, Talley NJ. Natural history of functional gastrointestinal disorders: a 12-year longitudinal population-based study. Gastroenterology. 2007;133:799–807.
- Chang JY, Locke GR III, McNally MA, Halder SL, Schleck CD, Zinsmeister AR, et al. Impact of functional gastrointestinal disorders on survival in the community. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010;105:822–32.
- Bae S, Kim N, Kang JM, Kim DS, Kim KM, Cho YK, et al. Incidence and 30-day mortality of peptic ulcer bleeding in Korea. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;24:675–82.
- Bae S, Shim KN, Kim N, Kang JM, Kim DS, Kim KM, et al. The incidence and short-term mortality of perforated peptic ulcer in Korea: a population-based study. J Epidemiol. 2015;22:508–16.

Part XII

Sex/Gender Differences in Pediatric Gastrointestinal Diseases



Sex/Gender Differences in Pediatric Gastrointestinal Diseases

27

Hye Ran Yang

27.1 Introduction

Sex/gender-specific medicine is an innovative field in recent research, and many studies have been actively conducted in adults. Although it is expected as a major future direction for medical research, there are few related literatures on sex differences in pediatric gastroenterology because it has not yet been well studied in pediatrics.

According to the results of a recent literature review based on a search of the medical database "Pubmed" by "sex (or gender)" and "gastrointestinal (GI) diseases" in "children" under the age of 18, only three papers written in English were published before February 2017 [1]. Since even these sex/gender-specific medicine-related literatures did not properly analyze and present the evidence for gender differences of GI diseases in children and adolescents, sex/gender-specific medicine is still a very limited field in pediatric patients [1].

In anticipation that sex/gender-specific medicine in children and adolescents can be actively conducted in the future, I would like to summarize as much as possible all the content that mentioned sex differences in pediatric GI diseases among the literature published so far and

H. R. Yang (🖂)

present updated evidence-based knowledge about sex/gender-specific medicine in pediatric gastroenterology.

27.2 Sex/Gender Differences in Pediatric Gastrointestinal Diseases

27.2.1 Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease

In adult studies, gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) is known to be a functional gastrointestinal disorder (FGID) in which the relationship between sex and age has an important influence. In particular, adult women tend to have more common heartburn, reflux symptoms, and extraesophageal symptoms than men, as well as more non-erosive reflux disease, whereas men are more likely to have pathological conditions such as reflux esophagitis, Barrett's esophagus, and esophageal cancer, showing sex differences [2].

However, studies on gender differences in pediatric GERD have not been sufficiently conducted, and so far, the meta-analysis by Zhang et al. in 2016 that analyzed the prognosis of surgical treatment for GERD is the only study published on gender differences in pediatric patients [3]. According to this meta-analysis, laparoscopic fundoplication for GERD was as effective and safe as open Nissen's fundoplication when a total

Department of Pediatrics, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seoul, Republic of Korea e-mail: hrlamb2@snu.ac.kr

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_27

of 3 randomized controlled studies including 171 children were analyzed in the literature published to date [3]. However, the recurrence of GERD and the mortality rate after laparoscopic Nissen's fundoplication from the aspect of the short-term and long-term prognosis were significantly lower in pediatric patients with neurological disorders, in those who underwent surgery at the age of less than 18 months, and female patients [3]. Based on this result, it was suggested that thorough evaluation and preparation were necessary to reduce the risk of surgery and recurrence before considering surgical treatment in these cases at risk [3].

27.2.2 Pediatric Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders

As mentioned before, few studies have analyzed and discussed gender differences in pediatric GI diseases to date [1]. According to the literature on gender differences in pediatric FGIDs by Lewis et al. in 2016, when analyzed by applying Rome III diagnostic criteria to 949 children and adolescents aged 4-18 years, 23.1% of the subjects had at least one of FGIDs and functional constipation was noted in 12.9% as the most common type of FGID in pediatric patients [4]. Of pediatric FGIDs, abdominal migraine was reported in 9.2%, pathological aerophagia in 4.3%, irritable bowel syndrome in 2.8%, encopresis in 1.8%, cyclic vomiting syndrome in 1.1%, functional abdominal pain in 1.3%, and rumination in 0.2% of the study subjects [4]. Even though there were no significant sex differences in most types of FGIDs, functional constipation was observed more frequently in boys than in girls (p = 0.022) [4].

27.2.3 Functional Abdominal Pain Disorder

Chronic abdominal pain that persists for more than 2 months is common and doctors often encounter children and adolescents who complain of chronic recurrent abdominal pain in practice because it accounts for 9–15% of children aged 4–16 years. Most of chronic abdominal pain in pediatric patients is functional and abdominal pain due to organic causes is only 10–15%. However, since repetitive abdominal pain interferes with daily life and these children and their parents are worried, appropriate approach and treatment is required.

In a meta-analysis on the epidemiology of functional abdominal pain disorder (FAPD) in children aged 4–18 years old by Korterink et al. in 2015, the prevalence of FAPD in pediatric population was 13.5% (1.6–41.2%) and FAPD was more common in Asia (16.5%) than in Europe (10.5%) [5]. Among the subtypes of FAPD, irritable bowel syndrome was reported as the most common subtype (8.8%) in children [5]. According to this meta-analysis, the prevalence of FAPD was significantly higher in 15.9% of girls compared to 11.5% of boys and the pooled odds ratio was 1.5, indicating a gender difference in pediatric patients [5].

Gender differences in FAPD have been reported all over the world. It is explained that the role of sex hormones is important as one of pathogenesis because sex hormones in female patients may promote GI hypersensitivity to pain and react sensitively to stress [6]. Since young children have not yet reached sexual maturity, this hypothesis applies only to the adolescents [6]. According to previous reports, there were gender differences even in children under 10 years of age before the onset of puberty. This may be because girls tend to express physical symptoms such as pain better than boys and that girls have a lower ability to cope with pain [7].

As for gender difference in the prognosis of FAPD, when Gieteling et al. analyzed prognostic factors of pediatric FAPD in 2011, sex was independent of the duration of chronic abdominal pain and there were no significant differences between girls and boys in terms of clinical course and prognosis [8].

27.2.4 Functional Constipation

Constipation accounts for about 3% of the total pediatric population, 3–7% of pediatric

outpatient clinic, and 25–50% of pediatric gastroenterology clinic. Although many studies have been conducted on the pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment of functional constipation in pediatric patients, there are only few studies on gender differences in pediatric constipation.

Based on the results of previous studies, it was suggested that there are sex differences between boys and girls in children with constipation [4, 9]. A meta-analysis study on the epidemiology of childhood and adolescence in 2011 reported that the prevalence of childhood constipation was about 12% (0.7–29.6%) and constipation was observed more commonly in girls than in boys with a ratio of 1:1 to 2.2:1 [9]. According to a study published in 2009 by Pham et al. 44 of 61 (72.1%) constipated children were girls, more than boys [10]. And, boys with constipation were significantly overweight or obese compared to girls, indicating a gender difference [10].

There is a study by Yik et al. published in 2011 on gender differences related to the mechanism of slow transit constipation in children [11]. According to this study, the more common occurrence of slow transit constipation in women than in men was related to the low number of substance P-containing nerve fibers in the circular muscle of the colon [11]. As a result of nuclear transit study and small intestine biopsy of 88 pediatric patients with refractory chronic constipation, 78 children had slow transit constipation and substance P-containing nerve fibers were decreased in 38.5% (10/26) of girls compared to 21.2% (11/52) in boys, indicating that there is a significant gender difference in children with slow transit constipation as in adults [11]. However, in this study, the proportion of female patients with slow transit constipation with reduced substance P-containing nerve fibers in the circular muscle layer of the colon decreased during puberty while the proportion of male patients relatively increased, revealing contradictory results [11]. Therefore, long-term follow-up leading to adulthood would be additionally needed in these patients.

27.2.5 Inflammatory Bowel Disease

Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) such as Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis have recently been rapidly increasing in children and adolescents; and various studies related to epidemiology, pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment of IBD have been conducted and published to date. However, there are still few studies on gender differences in IBD in children and adolescents.

When looking at several studies on gender differences in IBD in children and adolescents published so far, a study by Thayu et al. in 2007 reported that children and adolescents with CD had lower height and body mass index compared to their age and gender [12]. In particular, it was found that the percentage of body fat was significantly lower in girls than in boys in terms of body composition [12]. According to a study by Herzog et al. in 2014, which analyzed the Swiss IBD cohort of prepubertal pediatric patients under 10 years of age among 196 children with IBD (105 with CD, 91 with ulcerative colitis), the male to female ratio was 2.42 in pediatric CD patients, which was relatively more male, and the male to female ratio in pediatric ulcerative colitis patients was 0.64, which was relatively more female [13]. Thus, there was a significant difference in the ratio of males and females in pediatric patients with IBD under 10 years of age [13]. In the results of this study, the male to female ratio was 1.58 for CD and 0.88 for ulcerative colitis among adolescent patients aged 10 years or older [13]. Furthermore, boys with ulcerative colitis under 10 years of age showed a tendency to delay diagnosis compared to girls with ulcerative colitis, and girls with ulcerative colitis over 10 years of age showed significant gender differences in treatment; e.g., azathioprine was more commonly used as a therapeutic agent in girls than in boys [13]. However, in this study, it was reported that there was no difference between boys and girls in other factors such as age of onset, location of lesions, disease pattern, disease period, family history of IBD, presence of extra-intestinal symptoms, presence of complications, and history of surgery [13].

In addition, according to a study by Gupta et al. on gender differences in the clinical features and disease course of CD in children, a total of 989 children under the age of 17 (566 boys, 423 girls) were recruited in the pediatric IBD multicenter registry [14]. In a retrospective analysis of pediatric CD patients, there were no gender differences in age or location of lesions at diagnosis, but the presence of oral ulceration and hypoalbuminemia at onset were significantly more observed in girls than in boys [14]. Skin lesions such as erythema nodosum and pyoderma gangrenosum were also more common in girls, indicating that the overall disease course was more severe in females [14]. On the other hand, growth failure in CD in childhood and adolescence was more commonly observed in boys than in girls [**14**].

Although there are not many studies to date, on IBD in children, there were gender differences in the disease severity and the disease course. More studies related to the gender difference in IBD in children and adolescents are needed in the future.

27.2.6 Congenital Gastrointestinal Anomaly

It is known that some congenital abnormalities show gender differences; however, there are only a few epidemiologic studies in general population [15]. According to previous studies, about 3.9% of boys and 2.8% of girls are born with a major birth defect [16, 17].

As for gender difference of congenital GI anomaly, it has been reported that some congenital anomalies of the GI tract such as cleft palate and congenital pyloric stenosis are more common in boys in up to 61% of patients, showing a significant difference in the prevalence between boys and girls [15]. In particular, according to two representative studies, the relative risk was 1.55 and 1.4, respectively, when comparing the ratio of males and females in severe congenital GI anomalies. For cleft palate, the relative risk was reported to be 1.41 and 1.4, respectively; for congenital pyloric stenosis, 4.43 and 4.6; for congenital megacolon, 2.79 and 2.8; and for anal malformation, 1.7 and 1.37, respectively, indicat-

ing male predominance in these diseases [16, 17]. In a recent study on the epidemiology and clinical features of Meckel's diverticulum, the male to female ratio of Meckel's diverticulum was 1.5–4:1, and the incidence rate was up to 4 times higher in boys than in girls, showing a gender differences [18].

27.2.7 Emergency Diseases in Children and Adolescents

It is noteworthy that there are several reports of gender differences in pediatric emergency diseases. According to a study by Salo et al. published in 2015 regarding acute appendicitis among emergency diseases in pediatric surgery, when appendectomy was performed in 427 children under the age of 15, there were more postoperative complications in girls than in boys and more intestinal perforation in boys than in girls [19].

Gender differences have also been reported in intussusception, an important pediatric emergency. According to the results of a nationwide population-based epidemiologic study published in 2020, 34,688 cases of intussusception occurred in 30,444 children under the age of 18 diagnosed with intussusception in South Korean between 2007 and 2017 [20]. As a result of analyzing the big data, intussusception occurred in 28.3/100,000 person-years, and a significant proportion of 83.1% occurred in young children under 3 years of age. Characteristically, there were more males than females in all age groups at 1.39-4.92:1 ratio [20]. As for the treatment of intussusception, the success rate of enema reduction was significantly higher in girls than in boys, and as for the prognosis, there was a difference between boys and girls with an odds ratio of 1.30 for post-discharge recurrence rate of intussusception and 1.23 for operation rate [20].

Since there may be gender differences in treatment and prognosis as well as in the prevalence of emergency disease, it will be helpful to approach pediatric patients by considering gender differences in practice.

27.3 Mechanisms of Sex/Gender Differences in Pediatric Gastrointestinal Diseases

Gender differences in children are caused by various causes such as genetic, biological, and environmental factors. Furthermore, most complex diseases have been described as occurring as a result of changes caused by differences in genetic background and interactions with the external environment and these interactions are regulated by mediators such as various hormones from the fetus in the uterus to the adolescence [15].

27.3.1 Sex Hormone

The transition of each developmental period in children and adolescents is accompanied by characteristic changes in hormones, and the role of sex hormones and sex hormone receptors is considered to be particularly important [15].

Gender differences start in the womb. In the fetus, the fetal-placental unit can convert cholesterol to pregnenolone between 6 and 12 weeks of gestation, allowing the fetal adrenal gland to produce dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) and DHEA sulfate. DHEA and 16q-OH-DHEA are converted into androgen, a male hormone, and androgen is converted into estrogen, a female hormone, under aromatization by cytochrome P450 aromatase [21]. These hormone differences between male and female not only affect the reproductive organs but also affect the formation and development of the brain and the lung and, furthermore, have an impact on fetal programming in the womb, which is known to be associated with adult diseases. It may also contribute to gender differences in diseases later in life.

After birth, blood levels of sex hormones originating from the placenta decrease, while serum levels of follicle stimulating hormone and luteinizing hormone increase. In boys, there is a surge of serum testosterone during the first few months after birth, and then after 6 months of age, serum levels of gonadotropins decrease to the low levels that are present before the beginning of puberty [15]. In girls, estradiol increases during the first year, and the blood gonadotropin concentration decreases until the onset of puberty. At the age of 8–9, just before puberty, in girls, the estrogen concentration begins to increase and, moreover, androgen metabolites are also high [22].

During puberty, a surge in sex hormone secretion causes pubertal changes in adolescents and maturation of the reproductive system. Sex hormones can cause dysregulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal and hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis. Stressors may activate neuroendocrine axis producing cortisol which orchestrates the immune responses, and estrogen stimulates the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis through corticotrophin releasing hormone that, in turn, abolishes the action of gonadotropin releasing hormone inducing a drop of sex hormones [15]. It is known that girls respond better to immune stimuli than boys, and girls produce more innate and humoral immune responses than boys [15, 23, 24].

These hormonal differences can cause gender differences between boys and girls according to developmental stages, which can also indicate gender differences in the pathogenesis of some pediatric diseases.

27.3.2 Sex Chromosome

The gender difference between male and female in children and adolescents can be fundamentally due to differences in sex chromosomes. That is, sex differences may appear regardless of the action of sex hormones for each developmental period, which can be attributed to the direct influence of genes encoded in sex chromosomes [15]. These include genes on the Y chromosome, genes that avoid inactivation among genes on the X chromosome, and genes imprinted in the paternal line that function in some XX cells [25]. In general, it is considered that both genetic and environmental factors contribute to the development of congenital anomalies and complex diseases in children and adolescents [26].

27.3.3 Environmental Factors

Environmental influences also work together in the gender difference in pediatric diseases. Some toxic substances along with various environmental factors may cause epigenetic changes that make a difference in gene expression in children, affecting the onset of various diseases, and thus may act as a risk factor. In particular, when exposure to risk factors during the prenatal, perinatal, and neonatal period, which is the critical window for sensitively responding to these environmental factors, fetal programming and postnatal programming may occur, and environmental factors can affect the onset of diseases and cause various diseases [15]. Gender can also influence geneepigenetic interactions, and thus these interactions may contribute to gender differences in the pathogenesis of childhood and adolescence diseases [27].

27.4 Conclusions

As mentioned above, although there are gender differences in various GI diseases in children and adolescents, studies in this field are still insufficient. As a pediatric gastroenterologist, I hope that many researchers will be interested in sex/ gender-specific medicine in the field of pediatric gastroenterology and hepatology and conduct indepth research on more diverse pediatric GI diseases to lay the foundation for sex/gender-specific medicine in children and adolescents in the future.

References

- Piccini P, Montagnani C, de Martino M. Gender disparity in pediatrics: a review of the current literature. Ital J Pediatr. 2018;44:1.
- Kim YS, Kim NY, Kim GH. Sex and gender differences in gastroesophageal reflux disease. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;22:575–88.
- Zhang P, Tian J, Jing L, Wang Q, Tian J, Lun L. Laparoscopic vs. open Nissen's fundoplication for gastro-oesophageal reflux disease in children: a metaanalysis. Int J Surg. 2016;34:10–6.

- Lewis ML, Palsson OS, Whitehead WE, van Tilburg MAL. Prevalence of functional gastrointestinal disorders in children and adolescents. J Pediatr. 2016;177:39–43.e3.
- Korterink JJ, Diederen K, Benninga MA, Tabbers MM. Epidemiology of pediatric functional abdominal pain disorders: a meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0126982.
- Meleine M, Matricon J. Gender-related differences in irritable bowel syndrome: potential mechanisms of sex hormones. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:6725–43.
- Wise EA, Price DD, Myers CD, Heft MW, Robinson ME. Gender role expectations of pain: relationship to experimental pain perception. Pain. 2002;96:335–42.
- Gieteling MJ, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, Lisman-van Leeuwen Y, Passchier J, Berger MY. Prognostic factors for persistence of chronic abdominal pain in children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2011;52:154–61.
- Mugie SM, Benninga MA, Di Lorenzo C. Epidemiology of constipation in children and adults: a systematic review. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol. 2011;25:3–18.
- Yik YI, Farmer PJ, King SK, Chow CW, Hutson JM, Southwell BR. Gender differences in reduced substance P (SP) in children with slow-transit constipation. Pediatr Surg Int. 2011;27:699–704.
- Pham D, James-Stevenson T, Azrak F, Srinivasan S, Christie J. Gender differences in associated gastrointestinal symptoms and the diagnostic workup for chronic constipation. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104:S495.
- Thayu M, Shults J, Burnham JM, Zemel BS, Baldassano RN, Leonard MB. Gender differences in body composition deficits at diagnosis in children and adolescents with Crohn's disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2007;13:1121–8.
- Herzog D, Buehr P, Koller R, Rueger V, Heyland K, Nydegger A, et al. Gender differences in paediatric patients of the Swiss Inflammatory Bowel Disease Cohort Study. Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr. 2014;17:147–54.
- 14. Gupta N, Bostrom AG, Kirschner BS, Ferry GD, Winter HS, Baldassano RN, et al. Gender differences in presentation and course of disease in pediatric patients with Crohn disease. Pediatrics. 2007;120:e1418–25.
- Del Principe D, Marconi M, Matarrese P, Villani A, Malorni W. Gender disparity in pediatric diseases. Curr Mol Med. 2013;13:499–513.
- Lary JM, Paulozzi LJ. Sex differences in the prevalence of human birth defects: a population-based study. Teratology. 2001;64:237–51.
- Shaw GM, Carmichael SL, Kaidarova Z, Harris JA. Differential risks to males and females for congenital malformations among 25 million California births, 1989-1997. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol. 2003;67:953–8.
- Hansen CC, Søreide K. Systematic review of epidemiology, presentation, and management of

Meckel's diverticulum in the 21st century. Medicine (Baltimore). 2018;97:e12154.

- Salö M, Ohlsson B, Arnbjörnsson E, Stenström P. Appendicitis in children from a gender perspective. Pediatr Surg Int. 2015;31:845–53.
- Lee EH, Yang HR. Nationwide population-based epidemiologic study on childhood intussusception in South Korea: Emphasis on treatment and outcomes. Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr. 2020;23:329–45.
- Mesiano S, Jaffe RB. Developmental and functional biology of the primate fetal adrenal cortex. Endocr Rev. 1997;18:378–403.
- 22. Ikegami S, Moriwake T, Tanaka H, Inoue M, Kubo T, Suzuki S, et al. A ultrasensitive assay revealed age related changes in serum oestradiol at low concentrations in both sexes from infancy to puberty. Clin Endocrinol. 2001;55:789–95.

- Chrousos GP. Stress and sex versus immunity and inflammation. Sci Signal. 2010;3:pe36.
- Duma D, Collins JB, Chou JW, Cidlowski JA. Sexually dimorphic actions of glucocorticoids provide a link to inflammatory diseases with gender differences in prevalence. Sci Signal. 2010;3:ra74.
- Jazin E, Cahill L. Sex differences in molecular neuroscience: from fruit flies to humans. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2010;11:9–17.
- Zhu H, Kartiko S, Finnell RH. Importance of gene environment interactions in the etiology of selected birth defects. Clin Genet. 2009;75:409–23.
- Ober C, Vercelli D. Gene-environment interactions in human disease: nuisance or opportunity? Trends Genet. 2011;27:107–15.

Part XIII

Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Gastrointestinal Drugs



Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Gastrointestinal Drugs

28

Seonghae Yoon

28.1 Introduction

First, we'll review the concept of pharmacokinetics (PK) and pharmacodynamics (PD) and possible causes of sex differences in PK and PD.

28.1.1 Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics Concepts

A drug is absorbed into the systemic circulation from the administration site and then goes through the distribution process to reach the effect site, and at the same time, the drug is eliminated from the body through the kidneys and liver [1]. This whole process is called the pharmacokinetic process [2] (Fig. 28.1). After that, the drug reaching the site of action exhibits effects through drug-receptor interaction in what is called the pharmacodynamic process. Thus, PK can be said to be the process by which our body handles drugs, and PD can be said to be the process by which drugs affect our body.

The strength and duration of pharmacological responses are determined by PK (e.g., changes in

S. Yoon (🖂)

the pattern of plasma drug concentrations) and PD properties (e.g., the sensitivity of the receptor) of the drug. Variability in drug responses is due to individual differences in PK and PD [1]. Factors such as the patient's age, weight, disease status, concomitant medications, environment, genotype, and sex/gender may be the cause of these differences [1] (Fig. 28.2), and this chapter will mainly focus on sex/gender differences.

28.1.2 Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic Differences by Sex

Men and women show structural, morphological, and physiological differences in various organs; and these differences can affect the PK and PD of drugs [3, 4]. PK differences may occur due to physiological differences (Table 28.1), and it is necessary to adjust the dose or administration interval of the drug in consideration of these differences [5]. It is more important to consider these variations in drugs with a narrow therapeutic range, such as warfarin.

28.1.2.1 Absorption

For a drug to be absorbed into the body, it must pass through biological membranes in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract, skin, and respiratory system, and men and women show differences in these organ characteristics.

Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Republic of Korea e-mail: nymph223@snu.ac.kr

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_28



Fig. 28.1 Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic processes. A drug undergoes absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion processes (pharmacokinetic process) and reaches the site of action to exert drug effects. Clinical effects can be divided into clinically expected effects and non-toxic effects (adapted from Tamargo et al. [2])



Fig. 28.2 Factors influencing pharmacokinetic variability (adapted from Harmut and Stephan [1])

Women secrete less gastric juice than men (pH is about 0.5 higher in women), and the GI transit time is longer than in men. When the gastric pH is high, the absorption of drugs whose dissolution degree varies depending upon pH may be affected. Also, due to slow GI emptying

Pharmacokinetic factors		Sex differences
Bioavailability	Gastric acid secretion	M > W
	Gastrointestinal movement	M > W > P
Body composition	BSA (body surface area)	M > P > W
	Organ size	M > W
	Organ blood flow	Blood flow to skeletal muscle and liver is greater in men. Blood flow to adipose tissue is greater in women
	Body water	M > P > W
	Plasma volume	P > M > W
	Body fat percentage	W > M
Distribution	Volume of distribution	Hydrophilic drug: M > W Lipophilic drug: W > M
Drug excretion	Renal blood flow	M > W
	Glomerular filtration rate (GFR)	M > W

Table 28.1 Pharmacokinetic factors and their influenc-ing physiological sex differences (adapted from Tamargoet al. [2])

M men, W women

in women, the absorption of drugs in the small intestine may be delayed. Therefore, when taking drugs such as tetracycline and felodipine, which should be taken on an empty stomach, women may need a longer fasting time.

Intramuscular and subcutaneous injections may also show differences between men and women because women have more subcutaneous fat. For example, when cefradine is injected into the gluteus muscle, the absorption rate is slowed and bioavailability is reduced in women. As a result, the maximum concentration (C_{max}) and area under the concentration-time curve (AUC) are reduced [6, 7].

28.1.2.2 Distribution

The distribution of drugs varies depending upon the physicochemical properties of the drug, blood flow, and body composition. Compared to women, men have higher body and organ weight, more muscle mass, and less body fat. Because women generally have more body fat, the volume of distribution (Vd) of lipophilic drugs (e.g., benzodiazepines) is greater and the half-life is longer. In contrast, hydrophilic drugs (e.g., alcohol and fluoroquinolone antibiotics) have a small Vd in women.

Adjusting the dose according to body weight can help reduce the variations due to body composition and size. Also, when determining a loading dose or bolus dose, it may be necessary to use a lower dose to prevent side effects in women. Medications such as aminoglycosides, anticancer drugs, digoxin, heparin, lidocaine, and class I or III antiarrhythmic drugs may require loading dose adjustment in women.

28.1.2.3 Metabolism

Many drugs are metabolized in the liver and then excreted. In addition to sex, various factors including liver disease can influence the degree of metabolism. Metabolism is divided into phases 1 and 2, both of which may differ between men and women. The cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzyme system, which accounts for a significant portion of phase 1 metabolism, metabolizes a variety of endogenous and exogenous substances. Among the CYPs, CYP1A2, CYP2D6, CYP2E1, and CYP3A4 are known to show sex differences [6, 8, 9] (Table 28.2).

CYP2D6 is more highly expressed in men, and the clearance of its substrates is also increased. Various antiarrhythmic drugs and beta-blockers are metabolized by CYP2D6. In the case of beta-blockers metabolized mainly by CYP2D6, the incidence of adverse drug reactions is also higher in women due to higher blood drug concentrations. CYP3A4 is mainly expressed in the liver, and it contributes 50% of the metabolism of atorvastatin, diltiazem, quinidine, verapamil, simvastatin, nifedipine, amlodipine, and lidocaine [10]. Nifedipine, verapamil, and amlodipine showed greater drug clearance in women than in men (about 15–35%) even after adjusting for bodyweight [10, 11]. **Table 28.2** CYP450 enzymes and sex differences in hepatic metabolism (adapted from Kalibala [9])

СҮР	Enzyme activity	Hormonal influence
1A2	M > W	Inhibited by oral contraceptives
2A6	W > M	Induced by estrogens and oral contraceptives
2B6	W > M	Induced by estrogens and oral contraceptives
2C9	M≒W	
2C19	M≒W	Inhibited by oral contraceptives
2D6	Mostly W > M	
2E1	M > W	
3A4	W > M	Induced by testosterone and progesterone

CYP cytochrome P450, M men, W women

28.1.2.4 Excretion

Drugs and their metabolites are excreted through the kidneys, gallbladder, and lungs; and among them, renal excretion is important. The extent of renal filtration, secretion, and reabsorption may differ between men and women; and the glomerular filtration rate, estimated using creatinine clearance, is greater in men. For drugs that are primarily excreted by the kidneys, drug clearance is proportional to renal function. Therefore, in the case of drugs that are mainly excreted by the kidneys, such as digoxin, the drug clearance rate may be lower in women.

28.2 Sex Differences in Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Gastrointestinal Drugs

Although few studies have directly compared the differences in the PK and PD of GI drugs between men and women, the results are summarized below by disease.

28.2.1 Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease

Among the drugs used for gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD), lafutidine, an H2 blocker, showed significantly higher maximum plasma concentrations (C_{max}) and trough concentrations (C_{min}) in women after repeated administrations. The C_{max} and AUC were found to be 34% and 23% higher in women, respectively [12].

In the case of PPIs, the results were somewhat different for each drug. There is no description of sex differences in the drug label for omeprazole, but the drug label for rabeprazole stated that there is no difference in PK between males and females. Both sex and the CYP2C19 genotype were demonstrated to affect the PK of omeprazole [13]. The concentrations of both omeprazole and its metabolites were higher in women. The AUC was ~30% and the C_{max} was ~50% higher. When ilaprazole was administered intravenously, the C_{max} was ~10% and the AUC was ~30% higher in women, which led to PD differences. In the ilaprazole 5 mg or 10 mg dose groups, women maintained a higher average pH in the 24-h esophageal pH monitoring test, but these differences were not evident at 20 mg [14] (Fig. 28.3).

Several studies showed that the proportion of patients with persistent symptoms despite PPI use was higher in women [15–17]. According to a post-hoc analysis of the LOTUS study [18], in patients taking 20 mg esomeprazole, women, smokers, patients without *Helicobacter pylori* infections, and patients with a long history of GERD may need a higher dose. In contrast, a study showed that halving the dose in female patients was more successful in patients who had been using PPIs for a long time (>2 years) [19].





Fig. 28.3 Mean 24-h intragastric pH-time profiles of male and female subjects before and after the intravenous infusion of ilaprazole at (**a**) baseline and (**b**) from 5 mg,

(c) 10 mg, and (d) 20 mg administrations (adapted from Wang et al. [14])

Combining these research results, it seems that the treatment success rate was higher in men due to complex factors such as the pathophysiology of the disease and the mechanism of action of the drugs. However, in women who respond to the drug, the effect may be maintained even if the dose is reduced because the drug concentration is higher than in men.

28.2.2 Functional Dyspepsia

According to a study evaluating the PK of levosulpiride, the half-life of an intramuscular injection was somewhat longer in women, but there was no significant difference in drug exposure [20, 21]. In the case of the oral formulation of metoclopramide, no study has compared sex differences. In the results of a phase 2 clinical trial of metoclopramide nasal spray formulation in diabetic gastroparesis patients [22], there was no difference in drug concentrations between men and women. Nevertheless, while women showed improvements in symptoms, male patients did not show symptom improvement compared to the placebo group. This formulation was recently (June 2020) approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for symptom relief for acute recurrent diabetic gastroparesis.

28.2.3 Liver Disease

Ribavirin is a drug used to treat chronic hepatitis C. Although it is stated on the drug label that there is no sex difference in PK, population PK studies showed that some PK parameters of ribavirin were different between men and women [23–25]. Studies have shown that there is a difference in the peripheral volume of distribution (Vp) or apparent clearance (CL/F) [24, 25]. According to the results of a population PK and PD analysis [25], body weight, sex, age, and creatinine affected the CL/F. The steady-state blood concentration (C_{ss}) was higher in women, and the CL/F calculated according to the following equation was lower in women.

$$\frac{\text{CL}}{\text{F}} = \text{Dose} / (C_{\text{ss}} \times 24)$$

The polymerase chain reaction (PCR) response rate of hepatitis C virus (HCV) was affected by the virus genotype, the HCV-RNA titer before treatment, the treatment period, the ribavirin concentration at 4 weeks, and the patient's age. Higher ribavirin concentrations at week 4 were associated with a higher response rate, suggesting that treatment success rates might be higher in women.

In studies that mainly evaluated the treatment effects, the results differed from study to study [26, 27]. In a study in which peginterferon and ribavirin were administered in combination, the effect (sustained virologic response (SVR)) was lower in blacks than in non-Hispanic whites, while there was no difference between men and women [26]. Another similar study found that race (more effective in whites), sex (more effective in women), baseline virus levels, liver fibrosis scores (Ishak fibrosis score), and peginterferon dose were associated with SVR [27]. There may be differences between men and women in the incidence of adverse reactions as well as the treatment effect. Hemolytic anemia is one of the major adverse drug reactions of ribavirin and occurred in ~13% of the patients in major studies such as COPEGUS and PEGASYS [28]. According to one study, the incidence of anemia was significantly different between men and women (48.2%) for women, 13.3% for men), and symptoms such as anorexia, dizziness, and nausea were also found to be more frequent in women [29].

A population PK analysis study of triple direct-acting antiviral therapy [30] confirmed that sex was an important covariate of the CL/F of all drugs used in the study. The exposure of paritaprevir, ombitasvir, and ribavirin was increased in women by ~1.9, 1.5, and 1.3 times, respectively (Fig. 28.4).

28.2.4 Colon Disease

In the case of alosetron, a drug for irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), the C_{max} and AUC of the oral formulation were ~50% higher in women and these differences were larger in elderly men and women [31]. In addition, a bioequivalence study confirmed that the C_{max} was about 70% higher in women [32].

Alosetron was more effective than the placebo in both men and women, and the effect was more evident in women, but it is difficult to explain these differences in effect only by the differences in drug concentrations [33].

Naloxegol, a drug for constipation, showed no PK difference between men and women in a study of healthy volunteers, and the C_{max} and drug exposure levels were not significantly influenced by sex even though it was a significant covariate for Vd in a population PK study that included patients [34, 35].

28.3 Conclusions

Drugs reach the site of action through ADME processes to show drug efficacy, and there may be differences between men and women in these PK and PD processes. To obtain an appropriate drug effect in both men and women, it is crucial to understand these differences and optimize therapy. Therefore, studies that consider these differences between men and women from the drug development stage are necessary.



Fig. 28.4 Model-derived estimates of steady-state maximum plasma concentrations and AUC for significant covariates identified in a triple direct-acting antiviral regimen. Using the developed model, the maximum drug concentration ($C_{max,ss}$) and area under the blood drug

concentration-time curve (AUC_{ss}) at steady-state were predicted according to significant covariates. A value of 1.0 indicates no significant difference between the groups, and the error bar indicates the 95% confidence interval (adapted from Mensing et al. [30])

References

- Derendorf H, Schmidt S. Rowland and Tozer's clinical pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics: concepts and applications. 5th ed. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer; 2020.
- Tamargo J, Rosano G, Walther T, Duarte J, Niessner A, Kaski JC, et al. Gender differences in the effects of cardiovascular drugs. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Pharmacother. 2017;3:163–82.
- Franconi F, Brunelleschi S, Steardo L, Cuomo V. Gender differences in drug responses. Pharmacol Res. 2007;55:81–95.
- 4. Anderson GD. Gender differences in pharmacological response. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2008;83:1–10.
- Whitley H, Lindsey W. Sex-based differences in drug activity. Am Fam Physician. 2009;80:1254–8.
- Vukovich RA, Brannick LJ, Sugerman AA, Neiss ES. Sex differences in the intramuscular absorption and bioavailability of cephradine. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1975;18:215–20.
- Soldin OP, Mattison DR. Sex differences in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Clin Pharmacokinet. 2009;48:143–57.
- Chu T. Gender differences in pharmacokinetics. US Pharm. 2014;39:40–3.
- Kalibala J, Pechere-Bertschi A, Desmeules J. Gender differences in cardiovascular pharmacotherapythe example of hypertension: a mini review. Front Pharmacol. 2020;11:564.
- Franconi F, Carru C, Malorni W, Vella S, Mercuro G. The effect of sex/gender on cardiovascular pharmacology. Curr Pharm Des. 2011;17:1095–107.
- Schwartz JB. The current state of knowledge on age, sex, and their interactions on clinical pharmacology. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2007;82:87–96.
- Li S, Xu M, Li H, Du J, Li W. Pharmacokinetic properties of oral lafutidine tablets and the effect of food on its pharmacokinetics in healthy Chinese subjects. Adv Ther. 2016;33:1704–14.
- Nazir S, Iqbal Z, Ahmad L, Ahmad S. Variation in pharmacokinetics of omeprazole and its metabolites by gender and CYP2C19 genotype in Pakistani male and female subjects. Pak J Pharm Sci. 2016;29:887–94.
- Wang H, Ou N, Lang L, Shi R, Hu P, Jiang J. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of intravenous ilaprazole in healthy subjects after single ascending doses. Xenobiotica. 2016;46:1133–41.
- Kim YS, Kim N, Kim GH. Sex and gender differences in gastroesophageal reflux disease. J Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2016;22:575–88.
- El-Serag H, Becher A, Jones R. Systematic review: persistent reflux symptoms on proton pump inhibitor therapy in primary care and community studies. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2010;32:720–37.
- Ruigomez A, Johansson S, Wernersson B, Fernandez Cantero O, Garcia Rodriguez LA. Gastroesophageal reflux disease in primary care: using changes in pro-

ton pump inhibitor therapy as an indicator of partial response. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2012;47:751–61.

- Lundell L, Hatlebakk J, Galmiche JP, Attwood SE, Ell C, Fiocca R, et al. Long-term effect on symptoms and quality of life of maintenance therapy with esomeprazole 20 mg daily: a post hoc analysis of the LOTUS trial. Curr Med Res Opin. 2015;31:65–73.
- Helgadóttir H, Metz DC, Lund SH, Gizurarson S, Jacobsen EI, Asgeirsdóttir GA, et al. Study of Gender differences in proton pump inhibitor dose requirements for GERD: a double-blind randomized trial. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2017;51:486–93.
- 20. Gong C, Agbokponto JE, Yang W, Simpemba E, Zheng X, Zhang Q, et al. Pharmacokinetics of levosulpiride after single and multiple intramuscular administrations in healthy Chinese volunteers. Acta Pharm Sin B. 2014;4:402–7.
- 21. Xu M, Zhou Y, Ni Y, He X, Li H, Sattar H, et al. Tolerability and pharmacokinetic comparison of oral, intramuscular, and intravenous administration of levosulpiride after single and multiple dosing in healthy Chinese volunteers. Clin Ther. 2015;37:2458–67.
- Parkman HP, Carlson MR, Gonyer D. Metoclopramide nasal spray reduces symptoms of gastroparesis in women, but not men, with diabetes: results of a phase 2B tandomized study. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2015;13:1256–63.e1251.
- 23. Jin R, Fossler MJ, McHutchison JG, Howell CD, Dowling TC. Population pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of ribavirin in patients with chronic hepatitis C genotype 1 infection. AAPS J. 2012;14:571–80.
- 24. Wu LS, Rower JE, Burton JR Jr, Anderson PL, Hammond KP, Baouchi-Mokrane F, et al. Population pharmacokinetic modeling of plasma and intracellular ribavirin concentrations in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2015;59:2179–88.
- Jen JF, Glue P, Gupta S, Zambas D, Hajian G. Population pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic analysis of ribavirin in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Ther Drug Monit. 2000;22:555–65.
- 26. Muir AJ, Bornstein JD, Killenberg PG. Atlantic Coast Hepatitis Treatment G. Peginterferon alfa-2b and ribavirin for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C in blacks and non-Hispanic whites. N Engl J Med. 2004;350:2265–71.
- 27. Conjeevaram HS, Fried MW, Jeffers LJ, Terrault NA, Wiley-Lucas TE, Afdhal N, et al. Peginterferon and ribavirin treatment in African American and Caucasian American patients with hepatitis C genotype 1. Gastroenterology. 2006;131:470–7.
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Ribavirin Label. 2015. https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_ docs/label/2015/021511s029lbl.pdf. Accessed 26 July 2020.
- Narciso-Schiavon JL, Schiavon Lde L, Carvalho-Filho RJ, Sampaio JP, Batah PN, Barbosa DV, et al. Gender

influence on treatment of chronic hepatitis C genotype 1. Rev Soc Bras Med Trop. 2010;43:217–23.

- 30. Mensing S, Eckert D, Sharma S, Polepally AR, Khatri A, Podsadecki TJ, et al. Population pharmacokinetics of paritaprevir, ombitasvir, dasabuvir, ritonavir and ribavirin in hepatitis C virus genotype 1 infection: analysis of six phase III trials. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2017;83:527–39.
- Koch KM, Palmer JL, Noordin N, Tomlinson JJ, Baidoo C. Sex and age differences in the pharmacokinetics of alosetron. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2002;53:238–42.
- 32. Chaudhary DV, Patel DP, Shah JV, Shah PA, Sanyal M, Shrivastav PS. Application of a UPLC-MS/MS method for the analysis of alosetron in human plasma

to support a bioequivalence study in healthy males and females. Biomed Chromatogr. 2015;29:1527–34.

- 33. Rahimi R, Nikfar S, Abdollahi M. Efficacy and tolerability of alosetron for the treatment of irritable bowel syndrome in women and men: a meta-analysis of eight randomized, placebo-controlled, 12-week trials. Clin Ther. 2008;30:884–901.
- 34. Al-Huniti N, Chapel S, Xu H, Bui KH, Sostek M. Population pharmacokinetics of naloxegol in a population of 1247 healthy subjects and patients. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2016;81:89–100.
- 35. Eldon MA, Kugler AR, Medve RA, Bui K, Butler K, Sostek M. Safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of multiple ascending doses of naloxegol. Clin Pharmacol Drug Dev. 2015;4:442–8.

Part XIV

Importance of Education in the Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine and Work-Life Balance of Korean Gastroenterologists



29

Importance of Education in the Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine

Nayoung Kim

29.1 Introduction

Sex/gender-specific medicine is defined as the practice of medicine based on the understanding that biology and social roles are important in men and women for prevention, screening, diagnosis, and treatment [1]. This concept has been well explained in a book entitled Sex and Gender Aspect in Clinical Medicine [2]. Medicine in the twenty-first century is characterized by an ongoing rapid and global increase in knowledge and understanding of human health and disease as well as progressive discussions on how best to approach them [3]. This medical progress should continuously be evaluated regarding its relevance for incorporation into undergraduate medical curricula. Diversity issues such as sex/gender, age, culture or ethnicity, religious beliefs, sexual orientation, and disabilities represent one area of major changes in knowledge which has impacted medicine in recent years [4, 5]. Furthermore the advent of competency-based medical education is transforming postgraduate medical education to an outcomes-driven education and assessment model [6]. Key elements of the competencybased medical education approach include a

focus on enhanced competencies with the goal of improving patient outcomes; the use of milestones and entrustable professional activities to provide a structure for teaching, learning, and assessment; and the use of time as a resource for learning rather than as a proxy for progression of competence [7]. Taken together, it is important to understand that sex/gender-specific medicine is part of the move toward precision medicine.

Existing research demonstrates differences in disease incidence, symptomatology, morbidity, and mortality based on sex/gender [8]. Thus, both variables must be considered in medical education and practice as well as in research. Integration of sex and gender medical education (SGME) into core medical curricula is essential to achieve competency-based continuing professional development for medical doctors and researches. Experiences about SGME on many Western countries including the United States, Germany, and other European countries, have been reported recently with the formats of reviews, summits, and surveys. In addition, many participants express their experience like that SGME is important for clinical practice in various fields of medicine [3]. However, the impact of SGME on their clinical practice looks limited mainly because it has not been pertained to specialty. To establish SGME as fundamental curriculum, supporting system, educational materials, structured modules, case studies, and reports about experiences are much more needed [1, 2]. In this chap-

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Korea (Republic of) e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_29
t e r **SGME** experiences in the Charité— Universita tsmedizin Berlin in 2010 [3] and in several fields such as training in Women's Gastrointestinal (GI) Health [9] and training to reduce lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and questioning (LGBTQ)-related bias [10] and our experiences of SGME for postgraduate course and medical students in Seoul National University College of Medicine [11] are introduced.

29.2 A Successful Strategy to Integrate Sex/Gender Medicine into a Newly Developed Medical Curriculum in the Charité— Universita¨tsmedizin Berlin

Undergraduate medical education has some tendency to stereotype patients through the study of presenting clinical signs and symptoms, yet it is evident that diversity issues have an important influence on the prevention, development, diagnosis, clinical presentation, progression, and treatment of diseases. These diversity issues can also lead to different health behavior, including the acceptance of preventive measures, and therefore require adequate knowledge and skills from medical doctors in the diverse areas [12-16]. Since sex/gender-specific medicine is rapidly growing in respect to knowledge and importance [17], the implementation of the content and modality of sex/gender-specific medicine is necessary for the development of novel strategies for undergraduate medical education [18–22] (In this section the author is referring to Ludwig et al. [3]).

29.2.1 Integration of Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Medical Curricula

The inclusion of sex/gender medicine into undergraduate medical curricula has started recently and has already made progress in several countries [3]. In Europe, for example, Radboud University in the Netherlands [23, 24] Umea University [25], and the Karolinska Institute [26] in Sweden as well as several universities in Austria [27] have made significant efforts to integrate sex/gender aspects into their existing curricula. These efforts improved the gender awareness of future medical doctors [28]. Also, in Canadian [19, 20, 29, 30] and American [31-33] medical schools, sex/gender-sensitive curricula are being developed [34]. Verdonk et al. developed the catalogue of characteristics for a successful integration of gender into a medical curriculum of the University of Nijmegen [23] and then for a Dutch national project [35] and developed the Nijmegen Gender awareness scale that was used in a study with Dutch and Swedish medical students [36]. Dielissen et al. have also developed a teaching program in gender-specific medicine for general practice training [37].

29.2.2 Establishing a Supporting Organizational Framework for Incorporating Sex/Gender Medicine into the New Curriculum in the Charité— Universita¨tsmedizin Berlin

In 2010, a large European medical faculty, the Charité-Universita tsmedizin Berlin, started to enroll all new medical students into a new medical curriculum [3]. This curriculum has been sequentially (i.e., module and term-wise) planned and implemented with a standardized, systematic, and faculty-wide approach [3]. Along with the fundamental curricular changes, the faculty directors assigned a change agent to achieve this mission [3]. The final aim was to foster the students' ability to apply the gender perspective as an important tool to improve their diagnostic, clinical, and treatment skills as well as communication abilities with the patients [3]. The consideration and knowledge of sex/gender differences in the development, diagnosis, and treatment of diseases results in a more personalized, cost-effective, and better quality of medical

care for men and women [8]. Since both the medical treatment and the interaction between the doctor and the patient are highly influenced by gender [38-41], the students need to be aware that gender roles and gender stereotypes are important aspects that can affect their professional activities [42]. Many diseases, like thyroid gland disorders [43], for instance, and various cancers follow different patterns depending on the patient's sex [44]. Gender as the psychosocial and the cultural determinant of the sex of the patient is an important predictor of many attitudes and behaviors that have an impact on health and disease [45]. Several studies have shown that communication can lead to different treatment decisions depending on the gender/sex of the patient or doctor [39]. For example, women are more likely to receive prescriptions during a visit to the physician, are more often prescribed psychotropic medication, and spend more money on prescription and nonprescription drugs in general [46].

From this background, Verdonk et al. proposed a standard for the integration of sex/ gender-specific medicine and gender aspects in undergraduate medical education [23]. This includes: (1) a list of diseases and issues with sex/gender differences which are to be recognized and explained including risk factors, prevention, development, diagnosis, progression, and treatment of diseases; (2) the incorporation of gender differences into the final block objectives; (3) an education that focuses on both biomedical and sociocultural differences; (4) an education on gender differences over the course of several study years (minimum of 2 years); (5) a coverage of at least six to eight blocks of the central curriculum; and (6) the opportunity to select one optional block on sex/gender issues. For the effective implantation of this integration of sex/gender-specific medicine, following questions have been addressed: (1) How could sex/ gender medicine issues be integrated into the different teaching formats of the new curriculum and what factors played a role? (2) Was the integration successful?

The key to the organizational framework was the placement of the change agent directly into the project management team in charge of the curricular development process of the new curriculum [3]. The project management team consisted of an interdisciplinary group of curriculum developers and works in close and constant communication with (1) faculty delegates from all disciplines and departments; (2) centrally located educational experts for e-learning, problembased learning, communication training, evaluation, and assessment; and (3) members of the faculty directory, especially the dean of student affairs [3]. By being part of this team, the change agent participated regularly in the module planning process and thus could ensure that diversity perspectives, especially sex/gender-specific medicine aspects, were taken into consideration in all important decisions during each step of the curricular planning process. Furthermore the work of the change agent was supported by three pillars: governance, faculty, and society [3].

29.2.3 Barriers in New Curriculum of Charite´– Universita¨tsmedizin Berlin

During the curricular integration of sex/gender medicine aspects within the framework of the Charité—Universita⁻⁻tsmedizin Berlin study Ludwig et al. [3] experienced several barriers. One barrier involved some resistances from faculty members toward this subject [3]. However, in many cases this could be overcome by the change agent through qualified arguments to explain the integration and the provision of research findings on sex/gender differences in diseases [3]. The second barrier was the limited curricular teaching time available in the curriculum and the competition of all disciplines to place their contents [3]. This problem was partly approached by deciding to integrate the selected sex/gender medicine issues into other subject courses over the whole curriculum. The third barrier was that the planned courses were not always

taught by the actual course planners who were present in the module planning sessions and responsible for the course conception, but rather by other faculty members of their respective institute or clinic. In some cases, partly due to insufficient briefing by the course planner, those lecturers did not teach the integrated sex/gender medicine aspects as originally foreseen. Finally, a concern may be the sustainability of the integrated sex/gender medicine aspects in the absence of change agent [3]. However, the establishment of a quality control process linked to the periodic module review cycles and the curricular academic board as well as a network of sex/gender medicine experts within the faculty participating in the periodic module review cycles and the approval of curricular changes by the curricular academic board would contribute to the sustainability of the integrated aspects [3].

29.3 Training in Women's Gastrointestinal Health

Women's GI health is a topic that is not well understood nor taught in most training programs. The first step in the process of incorporating it in education is to identify and acknowledge the differences in disease presentations and management between men and women [9]. For example, women experience slower emptying from the large intestine and consequently have a higher prevalence of chronic constipation [9]. In addition, women are almost twice as likely to be diagnosed with irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) and more likely to exhibit the constipationpredominant subtype and postprandial distress syndrome subtype functional dyspepsia [47, 48]. It is well known that hormonal changes during menstruation, pregnancy, and menopause have physiological effects on the GI tract. Clinicians have to evaluate the possibility of conditions unique to pregnancy and choose the best therapeutic strategy, keeping in mind options that are of low risk to the fetus [9]. Recognition of not only diseases but gender differences in laboratory values, diagnostic tests, and the pharmacokinetics of medications is also key to optimized patient management. Gastroenterologists, fellows as well as residents, and medical students need to have proper training in women's GI health to identify some common conditions to provide the best possible treatment for their female patients (In this section the author is referring to Lakshmanan et al. [9]).

29.3.1 Patient Care

Quality of medical healthcare is often assessed based on the patient's relationship with medical doctors and satisfaction with meeting expectations [9]. However, a female patient may be less likely to discuss her bowel habits or seek medical care for delicate problems such as fecal incontinence unless she is in a comfortable setting. This example shows the importance of having gastroenterologists and fellows recognize the gender differences that underlie seeking medical care [9]. Multiple studies have suggested that female patients prefer female endoscopists and are willing to wait for their procedures until one becomes available [49–51]. Women face added challenges during endoscopies, particularly colonoscopy. They tend to have longer and more tortuous anatomy, and those who previously underwent hysterectomy or other pelvic surgeries may be predisposed to adhesions, complicating the procedure [9]. For example, there were sex differences in Boston bowel preparation score, cecal intubation time, and withdrawal time for subjects undergoing colonoscopy [52]. Women are also less compliant with colorectal cancer screening and less likely to be referred by their primary care physicians compared with breast or cervical cancer screenings [50, 51, 53]. In addition, studies have shown that women tend to underestimate the risk of colorectal cancer, despite the fact that it is the second most common malignancy in women [53, 54]. In a survey conducted by Bocci et al. [53], women reported greater embarrassment to undergo a colonoscopy compared with a PAP smear. Furthermore, more than 40% of women felt awkward even

when the colonoscopy was performed by a member of the same sex [53].

29.3.2 Training for Women's Health Issues in Digestive Diseases Regarding Pregnancy

In 2003, the Gastroenterology Leadership Council mandated training in women's health issues in digestive diseases as part of the Gastroenterology Core Curriculum [47]. However, inadequate guidance and implementation, lack of exposure to appropriate patient populations (e.g., pregnant patients), deficits in knowledge in this field at the faculty level, and poor multidisciplinary collaboration prevent some programs from meeting these specific training goals [55]. A better understanding of GI and liver disease effects on fertility and pregnancy will help deliver better subspecialty care for women [9]. Common pregnancy-related problems such as heartburn (present in 80% of pregnant women) require vast and deep knowledge of drug safety and the pathophysiology of gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD). For more potentially serious problems such as abdominal pain, one needs a deeper understanding of the causatives and time of occurrence during pregnancy [9]. Most pregnancy-related mild GI symptoms such as vomiting and constipation are managed by the obstetrician [56]; however, gastroenterologists should be aware of certain serious complications. GERD and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) may be exacerbated during pregnancy and IBD may be associated with worse pregnancy outcomes, even during quiescent disease [57, 58]. Abortion and preterm birth may happen during active disease, whereas there is an increased risk of preterm birth, stillbirth, and low birth weight during IBD exacerbations [56]. Therefore, it is advised that women with IBD have a 3- to 6-month period of sustained remission before conception [57]. Active IBD during pregnancy should be treated, as inflammation poses a higher risk to the fetus compared with the side effects of medications. During pregnancy, most treatments can be used except methotrexate and thalidomide, as they are teratogenic [59]. Regarding biologic agents such as infliximab, the latest European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation consensus recommends stopping antitumor necrosis factor therapy in the last trimester, but other studies have demonstrated a benefit in maintaining treatment through all trimesters [60]. Hepatobiliary disorders unique to pregnancy include intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy, hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, low platelet count syndrome, and acute fatty liver of pregnancy [9]. A recent study highlighted that women with maternal Hepatitis B surface antigen-positive status may have a higher risk of gestational diabetes, intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy, preterm birth, and neonatal asphyxia [61]. Meanwhile, acute hepatitis E infection compared with other hepatotropic viral infections was found to be more virulent during pregnancy, causing frequent progression to fulminant hepatic failure with a mortality rate of up to 10–20% [62]. Unfortunately, treatment remains supportive, and the best approach is through prevention [62]. Endoscopy is considered low risk during pregnancy for appropriate indications, and all elective procedures are deferred until after delivery [9]. Upper endoscopy with epinephrine injection, thermocoagulation, sclerotherapy, and endoscopic band ligation are safe and successful procedures during pregnancy [63]. Sigmoidoscopy is generally performed to evaluate major lower GI bleeding, suspicion of colonic mass, and severe persistent diarrhea with unknown etiology [63]. Colonoscopy, in contrast, is only performed if necessary for diagnostic or therapeutic decisions [9]. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography is usually avoided due to radiation exposure to the fetus; however, endoscopic ultrasonography can be done to reduce unnecessary interventions in patients who have a lower or moderate probability of choledocholithiasis [63]. Estrogen and progesterone levels change during menstruation, pregnancy, and menopause, which affect the GI tract and liver function, and may worsen pre-existing functional

disorders such as GERD and IBS [9]. The involvement of estrogen in visceral pain processes is complex, as estrogens drive both proand antinociceptive pathways that affect abdominal pain perception in women and quality of life in disease states [64]. This basic information suggests that further research is necessary for the training for women's health issues in digestive diseases regarding pregnancy.

29.4 Training to Reduce Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Questioning (LGBTQ)-Related Bias

LGBTQ individuals experience higher rates of health disparities. These disparities may be driven, in part, by biases of medical providers encountered in health care settings [10]. Little is known about how medical, nursing, or dental students are trained to identify and reduce the effects of their own biases toward LGBTQ individuals, so far (In this section the author is referring to Morris et al. [10]).

29.4.1 Health Care Needs of LGBTQ Patients

LGBTQ individuals represent a rapidly growing segment of the US population [65]. Implicit physician biases could result in LGBTQ patients receiving a lower standard of care or restricted access to services as compared to the general population [66]. Even when institutions and providers make commitments to equitable care explicit, implicit biases operating outside of conscious awareness may undermine that commitment [10]. There is an urgent need to ensure that health care providers are prepared to identify and address their own implicit biases to ensure they do not contribute to the health care disparities experienced by LGBTQ and other vulnerable populations [10]. It has been reported that LGBTQ individuals face significant disparities in physical and mental health outcomes [67].

Compared to their heterosexual counterparts, LGBTQ patients have higher rates of anal cancer [68], asthma, cardiovascular disease [69–72], obesity [70], substance abuse [72–74], cigarette smoking [75], and suicide [76]. Sexual minority women report fewer lifetime PAP tests [77-79], transgender youth have less access to health care [80], and LGBTQ individuals are more likely to delay or avoid necessary medical care [81] compared to heterosexual individuals. These disparities are due, in part, to lower health care utilization by LGBTQ individuals [68, 82-84]. Perceived discrimination from health care providers and denial of health care altogether are common experiences among LGBTQ patients and have been identified as contributing factors to health disparities [85-88]. Disparities in health care access and outcomes experienced by LGBTQ patients are compounded by vulnerabilities linked to racial identity [89-91] and geographic location [92]. Biases among health care providers toward LGBTQ patients are common [93, 94] despite commitments to patient care equality. These biases, also known as negative stereotypes, may be either explicit or implicit [95]. A large study of heterosexual, first-year medical students demonstrated that about half of students reported having negative attitudes toward lesbian and gay people (i.e., explicit bias) and over 80% exhibited more negative evaluations of lesbian and gay people compared to heterosexual people that were outside of their conscious awareness (i.e., implicit bias) [93]. Research in social-cognitive psychology on intergroup processes defines explicit biases as attitudes and beliefs that are consciously accessible and controlled; they are typically assessed via self-report measures and are limited by an individual's awareness of their attitudes, motivation to reveal these attitudes, and ability to accurately report these attitudes [96, 97]. In contrast, the term "implicit bias" refers to attitudes and beliefs that are unconscious (i.e., outside of conscious awareness) and automatic [98, 99]. Health care provider biases are correlated with poorer access to services, quality of care, and health outcomes [95, 100–102]. Explicit biases held by health professionals toward racial/ethnic minorities, women, and older adults are known to affect clinical assessments, medical treatment, and quality of care [103]. Importantly, implicit bias measures are more strongly associated with realworld behaviors than explicit bias measures [104] and are linked to intergroup discrimination [105]. Health care providers' implicit biases toward vulnerable patient groups may persist despite an absence of negative explicit attitudes [106], resulting in preconceived notions about patient adherence, poor doctor-patient communication, and micro-aggressions, all of which can interfere with optimal care. With less time and limited information processing capacity, providers' decisions are increasingly governed by stereotypes and implicit biases [107, 108]. Medical student and provider biases may contribute to health disparities in vulnerable populations by negatively impacting communication with patients and decisions about patient care [97, 99]. Taken together, these findings suggest that medical students and healthcare providers are likely to underestimate or to be unaware of their implicit biases toward LGBTQ patients, particularly when they are rushed or fatigued, which could impact their behavior and judgments in ways that contribute to health disparities experienced by LGBTQ populations. Theoretical models of bias reduction note that implicit biases are "learned over time through repeated personal experiences and cultural socialization" and are "highly resistant to change" [95, 97]. According to the prejudice habit-breaking framework, overcoming the "habit" of implicit bias "requires learning about the contexts that activate the bias and how to replace the biased responses with responses that reflect one's nonprejudiced goals" [109]. Long-term reductions in implicit racial bias have been achieved through an intervention promoting bias awareness (i.e., feedback following the IAT) and brief training in bias reduction strategies (i.e., stereotype replacement, counterstereotypic imaging, individuation, perspectivetaking, increasing opportunities for intergroup contact) [109].

29.4.2 LGBTQ-Related Bias Reduction Programs

A meta-analysis of LGBTQ-related bias reduction programs conducted with primarily undergraduate students found large, positive program effects on knowledge and moderate effects on explicit biases toward LGBTQ individuals. Programs providing education, promoting contact with LGBTQ individuals, and/or combining education and intergroup contact had the best results; a major limitation was that few studies included implicit bias measures [110, 111]. Another promising study found a medium effect for a program utilizing biographical vignettes of LGBTQ exemplars in reducing implicit bias (assessed with the Sexuality IAT) toward LGBTQ persons [110, 112]. Together, these studies demonstrated that biases, including those targeting LGBTQ individuals, could be modified [113]. One critical gap in the literature is whether training programs incorporated into medical education can help students become more aware of potential implicit biases toward LGBTQ patients and develop effective bias reduction skills to combat these biases in medical school, residency, and beyond [10]. To date, research testing the effectiveness of implicit bias reduction strategies among medical students and physician providers has primarily focused on vulnerable racial and ethnic groups [114]. When Morris et al. performed a systematic review to determine the effectiveness of programs to reduce health care student or provider bias toward these LGBTQ patients, they identified 639 abstracts addressing bias among medical, nursing, and dental students or providers; from these abstracts, 60 articles were identified as medical education programs to reduce bias; of these articles, 13 described programs to reduce bias toward LGBTQ patients [10]. Bias-focused educational interventions were effective at increasing knowledge of LGBTQ health care issues and experiential learning interventions were also effective at increasing comfort levels working with LGBTQ patients [10]. Intergroup contact was effective at promoting more tolerant attitudes toward LGBTQ patients [10]. Despite promising support for bias education in increasing knowledge and comfort levels among medical, nursing, and dental students or providers towards LGBTQ persons, it was difficult to identify any interventions that assessed changes in implicit bias among students or providers [10]. Maybe it could be possible in the future.

29.5 SGME for Postgraduate Course and Medical Students in Seoul National University College of Medicine

The term "SGME" is very unfamiliar in the medical field in South Korea. The author's group experimented with two kinds of SGME. One was offered as an elective for second-year medical students at the Seoul National University College of Medicine and received positive reviews from 2017 to 2021. Four professors in the division of Cardiology, Hepatology, Gastroenterology, and Clinical Pharmacology participated at this education. In the year of 2021, among the 160 second-year medical students, 22 (13.75%) chose this subject and the education was performed by Zoom. All of the medical students showed curiosity for the SGME and tried to learn the approach of sex/gender-specific medicine.

A second course was offered to graduate students in translational medicine in 2017 and 2019. This course employed the text Sex and Gender Aspects in Clinical Medicine [2]. This foundational text reported finding for sex/gender in circulatory, respiratory, digestive, kidney, and autoimmune diseases, as well as endocrinology, hematology, neurology, and clinical pharmacology [2, 11]. In 2019, three subjects regarding "Sociocultural approach to gender" and "Considering sex in basic research using Cells" were added according to students' recommendation [11] (Table 29.1). In 2017, faculties and students who took the course were unfamiliar with sex/gender-specific medicine before attending

Table 29.1 Curriculum in a graduate course on sex/ gender-specific medicine in the graduate school of translational medicine in a Seoul National University College of Medicine-based medical school (adapted from Park et al. [11])

	Week	Contents
Lecture	1st	Introduction to gendered innovations
plan		in biomedicine and public health and
		necessity of sex/gender-specific
	2nd	Gendered innovations in science
	3rd	Understanding about sex hormone
		and the effects of hormone
		replacement therapy
	4th	Sex/gender differences in hepatology
	5th	Sex/gender differences in psychiatry
	6th	Sex/gender differences in
		gastrointestinal diseases
	7th	Sex/gender differences in pulmonary
		diseases
	8th	Sociocultural approach to gender
	9th	Sex/gender differences in
		autoimmune diseases
	10th	Sex/gender disparities in obesity
	11th	Sex/gender differences in
		cardiovascular disease
	12th	Considering sex in basic research
		using cells
	13th	Sex/gender differences in
		pharmacokinetics and
		pharmacodynamics
	14th	Sex/gender differences in
		pancreatobiliary diseases
	15th	Class evaluation

the classes, but by the end of the semester, they were motivated to apply sex/gender-specific analysis to their clinical research [11]. In 2017, ten professors and 12 students (10 medical doctors, one nurse, and one's major was public heath) participated in this class and completed the survey [11]. Participants were satisfied with this class for sex/gender-specific medicine concepts, which had never been experienced before [11]. Five-question surveys revealed that both students and professors improved their awareness about sex/gender differences in medicine (p = 0.026)and "gendered innovation" (p < 0.001) after class [11] (Fig. 29.1). Sex/gender-specific medicine was regarded as fundamental for precision medicine or researches and 85.3% agreed that sex/



Fig. 29.1 Participant responses to what is the most important factor for establishing gender-based medicine in biomedicine and research (first and second choices) (adapted from Park et al. [11])

gender-specific medicine should be integrated into routine medical curricula [11]. Most of them chose medical education and research funds as the most important requirements to settle down sex/gender-specific medicine in the biomedical fields [11]. This experience was published as an article entitled "Experiences with a graduate course on sex/gender medicine in Korea" [11], which received considerable attention from the world.

29.6 Conclusions

Recent studies have documented significant differences between women and men in the incidence, symptoms, morbidity, and mortality of various diseases, highlighting the importance of sex/gender-specific medicine. Thus, it is important to understand that sex/gender-specific medicine is not women's health, which focuses primarily on women's reproductive health. Rather sex/gender-specific medicine analyses differences between men and women throughout the entire body and recognizes that understanding these differences will improve the precision and quality of health care for both women and men. Developing a sex/gender-specific medicine curriculum in the gastroenterology is necessary and it is a challenging task. Assessing institutional resources and collaborating between disciplines can anchor this undertaking [9]. These efforts will strengthen medical students and fellowship education and can serve as a backbone for the academic and clinical advancement of GI health [9]. Another necessary education program is regarding LGBTQ individuals because they experience higher rates of health disparities. These disparities may be driven, in part, by biases of medical providers encountered in health care settings [10]. Systemic review showed that bias-focused educational interventions were effective at increasing knowledge of LGBTQ health care issues and experimental learning interventions were also effective at increasing comfort levels working with LGBTQ patients [10]. In South Korea, the author's group experimented with two kinds of SGME for

undergraduate medical students and graduate students from 2017 up to now. These courses improved students' and professors' awareness about sex/gender-specific medicine and "gendered innovation."

References

- Jenkins MR, Herrmann A, Tashjian A, Ramineni T, Ramakrishnan R, Raef D, et al. Sex and gender in medical education: a national student survey. Biol Sex Differ. 2016;7(Suppl 1):45.
- Oertelt-Prigione S, Regitz-Zagrpek V. Sex and gender aspect in clinical medicine. London: Springer; 2012.
- Ludwig S, Oertelt-Prigione S, Kurmeyer C, Gross M, Grüters-Kieslich A, Regitz-Zagrosek V, et al. A successful strategy to integrate sex and gender medicine into a newly developed medical curriculum. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2015;24:996–1005.
- 4. Lee M, Coulehan JL. Medical students' perceptions of racial diversity and gender equality. Med Educ. 2006;40:691–6.
- Cooper-Patrick L, Gallo JJ, Gonzales JJ, Vu HT, Powe NR, Nelson C, et al. Race, gender, and partnership in the patient-physician relationship. JAMA. 1999;282:583–9.
- Englander R, Carraccio C. From theory to practice: making entrustable professional activities come to life in the context of milestones. Acad Med. 2014;89:1321–3.
- Lockyer J, Bursey F, Richardson D, Frank JR, Snell L, Campbell C. Competency-based medical education and continuing professional development: a conceptualization for change. Med Teach. 2017;39:617–22.
- McGregor AJ, Templeton K, Kleinman MR, Jenkins MR. Advancing sex and gender competency in medicine: sex and gender women's health collaborative. Biol Sex Differ. 2013;4:11.
- Lakshmanan S, Sunanda Kane S, Dibble C, Roland B. Need for awareness and training in women's gastrointestinal health: a call to action. J Women Health. 2022;31:125-9.
- Morris M, Cooper RL, Ramesh A, Tabatabai M, Arcury TA, Shinn M, et al. Training to reduce LGBTQ-related bias among medical, nursing, and dental students and providers: a systematic review. BMC Med Educ. 2019;19:325.
- Park SM, Kim N, Paik HY. Experiences with a graduate course on sex and gender medicine in Korea. J Educ Eval Health Prof. 2018;15:13.
- Andersson J, Salander P, Hamberg K. Using patients' narratives to reveal gender stereotypes among medical students. Acad Med. 2013;88:1015–21.
- Weisman CS. Advocating for gender-specific health care: a historical perspective. J Gender-Specific Med. 2000;3:22–4.

- Hoffmann E, Magrane D, Donoghue G. Changing perspectives on sex and gender in medical education. Acad Med. 2000;75:1051–5.
- 15. Lagro-Janssen T. Gender and sex: issues in medical education. GMS Ger. Med Sci. 2010;27:Doc27.
- Legato M. Untying the Gordian Knot: What We do and don't know about gender-specific medicine– keynote address the 2014 Academic Emergency Medicine Consensus Conference. Acad Emerg Med. 2014;21:1320–4.
- Lagro-Janssen T, Lo Fo Wong S, van den Muijsenbergh M. The importance of gender in health problems. Eur J Gen Pract. 2008;14:33–7.
- Pfleiderer B, Burghaus D, Bayer G, Kindler-Rohrborn A, Heue M, Becker JC. Integration of gender-specific aspects into medical curricula–status quo and future perspectives. GMS Ger. Med Sci. 2012;29:Doc65.
- Phillips S. The social context of women's health: goals and objectives for medical education. Can Med Assoc J. 1995;152:507–11.
- Phillips SP. Measuring the health effects of gender. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2008;62:368–71.
- Weiss LB, Levison SP. Tools for integrating women's health into medical education: clinical cases and concept mapping. Acad Med. 2000;75:1081–6.
- 22. Doyal L. Sex, gender, and health: the need for a new approach. BMJ. 2001;323:1061–3.
- Verdonk P, Mans LJ, Lagro-Janssen AL. Integrating gender into a basic medical curriculum. Med Educ. 2005;39:1118–25.
- Verdonk P, Benschop YW, De Haes JC, Lagro-Janssen AL. Making a gender difference: case studies of gender mainstreaming in medical education. Med Teach. 2008;30:e194–201.
- Risberg G, Johansson EE, Hamberg K. A theoretical model for analysing gender bias in medicine. Int J Equ in Health. 2009;8:28.
- Education at Center for Gender Medicine Stockholm, Sweden: Karolinska Institute. http:// ki.se/en/research/educationat-centre-for-gendermedicine. Accessed July 10 2014.
- Hochleitner M, Nachtschatt U, Siller H. How do we get gender medicine into medical education? Health Care Women Int. 2013;34:3–13.
- Verdonk P, Benschop YW, de Haes HC, Lagro-Janssen TL. From gender bias to gender awareness in medical education. Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract. 2009;14:135–52.
- Zelek B, Phillips SP, Lefebvre Y. Gender sensitivity in medical curricula. CMAJ. 1997;156:1297–300.
- Canadian Institute of Health Research. Institute of Gender and Health. www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/8673. html. Accessed July 5 2014.
- Donoghue GD. Women's health: a catalyst for reform of medical education. Acad Med. 2000;75:1056–60.
- Miller VM, Rice M, Schiebinger L, Jenkins MR, Werbinski J, Núñez A, et al. Embedding concepts of sex and gender health differences into medical curricula. J Women's Health. 2013;22:194–202.

- Sex and gender-based medicine curriculum. Texas Tech University, Health Sciences Center, School of Medicine. www.ttuhsc.edu/som/curriculum/sgbm_ curriculum.aspx. Accessed May 20 2014.
- Nicolette J, Nelson M. Women's health curriculum at Stanford. J Am Med Womens Assoc. 1998;53:135–6.
- Verdonk P, Mans L, Lagro-Janssen A. How is gender integrated in the curricula of Dutch medical schools? Gender Educ. 2006;18:399–412.
- 36. Andersson J, Verdonk P, Johansson EE, Lagro-Janssen T, Hamberg K. Comparing gender awareness in Dutch and Swedish first-year medical students–Results from a questionaire. BMC Med Educ. 2012;12:3.
- Dielissen PW, Bottema BJ, Verdonk P, Lagro-Janssen TL. Incorporating and evaluating an integrated gender-specific medicine curriculum: A survey study in Dutch GP training. BMC Medic Educ. 2009;9:58.
- Hall JA, Irish JT, Roter DL, Ehrlich CM, Miller LH. Gender in medical encounters: an analysis of physician and patient communication in a primary care setting. Health Psychol. 1994;13:384–92.
- Hall JA, Roter DL. Patient gender and communication with physicians: results of a community-based study. Womens Health. 1995;1:77–95.
- Cousin G, Schmid Mast M, Jaunin-Stalder N. Finding the right interactional temperature: do colder patients need more warmth in physician communication style? Soc Sci Med. 2013;98:18–23.
- Cousin G, Schmid Mast M, Jaunin-Stalder N. When physician-expressed uncertainty leads to patient dissatisfaction: a gender study. Med Educ. 2013;47:923–31.
- 42. Hamberg K. Gender bias in medicine. Women's Health (Lond Engl). 2008;4:237–43.
- Kautzky-Willer A. Sex and gender differences in endocrinology. In: Oertelt-Prigione S, Regitz-Zagrosek V, editors. Sex and gender aspects in clinical medicine. London: Springer; 2012. p. 125–49.
- 44. Fox JG, Rogers AB, Ihrig M, Taylor NS, Whary MT, Dockray G, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* associated gastric cancer in INS-GAS mice is gender specific. Cancer Res. 2003;63:942–50.
- 45. Dielissen PW. Gender medicine in GP training. Design, evaluation and development. Thesis. Department of Primary and Community Care and Department of Women's Studies Medicine. Nijmegen: Radboud University Nijmegen Medical Centre; 2012.
- Rosenfeld JA. Handbook of women's health. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2001. p. 3–24.
- 47. American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases; American College of Gastroenterology; American Gastroenterological Association; American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy. Training the gastroenterologist of the future: The gastroenterology core curriculum. Gastroenterology. 2003;124:1055–104.

- Lovell RM, Ford AC. Effect of gender on prevalence of irritable bowel syndrome in the community: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2012;107:991–1000.
- Davis J, Rieders B, Borum ML. Clinical practice patterns suggest female patients prefer female endoscopists. Dig Dis Sci. 2015;60:3149–50.
- Menees SB, Inadomi JM, Korsnes S, Elta GH. Women patients' preference for women physicians is a barrier to colon cancer screening. Gastrointest Endosc. 2005;62:219–23.
- Schneider A, Kanagarajan N, Anjelly D, Reynolds JC, Ahmad A. Importance of gender, socioeconomic status, and history of abuse on patient preference for endoscopist. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104:340–8.
- Hwang YJ, Shin DW, Kim N, Yoon H, Shin CM, Park YS, Lee DH. Sex difference in bowel preparation quality and colonoscopy time. Korean J Intern Med. 2021;36:322–31.
- Bocci G, Troiano G, Messina G, Nante N, Civitelli S. Factors that could influence women's participation in colorectal cancer screening: an Italian study. Ann Ig. 2017;29:151–60.
- 54. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2018;68:394–424.
- 55. Saha S, Esposti SD. Meeting the need for women's health training in gastroenterology: creation of a women's digestive disorder program at Brown University. J Women's Health. 2010;19:1409–15.
- Gomes CF, Sousa M, Lourenço I, Martins D, Torres J. Gastrointestinal diseases during pregnancy: What does the gastroenterologist need to know? Ann Gastroenterol. 2018;31:385–94.
- Dowswell T, Neilson JP. Interventions for heartburn in pregnancy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2008;4:CD007065.
- McConnell RA, Mahadevan U. Pregnancy and the patient with inflammatory bowel disease: fertility, treatment, delivery, and complications. Gastroenterol Clin N Am. 2016;45:285–301.
- van der Woude CJ, Metselaar HJ, Danese S. Management of gastrointestinal and liver diseases during pregnancy. Gut. 2014;63:1014–23.
- 60. van der Woude CJ, Ardizzone S, Bengtson MB, Fiorino G, Fraser G, Katsanos K, et al. The second European evidenced-based consensus on reproduction and pregnancy in inflammatory bowel disease. J Crohns Colitis. 2015;9:107–24.
- Wu K, Wang H, Li S, Zhang H, Zhu B. Maternal hepatitis B infection status and adverse pregnancy outcomes: a retrospective cohort analysis. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2020;302:595–602.
- Shalimar ASK. Hepatitis E and acute liver failure in pregnancy. J Clin Exp Hepatol. 2013;3:213–24.
- 63. Ludvigsson JF, Lebwohl B, Ekbom A, Kiran RP, Green PH, Höijer J, et al. Outcomes of pregnancies for women undergoing endoscopy while

they were pregnant: a Nationwide Cohort Study. Gastroenterology. 2017;152:554–63.e9.

- 64. Houdeau E. Sex differences in gastrointestinal physiology and diseases. In: Neigh GN, Mitzelfelt MM, editors. Sex differences in physiology. Amsterdam: Academic; 2016. p. 125–43.
- 65. Waisel DB. Vulnerable populations in healthcare. Curr Opin Anesthesiol. 2013;26:186–92.
- 66. Freid VM, Bernstein AB, Bush MA. Multiple chronic conditions among adults aged 45 and over: trends over the past 10 years. NCHS Data Brief. 2012;2012:1–8.
- Institute of Medicine. Collecting sexual orientation and gender identity data in electronic health records: workshop summary. Washington, DC: National Academy of Sciences; 2013.
- Quinn GP, Sanchez JA, Sutton SK, Vadaparampil ST, Nguyen GT, Green BL, et al. Cancer and lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender/transsexual, and queer/ questioning (LGBTQ) populations. CA-Cancer J Clin. 2015;65:384–400.
- Conron KJ, Mimiaga MJ, Landers SJ. A populationbased study of sexual orientation identity and gender differences in adult health. Am J Public Health. 2010;100:1953–60.
- Dilley JA, Simmons KW, Boysun MJ, Pizacani BA, Stark MJ. Demonstrating the importance and feasibility of including sexual orientation in public health surveys: health disparities in the Pacific northwest. Am J Public Health. 2010;100:460–7.
- Fredriksen-Goldsen KI, Kim HJ, Barkan SE, Muraco A, Hoy-Ellis CP. Health disparities among lesbian, gay, and bisexual older adults: results from a population-based study. Am J Public Health. 2013;103:1802–9.
- 72. Bauermeister J, Eaton L, Stephenson R. A multilevel analysis of neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage and transactional sex with casual partners among Young men who have sex with men living in metro Detroit. Behav Med. 2016;42:197–204.
- Smalley KB, Warren JC, Barefoot KN. Differences in health risk behaviors across understudied LGBT subgroups. Health Psychol. 2016;35:103–14.
- 74. Staats C, Capatosto K, Wright RA, Jackson VW. State of the science: implicit bias review 2016. Columbus: Kirwan Institute.
- 75. Cochran SD, Bandiera FC, Mays VM. Sexual orientation-related differences in tobacco use and secondhand smoke exposure among US adults aged 20 to 59 years: 2003-2010 National Health and nutrition examination surveys. Am J Public Health. 2013;103:1837–44.
- Remafedi G, French S, Story M, Resnick MD, Blum R. The relationship between suicide risk and sexual orientation: results of a population-based study. Am J Public Health. 1998;88:57–60.
- 77. Charlton BM, Corliss HL, Missmer SA, Frazier AL, Rosario M, Kahn JA, et al. Reproductive health screening disparities and sexual orientation in a cohort study of U.S. adolescent and Young adult females. J Adolesc Health. 2011;49:505–10.

- Matthews AK, Brandenburg DL, Johnson TP, Hughes TL. Correlates of underutilization of gynecological cancer screening among lesbian and heterosexual women. Prev Med. 2004;38:105–13.
- Tracy JK, Lydecker AD, Ireland L. Barriers to cervical Cancer screening among lesbians. J Women's Health. 2010;19:229–37.
- Grossman AH, D'Augelli AR. Transgender youth: invisible and vulnerable. J Homosex. 2006;51:111–28.
- Krehely J. How to close the LGBT health disparities gap. Washington, DC: Center for American Progress; 2009. p. 1–9.
- Buchmueller T, Carpenter CS. Disparities in health insurance coverage, access, and outcomes for individuals in same-sex versus different-sex relationships, 2000-2007. Am J Public Health. 2010;100:489–95.
- Heck JE, Sell RL, Gorin SS. Health care access among individuals involved in same-sex relationships. Am J Public Health. 2006;96:1111–8.
- 84. Kamen C, Palesh O, Gerry AA, Andrykowski MA, Heckler C, Mohile S, et al. Disparities in health risk behavior and psychological distress among gay versus heterosexual male Cancer survivors. LGBT Health. 2014;1:86–U103.
- Legal L. When health care Isn't caring: lambda Legal's survey of discrimination against LGBT people and people with HIV. New York: Lamba Legal; 2010.
- 86. Grant JM, Mottet LA, Tanis J. National Transgender Discrimination Survey Report on health and health care. Washington, DC: National Center for Transgender Equality and National Gay and Lesbian Task Force; 2010.
- Shires DA, Jaffee K. Factors associated with health care discrimination experiences among a national sample of female-to-male transgender individuals. Health Soc Work. 2015;40:134–41.
- Eliason MJ, Dibble SL, Robertson PA. Lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender (LGBT) physicians' experiences in the workplace. J Homosex. 2011;58:1355–71.
- 89. Sullivan PS, Rosenberg ES, Sanchez TH, Kelley CF, Luisi N, Cooper HL, et al. Explaining racial disparities in HIV incidence in black and white men who have sex with men in Atlanta, GA: a prospective observational cohort study. Ann Epidemiol. 2015;25:445–54.
- 90. Millett GA, Peterson JL, Flores SA, Hart TA, Jeffries WL, Wilson PA, et al. Comparisons of disparities and risks of HIV infection in black and other men who have sex with men in Canada, UK, and USA: a meta-analysis. Lancet. 2012;380:341–8.
- Mereish EH, Bradford JB. Intersecting identities and substance use problems: sexual orientation, gender, race, and lifetime substance use problems. J Stud Alcohol Drugs. 2014;75:179–88.
- 92. Torres CG, Renfrew M, Kenst K, Tan-McGrory A, Betancourt JR, Lopez L. Improving transgender health by building safe clinical environments that

promote existing resilience: results from a qualitative analysis of providers. BMC Pediatr. 2015;15:187.

- 93. Burke SE, Dovidio JF, Przedworski JM, Hardeman RR, Perry SP, Phelan SM, et al. Do contact and empathy mitigate Bias against gay and lesbian people among heterosexual first-year medical students? A report from the medical student CHANGE study. Acad Med. 2015;90:645–51.
- 94. Sabin JA, Riskind RG, Nosek BA. Health care providers' implicit and explicit attitudes toward lesbian women and gay men. Am J Public Health. 2015;105:1831–41.
- Burgess D, van Ryn M, Dovidio J, Saha S. Reducing racial bias among health care providers: lessons from social-cognitive psychology. J Gen Intern Med. 2007;22:882–7.
- Wilson TD, Brekke N. Mental contamination and mental correction: unwanted influences on judgments and evaluation. Psychol Bull. 1994;116:117–42.
- Zestcott CA, Blair IV, Stone J. Examining the presence, consequences, and reduction of implicit Bias in health care: a narrative review. Group Proccess Interg. 2016;19:528–42.
- Greenwald AG, Banaji MR. Implicit social cognition: attitudes, self-esteem, and stereotypes. Psychol Rev. 1995;102:4–27.
- van Ryn M, Saha S. Exploring unconscious bias in disparities research and medical education. JAMA. 2011;306:995–6.
- FitzGerald C, Hurst S. Implicit bias in healthcare professionals: a systematic review. BMC Med Ethics. 2017;18:19.
- 101. Shavers VL, Fagan P, Jones D, Klein WMP, Boyington J, Moten C, et al. The state of research on racial/ethnic discrimination in the receipt of health care. Am J Public Health. 2012;102:953–66.
- 102. Chapman EN, Kaatz A, Carnes M. Physicians and implicit bias: how doctors may unwittingly perpetuate health care disparities. J Gen Intern Med. 2013;28:1504–10.
- 103. Committee on Understanding and Eliminating Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care. Unequal treatment: Confronting racial and ethnic disparities in health care. Smedley BD, Stith AY, Nelson AR, Editors. Committee on Understanding

and Eliminating Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care; Board on Health Sciences Policy; Institute of Medicine, Washington, DC: 2003.

- 104. Greenwald AG, Poehlman TA, Uhlmann EL, Banaji MR. Understanding and using the implicit association test: III. Meta-analysis of predictive validity. J Pers Soc Psychol. 2009;97:17–41.
- 105. Greenwald AG, Banaji MR, Nosek BA. Statistically small effects of the implicit association test can have societally large effects. J Pers Soc Psychol. 2015;108:553–61.
- 106. Khan A, Plummer D, Hussain R, Minichiello V. Does physician bias affect the quality of care they deliver? Evidence in the care of sexually transmitted infections. Sex Transm Infect. 2008;84:150–1.
- 107. Blair IV, Havranek EP, Price DW, Hanratty R, Fairclough DL, Farley T, et al. Assessment of biases against Latinos and African Americans among primary care providers and community members. Am J Public Health. 2013;103:92–8.
- Rowniak SR. Factors related to homophobia among nursing students. J Homosex. 2015;62:1228–40.
- 109. Devine PG, Forscher PS, Austin AJ, Cox WTL. Long-term reduction in implicit race Bais: a prejudice habit-breaking intervention. J Exp Soc Psychol. 2012;48:1267–78.
- 110. Greenwald AG, McGhee DE, Schwartz JLK. Measuring individual differences in implicit cognition: the implicit association test. J Pers Soc Psychol. 1998;74:1464–80.
- 111. Bartos SE, Berger I, Hegarty P. Interventions to reduce sexual prejudice: a study-space analysis and meta-analytic review. J Sex Res. 2014;51:363–82.
- 112. Nosek BA, Smyth FL, Hansen JJ, Devos T, Lindner NM, Ranganath KA, et al. Pervasiveness and correlates of implicit attitudes and stereotypes. Eur Rev Soc Psychol. 2007;18:36–88.
- 113. Dasgupta N, Greenwald AG. On the malleability of automatic attitudes: combating automatic prejudice with images of admired and disliked individuals. J Pers Soc Psychol. 2001;81:800–14.
- 114. Forscher PS, Mitamura C, Dix EL, Cox WTL, Devine PG. Breaking the prejudice habit: mechanisms, timecourse, and longevity. J Exp Soc Psychol. 2017;72:133–46.



30

Work-Life Balance of Korean Gastroenterologists Depending on Sex and Age

Nayoung Kim

30.1 Introduction

Physician's life is a demanding and stressful field in the world. Occupational stress can adversely affect the quality of care, decrease job satisfaction, and potentially increase medical errors. The notion that a physician benefits others rather than themselves has long been respected, particularly in the East [1]. For this reason, physicians have been thought to be devoted to patients, giving priority to them over everything else [1]. Therefore, work style reform and the work-life balance of doctors, especially among clinicians, young doctors, and women doctors, are considered the last untouched islands for work style reform among various occupations [1]. Recently physician burnout is increasingly recognized as a systemic health care problem [2]. Prior research has identified the adverse impact on physician health and patient care [3]. Recently, studies have begun to examine the impact on health care delivery [4]. Gastroenterologists are prone to many healthrelated risks with their job because they have various roles, including as an endoscopist, a physician, and an academic professional [5]. Because gastroenterologists perform repetitive diagnostic

and therapeutic procedures with unstable posture, musculoskeletal pain frequently occurs [6– 8]. In addition to the physical problems, the psychosocial job stress from the clinical responsibility for patient outcomes, interaction with various people, and the demand to complete administrative and research work on time [9, 10]can lead to other health problems for doctors, such as cardiovascular [11], gastrointestinal [12] and psychiatric diseases [10, 12]. The consequences of physician's burnout are negative effects on patient care, professionalism, physicians' own care and safety, and the viability of health-care systems. As there are sex and age differences of physicians, it is important to analyse the physician's low career satisfaction and burnout depending on sex and age. However, the work-life balance and sex differences have not been fully studied among gastroenterologists, not only in Eastern countries including Korea but also in Western countries including the United States. In this chapter, the physician's burnout including gastroenterologists, especially in the young women doctors, is briefly reviewed.

30.2 Physician Burnout

Recently, the work-life conflicts and burnout of doctors have been reported as important problems worldwide [3, 13–15]. Among 6880 US physicians, the satisfaction rate with their jobs

N. Kim (\boxtimes)

Department of Internal Medicine, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul National University Bundang Hospital, Seongnam, Korea (Republic of) e-mail: nakim49@snu.ac.kr

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2022 N. Kim (ed.), *Sex/Gender-Specific Medicine in the Gastrointestinal Diseases*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0120-1_30

was only 40.9%, and less satisfaction was related to a higher burnout rate (overall 54.4%) [3]. In the study, after adjusting for age, sex, and working hours, physicians showed 48% less satisfaction for their work-life balance (OR 0.68; 95%) CI, 0.62–0.75) and a higher risk (approximately 2 times higher) for burnout (OR 1.97; 95% CI, 1.80–2.16) [3]. In China, the work-family conflict also decreased job satisfaction [16], and it was positively related to emotional exhaustion and cynicism, which is a major component of burnout [14]. As the work-life conflict and subsequent burnout did directly affect the physician's underperformance and medical errors [17], it is a crucial and urgent issue for the entire health-care system [5]. In this section, the author would like to review the published articles regarding physician burnout [7, 18].

30.2.1 Surgeon Burnout

A surgeon is a medical doctor with the trained specialty to operate in need of variety of surgical procedure. Surgery involves the core treatment of most of diseases such as cancer, acute care, trauma, reconstructive medicine and even transplantation. Therefore, the importance of a surgeons' role cannot be emphasized enough in our health care service. In other countries, surgery is one of the most popular specialties as a meaningful and rewarding job for medical doctors. However, in Korea, a surgeon became a job that most doctors want to avoid as their life-time specialty. There are numerous reasons that can be considered as factors related to this trend in Korea such as low insurance costs for surgical procedures, an increased workload for the individual surgeon due to the shortage of workforce, risk of medical sue and others. One of the main reasons is the high workload and occupational stress of Korean surgeons [19]. The work in an operating room can be stressful, hectic and physically demanding. Surgery is sometimes an emergency event, performed in a high pressure, life-or-death situation. Surgeons typically work long hours and may also take emergency calls. In addition, they may need to work when they are sleep-deprived and often work under stress [20].

N. Kim

30.2.1.1 Surgeons

Kang et al. [21] have conducted an electronic survey of 621 Korean surgeons for the occupational stress [21]. Sixty-five questions were used to assess practical and personal characteristics and occupational stress using the Korean occupational stress scale (KOSS). The mean KOSS score was 49.31, which was higher than the average of Korean occupational stress (45.86) or that of other specialized professions (46.03) [21]. 16.6% showed high emotional exhaustion, and 28.5% had a high score of depersonalization. Overall, 197 surgeons (31.7%) were considered to suffer from burnout and these surgeons had a much higher KOSS score (55.34 ± 9.69) than those surgeons without burnout (46 ± 8.77) , p < 0.001 [21]. Young age, female gender, long working hours, and frequent night duties were significantly related to the higher KOSS score. Having spouse, having hobby and regular exercise decreased the KOSS score. Multiple linear regression analysis showed that long working hours and regular exercise were the independent factors associated with the KOSS score. Less than 50% of surgeons answered that they would become a surgeon again [21]. Most surgeons (82.5%) did not want to recommend their child follow their career suggesting that Korean surgeons have high occupational stress and low level of career satisfaction [21].

30.2.1.2 Surgical Residents

A number of studies have reported the high level of stress and reduced job satisfaction of residents [18, 22–24]. These days, surgical residents have a heavier workload and experience more stress due to the labour force shortage, which has been caused in part by a decrease in the rate of applicants and an increased workload in systematized hospitals [25]. Moreover, the dropout rate for surgical residents during training is also increasing in South Korea. This overworking of surgical residents leads to a vicious cycle, with the application rate for surgical residency continuously decreasing year by year. The decrease in the number of applicants and the high dropout rate of surgical residents have become serious social issues in South Korea. Many things may cause these problems, but one of the important reasons is the excessive workload and high occupational stress these surgical residents are put under [19]. The application rate for surgical residents in Korea has continuously decreased over the past few years. The demanding workload and the occupational stress of surgical training are likely causes of this problem. Kang et al. [18] performed a study to investigate occupational stress and its related factors in South Korean surgical residents. With the support of the Korean Surgical Society, they conducted an electronic survey of Korean surgical residents related to occupational stress. They also used the Korean Occupational Stress Scale (KOSS) to measure occupational stress [18]. The mean KOSS score of the surgical residents was 55.39, which was significantly higher than that of practising surgeons (48.16, p < 0.001) and the average score of specialized professionals (46.03, p < 0.001) [18] (Table 30.1). In terms of lifestyle characteristics, regular exercise was significantly associated with lower KOSS score (p = 0.001) in univariate analysis but the significance disappeared in multivariate analysis. In multiple linear regression analysis, the mean number of assigned patients, resident occupation rate and exercise were all significantly associated with KOSS score [18].

Table 30.1 Burnout of surgical residents in comparisonto specialized professionals (adapted from Kang et al.[18])

	Surgical	Practising	
Question	estion residents surgeons		
Burnout		0.002	
Yes	66 (66.7)	131 (25.1)	
No	33 (33.3)	391 (74.9)	
Would becom	gain?	0.002	
Yes	50 (50.5)	348 (66.7)	
No	49 (49.5)	174 (33.3)	
Would becom	in?	0.519	
Yes	46 (46.5)	261 (50.0)	
No	53 (53.5)	261 (50.0)	
Would you re	0.493		
child?			
Yes	15 (15.2)	94 (18.0)	
No	84 (84.9)	428 (82.0)	

Values are presented as number (%) ^aChi-square test

30.3 Women Physician

It has been over 180 years since Elizabeth Blackwell became the first woman to obtain a medical degree in the United States, paving the way for other women to enter the field [26]. Today, women account for 35.4% of all physicians and 17.6% of gastroenterologists [27]. In other countries, women comprise more than 20–40% of the current medical practising field including Korea [28]. Furthermore, the number of women entering medical school is increasing. However, there remains a dearth of women in leadership positions in national societies and in the highest rungs of academia [26]. For example, in 2015 women constituted <20% of gastrointestinal fellowship program directors and <10% of section/division chiefs [29, 30]. While there has been some positive change with a recent increase in women in executive leadership of GI societies (American Gastroenterological Association [AGA], American Association for the Study of Liver Disease [AASLD], American College of Gastroenterology [ACG] and the American Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy [ASGE]), this has not translated into leadership [26]. This could be related with severe work-life conflict in women doctors compared to men [31-33].

30.3.1 Work-Life Conflict of Women Gastroenterologists

Women doctors are exposed to more demanding situations for their household management than men doctors [31, 34]. Although it depends on culture and customs in each country, in general, the situation is worse in Japan and Korea [1, 5]. Even among US surgeons, women were more responsible for childcare, meal planning and grocery shopping significantly in both trainees and faculties [31]. In particular, physician mothers in procedural specialties demonstrated low career satisfaction because of their high domestic responsibilities [35]. Because of the work-family conflict, women tended to leave the academic position and forgo promotion opportunities [14, 28]. Women with academic jobs had difficulty being fully dedicated to their professor jobs [36] and were less likely to have major authorships in high-impact medical journals [37]. Moreover, women doctors are still underrepresented in medical conferences as speakers [28].

A recent article from Lerchenmueller et al. [38] showed that women researchers do not promote their work with the same degree of 'positivity' (i.e., using words like 'novel', 'unique', and 'unprecedented' to describe their research) as their men counterparts. This pattern, the authors suggest, reflects a lack of self-promotion that leads to less prominence in research authorship [26]. Indeed, given the importance of publications and authorship in the promotion process, the above research is a cause for concern, suggesting that a more structured approach should be used to address the myriad issues involved [26]. Indeed, some overt barriers that may exist include a lack of appropriate mentorship and/or sponsors combined with competing outside obligations and the need for work-life balance-all factors that may impact advancement [26]. That said, more insidious forces may be at play: Women are more likely to experience a phenomenon known as 'impostor syndrome'-a feeling that they are successful 'by accident' or through hard work but not due to inherent qualification and intelligence [39]. As a result, women are less likely to promote themselves and often (mistakenly) believe that others will recognize the quality of their work [40].

30.3.2 Authorship of Women Gastroenterologists and Trends in the Proportion of Women Speakers at Medical Conferences in the United States and in Canada, 2007 to 2017

Speaker invitation and selection at conferences represent important opportunities to influence gender equity within medicine, and authorship is also a very meaningful indicator of academic leadership. Recently there were interesting reports regarding the authorship of women gastroenterologists [41] and trends in the proportion of women speakers at medical conferences in the United States and in Canada, 2007 to 2017 [28]. Actually authorship, speaker invitation and selection at conferences represent important opportunities to influence gender equity within medicine [28].

30.3.2.1 Authorship of Women Gastroenterologists

In order to demonstrate that an 'authorship gender gap' of national society publications, Bushyhead and Strate [41] retrospectively evaluated 90 technical reviews and guidelines between 2007 and 2019 from ACG and AGA. They determined the ratio of women authors to the total number of authors [41]. They also evaluated trends in these ratios over three periods of time. Among the 90 examined publications, only 21% had women authorship [41]. When looking at temporal trends, they found that although the number of published technical reviews and guidelines increased over time, women authorship remained consistently below that of men. In terms of society-specific trends, the authors discovered that women authorship did increase from 21 to 35% in AASLD publications from 2007– 2010 to 2015–2019; women authorship in ACG publications remained stable and actually declined among published AGA guidelines [41] (Fig. 30.1). Lastly, only 18% of first authors were women in all of the examined publications [41]. To explain these disparities, the authors pointed out that women still represent a minority of practising gastroenterologists in the United States, though this does not explain the overall increase in women authorship of original research over a similar period of time [26]. Though there is no obvious explanation for the ongoing disparity between men and women in the authorship of society reviews and guidelines, the authors of this study speculate there may be an implicit bias toward males as experts or leaders [26]. Similar trends exist across other medical specialties and may have broader implications for the promotion of women to senior positions, and the visibility of women in their respective fields [26].



Fig. 30.1 Proportion of female authors of guidelines and technical reviews. *AASLD* American Association for the Study of Liver Disease, *ACG* American College of

Gastroenterology, *AGA* American Gastroenterological Association (adapted from Bushyhead and Strate [41])

30.3.2.2 Trends in the Proportion of Women Speakers at Medical Conferences in the United States and in Canada, 2007 to 2017

Ruzycki et al. [28] analysed the trend during the last decade in the proportion of speakers who were women at major academic medical conferences held in Canada and in the United States. The mean (SD) proportion of female conference speakers for all meetings significantly increased from 24.6% for 40 meetings in 2007 to 34.1% for 181 meetings in 2017 (p < 0.001) [28]. The mean proportion of women speakers at medical specialty conferences was 9.8% higher (Standard Error [SE], 1.9%; *p* < 0.001) than the mean proportion of female speakers at surgical specialty conferences for all years analysed [28]. The mean proportion of women speakers at conferences was similar to the mean proportion of active women physicians across all specialties in the United States and in Canada for all years analysed [28]. Although these findings indicate that the proportion of women speakers at medical conferences increased during the last decade, the authors suggest that women continue to be underrepresented.

30.3.2.3 Solutions to Improve the Women Leadership

How could it be fixed? The solution is complex, requiring a combination of education and awareness to address these deep and subtle issues. Nevertheless, there also has to be a more structured and conscious attempt to actively include expert women in the creation of high-impact guidelines [26]. To overcome the existing status women gastroenterologists need to quo, empower themselves and one another to rise to prominent positions in research and society governorship [26]. Academic institutions and national societies also need to set the example by supporting and, more importantly, promoting women. As things continue to move in a positive direction and more women occupy leadership positions in gastroenterology, at some point the term 'women leaders' will be replaced by simply by the term 'leaders' [26].

30.4 Work-Life Conflict and Its Health Effects on Korean Gastroenterologists According to Age and Sex

Gastroenterologists perform various roles, including as an endoscopist, a physician and an academic professional [5]. In addition, gastroenterologists perform repetitive diagnostic and therapeutic procedures with unstable posture; musculoskeletal pain frequently occurs [6–8]. Furthermore, the psychosocial job stress from the clinical responsibility for patient outcomes after therapeutic endoscopy, interaction with various people including nurses during endoscopic procedure, and the demand to complete administrative and research work on time [9, 10] can lead to other health problems such as cardiovascular [11], gastrointestinal [12] and psychiatric diseases [10, 12]. As there are sex and age differences of gastroenterologists, it is important to analyse the physician's low career satisfaction and burnout depending on sex and age. However, the work-life balance and sex differences have not been fully studied among gastroenterologists. The author performed study entitled 'Work-life conflict and its health effects' with grant from Korea Federation of Women Science and Technology Association, and Korean Medical Women's Association. Total 222 [124 men (55.9%) and 98 women doctors (44.1%)] participated in an anonymised self-responded electronic questionnaire survey about their daily activities and symptoms for 14 days [5]. Musculoskeletal, gastrointestinal and mental symptoms were scored using a numerical scale. The Maslach Burnout Inventory was used to measure the burnout score [5].

30.4.1 Work-Life Hours of Korean Gastroenterologists

The mean time spent at work and home among Korean gastroenterologists was 71.5 ± 19.0 (54.0 \pm 16.1 for intrahospital work and 17.5 ± 9.5 h per week for extrahospital work) and

 16.6 ± 15.9 h per week, respectively [5] (Fig. 30.2a). Although there was no significant between the sex differences in working time (Fig. 30.2b), the amount of time spent at home was significantly higher among women $(20.7 \pm 19.0 \text{ vs. } 14.3 \pm 13.3 \text{ h/week}; p = 0.007),$ and it was noted in all age groups (Fig. 30.2c). Moreover, time dedicated to 'others' tended to be shorter for women than for men $(78.1 \pm 22.6 \text{ vs.})$ 80.9 ± 23.2 h/week; p = 0.421, Fig. 30.2a). The work-life ratio did not significantly differ between the sexes (men, 0.86 ± 0.49 vs. women, 0.77 ± 0.39 ; p = 0.226) [5] (Fig. 30.3).

30.4.2 Musculoskeletal, Gastrointestinal, and Mental Symptoms

For musculoskeletal symptoms, 89.6% of participants suffered from any grade of pain, and it was significantly more frequent for women (Fig. 30.4a). For all age groups, women showed a significantly higher total pain score than men $(6.1 \pm 4.9 \text{ vs. } 3.6 \pm 3.9; p < 0.001)$ [5]. The difference in pain scores between the sexes was particularly significant among participants in their 30s (6.1 ± 5.1 vs. 3.5 ± 3.9; *p* < 0.001; Fig. 30.4a) [5]. According to regression analyses, sex $(\beta = 2.55, 95\% \text{ CI}, 1.40-3.69, p < 0.0001)$, the number of colonoscopies ($\beta = 0.06, 95\%$ CI, 0.02-0.11, p = 0.008) (Fig. 30.4b) and work-life ratio (β = 2.63, 95% CI, 1.37–3.88; p < 0.001) were independently related to the musculoskeletal pain score after adjusting for age group [5].

For gastrointestinal symptoms, 53.6% responded that they had suffered from any grade of symptoms (Fig. 30.4c). The prevalence was not significantly different between the sexes; however, it did increase with age (p = 0.040). In detail, epigastric pain, dyspepsia, nonspecific abdominal pain and stool calibre change were found in 29 (16.7%), 31 (17.3%), 17 (9.1%) and 30 (16.9%) respondents, respectively [5]. Functional gastrointestinal disease, as confirmed by the Rome IV criteria, was found in 55 (24.8%) participants. As shown in Fig. 30.4c, men in their



Fig. 30.2 Work and life hours of Korean gastroenterologists, according to sex (a) and age groups at working place (b) and at home (c) (adapted from Jang et al. [5])





Fig. 30.3 The work-life ratio depending on age and sex (adapted from Jang et al. [5])





Fig. 30.4 Musculoskeletal, gastrointestinal and mental symptoms depending on age and sex. (a) Musculoskeletal pain score, (b) the correlation between the number of

colonoscopy and musculoskeletal pain, (c) gastrointestinal symptoms and (d) mental symptoms (adapted from Jang et al. [5])

Table 30.2	Independent factors
affecting the	presence of severe mental
symptoms in	Korean gastroenterologists
(adapted from	n Jang et al. [5])

	OR	95% CI	p-value
Age	1.3	0.71-2.40	0.392
Women vs. men	1.4	0.57-3.28	0.476
Severe musculoskeletal pain	8.2	3.33-20.39	< 0.001
Number of procedures >60/weeks	2.5	1.06-6.03	0.037
Work/life ratio	3.1	1.31-7.18	0.010

50s showed the highest prevalence of 88.9% (p = 0.022), followed by women in their 40s (75.0%) and 30s (64.6%) [5].

Notably, mental symptoms such as anxiety and depression were highly prevalent in this study population. A total of 153 (68.9%) participants responded that they had any degree of mental problems, which was reported significantly more often by women than men (79.6% vs. 60.5%, p = 0.002) (Fig. 30.4d). In each age and sex group, women in

their 30s showed the highest prevalence of any mental symptoms (87.5%, p = 0.008); however, all other groups also demonstrated high results (Fig. 30.4d). More severely, the HADS score was in the abnormal range (score 11–21) for 74 (33.3%) doctors [5]. The multivariable analysis showed that severe mental symptoms affecting normal life were independently affected by severe musculoskeletal pain, a high number of endoscopic procedures and a high work-life ratio (Table 30.2) [5]. The work-life ratio was related to all symptoms that we asked about. As the work-life ratio increased, pain ($\beta = 2.27$, 95% CI, 0.96–3.58; p < 0.001), gastrointestinal symptom ($\beta = 071$, 95% CI, 0.01–1.41; p = 0.048) and mental symptom ($\beta = 1.88$, 95% CI, 0.64–3.11; p = 0.003) scores also increased [5].

30.4.3 Burnout and Its Related Factors

With the Maslach Burnout Inventory survey, 143/222 (64.4%) of the respondents met the criteria for burnout. By domain, a high emotional exhaustion score (\geq 27), high depersonalization score (\geq 10) and low personal accomplishment

 (≤ 33) were found in 118 (53.2%), 108 (48.7%) and 116 (52.3%) of the respondents, respectively [5].

The mean emotional exhaustion, depersonalization and personal accomplishment scores of the study population were 26.8 ± 11.6 , 9.9 ± 5.9 and 30.9 ± 8.6 , respectively. Among 6 age and sex groups, the emotional exhaustion score was highest among women in their 30s (29.0 ± 10.2) and 40s (28.0 ± 11.8) , despite being statistically insignificant (p = 0.419) (Fig. 30.5a), and women in their 30s had the worst scores in the depersonalization (11.6 ± 5.5 , p = 0.012) (Fig. 30.5b) and personal accomplishment (28.3 ± 8.5 , p = 0.003) domains (Fig. 30.5c). As the work-life ratio increased, the personal accomplishment score also significantly increased ($\beta = 3.06$, 95% CI,



Fig. 30.5 Maslach Burnout Inventory scores according to age and sex among Korean gastroenterologists for emotional exhaustion (**a**) depensionalization (**b**) and personal accomplishment (**c**) domains (adapted from Jang et al. [5])

p = 0.008

58.3

W/50s

(n = 12)

0.54–5.59, p = 0.018); however, the emotional exhaustion score decreased with borderline significance ($\beta = 2.92, 95\%$ CI, 0.51–6.35, p = 0.095) [5].

30.4.4 Job Satisfaction

The mean job satisfaction score was 3.71 ± 0.97 of 5 points, and it tended to be lower among women (3.58 ± 1.02) than in men (3.82 ± 0.92, p = 0.067) (Fig. 30.6a). According to age and sex groups, the job satisfaction score was lowest among women in their 40s (p = 0.049) compared with the other groups (3.72 ± 0.96 among men in their 30s, 3.53 ± 0.93 among women in their 30s, 3.45 ± 1.18

among women in their 40s, 4.33 ± 0.71 among men in their 50s, and 4.08 ± 1.16 among women in their 50s). The job satisfaction score was significantly correlated with the emotional exhaustion ($\beta = -0.03$, 95% CI, -0.04 - -0.02, p < 0.0001), depensionalization ($\beta = -0.05, 95\%$ CI, -0.07 - -0.03, p < 0.0001) and personal accomplishment scores ($\beta = -0.04$, 95% CI, 0.03-0.06, p < 0.0001), but not with the work-life ratio ($\beta = 0.03, 95\%$ CI, -0.26-0.32, p = 0.852) [5]. 14% of the participants responded that they were not satisfied with their jobs (Fig. 30.6a). Particularly, fewer women doctors answered that they would reselect the profession of doctor (Fig. 30.6b) and even gastroenterologist (Fig. 30.6c) if they had a chance to select their job again compared to men [5].



Fig. 30.6 Job satisfaction and reselection job among Korean gastroenterologists. Job satisfaction (**a**), possible reselection rate of the profession of doctor (**b**), and even

gastroenterologist (c) if they had a chance to select their job again (adapted from Jang et al. [5])

30.5 Interventions to Prevent and Reduce Physician Burnout

The literature indicates that both individualfocused and structural or organisational strategies can result in clinically meaningful reductions in burnout among physicians [42]. However, further research is needed to establish which interventions are most effective in specific populations, as well as how individual and organizational solutions might be combined to deliver even greater improvements in physician wellbeing than those achieved with individual solutions. In addition, there was a report that professional self-concept functioned to protect medical school faculty from burnout [43]. Furthermore, the professional self-concept subscale, which included satisfaction and communication skill, was found to significantly affect burnout [43]. This may be a strategy that fortifies the professional identity of medical school faculty, and it is suggested that educational programs that are directed toward this goal be established [43].

30.5.1 Systemic Review and Meta-Analysis Regarding Intervention Study for the Physician's Burnout

To prevent and reduce burnout, West et al. [42] performed systemic review regarding intervention study for the physician's burnout. They identified 2617 articles, of which 15 randomised trials including 716 physicians and 37 cohort studies including 2914 physicians met inclusion criteria [42]. Overall burnout decreased from 54% to 44% (difference 10% [95% CI, 5–14]; *p* < 0.001; $I^2 = 15\%$; 14 studies) (Fig. 30.7), emotional exhaustion score decreased from 23.82 points to 21.17 points (2.65 points [1.67–3.64]; *p* < 0.001; $I^2 = 82\%$; 40 studies), and depersonalization score decreased from 9.05 to 8.41 (0.64 points $[0.15-1.14]; p = 0.01; I^2 = 58\%; 36 \text{ studies})$ [42]. High emotional exhaustion decreased from 38% to 24% (14% [11–18]; p < 0.001; $I^2 = 0\%$; 21 studies) and high depersonalization decreased from 38% to 34% (4% [0–8]; p = 0.04; $I^2 = 0\%$; 16 studies).

	Intervention (<i>n</i>)	Control (n)		Mean difference (%[95% CI])
RCTs				
Martins et al (2011)	37	36		-8% (-39 to 22)
Lucas et al (2012)	62	62		-19% (-30 to -8)
West et al (2014)	34	34	< · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-18% (-334 to 298)
West et al (2015)	51	56		1% (-14 to 16)
Ripp et al (2015)	21	17	<u> </u>	9% (-13 to 30)
Subtotal	205	205		-6% (-19 to 7)
$p = 0.37; I^2 = 45\%$				
Cohort studies				
Goitein ei al (2005)	115	111		-8 (-20 to 3)
Gopal et al (2005)	121	106		-6% (-13 to 0)
Martini et al (2006)	28	23		-31% (-61 to -1)
Landrigan et al (2008)	114	93		-18% (-32 to -5)
Kim and Wiedermann (2011)	56	202		-21% (-36 to -7)
Quenot et al (2012)	4	4		0% (-60 to 60)
Weight et al (2013)	174	358		-6% (-14 to 2)
Kotb et al (2014)	31	31		-10% (-46 to 2)
Ripp et al (2015)	108	123	!	-10% (20 to 1)
Subtotal	751	1051		-9% (-13 to -5)
$p < 0.0001; I^2 = 0\%$				
Total	956	1256	•	-10% (-14 to -5)
$p = 0.0001; I^2 = 15\%$				
			-1.0 -0.5 0 0.5 1.0	
			Favours intervention Favours control	

Fig. 30.7 Overall burnout. For the five randomized controlled trials and nine cohort studies reporting differences in overall burnout, the pooled mean difference estimate

was a significant absolute reduction from 54% to 44% (difference 10% [95% CI, 5–14]; p < 0.001; $I^2 = 15\%$) (adapted from West et al. [42])

30.5.2 The Effect of a Team-Based, Incentivized Exercise Program Among Physician Trainees

Weight et al. evaluated the effects of an incentivized exercise program on physical activity (PA), quality of life (QoL) and burnout among residents and fellows (RFs) in a large academic medical centre [44]. In January 2011, all RFs at Mayo Clinic in Rochester, Minnesota (N¹/₄1060), were invited to participate in an elective, team-based, 12-week, incentivized exercise program [44]. Of the 628 RFs who completed the baseline survey (59%), only 194 (31%) met the US Department of Health and Human Services recommendations for PA [44]. Median reported QoL was 70 on a scale of 1 to 100, and 182 (29%) reported at least weekly burnout symptoms [44]. A total of 245 individuals (23%) enrolled in the exercise program [44]. At study completion, program participants were more likely than nonparticipants to meet the Department of Health and Human Services recommendations for exercise (48% vs. 23%; p < 0.001) [44]. QoL was higher in program participants than in nonparticipants (median, 75 vs. 68; *p* < 0.001) [44]. Burnout was lower in participants than in nonparticipants, although the difference was not statistically significant (24% vs. 29%; p = 0.17) [44]. These results suggest that a team-based, incentivized exercise program is effective for the intervention for the physician's burnout.

30.5.3 Intervention for the Japanese Women Gastroenterologists

The Japanese Society of Gastroenterology (JSGE) has established a women gastroenterologists' association and has recently developed a career support committee in the name of supporting not only women doctors, but also young doctors, including interns and residents [1]. The career support committee has been planning hands-on training to support female and young doctors in academic societies, increasing the number of women councillors, and developing childcare facilities at national and domestic academic meetings. Recently, the career support committee held a nationwide case study competition symposium at the annual meeting of JSGE in order to support young doctors regardless of gender and recruit young gastroenterologists to the society; it was received with great popularity by many of the participants [1]. This activated discussions among young doctors, and the younger generation was successfully brought back to the JSGE meeting. The 2nd Career Support Committee/Branch Women's Doctor Meeting in 2019 will be held on Saturday, November 23, 2019, during JDDW2019 in Kobe, Japan. The agenda at this time is a report on the activities of women's gastroenterology associations in each regional branch of JSGE and discussions regarding the career support committee's plans for the 106th general meeting to be held in April 2020. Yet, the committee was not directly involved in issues such as the current working conditions of doctors, working hours, overtime, and childcare leave. Nonetheless, the Ministry of Health, Labor, and Welfare in Japan has currently started the process of reforming doctors' working environment, slated to be completed in 2024 [1]. They plan to implement continuous working hour regulations and inter-work interval regulations from the viewpoint of ensuring the health and medical safety of hospital doctors. Besides, they are investigating the use of objective indicators to identify doctors who are unable to secure sufficient sleep time in order to ensure their continued health. The Japanese government has begun to develop regulations for the working environments of doctors [1].

30.6 Conclusions

Recently, the work-life conflicts and burnout of doctors have been reported as important problems worldwide. In addition, physician burnout such as overall burnout, emotional exhaustion score and depersonalisation score has reached epidemic levels in both of physicians in training and practising physicians. The burnout is rather serious not only for surgeons but also for the gastroenterologists. Furthermore, the burden of young woman doctors are the most serious group in this pandemic state of COVID-19. The consequences are negative effects on patient care, professionalism, physicians' own care and safety, and the viability of health-care systems. In the survey for the total of 222 Korean gastroenterologists (124 men and 98 women) from 44 nationwide centres in South Korea Korean women spent more time performing housework and parenting (20.7 ± 19.0) compared to men $(14.3 \pm 13.3, p = 0.007)$. Musculoskeletal pain was found in 199 respondents (89.6%), and women had a higher total pain score compared to men in all age groups (p = 0.016). Gastrointestinal and mental symptoms were found in 119(53.6%)and 153 (68.9%), respectively. Work-life ratio was significantly correlated with musculoskeletal (p < 0.001), gastrointestinal (p = 0.048) and mental symptoms (p = 0.003). Using the Maslach Burnout Inventory, 64.4% of the respondents demonstrated burnout. Moreover, emotional depersonalization and personal exhaustion, accomplishment scores were worst in women in their 30s or 40s. These show that work-life imbalance and burnout were most severe in young women doctors due to their domestic demands among physician's burnout. Systemic review showed that intervention could decrease overall burnout from 54% to 44% (difference 10% [95% CI, 5-14]) suggesting that both individualfocused and structural or organisational strategies can contribute to improve the burnout among physicians.

References

- 1. Suzuki H. Balancing act: the need for work style reform for young and/or female gastroenterologists. Dig Dis Sci. 2020;65:1–2.
- Windover AK, Martinez K, Mercer MB, Neuendorf K, Boissy A, Rothberg MB. Correlates and outcomes of physician burnout within a large academic medical center JAMA. Intern Med. 2018;178:856–8.
- Shanafelt TD, Hasan O, Dyrbye LN, Sinsky C, Satele D, Sloan J, et al. Changes in burnout and satisfaction with work-life balance in physicians and the general US working population between 2011 and 2014. Mayo Clin Proc. 2015;90:1600–13.
- Shanafelt TD, Mungo M, Schmitgen J, Storz KA, Reeves D, Hayes SN, et al. Longitudinal study evalu-

ating the association between physician burnout and changes in professional work effort. Mayo Clin Proc. 2016;91:422–31.

- Jang ES, Park SM, Park YS, Lee JC, Kim N. Worklife conflict and its health effects on Korean gastroenterologists according to age and sex. Dig Dis Sci. 2020;65:86–95.
- Harvin G. Review of musculoskeletal injuries and prevention in the endoscopy practitioner. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2014;48:590–4.
- Ofori E, Ramai D, John F, Reddy M, Ghevariya V. Occupationassociated health hazards for the gastroenterologist/endoscopist. Ann Gastroenterol. 2018;31:448–55.
- Byun YH, Lee JH, Park MK, Song JH, Min BH, Chang DK, et al. Procedure-related musculoskeletal symptoms in gastrointestinal endoscopists in Korea. World J Gastroenterol. 2008;14:4359–64.
- Agius RM, Blenkin H, Deary IJ, Zealley HE, Wood RA. Survey of perceived stress and work demands of consultant doctors. Occup Environ Med. 1996;53:217–24.
- Kang MK, Kang YS, Kim JR, Jeong BG, Park KS, Kam S, et al. The levels of psychosocial stress, job stress and related factors of medical doctors practicing at local clinics. J Prev Med Public Health. 2007;40:177–84.
- Alterman T, Shekelle RB, Vernon SW, Burau KD. Decision latitude, psychologic demand, job strain, and coronary heart disease in the western electric study. Am J Epidemiol. 1994;139:620–7.
- Lim SK, Yoo SJ, Koo DL, Park CA, Ryu HJ, Jung YJ, et al. Stress and sleep quality in doctors working oncall shifts are associated with functional gastrointestinal disorders. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23:3330–7.
- Dyrbye LN, Shanafelt TD, Balch CM, Satele D, Sloan J, Freischlag J. Relationship between work-home conflicts and burnout among American surgeons: a comparison by sex. Arch Surg. 2011;146:211–7.
- 14. Deng S, Yang N, Li S, Wang W, Yan H, Li H. Doctors' job satisfaction and its relationships with doctorpatient relationship and work-family conflict in China: a structural equation modeling. Inquiry. 2018;55:46958018790831.
- Margiotta F, Crudden G, Byrne D, Doherty AM. Prevalence and co-variates of burnout in consultant hospital doctors: burnout in consultants in Ireland Study (BICDIS). Ir J Med Sci. 2019;188: 355–64.
- Lu Y, Hu XM, Huang XL, Zhuang XD, Guo P, Feng LF, et al. Job satisfaction and associated factors among healthcare staff: a cross-sectional study in Guangdong Province. China BMJ Open. 2016;6:e011388.
- LaDonna KA, Ginsburg S, Watling C. Shifting and sharing: academic physicians' strategies for navigating underperformance and failure. Acad Med. 2018;93:1713–8.
- Kang S, Jo HS, Boo YJ, Lee JS, Kim CS. Occupational stress and related factors among surgical residents in Korea. Ann Surg Treat Res. 2015;89:268–74.

- Kim SK. How to save surgical residents in crisis. J Korean Surg Soc. 2009;76:207–14.
- Balch CM, Shanafelt T. Combating stress and burnout in surgical practice: a review. Thorac Surg Clin. 2011;21:417–30.
- Kang SH, Boo YJ, Lee JS, Han HJ, Jung CW, Kim CS. High occupational stress and low career satisfaction of Korean surgeons. J Korean Med Sci. 2015;30:133–9.
- Harms BA, Heise CP, Gould JC, Starling JR. A 25-year single institution analysis of health, practice, and fate of general surgeons. Ann Surg. 2005;242:520–6.
- 23. Yeo H, Viola K, Berg D, Lin Z, Nunez-Smith M, Cammann C, et al. Attitudes, training experiences, and professional expectations of US general surgery residents: a national survey. JAMA. 2009;302:1301–8.
- Weinstein DF. Duty hours for resident physicians: tough choices for teaching hospitals. N Engl J Med. 2002;347:1275–8.
- Kim JH, Jung SS, Lee IK, Song BJ, Moon JH, Jang YS, et al. Status and prospect of workforce requirement for surgery in republic of Korea. J Korean Surg Soc. 2011;81:363–73.
- Shukla R, Anandasabapathy S. Guidelines for increasing female authorship of GI society guidelines. Dig Dis Sci. 2020;65:2149–50. (editorial)
- Association of American Medical Colleges. Active Physicians by Sex and Specialty, 2017. https://www. aamc.org/-data-reports/workforce/interactive-data/ active-physicians-sex-and-specialty-2017. Accessed 16 Sep 2021.
- Ruzycki SM, Fletcher S, Earp M, Bharwani A, Kirstie C, Lithgow KC. Trends in the proportion of female speakers at medical conferences in the United States and in Canada, 2007 to 2017. JAMA Netw Open. 2019;2:e192103.
- Woodward Z, Rodriguez Z, Jou JH, Keyashian K, Chen Y, Thomas CR Jr, et al. Gender disparities in gastroenterology fellowship director positions in the United States. Gastrointest Endosc. 2017;86:595–9.
- Pascua M, Kushner T, Woodward Z. Promoting leadership by women in gastroenterology-lessons learned and future directions. Gastroenterology. 2019;156:1548–52.
- Baptiste D, Fecher AM, Dolejs SC, Yoder J, Schmidt CM, Couch ME, et al. Gender differences in academic surgery, work-life balance, and satisfaction. J Surg Res. 2017;218:99–107.
- 32. Guille C, Frank E, Zhao Z, Kalmbach DA, Nietert PJ, Mata DA, et al. Work-family conflict and the sex

difference in depression among training physicians. JAMA Intern Med. 2017;177:1766–72.

- Treister-Goltzman Y, Peleg R. Female physicians and the workfamily conflict. Isr Med Assoc J. 2016;18:261–6.
- 34. Jolly S, Griffith KA, DeCastro R, Stewart A, Ubel P, Jagsi R. Gender differences in time spent on parenting and domestic responsibilities by high-achieving young physician-researchers. Ann Intern Med. 2014;160:344–53.
- Lyu HG, Davids JS, Scully RE, Melnitchouk N. Association of domestic responsibilities with career satisfaction for physician mothers in procedural vs nonprocedural fields. JAMA Surg. 2019;154:689–95.
- 36. Blumenthal DM, Olenski AR, Yeh RW, DeFaria YD, Sarma A, Stefanescu Schmidt AC, et al. Sex differences in faculty rank among academic cardiologists in the United States. Circulation. 2017;135:506–17.
- Filardo G, da Graca B, Sass DM, Pollock BD, Smith EB, Martinez MA. Trends and comparison of female first authorship in high impact medical journals: observational study (1994-2014). BMJ. 2016;352:i847.
- Lerchenmueller MJ, Sorenson O, Jena AB. Gender differences in how scientists present the importance of their research: observational study. BMJ. 2019;16:367.
- https://www.healio.com/gastroenterology/practicemanagement/news/online/%7B7dcef67a-c3d0-4547-a95c-c26dbecffc60%7D/imposter-syndromeprevalent-among-women-in-medicine-butcan-beovercome. Accessed 16 Sep 2021.
- Babcock L, Laschever S. Women don't ask: negotiation and the Gender Divide. Princeton: Princeton University Press; 2006.
- Bushyhead D, Strate LL. Sex differences in authorship of major gastroenterology society guidelines and technical reviews. Dig Dis Sci. 2020;65:2225–8.
- 42. West CP, Dyrbye LN, Erwin PJ, Shanafelt TD. Interventions to prevent and reduce physician burnout: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2016;388:2272–81.
- 43. Yu J, Lee S, Kim M, Lim K, Chang K, Chae S. Professional self-concept and burnout among medical school faculty in South Korea: a cross-sectional study. BMC Med Edu. 2019;19:248.
- 44. Weight CJ, Sellon JL, Lessard-Anderson CR, Shanafelt TD, Olsen KD, Laskowski ER. Physical activity, quality of life, and burnout among physician trainees: the effect of a team-based, incentivized exercise program. Mayo Clin Proc. 2013;88:1435–42.